

ISSN 2443-8014 (online)

European Economic Forecast

Spring 2020

INSTITUTIONAL PAPER 125 | MAY 2020



European Economy Institutional Papers are important reports analysing the economic situation and economic developments prepared by the European Commission's Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, which serve to underpin economic policy-making by the European Commission, the Council of the European Union and the European Parliament.

Views expressed in unofficial documents do not necessarily represent the views of the European Commission.

LEGAL NOTICE

Neither the European Commission nor any person acting on behalf of the European Commission is responsible for the use that might be made of the information contained in this publication.

This paper exists in English only and can be downloaded from <u>https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/economic-and-financial-affairs-publications en.</u>

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2020

PDF ISBN 978-92-76-16314-5 ISSN 2443-8014 doi:10.2765/788367 KC-BC-20-002-EN-N

© European Union, 2020

Reuse is authorised provided the source is acknowledged. The reuse policy of European Commission documents is regulated by Decision 2011/833/EU (OJ L 330, 14.12.2011, p. 39). For any use or reproduction of material that is not under the EU copyright, permission must be sought directly from the copyright holders.

CREDIT Cover photography: © iStock.com/nobuhama55 European Commission Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs

European Economic Forecast

Spring 2020

EUROPEAN ECONOMY

Institutional Paper 125

ABBREVIATIONS

Countries and regions

EU	European Union
EA	Euro area
BE	Belgium
BG	Bulgaria
CZ	Czechia
DK	Denmark
DE	Germany
EE	Estonia
IE	Ireland
EL	Greece
ES	Spain
FR	France
HR	Croatia
IT	Italy
CY	Cyprus
LV	Latvia
LT	Lithuania
LU	Luxembourg
HU	Hungary
MT	Malta
NL	The Netherlands
AT	Austria
PL	Poland
РТ	Portugal
RO	Romania
SI	Slovenia
SK	Slovakia
FI	Finland
SE	Sweden
UK	United Kingdom
CN	China
JP	Japan
US	United States of America
CIS	Commonwealth of Independent States
EFTA	European Free Trade Association
EMU	Economic and Monetary Union

- MENA Middle East and North Africa
- ROW Rest of the World

Economic variables and institutions

- BIS Bank for International Settlements
- CCCI Composite Credit Cost Indicators
- CPI Consumer price index
- ECB European Central Bank
- ECDC European Center for Disease Prevention and Control
- ESI Economic Sentiment Indicator
- GDP Gross Domestic Product
- GNI Gross National Income
- HICP Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices
- IMF International Monetary Fund

NBER	National Bureau of Economic Research
OECD	Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
PMI	Purchasing Managers' Index
VAT	Value-Added Tax
WHO	World Health Organization
WTO	World Trade Organization

Other abbreviations

CICE	Tax credit for employment and competitiveness
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
FDI	Foreign Direct Investment
GVCs	Global value chains
NFC	Non-Financial Corporations
SME	Small and medium-sized enterprise
SSM	Single Supervisory Mechanism
PEPP	Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme

Graphs/Tables/Units

bbl	Barrel
bn	Billion
bp. /bps.	Basis point / points
lhs	Left hand scale
mn	Million
pp. / pps.	Percentage point / points
pt. / pts.	Point / points
Q	Quarter
q-o-q%	Quarter-on-quarter percentage change
rhs	Right hand scale
tr	Trillions
у-о-у%	Year-on-year percentage change

Currencies

EUR	Euro
ECU	European currency unit
BGN	Bulgarian lev
CNY	Chinese yuan, Renminbi
CZK	Czech koruna
DKK	Danish krone
GBP	Pound sterling
HUF	Hungarian forint
HRK	Croatian kuna
ISK	Icelandic krona
MKD	Macedonian denar
NOK	Norwegian krone
PLN	Polish zloty
RON	New Romanian leu
RSD	Serbian dinar
SEK	Swedish krona
CHF	Swiss franc
JPY	Japanese yen
RMB	Renminbi
TRY	Turkish lira
USD	US dollar

CONTENTS

Overview	\checkmark	1
PART I:	Economic outlook for EA and EU	7
	1. Key features	9
	1.1. The main issues of the forecast	9
	1.2. Recent developments	10
	1.3. Key factors behind the forecast	13
	1.4. The forecast and its main results	20
	2. Economic outlook	29
	2.1. International environment	29
	2.2. Financial markets	32
	2.3. GDP and components	37
	2.4. Labour market	50
	2.5. Inflation	53
	2.6. Public lindrices 2.7. Macroeconomic policies in the euro area	57 60
	2.8. Risks	62
	3. Special issues	65
	3.1. How the pandemic shaped the forecast	65
	4. Boxes	73
PART II:	Prospects by individual economy	77
	Euro Area Member States	79
	1 Belaium	80
	2. Germany	82
	3. Estonia	84
	4. Ireland	86
	5. Greece	88
	6. Spain	90
	8 Italy	9Z 9A
	9. Cyprus	96
	10. Latvia	98
	11. Lithuania	100
	12. Luxembourg	102
	13. Malta	104
	14. The Netherlands	106
	15. AUSTIA 16. Portugal	108
	17 Slovenia	110
	18. Slovakia	114
	19. Finland	116

Non-EA Member States	119
20. Bulgaria	120
21. Czechia	122
22. Denmark	124
23. Croatia	126
24. Hungary	128
25. Poland	130
26. Romania	132
27. Sweden	134
Candidate Countries	137
28. Albania	138
29. Montenegro	140
30. North Macedonia	142
31. Serbia	144
32. Turkey	146
Other non-EU Countries	149
33. The United Kingdom	150
34. The United States	152
35. Japan	154
36. China	156
37. EFTA	158
38. Russian Federation	161

Statistical Annex

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Overview - the spring 2020 forecast	1
1.2.1.	International environment	30
1.2.2.	Financing side - euro area and EU	36
1.2.3.	Composition of growth - euro area	38
1.2.4.	Composition of growth - EU	40
1.2.5.	Labour market outlook - euro area and EU	52
1.2.6.	Inflation outlook - euro area and EU	56
1.2.7.	General Government budgetary position - euro area and EU	59
1.3.1.	Assumptions for the simulated scenarios	67
1.3.2.	Growth deviation from non-pandemic baseline in 2020	68

165

LIST OF GRAPHS

1.1.1.	Real GDP, euro area	9
1.1.2.	HICP, euro area	10
1.1.3.	Recent developments: GDP and consumption, euro area	10
1.1.4.	Recent developments: Investment and foreign trade, euro	
	area (excl. Ireland)	10
1.1.5.	PMI Suppliers' Delivery Times Index, Manufacturing	11
1.1.6.	COVID-19 infections, China, EU and US	12

1.1.7.	Manufacturing, Services, and Construction PMIs, euro area	
	and Member States	12
1.1.8.	Electricity demand in March and April 2020, largest Member	
	States	13
1.1.9.	Air traffic, March and April 2020, Eurocontrol network and	
	largest Member States	13
1.1.10.	Selected economic effects of the COVID-19 outbreak in	
	Europe	15
1.1.11.	Trade policy and health care uncertainty in the US	16
1.1.12.	World Pandemic Uncertainty Index and Discussion About	
	, Pandemics Index	16
1.1.13.	World Uncertainty Index	16
1.1.14.	Recessions and rebounds in the euro area, real GDP, 1970	
	Q1 - 2019 Q4	17
1115	Reported COVID-19 cases and deaths FU	21
1116	GDP declines during Great Depression first oil crisis and	21
1.1.10.	Global Financial Crisis, euro area	22
1117	Energy Contractivity world trade and euro	
1.1.17.	area export markets	23
1118	Comparing recessions 2008 09 crisis vs COVID 19 recession	20
1.1.10.		23
1110	Earocast: Domostic domand components, ouro grag	23
1.1.17.	Forecast. Domestic demand components, eoro died	24
1.1.20.	Forecasi. GDF, growin contributions and toreign frade, euro	04
1101	CIEC	24
1.1.21.	Forecasi: Employment, wages and real disposable incomes,	0.4
1100	euro area Fara a act. Chara a la raublia finanza a indiantara 2010 2020/01	24
1.1.22.	Forecast: Change in public linance indicators, 2019-2020/21,	05
1100	EA and large member states	25
1.1.23.	COVID-19 and its asymmetric growth impact in euro area	0.5
	Member States	25
1.1.24.	Forecast: Employment and domestic demand growth 2019-	0.5
1105	2021, euro area and largest Member States	25
1.1.25.	Comparing recessions, 2008-09 crisis vs. COVID-19 recession,	
	Member States	26
1.1.26.	COVID-19 and torecast 'scissors', selected torecasts for 2020	
	and 2021, euro area	26
1.2.1.	Growth in global GDP and global PMIs	29
1.2.2.	Brent oil price assumptions	31
1.2.3.	GDP forecast, spring 2020 forecast vs autumn 2019 forecast	32
1.2.4.	Contributions to non-EU world import growth	32
1.2.5.	Portfolio flows to emerging markets	33
1.2.6.	Benchmark 10-year government bond yields, international	
	comparison	34
1.2.7.	Euro area sovereign bonds and spreads of selected	
	Member States	35
1.2.8.	Corporate bond spreads, 5-year maturity, euro area	35
1.2.9.	Stock market performance, EuropeStoxx and components	35
1.2.10.	ESI breakdown, proportion of negative monthly changes	40
1.2.11.	Daily truck toll mileage, Germany	40
1.2.12.	Real GDP growth path, euro area	42
1.2.13.	Cumulative growth performance- distribution across EU	
	Member States	43
1.2.14.	Share of social consumption expenditures, euro area	44

1.2.15.	Consumers' assessment of the past and future general	
	economic situation, euro area	44
1.2.16.	Real gross disposable income and components, euro area	45
1.2.17.	Net taxes, social contributions and transfers, contribution to	
	income in 2020	45
1.2.18.	Investment developments, euro area excluding Ireland	47
1.2.19.	Export growth contributions, euro area	50
1.2.20.	Employment expectations, Commission surveys, euro area	51
1.2.21.	Atypical employment, euro area and selected Member	
	States, 2019	52
1.2.22.	Unemployment rate, euro area and Member States	53
1.2.23.	Inflation breakdown, euro area	54
1.2.24.	Oil price and selected producer price indices, euro area	55
1.2.25.	Inflation expectations derived from implied forward inflation-	
	linked swap rates	57
1.2.26.	Budgetary developments, international perspective	58
1.2.27.	General government balance change and decomposition	
	of the drivers	58
1.2.28.	Expenditure and revenues developments, euro area	59
1.2.29.	Public debt development in selected Member States	59
1.2.30.	Euro area interest rates	60
1.2.31.	Composite credit cost indicators, euro area	61
1.2.32.	Change in the structural primary balance, euro area	61
1.2.33.	Real long-term interest rates and change in structural	
	primary balance, euro area	62
1.3.1.	Decomposition of euro area GDP, deviations from pre-crisis	
	level	67
1.3.2.	GDP growth deviation from non-pandemic baseline, 2020	70
1.3.3.	Output loss, GDP level deviation from non-pandemic	
	baseline	70
1.3.4.	GDP deviation from non-pandemic scenario, euro area	71
1.3.5.	Impact of sectoral demand shocks on the GDP of euro area	70
	countries	72

LIST OF BOXES

I.4.1. Some technical elements behind the forecast	73
--	----

FOREWORD

In a matter of just a few weeks, the COVID-19 pandemic has profoundly affected public life around the globe. The virus is a public health challenge of unprecedented dimensions. The first concern of governments around the world is to protect the health and safety of their citizens. But it has also completely modified the outlook for the European and world economy. To contain the virus, EU Member States have had to take drastic measures that have put their economies into a state of hibernation. Economic activity in the EU dropped by around one third, practically overnight. Without such measures to contain the pandemic, however, the ultimate damage to society and the economy would doubtlessly be greater.

In the current quarter, economic output in the EU is set to be almost 16% lower than in the last quarter of 2019. Although activity is expected to pick up again with the just-initiated, gradual easing of containment measures, the contraction in EU GDP this year is expected to be 7½%, far deeper than during the financial crisis in 2009. In the near-term, the lockdowns implemented in most Member States and globally, reduce supply as many non-essential activities are suspended, delivery of inputs is disrupted, and workers are unavailable due to sickness, quarantine or because they have to take care of relatives and children whose schools are closed. Provided that the policy measures taken to support incomes, jobs, liquidity and investment are effective, economic activity should rebound once the confinement is gradually relaxed. Even so, demand is set to remain subdued for longer as workers concerned about their employment prospects will tend to save a higher share of their income, and firms faced with uncertainty about future sales will delay or cancel investment. Even if most of the impact is expected to be temporary, the pandemic will likely leave some persistent scars. The shortfall of investment compared to the autumn forecast, estimated at around EUR 850 billion in 2020 and 2021, and the drop in employment will reduce the economy's production potential, preventing a return to the previous trajectory of output.

As the coronavirus has spread across Europe, all Member States are faced with the same set of challenges. The EU and its Member States have reacted quickly. Governments have put in place large programmes in order to keep the economic tissue intact during the lockdowns. They involve liquidity support for firms to avoid bankruptcies, and support for workers to dampen income losses and avoid a surge in unemployment, as well as measures to avoid a financial meltdown. The actions of Member States have been complemented by actions at the EU level. These actions include a full flexibilisation of the use of the remaining structural funds, and the political agreements on the creation of a EUR 100 billion support scheme to mitigate unemployment risks, a EUR 25 billion guarantee fund for SMEs and a pandemic credit line from the European Stability Mechanism. Forceful action by the ECB has strongly reduced the tail risks for the EU economy. Without these measures, the contraction in EU GDP would have been about 4³/₄ percentage points deeper in 2020.

Fundamental uncertainty surrounds this forecast. The danger of a deeper and more protracted recession is very real. The point forecasts presented in this document should therefore be understood as just one among several possible scenarios. Different assumptions to those made here about the length of the lockdowns, the confinement measures still necessary in the period ahead, and the effectiveness of the policy response would lead to very different projections. Another surge in infections, for example, could reduce GDP by an additional 3 percentage points. The downside risks are thus particularly large.

The COVID-19 crisis risks leading to a further widening of economic divergences in the EU. While the pandemic is a symmetric shock, the impacts differ across Member States, reflecting the severity of the pandemic and stringency of related containment measures, different exposures due e.g. to the size of the tourism sector, and the available space for discretionary fiscal policy responses. As containment measures are starting to be gradually lifted, a strong European recovery plan needs to complement national action to rapidly bring those who lost their jobs back into employment, minimise scars from a prolonged shortfall in investment and, last but not least, compensate for the differences in the policy space among Member States. The risk otherwise is that the crisis will lead to severe distortions within the Single Market and to entrenched economic, financial and social divergences between euro area Member States that could

ultimately threaten the stability of the Economic and Monetary Union. This recovery strategy has to be forward-looking and underpin the digital and green transitions. Standing together in the response to the pandemic is a question of solidarity and enlightened self-interest, since one country's measures can affect the health situation in others. A common European approach to tackling the pandemic's economic consequences is also a matter of efficiency, as economic and financial spillovers spread fast through the Single Market and Monetary Union. By acting together, we can overcome this crisis and build a common, better future.

Maarten Verwey

L

Director General Economic and Financial Affairs

OVERVIEW:

A DEEP AND UNEVEN RECESSION, AN UNCERTAIN RECOVERY

Unlocking activity: how quickly will the European economy emerge?

The COVID-19 pandemic has drastically altered the outlook for the European economy The COVID-19 pandemic and the containment measures it has necessitated have profoundly disrupted people's lives and the economy. Global demand, supply chains, labour supply, industrial output, commodity prices, foreign trade and capital flows have all been affected. The pandemic struck the European economy when it was on a moderate path and still vulnerable to new shocks. It has also snuffed out nascent hopes that a trough might have been reached when manufacturing activity and foreign trade showed signs of bottoming out at the start of this year. Given the severity of this unprecedented worldwide shock, it is now quite clear that the EU has entered the deepest economic recession in its history.

Even if a relatively swift rebound is likely under a set of benign assumptions... Real-time data suggest that economic activity in Europe has dropped at an unusually fast speed over the last few weeks, as the containment measures triggered in response to the crisis by most Member States in mid-March have put the economy into a state of hibernation. Economic output is thus set to collapse in the first half of 2020 with most of the contraction taking place in the second quarter. It is then expected to pick up, assuming (i) that containment measures will be gradually lifted, (ii) that after these measures are loosened the pandemic remains under control, and (iii) that the unprecedented monetary and fiscal measures implemented by Member States

	Real GDP			Inflation			Unemployment rate			Current account			Budget balance		
	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.4	-7.2	6.7	1.2	0.2	1.3	5.4	7.0	6.6	-0.7	-0.1	-0.3	-1.9	-8.9	-4.2
Germany	0.6	-6.5	5.9	1.4	0.3	1.4	3.2	4.0	3.5	7.6	6.1	7.4	1.4	-7.0	-1.5
Estonia	4.3	-6.9	5.9	2.3	0.7	1.7	4.4	9.2	6.5	2.3	1.1	2.2	-0.3	-8.3	-3.4
Ireland	5.5	-7.9	6.1	0.9	-0.3	0.9	5.0	7.4	7.0	-9.4	4.6	4.4	0.4	-5.6	-2.9
Greece	1.9	-9.7	7.9	0.5	-0.6	0.5	17.3	19.9	16.8	-0.3	0.1	-1.2	1.5	-6.4	-2.1
Spain	2.0	-9.4	7.0	0.8	0.0	1.0	14.1	18.9	17.0	2.0	3.2	2.7	-2.8	-10.1	-6.7
France	1.3	-8.2	7.4	1.3	0.4	0.9	8.5	10.1	9.7	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4	-3.0	-9.9	-4.0
Italy	0.3	-9.5	6.5	0.6	-0.3	0.7	10.0	11.8	10.7	3.0	3.4	3.3	-1.6	-11.1	-5.6
Cyprus	3.2	-7.4	6.1	0.5	-0.2	1.0	7.1	8.6	7.5	-5.7	-10.9	-10.1	1.7	-7.0	-1.8
Latvia	2.2	-7.0	6.4	2.7	0.2	1.9	6.3	8.6	8.3	0.6	1.1	1.2	-0.2	-7.3	-4.5
Lithuania	3.9	-7.9	7.4	2.2	0.8	1.5	6.3	9.7	7.9	3.5	2.2	2.9	0.3	-6.9	-2.7
Luxembourg	2.3	-5.4	5.7	1.6	0.7	1.6	5.6	6.4	6.1	4.5	4.5	4.5	2.2	-4.8	0.1
Malta	4.4	-5.8	6.0	1.5	0.7	1.1	3.4	5.9	4.4	10.7	7.6	9.7	0.5	-6.7	-2.5
Netherlands	1.8	-6.8	5.0	2.7	0.8	1.3	3.4	5.9	5.3	10.2	9.0	8.4	1.7	-6.3	-3.5
Austria	1.6	-5.5	5.0	1.5	1.1	1.5	4.5	5.8	4.9	2.3	0.9	1.6	0.7	-6.1	-1.9
Portugal	2.2	-6.8	5.8	0.3	-0.2	1.2	6.5	9.7	7.4	0.0	-0.6	-0.2	0.2	-6.5	-1.8
Slovenia	2.4	-7.0	6.7	1.7	0.5	1.2	4.5	7.0	5.1	6.8	6.8	6.8	0.5	-7.2	-2.1
Slovakia	2.3	-6.7	6.6	2.8	1.9	1.1	5.8	8.8	7.1	-2.6	-2.9	-2.4	-1.3	-8.5	-4.2
Finland	1.0	-6.3	3.7	1.1	0.5	1.4	6.7	8.3	7.7	-0.8	-1.3	-1.5	-1.1	-7.4	-3.4
Euro area	1.2	-7.7	6.3	1.2	0.2	1.1	7.5	9.6	8.6	3.3	3.4	3.6	-0.6	-8.5	-3.5
Bulgaria	3.4	-7.2	6.0	2.5	1.1	1.1	4.2	7.0	5.8	5.2	3.3	5.4	2.1	-2.8	-1.8
Czechia	2.6	-6.2	5.0	2.6	2.3	1.9	2.0	5.0	4.2	0.7	-1.5	-1.0	0.3	-6.7	-4.0
Denmark	2.4	-5.9	5.1	0.7	0.3	1.3	5.0	6.4	5.7	7.9	6.2	6.7	3.7	-7.2	-2.3
Croatia	2.9	-9.1	7.5	0.8	0.4	0.9	6.6	10.2	7.4	2.4	-1.7	0.5	0.4	-7.1	-2.2
Hungary	4.9	-7.0	6.0	3.4	3.0	2.7	3.4	7.0	6.1	-0.9	1.3	1.5	-2.0	-5.2	-4.0
Poland	4.1	-4.3	4.1	2.1	2.5	2.8	3.3	7.5	5.3	0.4	0.6	0.9	-0.7	-9.5	-3.8
Romania	4.1	-6.0	4.2	3.9	2.5	3.1	3.9	6.5	5.4	-4.6	-3.3	-3.4	-4.3	-9.2	-11.4
Sweden	1.2	-6.1	4.3	1.7	0.4	1.1	6.8	9.7	9.3	4.4	3.7	4.0	0.5	-5.6	-2.2
EU	1.5	-7.4	6.1	1.4	0.6	1.3	6.7	9.0	7.9	3.2	3.1	3.4	-0.6	-8.3	-3.6
United Kingdom	1.4	-8.3	6.0	1.8	1.2	2.1	3.8	6.7	6.0	-3.8	-4.1	-4.3	-2.1	-10.5	-6.7
China	6.1	1.0	7.8	:	:	:	:	:	:	1.0	0.6	0.8	:	:	:
Japan	0.7	-5.0	2.7	0.5	0.0	0.2	2.3	4.3	4.5	3.5	3.6	3.2	-2.3	-4.9	-5.3
United States	2.3	-6.5	4.9	1.8	0.5	1.5	3.7	9.2	7.6	-2.3	-3.0	-3.0	-7.2	-17.8	-8.5
World	2.9	-3.5	5.2	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:

Table 1:

... the recovery is expected to be incomplete...

...and asymmetric

The global economy is set for a sharper recession than during the Global Financial crisis...

...and output in advanced economies outside the EU next year is likely to remain below its 2019 level ...

and the EU are effective at cushioning the immediate economic impact of the crisis as well as at limiting permanent damage to the economic tissue.

Under these benign assumptions, EU GDP is forecast to contract by about 71/2% this year, far deeper than during the Global Financial crisis in 2009, and to rebound by only 6% in 2021. This rebound, however, would leave the European economy, at the end of this forecast horizon, about 3% lower than the output level implied by the autumn forecast. The same holds for the volume of investment that is forecast to be about 7% lower than expected in the autumn. Next year, the number of employed people in the EU would be, on average, about 1% below what was recorded in 2019. Lower employment and investment reduce potential output, whereas the record-high uncertainty about jobs, incomes and sales, are set to hold back demand for some time. This suggests an only gradual ('U-shaped') recovery. Uncertainty about the pandemic remains huge, and different assumptions than the ones underpinning the baseline scenario analysis on which this forecast is anchored would lead to very different projections.

The COVID-19 crisis is a symmetric shock hurting all Members States. Their across Member States. strong economic interconnectedness is magnifying the aggregate demand and supply shocks. While the recovery looks set to be incomplete in almost all countries, the impact of the crisis and the way Member States will emerge from it is set to be uneven. How well countries emerge will depend not only on the severity of the pandemic and the stringency of their containment measures, but also on their specific economic exposures and initial conditions, and the discretionary policy responses that their levels of policy space allowed them to afford. Due to their strong interdependencies, an incomplete recovery in one country would spill over to all the other countries and dampen economic growth everywhere.

> As the COVID-19 virus spread around the world, many governments were forced to take extreme precautionary public health measures to save lives and prevent health care systems from being overwhelmed. These measures made it impossible for economic life to continue normally, effectively shut down large portions of the economy and derailed the incipient bottoming out in the global economy that had started to emerge around the turn of the year. This crisis has also triggered a collapse in oil and many other commodity prices and sparked financial turmoil. This has been particularly damaging for commodity exporting countries as well as emerging economies with high US dollar-denominated debt. The combination of these three shocks is expected to push the global economy into a deep recession in the first half of 2020. The massive health and macroeconomic policy efforts taken across most major economies are, however, assumed to contain the pandemic and to limit its negative impact on the global economy to a deep but essentially temporary downturn. Overall, global GDP (excluding the EU) is projected to contract by about 3% this year, which is a sharper downturn than during the Global Financial Crisis in 2008-2009. It is then expected to rebound by 5% in 2021, implying that global output should recover above it 2019 level but remain well below the level projected in the autumn 2019 forecast.

> Both advanced economies and emerging markets are expected to be in recession this year, but the restart in economic activity is set to be gradual and uneven across countries and regions. In most advanced economies outside the EU, the rebound is forecast to be insufficient to bring output back to their pre-pandemic levels by the end of the forecast horizon. Growth dynamics are expected to 'normalise' in China, while only a limited pick-up

is set to take hold in Latin America, the Middle East and Africa. For many emerging and low-income countries with limited capacity to deal with a health crisis of this magnitude as well as limited policy space to absorb the macroeconomic impact, the economic shock is projected to be more persistent, as it is also compounded by subdued prospects for commodity prices and tightened financial conditions.

After falling into near stagnation last year amid elevated trade policy uncertainty, world import volumes (excluding the EU) are likely to fall by more than 10% this year due to an unprecedented collapse in international trade concomitant to the lockdown measures taken across the globe in the first half of the year. As these measures are assumed to be gradually lifted and global demand recovers, trade in goods is expected to start rebounding in the second half, while trade in services, particularly tourism, is set to rebound more slowly. Next year, non-EU world imports are set to increase by about 6¾%, a pace closer to global economic activity. A stronger rebound is unlikely, as trade policy uncertainty is assumed to remain unabated and the pandemic crisis is expected to trigger some permanent damage to global value chains.

The resilience of financial markets has been severely tested by the pandemic...

...while disruptions in

global value chains

should limit the

rebound in trade.

...but the swift policy response succeeded in preserving financial stability... The COVID-19 shock has reverberated across global financial markets as the spread of the virus outside China led to a sudden repricing of risks in March while safe haven sovereign yields declined. In Europe, riskier market segments such as equities and high-yield corporate bonds took a hit once it became clear that COVID-19 was also strongly affecting the continent. This resulted in the fastest market sell-off since the Global Financial crisis of 2008-2009, reflecting the rapid and sharp deterioration of the economic outlook and profitability prospects, but also by the severe liquidity dry-up that non-financial corporations (NFCs) were confronted with. In the euro area sovereign markets, a divide re-emerged between the core and the periphery, suggesting renewed investor concerns about debt sustainability, in particular in case of insufficiently coordinated support at the EU level.

The monetary and fiscal policy response to the crisis, both globally and in the EU, has been swift and strong with unprecedented measures taken to contain the macroeconomic fallout and alleviate liquidity pressures. In the EU, policy announcements contributed to the stabilisation of financial markets with spreads narrowing for corporates and sovereigns and equity markets recovering part of their losses in April, although markets also benefited from reports suggesting that the pandemic might have peaked in some countries. In the euro area, the ECB began in mid-March to take a broad range of monetary and credit policy measures. A particular aim was to ensure (bank) credit flows to NFCs so as to prevent temporary liquidity shortages from evolving into solvency crises. The Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) announced by the ECB aims to prevent the fragmentation of credit markets and the impairment of monetary policy transmission. In response to these liquidity constraints, EU Member States have also implemented a number of liquidity support measures, such as partial or total guarantees on bank loans. These liquidity measures amount to 22% of EU GDP and were complemented by existing EU budget instruments offering support of up to about $4\frac{1}{2}$ % of EU GDP.

...while the banking sector should be able to withstand the recession.

Private consumption is set for its fastest drop on record...

...a plunge in investment will impact the economy's capital stock...

...while net exports should contribute little to the economic recovery. Lending support from the banking sector will be vital, not only during the crisis, but also during the economic recovery. But banks are particularly exposed to the economic recession as more borrowers are likely to default and because the prices of securities on their balance sheets have taken a beating. The underperformance of their share prices since late February is a reflection of such concerns. However, as European banks have strengthened their capital positions very substantially over the last 10 years, they should be resilient enough to withstand even a massive economic recession. Overall, it is assumed that the wide range of policy measures will be largely effective at protecting the corporate sector from widespread bankruptcies this year and lending flows are expected to grow again next year when the economic recovery gains traction.

All demand components will be hit hard by the pandemic except government consumption and public investment, which are playing a stabilising role. Private consumption, which for several years has been the backbone of economic growth in Europe, is expected to contract by about 9% in both the EU and the euro area this year. This sharp fall is, however, forecast to be mainly concentrated in the current quarter, as the lack of opportunity to spend results in 'forced savings'. It is then expected to start recovering quickly once containment measures are lifted. But the recovery is set to be incomplete, as spending on travel and recreational services will lag behind because restrictions affecting these activities may last longer and because the fiscal measures implemented to protect employment and workers' incomes will only limit rather than prevent a drop in household purchasing power this year. Moreover, uncertainty about employment and income prospects will likely ensure that precautionary savings remain higher than they were before the crisis well after the lockdowns have ended.

Business investment is likely to take a very severe double-digit hit this year, as many businesses, including the already fragile investment-intensive car industry, are experiencing a series of incremental supply, demand and financial shocks. Faced with heightened uncertainty about future sales prospects, firms are likely to postpone or even cancel their investment plans. Moreover, the lack of revenue during the lockdowns may constrain their ability to finance investment projects in the near term, or even longer if the increase in debt triggers a need to deleverage. The economic fallout is also expected to lead to a sharp fall in capacity utilisation, reducing the need for investment linked to capacity expansion and lowering incentives for upgrading the capital stock. Once the adverse impact of the COVID-19 pandemic abates, investment should find support from a highly accommodative monetary policy, lower uncertainty and some recovery in profits. The expected rebound of euro area and EU investment by slightly more than 10% next year, however, should only help to recover some of the lost ground. Compared to the levels projected in the autumn 2019 forecast, the cumulated shortfall in investment in the EU is expected to amount to almost EUR 850 billion at current prices, or 6% of EU GDP.

Euro area exporters already suffered last year from weakening foreign demand largely reflecting trade tensions and elevated trade policy uncertainty. Since the pandemic, the halt in the free movement of people, goods and services is set to result in a sudden, severe and synchronised drop in external demand. The euro area is expected to be particularly affected due to its relatively high participation in global and intra-EU value chains. Euro area exports are thus forecast to fall by about 13% in 2020 before rebounding incompletely by close to 10% in 2021. A stronger catch-up is unlikely due to

enduring weakness of foreign demand, likely delays to the resumption of production and supply chain normalisation, as well as still elevated levels of uncertainty. As exports and imports are expected to move almost in parallel, the contribution of net exports to GDP growth in the euro area and the EU should be relatively small this year and next.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the confinement measures it has necessitated have led to significant disruptions and completely changed the prospects of European labour markets that were, up to early 2020, the bright spot in the expansion years. National policy measures, such as short-time work schemes for workers, wage subsidies for the self-employed as well as liquidity measures for firms have been taken to limit employment losses during the confinement period and to ensure that work can resume smoothly once restrictions can be relaxed. Assuming that these measures are effective, the fall in employment this year is expected to be contained, particularly in terms of headcount given the sharp drop in working hours. Nevertheless, some persistent negative impact (hysteresis) is likely, in particular for the more precarious workers who have often been the first to lose their jobs and young cohorts unable to find their first job. The euro area unemployment rate is expected to increase from 7.5% last year, its lowest level in more than a decade, to about 91/2% this year and to decrease next year while remaining well above its pre-pandemic level in 2021. Unemployment rates are expected to rise very differently across the EU, not only because of the size and effectiveness of policy measures, but because of pre-existing vulnerabilities (e.g. high share of temporary contracts) and different sector specialisations (e.g. tourism).

Overall, the pandemic is likely to put downward pressure on prices because the effect of lower demand will outweigh price increases sparked by supply chain disruptions. This has already been signalled by recent developments in euro area inflation. However, in March headline HICP inflation has also been sunk by the steep fall in energy prices. The combination of weakening economic activity, which makes the pass-through from wages to prices even more difficult for firms, and a deteriorating labour market outlook limiting future wage increases, translates into lower domestic price pressures that are set to weigh on core inflation going forward. Combined with markedly lower oil price assumptions, the forecast for HICP inflation in the euro area has been significantly revised down to 0.2% this year. It is forecast to increase to 1.1% in 2021, largely on the back of positive base effects in energy prices.

The aggregate general government deficit is expected to surge from 0.6% of GDP in 2019 to $8\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP in both the euro area and the EU this year. This sharp increase largely reflects the work of automatic stabilisers and sizeable discretionary fiscal measures. In 2021, the headline deficit is forecast to decrease to $3\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP in both areas due to the expected rebound in economic activity and the unwinding of most of the temporary measures adopted in response to the COVID-19 crisis. After having been on a declining trend since its peak in 2014, the euro area's aggregate debt-to-GDP ratio is projected to reach a new peak of close to 103% in 2020 before decreasing by about 4 pps. in 2021 based on a no-policy-change assumption.

The fiscal stance for the euro area is expected to be very expansionary in 2020 given the discretionary measures related to the COVID-19 outbreak, while most of these discretionary measures taken are set to be discontinued next year under a no-policy-change assumption. In several Member States, even those particularly affected by the pandemic, the limited availability of

The pandemic is set to halt the decade-long improvement in labour markets...

...and to lower nearterm domestic price pressures...

...while having a severe impact on public finances...

...amid a very expansionary fiscal stance this year. fiscal space implies a more muted policy response than elsewhere. Given the economic disruptions caused by the coronavirus outbreak, the ECB's subsequent broad range of easing measures, and only a very limited increase in long-term inflation expectations, real short and long-term interest rates should remain clearly in negative territory over the forecast horizon.

Downside risks to the Outlook are extraordinarily large and concentrated on the downside. The pandemic could become more severe and last much longer than assumed, requiring more stringent and longer lasting containment measures than assumed in this baseline scenario. This would result in much worse outcomes as shown by the scenario analysis presented in this document. This would also be the case in a scenario where a second wave of infections take place later this year.

As some of the Member States hit hardest by the virus are also those with the least policy space to respond, divergences across countries could become entrenched if national policy responses are not sufficiently coordinated or if there is no strong common response at the EU level. This could distort the internal market and ultimately threaten the stability of the euro area.

Globally, the pandemic period could also trigger more drastic and permanent changes in attitudes towards global value chains and international cooperation that would particularly hit open economies such as the EU. Inside the EU, the pandemic could also leave permanent scars, such as a large number of bankruptcies and higher hysteresis effects in the labour market, that are not taken into account in the baseline scenario.

The risk also remains that new tariffs might be applied, which could adversely affect business investment plans. Moreover, reaching the end of the transition period foreseen in the Withdrawal Agreement between the EU and the UK will dampen economic growth, even if a free trade agreement between the EU and the UK is concluded. This will affect particularly the UK, but also the EU, albeit to a lesser extent.

PART I

Economic outlook for EA and EU

1 **KEY FEATURES**

1.1. THE MAIN ISSUES OF THE FORECAST

What began as a supply shock in China has morphed into something much more serious that is pushing the global and the European economy into its deepest recession since the 1930s. In mid-February when the Commission last updated its forecasts, the working assumption was that the novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) would be a localised and transitory economic event, although significant associated downside risks were recognised.⁽¹⁾ By March, the situation had changed as the virus turned into a pandemic with infections in more than 100 countries, causing major disruptions and resulting in lockdowns in most Member States. Since then, the situation has deteriorated further. It is now very likely that global economic activity will shrink markedly this year and that the EU economy has entered the deepest recession in its history.

The question for the forecast in spring 2020 is how deep the recession will be and how long it will last. The answer depends on the spread of the virus and the length of the outbreak as well as on the effectiveness of the policy response. As large parts of the economy have deliberately been put into 'hibernation', major adjustment needs that usually accompany a 'normal' recession (e.g. correcting imbalances or deleveraging) are largely absent. This and the swiftness and scale of the policy response provide hope for a quick recovery after the pandemic is under control and containment measures have been relaxed. However, combined with the emerging evidence on the need for a cautious and phased approach to the lifting of containment measures, the pace and size of the downturn are set to cause damage that will prevent an immediate return to pre-pandemic output levels. This suggests that the recovery will not be rapid ('V-shaped') but rather more gradual ('U-shaped') and uneven across economies.

The pandemic pushes forecasters into uncharted territory. Forecasts usually begin with a good look in the rear-view mirror; they then assess the current environment and the road in sight, before moving towards a forecast of the unseen road ahead. However, the unprecedented suddenness of the downturn renders this standard approach useless. In such a situation, with unprecedented levels of uncertainty, model-based scenario analyses can provide some guidance to forecasters. Combining insights from model-based analyses with country-specific information (e.g. about policy measures) and expert knowledge offers a flexible approach for preparing 'a forecast like no other'. The European Commission's spring 2020 forecast follows this route.

According to this forecast, GDP in the euro area will fall by about 8% in 2020 and rebound by about 6% in 2021. Despite this historically high growth rate, output in 2021 would be almost 2 pps. lower than the pre-pandemic level in 2019 and very significantly below the paths expected in autumn 2019 and winter 2020 (see Graph I.1.1). The incompleteness of the recovery is common to almost all Member States, though to different extents, i.e. the symmetric shock is projected to result in asymmetric outcomes. Some of the weakest outcomes in terms of output, employment and public finances are expected in some of the countries that are the hardest hit by the pandemic.



Note: Figures next to horizontal bars are annual growth rates.

Due to the downturn and to the sharp fall in oil prices, inflation is set to slow this year before increasing moderately next year (Graph I.1.2).

These projections rest on a number of assumptions: that the major economic impact of COVID-19 will be observed in the second quarter of this year; that containment measures will be gradually lifted in the coming months; and that the

European Commission (DG ECFIN) (2020). 'European Economic Forecast - winter 2020 (interim)'. Institutional Paper 121, February.

measures adopted to limit the negative economic effects prove effective. A very high level of uncertainty surrounds these forecasts, implying that point forecasts presented here should be understood as just one among several possible scenarios. Different assumptions about the length of the lockdowns, the containment measures and the effectiveness of the policy response would lead to very different projections.



1.2. RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Following a period of moderate growth until the end of last year, the expected bottoming out and stabilisation initially expected for this year was upended by the pandemic. Due to the suddenness of the downturn, the impact of COVID-19 is so far visible mainly in high-frequency ('fast') data and only to a limited extent in survey data.

The euro area began the year with moderate growth...

Economic growth in the euro area lost momentum last year and fell well below its average of recent years (Graph I.1.3). In the fourth quarter, GDP expanded by 0.1% q-o-q (0.2% in the EU), which was the slowest pace since the start of the expansion in the second quarter of 2013. The weakness was broad based; private consumption growth was very low; excluding Ireland, investment grew only slightly from the preceding quarter; exports of goods and services expanded at a moderate pace, and imports were more or less stagnant (Graph I.1.4).

The labour market continued to show resilience to the slowdown in economic growth (see Section I.2.4) with employment continuing to grow up to late 2019. In February 2020, the unemployment rate in the euro area stood at 7.3%, its lowest level since May 2008 (6.5% in the EU). Inflation has remained muted in early 2020 with headline inflation heavily influenced by energy prices.



...with 'pre-existing conditions' weighing on the outlook...

In early 2020, the European economy's 'preexisting conditions' meant that it was vulnerable to new shocks. Factors behind these conditions were a number of long-term developments (e.g. a trend decline in productivity, population ageing, a shift in demand towards 'greener' cars, and the economic transformation of China), as well as a number of temporary factors (e.g. the oil supply constraints after the escalation of the US-Iran conflict in early January), cyclical features (e.g. the economic cycle in the US, Asian tech cycle), policy effects (e.g. fading fiscal stimulus in the US), and in particular elevated uncertainty (e.g. related to trade policy, post-Brexit negotiations on trading relationship between the EU and the UK, and geopolitical issues).

The euro area's more externally oriented manufacturing sector had been contracting for some time, partly reflecting the problems the car industry had been struggling with since 2018. However, the area's more domestically oriented sectors had expanded further. This discrepancy had continued into 2020, as developments in gross value added and surveys confirmed.

...but the EU economy had been showing positive signs just before the pandemic...

Before the pandemic became the main issue, data looked broadly consistent with the expectation of ongoing but subdued economic growth, with some leading indicators providing arguments for a bottoming out of global trade and manufacturing output. Sectoral hard data from the industry, construction, and retail sectors in the first two months of 2020 exceeded those in the fourth quarter of 2019 in both the euro area and the EU. Moreover, the signing of the 'Phase One' agreement between the US and China had been seen as a sign of somewhat fading trade tensions.

...and then COVID-19 became increasingly apparent in worsening economic and health data...

In the first weeks after the COVID-19 outbreak was declared in China, the economic effects for the EU economy were perceived as moderate, although the large downside risks were recognised. The disease belonged to the same type of viruses as SARS (initial outbreak in China in 2002-2003) and MERS (first identified in the Middle East in 2012) and these outbreaks had only limited economic effects in Europe. Over time, as efforts to prevent the disease from spreading within and beyond China failed, this assessment changed. While COVID-19 seemed to have a lower fatality rate than SARS, (2) it turned out to be considerably contagious with the possibility more of transmission through infected persons without symptoms. No vaccine or treatment drug became available and it remains unknown for how long

people remain immune after recovering from the disease. $^{(3)}$

In February this year, hints of the economic impact of the COVID-19 outbreak in China became visible in European PMI details. At first sight, the slightly increasing Composite PMI in the euro area and Manufacturing PMIs in many Member States could be taken as a signal of sufficient resilience to the disruptions triggered by the COVID-19, because surveys were conducted after the economic impact in China had become visible. However, a closer look at the drivers of the increase in the PMIs raised doubts as to whether increases really reflected an improvement. Already in February, some PMI components showed a significant impact from the virus outbreak, including a sharp decline in export orders and a lengthening of delivery times. While longer delivery times are usually the signal of strong demand and high capacity utilisation, they can also reflect disruptions in the production process. This is what the continued increase in suppliers' delivery times in manufacturing (i.e. the decline in the index) suggests for the euro area readings in and March (Graph I.1.5); February this interpretation is compatible with the sharp fall in the index this February in China, followed by its rebound in March when disruptions began to fade.



In early March, the disease had spread to other countries in Asia and beyond to other continents, leading the World Health Organization (WHO) to declare a health pandemic on 11 March. With

⁽²⁾ See e.g. Atkeson, A. (2020). 'How deadly is COVID-19? Understanding the difficulties with estimation of its fatality rate'. *NBER Working Paper 26965*, April. Projections of the path of the pandemic suffered from data gaps, see J.H. Stock (2020). 'Data gaps and the policy response to the Novel Coronavirus'. *NBER Working Paper* 26902, March.

⁽³⁾ The concept of 'herd immunity' rests on the assumption that immunity is acquired for a substantial period. The WHO noted that 'there is currently no evidence that people who have recovered from COVID-19 and have antibodies are protected from a second infection.'; WHO (2020). 'Coronavirus disease 2019'. *Situation Report* 96, April 25.

some delay, the numbers of reported new infections started to rise in the EU, and subsequently in the US (Graph I.1.6). According to data compiled by Johns Hopkins University, by 22 April, more than $2\frac{1}{2}$ million people worldwide had been infected with the virus and more than 170,000 people had died.



In response to the pandemic, authorities in most countries have implemented measures such as lockdowns, travel restrictions, border closures, and more stringent social distancing protocols, in an effort to contain the virus. Central banks have also taken action, cutting rates and/or extending asset purchase programmes, and reactivating currency swap lines (see Section I.2.2). Governments have pledged additional fiscal spending, liquidity support for firms, support to limit the labour market impact of the sudden drop in economic activity and other measures to combat the potential effects of the pandemic and related confinement measures. In late April, a few countries had already announced, or started to implement, a relaxation of some containment measures. However, various restrictive measures are likely to remain in place to keep a lid on the number of new infections until an effective treatment or vaccine are found.

...and the COVID-19 recession became visible.

While COVID-19 developments in the north of Italy made headlines in early March 2020, the spread of the virus in other parts of Europe has been mainly observable since mid-March. As a result, surveys conducted in March did not fully capture the deterioration in economic sentiment caused by the pandemic. Nevertheless, flash PMI readings on 23 March, the Commission's Business and Consumer Surveys, and the final PMI readings in early April were heavily affected by the spread of the virus. Sharp declines were observed in almost all countries and sectors. As expected, the declines were particularly strong in Italy and in the countries' service sectors (Graph I.1.7). On 23 April, Flash PMI readings pointed to a further deterioration, with the Composite and Services PMIs in the euro area, France and Germany falling to new series' lows.



Similar declines became visible in the Commission's sentiment indicators (see Section I.2.3), which in March recorded some of the largest falls in the history of the series, even though in many countries the vast majority of survey responses were collected before strict containment measures were enacted. National survey results sent similar signals, including in France the INSEE's household and business confidence indicators, and in Germany the Ifo Business Climate (falling to the lowest level since July 2009).

In addition to the rapid deterioration in survey readings in Europe, the situation in the EU's external environment also continued to worsen. The economic downturn set in so quickly that, at the time of writing (mid-April), the amount of 'hard' data capturing the impact of the spread of the virus was still limited. Thus, attention shifted from 'slow' to 'fast' data, such as daily electricity demand (Graph I.1.8) and air traffic. ⁽⁴⁾ Such data from Member States clearly show the exceptional magnitude of the downturn and the impact of

⁽⁴⁾ This shift has also led to the construction of new short-term indicators; see e.g. the Weekly Economic Index (WEI) presented in D. Lewis, K. Mertens and J.H. Stock (2020). 'US economic activity during the early weeks of the SARS-Cov-2 outbreak'. *Covid Economics, Vetted and Real-Time Papers* 6 (CEPR), April 17, pp. 1-21.

containment measures. For instance, in terms of airline traffic (Graph I.1.9) the decline started in Italy much earlier than in other large Member States.



Source: McWilliams, B. and G. Zachmann (2020). 'Covid-19 crisis: electricity demand as a real-time indicator'. Blog (Bruegel), April 23.



The limited availability of area-wide 'fast data' also raised attention on ('faster') national data, such as developments in registrations for shorttime work schemes.

1.3. KEY FACTORS BEHIND THE FORECAST

The key issue behind the spring forecast is the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on uncertainty, on the EU's external environment, and the EU economy itself. This includes the transmission channels and the shocks that matter for the EU economy, with related questions about the profile of the downturn and the subsequent rebound as well as the outlook for inflation.

The first strike of COVID-19 came from China...

In January and February 2020, the spread of the virus in China with shutdowns in some regions caused a first round of relatively mild COVID-19 effects, affecting the EU economy via a number of channels.⁽⁵⁾ The first channel was the impact on supply of key manufacturing inputs sourced from China and other manufacturing hubs affected by the virus (acting as a supply shock to the EU economy). The most vulnerable companies were those which relied heavily or solely on factories in China for parts and materials. High pressure to reduce production costs had motivated companies to pursue strategies such as lean manufacturing, offshoring, and outsourcing. Such cost-cutting measures, however, mean that supply-chain disruptions can bring production rapidly to a halt due to missing parts.

The second channel was the impact on consumer and investment demand in China (acting as a demand shock to the EU economy) and the businesses and commodities reliant on it.

A third channel was the impact on private consumption (e.g. via transport and tourism) and investment demand outside China. As Chinese authorities did not manage to contain the virus inside the country, COVID-19 rapidly spread to neighbouring countries (e.g. Korea), which then faced problems similar to those in China with implications for the EU economy.

...but the main strike followed when the virus spread in Europe...

The COVID-19 pandemic has triggered shocks to the demand and the supply-side of the economy. These shocks are compounded by a number of additional shocks, such as a liquidity shock (e.g. via interrupted cash flows), an uncertainty shock (e.g. via the impact of increased fear on consumer and investor/business sentiment) and/or a shock to the financial sector (e.g. via repricing of more risky asset classes). ⁽⁶⁾ A key difference from more

⁽⁵⁾ Spillovers from developments in China to the EU economy have been subject of various empirical studies; see e.g. European Commission (DG ECFIN). 'Spill-overs from the slowdown in China on the EU economy – channels of contagion'. European Economic Forecast – Autumn 2015, *Institutional Paper* 11, pp. 53-6 (Box I.2).

⁽⁶⁾ The COVID-19 crisis has already been subject of a large number of economic analysis; e.g. OECD (2020). 'Coronavirus: The world economy at risk'. OECD Interim Economic Assessment, March 2; ECB (2020). 'Impacts on the euro area economy from an intensification of the COVID-19 pandemic, both globally and within the euro

typical shocks is that these are to some extent selfimposed as a necessary response to the health crisis, which takes precedence. Another is that these are occurring globally. Unlike a financial crisis, COVID-19 causes a real shock that reduces production and incomes. However, disentangling these shocks is a challenging if not impossible task, which suggests an approach of looking at the main impacts in their order of appearance.

- *Increased uncertainty*. The pandemic and the large number of 'unknowns' creates substantial uncertainty among consumers and firms, which has an impact on spending and saving decisions (e.g. precautionary savings), as well as recruitment and investment decisions.
- *Labour supply reductions.* Labour supply is disrupted primarily by containment measures, such as the closure of non-essential workplaces where remote working is not possible.⁽⁷⁾ In addition, the workforce is affected by sickness and by the absence of workers who need to take care of relatives, friends or children where schools and kindergartens are closed.
- Sectoral disruptions. The first sectors that were hit by containment measures were travel and tourism. Lockdowns extended disruptions to many non-essential economic activities. Since mid-March the number of regions and sectors blocked increased; several countries inside and outside the EU interrupted intra-country and cross border movements. Disruptions also led to production halts in sectors that were not obliged to do so but were cut off from inputs from other sectors and/or countries, such as in some car factories. In the case of a pandemic, solving such production chain problems is especially difficult due to the global nature of the disruptions.
- *Whole-economy disruptions*. In order to contain the virus, more broad-based measures have been taken, such as the closure of schools and universities, the cancellation of mass events, the requirement of more physical distancing, and lockdowns. All these measures weigh

heavily on economic activity with estimates depending on their stringency and duration.

- Income losses, forced savings and lack of demand. The disruptions have hurt the earnings of many households. Even with some labour institutions and short-time work schemes in place, many employees will suffer from income losses, which lower their purchasing power. A demand effect also comes from households aiming at high precautionary saving balances. In addition, even those not suffering from income losses have restricted opportunities to go out and spend, for instance on non-essential retail goods and services (forced savings).
- Liquidity shocks and financial market ٠ implications. The immediate response to the spread of the virus was a sudden repricing of financial and real assets, together with a heavy withdrawal of liquid reserves by firms. Distortions to manufacturing, services and retail have far-reaching implications for the financial health and the profit outlook of companies (e.g. liquidity shocks due the impact on cash flows). This has led to a sharp drop in equity prices and a fall in the yields of (safe haven) sovereign bonds. Moreover, the shocks could put a severe strain on the financial system, if companies' liquidity problems turn into solvency problems. Some of these effects are heterogeneous (i.e. country-specific), often depending on the public finances and the ability of the state to support corporate entities that have fundamentally sound balance sheets but face a drop in demand and value of equity. Moreover, the banking sector situation of the countries affected and/or their specific economic structure (e.g. size of the tourism sector) might add to the risk of structural divergences that may weaken and fragment the EU Single Market.⁽⁸⁾ Accordingly, doubts about the impact on the real economy and fiscal sustainability could re-occur as suggested by the recent widening of spreads vis-à-vis benchmark yields.

A broad range of policy measures has been taken to limit the impact of the pandemic.

area'. ECB Staff Macroeconomic Projections, March 12, pp. 13-4; IMF (2020). 'The great lockdown'. World Economic Outlook, April 14.

⁽⁷⁾ According to estimates for the US economy, only about 34% of jobs can be performed at home (equivalent to 44% of overall wages); see Dingel, J. and B. Neiman (2020). 'How many jobs can be done at home?'. *Covid Economics, Vetted and Real-Time Papers* 1 (CEPR), April 3, pp. 16-24.

⁽⁸⁾ In 2018, tourism made up 11.8% of GDP (13.5% of employment) in Spain, 8.0% (9.8%) in Portugal, 7.4% (7.5%) in France and 6.8% (10.0%) in Greece (source: OECD (2020). *Tourism trends and policies.*).

The first goal is to *lower the number of infections, to avoid an overloading of the acute health system and to limit the number of casualties.* To this end, governments have taken drastic measures to contain the spread of the virus (e.g. lockdown and school closures) and to support those that are infected (e.g. investment in hospital capacity, medical equipment and protective gear).

The second goal is to cushion the economic impact on revenues, incomes and liquidity in order to avoid a cascade of downward movements. To this end, central banks, governments and international institutions have pledged support and implemented or announced an unprecedented 'cocktail' of measures. The fiscal policy measures announced by Member States consist of discretionary polices with a direct impact on the budget, as well as liquidity-oriented measures. Examples include targeted tax relief policies, short-time work schemes and partial or total government guarantees on bank loans. These measures are essential to cushion employment losses, prevent a reversal of investment plans, as well as limit widespread bankruptcies and avoid permanent damage.

A third goal is *providing support to the rebound and recovery* once the pandemic is under control. The ability to respond depends on each country's initial conditions, financial strength and policy space. COVID-19 has affected most seriously some of the countries with the least availability of fiscal space to respond. Differences in national responses could, in the absence of a sufficient degree of EU level intervention result in asymmetric downturns and recoveries. Due to the strong interdependencies among Member States, this would spill over, weaken the overall recovery of the EU, and result in entrenched economic divergence in the future.

While the focus of the spring forecast is on the EU economy, it has to be stressed that COVID-19 is a global shock, hitting the external environment almost in parallel, with repercussions between various regions. This means that individual regions, including Europe, will not be able benefit from sustained economic growth in other more or less unaffected regions of the world, as was the case during the Global Financial Crisis. ⁽⁹⁾ This has implications for the severity of shocks hitting the

EU economy (e.g. due to possibly missing inputs from abroad, or via less demand for EU exports) and introduces further country-specific features, as the exposure to the external environment differs across countries.

...creating a complex matrix of economic effects on the EU economy.

Overall, the COVID-19 pandemic's economic impact is likely to be highly complex and widely varied.⁽¹⁰⁾ However the economic effects differ with respect to their relevance for demand and supply and with respect to the time horizon of their impact (see Graph I.1.10). The duration of the effects depends on the duration of the pandemic, but also on whether changes to trade policies and globalisation attitudes, consumer behaviour, working methods and production chains become permanent. Moreover, debt accumulated during the downturn may exert a lasting impact on firms (e.g. bankruptcies), investor risk perception (e.g. debt sustainability concerns) and the banking sector (e.g. non-performing loans). In addition, the interplay of pre-existing economic conditions and the impact of the pandemic could make some effects longer lasting.

Graph I. 1. 10: Selected economic effects of the COVID-19 outbreak in Europe

	short-term	long term		
Mainly demand	Repricing of financial assets	Weaker external demand	Increased protectionism	
side	Rising part-time work and unemployment	Uncertainty (spread of the virus, duration of measures, second	Reorientation of value chains	
	EME slowdown	wave)	Crisis legacy (debt, debt service)	
	(external financing more difficult)	Hysteresis effects in labour market	Re-organisation of cross-border supply	
	Lockdown (e.g shops closed)	Liquidity shortages	chains	
	New border and trade barriers	More widepread defaults of households	Obsolete capital in 'new normal'	
1	Absence of staff due to illness	and firms Distortion of cross-	Economic pre- conditions:ageing, structural change	
Mainly supply side	Widespread disruptions to economic activity	due to asynchronous re-opening	(e.g. car sector), etc.	

The multiplicity of effects implies that not all of them can be addressed separately. Bundling them

⁽⁹⁾ The IMF stressed that it is the first time since the Great Depression that both advanced economies and emerging markets are in recession. See Gopinath, G. (2020). 'The Great Lockdown: worst economic downturn since the Great Depression'. *IMF Blog*, April 14.

⁽¹⁰⁾ Studies on the economic impact of previous pandemics can provide useful information, but these outbreaks hit a less integrated global economy; for an overview see F. Boissay and P. Rungcharoenkitkul (2020). 'Macroeconomic effects of Covid-19: an early review'. *BIS Bulletin* 7, April 17; this caveat also applies to studies of the influenza pandemic in 1918-20, see e.g. Barro, R.J., Ursúa, J.F. and J. Weng (2020). 'The coronavirus and the Great Influenza Pandemic: lessons from the 'Spanish flu' for the coronavirus' potential effects on mortality and economic activity'. *NBER Working Paper* 26866, March.

leads to the main questions of this forecast round concerning (a) the impact of the unprecedented uncertainty shock, (b) the chances of seeing a quick rebound after the severe downturn and the role policy responses can play, and (c) the impact of COVID-19 on the inflation outlook.

(a) The role of unprecedented uncertainty

Until early 2020, forecasters were mainly concerned about uncertainty related to trade conflicts as they were seen as an obstacle to foreign trade growth, to the future of global value chains (cross border production) and thereby to investment. With the spread of the virus, the main factor driving uncertainty has shifted to health concerns. The COVID-19 pandemic has triggered a massive spike in uncertainty, which relates to many features of the pandemic including the capacity of health care systems to deal with it. This is visible when plotting trade policy uncertainty in the US (as shown in the autumn forecast) and health care uncertainty in the US (see Graph I.1.11).



The health care uncertainty index is only available for the US and provides therefore only regional information. A counterpart at the global level can be seen in the 'World Pandemic Uncertainty Index' (WPUI) and the 'Discussion about pandemics index' (Graph I.1.12).⁽¹¹⁾ Both show

pandemics index' (Graph 1.1.12).⁽¹¹⁾ Both show that their latest rise clearly exceeded that observed during past epidemics, mainly because COVID-19 affects more countries than previous pandemics.



In order to assess the impact, it is useful to check how the pandemic-induced uncertainty as a subindex relates to the World Uncertainty Index, which has already been used in past forecast exercises. The latest reading of this broader global index (Graph I.1.13) confirms the exceptionally high level of uncertainty COVID-19 has caused.



What do these quick and enormous increases in economic uncertainty signal for the macroeconomic impact of the pandemic? In the past, high uncertainty has coincided with periods of lower growth and tighter financial conditions. However, at the current juncture, providing an answer is extremely difficult, given the scarcity of similar developments, which could provide useful guidance. (12) In principle, heightened uncertainty can delay decisions that imply long-term commitments. For companies, this matters for hiring decisions that are costly to reverse, but also

⁽¹¹⁾ See Ahir, H., Bloom, N. and D. Furceri (2020). 'Global uncertainty related to Coronavirus at record high'. *IMF Blog*, 4 April.

⁽¹²⁾ See European Commission (DG ECFIN) (2020). 'Putting the forecast into perspective: the impact of uncertainty'. European Economic Forecast – Spring 2017. *Institutional Paper* 53, pp. 10-13.

and mainly for investment decisions. The pandemic increases uncertainties for investment returns, raising risk premia, which causes firms to either postpone investment plans, or cancel them altogether. For consumers, heightened uncertainty reduces spending as precautionary savings are increased, for example to prepare for potential unemployment. Thus, via lowering consumption and investment, increases in uncertainty lower aggregate demand and deteriorate the employment situation. ⁽¹³⁾ Moreover, uncertainty could also raise risk premia on sovereign debt and thereby increase the cost of additional public debt.

As regards the time horizon of uncertainty effects, empirical analyses for the US economy suggest that, through the uncertainty channel, the pandemic is likely to weigh on the economy persistently, depressing economic activity and inflation well beyond the near term.⁽¹⁴⁾ These considerations suggest that uncertainty regarding the spread of virus is likely to hurt investment decisions in the EU economy and other countries, further dampening demand prospects and delaying a full recovery.

(b) Assessing the shape of the downturn and the subsequent rebound.

The current economic downturn is unique, not only because of its size and abruptness, but also because it results from a public health imperative to deliberately shutdown economic activity, rather than any of the standard triggers of a downturn such as the build-up of cyclical excesses. Neither inappropriate financial asset valuations, nor financial sector weakness, nor sovereign debt issues or debt sustainability concerns, nor an excessive expansion of the construction sector is behind the recession. This provides central banks and fiscal authorities with options they did not have during more typical recessions, but also with challenges in terms of the most effective policy tools to deploy at what time, e.g. the effectiveness of measures to support aggregate demand in a situation of supply constraints and containment measures.

The current set-up also implies that a rebound does not hinge on an adjustment phase during which previous cyclical or structural excesses first need to be corrected. As a result, there has been some hope that a rebound could start earlier than during a more 'normal' recession, as it would mainly depend on getting control of the pandemic and on the length of the containment measures related to it. In combination with an 'optimistic' assumption about the pandemic and about the lifting of containment measures, the 'warming up' after a relatively short period of 'hibernation' appears less difficult, adding up to a kind of 'rebound optimism'.

A very swift, 'V-shaped' recovery would indeed be extraordinary, as in previous, more 'normal' recessions in the euro area it has always taken some time to return to the pre-recession level of GDP, in particular after the Global Financial Crisis (see Graph I.1.14).



The speed at which GDP growth rebounds will depend on the duration of the lockdowns and the economic impediments stemming from the 'cocktail' of containment measures that need to remain in place for longer. The duration of containment measures is difficult to forecast as it depends on characteristics of the virus that are so far not well understood and the development of treatment options and, in the best case, on the availability of a vaccine. The longer a lockdown lasts, the more companies might suffer from liquidity or even solvency issues and go bankrupt, the more workers may permanently lose jobs, and the more impaired assets will weigh on bank

⁽¹³⁾ See S. Leduc and Z. Liu (2016). 'Uncertainty shocks are aggregate demand shocks'. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 82, pp. 20–35.

⁽¹⁴⁾ Baker et al. (2020) estimate 'a year-on-year contraction in U.S. real GDP of nearly 11% as of 2020-Q4, with a 90% confidence interval extending to a nearly 20% contraction' with about half of the contraction reflecting a negative effect of COVID-19 induced uncertainty; see Baker, S.R., Bloom, N., Davis, S.J. and S.J. Terry (2020). 'COVIDinduced economic uncertainty'. *NBER Working Paper* 26983, April.

balance sheets. ⁽¹⁵⁾ The longer shops are closed and consumers are missing spending opportunities, the more consumption may be permanently lost. The longer fiscal authorities have to keep companies alive, the more relevant debt sustainability issues might become.

A look at GDP components suggests a slow and incomplete recovery by the end of 2021...

For many years, private consumption has been the backbone of economic growth in Europe. Moreover, during past economic downturns private consumption has been the most stable demand component with declines of only up to 2% during the sovereign debt crisis. At present, the contraction of private consumption is expected to be sharp, as shop closures and containment measures lead to 'forced savings'. General uncertainty and specific concerns about employment prospects may induce households to increase their precautionary savings beyond the end of the lockdowns. A particularly strong pandemic impact on lower-income jobs hits persons with a high marginal propensity to consume, so that distributional effects could additionally weigh on private consumption.⁽¹⁶⁾ Wealth effects from falling asset prices may reinforce spending restraint. (17) On the upside, policy measures to protect workers' incomes should mitigate some of these impacts. There is a high probability of private consumption starting to recover quickly, but incompletely and with differences for the various consumption purposes. While postponed car and furniture purchases could lead to pent up demand later, much of the discretionary spending on leisure and travel will be permanently lost.

Investment is the most volatile GDP component and is likely to take a very severe hit, reflecting a combination of demand, supply and financial factors. Faced with high uncertainty about future sales prospects, weakened equity positions and potentially more difficult access to credit, firms are likely to postpone or cancel investment plans. Even if they intend to carry on with certain projects, the current disruption to international supply chains may make a swift realisation impossible. Moreover, the lack of revenue during the lockdown may constrain firms' ability to finance investment projects in the near term, and longer if the increase in debt leads to deleveraging needs. On balance, many of the dampening factors are set to remain in place even once economic activity has started to rebound. ⁽¹⁸⁾

Finally, exports of goods and services may remain dampened for some time as demand from outside the EU, which was already weak in 2019, takes time to recover from the pandemic and existing global supply chains go through structural changes to reduce the risk of disruptions such as those experienced with the current shock. Moreover, the rebound of exports and imports in Member States depends heavily on exports and imports within the EU, which have substantially increased in recent decades as economic integration within the internal market has intensified. Due to the high degree of intra-EU interdependence, most notably via a high integration in intra-EU value chains, an incomplete rebound in one country would spill over to all the other countries and dampen economic growth everywhere.⁽¹⁹⁾

...as the impact on the labour market may be difficult to reverse quickly.

Labour markets were the bright spot in the expansion years up to early 2020 with unemployment rates falling to their lowest in more than a decade and employment reaching new alltime highs. The pandemic is expected to bring the decade-long improvement in the labour market

⁽¹⁵⁾ Increased debt could also slow the recovery; for a discussion see Becker, B., Hege. U. and P. Mella-Barral (2020). 'Corporate debt burdens threaten economic recovery after COVID-19: Planning for debt restructuring should start now'. *VoxEU*, March 21.

⁽¹⁶⁾ See also A. Glover, J. Heathcote, D. Krueger and J.-V. Rios-Rull (2020). 'Health versus wealth: on the distributional effects of controlling a pandemic'. *CEPR Discussion Paper* 14606, April.

⁽¹⁷⁾ According to recent estimates for the euro area, the long-term marginal propensity of consumption out of financial wealth is significantly positive, ranging between 1% and 7%; see De Bondt, G., Gieseck, A. and M. Tujula (2020). 'Household wealth and consumption in the euro area'. *Economic Bulletin* 1 (ECB), February, pp. 46-61.

⁽¹⁸⁾ Empirical studies of past pandemics found sustained periods with depressed investment opportunities, partly due to a lasting fall of the real natural rate; see O. Jordà, S. R. Singh and A.M. Taylor (2020). 'Longer-run economic consequences of pandemics'. *CEPR Discussion Paper* 14543. March.

⁽¹⁹⁾ An ECB study has found that an initial decline of GDP in the largest euro area economies by 5% (15%) would already during the downturn lower GDP in the euro area by 7% (20%) with further declines possible in subsequent periods; see F. Panetta (2020). 'Why we all need a joint European fiscal response'. *Politico*, April 21. Moreover, global spillovers magnify the impact of domestic shocks and add to internal spillovers in the euro area; see Holland, D. and I. Liadze (2020) 'Quantifying the global macroeconomic spillovers of illness and lockdown measures'. *National Institute Economic Review* 252, May, F69-F70 (Box B).

shuddering to a halt, but how severe the deterioration in the labour market situation is remains difficult to assess. On the one hand, the measurement of employment and unemployment is complicated by statistical issues (e.g. the measurement of short-time work in employment series that include for some countries only headcount numbers). On the other hand, the usual mapping from economic activity into the employment/unemployment situation might be misleading due to the unprecedented situation (e.g. by newly implemented labour market measures).

The information content of labour market statistics differs across regions and countries as labour market institutions and policies differ. Some employees affected by the situation have kept their jobs either with their full salary, or with some type of temporary wage subsidy, such as a short-time work scheme.⁽²⁰⁾ Others have been laid off and provided either with a recall date (temporary layoff, furlough) or without such cushioning. Such effects hit large companies, medium and small sized-enterprises but also the self-employed. In some countries, more generous short-time working arrangements have so far limited the increase in unemployment but dramatically increased the number of employees in such schemes, often markedly above levels observed during the Great Recession (e.g. in Germany and France).⁽²¹⁾ In other countries, the number of unemployed has increased markedly.

The duration of the lockdowns and the containment measures kept in place (e.g. physical distancing) and the strength of the rebound in economic activity will determine to what extent large reductions in hours worked will translate into employment losses and increases in the unemployment rate. Government-subsidised job retention, such as short-time work arrangements

where workers benefit from transfers, can be expected to limit negative permanent effects on employment. rate.⁽²²⁾ A high share of labour hoarding that ends up in re-employment is crucial for avoiding mismatches and hysteresis effects.⁽²³⁾ In addition, the long-term impact on the labour market will depend on how successful labour market policies are in cushioning the negative effects on vulnerable groups with a lower attachment to the labour market (e.g. young persons, low-skilled workers, elderly people).

(c) COVID-19's impact on inflation

The inflation outlook depends on the balance of downward pressures from the demand shock and upward pressures from the supply shock. Up to now, COVID-19 is more likely to put additional downward pressure on consumer inflation (as measured by the Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices) and inflation expectations. ⁽²⁴⁾

- The demand effects on prices of *non-energy goods* should dominate the supply side effects. So far, downside effects of lower demand are only partially mitigated by the upside effects from the disruption of supply chains. Downward pressure on inflation is reinforced by the large drop in oil prices and a deteriorating labour market situation.
- Going forward, *domestic price pressures* are expected to subside. The weaker demand outlook is expected to make it harder for firms to maintain their margins, which would imply that the pass-through from wages to prices has become more difficult. Moreover, the outlook for future wage increases is clouded by the expected deterioration of the labour market situation that is set to raise economic slack. ⁽²⁵⁾

⁽²⁰⁾ The Commission's proposal for 'Support to mitigate Unemployment Risks in an Emergency' (SURE) will support Member States to cover costs directly related to the creation or extension of national short-time work schemes, and other similar measures they have put in place for the self-employed; see F. Vandenbroucke, L. Andor, R. Beetsma, B. Burgoon, G. Fischer, T. Kuhn, C. Luigjes, and F. Nicoli (2020). 'The European Commission's SURE initiative and euro area unemployment re-insurance'. VoxEU, 6 April; European Commission (2020), 'Proposal for a Council Regulation on the establishment of a European instrument for temporary support to mitigate unemployment risks in an emergency (SURE) following the COVID-19 outbreak', 2 April 2020, COM (2020), 139 final

⁽²¹⁾ See e.g. Berson, C., Camatte, H. and S. Nevoux (2020). 'Short-time work: a useful tool in times of crisis'. *Eco Notepad* 158 (Banque de France), April 20.

⁽²²⁾ Empirical analysis showed that short-time work may save up to 0.87 jobs per short-time worker in deep economic crises; see Gehrke, B. and B. Hochmuth (2020). 'Counteracting unemployment in crises: Non-linear effects of short-time work policy'. *Scandinavian Journal of Economics* 122 (forthc.).

⁽²³⁾ See e.g. Giupponi, G., and C. Landais (2018). 'Subsidizing labor hoarding in recessions: The employment and welfare effects of short-time work'. CEPR Discussion Paper 13310. Boeri, T. and H. Bruecker (2011). 'Short-time work benefits revisited: Some lessons from the Great Recession'. *Economic Policy* 26:68, pp. 697–765.

⁽²⁴⁾ For a recent discussion of this issue see also L. Cadamuro and F. Papadia (2020). 'Three macroeconomic issues and Covid-19'. *Bruegel Blog Post*, March 10.

⁽²⁵⁾ In assessing euro-area wide developments in the compensation of employees the impact of the CICE in

• Lower *oil price assumptions* are also expected to weigh on the inflation outlook. The deteriorated global growth outlook and the dispute over production cuts, most notably between Saudi Arabia and Russia, has pulled prices to very low levels. The agreement on production cuts that was reached in the first half of April has not led to a rebound in prices. Accordingly, the oil price assumptions underlying this forecast are markedly lower than in the previous forecasts.

Overall, in the near term, the new downward pressures on prices are expected to dominate, leading to a downward revision of the forecast for headline HICP inflation in 2020. Developments in 2021 will certainly be driven by energy prices and thus depend mainly on external assumptions.

Beyond the short-term impact of COVID-19, some analysts have raised the issue as to whether unprecedented monetary and fiscal efforts, the sharp increase in debt, and the monetisation of government debt would necessarily push inflation over the medium term.⁽²⁶⁾ Although this cannot be completely excluded, there is so far no evidence, for example in inflation expectations, that this risk is significant.⁽²⁷⁾

Finally, one has to note that the pandemic is affecting the measurement of prices as lockdowns limit the basket of goods consumers can purchase. This applies to roughly half of the weight of the HICP in the euro area. According to Eurostat's HICP Methodological Manual, prices that are temporarily not available are kept unchanged for a period of up to two months after the closure of shops, which could constitute one cause of biased inflation measurement.⁽²⁸⁾ Another cause could be the temporary change in consumption patterns with less spending on consumer services.

1.4. THE FORECAST AND ITS MAIN RESULTS

Forecasters are in uncharted territory. This implies that the usual compass needles might not work properly any longer and that a more flexible approach is needed for assessing the economic situation and outlook. Accordingly, this section starts by looking at forecasting in times of a pandemic, sketches the results of a scenario analysis and presents the main results of the Commission's spring forecast.

The challenge of economic forecasting during a pandemic...

Without any sort of historical precedent upon which to base analysis and a substantial lack of information about the spread of the virus and the duration of containment measures, macroeconomic forecasting is more challenging than usual. What can be done? First, sticking to the usual forecast techniques does not look like a feasible option. Given the speed of the downturn, any method that relies on the rear view and the availability of hard data could provide misleading signals. Moreover, given the size and speed of the downturn, elasticities and relationships between economic variables that have been used in previous forecasts do not necessarily provide guidance for producing a reasonable projection. Second, interrupting forecast activities until more knowledge about the pandemic and its impact are known might be tempting but is not an option in a situation where informed policy decisions need to be taken. (29) Accordingly, a more flexible approach to forecasting ('a forecast like no other'), which exploits data and techniques that are usually not at the centre of forecasters' attention, seems necessary.

A more flexible forecast approach requires, first, evidence from previous pandemics and information from sources outside the standard forecast sphere (a more multidisciplinary approach). Second, it widens the view on data by putting more emphasis on the most recent developments, on real-time data such as electricity consumption (see above), and on data about the spread of the virus. Third, in terms of methods, the selection of models needs to be reconsidered (see also Section I.3), for example by assigning a larger role to model-based scenario analyses.

France in 2019 (lowering the growth rate by up to half a percentage point) need to be taken into account.

⁽²⁶⁾ See e.g. C. Goodhart and M. Pradhan (2020). 'Future imperfect after coronavirus'. *VoxEU*, March 27.

⁽²⁷⁾ See e.g. Blanchard, O. J. (2020). 'Is there deflation or inflation in the future?'. VoxEU, April 24; Blanchard, O. J. and J. Pisani-Ferry (2020). 'Monetisation: Do not panic'. VoxEu, April 10.

⁽²⁸⁾ This provision means that past price developments matter for annual inflation. For example, in 2019 during the Easter period the prices of package holidays increased markedly (annual rate in April 2019 at 7.7%), whereas in April 2020 prices for Easter holiday travel are almost impossible to collect. The prolonged use of the package holiday prices from February would result in April in annual inflation of package holidays of -10.3% (i.e., lowering annual HICP inflation by 0.16 pps.).

⁽²⁹⁾ At its meeting in mid-March 2020, the Federal Reserve opted to drop its Summary of Economic Projections, citing greater-than-usual uncertainty.

How can model results support the forecast? Faced with fundamental uncertainty along several dimensions (e.g. the dynamics of the pandemic, the economic impact of containment measures) this spring forecast resorts more than usual to scenario analysis whereby the baseline projection is conditioned on a set of assumptions, and then its sensitivity to these assumptions is tested in alternative scenarios. Model results depend crucially on the assumptions about the pandemic, its duration and deepness. Under a set of assumptions, models can provide valuable information about economic processes, for example for linkages between shocks and in private consumption developments and investment. (30) For this purpose, forecasters can develop scenarios that illustrate how the EU economy might be hit by the pandemic and how the rebound from the trough might look like once the spread of the virus has been stopped. ⁽³¹⁾ Such information can then assist forecasters who combine model-based results and in-depth knowledge to arrive at rough estimates. This is the route the European Commission's spring 2020 forecast has followed. (32)

- (30) See e.g. Pollitt, Hector (2020). 'Coronavirus: how to model the economic impacts of a pandemic'. *Cambridge Economics Blog*, 10 March.
- (31) Several past pandemic studies have used scenario analyses; see L. Jonung and W. Roeger (2006). 'The macroeconomic effects of a pandemic in Europe - A model-based assessment'. *European Economy Eonomic Paper* 251, DG ECFIN (European Commission); Rubin, H. (2011). 'Future global shocks: pandemics'. *OECD Report* IFP/WKP/FGS(2011)2, January, OECD.
- (32) Several institutions and researchers have recently presented scenario analyses to evaluate the COVID-19 impact, including outcomes for the euro area; see e.g. OECD (2020). 'Coronavirus: the world economy at risk'. OECD Interim Economic Assessment, March 2; IMF (2020). 'Alternative evolutions in the fight against COVID-19'. World Economic Outlook, April, pp. 15-6 (box); Battistini, N. and G. Stoevsky (2020). 'Alternative scenarios for the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on economic activity on the euro area'. Economic Bulletin 3 (ECB), May (forthc.); Hurst, I., Liadze, I., Naisbitt, B. and G. Young (2020). 'A preliminary assessment of the possible economic impact of the coronavirus outbreak: update.' NiGEM Observations 18, March 27; McKibbin, W. and R. Fernando (2020). 'The global macroeconomic impacts of COVID-19: seven scenarios'. Brookings Report, March 2; CPB Netherlands Bureau of Economic Policy Analysis (2020). 'Scenarios for the economic consequences of the corona crisis'. CPB Scenarios, March. Additional scenario analyses have been published by private banks and, for their respective countries, by several euro area central banks (e.g. in Ireland, Spain, Lithuania, and Portugal).

...and the approach in the Commission's spring 2020 forecast.

The Commission's spring 2020 forecast uses structural (QUEST model) and statistical (inputoutput tables) approaches (see Section I.3). However, the scenarios developed to evaluate the impact of the pandemic and the point forecasts presented in this section should be understood as strongly dependent on the assumptions about the length of the lockdowns, the containment measures and the effectiveness of the policy response. The high uncertainty surrounding them should be noted.

The most important assumptions for the spring forecast baseline are the following: (1) Having peaked in April, the number of new COVID-19 infections in Europe (Graph I.1.15) remains under control after the containment measures are loosened; (2) strict lockdowns are gradually lifted in the coming months, only targeted containment measures with a relatively minor economic impact will remain in place in the second half of this year; (3) policy measures are effective in protecting the economic tissue. Widespread bankruptcies and mass unemployment as well as a financial crisis are avoided.



The COVID-19 crisis is estimated to have a very large detrimental economic impact on the EU. A scenario with automatic stabilisers but without planned policy measures estimates that GDP in the EU will fall by about 13% in 2020, compared to a non-pandemic reference scenario, and rebound by about 10% in 2021 (see Section I.3). About half of the decline is attributable to the demand shock, whereas the supply and the liquidity shocks account for about one fifth and the rest is due to

the uncertainty shock. Once the planned policy measures are taken into account (baseline scenario) the impact looks much smoother, with GDP falling with respect to the non-pandemic scenario by about 8% in 2020 and recovering by about 6% in 2021. These mitigation effects in both years can mainly be attributed to discretionary spending and government guarantees to businesses.

The effectiveness of planned policy measures is also reflected in the developments of demand components and employment. The scenario without planned measures shows in 2020 doubledigit declines in private investment, private consumption, but also exports and imports, and much smaller but further declines compared to a non-pandemic reference scenario in 2021. Planned measures are estimated to cushion the declines in private consumption and private investment but also for exports and imports, but not sufficiently to prevent an unprecedented decline in private consumption in 2020, which would then only partially be offset by the rebound in 2021, as private consumption would still be below a nonpandemic reference scenario. Planned policy measures are estimated to halve the fall in employment in 2020, but despite a significant rebound in the labour market, employment is estimated to remain below the non-pandemic scenario in 2021.

The estimated fall in annual real GDP in 2020 exceeds the amplitude of the deepest recessions in the history of the EU, including the first oil price shock (1973-1975) and the Global Financial Crisis (2007-2009), ⁽³³⁾ but it is smaller than the peak-to-trough decline during the Great Depression (Graph I.1.16). ⁽³⁴⁾



Veris only), based on annual data, 1921-51 EA12 excl. LU, 1952-84 EA19 excl. EE, LT, LV, and SK, and since 1985 EA19. Source: Maddison Project Database, 2018, www.ggdc.net/maddison

Overall, these results of the baseline scenario show up to the end of the forecast horizon in 2021 a relatively rapid, but incomplete recovery with output remaining below a non-pandemic scenario. In assessing these results one has to acknowledge the large amount of uncertainty surrounding the numbers, in particular with respect to the dynamics of the pandemic and the relaxation of containment measures, but also with respect to the availability of an effective treatment for COVID-19 and a vaccine. More adverse assumptions about the pandemic and about the stringency and duration of containment measures result in outcomes that are more negative for 2020 and 2021 (Section I.3). ⁽³⁵⁾

The euro area has undergone a severe shock...

The pandemic and the efforts to contain it have brought the economic expansion in the EU and the euro area to an end. The extremely rapid peak-totrough decline in GDP growth constitutes an unusually fast downturn, which is expected to be partially reversed in the second half of the year.

COVID-19 has spread globally and caused governments to shut down large portions of their economies in an attempt to contain the virus' transmission. ⁽³⁶⁾ The combination of the

⁽³³⁾ These three post-World War II recessions have been identified as globally outstanding; see Kose, M. A., Sugawara, N. and M. E. Terrones (2020). 'Global recessions'. *Policy Research Working Paper* 9172 (World Bank), March.

⁽³⁴⁾ The same ranking is obtained for euro area per-capita GDP data from the Long-Term Productivity database (-15.2% in the Great Depression, -4.8% in the Global Financial Crisis and -1.2% in the OPEC oil price crisis); for further analysis see Bergeaud, A., Cette, G. and R. Lecat (2020). 'Current and past recessions: a long-term perspective'. *Eco Notepad* 159 (Banque de France), April 27.

 ⁽³⁵⁾ This does not necessarily imply a trade off between containment measures and economic recovery, as the failure to mitigate the peak of an infection may cause very large upfront costs in terms of output and demand; see Bodenstein, M., Corsetti, G. and L. Guerrieri (2020). 'Social distancing and supply disruptions in a pandemic'. *Finance and Economics Discussion Series* 31 (Federal Reserve Board), April.
(30) According to U.O. etimetees in early April full or partial.

⁽³⁶⁾ According to ILO estimates, in early April full or partial lockdown measures were affecting almost 2.7 billion workers, representing around 81% of the world's workforce; see International Labour Organization (2020). 'COVID-19 and the world of work. Second edition'. *ILO Monitor*, April 7.

pandemic, falling oil prices and financial market shocks is expected to have pushed the global economy into recession (see Graph I.1.17). Global economic activity outside the euro area is forecast to contract by about 3% in 2020, which is a sharper downturn than during the Global Financial Crisis when at least some countries escaped the downturn.

Supported by unprecedented policy efforts, the outlook for the external environment in 2021 is more benign, showing a strong rebound in growth, although output is expected to not fully recover to pre-pandemic levels within the forecast horizon (see Section I.2.1). Economic activity in advanced economies (excluding the EU) is projected to fall by about 6% this year and to increase by about 41/2% next year. In emerging market economies, the projected decline in GDP in 2020 is somewhat smaller, reflecting the expected growth rebound in China. The deterioration is expected to be sharper in emerging market countries with limited capacity to deal with a health crisis of this magnitude as well as with limited policy space to absorb the macroeconomic shock. Moreover, in many emerging market economies, the negative impact of COVID-19 is compounded by a simultaneous commodity price shock and a sharp deterioration in financing conditions.

The COVID-19 shock is set to affect the global economy via disruptions to demand, labour supply and industrial output, supply chains, commodity prices, international trade and capital flows. For the trade outlook (Graph I.1.17), this implies that an already weak 2019 is followed by a year with plummeting global trade. ⁽³⁷⁾ The rebound in 2021 is projected to be limited because some of the disruption in global value chains caused by the pandemic is likely to prove more permanent. Overall, these projections for the external environment are expected to weigh on the outlook for the euro area, as they imply unfavourable developments in euro area export markets.



...with private domestic demand set to recover only gradually...

Economic activity in the euro area and the EU is being hit by a variety of shocks, as described in the model-based scenario analysis. Private consumption and investment are set to fall sharply in the first half of the year, before rebounding in the second half. Both the downturn and the upswing are expected to be extreme compared to the Global Financial Crisis (Graph I.1.18). However, it has to be noted that the pace of the rebound rests on assumptions about the pandemic, which are surrounded by large uncertainty.



Despite the expected gradual rebound in the second half of 2020, the troughs in the first half of the year are set to be so deep that the projected annual growth rates are at unprecedented lows (see Graph I.1.19). The profile implies strong carry-overs to 2021, which are one reason for projections of relatively strong growth next year.

⁽³⁷⁾ The WTO projected world merchandise trade to fall in 2020 by between 13% and 32%; see WTO (2020). 'Trade set to plunge as COVID-19 pandemic upends global economy'. WTO Press Release 855, April 8.



Due to the synchronous global economic downturn expected in 2020 and the subsequent rebound in 2021, euro area exports and imports are set to move almost in parallel (Graph I.1.20), limiting net contributions to growth from the external side. As a result, domestic demand components dominate the growth outlook, which is characterised by a sharp downturn in 2020 and an incomplete rebound in 2021.



Against the background of sharp moves in annual growth rates, the expected importance of calendar effects on euro area growth this year (due to the leap year and a relatively high number of working days in some Member States) has faded.

...the labour market being severely hit...

The ups and downs in economic activity are also reflected in projections for the labour market (see Section I.2.4). The relatively moderate expected decline in employment of about 4% in 2020 hides a more substantial deterioration in the number of hours worked, as employees in short-time work schemes are de facto unemployed but remain statistically employed. The deterioration in the labour market situation is projected to limit increases in wages and salaries this year and next as the bargaining power of workers is diminished. Accordingly, gains in real disposable incomes are also expected to fall behind the rates seen in the years of economic expansion (Graph I.1.21).



...near-term inflationary pressures diminishing rapidly...

The combination of weakening economic activity and a deteriorating labour market outlook translates in the near term into lower domestic price pressures that weigh on core inflation. In combination with falling energy price inflation, mainly reflecting the sharp fall in oil prices, this explains the downward revision to inflation projections. HICP inflation in the euro area is forecast to fall below 1% in 2020 and to tick higher in 2021, mainly on the back of base effects.

...while additional policy measures impact on public finances.

To protect households, workers and firms, new discretionary fiscal measures have been announced or implemented that add to the effects of automatic stabilisers (see Section I.2.6). As a result, public expenditure, deficit, and debt to GDP ratios are projected to increase significantly (Graph I.1.22), whereas the revenue ratio is set to remain roughly unchanged. Under the baseline scenario, in 2020 increases in the deficit and debt ratios combine the effects of unprecedented fiscal policy measures and the decline in economic activity (nominal GDP). The increases in 2020 (dashed blue line) differ markedly from the autumn forecast (red line). In 2021, Member States are assumed to
unwind many of the temporary policy measures adopted in response to the COVID-19. In combination with the expected rebound in economic activity in 2021, under a no-policy change assumption this is projected to lower expenditure, deficit and debt ratios (dotted blue line). It has to be noted that not all measures are reflected in the budget, e.g. liquidity support measures such as loans or loan guarantees to firms.



Most Member States are pushed into recessions, though of different extents,...

The COVID-19 shock is broadly symmetric and hits all Member States, but both the downturn and the rebound of economic activity are expected to be asymmetric (Graph I.1.23). While some countries are set to return next year to their prepandemic levels of output, a majority of Member States is expected to recover only partially by the end of the forecast horizon. Among the reasons are country-specific features, such as differences in the extent and timing of the pandemic in individual countries as also reflected in the reported numbers of COVID-19 infections and deaths.

Other differences are found in the exposure to sectors most affected by the pandemic and containment measures (e.g. tourism), and in the fiscal response to the crisis (see Section I.2.7). Country specific developments are expected key public finance indicators. For example, in 2020, the highest increase in the debt ratio is expected in Italy and Spain (Graph I.1.22), partly reflecting a more pronounced economic contraction. In 2021, both economies are projected to face the highest increases as compared to the outturns in 2019.



The uneven rebound of economic activity is also visible in annual figures. While the levels of employment and private domestic demand (private consumption and investment) are projected to remain in 2021 below their pre-pandemic levels in the euro area and the five largest Member States, the differences across countries are substantial (Graph I.1.24). This also applies in terms of 'lost growth' when compared with the growth rates that were expected in autumn 2019 forecast (red lines in the graph below).



Substantial differences across countries are also clearly visible in the projected profiles of GDP growth in 2020 and 2021. Among the largest Member States (Graph I.1.25), the projected declines are more similar than the rebounds, which are set to be more limited in Italy and Spain, so far the two countries hardest hit by COVID-19. The decline in GDP is followed by a largely asymmetric recovery, which leads to entrenched divergences. In comparison to the Great Recession in 2008-2009, the crisis triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic is much deeper and highlights the importance of persistent structural, macroeconomic differences in Member States.



...and the downturn is resulting in sharp downward revisions to forecasts.

Both the exceptional pace of the expected downturn and rebound are reflected in recent revisions by most forecasters (including the IMF and the forecasters surveyed by Consensus Economics). Within weeks, rather flat forecast evolutions for private consumption, investment and GDP in the euro area have turned into forecast 'scissors' with low forecast numbers for 2020 and high forecast numbers for 2021. Thus, the directions forecasters have taken in the newly entered 'uncharted territory' look quite similar (Graph I.1.26).

Overall, the economic outlook for the euro area and the EU economy has sharply deteriorated since the winter 2020 interim forecast. The COVID-19 pandemic has affected China much more than expected and spread globally, including in the EU. As key parameters of the disease including its duration remain unknown, forecasts at the current juncture are inevitably shrouded by elevated uncertainty. It is therefore somewhat premature to try to assess the likely shape of the rebound. As compared to the profiles observed during the Financial Crisis, however, Global current projections could still merit description as 'Vshaped', but the incomplete rebound that is projected for economic activity, trade and employment could suggest a 'U shaped' rebound. Whether this in the end turns into an 'elongated U', as for some countries in the wake of the Great Recession, depends on the validity of assumptions on which the forecast is based.



Extremely high uncertainty and substantial downside risks surround the forecast

The huge uncertainty surrounding this spring forecast is unprecedented. The scale and duration of the pandemic are essentially unknown. There is also uncertainty regarding both the duration and scope of containment measures and, in turn, the shape of the rebound.

Risks surrounding the forecast are severe and mostly point to the downside. The major risks concern the total economic impact of COVID-19 on the EU economy, which will depend upon the scale and duration of the pandemic.

- Growth in the EU could underperform the already revised forecast, as the *pandemic* poses downside risks. The forecast is based on the assumption that the pandemic exerts its biggest impact in the second quarter 2020 followed by a period of gradual relaxation of the containment measures. This could be too optimistic, in particular as a treatment drug or vaccine may not be available soon. Already planned or implemented relaxations of containment measures could prove premature and spark another outbreak ('second wave'). A prolonged or more severe spread of the virus would yield an even worse downturn than currently expected, as also visible in the adverse scenarios that have been simulated (see Section I.3).
- The recovery in Europe could also suffer from insufficiently *coordinated national policy responses, or a too limited common response at the EU level.* This could limit the efficient use of the workforce (e.g. labour mobility), result in different treatment of companies

depending on their location in the EU, or be inadequate to compensate for the lack of sufficient policy space in those euro area Member States that are also hardest hit. It could endanger the functioning of the internal market, result in efficiency losses, dampen economic growth, increase divergence, and ultimately threaten the stability of the monetary union. Tight linkages through supply chains, financial connections and trade relationships would compound and spread negative effects throughout the EU.

- Growth in the *external environment* could be weaker than expected, i.e. the recession could be deeper than anticipated and the rebound could be more gradual than expected. This could be related to more painful economic effects of COVID-19 in emerging market economies (e.g. sovereign defaults).
- The possibility of *financial turmoil* cannot be excluded. For indebted corporate borrowers, initial liquidity strains could turn into solvency problems, which lead to bankruptcies, make loans non-performing and cause losses in the banking sector that endanger financial stability and cause a risk-off episode with implications to companies' access to credit and their funding costs. (38) Frictions in credit markets could lower economic efficiency due to higher costs of capital and/or by capital being misallocated away from its most productive uses. For some sovereigns, the budgetary burden of implemented and planned measures could become more difficult to cope with than currently expected. This - in combination with

- the impact of the recession on output and inflation – could lead to a revival of concerns about debt sustainability, and financial tensions. In the absence of sufficient circuit breakers, economic and financial feedback loops could emerge.
- Even if the virus is successfully suppressed in the near term and a lifting of containment measures leads to a revival in economic activity, the pandemic could leave permanent scars in the EU economy that are not included in the central scenario. They could be related to a wave of bankruptcies and an accompanying destruction of capital, as well as fragmentation in the Single Market, which would lower the intensity of trade and dampen investment. In addition, experiences from the pandemic could also trigger fundamental changes to global trade and international cooperation that would hit open economies such as the EU most. Against the background of fears that imported cases result in renewed infections, a rise of protectionism could become more popular than currently expected.
- In addition, some *downside risks evaluated in the previous forecasts* remain in place. These include concerns that new tariffs might be applied on a much wider range of items, which could adversely affect business investment plans and lead to a worse outcome. Moreover, the failure to secure an agreement about the future trading relationship between the EU and the UK could dampen economic growth, particularly in the UK.

On the upside, a more rapid than expected development of a vaccine against COVID-19 could allow physical distancing measures to be lifted more quickly, could improve economic sentiment, and result in a faster-than-anticipated return to a more normal economic situation.

⁽³⁸⁾ Regarding financial stability, the Financial Stability Board assessed the pandemic as 'the biggest test of the postfinancial system to date'; Financial Stability Board (2020). 'COVID-19 pandemic: Financial stability implications and policy measures taken'. April 15.

2. ECONOMIC OUTLOOK

2.1. INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENT

Pandemic hits a vulnerable global economy

Around the turn of the year, the global economy, which was slowing down since 2018, showed some tentative signs of bottoming out when it was hit by the COVID-19 global pandemic. This crisis profoundly disrupted global demand, supply chains, labour supply and industrial output and triggered a collapse in oil and commodity prices as well as financial market turmoil. The combination of these shocks is expected to push the global economy into a deep recession in the first half of 2020. The unprecedented policy efforts to limit the economic impact of the pandemic however, are expected to contain the downturn and contribute to the subsequent recovery. The resumption of economic activity is projected to begin in the second half of 2020 when the pandemic is assumed to be broadly contained and the restrictive health policy measures progressively phased out. However, the restart in economic activity is set to be gradual and uneven across countries and regions as it will depend on their policy space and capacities to deal with a health crisis of this magnitude. For many emerging and low-income countries, the economic impact is projected to be Furthermore, the particularly long lasting. economic and social challenges in some of these countries are expected to be compounded by a simultaneous commodity price shock and a sharp deterioration of financing conditions. Overall, global real GDP (excluding the EU) is projected to contract by around 3% in 2020 before a recovery of 5% in 2021, implying that by the end of the forecast horizon global output would recover above the 2019 level but below the projected level in the autumn 2019 forecast. Uncertainty around the present forecast is extremely large as it is impossible to predict the future patterns of the virus outbreak, the containment measures taken to flatten its spread, the effectiveness of the policy response as well as the damage it may have on international trade and global value chains. Overall, the economic shock hitting all economies simultaneously may have a deeper and longer lasting impact.

A triple shock of global pandemic, collapsing oil prices and financial market turmoil

Global growth (excl. EU) remained subdued in the second half of 2019 but signs of an upturn started to emerge around the turn of the year. Some high frequency indicators improved on the back of easing concerns around possible tail risks thanks to the "phase one" trade deal between the US and China and the reduction of uncertainty about the UK withdrawal from the EU. In addition, macroeconomic, and especially monetary, policy support in a number of major economies supported global business sentiment. Signs of bottoming out were particularly strong in emerging Asia where a tentative upturn in the tech cycle further strengthened the outlook for manufacturing.



The outbreak and spread of COVID-19, starting in China in December 2019 and subsequently becoming a pandemic, derailed this incipient global recovery and fundamentally changed the economic outlook. The fast cross-border spread of the virus triggered a wave of public containment measures, a change in behaviour of the general public, a substantial drop in business confidence, and a steep rise in financial market risk aversion. implying a sharp and abrupt halt to economic activity. This shock rippled through the global economy via disruptions to global demand, labour supply and industrial output, supply chains, commodity prices, international trade and capital flows. The latest high frequency data confirm that since the beginning of the year the pandemic has caused significant disruption across the global economy, with global output, trade and employment contracting in March and April at the

Table I.2.1:

International environment

(Annual percentage change)					Spi fe	ring 2020 orecast		Autumn 2019 forecast				
-	(a)	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021		
					Real GDP	growth						
Japan	4.1	0.5	2.2	0.3	0.7	-5.0	2.7	0.9	0.4	0.6		
United Kingdom	2.2	1.9	1.9	1.3	1.4	-8.3	6.0	1.3	1.4	1.4		
United States	15.2	1.6	2.4	2.9	2.3	-6.5	4.9	2.3	1.8	1.6		
Emerging and developing Asia	34.1	6.9	6.5	6.4	5.6	0.6	7.2	5.7	5.6	5.5		
- China	18.7	6.8	7.0	6.7	6.1	1.0	7.8	6.1	5.8	5.6		
- India	7.7	9.0	6.6	6.8	5.3	1.1	6.7	5.6	6.1	6.3		
Latin America	7.5	-0.9	1.1	0.9	-0.1	-5.6	2.4	-0.1	1.1	1.7		
- Brazil	2.5	-3.3	1.3	1.3	1.1	-5.2	1.9	0.8	1.5	1.8		
MENA	6.5	4.6	1.9	1.0	0.2	-3.8	2.0	1.0	1.8	1.9		
CIS	4.4	0.7	2.2	2.7	2.1	-4.0	2.3	1.7	2.1	2.1		
- Russia	3.1	0.3	1.6	2.3	1.3	-5.0	1.6	1.0	1.4	1.5		
Sub-Saharan Africa	3.2	1.1	2.6	2.6	2.4	-4.1	2.1	2.7	2.8	2.8		
Candidate Countries	1.9	3.2	7.0	2.9	1.1	-5.3	4.5	0.6	3.1	3.5		
World excluding EU	86.0	3.5	3.9	3.7	3.0	-2.9	5.0	3.1	3.3	3.4		
				Trade of	goods and	services, v	olumes					
World excluding EU, import		1.3	6.0	4.1	0.1	-10.3	6.7	0.5	2.1	2.5		
EU export market growth (b)		3.3	5.4	3.3	2.2	-11.5	8.4	2.3	2.6	2.7		

(a) Relative weights in %, based on GDP (at constant prices and PPS) in 2018.(b) Imports of goods and services to the various markets (incl. EUmarkets) weighted according to their share in country's exports of goods and services.

sharpest rate since the Great Depression. Reflecting on the experience in China where the virus outbreak first appeared and seemed to have been contained, the COVID-19 pandemic is assumed to be of transitory nature but to hit all economies across the globe. The severe disruption to global activity is expected to be largely concentrated in Q1 (China and large parts of East Asia) and Q2 (Europe and the US). It is expected to be followed by a rebound, starting in the second half of this year, as the pandemic ebbs away and containment measures are phased out (albeit in a staggered and managed way). Nevertheless, the pick-up in economic activity is expected to be only gradual and particularly subdued in countries with limited policy space.

The virus outbreak and the associated sharp economic slowdown resulted in a negative demand shock to oil and many other commodities, putting downward pressure on prices since the beginning of the year. In the case of oil, in March a brief price war between Saudi Arabia and Russia prompted a surge in supply leading to an additional sharp plunge in prices. Eventually, in April, the OPEC+ countries agreed to curtail oil production in the face of the slump in global demand. However, concerns that the agreed production cuts would be insufficient to cope with the plunging demand, together with scarcity of storage for the excess oil supply, sustained the downward pressure on prices. In an environment of extreme uncertainty around the unfolding COVID-19

pandemic and the growing jitters over the global economic outlook, oil and commodity prices are set to remain subdued over this year and next, well below earlier expectations. As a result, the assumptions for Brent prices are revised downwards to an average of 38 USD/bbl in 2020 and 40 USD/bbl in 2021, down by 33% and 28%, respectively compared to the autumn Forecast (see Graph I.2.2). In euro terms, downward revisions as compared to the autumn forecast amount to 32% and 27%, respectively. These developments are expected to further dampen the economic prospects for many oil-exporting countries, in addition to limiting their fiscal space to counter the health shock in a context of exacerbating financial vulnerabilities. On the other hand, potential positive effects from lower oil prices in oil importing countries would be impaired in the nearterm by the depressed demand conditions in view of restrictive public health measures effectively shutting down large parts of their economies.



A fiscal policy response mainly concentrated in the advanced economies and East Asia

Outside of the EU, the most sizeable fiscal measures to cushion the negative shock have been put forward by the governments in the US (11% of GDP), the UK (at least 5% of GDP) and Japan (5% of GDP). In addition, these countries provided substantial guarantees for personal and business loans (2% of GDP in the US, 16% in the UK and 17% in Japan). At the same time, China expanded fiscal policy by around 11/4% of GDP while Russia, India and some of the emerging markets in Southeast Asia have also put forward ambitious fiscal packages. Most of the announced fiscal measures have been primarily aimed at enhancing the existing automatic stabilisers in all these economies, i.e. cushioning the economy during the shock by stabilising incomes, providing liquidity and avoiding bankruptcies. In contrast, a large number of emerging and low-income countries affected by the pandemic and/or its macroeconomic spillovers have been constrained by limited policy space in addition to already weak social safety nets (most of Latin America and Sub-Saharan Africa). In order to support these countries, the G20 and the Paris Club agreed for a time-bound suspension of debt service payments by bilateral official creditors, for the poorest countries that request forbearance, while the IMF approved immediate debt service relief to 25 countries.

A global recession followed by an uneven recovery across countries and regions

The triple shock of a global pandemic, collapsing oil prices and financial market turmoil hit an already fragile global economy that expanded by less than 3% in 2019 (the lowest growth rate since the Global Financial Crisis). The combination of these shocks is set to push the global economy into an abrupt and deep recession in 2020 with global real GDP (excluding the EU) contracting by around 3% (-61/4 pps. compared to the autumn forecast). However, the massive health and macroeconomic policy efforts across most major economies are expected to contain the pandemic and limit its negative impact on the global economy to a deep but temporary downturn. Thus, in 2021 global real GDP (excluding the EU) is projected to rebound by 5% (+1³/₄ pps. compared to the autumn forecast), though driven to a large extent by base effects. The rebound is expected to be gradual and uneven across countries and regions.

Economic growth in the advanced economies (excluding the EU) decelerated to 13/4% in 2019 (from 21/2% in 2018) on the back of subdued business confidence, waning fiscal stimulus in the US and a drop in GDP growth in Japan around the consumption tax hike in October. This slowdown is poised to sharply deepen in the first half of 2020 as the COVID-19 containment measures depress domestic demand, employment and incomes, leading to a real GDP contraction of 61/2% for the year as a whole (-71/2 pps. compared to the autumn forecast). However, thanks to the significant macroeconomic policy response assumed to broadly preserve the economic fundamentals in these countries, a gradual economic normalisation starting from the second half of 2020 is projected to result in a rebound of growth to $4\frac{1}{2}$ % in 2021 (+3 pps. compared to the autumn forecast). This implies that by the end of the forecast horizon, output in most advanced economies outside the EU would remain below 2019 levels (see Graph I.2.3).

In the emerging economies, real GDP growth decelerated to 3³/₄% in 2019 (from 4¹/₂% in 2018) amid weak global trade momentum, heightened uncertainty, a surge in geopolitical tensions, and an array of largely political and structural impediments. Going forward, economic prospects in many of these countries are set to severely deteriorate in view of the COVID-19 pandemic as they enter the crisis with weak public health systems, low institutional capacity and constrained macroeconomic policy space. Furthermore, in a number of these economies the impact of the virus outbreak is set to be compounded by a simultaneous commodity price shock and a sharp deterioration of financing conditions laying bare many of the financial vulnerabilities accumulated

in the past decade, such as high debt levels and a large share of foreign-currency denominated debt. On the positive side, in China and some countries in Southeast Asia, the virus appears to have been contained so far and these economies are expected to gradually recover as of the second half of 2020 underpinned by accommodative monetary and fiscal policies. Against this backdrop, real GDP in the EMEs as a group is projected to contract by 11/4% in 2020 (-51/2 pps. compared to the autumn forecast) before expanding by 51/4% in 2021 (+1 pp. compared to the autumn forecast). This implies that in 2021 output in emerging markets is expected to recover above 2019 levels, but below the projected level in the autumn 2019 forecast (see Graph I.2.3). The expected rebound in 2021 is mainly driven by the dissipating global pandemic and the normalisation of growth dynamics in China while only a limited pick-up in growth is set to take hold in Latin America, the Middle East and Africa.



A deeper slump in global trade

Following an already weak 2019, global trade is expected to plummet in 2020. A combined demand and supply shock due to worldwide lockdown measures is projected to lead to an unprecedented collapse in trade in the first half of the year. In the second half of the year, trade in goods should start rebounding as lockdown measures are gradually lifted and global demand gradually recovers. However, trade in services, particularly tourism, is expected to rebound more slowly. Thus, global imports (ex-EU) are expected to plunge by 101/4% in 2020 (see Graph I.2.4). In 2021, global imports (excluding the EU) are set to grow by $6\frac{3}{4}$, as economic and trade activity in the advanced economies and China enter the year with strong momentum and positive carry-over effects mechanically boost the forecast. On the whole, however, the current crisis is expected to weigh on gross trade flows as it is set to lead to lesser integration of production processes and simpler global value chains. Furthermore, global trade policy uncertainty is predicted to continue weighing on trade, in spite of the recent US-China "phase one" trade deal, which is considered not sufficient to reverse the ongoing broader trend towards protectionism. For these reasons, while trade is expected to fall considerably more steeply than GDP in 2020, producing imports elasticity of about 3, its rebound in 2021 is expected to be in line with the recovery of economic activity (elasticity of around 1).



2.2. FINANCIAL MARKETS

Global financial markets severely shaken by COVID-19 shock

As the global economic outlook deteriorated and uncertainty about the evolution of the COVID-19 pandemic increased, a sharp shift to global risk-off sentiment resulted in deep losses in global equity markets, massive capital outflows from emerging markets and rallies in safe haven assets. As a consequence, longer-term yields have declined materially since the beginning of the year across advanced economies. In March, global market turmoil and risk aversion intensified to a point where a liquidity crunch temporarily caused stress in US credit markets, hampering the transmission mechanisms of the Fed's monetary policy and testing the limits of the resilience of the global financial system. In emerging markets, the interaction of the COVID-19 shock with the collapse in oil and commodity prices has triggered sharp capital outflows, currency depreciations and

an increase in corporate and sovereign bond spreads. These developments create a major risk for financial stability in emerging and developing countries, reflecting their heavy dependence on external and USD-denominated debt. Taken together, all these developments have resulted in a sharp tightening of global financing conditions, despite a massive easing of global monetary policy over the last few months.



A bold policy response to the pandemic

Central banks and governments around the world have taken unprecedented policy measures to contain the macroeconomic fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic. The US Federal Reserve led a global monetary policy response, swiftly slashing its benchmark interest rate to zero, re-starting quantitative easing programmes on a major scale and activating USD currency swap lines and repo operations with other central banks. A number of major central banks followed suit. In the advanced economies where interest rate policy space is limited (Japan, the UK, Korea), the response also focused on credit stimulation, asset purchases and regulatory forbearance. In emerging markets, the easing measures of the US Fed combined with limited inflationary pressures provided some space for cutting rates, but depreciating currencies and capital outflows forced several central banks to sell foreign currency reserves and intervene directly in their sovereign debt markets. In China, the central bank has provided more liquidity to financial markets and banks have been encouraged to provide more lending to SMEs and to raise their tolerance for bad debt. Some key policy rates have been cut but to a limited extent. Overall, the swift global monetary policy response has so far been effective in ensuring global financial stability by

alleviating liquidity pressures amid intense financial market tensions.

European financial markets have been particularly impacted

Until mid-February, financial-market volatility in Europe remained subdued across major asset classes, with prices in the riskier market segments even marking new highs. In the second half of February, investor sentiment changed profoundly as it became clear that rather than remaining largely confined to China, the COVID-19 virus was spreading across continents, gravely impacting the global and European economy. In Europe's riskier market segments, such as equities and high yield corporate bonds, investors cut exposures sharply, causing the fastest market sell-off since the Global financial crisis of 2008-2009. This is largely due to the severe pressure on the liquidity stance of non-financial companies, including SMEs, as the sudden collapse in cash flows among many non-financials could quickly trigger liquidity problems and lead to a sharp increase in default rates.

Monetary and fiscal authorities in the euro area and EU have reacted swiftly to the crisis, proposing unprecedented policy support measures. Financial markets have since shown signs of stabilisation with sovereign and to a lesser extent corporate bond spreads narrowing, equity markets recovering part of their losses and liquidity stress softening in several market segments. Investor sentiment improved further in April on reports suggesting the pandemic had peaked in some countries and that an exit from the confinement period might be approaching. However, caution is still warranted in the absence of estimates of the nature and duration of the economic damages due to the COVID-19 outbreak.

EU central banks were quick to respond with mitigating measures to the COVID-19 economic shock ...

The ECB has taken a broad range of monetary and credit policy measures since mid-March to try to mitigate the adverse economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and in particular to prevent non-financial companies from suffering from liquidity shortages that could threaten their solvency during the crisis. These include additional liquidity-provision measures for banks (both targeted and non-targeted), supported by measures aimed at easing collateral requirements, as well as substantial additional purchases of public and private sector assets under the Asset Purchase Programme (APP) and the Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP).

The ECB announced additional purchases of public and private sector assets amounting to EUR 870bn until the end of 2020. As these purchases aim to address risks to the uniform transmission of the ECB's monetary policy across the euro area, fluctuations in the distribution of purchase flows would be allowed over time, across asset classes and among jurisdictions.

additional liquidity-provision Through its operations, the Eurosystem could lend more than EUR 1trn of additional funding to euro area banks at a negative rate, which could be as low as -0.75%. In order to enhance banks' access to central bank liquidity across the euro area, a number of temporary collateral easing measures have also been introduced. In particular, these measures ease the conditions at which loans granted by euro area banks are accepted as collateral in the Eurosystem's liquidity-provision operations and reduce the haircuts applied to all assets pledged as collateral. Crucially, loans to corporations, SMEs, self-employed individuals and households that benefit from public sector guarantees offered in the context of the COVID-19 crisis will be accepted as collateral. On 22 April 2020, the ECB adopted additional temporary measures related to the collateral that can be used by euro area banks in their credit operations with the Eurosystem. The ECB will accept as collateral until September 2021, all assets that fulfilled minimum credit quality requirements on 7 April 2020, independently of any possible downgrades by rating agencies after this date, as long as the ratings remain above a certain credit quality level (i.e. not more than two notches below the current minimum credit quality requirements defined in the Eurosystem collateral framework).

The ECB's liquidity measures have been complemented by a number of decisions by the Single Supervisory Mechanism (SSM) to relax regulatory requirements on banks in a countercyclical way. The SSM measures will provide temporary capital and operational relief to euro area banks, which could be used to absorb losses or loans provided to the real economy. Most of the central banks in the EU countries outside the euro area have also taken measures with similar objectives.

...in a context of significant tensions in financial markets...

In bond markets, benchmark sovereign bonds rallied at the beginning of the year and the downward trend in yields gained strength in late February. As the impact of the public health crisis led more and more governments across the world to shut down non-essential economic activity, investors sought refuge in traditional safe havens. The 10-year German Bund yield reached an historic low of -0.84 % on 9 March amid extreme aversion. However, as central banks risk worldwide adopted massive, coordinated measures to inject liquidity in the financial system and investors started to gauge the enormous cost of adequate fiscal policy responses for public finances, investors subsequently sold off even these traditional safe assets and went into cash or money market assets. After the ECB announced the launch of the PEPP on 18 March, benchmark bond yields softened again (see Graph I.2.6).



On the euro area sovereign bond markets, peripheral and core-euro area sovereigns started the year with yield curves flattening and spreads to the Bund somewhat narrowing. Following the COVID-19 outbreak in Europe in the last week of February, sovereign spreads widened strongly suggesting that worries about the budgetary impact of the economic fallout have re-ignited debt sustainability concerns. By 17 March, spreads on 10-year euro area sovereign bonds to the Bund had increased very significantly. The subsequent announcement of the PEPP by the ECB effectively triggered a temporary reversal of the widening of sovereign bond spreads. The spread on Greek 10year sovereign bonds also declined, supported by the ECB's waiver of the eligibility requirements for securities issued by the Greek government. However, at the end of April, most euro area Member States were still seeing higher spreads than before the COVID-19 outbreak (see Graph I.2.7).



...particularly in the riskier market segments...

European corporate credit markets started the year with spreads in a tight range and at historically low levels, while primary market activity was very strong, with high levels of issuance. At the end of February, however, corporate bond spreads widened very sharply (see Graph I.2.8), leading primary markets to shut down and corporates to tap credit facilities at banks, where possible.



The ECB's PEPP has also been helpful for this market segment as corporate spreads narrowed somewhat after the announcement but remain double their pre-crisis levels. The deterioration in

corporate debt quality could be particularly worrying for bonds currently rated BBB, as downgrades could see them fall into the noninvestment grade segment. While the average share of BBB-rated corporate bonds downgraded to high-yield has historically been less than 5% per year, it reached 15% during the financial crisis in 2009. In the current crisis, a downgrade to the noninvestment grade segment would lead to portfolio rebalancing by investment funds, asset sales and further impacts on the value of the downgraded assets.

Stock markets, which began the year with generous valuations, have been hammered since the outbreak began. Between 24 February and 24 March, European stock indices declined at a record speed within a range of between -35% and -45% (see Graph I.2.9). Around mid-March, financialmarket authorities in several Member States adopted emergency short-selling prohibitions for a limited period. In addition, the European Securities and Markets Authority (ESMA) issued a decision temporarily requiring the holders of net short positions in shares traded on an EU regulated market to notify the relevant national competent authority if the position reached or exceeded 0.1% of the issued share capital after the entry into force of the decision. Thanks to these decisions, as well as the massive monetary and fiscal measures announced in the EU and across the globe, stock markets have recovered part of their losses.



...and risks for the credit dynamics of the private sector.

Before the impact of the pandemic, credit dynamics in the euro area were robust, growing at an annual rate of 3.7% to the private sector in February (adjusted for loan sales, securitisation

(Annual percentage change)			E	Jro are	a		EU							
		Spring forec	2020 :ast		Autumr	2019 for	recast		Spring forec	2020 :ast		Autumr	2019 foi	ecast
	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Domestic non-financial private sector	3.3	3.2	-2.2	2.7	3.1	3.0	3.1	3.3	4.1	-0.5	2.8	3.0	3.0	3.1
(% of GDP)	87.3	86.9	90.9	86.7	87.7	87.9	88.2	102.1	102.3	108.8	104.1	102.2	102.2	102.3
- Credit to households	3.2	3.6	-1.5	2.5	3.0	2.9	3.0	3.1	4.6	0.2	2.8	2.9	2.9	3.1
(% of GDP)	51.7	51.9	54.6	52.0	51.9	51.9	52.1	63.6	64.2	68.9	65.9	63.6	63.5	63.5
- Loans to non-financial corporations	3.4	2.6	-3.1	3.1	3.3	3.1	3.2	3.6	3.2	-1.8	2.9	3.3	3.1	3.2
(M. 1000)	25.4	25.0	24.2	24 7	25.0	25.0	26.1	29.5	20.0	40.0	28.3	20 4	20.7	20 7

and notional cash pooling). The annual growth rate of adjusted loans stood at 3.0% for non-financial corporations and at 3.8% for households. The COVID-19 outbreak puts this positive dynamic at risk as demand may decline and any decrease in borrower creditworthiness may lead banks to tighten their lending standards.

Banks are exposed to the economic recession via lower business generation, rising default rates (particularly among more risky loans, including leveraged loans), and depressed prices of securities on their balance sheet (including sovereign assets). The sharp fall in bank share prices since late February and their underperformance vs broader stock markets, is a reflection of such expectations. The Achilles heel of the banking sector is its low profitability rate, which implies that losses will quickly hit capital buffers. The banking sector's capital position, however, has been strengthened very substantially since the global and financial crisis of 2008. Judging from the 2018 EBA/ECB stress tests, banks are resilient enough to withstand a massive economic recession. Meanwhile, supervisors have called on banks to suspend dividend distribution for 2020 in order to save capital and support lending to the economy.

The ECB has responded to the deterioration of corporate credit conditions on bond markets, both through direct purchases of non-financial corporate bonds and commercial paper by the Eurosystem. For banks, the more favourable terms for TLTRO III should incentivise euro area banks to continue providing financing to the non-financial private sector. Moreover, the ECOFIN council has called on banks to continue lending to households and corporates, including SMEs, or to set in place moratoria for those experiencing temporary difficulties (see statement of 23rd of March)⁽³⁹⁾. Meanwhile, national Banking Authorities have been called on to make full use of the flexibility provided for in prudential regulation and accounting frameworks.

Besides measures involving the banking sector, a number of other support measures have been implemented by Member States to shore up the cash-flow constraints that non-financial companies are suddenly facing. These include deferrals of social security contributions and taxes, guarantees, wage subsidies, and the implementation of economic stabilisation funds to guarantee corporate loans. To complement measures in the Member States, existing EU budget instruments are being used to support companies with liquidity constraints, including a guarantee to the European Investment Bank/European Investment Fund to incentivise banks to provide liquidity to SMEs.

Overall, the wide range of policy measures are expected to be effective in protecting the corporate sector from widespread bankruptcies by preventing the temporary liquidity squeeze from turning into a solvency crisis. As regards bank lending, a moderate decline in credit to the private sector is expected this year, essentially due to business discontinuity in the banking sector during the confinement period. Assuming that policy measures prove effective, credit volumes should rebound in 2021 (see Table I.2.2).

The euro has strengthened in nominal effective terms since the COVID-19 outbreak

The euro's appreciation in nominal effective terms by around 4% since mid-February mainly reflects the significant weakening in commodity prices and

⁽³⁹⁾ see Council of the EU (2020). 'Statement of EU ministers of finance on the Stability and Growth Pact in light of the COVID-19 crisis'. *Press Release*, 23 March.

emerging market currencies that has occurred amid mounting evidence about the damaging economic impact the COVID-19 pandemic will have on the global economy. While the euro in mid-April was broadly unchanged against the US dollar compared to mid-February, it has experienced significant swings in recent months driven by changing risk perceptions and monetary policy expectations on both sides of the Atlantic.

Acute US dollar funding shortages in March led to a very significant widening in cross currency basis swap spreads, thereby raising funding costs for non-US borrowers. Coordinated actions amongst central banks to enhance liquidity provision via standing US dollar liquidity swap line arrangements, as well as enhanced swap lines and unlimited purchases of US government bonds by the US Federal Reserve, have since succeeded in halting a further deterioration in USD funding conditions.

2.3. GDP AND COMPONENTS

The COVID-19 crisis hit the euro area economy when it was already treading on a soft path. Growth flattened out in the last quarter of 2019 and the economy contracted in a few countries. With a near stagnation in international trade, the external environment had become much less supportive than in previous years. Rising geopolitical tensions, uncertainty about the future EU-UK trading relations, tariff threats, the persistent weakness in manufacturing and several structural factors kept a lid on growth.

At the turn of the year, there were signs of a bottoming-out of external demand and leading indicators were pointing to a stabilisation in global manufacturing activity. However, the spread of COVID-19 derailed this nascent progress. This was particularly evident after the World Health Organization (WHO) declared the coronavirus outbreak a pandemic in early March.

The European economy was hit by a simultaneous wave of supply and demand shocks, as policy makers took unprecedented measures to flatten the fast rising infection curve. This was further compounded by a sudden and sharp tightening in financial conditions, as uncertainty gripped financial markets and led to sharp risk-off episodes. $^{\rm (40)}$

Containment measures of unprecedented scope in western democratic societies delivered a drop in the number of new infections. Through these measures in response to the virus, the economy has deliberately been put into what has been described as 'hibernation' or an 'artificial coma' (41). On the supply side, worker absenteeism and factory shutdowns have led to reduced output in a wide range of industries, further amplified by supply chain disruptions. Containment measures leading to the temporary closure of shops, restaurants and other services providing activities have had further knock-on impacts on output. On the demand side, social distancing has weighed on aggregate demand, particularly through reduced household spending. Fundamental uncertainty and concerns about jobs, incomes and sales prospects have led consumers and firms to delay purchases and investment. A synchronised global retrenchment has dampened external demand.

The full extent of these supply and demand shocks is still difficult to capture, not only given the lack of available data to gauge their size but also given the uncertainty about their duration. Moreover, the nature of the restrictions and the extent of secondround effects blur the distinction between demand and supply factors.

A forecast in an extreme context...

In the current context, economic forecasts are subject to higher and more fundamental uncertainty⁽⁴²⁾ than usual, as there is no recent historical precedent of comparable size and nature to this crisis. To a much larger extent than usual, the present forecast is therefore based on a number of key conditioning assumptions. It should be understood as a scenario analysis more than a standard forecast.⁽⁴³⁾ Alternative scenarios to the

⁽⁴⁰⁾ See Lane, P. (2020). 'The monetary policy package: an analytical framework'. The ECB Blog, 13 March.

⁽⁴¹⁾ See Krugman, P. (2020). 'Notes on the Coronacoma (Wonkish)'. New York Times *Opinion*, 1 April.

⁽⁴²⁾ Different dimensions of uncertainty reflect the lack of data (e.g. about important parameters of the pandemic such as the true number of infected people), lack of information about the probability of key events (e.g. mutations of the virus, availability of a vaccine) as well as uncertainty about the adequacy of standard economic and econometric tools in the current situation.

⁽⁴³⁾ Whereas a forecast uses all available information about the current state of the world to assess the most likely future developments, a scenario analysis derives the assessment of future outcomes from assumptions about the current

central scenario described below are discussed in section I.3 ('*How the pandemic shaped the forecast*').

The set of assumptions concerns in particular the evolution of the pandemic, the path of containment measures in the coming months and quarters, and the effectiveness of policy measures to protect workers against income losses and firms against bankruptcy.

Importantly, this forecast is based on the assumption that the number of people requiring hospitalisation is swiftly and durably reduced to a level that no longer overburdens health care systems, and that this allows containment measures across the European Union to be eased substantially over the course of the second quarter. Containment measures remaining in the second half of 2020 are assumed to have a lighter economic impact, allowing the economy to recover at a relatively strong pace. It is also assumed that fiscal and monetary policy measures announced up to the cut-off date of this forecast are successful in preserving the economic fabric (e.g. products, processes and human capital) that was rebuilt since the sovereign debt crisis.

Other assumptions from previous forecasts continue to hold: trade tensions are not set to escalate further, measures credibly announced are implemented (e.g. the 'Phase-one' trade agreement between the United States and China) and the technical assumption for 2021 of a status quo in EU-UK trading relations applies.

...after both cyclical and structural headwinds put a lid on euro area growth in 2019 ...

Last year, economic growth in the euro area lost momentum and fell well below its average of recent years. GDP growth in 2019 stood at 1.2%, down from 1.9% in 2018 and the post-crisis high of 2.7% in 2017. This step down in growth momentum was broad-based among the largest euro area economies. The GDP breakdown, abstracting from developments in Ireland,⁽⁴⁴⁾ confirmed the key role of domestic demand as the driving force of growth – particularly of private consumption. In contrast, destocking weighed significantly on activity during this period, subtracting about 0.5 pps. from GDP growth.

In the last quarter of 2019, GDP expanded by 0.1% (q-o-q) in the euro area, ending the longest economic expansion on record on a soft note. The decline from the 0.3% growth recorded in the quarter before was driven by both private consumption and investment. (45) GDP growth was close to zero in Germany and activity contracted in France and Italy. Apart from transitory distortions due to a high number of 'bridge days' (vacation days taken between public holidays and weekends), as well as strikes in France, the underlying momentum reflected the ongoing drag from manufacturing. This can be partly traced to persistent economic uncertainty, which hindered the demand for capital goods. (46)

...when there were some rays of light ahead in the horizon...

In early 2020, both surveys and hard data showed positive signs, suggesting that global trade might have bottomed out and that there might be some uptick in manufacturing output. The 'Phase One' trade deal between the US and China and the clarity about trading relations between the EU and the UK until 31 December 2020 eased some of the uncertainty overshadowing the near-term outlook.

In January, the main sectoral indices rebounded after the weak readings at the end of 2019, which was somewhat exaggerated by 'bridge days' around Christmas and New Year's Eve. *Industrial production went* up by 2.3% m-o-m (after declining -1.8% in December), *retail trade volumes* were up by 0.6% (after having fallen

state of the world but also about the future (e.g. duration of containment measure, speed of the rebound), which are acknowledged to be fundamentally uncertain.

⁽⁴⁴⁾ As in previous years, euro area aggregates were significantly affected by the activity of multinational companies in Ireland, which mainly mattered for investment and imports of services and resulted in large shifts in the balance of domestic and external growth contributions. These activities of multinational firms include the relocation of intellectual property and contract

manufacturing; see e.g. J. FitzGerald (2018). 'National accounts for a global economy: the case of Ireland'. *ESRI Quarterly Economic Commentary* 2 (Economic & Social Research Institute), Summer, pp. 85-122.

⁽⁴⁵⁾ In the euro area (excluding Ireland), the contribution of domestic demand (excluding inventories) declined from 0.4 to 0.1 pps., while net exports posted a positive contribution to growth (0.2 pps. after turning out neutral in 2019-Q3). The rollback of inventories reduced quarterly growth by 0.3 pps.

⁽⁴⁶⁾ Uncertainty acts as an extra hurdle on the required return for new projects. Investment is hit more than in normal circumstances as waves of uncertainty resurface following previous peaks, frustrating expectations around duration and resolution, consistently increasing the real value of waiting. See Broadbent, B. (2019). 'Investment and uncertainty: the value of waiting for news'. Speech at the Imperial College Business School, 20 May.

Table I.2.3:

Composition of growth - euro area

(Real annual percentage c						Spi	ring 2020				
									fe	orecast	
		2018		2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
	bn Euro	Curr. prices	% GDP			Rec	I percenta	ge change	•		
Private consumption		6207.6	53.7	0.9	1.9	2.0	1.7	1.4	1.3	-9.0	7.1
Public consumption		2363.3	20.4	0.8	1.3	1.9	1.3	1.1	1.7	3.2	0.6
Gross fixed capital formation		2408.1	20.8	1.4	4.8	4.0	3.4	2.3	5.7	-13.3	10.2
Change in stocks as % of GDP		82.4	0.7	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.2	0.1	0.2
Exports of goods and services		5547.7	48.0	4.8	6.6	2.9	5.5	3.3	2.5	-12.9	9.5
Final demand		16609.1	143.7	2.4	3.7	2.6	3.3	2.2	2.0	-9.3	7.3
Imports of goods and services		5048.9	43.7	4.9	7.7	4.1	5.0	2.8	3.8	-12.9	9.7
GDP		11561.5	100.0	1.4	2.1	1.9	2.5	1.9	1.2	-7.7	6.3
GNI		11636.5	100.6	1.2	1.8	2.1	2.7	2.0	1.1	-8.0	6.5
p.m. GDP EU	_	13485.3	116.6	1.6	2.3	2.1	2.7	2.1	1.5	-7.4	6.1
					Contribut	tion to cha	nge in GDF)			
Private consumption	-			0.5	1.0	1.1	0.9	0.8	0.7	-4.8	3.7
Public consumption				0.2	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.7	0.1
Investment				0.3	0.9	0.8	0.7	0.5	1.2	-2.9	2.1
Inventories				0.4	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	-0.5	-0.2	0.0
Exports				2.1	3.0	1.3	2.5	1.6	1.2	-6.2	4.2
Final demand				3.4	5.2	3.6	4.6	3.1	2.9	-13.4	10.2
Imports				-2.0	-3.1	-1.7	-2.1	-1.2	-1.7	5.7	-3.9
Net exports				0.1	-0.2	-0.4	0.4	0.4	-0.5	-0.5	0.4

by -1.1%), and *construction output* increased by 3.6% (after -1.8%).

Having bottomed out towards the end of 2019, the Commission's Economic Sentiment Indicator increased in the euro area in both January and February, to a level of 103.5 points. This resulted from significantly higher confidence among consumers and in industry, with sentiment remaining virtually unchanged in other sectors. Moving in tandem, Markit's Purchasing Managers Composite Output Index (PMI) reached a six-month high (of 51.6) in February. These improvements were summarized by the strengthening of the EuroCOIN indicator, which rose in February to a one-year high of 0.28% (0.16% in December).

...but dimmed significantly as shutdowns unfolded...

While the European economy was displaying a divergence between the resilience of the domestic services sector and the weakness of the manufacturing industry, it was expected that domestic growth drivers and the robustness of its labour market would compensate for (remaining) external headwinds.

However, the COVID-19 pandemic and its economic fallout changed the picture abruptly and dramatically.

At this early stage, hard data on production losses in Europe are still patchy. A real-time assessment of the impact on economic activity therefore has to rely on alternative indicators (i.e. road traffic congestion, daily electricity consumption).⁽⁴⁷⁾ Financial-market indicators can also be used to gauge investors' consensus about future income streams.⁽⁴⁸⁾ The dramatic fall in production and trade in China in the first quarter offered an early indication of the order of magnitude of the shock.

In March, the *Eurozone Composite Output Purchasing Managers' Index* (PMI) suggested that business activity was in free fall. This unprecedented collapse was renewed in April, when the flash Composite PMI dropped to 13.5 (from 29.7 the month before), its largest monthly fall since comparable data collection began. As a reference, the prior low was seen during the Global financial crisis in February 2009, when the index hit 36.2. Inferring from these readings about GDP growth is more difficult now, since diffusion

⁽⁴⁷⁾ Recent research, for example, has looked at the economic impact of the outbreak through the lens of equity investors and by distinguishing how equity valuations price-in both local and global risks. Avalos, F., and Zakrajšek, E. (2020). Covid-19 and SARS: what do stock markets tell us?'. BIS Quarterly Review, March.

⁽⁴⁸⁾ Using dividend futures to estimate the expected GDP growth following the corona outbreak points to next-year revision of growth in the EU of about -8 pps. See Gormsen, N., and Koijen, R. (2020). 'Coronavirus: impact on stock prices and growth expectations'. VoxEU.org, March.

indices are based on the proportion of firms reporting falling output and not the extent to which output is falling. This feature of surveys is of extraordinary importance in circumstances in which many firms' output drops to extreme lows.



85 87 89 91 93 95 97 99 01 03 05 07 09 11 13 15 17 19 Note: Industrial, construction, services and retail breakdown by NACE rev 2 divisions: consumer by income quartile

This time around, no sector has been insulated from the economic malaise. With consumer-focused activities (e.g. travel, tourism and restaurant visits) drying up or being suspended, Markit's flash Service Business Activity Index slumped to just 11.7 (from 26.4 in March and 52.6 in February) thus surpassing the survey's prior low of 39.2 from February 2009. The decline in the Manufacturing PMI Index was apparently more muted (33.6 from 44.5 in March). A closer look, however, shows that supply-side disruptions caused delivery times to lengthen, thereby artificially boosting the PMI reading. The situation was thus much worse already in March than the headline PMI for the manufacturing sector suggests. (49)

The Commission's Economic Sentiment Indicator (ESI) also suffered its worst monthly drop on record, slumping to 94.8 points in March (down by -8.2 points). This was the most broad-based deterioration since the survey began in 1985, with sentiment in almost 80% of all sectors across all euro area countries falling simultaneously - only in November 2008 did a similar picture emerge

(see Graph I.2.10).⁽⁵⁰⁾ In April, DG ECFIN's flash consumer confidence indicator saw its strongest decline on record, to a level well below its long term average and close to the lows recorded during the Great Recession in 2009.



Source: Destatis

Evidence from 'hard' data point in a similar direction. In mid-April, electricity consumption in the euro area was about 15% below its level in the corresponding month of the previous year. Truck toll mileage data, now available on a daily frequency,⁽⁵¹⁾ is testament to the extent of the disruption to freight traffic by trucks on German roads - and on the evolution of the country's transport and industrial activity (see Graph I.2.11). In the same vein, new passenger car registrations between January and March declined by about -25% (y-o-y) in the EU. Most of this dire performance was concentrated in March, when registrations nosedived by almost 60%, hitting their lowest level on record.

...changing the economic landscape in the quarters to come.

With the adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic hitting the economy particularly hard, the euro area will not be able to escape a technical recession in the first half of 2020. Euro area GDP is expected to decline by about 3 1/4% (q-o-q) in 2020-Q1, its first contraction in seven years. This is far below the Commission's winter interim

⁽⁴⁹⁾ Delivery times are used to gauge the pressure being placed on suppliers' capacity. Since the manufacturing survey began in mid-1997, only May 2000 saw more widespread supply chain delays. In a demand-driven downturn, delivery times should typically move in tandem with activity, and it is with this signal that this component is build into the PMI composite.

⁽⁵⁰⁾ This comparison is still very likely understating the severity of the crisis because most responses were collected before strict containment measures were enacted.

⁽⁵¹⁾ Due to the pandemic, in Germany trucks are now allowed to operate on weekends and public holidays. This explains some of the movements shown in the graph, because the calculation does not fully capture such structural breaks. See Destatis (2020). 'Truck toll mileage index is updated every day for the time being'. Press release 129, 9 April.

(Real annual percentage change) Spring 2020 forecast 2018 2014 2015 2020 2021 2016 2017 2018 2019 bn Euro Curr. prices % GDP Real percentage change Private consumption 7204.9 53.4 2.1 2.2 2.0 1.6 -8.5 6.7 Public consumption 2768.9 20.5 1.3 1.2 3.3 1.0 1.4 1.9 1.8 0.6 Gross fixed capital formation 2837.6 21.0 2.1 5.0 3.3 37 29 5.7 -13.2 97 0.7 Change in stocks as % of GDF 112.8 0.8 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.8 0.3 0.2 0.2 Exports of goods and services 5.6 6631.7 49.2 5.0 6.6 3.4 2.7 -12.8 3.5 9.5 Final demand 19555.9 145.0 2.7 3.9 2.7 3.5 2.5 2.2 -9.1 7.1 Imports of goods and services 6071.8 45.0 5.4 7.4 4.4 5.3 3.3 3.7 -12.8 9.5 GDP 13485.3 100.0 1.6 2.3 2.1 2.7 2.1 -7.4 1.5 6.1 GNI 13533.3 100.4 1.4 2.0 2.2 2.9 2.2 1.4 -7.7 6.2 p.m. GDP euro area 11561.5 1.9 85.7 1.4 2. 1.9 2.5 1.2 -7.7 6.3 Contribution to change in GDI 0.9 0.8 -4.5 3.5 Private consumption 0.6 1.2 Public consumption 0.2 0.3 0.4 0.3 0.2 0.4 0.7 0.1 0.4 0.7 0.8 0.6 1.2 -2.9 2.0 Inventories 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.2 0.1 -0.6 -0.2 0.1 Exports 2.2 3.0 1.7 1.3 -6.3 4.3 1.6 2.6 Final demand 3.8 5.5 3.9 5.0 3.1 10.0 3.6 -13.2 -2.2 -3.1 -1.9 -2.3 -1.4 -3.9 Imports -1.7 5.8 Net exports 0.0 -0.1 -0.3 0.4 0.3 -0.3 -0.5 0.4

forecast of 0.2% (q-o-q) growth. The contraction in the first quarter is expected to be followed by a deeper one in the second, with output falling further by about 12 ¼%. This contraction would be about four times larger than that seen in 2009-Q1, with all countries pushing in the same direction.

Table I.2.4:

Composition of growth - EU

How deep, lasting, or widespread the economic impact will be remains highly uncertain. (52) This uncertainty includes the spread of the disease, the extent to which it affects the economy and the ability of different policy levers to mitigate the shock. The economic costs triggered by the virus are also likely to increase with disproportionate strength the longer its disruption continues. Still, it is expected that highly accommodative monetary conditions, muted inflation and the supportive discretionary fiscal and regulatory measures implemented in recent weeks should enable the resumption of normal spending patterns and a rapid even if not entirely complete bounce-back in economic activity. A gradual reduction in global uncertainty and recovery in foreign demand should also prove supportive.

In part, the ability to reverse some of the economic damage inflicted is contingent on expectations and beliefs, in which policy and communication take the centre stage. At this point in time, a rebound may be possible in the second half of the year, assuming that containment measures are gradually eased and that household and corporate sentiment strengthens. Afterwards, production and consumption patterns should slowly normalise, assuming that employment losses are contained, the capital stock is not severely impaired and financial tensions ease swiftly. However, not all the consumption and investment that was foregone in the first half of the year will necessarily be made up for later. (53)

The large scope of the containment measures and the considerable uncertainty about job and income prospects triggered by the pandemic are likely to result in elevated precautionary savings for some time, as consumers remain reluctant to buy big-ticket items. Parts of the corporate sector will be left with larger debt burdens, with distressed firms likely to sell assets, reduce investment and employment. ⁽⁵⁴⁾ This comes on top of the impact

⁽⁵²⁾ It should be noted that the economic costs of the shutdown are likely to increase disproportionately with its duration, which extends the time needed for a return to normal levels of activity. See Dorn, F., Fuest, C., Göttert, M., Krolage, C., Lautenbacher, S., Link, S., Peichl, A., Reif, M., Sauer, S., Stöckli, M., Wohlrabe, K., Wollmershäuser, T. (2020). 'The economic costs of the coronavirus shutdown for Germany: a scenario calculation. EconPol *Policy Brief* 21.

⁽⁵³⁾ see Furman, J. (2020). 'Protecting people now, helping the economy rebound later'. VoxEU.org, March.

⁽⁵⁴⁾ With a risk of turning a temporary economic shock into a balance-sheet driven dislocation, slowing down the return of productive assets to the economy. Becker, B., Hege, U., and Mella-Barral, P. (2020). 'Corporate debt burdens threaten economic recovery after COVID-19: Planning for debt restructuring should start now'. VoxEU.org. March.

that such disruptions can have on social trust, with important economic consequences. (55)

Graph I.2.12: Real GDP growth path, euro area 10 bn EUR at 3150 forecast 2015 prices 3050 5 2950 2850 0 2750 - 5 2650 2550 -10 2450 2350 -15 21 18 19 20 GDP growth (q-o-q, rhs), SF20 -GDP quarterly (level), SF20

The effects of this pandemic will likely reverberate for several years. Some bottlenecks in production will not be immediately resolved and some value chains will need to be rebuilt. Beyond the toll on health, the economic toll on workers who lost their jobs or saw reductions in their incomes is expected to be longer lasting. Frictions in labour market matching imply that rises in unemployment rates tend to lead to only staggered falls. Questions have also been raised about possible structural shifts in how people work, shop and travel, and how firms organise supply chains.

In contrast to previous recessions, this one was not preceded by the building-up of macroeconomic or financial imbalances. However, prospects for recovery are this time around muted by the synchronised and severe global aftershocks of the crisis. While many countries have been driven to a recession by a common shock, they are likely to emerge from it in an asymmetric way. Some were better equipped than others to contain the virus, or were more successful in doing so. The same can be said about the economic and financial damage that followed.

At the same time, the euro area economy suffers from a number of 'pre-existing conditions' that could complicate the healing process. These include a high level of economic policy uncertainty, as well as structural impediments (e.g.

the trend decline in productivity, and population ageing). (56)

All in all, the pandemic crisis is generating a succession of shocks that will stretch across both time and geography. In 2020, the euro area economy is forecast to contract by about 7 3/4%, significantly worse than the 4.5% drop in GDP registered during the global financial crisis in 2009. In 2021, the economy is projected to recover most but not all of the lost ground. As the shock wears off, a lower starting level in 2020 and a high carry over into 2021 should boost annual growth rates in 2021 to about 6 1/4% (see Graph I.2.12). This would leave GDP at the end of 2021 about 3 1/4% smaller than the level projected by the winter interim forecast (published in February). Finally, the mostly temporary, but sharp fall in activity opens a negative output gap in all euro area countries.

Domestic demand will be the most hit. Its contribution to growth in the euro area will turn sizeably negative this year (close to -6 1/2 pps.) due to a sharp fall in private consumer and investment spending, only partially cushioned by public consumption and investment. With exports falling at a faster rate than imports, the contribution of net exports to growth is projected to turn strongly negative (near -1 pps.). These are the most negative contributions to growth on record. As activity recovers, the rebound in domestic demand from depressed levels is forecast to drive a positive contribution to growth of about 6 pps. whereas the partial upswing in external markets should lead to a positive contribution to growth from net trade..

Importantly, while the shock hit all Member States due to the wide spread of the pandemic and the high interconnectedness between industries and countries, the impact on lost output was heterogeneous. This is clear when assessing how much euro area countries' economies are forecast to distance themselves both from their output levels at the end of 2019, and also from their pre-crisis path as set out in the winter forecast. On both accounts, the recovery is expected to be incomplete (see Graph I.2.13).

The majority of euro area countries are expected to see their GDP levels in the last quarter of 2021



⁽⁵⁵⁾ Aassve, A., Alfani, G., Gandolfi, F., Le Moglie, M. (2020). 'Pandemics and social capital: From the Spanish flu of 1918-19 to COVID-19'. VoxEU.org, March.

⁽⁵⁶⁾ For a more comprehensive analysis see European Commission (DG ECFIN) (2019). 'European Economic Forecast: Autumn 2019'. Institutional Paper 115, pp. 12-19.

below that of the last quarter of 2019. While for the euro area as a whole, the shortfall in GDP is projected to be of around -1/2%, there is a significant discrepancy among countries. The difference among the largest euro area economies is forecast at about -2 3/4% in Italy, -2 1/4 in Spain and -1% in France. In Germany, output is forecast to surpass its pre-crisis level by about 1 1/4%. This reflects factors such as the different timing at which containment and social distancing measures were enforced or lifted; but also economic structures, including exposure to services dependent on person-to-person contact (e.g. tourism and leisure activities). Also, the size and expected effectiveness of the policy response cannot be overlooked.



Private consumption had shown great resilience...

Before the pandemic, private consumption had for years been the backbone of economic growth. Continued employment creation, high (nominal and real) wage increases and fiscal measures in several countries supported growing households spending. These pillars have also been behind the resilience of consumer confidence in an environment of elevated uncertainty.

On the back of stable real disposable income growth, consumer spending growth was relatively strong in comparison to the cooling of overall economic activity, last year. The annual growth rate in the euro area fell only slightly to 1.3% from 1.4% in 2018. The breakdown of consumer expenditure shows that non-durable goods and services consumption growth moved sideways (at 1.1%) while durable goods consumption slowed. It has decreased to its lowest growth rate since 2013 (-0.8 pps. to 2.4%) which cannot be dissociated from ongoing structural and regulatory changes affecting the car industry, as well as lowered pentup demand after years of catching up.⁽⁵⁷⁾

Still, private consumption ended the year on a soft note, dragged by some pullback in the purchase of durable goods. It grew by only 0.1% (q-o-q), after increasing by 0.5% in 2019-Q3.

...but hit the brakes as containment measures were raised...

Consumer spending has been greatly disrupted by the curtailment of economic and social activity triggered by the pandemic. The social distancing through reduced person-to-person contact and quarantine measures has led to a significant cutback to consumer-facing services, particularly restaurants, hotels and transport services. This was initially particularly relevant for Member States with sizeable tourism sectors (see Graph I.2.14), but then started to apply more extensively across countries and sectors.

The impacts on labour income and wealth ⁽⁵⁸⁾ are difficult to assess at this point in time but are expected to lead to a deterioration in both consumer and business confidence for some time. The combined intense negative supply and demand shocks are having a significant impact on the production of goods and services and on the income from which it is sourced. Many households will be both emotionally and financially distressed as the risk of unemployment increases, incomes fall and 'economic anxiety' rises. ⁽⁵⁹⁾

The pandemic can also be expected to severely reduce the marginal propensity to consume. It has been shown that consumers who have experienced times of high job insecurity exhibit persistent pessimism about their future financial situation and spend significantly less, controlling for the standard life-cycle consumption factors. This is

⁽⁵⁷⁾ At least on aggregate, as the share of durables on overall consumer expenditure is now close to where it stood prior to the euro area crisis (at about 9.0%).

⁽⁵⁸⁾ Equities net worth accounted for about 40% of financial net worth and 15% of total net worth (including housing wealth) in 2019-Q4. The decline in net worth can be expected to result from the sharp downward adjustment in financial market prices. See Guerrieri, C. and Mendicino, C. (2018). 'Wealth effects in the euro area'. ECB *Working Paper Series* 2157.

⁽⁵⁹⁾ Recent research has documented the rise of 'economic anxiety' as shown by the surge in the search activity of specific topics. See Fetzer, T., Hensel, L., Hermle, J. and Roth, C. (2020). 'Coronavirus perceptions and economic anxiety'. VoxEU.

particularly relevant for households at the lower end of the income distribution that have a lower capacity to smooth consumption spending. ⁽⁶⁰⁾ This is because workers are affected unevenly - the income of lower-wage earners and younger cohorts shows more vulnerability to downturns. ⁽⁶¹⁾ The same households might also be credit constrained, limiting their ability to cushion the shortfall in income with credit. ⁽⁶²⁾





Early on, there was evidence of 'panic buying' of a number of consumer goods and hoarding behaviour. ⁽⁶³⁾As a result, precautionary purchases can be expected to have pushed up sales of several products, but to come along with substantial delays (and declines) afterwards, so that the overall impact on private consumption may be minor. ⁽⁶⁴⁾

At this time, neither sentiment indicators nor retail sales data, for example, can fully reflect the situation. Early in 2020, available short-term indicators hinted at a continued resilience in private consumption. After rising in January and February, DG ECFIN's consumer confidence indicator plummeted in March and, even more so, in April, falling to close to the record low recorded during the Great Recession in 2009. The detailed breakdown of consumer survey results shows that consumers became more pessimistic about the labour market with consumers' unemployment fears over the next 12 months shooting up to 2009 levels. Among the components of the consumer confidence indicator the largest adjustment was for the expectations about the general economic situation for the coming year, with the 'optimism bias', i.e. the difference between the assessment of the future and the past economic situation, turning strongly negative (see Graph I.2.15). In April, consumers' expectations concerning their own financial situation took a massive dive, equalling the all-time low recorded in March 2012.

With individuals' experiences significantly influencing beliefs about their future financial situation, changes in sentiment tend to have a long-lasting and persistent impact on consumer spending, weighing on activity well beyond the short term.⁽⁶⁵⁾ This creates the risk of a self-perpetuating downward spiral in household expectations.



The sharp adjustment in expectations sets the stage for a rise in precautionary savings, pushing up the saving rate. This is amplified by the intertemporal substitution of consumption, mostly for durable goods. Foregone consumption of travel and other services will also only partly be compensated for in the coming quarters, also feeding a higher saving rate (e.g. as shown by the extensive drop in

⁽⁶⁰⁾ The public health imperative of school closure can exacerbate such effects through higher absenteeism. Dee Lempel, H., Epstein, J. M., and Hammond, R. A. (2009). 'Economic cost and health care workforce effects of school closures in the U.S'. PLoS currents, 1, RRN1051.

⁽⁶¹⁾ Dossche, M. and J. Hartwig (2019). 'Household income risk over the business cycle'. ECB *Economic Bulletin* 6, pp. 58-64.

⁽⁶²⁾ A substantial heterogeneity in the structure of balance sheets across households remains, with the share of credit constrained- households at about 7%. See ECB (2020). 'The household finance and consumption survey: results from the 2017 wave'. Statistics Paper Series 36. March.

⁽⁶³⁾ In periods of high uncertainty, the influence of the group on individual behaviour also increases. Beliefs that depend upon others' beliefs can lead to herd behaviour and panic, with multiple equilibriums likely. See Toal, A. (2020). 'Why are we panic buying?'. Durham University.

⁽⁶⁴⁾ While making up for a small share of expenditures, durables account for a large fraction of overall spending fluctuations.

⁽⁶⁵⁾ See Benhabib, J., Shapiro, B., and M. M. Spiegel (2018). 'How persistent are the effects of sentiment shocks'. Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco *Economic Letter* 22. October.

travel and hotel bookings). Such painful experiences can 'scar' consumers into building higher precautionary savings for a long time. ⁽⁶⁶⁾

...with the fastest drop in household spending on record....

Real household disposable income is projected to decrease by around -1 ½%, on aggregate, bouncing back only partly in 2021 (by about 1%, see Graph I.2.16). The projected divergence between GDP developments and household income is mostly due to the working of automatic stabilisers and targeted government measures through income taxes, contributions, net transfers and short-time work schemes (see Graph I.2.17). Both non-labour and labour income act as a drag this year, while these should prove supportive in 2021.

Aggregate labour income is set to decrease this year as many companies are deferring decisions about employing new staff, while others are resorting to short-term employment contracts, reducing hours or staff numbers. These effects are expected to be partially mitigated by government measures (e.g. extending the terms of reducedhours compensation), wage stickiness and lags in the response of employment to the slump in activity.



How much of the decline in income spills over to actual consumer spending will ultimately depend on household saving decisions. The lack the confidence ⁽⁶⁷⁾ or the opportunity to spend is expected to drive a large wedge between private consumption and income growth through an increase in both precautionary and forced savings this year. After increasing strongly over the past two years, ⁽⁶⁸⁾ the saving rate is forecast to pick-up strongly in the euro area from 12.8% in 2019 to around 19% in 2020. This is its highest level since at least the inception of the Monetary Union. As containment measures are lifted, households' savings are expected to be largely rolled back but to remain above pre-crisis levels, with the saving rate approaching 14 ½% in 2021.



With everyday activities and work in limbo and consumers scaling back or refraining from nonessential spending, private consumption is projected to fall markedly in the first half of 2020. Over the forecast horizon, however, private consumption growth should still find support in favourable financing conditions and the gradual disappearance of economic stress factors. However, there is exceptional uncertainty surrounding the timing and size of the expected rebound and the length of time it will take for consumer behaviour to normalise.

Overall, private consumption in the euro area is expected to fall sharply this year by 9%. As a reference, consumer spending fell by 1.1% in both 2009 (at the height of the global financial crisis) and in 2012 (during the euro area sovereign debt crisis). In 2021, it is forecast to crawl back by around 7% thanks to a recovery in consumer

⁽⁶⁶⁾ Wee Malmendier, U. and Sheng Shen, L. (2019). 'Scarred consumption'. Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System *International Finance Discussion Papers* No. 1259.

⁽⁶⁷⁾ See Knotek II, E. and Khan, S. (2011). 'How do households respond to uncertainty shocks?'. Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, *Economic Review*.

⁽⁶⁸⁾ On the back of a worsening outlook, the possible saturation of consumer demand and the impact of low (or negative) interest rates on capital gains and "target saving behaviour".

confidence, decreased savings, and favourable financing conditions.

... while government consumption growth is set to surge ...

In 2019, government consumption continued to contribute positively to growth. It expanded by 1.7%, which compares favourably with the increase of 1.1% in 2018. This was particularly driven by developments in Germany, where government consumption increased almost twice as much as in the previous year.

Government consumption offered the first line of defence from the economic fallout across all remaining demand components and is expected to continue playing a stabilising role throughout 2020. On the back of a step-up in the acquisition of intermediate goods (e.g. medical supplies), it is projected to increase by around 3% this year in the euro area, its highest on record.

In 2021, government consumption growth is projected to decelerate (to about ½%) but to remain above what was expected in the autumn forecast. This projected slowing is partly a result of exceptional and front-loaded spending in 2020 and partly linked to the no-policy-change assumption, according to which measures are only factored into the forecast if they have been adopted and presented to national parliaments, or if they have been sufficiently specified.

The stabilising role of public spending, however, has gone beyond the more restricted accounting in government consumption. Governments have enacted or announced a wide range of discretionary policy measures that build on top of existing automatic stabilisers and which have been taken by the Member States and the EU. ⁽⁶⁹⁾

In the Member States, these include ⁽⁷⁰⁾: (i) measures which provide for an *immediate fiscal impulse*, namely short-time work schemes, the extension of sick pay and unemployment benefits, subsidies to firms, public investment and the outright cancelation of certain taxes and social

security contributions; (ii) measures aimed at *improving the liquidity position* of households and firms through deferrals of taxes and social security contributions, servicing of loans or the payment of utility bills; (iii) *broader liquidity provision* through credit lines and public guarantee schemes, export guarantees and waiving of delay penalties in public procurement contracts.

These efforts have been complemented and strengthened by EU initiatives such as: flexible State Aid rules; a \notin 37 billion 'Corona Response Investment Initiative' directed at healthcare systems, SMEs and labour markets; re-activation of the Emergency Support Instrument, with EUR 2.7 billion from EU budget resources; initiatives with the EIB to mobilise working capital lending for firms, backed by the EU budget; and the creation of a pan-European guarantee fund of EUR 25 billion, which could support EUR 200 billion of financing.

... and investment to lose impetus.

Investment in the euro area (excluding Ireland) remained surprisingly resilient last year, despite the deterioration of company profit margins. It slowed only slightly from 3.3% in 2018 to 2.9% in 2019. But these annual figures mask unfavourable developments during the year. Half year-on-half year investment spending was brought to a standstill in the second half of 2019, growing by only 0.4% in the euro area, below the 2.2% rate seen in the first half of the year.

Since then, many businesses have been experiencing the economic fallout of the pandemic across a broad front, with a series of incremental supply and demand shocks. First, a direct supply disruption hindering production through increased worker absenteeism or factory closures due to containment policies. Second, a supply-chain contagion. ^{(71) (72)} Finally, regardless of their desire to spend, consumers and firms are unable to do so in light of the sudden stop in activity. Heightened uncertainty around the full extent of the economic

⁽⁶⁹⁾ Member States have so far committed to provide liquidity support for sectors facing disruptions and companies facing liquidity shortages, consisting of public guarantee schemes and deferred tax payments, which are now estimated at 22% of EU GDP.

⁽⁷⁰⁾ See Anderson, J., Bergamini, E., Brekelmans, S., Cameron, A., Darvas, Z., Domínguez Jíménez, M. (2020). 'The fiscal response to the economic fallout from the coronavirus'. Bruegel, April.

⁽⁷¹⁾ see Demertzis, M. and Masllorens, G. (2020). 'The cost of coronavirus in terms of interrupted global value chains'. Bruegel Blog Post, March.

⁽⁷²⁾ The supply of components is often highly specialised and tailored to the needs of the next step in the value chain, with limited alternative suppliers who can deliver quickly and at acceptable prices for companies. See Bofinger, P., Dullien, S., Felbermayr, G., Fuest, C., Hüther, M., Südekum, J., and Weder di Mauro, B. (2020). 'Economic implications of the COVID-19 crisis for Germany and economic policy measures'. VoxEU, March.

damage and the outlook for domestic and external demand undermines incentives to invest. As a result, wait-and-see investment delays by firms are likely to be prominent, particularly in capital-intensive sectors most exposed to international markets.

These fallouts will also lead to a sudden shortfall of revenue and liquidity and a sharp drop in *capacity utilisation* rates across industries. The amount of idle capacity is reducing the need for investments linked to capacity expansion and lowered incentives for upgrading.

The various distortions to manufacturing, services and retail are set to have far-reaching implications for the financial health and the profit outlook of companies. Non-financial corporations have accumulated significant liquid asset positions over the last few years, providing some cushion against swings in income. Still, this crisis may prove existential for many businesses. Cash-strapped firms reliant on cash flow for debt repayments are the most vulnerable to default and bankruptcy. Large-scale defaults would exacerbate financial stability concerns and damage the recovery prospects of the economy.

Short-term pressures to companies' inventory levels are expected to deepen further. Firms' investment in inventory build-up closed the previous year at its lowest since the euro area sovereign debt crisis. Following the collapse in global demand and emergence of supply bottlenecks, firms are set to further deplete their stocks.

Taking these elements together, a sharp turnaround in corporate investment plans seems inevitable. A subsequent recovery will depend on how different countries and jurisdictions implement a return to normality, particularly for multinational companies. Expectations will be key. Were policy communications to interventions and be uncoordinated and staggered, the pullback would be more persistent and expectations depressed for longer. There is some evidence that a rise in uncertainty has a larger impact on economic activity in an environment of high uncertainty than when uncertainty is low to begin with. (73)

The car sector will find its woes increased by the current crisis. This is especially worrying since this sector is directly responsible for a non-negligible share of all investment in the euro area. ⁽⁷⁴⁾ A weaker financial position will negatively impact the sectors' transformation, diverting investment in R&D. Regulatory uncertainty was already weighing down car sales for some time, ⁽⁷⁵⁾ and the sector has been troubled by a number of structural issues. ⁽⁷⁶⁾ It has been extensively reported that a large number of car manufacturers have announced factory closures due to supply shortages or imposed shutdowns and important automotive shows have been cancelled. With consumer confidence plummeting, the appetite for major purchases will be much reduced. Consequently, investment plans may be further curtailed.



Nevertheless, investment should find support from the highly accommodative monetary policy stance and targeted government support schemes that have been put in place. The degree to which these factors prove successful in spurring investment is, however, far from certain and is highly dependent on how business sentiment recovers. Diminishing uncertainty would give way to favourable economic fundamentals as a driving force of business investment. A recovery of profit margins after a long period of erosion would also provide should further incentives to resurrect postponed investment plans.

⁽⁷³⁾ See Mann, C. (2020). 'Real and financial lenses to assess the economic consequences of COVID-19'. VoxEU.

⁽⁷⁴⁾ The sector (C29) invests around 4% of the total gross fixed capital formation in the euro area. This estimate is based on a subset of countries (12) for which information is available.

⁽⁷⁵⁾ See Banco de España (2020). 'Regulatory uncertainty and its impact on car sales'. *Quarterly Report on the Spanish Economy* 1, Box 8.

⁽⁷⁶⁾ Such as the shift away from internal combustion engines, alternative modalities of usage (e.g. car sharing), and the move towards autonomous driving and connectivity.

Against this background, after growing by 2.9% in 2019, investment in the euro area (excluding Ireland) is projected to fall by almost 11 1/2% this year (see Graph I.2.18). In line with the gradual resumption in activity throughout the year, investment is forecast to fall the most in the first half of 2020, after which it is forecast to grow faster that overall activity. Topped by elevated uncertainty and faltering demand both at home and abroad, the prospects for a strong catch-up once the adverse impact of the COVID-19 outbreak abates are limited. While investment is forecast to rebound by close to 10% in 2021, only some ground will be recovered, particularly if one compares with the levels expected back in the autumn. The cumulative investment foregone is expected to amount to an estimated 5% of euro area GDP, a level which has implications for the economy's capital stock.

After interrupting the upward trend it had been tracing since 2014, the investment rate in 2021 is forecast to settle close, but below, its 2019 level of 21% of GDP also thanks to a pick-up in public investment (from 2.8% in 2019 to about 3.1% of GDP) in 2020. The expectation that public investment will provide a degree of stabilisation during the downturn is worth highlighting, as public investment is often cut back when deficits soar.

Investment in construction and equipment (excluding Ireland) are expected to contract by about 9 1/2% and 18%, respectively this year. The drop in construction investment is partially linked to the likely slump in the number of building permits that come on top of absenteeism, construction sites that have been temporarily closed and administrative bottlenecks for processing such permits. In the following year, as strains on firms' profit margins are lifted and capacity utilisation recovers, equipment investment is expected to drive ahead of other demand components (14 1/2%, with construction at around 9%). High levels of capacity utilisation in the construction sector of some Member States were already a constraining factor along with unfavourable demographic trends.

Recent events are fuelling questions about the reversibility of existing supply chains and friction-free trade. Supply chain disruptions and bottlenecks may be larger and more extended than is currently evident and may take some time to be fully resolved. An increased push to repatriate supply chains (''reshoring') and undo their fragmentation could increase domestic investment in the near-term but dampen productivity prospects and long-term growth, a key metric for the return on investment. Still, it is likely that the crisis may result in a new attitude towards cross-border supply chains and drive a re-assessment of geographical diversification needs.

Export growth was already weak...

Even before the pandemic hit the global economy, euro area exports where humming through at a muted pace. Euro area exporters had suffered from softening foreign demand in an environment characterised by trade tensions and elevated uncertainty. There was also Brexit-related volatility in trade flows spurred by UK companies stockpiling in anticipation of the Brexit deadlines in March and October 2019 which strongly affected the quarterly profile. ⁽⁷⁷⁾

Exports of goods and services in the euro area (excluding Ireland) rose by 1.8% (y-o-y) in 2019, down from 2.8% in 2018, its lowest growth rate since 2013. The aggregate picture masks considerable differences between goods and services, but not between countries. The softening was driven by the halving in the growth rate of goods exports, whereas growth in service exports picked up. Despite its volatility throughout the year, export growth cooled particularly in the second half of 2019 and finished the year by growing at just 0.3% in in the fourth quarter, down from 0.5% in the third.

The growth path of imports mirrored that of exports, particularly for trade in goods, which likely also reflects the strong unwinding of inventories in the same period. Accordingly, the growth contribution of net exports remained broadly neutral in the last three quarters of the year after adding as much as 0.3 pps. in the first.

International trade data shows that both intra- and extra-euro area exports of goods were anaemic in 2019. Both failed to grow and trailed closely the downswing in new industrial orders. This is seen in the divergence between the strong growth in consumer goods exports and the contraction in both capital and intermediate goods over the year.

⁽⁷⁷⁾ According to international trade data, exports volumes of goods to the UK fell -3.1% (q-o-q) in the fourth quarter, after increasing 8.0% in the third, falling -17.4% in the second and picking-up 8.2% in the first quarter of 2019.

Looking at extra-euro area exports of goods in detail, positive growth outturns in the US market did not compensate for drops in sales to the UK, China, India and Iran.

...and external demand will not soften the blow.

Early this year, the grinding to a halt of activity in China was already set to dampen the demand for European exports as well as the import of intermediate goods. ⁽⁷⁸⁾ Particularly for exports of services, travel restrictions for Chinese visitors had already massively reduced bilateral China-EU tourism with the impact mostly felt in the favourite travel destinations of Chinese tourists (e.g. Italy and France).

As the scale of the crisis increased later in February, the slump in commodities and the crash in international trade paved the way for a significant contraction in exports. The halt in the free movement of people, goods and services is set to result in a sudden, severe and synchronised drop in external demand - heightened by a so-called 'bullwhip' effect.⁽⁷⁹⁾ With its relatively high participation in global value chains, the euro area is expected to be among the worst hit. Additionally, the cost of transport restrictions and border controls may be non-negligible, driving export prices up.⁽⁸⁰⁾

As foreign incomes fall, trading partners will reduce their spending on imports, which will weigh on European export sales. This impact can already be seen in the negative response of commodity prices and the large depreciation of emerging economies' currencies, which are important markets for euro area exporters. ⁽⁸¹⁾ The ensuing tightening of financial conditions and capital outflows, exacerbated by corporate leverage and exposure to foreign exchange debt ⁽⁸²⁾ are thus likely to lead to a sharp fall in investment and demand for euro area capital goods. ⁽⁸³⁾

For countries relatively specialised in the export of manufactured goods, the hit could be magnified by the adoption of wait-and-see behaviour by consumers and firms, as the purchase of capitalintensive goods can be postponed without large short-term costs. As the lifting of containment measures may take place at different times and follow different patterns in different parts of the world, the euro area's high dependence on trade may delay a swift rebound at home, as it may take time to resolve production bottlenecks or find alternative suppliers.

For now, the intensifying headwinds are mostly visible in soft data although hard data is beginning to drip in and fuel grim expectations. In the beginning of the year, there was a muted response of trade to events unfolding in China. This delay can be partly explained by the usual one-month time it takes for goods to ship from Asia to Europe by sea. ⁽⁸⁴⁾ Since then, Markit's *Manufacturing PMI new export orders* index showed a record fall in export business as cross border trade flows seized up.

The geographical orientation of the euro area's external trade, as well as its product specialisation are unlikely to do it any favours. After growing by 2.2% in 2019, euro area export markets are forecast to plummet by about $11 \frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020 before rebounding by around $8 \frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2021 and thus only partially making up for lost ground. In a context of persistently sluggish world trade, heightened uncertainty adds to the challenges facing a revival in demand for trade-intensive capital goods.

The impact of the pandemic on euro area exports and imports is expected to be seen primarily in the first half of the year when factors dampening demand and supply come together. While both exports of goods (e.g. particularly manufactured

⁽⁷⁸⁾ See UNCTAD (2020). 'Global trade impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) epidemic'. *Technical Note*. March.

⁽⁷⁹⁾ A drop in demand for final goods leads each producer in the value chain to empty their inventories before reordering, amplifying the demand shock further up the supply chain see Baldwin, R. and Tomiura, E. (2020). 'Thinking ahead about the trade impact of COVID-19'. VoxEU.

⁽⁸⁰⁾ For an assessment of cost incurred by border controls see European Commission (DG ECFIN) (2016). 'Estimating a hypothetical scenario of generalised border controls in the Schengen area'. European Economic Forecast – Spring 2016, Institutional Paper 25, pp. 54-7 (Box I.3).

⁽⁸¹⁾ see Arezki, R. and Nguyen, H. (2020). 'Novel coronavirus hurts the Middle East and North Africa through many channels'. VoxEU.

⁽⁸²⁾ see Banerjee, R., Hofmann, B. and Mehrotra, A. (2020). 'Corporate investment and the exchange rate: The financial channel'. BOFIT *Discussion Papers* 6.

⁽⁸³⁾ Estimates of the economic impact and revisions of earnings of the largest multinational enterprises (MNEs) suggest that the downward pressure on FDI flows could range from -30% to -40% during 2020-2021. See UNCTAD (2020). 'Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on global FDI and GVCs'. *Investment Trends Monitor*. March.

⁽⁸⁴⁾ See Weder di Mauro, B. (2020). 'Macroeconomics of the Flu'. VoxEU.org.

goods) and services (e.g. travel and transport services) are set to suffer, the latter is projected to take a more significant hit and the shortfall to be larger compared to 2019.

In the second half of the year, export growth is projected to gain traction, in line with the recovery forecast for major trading partners. While goods exports could bounce back later in the year, lost output in services-producing sectors including travel and tourism cannot be expected to be fully recouped. Both pull factors (e.g. travel restrictions imposed in EU Member States) and push factors (e.g. the economic fallout in countries of origin leading to lower outward traveling) will play a role. With regards to service exports, the duration of travel and migration restrictions will be key in determining the persistence of the shock.



All in all, euro area exports (excluding Ireland) are projected to fall by around 13% in 2020, the sharpest contraction among final demand components. A strong catch-up is limited by enduring foreign demand weakness, likely delays to the resumption of production and supply chain normalisation. The assumed appreciation of the euro's nominal and effective exchange rates will further hinder a more robust recovery, with the appreciation persisting through the typical lags in the reaction of trade flows to exchange rate movements. As a result, exports of goods and services are forecast to grow by only about 10% next year (see Graph I.2.19).

Euro area imports of goods and services are projected to broadly follow developments in final demand. Still, with the large magnitude of the impact concentrated in components with the highest import content (e.g. durable goods consumption and investment spending) import penetration is expected to decline somewhat in 2020. With export growth weakening more dramatically than imports, net trade is projected to act as a drag on growth this year before contributing only slightly next year.

Projections for 2021 are based on a purely technical assumption of status quo in terms of trading relations between the EU and the UK. This is for forecasting purposes only and reflects no anticipation or prediction of the outcome of the negotiations between the EU and the UK on their future relationship.

2.4. LABOUR MARKET

The outbreak of COVID-19 will test the resilience of the EU labour market that has prevailed until now. The pandemic has generated an unprecedented macroeconomic shock in the EU with sizable effects on working hours and corporate earnings. Bold policy measures have been taken to limit employment losses during the confinement period and to ensure that work can be resumed smoothly after the confinement. While the uncertainty is wide, a drop in employment seems a given by the end of the year even though, with support from targeted policies, firms are expected to hold on to most of their workers during the confinement period. The drop in headcount employment is therefore expected to be dampened even as the number of hours worked drops sharply. As a consequence, the creation of additional jobs in the expected recovery will also be muted.

Labour markets proved rather resilient to the economic slowdown last year ...

Last year's economic slowdown had only limited effects on the labour market. While manufacturing activity declined, companies appear to have largely refrained from layoffs, suggesting labour hoarding in this sector. Meanwhile employment in the services sector was still on the rise and weighs significantly more in aggregate employment. Overall, for the euro area, the unemployment rate declined further to 7.6% last year, as total employment grew by 1.2%, the same rate as GDP. The absence of productivity gains in 2019 combined with above-inflation wage growth has already affected firms' margins. This suggests that firms were at the limit of their capacity to hoard labour early this year and that employment losses in the manufacturing sector were likely in the absence of a rebound in economic growth this year. This is consistent with the observation that changes in the labour market situation usually lag developments in economic activity by several quarters.

...but the COVID-19 outbreak has led to a massive drop in hours worked...

The COVID-19 outbreak and subsequent confinement measures taken by all EU countries have led to significant disruptions in labour markets. According to the Commission's survey conducted in March, firms and households have rapidly adjusted their employment expectations (see Graph I.2.20).



The strictness of the containment measures implemented in the EU since March this year vary across countries to a certain degree. But, all euro area Member States have faced discontinuity in the production of goods and services in most sectors with the labour force becoming partially or totally redundant. While working arrangements such as teleworking have been implemented wherever possible, the nature of work in many sectors does not allow for this alternative. The sectors most affected by production discontinuity include accommodation and food services, retail, business and administrative activities but also manufacturing and construction activities.

In response to the current COVID-19 crisis and with the objective to protect employment and prevent an increase in unemployment during 2020 that could become persistent, EU Member States have provided liquidity support for businesses and the self-employed and implemented or reinforced short-time work schemes. The experience from the 2009 crisis showed that the use of short-time/parttime working schemes such as the German 'Kurzarbeit' was effective at securing jobs⁽⁸⁵⁾. arrangements allow companies These to temporarily reduce labour costs by reducing regular working hours while the income loss for employees is partly offset by a short-time working allowance paid by the government. Additional measures have been taken in most Member States to support micro enterprises and the self-employed who are eligible to one-off compensations to cushion pandemic-induced income losses. Other examples of measures taken include a moratorium on laying off workers (Italy), or the possibility to take sick leave to look after children at home (France).

To support these efforts, the EU had adopted a proposal by the Commission for a new instrument for temporary Support to mitigate Unemployment Risk in an Emergency (SURE). The SURE facility will provide financial assistance, in the form of loans granted on favourable terms from the EU to Member States, of up to \notin 100 billion in total. These loans will assist Member States to cope with sudden increases in public expenditure to preserve employment. Specifically, these loans will help Member States to cover the costs directly related to the creation or extension of national short-time work schemes, and other similar measures they have put in place for the self-employed, as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

The overall objective of these measures is to allow firms to weather the fall in revenues without permanently dismissing workers. The number of applications for these schemes is already considerable across Europe and is expected to far exceed the numbers recorded in 2009 in countries such as Germany where such schemes existed. However, these measures may do little to help spare the more precarious workers who are already seeing their contracts not being renewed.

...which may partially translate into more permanent employment losses...

During the second half of this year, once the confinement period ends and most workers come

⁽⁸⁵⁾ See Balleer A., B. Gehrke, W. Lechthaler, C. Merkl (2016). 'Does short-time work save jobs? A business cycle analysis'. European Economic Review 84: 99–122. See also Hijzen A., S. Martin (2013). 'The role of short-time work schemes during the global financial crisis and early recovery: a cross-country analysis'. IZA Journal of Labor Policy

back to work, firms may adjust to the new context of lower demand in many sectors by either laying off workers or maintaining them at the expense of productivity if they value their skills and believe in the temporary nature of the lower demand. The length of the partial unemployment schemes may play a crucial role in preserving employment in sectors that will be affected beyond the confinement period and need more time to recover. However, employment losses could become more permanent despite the measures taken, if growth in EU economies struggles to rebound later this year and in 2021. Hysteresis with structurally higher unemployment rates might in turn dampen growth rates and productivity further.

In particular, the usual movements in the labour market may stall if uncertainty remains high long after the confinement ends, leading to little or delayed new hiring. This would disproportionally affect young new labour market entrants and the unemployed. Such a development would structurally damage the labour market, lowering its efficiency and generating higher unemployment. The risk of substantial outflows into early retirement also looms large. This is not addressed by the current policy schemes which aim at maintaining existing jobs. Additional policy measures aimed at upskilling and reskilling workers to smooth their transition into new jobs may also become necessary to revive labour markets.

...depending also on country-specific features...

The final impact on EU labour markets this year and in 2021 remains uncertain and largely depends on future developments in the COVID-19 crisis and the success of the policy measures taken to contain it and offset its impact. However, some country-specific features allow us to assess the fragility of employment in the current crisis. The difference between countries may appear large and are not only linked to the successful implementation of policy measures but to preexisting vulnerabilities. Three measures can be used to reflect the vulnerability of a country's labour market to the crisis: (i) the existing labour market structures, in particular the share of temporary or self-employed workers, (ii) the average size of corporations and (iii) the sectoral specialisation of the country.

Countries with a higher share of temporary and self-employed workers have more vulnerable labour markets, as these parts of the workforce are more likely to see significant employment and income reductions during a sharp economic contraction. Moreover, the self-employed tend to receive less support from government schemes and are overrepresented in the sectors hardest-hit by the confinement. While Spain has a high share of temporary contracts, Italy has a relatively high proportion of self-employed workers (see Graph I.2.21).



Also, in Italy and Spain, small firms, which are typically more fragile during economic contractions, account for a high share of employment. While measures have been put in place to offset liquidity shortages, the smallest firms are more likely to see liquidity squeezes and blocked bank credit lines. Companies that already began to experience difficulties during the slowdown last year or who have been struggling since the financial crisis may be particularly vulnerable.

As regards the sectoral effect, the sectors most at risk include accommodation and food services, transport, retail and other personal services. Here again, countries in the euro area's periphery such as Italy and Spain are more exposed to these sectors which are specifically linked to tourism. Manufacturing is also being his in this crisis but as firms in this sector are more reliant on specific skills, firms tend to value their workforce more and try harder to maintain workers during a temporary crisis. While manufacturing firms hoarded labour as manufacturing activity declined last year, it seems that key firms in this sector are heavily now using the temporary/partial

Table 1.2.5:

Labour market outlook - euro area and EU

(Annual percentage change)			E	uro area	1		EU							
	Sp	Spring 2020 forecast				2019 for	ecast	Sp	ring 2020) forecast	•	Autumn 2019 forecast		
	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Population of working age (15-64)	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Labour force	0.5	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.1	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3
Employment	1.5	1.2	-4.7	3.9	1.1	0.5	0.5	1.4	1.0	-4.4	3.3	1.0	0.4	0.4
Employment (change in million)	2.3	1.8	-7.2	5.7	1.7	0.8	0.7	2.7	2.0	-8.9	6.3	2.0	0.9	0.8
Unemployment (levels in millions)	13.4	12.4	16.0	14.4	12.4	12.2	12.0	15.5	14.4	19.6	17.3	14.4	14.2	14.0
Unemployment rate (% of labour force)	8.1	7.5	9.6	8.6	7.6	7.4	7.3	7.2	6.7	9.0	7.9	6.8	6.7	6.5
Labour productivity, whole economy	0.4	0.1	-3.2	2.4	0.0	0.7	0.8	0.7	0.5	-3.2	2.7	0.4	0.9	1.0
Employment rate (a)	62.0	62.6	61.2	61.9	62.6	62.7	62.9	61.6	62.1	60.6	61.4	62.1	62.3	62.5
(a) As a percentage of population of w	orking ag	e. Defini	ition acc	ordina t	o structur	al indica	ators. See	e also not	e 6 in th	e Statistic	al Anne	х		

unemployment schemes put forward by governments to maintain employment.

... and lead to higher unemployment rates.

The COVID-19 outbreak has completely changed the prospects for economic output and labour markets this year. Without the measures taken by Member States to sustain employment, the containment measures triggered by the pandemic could affect employment even more than GDP, as the most affected sectors are those with the highest employment intensity and the highest shares of temporary contracts. The policy measures are expected to cushion these negative effects and allow employment to decline more moderately than GDP.

For 2020, total employment is expected to shrink by about 4 ½% in the EU. However, countryspecific features and large tourism sectors mean that the negative effect on employment is likely to be bigger than average in many southern EU Member States (see annex table 23).⁽⁸⁶⁾ For 2021, a slight rebound in employment is forecast, consistent with the expected rebound in total output. Changes in unemployment rates mainly reflect headcount employment losses and are expected to rise to various degrees in all EU Member States. On average for the euro area, the unemployment rate is expected to jump two percentage points to 9.6% this year before setting at 8.6% in 2021.

Graph I.2.22: Unemployment rate, euro area and Member States



2.5. INFLATION

The inflation outlook over the forecast horizon has abated. The spread of the virus is expected to severely curtail both aggregate supply and demand in the domestic and global economy. Amid substantial uncertainty, this forecast takes the view that the drop in demand will dominate price developments. Moreover, the sharp drop in global oil prices is expected to lead to strongly negative energy inflation base effects for the rest of the year. Consequently, the forecast for headline HICP inflation in 2020 has been substantially cut compared to the winter forecast, with a smaller downward revision for core inflation. The forecast for 2021 has also been revised down, marginally.

During the lockdown period, some supply constraints may result in temporary increases in the prices of certain goods but this is expected to last only for a limited period as some supply chains in parts of the world and Europe had already started to normalise before the cut-off date of this forecast. As the negative output gap increases and real output is not expected to recover to 2019 levels by the end of 2021, the downward

⁽⁸⁶⁾ The figures presented in the table 23 of the statistical annex are referring to full time equivalent employment (FTE) for a number of countries, including France, Italy and Spain. Due to the COVID-19 induced rise in part-time employment, a discrepancy emerged between FTE and headcount figures in 2020 with the latter declining significantly less. Nevertheless, headcount employment remains more negative in Spain (-5 ½%) and Italy (-2%) than in France and Germany (-1%).

pull of a shortfall in aggregate demand is expected to outweigh the impact of remaining supply constraints over the forecast horizon. This is set to lead to a period of very low inflation rates well into 2020, after which the expected rebound in economic activity and reversed base effects uplift inflation slightly in 2021.



As overall inflationary pressures will depend fundamentally on the spread of the virus and the containment measures in force, the outlook is predicated on the assumptions inherent to this forecast, mainly that the lockdown measures will be eased gradually, starting in May, and is therefore surrounded by unprecedented and large uncertainty.

Earlier signs of a pick-up in inflation are now reversing

The outbreak of the virus led to a premature halt of signs that inflationary pressures were gradually building up. Up until February this year, headline inflation in the euro area, as measured by the Harmonised Index of Consumer Prices (HICP) had shown signs of picking up in line with what was expected in the winter forecast. In December (at 1.3%) and January (1.4%), inflation ticked above the 2019 yearly average, supported by services inflation and also reflecting stronger developments in volatile items like unprocessed foods as well as the phase out of significant negative base effects in energy inflation. Negative energy inflation detracted slightly from the February headline figure (1.2%). Excluding developments in the volatile components, core inflation (all items excluding energy and unprocessed food) had otherwise exhibited a steady pace of underlying price pressures. It crawled up to 1.3% in the fourth quarter of 2019, from 1.1% in the third quarter,

and remained at that level in both January and February this year.

This pick-up in core inflation since autumn, and of services inflation in particular, provided some signs that domestic inflationary pressures were building up slowly. Excluding some relatively volatile items from the core measure, such as clothing, footwear and holiday-related items, there was a discernible increase in underlying price pressures in 2019 and early 2020. The component of services inflation related to housing had moved up, signalling that higher house prices were feeding through to consumer prices with a delay. Annual house price growth was running at 4.2% in the euro area in the fourth quarter of 2019, almost three-times as much as the inflation of actual rentals for housing.

In March, headline inflation dropped to 0.7%, down from 1.2% in February, and was dragged mainly by a strong decline in energy inflation (-4.5%). HICP inflation excluding energy and unprocessed food (core inflation) fell to 1.2%, from 1.3% in both January and February.

The detailed data of the March release showed the first impact of the virus containment measures on inflation. By adjusting for average seasonal fluctuations in March and focusing on the monthon-month change in prices, considerable impacts in certain detailed categories of inflation become apparent. The monthly change in overall prices was substantially weaker than usual for March (when prices usually increase due to the Easter holidays). This variation will exert a downward shift in inflation for the rest of this year, but will lead to a marked positive base effect in March next year if things normalise. Compared to their average monthly price change in March, most food categories increased, especially meat and fish products, but fruit and vegetables declined considerably. Likewise, clothing and footwear declined, while transport prices registered the biggest relative decline of all categories. Energyrelated prices also declined strongly, reflecting the collapse in oil prices. On the other hand, health prices increased more than usual, reflecting increased expenditure on medical supplies to tackle the COVID-19 pandemic. Prices related to restaurants, hotels, recreation and cultural services dropped only slightly more than usual but this was probably due to the forced closure of many of these service outlets, which rendered price collection difficult. It is therefore likely that these

latter categories present a downside risk for inflation once they start opening, since the demand for these services is expected to suffer longer due to the social distancing measures for the sector that are expected to remain in force in many Member States.

The assessment of the inflation outlook is complicated by several factors and has to be seen in light of the current exceptional economic circumstances. There are three main factors that need to be considered and their respective impact will affect the profile of inflation. The first one relates to the impact of temporary supply-side disruptions, panic buying and sudden stops during lockdown periods. Second, the sharp fall in oil prices is expected to detract significantly from inflation in 2020. The third one relates to the opposing forces between a sharp (temporary) fall in aggregate demand, remaining supply disruptions, and a likely shift in demand preferences. On balance, these factors are expected to lead to a period of disinflation in 2020 (several quarters of inflation close to zero).

Temporary issues beset inflation in the current period

Inflation in the second quarter of 2020, and possibly in the third quarter, is expected to suffer from several issues, some of which are unprecedented and will distort normal fluctuations in prices. First, several shops, especially of nonessential items, and social spaces are still closed or are expected to remain so for some time - for example bars, restaurants, hotels and cinemas rendering the calculation of the prices of these goods and services difficult to measure. Second, there was evidence of supply chain disruptions in the production of certain goods - for example of certain food items or medical supplies - while panic buying led to a surge in demand for example of hygienic products, essential foods or even particular IT equipment associated with remote working etc. At the same time there is a sudden stop in demand (and sometimes non-availability) for non-essential items and services. Moreover, the temporary base effect that usually uplifts inflation around the Easter holiday period, especially on items such as accommodation and package holidays, will be missing. As March data already show, the overall impact of all these factors is expected to drag on inflation in April and May.

The collapse in oil prices will dominate the profile in 2020

Oil prices (Brent) which peaked at close to \$70 per barrel in early January, collapsed in March to just over \$20 per barrel and were still around that level at the cut-off date in April. Oil prices are assumed to pick-up only moderately during the rest of 2020, but to levels representing approximately a 50% decline compared to their average in 2019. This will have strong negative base effects on energy inflation and will subsequently impinge heavily on overall inflation in 2020.

Despite the agreed production cuts among oilproducing countries due to begin in May, a sharp fall in oil demand is expected and is assumed to keep energy prices low. Given that oil is used as an input in many other sectors, and is strongly correlated with industrial producer prices, it is expected to have a general dampening effect on overall global price developments (see Graph I.2.24). In 2021, the slight increase in the price of oil assumed is expected to lead to some marginally positive base effects.



Lower demand expected to outweigh the impact of supply disruptions on inflation

There are two opposing forces at work in the determination of prices along global supply chains: supply disruptions and a general fall in aggregate demand. Supply side disruptions (due to forced production plant closures and offices, social distancing, and border controls) limit the supply of critical intermediate items and even the presence of labour needed for the production of goods and services. This tends to have an upward push on inflation, especially in those items still in high demand. It is still too early to assess the impact of

(Annual percentage change)			E	uro arec	1			EU							
Spring 2020 fored				t	Autumn	2019 for	Spring 2020 forecast				t	Autumn 2019 forecast			
	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021	
Private consumption deflator	1.4	1.2	0.3	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.4	1.5	1.4	0.5	1.3	1.4	1.4	1.5	
GDP deflator	1.3	1.7	1.3	1.3	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.4	1.9	1.4	1.4	1.8	1.7	1.6	
HICP	1.8	1.2	0.2	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.8	1.4	0.6	1.3	1.4	1.4	1.6	
Compensation per employee	2.2	2.1	1.1	0.4	2.0	2.1	2.2	2.7	2.6	1.1	1.1	2.5	2.6	2.6	
Unit labour costs	1.8	2.1	4.3	-1.9	2.0	1.4	1.4	2.1	2.2	4.3	-1.6	:	:	:	
Import prices of goods	2.7	-0.6	-3.6	1.1	0.4	0.3	0.8	2.8	-0.3	-3.1	1.0	0.7	0.5	0.9	

Table I.2.6:

supply disruptions on prices, but anecdotal evidence suggest that so far this seems to be limited to certain categories of inflation.

Most important is the production of food, which is a staple item and has a relatively high weight in the consumption basket. Labour shortages in a number of Member States due to a lack of seasonal workers from other countries pose problems for the agricultural industry, especially in the fruit, vegetable and livestock sectors. So far however, short-term commodity futures prices for several food categories have fallen and thus do not signal immediate price pressures. The UN Food and Agriculture Organisation's Food Price Index for March fell compared to February, with the international organisation noting the impact of the pandemic on demand contractions. There is evidence that closures of restaurants and hotels, and travelling in general, is having a strong impact on prices of certain food categories and this is particularly so for example in tourist regions in the EU where the collapse in traditional demand by tourist establishments on locally sourced food is leading to excess supply. In addition, the fall in oil prices is generally associated with lower prices along the food chain. By the cut-off date of this forecast, there was anecdotal evidence suggesting that temporary solutions were being found for labour shortages in the agri-food sectors which need harvesting and in the transportation of these goods and that some lockdown measures were already being relaxed. These factors should further alleviate bottlenecks and reduce supply disruptions, however there may still be an upside risk to prices in those categories where the harvesting season or livestock processing may have been disrupted. On the other hand, a general substitution towards staple or less perishable food may add price pressures in these items.

Overall, the interaction between the aggregate demand shock and the oil price shock is set to

dominate headline inflation and eclipse any shortterm supply disruptions. Many inflation components that exhibited an upward trend until last year are also expected to reverse course and head downwards in 2020.

For example, housing-related inflation, particularly actual rentals for housing, may already have had a substantial downward hit and may undergo further pressures throughout the year. There are two main factors behind this. First, faced with sudden wage cuts or employment losses, there is anecdotal evidence that landlords are reducing rents paid by tenants in order to avoid rental contracts either being stopped or tenants moving to cheaper alternatives. Second, as there was an increasing trend of converting old or newly-built residential properties into alternative tourist accommodation, especially in major cities, the sudden drop in tourism and its dire outlook is expected to result in many vacant properties that will enter into competition with domestically-oriented rentals and thus force rents down. The weight of this component in overall inflation has an average of 6.5% in the euro area but differs strongly across Member States, standing for example at 11% in Germany but only 2.7% in Italy.

The expected drop in capacity utilisation is also set to have a negative impact on prices, particularly for non-energy industrial goods. Moreover, in some sectors, the build-up of large inventories during the lockdown period may force companies to push prices lower to reduce stocks once the economy progressively re-adjusts. Further ahead, as unemployment rates increase, income losses are expected to keep a lid on inflation pressures well into 2021.

A substantial drop in the forecast for inflation in 2020 ...

On average, headline inflation in the euro area is forecast to drop strongly to 0.2% in 2020, but to recover to 1.1% in 2021. Compared to the winter forecast, this represents a downward revision of 1.1 pps. for 2020 and 0.3 pps. for 2021.

Growth in compensation per employee in the euro area is expected to decline throughout the forecast horizon, even though income losses are alleviated by government wage support schemes in 2020. It is projected to drop to 1.1% in 2020 and 0.4% in 2021. The growth of real compensation per employee, after deducting for inflation, is expected to turn negative in 2021. As a result mainly of labour hoarding schemes in 2020, unit labour cost growth in the euro area is expected to increase strongly to 4.2% in 2020, but then to fall strongly to -1.8% in 2021 as lower employment levels leave a mark on labour costs.

Overall, the annual growth rate of the GDP deflator in the euro area is projected to fall to 1.3% in both 2020 and 2021. On one hand, the sharp drop in oil prices improves the terms of trade and thus supports the GDP deflator, while on the other hand the latter is weighed down by the drop in the private consumption deflator.

... consistent with lower inflation expectations.

Market-based measures of inflation expectations along the maturity spectrum fell sharply in March as the scale of the COVID-19 impact became clearer but then recovered slightly in April. At the cut-off date of this forecast, inflation-linked swap rates at the one-year forward one-year-ahead horizon stood at 0.4% (see Graph I.2.25). Swap rates at the three-year forward three-years-ahead horizon imply an average inflation of around 0.8%. On a longer horizon, the widely watched five-year forward five-years-ahead indicator suggests inflation of 1%, below the ECB's definition of medium-term price stability.

Latest survey-based measures of price developments in April, taken from the IHS Markit Flash Eurozone PMI, show a strong decline in both input and output prices. Output price declines were generally facilitated by lower input prices, and this was even more so in the services sectors where input prices are linked to lower payroll costs. Factory input prices fell at a reduced rate possibly reflecting shortages along the supply chain. According to the Commission's surveys taken in March, the manufacturing sector had already signalled a sharp drop in selling price expectations. However, consumers in the euro area reported expectations of higher price trends over the next twelve months, particularly in France and Italy, possibly reflecting concerns of shortages in food and medicine supplies in times of panic-buying or fear that they may not afford current prices with reduced incomes.



The monthly mean of market forecasts calculated by Consensus Economics stood in April at 0.4% for 2020 and 1.3% for 2021. The results of the ECB Survey of Professional Forecasters (taken in early January, before the COVID-19 pandemic) for the first quarter of 2020 showed average inflation expectations at 1.2% in 2020 and 1.4% in 2021. Longer-term inflation expectations stood at 1.7%.

2.6. PUBLIC FINANCES

The COVID-19 outbreak is set to have a severe impact on public finances in 2020...

Having declined for eight years in a row since 2010, the euro area aggregate general government deficit (Graph I.2.26) reached a trough in 2018 and marginally increased in 2019. Sizeable discretionary fiscal measures (around 31/4% of GDP) and automatic stabilisers to cushion the economic impact of the pandemic and related containment measures imply that the deficit is set to surge in 2020 and to decrease in 2021. Moreover, euro-area governments have provided sizeable state guarantees for loans to firms and other liquidity support for almost 24% of GDP. This does not include liquidity support measures

taken at EU level. From an international perspective, budget deficits are expected to be significantly larger in the US in both 2020 and 2021 where the fiscal support aimed at containing the economic impact of COVID-19 is estimated at around 11% of GDP. In Japan, on the other hand, which is forecast to run a lower deficit in 2020, the support that has a direct impact on the deficit is estimated at less than 5% of GDP.⁽⁸⁷⁾



In 2019, the deficit stood at 0.6% of GDP in both the euro area and the EU. In 2020, the deficit is set to increase considerably, to about 8½% of GDP in the euro area (8¼% and the EU). The sharp increase in the deficit is primarily due to a large decline in both the cyclical component and the structural primary balance (Graph I.2.27).⁽⁸⁸⁾ These developments largely reflect the work of automatic stabilisers and new fiscal measures aiming at protecting households, workers and businesses from the impact of the lockdowns triggered by the pandemic.

... and to narrow in 2021 based on unchanged policies.

In 2021, based on unchanged policies, the budget deficit is forecast to decrease noticeably to around $3\frac{1}{2}$ % of GDP in both the euro area and the EU due

to the expected rebound of GDP growth and because most Member States are assumed to unwind a large part of the measures adopted in response to the COVID-19 crisis. Indeed, the changes in the cyclical component and in the structural primary balance are both forecast to provide a large positive contribution to the increase in the budget balance in 2021 (Graph I.2.27).



Looking at the country level, all Member States except Bulgaria are projected to run a deficit exceeding 3% of GDP in 2020. In 2021, half the Member States are forecast to continue running a deficit over 3% of GDP, based on a no-policychange assumption.

Expenditure-to-GDP ratio to drive the projected ups and downs in the euro area deficit

In 2020 and 2021, developments in the deficit look set to be driven almost exclusively by the change in the expenditure ratio (Graph I.2.28). It is projected to increase noticeably in 2020 (by more than 8 pps.), due to the discretionary measures and the effect of sharply contracting nominal GDP. In 2021, the drop in the expenditure ratio (by more than 5¹/₄ pps.) explains the deficit reduction of about 5 pps. This is due to the temporary nature of most of the fiscal measures taken in response to the COVID-19 outbreak, which are predicted to lead to much smaller additional expenditure in 2021 than in 2020. Furthermore, the projected rebound in GDP at a pace faster than potential output will also help to lower the expenditure ratio. The revenue ratio is projected to decline only slightly between 2019 and 2021.

⁽⁸⁷⁾ Liquidity measures that do not have a direct impact of the deficit is much larger in Japan (around 17½% of GDP) than in the US (2¼% of GDP).

⁽⁸⁸⁾ On 20 and 23 March 2020, the Commission and the Council, respectively, activated the general escape clause of the Stability and Growth Pact. That activation has allowed Member States to take targeted measures to deal with the health crisis and provide support for those affected by the outbreak, as well as broader measures to support the economy. To facilitate fiscal surveillance for the duration of the general escape clause, the Commission decided not to classify COVID-19-related measures as one-off in its 2020 spring forecast.

Table 1.2.7:

General Government budgetary position - euro area and EU

(% of GDP)			E	uro area			EU							
	Sp	Spring 2020 forecast				2019 fo	recast	Sp	ring 2020) forecas	t	Autumn 2019 forecast		
	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Total receipts (1)	46.5	46.5	46.7	46.3	46.3	46.2	45.9	46.2	46.2	46.4	46.0	46.0	45.9	45.6
Total expenditure (2)	47.0	47.1	55.2	49.9	47.1	47.1	47.0	46.6	46.7	54.7	49.6	46.8	46.7	46.6
Actual balance (3) = (1)-(2)	-0.5	-0.6	-8.5	-3.5	-0.8	-0.9	-1.0	-0.4	-0.6	-8.3	-3.6	-0.7	-0.8	-1.0
Interest expenditure (4)	1.8	1.6	1.7	1.6	1.7	1.5	1.4	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.4
Primary balance $(5) = (3)+(4)$	1.4	1.0	-6.8	-2.0	0.9	0.6	0.4	1.3	1.0	-6.7	-2.1	0.9	0.6	0.3
Cyclically-adjusted budget balance (a)	-1.1	-1.3	-4.4	-2.1	-1.1	-1.1	-1.2	-1.1	-1.2	-4.4	-2.1	-1.1	-1.1	-1.2
Cyclically-adjusted primary balance (a)	0.7	0.4	-2.7	-0.5	0.6	0.4	0.2	0.6	0.3	-2.8	-0.6	0.5	0.4	0.2
Structural budget balance (a)	-1.0	-1.1	-4.4	-2.1	-0.9	-1.1	-1.2	-1.0	-1.1	-4.4	-2.1	-0.9	-1.1	-1.2
Change in structural budget balance (a)	0.2	-0.1	-3.3	2.3	-0.1	-0.2	-0.1	0.1	-0.1	-3.3	2.3	-0.2	-0.2	-0.1
Gross debt	87.8	86.0	102.7	98.8	86.4	85.1	84.1	81.3	79.4	95.1	92.0	79.8	78.4	77.4
(a) as a % of potential output. The structura European Commission.	l budget bo	alance is	the cyclic	cally-adju	usted bud	get balaı	nce net o	f one-off c	ind other	tempora	ry measi	ures estimo	ated by th	ıe



Looking at selected public spending components of the euro area aggregate, the projected surge in the expenditure ratio in 2020 is mainly related to higher social transfers, also due to the sizeable discretionary measures taken to support households and workers, followed by subsidies. Public investment as a share of potential GDP is projected to increase marginally, from 2.8% of GDP in 2019 to 2.9% in 2021, still below its average of 3.3% of GDP between 2000 and 2009.

The debt ratio is set to jump in 2020

In 2019, the debt-to-GDP ratio of the euro area fell to 86.0% (79.4% in the EU), standing around 9 pps. below its peak in 2014. However, the unprecedented economic recession expected in 2020 and the measures taken in response to the pandemic are set to derail this trend. The debt-to-GDP ratio of the euro area is projected to rise substantially, reaching a new peak of around 103% in 2020, before decreasing to below 100% in 2021, under a no-policy-change assumption. The combined impact of interest expenditure and the drop in nominal GDP (the so-called 'snow-ball effect' ⁽⁸⁹⁾) is forecast to increase the debt-to-GDP ratio by about $7\frac{3}{4}$ pps. in 2020. In 2021, thanks to the expected rebound in nominal GDP, the snowball effect is forecast to reduce the debt-to-GDP ratio by $5\frac{3}{4}$ pps. The primary deficit is expected to have a debt-increasing contribution in both 2020 and 2021 ($6\frac{3}{4}$ and 2 pps. respectively).

In 2020, the debt-to-GDP ratio is projected to increase significantly in all Member States. In 2021, under a no-policy-change assumption, it is expected to stay above 100% in seven Member States (Belgium, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, Cyprus and Portugal). Other seven Member States are forecast to show a debt ratio above 60% of GDP in 2021 (Germany, Ireland, Croatia, Austria, Slovenia, Finland and Hungary) (Graph I.2.29).



⁽⁸⁹⁾ The "snow-ball effect" captures the impact of interest expenditure on the annual accumulation of debt, as well as the impact of real GDP growth and inflation on the debt ratio.

2.7. MACROECONOMIC POLICIES IN THE EURO AREA

The policy mix in the euro area reflects the interplay between financing conditions and fiscal policy. Monetary conditions in the euro area remain very accommodative overall. Based on technical assumptions,(90) short-term money market rates are set to remain broadly constant over the forecast horizon and should remain very supportive overall in both nominal and real terms. As nominal long-term yields are expected to increase only marginally and inflation expectations for the longer term are also assumed to increase slightly over the forecast horizon, real long-term financing costs should remain clearly in negative territory. The fiscal policy stance, measured by the change in the structural primary budget balance, is expected be very expansionary in 2020 given the discretionary measures related to the COVID-19 outbreak. Most of those measures are set to be discontinued by 2021 under a no-policy-change assumption.

Monetary conditions are expected to remain accommodative

In light of the economic disruptions caused by the coronavirus outbreak and the ECB's subsequent easing measures, which include sizeable additional net asset purchases (91), only marginal upward pressures on nominal rates are expected over the forecast horizon. Given the present record low interest rate levels, financing conditions in the euro area are therefore expected to remain very loose by historical standards. Nominal long-term rates (92), which picked up at the end of last year but which have decreased since then on account of the pandemic, are expected to pick up only slightly and remain below their levels reached in mid-2019. The additional net asset purchases under the ECB's Asset Purchase Programme (APP) and Pandemic Emergency Purchase Programme (PEPP) in combination with the continued reinvestment of maturing securities should help keep nominal long-term rates very low, overall.⁽⁹³⁾ On the short end of the yield curve, interest rates remain at historically low levels following the deposit facility rate cut in September 2019. The high and growing volume of excess reserves, in combination with the ECB's forward guidance as well as very favourable TLTRO-III pricing ⁽⁹⁴⁾, should keep short-term money market rates at very low levels and support favourable lending conditions further on.

In real terms, short-term rates have stayed broadly unchanged in negative territory since the autumn, although developments in headline inflation led to some fluctuations in real short-term rates (see Graph I.2.30).⁽⁹⁵⁾ Real long-term interest rates have increased somewhat over the same period, mainly on account of markedly lower inflation expectations, which edged downward in February and March. By contrast, their nominal counterpart remained largely unchanged on balance.



Short term rate: 3M Euribor; Long term rate: 10Y interest swap

Looking ahead, nominal short-term rates are assumed to remain broadly unchanged over the course of the current and the coming year before

⁽⁹⁰⁾ The interest rate assumptions underlying the forecast are market-based; nominal exchange rates are assumed to remain constant with respect to a given base period. For details, see Box I.4.1.

⁽⁹¹⁾ For details, see https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2020/html/ecb.mp 200312~8d3aec3ff2.en.html and https://www.ecb.europa.eu/press/pr/date/2020/html/ecb.pr2 00318_1~3949d6f266.en.html

⁽⁹²⁾ Nominal long-term rates refer to the 10 year interest rate swap based on EURIBOR 6M.

⁽⁹³⁾ Empirical evidence suggests that the portfolio rebalancing effect of asset purchases on bond market yields works predominantly via the size of the stock of purchased assets rather than the size of the monthly flows.

⁽⁹⁴⁾ From 24 June 2020 to 23 June 2021, for counterparties taking part in TLTRO-III and whose eligible net lending reaches the benchmark, the interest rate applied on all TLTRO III operations outstanding over that period will be 25 basis points below the average interest rate on the deposit facility prevailing over the same period, and in any case not higher than -0.75%.

⁽⁹⁵⁾ Real rates are derived from the respective short- or longterm rate minus annual HICP inflation and expected average inflation according to 10-year inflation swaps, respectively. Forecasts are derived from futures and forward rates, deflated by the Commission's inflation forecast and market-based measures of inflation expectations.
starting increase gradually thereafter. to Meanwhile, inflation is expected to decrease sharply in the second quarter of 2020 and to only recover marginally over the remainder of the year, followed by a steady increase over the course of 2021 (see section I.2.5). Altogether, this should lead to a hump-shaped profile of real short-term interest rates over the forecast horizon. At the same time, forward rates suggest a slight but persistent rise in nominal long-term rates over the forecast horizon. With markets anticipating longterm inflation to increase at a somewhat slower pace, this should also translate into marginally higher, but still clearly negative, real long-term rates.

The composite credit cost indicators (CCCI) (96) for non-financial corporations and households captures the transmission of rate developments to nominal financing conditions (see Graph I.2.31). Reflecting the subdued developments in short- and long-term nominal rates, overall changes in nominal financing conditions have been small since the autumn. The decrease in nominal longterm rates since the beginning of the year has decreased borrowing costs for non-financial corporations somewhat, mainly on account of corresponding developments in corporate bond yields and interest rates on long-term loans. However, data availability allows CCCI calculation only until February, hence the substantial increases in euro area corporate bond yields since the beginning of March are not yet captured. For households, borrowing costs have decreased somewhat, driven by lower interest rates on housing loans.



⁽⁹⁶⁾ The CCCIs are calculated as weighted averages of interest rates on different types of bank loans and corporate bonds (in case of non-financial corporations).

The euro area fiscal stance set to support the economy in 2020

The euro area fiscal stance is projected to turn strongly expansionary in 2020 after having been broadly neutral since 2014. The expansionary fiscal stance - based on the expected decline in the structural primary balance of around 3¹/₄ pps. of GDP - is essentially the result of the sizeable fiscal measures taken by Member States in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. In 2021, based on a no policy-change assumption, the euro area fiscal stance is forecast to turn contractionary (by around 2¹/₄ pps. of GDP), reflecting the expected exit from most of the crisis related measures (Graph I.2.32).



Moreover, Member States have supported businesses with sizeable guarantees for their loans and other liquidity measures, which do not show up in the fiscal stance but are nonetheless estimated to provide a significant recovery impulse (see technical box for the treatment of these guarantees). In 2021, all euro area Member States are forecast to start decreasing their structural deficits.

Looking at the policy mix (see Graph I.2.33), the policy measures taken by the ECB since the end of 2014 have exerted significant downward pressure on nominal long-term rates. However, monetary easing has been only partially transmitted to real rates as long-term inflation expectations also declined over the same period. As a result, average real long-term rates for 2020 (derived from the 10year swap rate deflated by inflation expectations) are expected to be somewhat higher than in the previous year. Nonetheless, they remain in negative territory and financing conditions should thus remain very supportive of growth. At the same time, the fiscal policy stance is expected to strongly support economic activity in 2020 and then retreat in 2021 when the recovery is expected to be underway.



2.8. RISKS

Forecast uncertainty has significantly increased since the release of the winter forecast in February while the balance of risks to the growth projection for the euro area has tilted further to the downside.

The pandemic has raised forecast uncertainty...

Uncertainty surrounding the spring forecast is huge. The scale of the pandemic is still uncertain and its duration remains unpredictable as it depends on the time needed for developing an effective treatment or a vaccine. The duration, in turn, affects both the shape of the economic rebound and the volume of fiscal policy measures that will have to be deployed. While the severe consequences of pandemics had been discussed in the economic literature, there are no recent examples comparable to COVID-19 that could guide the analysis of the impact on a diversified and globalised economy. Overall, there is a much higher level of uncertainty surrounding the spring forecast than would normally be the case.

...with risks to the economic growth outlook almost entirely on the downside...

Reflecting on the huge uncertainties, the spring forecast has been anchored on scenario analyses ('a forecast like no other'), which involved a series of assumptions to construct a stylised shock to the global economy. Given the suddenness of developments in recent weeks, this per se bears the risk that the scenario simulation is rendered obsolete by events. Faced with this the present degree of uncertainty and its partly fundamental nature, the customary risk 'fan chart' is not shown this time. Instead, illustrative alternative scenarios produced with the QUEST model are described in section I.3.

Risks to the spring forecast projections are largely skewed to the downside such that economic activity could decline more (in 2020) or rebound less (in 2021). As already signalled in the presentation of the baseline scenario (see Section I.1.4), the major risks concern the total economic impact of COVID-19 on the EU economy, which will depend upon on the scale and length of the pandemic. The assumptions about the pandemic dynamics underlying the baseline scenario might be too optimistic.

The **pandemic** could become more severe and last much longer. Already planned or implemented relaxations of containment measure could prove premature and the pandemic could resurface, requiring the re-imposition of stricter confinement measures with less policy options left for mitigating their economic effects.

The global nature of the COVID-19 shock implies that it is insufficient for the economic recovery, if only a few countries cope successfully with the medical challenge. Insufficiently coordinated national policy responses, or a limited common response at the EU level that limit the efficient use of the workforce (e.g. labour mobility), could result in worse outcomes than currently expected. They could endanger the functioning of the internal market, result in efficiency losses, dampen economic growth and increase divergence, and ultimately threaten the stability of the monetary union. The same could result from inadequate efforts to compensate for the lack of sufficient policy space in those euro area Member States that are also hardest hit. Tight linkages through supply chains, financial connections and trade relationships spread negative would effects throughout the EU.⁽⁹⁷⁾

Economic growth in the **external environment** of the EU could turn out lower than expected, either with the recession being more severe or the

⁽⁹⁷⁾ On the inefficiency of policies predominantly decided upon at the national level, see Beck, T. and W. Wagner (2020). 'National containment policies and international cooperation'. *Covid Economics, Vetted and Real-Time Papers* 1 (CEPR), April 22, pp. 120-34.

recovery taking longer. Potential reasons for an unexpectedly weak performance can be attributed to both advanced, and emerging and developing countries. For the advanced economies, the downside risks to the growth projection, as in the EU, mainly relate to the (length and breadth of the) pandemic and the policy response. If necessary restrictive public health measures are to last longer than currently assumed, this risks generating more severe disruptions to global supply chains and more sizeable and longer-lasting demand shocks. There is also a risk that the coronavirus spreads to those emerging market economies with less developed medical facilities, limiting the prospects for an effective containment of the pandemic and increasing the likelihood for recurring waves of infections globally. Given these health-related uncertainties, there is a risk that extreme financial persist, volatility may with particularly concentrated damage on many of the emerging economies. Continuing capital outflows and currency depreciations in these countries risk undermining the stability of their domestic banking sectors, accompanied by spikes in sovereign debt spreads and government defaults in the most vulnerable cases. This could lead to a protracted downturn in the poorest and most vulnerable countries in the world, exacerbating already existing social tensions, and making it even more difficult to tackle long-standing structural challenges. The slump in oil prices also increases the risk of additional financial market stress related to potentially sizeable investment redemptions by sovereign wealth funds of oil-exporting countries that are asked to fill gaps in their governments' budgets. Lower oil prices also expose vulnerabilities in the highly leveraged energy sector in the US, and if persistent, risk throwing large parts of the sector into outright bankruptcy with knock-on effects on US financial stability and real activity. Countries outside the EU would also suffer from an intensification of protectionism and its adverse consequences as regards economic growth and trade.

The possibility of **financial turmoil and financial crises** in the EU cannot be excluded. The financial burden of implemented and planned measures to combat the pandemic and mitigate its economic impact is very large and expected to increase public debt substantially. In the absence of sufficient circuit breakers, yields of some Member States could come under upward pressure according to perceptions of sovereign risk, which could translate into funding difficulties for the sovereigns and banking sectors of the countries affected.

A different trigger of financial turmoil could emerge if for indebted corporate borrowers the initial liquidity strains turn into solvency problems, even under the current assumptions about the pandemic. This could then lead to bankruptcies, make loans non-performing and cause losses in the banking sector that endanger financial stability and cause a risk-off episode with implications to companies' access to credit and their funding costs. ⁽⁹⁸⁾ Frictions in credit markets could lower economic efficiency due higher costs of capital and/or by capital being misallocated away from its most productive uses.

The pandemic could leave permanent scars in the EU economy that are not taken into account in the central scenario of the spring forecast. Inside the EU, this could result from a large number of bankruptcies that weaken competition and dampen innovation. In an international context, experiences from the pandemic period could trigger fundamental changes in attitudes towards global value chains and international cooperation. This would hit open economies such as the EU most. Against the background of fears that imported cases result in renewed infections, 'deglobalisation' could become more popular than currently expected. More permanent scars than currently expected could also characterise labour market developments (hysteresis effects).

In addition, some **pre-existing vulnerabilities** of the EU economy constitute downside risks, which were already evaluated in the previous forecasts. This includes concerns that new tariffs might be applied on a much wider range of items, which could adversely affect business investment plans and lead to a worse outcome. Moreover, reaching the end of the transition period foreseen in the Withdrawal Agreement between the EU and the UK will dampen economic growth, even if an EU-UK free trade agreement is concluded. This will affect in particular the UK, but also the EU, though to a lesser extent.

⁽⁹⁸⁾ The IMF and the Financial Stability Board have recently emphasised the increased risks to financial stability; see IMF (2020). 'Global financial stability overview: markets in the time of COVID-19'. *Global Financial Stability Report*, April (chapter 1); Financial Stability Board (2020). 'COVID-19 pandemic: Financial stability implications and policy measures taken'. April 15.

On the upside, a faster than expected availability of a vaccine against COVID-19 could allow removing physical distancing measures, improve economic sentiment, and result in a faster-thananticipated return to a more normal economic situation.

...and in the near term risks to the inflation outlook are closely related.

In recent weeks, a number of downside risks to the inflation outlook have materialised, while others have diminished. Oil prices fell sharply until the cut-off date of this forecast, and domestic price pressures have been curbed by the sharp slowdown in economic activity.

In the near term, the downside risks to the growth outlook translate into downside risks to the inflation outlook. A deeper downturn and a slower rebound would negatively influence inflation expectations and price pressures. A more protracted period of low inflation could also have a more negative impact on the anchoring of medium-term inflation expectations than currently visible in surveys; this could trigger a further downward movement of inflation. Should the decline in economic activity be related to severe disruptions of production and distribution chains, a temporary mismatch between demand and supply could decouple developments in economic activity and inflation. On the upside, a faster-than-expected rebound in the external environment could push commodity prices up and lift external price pressures. A faster and stronger than expected rebound of economic activity would raise inflation expectations and domestic price pressures. Beyond the very short term, some analysts have raised the issue as to whether unprecedented monetary and fiscal efforts, the sharp increase in debt, and the monetisation of government debt could necessarily push inflation over the medium term,⁽⁹⁹⁾ which cannot be completely excluded, but so far, there is no evidence that the risk is significant.⁽¹⁰⁰⁾

⁽⁹⁹⁾ See e.g. C. Goodhart and M. Pradhan (2020). 'Future imperfect after coronavirus'. *VoxEU*, March 27.

⁽¹⁰⁰⁾ See e.g. Blanchard, O. J. and J. Pisani-Ferry (2020). 'Monetisation: Do not panic'. *VoxEU*, April 10.

3. SPECIAL ISSUES

3.1. HOW THE PANDEMIC SHAPED THE FORECAST

The COVID-19 pandemic has characteristics not seen in over 100 years, and the measures taken to contain it have no precedent in living memory. Initially concentrated in China, the virus quickly spread worldwide, leading to more than 3 million confirmed cases and more than 200 thousand deaths at the time of writing. A large number of countries have implemented containment measures of unprecedented scale, ranging from limiting travel to the almost complete shutdown of public and economic life.

In this exceptional context, economic forecasters have to grapple with uncertainty at various levels. To name just a few, knowledge about the actual spread of the virus is hampered by incomplete statistics; the impact of the lockdowns on economic activity has to be assessed in real time with non-standard metrics; standard quantitative economic models, calibrated and estimated with historical data, have to be adapted to assess new types of large economic shocks.

To deal with this uncertainty, the present forecast relies much more heavily on assumptions than usual. Such assumptions concern, for instance, key parameters of the pandemic, the duration and effectiveness of containment measures, and the degree of nonlinear effects. This reliance on conditioning assumptions makes the Spring 2020 European Economic Forecast more akin to a scenario analysis.

The main value added of such a scenario analysis is to highlight the channels (and their relative magnitude) through which the economy is affected. It also allows us to discern the stabilising role of fiscal and monetary support measures announced or enacted since the start of the pandemic. These policy actions are expected to help by supporting household incomes, improving firm's liquidity positions and helping to limit longterm damages to the economic fabric, which might otherwise lead to widespread bankruptcies and persistent unemployment.

Given these extraordinary circumstances, this chapter tries to shed some light on the possible

economic damage triggered by the pandemic and sketches a tentative recovery path. First, through the lens of a model-based decomposition of the spring forecast, it gives insight into how the multiple shocks triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic are likely to be transmitted to the economy over the next two years. Second, it presents simulations with DG ECFIN's QUEST model, ⁽¹⁰¹⁾ as they were used to chart the terrain in the preparation of this forecast. Three scenarios are sketched, mostly reflecting alternative paths for the duration of the pandemic and required containment measures. The QUEST simulations were then crosschecked against simulations with alternative quantitative tools, in order to explore different transmission channels and mitigate model uncertainty.

In interpreting the scenario analysis presented here, it is important to bear its central assumptions in mind, most of which pertain to the time-span during which people's mobility and business operations are heavily constrained. In such a complex environment with a large number of moving pieces, it is possible that the economic impact could be either smaller or larger and no probability is attached to these scenarios.

3.1.1. Setting the stage

Several institutions have put out scenarios and estimates...

Since the beginning of this crisis, a number of impact estimates have been published by private banks and analysts as well as think tanks and public institutions. Mirroring the wide range of views regarding many of the facets of the pandemic and the way out of it, as well as fast-evolving information, there is only a limited understanding of the magnitude of the impact and the size of the expected rebound. While it is outside of its scope to review the various forecasts in detail, some provided important insights for the analysis presented in this chapter.

⁽¹⁰¹⁾ QUEST is a macroeconomic model in the New-Keynesian tradition with micro foundations derived from utility and profit maximisation by households and firms respectively, featuring frictions in goods, labour and financial markets. See Ratto M., Roeger W., In 't Veld J. (2009), 'QUEST III: An Estimated Open-Economy DSGE Model of the Euro Area with Fiscal and Monetary Policy', Economic Modelling, 26, pp. 222-233.

One early example concerned the French statistical institute, INSEE⁽¹⁰²⁾. Notwithstanding the high uncertainty and unavoidable imprecisions, it was estimated that the French economy was operating at around 65% of its normal level in the last week of March, with household consumption standing at a similar level. A similar assessment was later published by the Banque de France. (103) In Italy, Istat⁽¹⁰⁴⁾ estimated that containment measures interrupted the activity of 49% of firms and about 44% of workers. For the US, the President of the Federal Reserve Bank of St Louis stated that US real GDP might be operating at about half of its operating capacity during the lockdown period. (105)

...signalling a shock of unparalleled magnitude spurred by multiple forces...

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the economy in a number of different ways. Once the virus started spreading in Europe, the supply side of the economy took a hit. Absenteeism due to quarantines, business closures following containment measures as well as social distancing, lowered production through declines in the number of hours worked and productivity. Still, it should be noted that containment measures are likely to prevent an even worse economic outcome, both in the short and in the medium-term. ⁽¹⁰⁶⁾

The demand side has simultaneously suffered from reduced consumer spending and investment, as both households and firms have delayed spending or lacked the opportunities to spend as a result of the confinement measures, e.g. with respect to travelling, shopping or social activities. Uncertainty about the progress of the disease and the policies implemented to stop its spread have lead to higher precautionary savings and a 'wait and see' attitude amplified by income losses incurred by reduced working times and/or due to the loss of jobs. Wealth effects are also at play through a global decline in asset prices.

As a result of suppressed demand, there is a chance that supply could be further impaired by companies going bankrupt, as liquidity constraints evolve into solvency issues. The reduction in cash flows thus constitutes an additional and significant macroeconomic risk. Business linkages across firms and workers may break down causing additional damages to productive capacity. Additional demand reduction could follow with rising unemployment and lower incomes, trapping the economy in a deeper and longer-lasting slump. All these uncertainties warrant the scenario-based approach adopted in this chapter.

Given the worldwide scale of the pandemic, the European economy will also suffer from reduced external demand and from disruptions to international supply chains. The observed fall in commodity prices, particularly for oil, can be seen as a positive supply shock to the European economy but its growth impulse is at least partially undone by the fall in external demand for European products.

...visible in the growth decomposition of this forecast.

According to the spring forecast, the COVID-19 pandemic is set to trigger a contraction of about 7 ³/₄% in the GDP of the euro area in 2020 and to leave scars even in 2021, when GDP rises but remains below its 2019 level. A model-based decomposition ⁽¹⁰⁷⁾ of the growth forecast brings to light the narrative behind both the fall in activity in 2020 and the partial recovery in 2021. The results of the decomposition are summarised in Graph I.3.1.

As previewed above, the fall in domestic demand is the main force driving the forecast for output in the euro area deep into recessionary territory in 2020. The lack of spending opportunities that is

⁽¹⁰²⁾ See INSEE (2020). 'Conjoncture in France 2020'. March. Sources included direct feedback from companies and professional federations and data on electricity consumption, rail transport and statistics on bankcard transactions.

⁽¹⁰³⁾ See Banque de France (2020). 'Update on business conditions in France at the end of March 2020'.

⁽¹⁰⁴⁾ See Istat (2020). 'Covid-19 impact on the Italian economy: preliminary analyses'. *Monthly Report*. March.

⁽¹⁰⁵⁾ Bullard, J. (2020). 'Expected U.S. Macroeconomic Performance during the Pandemic Adjustment Period'. March.

⁽¹⁰⁶⁾ Based on the experience of the 1918 flu pandemic in the US, recent research finds that cities that intervened earlier and more aggressively did not perform worse and, if anything, grew faster after the pandemic was over. See Correia, S., Luck, S., Verner, E. (2020). 'Pandemics depress the economy, public health interventions do not: evidence from the 1918 flu.' SSRN, April.

⁽¹⁰⁷⁾ The Global Multi-Country (GM) DSGE model has been developed by DG ECFIN and the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission. A detailed description of the GM model can be found in: Albonico, A., L. Calès, R. Cardani, O. Croitorov, F. Di Dio, F. Ferroni, M. Giovannini, S. Hohberger, B. Pataracchia, F. Pericoli, P. Pfeiffer, R. Raciborski, M. Ratto, W. Roeger and L. Vogel (2019). 'The Global Multi-Country Model (GM): an Estimated DSGE Model for the Euro Area Countries'. ECFIN Discussion Paper No. 102. European Commission.

associated with the containment measures forces households to cut spending, while elevated uncertainty increases precautionary savings. The effect of higher savings is strong enough to account for almost half of the projected decline in euro area real GDP growth this year. The increase in savings, however, is seen as mostly temporary. If containment measures start to be lifted as assumed from the second quarter on, consumers are expected to gradually resume their spending patterns, and thus lead to a gradual but incomplete retreat of the negative shock from household savings.

By contrast, financial constraints and the impact of uncertainty on firms' investment plans are seen as having a more persistent dampening effect. This is reflected in the drag on domestic demand brought about by risk premium shocks, reflecting weak investment spending. In the short term, liquiditysqueezed firms are likely to strongly defer investment, even if policies aimed at relieving cash flow shortages are being implemented.

Despite large negative demand shocks, wages and prices are forecast to adjust only gradually, weighing on firms' balance sheets. Furthermore, the broad-based recession and associated supply chain disruptions and labour hoarding also have a damaging effect on productivity. These negative supply-side factors reduce production levels beyond the reduction induced by the demand contraction alone. While consumption demand is expected to pick up once containment measures are lifted, supply-side disruptions are expected to be more persistent, dampening output growth also in 2021. The more lasting effect on the productivity of investment can be traced to prolonged disruptions to value chains, which are more acute in sectors of the economy specialised in the production of capital goods.

As the global economy enters into a synchronised recession, the chances of the euro area exporting its way out of the crisis are impaired. This is reflected in the extremely negative performance of euro area exports this year. Exports of tourism, in particular, but also of manufactured products are set to suffer significantly. As the global economy and international trade are forecast to recover incompletely in 2021, this drag on the economy is unlikely to vanish even if exports pick up. Stronger support from low oil prices should find its way to help the recovery at home, however.

The policy response, beyond the working of automatic stabilisers embedded in the tax system and social transfers, is key in mitigating the depth of the recession and avoiding an even stronger hit to the economy's fabric. According to the forecast, temporary discretionary fiscal measures offset about a quarter of the impact of negative shocks to growth in 2020. Their effect largely fades in 2021, as they are unwound. Furthermore, government guarantees to company credit lines are likely to cushion investment from an even deeper fall, thereby reducing the downside contribution from risk premium shocks. Also, the same can be said about recent ECB monetary policy actions which are likely to prove effective in avoiding more severe demand shocks.

Taken together, after a sharp contraction in 2020, the euro area economy is forecast to settle at around 2% below its pre-pandemic level in 2021, on average. The sluggish recovery of investment explains a large part of this gap. Renewed consumer confidence, low oil prices, and continued policy support are of paramount importance in lifting the economy throughout the recovery period.



3.1.2. A QUEST-based scenario analysis

A scenario analysis was sketched...

The COVID-19 pandemic has led to a massive exogenous economic shock without recent historical precedent and as such is difficult to capture with standard economic models. As a result, one has to rely on a set of assumptions to tailor the simulations and benchmark the different shocks at play. This also allows for a transparent discussion. For this purpose, three scenarios are sketched to offer a more informed reading of this

Table I.3.1:

Assumptions for the simulated scenarios			
	Scenario I 'Baseline'	Scenario II 'Longer lasting'	Scenario III '2nd wave'
Duration of containment measures ¹	6 weeks	10 weeks	12 weeks
Sectoral demand shock ²	4%	9%	8%
Uncertainty ³	200 bps.	400 bps.	200 bps.
Tourism activity ⁴	-50%	-50%	-50%
Precautionary savings ⁵	moderate	severe	moderate for longer
Liquidity shortages ⁶	high	very high	high for longer
Extended distancing for vulnerable groups ⁷	yes	yes	yes
Automatic stabilizers	yes	yes	yes
Discretionary fiscal policy ⁸	2.8%	2.8%	2.8%
Liquidity support ⁹	26½%	261/2%	261/2%

(1) In scenario III, the 12 weeks of containment are not consecutive; (2) first-round reduction, measured as a per cent of GDP in 2020; (3) rise in risk premia, basis points (bps.), which in both scenario I and II peaks in Q2 and in scenario III in both Q2 and Q4; (4) reduction in tourism-related exports in Q3 and Q4; (5) in scenario I, 50% of households' increase precautionary savings, with this impact doubled in scenario II, and extended into Q4 in scenario III; (6) proxied by a fall in investment equivalent to 2/3 of the contraction in firms' gross operating surplus through higher risk premia; (7) accounting for a higher demand falls due to prolonged confinment in 2020-H2; (8) per cent of GDP, total discretionary fiscal policy support is assumed to be 31/% of GDP, increased public spending on health care is assumed to a positive demand shock in this simulation; (9) per cent of GDP, guarantees offset around half of the fallout from liquidity constraints.

impact assessment, as well as its sensitivity to changed assumptions. The first scenario, named 'baseline', served as an anchor to the Spring Economic Forecast. In it, a six-week strict lockdown period was taken as a benchmark. The remaining two scenarios give light to less benign assumptions, either on a more prolonged confinement period and stronger impact ('longer lasting'); or a resurgence of the pandemic in the second half of 2020 ('second wave') necessitating additional confinement measures later in the year. In the following analysis, these assumptions are presented in more detail, with a particular focus on the 'baseline' scenario. An overview can be found in Table I.3.1.

This scenario analysis is based on simulations using DG ECFIN's QUEST model. The model includes the four largest EU Member States (DE, ES, FR, IT), the rest of the euro area, China, and the rest of the world and is based on quarterly data. Both trade and financial linkages connect all countries and regions. ⁽¹⁰⁸⁾

... based on a number of assumptions...

As mentioned before, the distinction between supply and demand forces is difficult in practice, and even more so under the current circumstances. Still, the first assumption, presented in Table I.3.1, defines the supply shock. This relates to the impact of the lockdown on the *workforce* following absenteeism, closedowns of offices, factories and schools, as remote working cannot be generalised. In the 'baseline' scenario, it is assumed that 40% of the *workforce* is in some way unable to carry out most of its work activities for six weeks on average. In the absence of sufficient information on the sectoral breakdown of such work restrictions, this supply shock is evenly distributed across sectors. As mentioned before, in the remaining scenarios a more adverse duration is taken into account.

The second assumption defines the demand shock through changes in *consumption expenditures* on a sector-by-sector basis. For instance, the assumed first-round falls are largest for spending on arts, entertainment and recreation (about ³/₄ reduction in value added during 2020-Q2) and the smallest for electricity and gas expenditure (about -10%). On aggregate, the 'baseline' scenario factors in a fall of almost 4% in consumer spending as a share of GDP in the first quarter of the year, followed by a fall of close to 14% in the second (or 4%, on average during the year). These are amplified by second round effects, which lead to an even sharper contraction of consumer spending.

Taken together, this set of assumptions about the supply and demand shocks accounts for an adverse effect on activity of almost 10% in the first quarter. In the second quarter, the negative impact is 25%, equivalent to a loss of about half of all activity during the six weeks of lockdown assumed. ⁽¹⁰⁹⁾

⁽¹⁰⁸⁾ Pfeiffer, P., Roeger, W. and in 't Veld, J., (2020), 'The COVID19-pandemic in the EU: Macroeconomic transmission and economic policy response', ECFIN Discussion Paper (forthcoming).

Table 1.3.2: Growth deviation from non-pandemic baseli	ne in 2020		
pps.	Scenario I 'Baseline'	Scenario II 'Longer lasting'	Scenario III '2nd wave'
GDP	-8	-151/2	-101/2
Private consumption	-101/2	-18¾	-13
Investment	-201⁄2	-53	-28¾
Employment	-3	-7	-41/2
Impact of discretionary fiscal policy support ⁽¹⁾	43⁄4	61/4	5
(1) On top of automatic stabilisers. Includes discretionary fiscal m	neasures and liquidity suppor	t measures.	

Additionally, higher uncertainty is modelled through an assumption of increased risk aversion among investors and lenders. A stylised increase in investment risk premia is assumed. In size, this increase is close to what was recorded at the height of the Global Financial Crisis.

These three shocks are amplified by liquidity constraints, which are assumed to force firms to reduce investment by around half of the estimated fall in their gross operating surplus ('financial accelerator'). Finally, households are expected to see a rise in their precautionary savings, thus further reducing their spending.

Two extra assumptions are added to the simulations. First, transport, hospitality and entertainment as well as cultural activities endure a longer lasting hit as they are assumed to be affected by containment measures for longer, but also as lower confidence and income losses are expected to deter non-essential travel. It is therefore assumed that tourism activity is still reduced by 50% in the second half of 2020. Second, while containment measures are assumed to be lifted in the second half of the year, the elderly (those over 65 years of age) and vulnerable groups are assumed to remain subject to more stringent social distancing rules and thus see their demand shortfalls extended into the third and fourth quarters of 2020.

In all scenarios, the role of automatic stabilisers (e.g. falling tax revenues and rising unemployment benefits) is taken into account. On top of it, the analysis also offers insights into the role of discretionary fiscal policies and liquidity support, the latter helping to dampen the more adverse effects from firms' cash flow shortages.

All these assumptions are applied to all countries covered in the model, except for China, where the economic forecast published in chapter 2 is instead used. Given their historically low level, the euro area monetary authority is assumed to be more constrained in using its interest rate policy. In contrast, in the remaining regions, more policy space is assumed to be available and to offer greater stabilisation.

...shedding light on the hit to the economy...

An overview of the results from each scenario is presented in Table I.3.2.

The baseline scenario foretells a large drop in output in 2020 followed by a strong, but incomplete, recovery. While the economy's production potential is expected to remain largely unaffected, as policies are assumed to be effective in preventing damage to the capital stock and in limiting a substantial rise in persistent unemployment; a swift return to the pre-crisis output level is hampered by ongoing partial containment measures in the second half of 2020 and a continued shortfall in demand. While the model baseline scenario was used as an anchor for the spring forecast, the country-by-country forecasts presented in the country chapter and the statistical annex capture country specificities and offers more granularity.

Excluding policy measures beyond the normal workings of automatic stabilisers, GDP growth would be expected to take a hit in the baseline scenario of about -12 pps. in 2020, compared to a situation without the pandemic. The largest negative effect stems from demand shortfalls, which account for about half of the hit. Liquidity important constraints also play an role. contributing to about one quarter of the decline.

⁽¹⁰⁹⁾ For a related approach, see Jonung, L. and Roeger, W. (2006), 'The macroeconomic effects of a pandemic in Europe - A model-based assessment', European Commission, Economic Papers Nº 251.

...and pointing to the virtuous role of timely policy action.

To mitigate the depth of the economic recession and to sustain public welfare, governments have already announced or adopted comprehensive packages. economic which have been complemented by EU support and significant easing from monetary authorities. The fiscal measures announced by Member States consist of discretionary polices with a direct impact on the budget, as well as liquidity measures without direct budgetary impact. Examples include targeted tax relief policies, short-time work schemes and lending guarantees for banks. These measures should help cushion employment and income losses, prevent a complete reversal of investment plans as well as limit widespread bankruptcies.

According to the model results, the policy measures ⁽¹¹⁰⁾ announced and or adopted by the EU and its Member States up to the cut-off date of the forecast mitigate about one third of the fall in activity, but cannot prevent a severe recession this year. The positive impact on GDP growth is estimated at more than 4 ³/₄ pps., around half of it from the increase in both national and EU transfers, government consumption and investment; and the remainder from liquidity support measures.



^{(&}lt;sup>110)</sup> At the national level, liquidity support amounts to approximately 22% of GDP, and discretionary measures of about 2½ % of GDP (excluding increased expenditure on health care), mostly as spending increases (incl. transfers) and less as tax relief measures. EU budgetary support is estimated to amount to around 0.5% of GDP, while EU liquidity measures add around 4½% of GDP (without liquidity measures by the ECB). Public guarantees are assumed to offset about half of the amplification coming from liquidity constraints.

Another important insight concerns the impact of the crisis on the labour market. Importantly, in the absence of discretionary policy action, the baseline scenario previews a 6 pps. loss in employment growth (compared to a non-pandemic scenario). However, this loss is expected to be halved by the positive impulse from government measures.

Overall, including policy packages, the 'baseline' scenario is consistent with GDP growth decreasing by about -8 pps. in 2020 and recovering by around 6 pps. in 2021 compared to a non-pandemic scenario. Yet, despite the high growth rate reported in 2021, GDP level remains below its pre-crisis growth path by about $1 \frac{1}{2}$ %.



As expected, the two alternative scenarios are gloomier. Should more extended lockdowns be required and result in higher uncertainty and more severe and long-lasting liquidity shortages, the fall in economic activity in 2020, compared to a non-pandemic scenario would be estimated to range from between -15 1/2% and -10 ½%, under the 'longer lasting' and 'second wave' scenarios, respectively. In these scenarios, the already unprecedented severity of the recession is aggravated and the economy remains further below its pre-crisis level next year.

3.1.3. Alternative modelling approaches

The tightening of financial conditions and uncertainty more generally may be the most pervasive forces hindering the economy's restarting and post-crisis recovery.

Due to geopolitical concerns and moves towards more protectionist trade policy initiatives, the role of uncertainty in shaping household and company spending decisions has been discussed frequently in recent years. But by many measures ⁽¹¹¹⁾ the spike in uncertainty witnessed in recent months exceeds its highest level in the global financial crisis.

To highlight this particular channel and grasp the magnitude of the impact of uncertainty on economic activity, the COVID-19 induced rise in the volatility index VIX ⁽¹¹²⁾ since the start of the year is fed to a Bayesian Vector Autoregression (BVAR) model. ⁽¹¹³⁾ (¹¹⁴⁾ Financial data such as the VIX are available at a daily frequency and therefore reflect the speed at which recent events unfolded better than official output measures that are of much lower frequency and available only with a delay. The uncertainty and financial shock is augmented with the latest readings of economic sentiment and oil prices. ⁽¹¹⁵⁾

The results, ultimately derived from historical relations between the variables in the model, highlight how negative, protracted and persistent the impact of the selected shocks can be. Even without the direct hit to demand from the shutdown, the euro area economy would be expected to see a recession of a magnitude similar to that experienced in 2009. While the recession would be concentrated in the second and third quarters of 2020, a swift recovery would not be on the cards and the level of GDP would remain depressed still in 2021 (see Graph I.3.4). ⁽¹¹⁶⁾

The most salient feature of the measures introduced to contain the pandemic are the stringent restrictions to business operations and labour mobility. In a next step, the simulation is therefore further conditioned on the same reduction in working hours as assumed in the QUEST-based 'baseline' scenario. As a reference, this is equivalent to a fall in total hours worked of about 10% in the first half of 2020, assumed to revert subsequently in the third and fourth quarter of this year.



All in all, compared to a no-pandemic scenario, both the uncertainty shocks and the supply disruptions would suffice to push the euro area economy to its deepest recession on record. While the policy-driven confinement measures impacting the labour supply can be expected to shape the profile of economic activity this year, drags from uncertainty will persist well into 2021.

While these BVAR simulations highlight only selected transmission channels, their results are of a similar order of magnitude to the QUEST baseline for the uncertainty and supply channels.

In a second crosscheck of the baseline, the effect of social distancing and temporary business closures on economic activity is assessed from a different angle. The previous analysis is complemented with the assessment of the impact of demand shortfall due to confinement measures across sectors ⁽¹¹⁷⁾ and countries. These effects are best analysed in the input-output framework as the economic fabric is highly intertwined and shocks propagate between sectors and countries both upstream and downstream following value and supply chain linkages. For that purpose, the Trade-SCAN model ⁽¹¹⁸⁾ is used to illustrate the impact of

⁽¹¹¹⁾ Baker, S., Bloom, N., Davis, S., Terry, S. (2020). 'COVIDinduced economic uncertainty and its consequences'. VoxEU.org.

⁽¹¹²⁾ Implied volatility (over the next month) on the S&P500 index, available on a daily basis.

⁽¹¹³⁾ Simulations performed in the ECB's BEAR toolbox. See Dieppe, A. Legrand, R., and B. van Roye (2016). 'The BEAR toolbox'. ECB *Working Paper* 1934.

⁽¹¹⁴⁾ The model includes the VIX, CPB world trade in goods, euro area GDP, gross fixed capital formation, total hours worked, unemployment rate, economic sentiment, oil prices, the HICP and the 3-month EURIBOR.

⁽¹¹⁵⁾ All conditioned variables are set equal to the actual level in Q1 and to 10-day average of the most recent available data points in Q2.

⁽¹¹⁶⁾ The contribution of each variable is computed by conditioning the model sequentially by each of the variables displayed in the graph. As a result, this contribution is best interpreted as a 'surprise' compared to what would be the model's median estimation.

⁽¹¹⁷⁾ NACE breakdown of 45 sectors across 38 countries (Euro area, non-Euro area, Brazil, Canada, China, Switzerland, India, Japan, Russia, Turkey, United Kingdom and United States) and a Rest of the World region.

^{(&}lt;sup>118)</sup> Trade-SCAN is a multi-country input-output model toolbox developed by the European Commission's Joint Research Centre based on the OECD inter-country inputoutput (ICIO) tables, gathering input-output linkages for 64 countries and 36 sectors as recorded in 2015. For the

shocks to final demand on the European economy taking into account the spillovers across sectors and economies, both within and outside the euro area.

For this purpose the set of uniform and simultaneous shocks to sectoral demand analogous to those assumed in the QUEST model was applied to both the EU and rest of the world. The shocks, affecting both consumption and investment, amount to roughly 5% and yield significant GDP losses across all EU Member States, with an average contraction in the euro area of about $-5^{3/4}$ %. Output losses range from around -5% in Finland to -8% in Malta and Greece. Given that the demand shortfall was assumed to be particularly severe in tourism, and reflecting the fact that input-output spillovers are very significant in this sector, it is no surprise that countries with the highest exposure to this sector appear to be the most impacted (see Graph I.3.5). The Graph also confirms a high degree of propagation of demand shocks across sectors and countries, with the final effect on output significantly higher than the 'static' effect of a direct hit to sectoral final demand.

Taken together, and examined without any policy responses, the uncertainty and hours-worked shocks simulated with the BVAR model, together with the demand shortfall and its spillovers worked through input-output tables, signal the possibility of double-digit GDP contractions in the euro area in 2020.



Note: Static impact including both sectoral and cross-country spillovers. Initial demand shock of about 5%, on average, equivalent to that assumed in the QUEST simulation.

methodology, see: Arto, I., Dietzenbacher, E. and J.M. Rueda-Cantuche (2019). 'Measuring bilateral trade in value added terms'. EUR 29751 EN, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

3.1.4. Closing remarks

This chapter aims to shed light on the multifaceted uncertainty surrounding the outlook for the European economy. By putting forward and highlighting the variety of channels through which the pandemic is impacting private spending, and businesses operations, it strives to offer a benchmark and provide references against which incoming information will be checked. These scenarios have worked as goalposts in guiding this Spring Economic Forecast.

The variety of estimation strategies, the number of assumptions taken, and the large magnitude of the fallout are all testament of the uncertainty surrounding any point estimates at this point in time. Key assumptions included the dynamics of the pandemic (broadly under control, no further exponential growth); the related containment measures (strict lockdowns to be gradually lifted; only targeted containment measures in the second half of 2020); and the effectiveness of policy measures to protect the economic tissue (no widespread bankruptcies, no mass unemployment, no financial crisis).

Overall, the euro area economy is likely to experience a severe recession this year. Government measures and EU support are shown to be instrumental in cushioning the blow and paving the way for a strong rebound. Once the confinement is relaxed, activity should recover swiftly, but remaining restrictions (e.g. in tourism, recreational services), high uncertainty and a shortfall of demand due to increased precautionary savings are likely to restrain the strength on the recovery. The economy is not expected to return to its pre-crisis level in 2021.

Box 1.4.1: Some technical elements behind the forecast

Given that the future relations between the EU and the UK are not yet clear, projections for 2021 are based on a purely technical assumption of status quo in terms of their trading relations. This is for forecasting purposes only and reflects no anticipation or prediction with regard to the outcome of the negotiations between the EU and the UK on their future relationship.

The United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union as of 1 February 2020. The Agreement on the withdrawal of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland from the European Union and European Atomic Energy Community (OJ L 29, 31.1.2020, p. 7) entered into force on the same date. It provides for a transition period which will end on 31 December 2020. During the transition period, Union law, with a few exceptions, is applicable to and in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of Union law applicable to it during the transition period, the United Kingdom is treated as an EU Member State, but will not participate in EU decision-making and decision-shaping.

The cut-off date for taking new information into account in this European Economic Forecast was 23 April 2020. The forecast incorporates validated public finance data as published in Eurostat's news release 65/2020 of 22 April 2020.

External assumptions

This forecast is based on a set of external assumptions, reflecting market expectations at the time of the forecast. To shield the assumptions from possible volatility during any given trading day, averages from a 10-day reference period (between 7 and 20 April) were used for exchange and interest rates, and for oil prices.

Exchange and interest rates

The technical assumption regarding exchange rates was standardised using fixed nominal exchange rates for all currencies. This technical assumption leads to an implied average USD/EUR rate of 1.09 both in 2020 and in 2021. The average JPY/EUR is 118.35 in 2020 and 117.78 in 2021.

Interest-rate assumptions are market-based. Short-term interest rates for the euro area are derived from futures contracts. Long-term interest rates for the euro area, as well as short- and long-term interest rates for other Member States are calculated using implicit forward swap rates, corrected for the current spread between the interest rate and swap rate. In cases where no market instrument is available, the fixed spread vis-à-vis the euro area interest rate is taken for both short- and long-term rates. As a result, short-term interest rates are assumed to be -0.3% in 2020 and -0.4% in 2021 in the euro area. Long-term euro area interest rates are assumed to be -0.4% in 2020 and -0.3% in 2020 and -0.3% in 2021.

Commodity prices

Commodity price assumptions are also based on market conditions. According to futures markets, prices for Brent oil are projected to be on average 38.4 USD/bbl in 2020 and 40.2 USD/bbl in 2021. This would correspond to an oil price of 35.1 EUR/bbl in 2020 and 36.9 EUR/bbl in 2021.

Trade policies

As far as trade policy is concerned, this forecast pencils in only the measures that have been implemented until the cut-off date. Compared to the winter interim forecast, there were only limited changes to the baseline scenario.

- On 14/02/2020, the US decided to increase the levy on aircraft imports from the EU from 10% to 15% from 18 March onwards as a follow-up of an ongoing dispute at the WTO regarding a case against Airbus.
- On 27/03/2020, the EU and 15 other members of the World Trade Organization (including China, Canada, Brazil Australia and Mexico) decided on an arrangement that will allow them to bring appeals and solve trade disputes among them despite the current paralysis of the WTO Appellate Body.
- As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, export prohibitions or restrictions mostly related to medical supplies have increased significantly. According to WTO, eighty countries have introduced new trade barriers in response to the COVID-19 crisis.

(Continued on the next page)

Box (continued)							
Table 1:							
Technical assumptions							
		Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		f		forecast			
	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
3-month EURIBOR (percentage per annum)	-0.3	-0.4	-0.3	-0.4	-0.4	-0.5	-0.5
10-year government bond yields (percentage per annum) (a)	0.4	-0.3	-0.4	-0.3	-0.3	-0.4	-0.3
USD/EUR exchange rate	1.18	1.12	1.09	1.09	1.12	1.11	1.11
JPY/EUR exchange rate	130.38	122.05	118.35	117.78	121.81	119.52	119.52
GBP/EUR exchange rate	0.88	0.88	0.87	0.87	0.88	0.88	0.88
EUR nominal effective exchange rate (annual percentage change) (b)	2.4	-1.2	1.5	0.5	-1.0	-0.1	0.0
Oil price (USD per barrel)	71.5	64.1	38.4	40.2	63.3	57.4	56.1
Oil price (EUR per barrel)	60.6	57.2	35.1	36.9	56.5	51.9	50.8

(b) 42 industrial countries EU-28, TR CH NR US CA JP AU MX NZ KO CN HK RU BR.

Budgetary data and forecasts

Data up to 2019 are based on data notified by Member States to the European Commission before 1 April and validated by Eurostat on 22 April 2020.⁽¹⁾

Eurostat is **expressing a reservation** on the quality of the data reported by Denmark for the year 2019. This is due to the fact that the Danish Statistical Authorities provided significantly incomplete data for that year, which only allowed Eurostat to carry out very limited verification checks. In addition, a considerable statistical discrepancy for 2019 was observed.

The public finance forecast is made under the 'nopolicy-change' assumption, which extrapolates past revenue and expenditure trends and relationships in a way that is consistent with past policy orientations. This may also include the adoption of working assumptions, especially to deal with structural breaks caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. The forecast includes all fiscal policy measures that imply a change to these past policy orientations on the condition that they are sufficiently detailed as well as adopted or at least credibly announced. For 2020 in particular, the annual budgets adopted or presented to national parliaments, as well as Coronavirus relief measures announced before the cut-off date of the forecast, are taken into consideration.

EU and euro area aggregates for general government debt in the forecast years 2020 and 2021 are published on a non-consolidated basis (i.e. not corrected for intergovernmental loans, including those made through the European Financial Stability Facility). To ensure consistency in the time series, historical data are also published on the same basis. For 2019, this implies an aggregate debt-to-GDP ratio which is somewhat higher than the consolidated general government debt ratio published by Eurostat in its news release 65/2020 of 22 April (by 1.9 pps. in the EA19 and by 1.6 pps. in the EU).

Coronavirus relief measures

In response to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, many Member States have announced and taken unprecedented and sizeable measures to contain the spread of the virus and to lessen its socio-economic impact. Those measures include additional expenditure to equip healthcare systems with the necessary resources, but also broader economic support measures to ensure the continued supply of basic goods and services to the population, and to support households, firms and the financial sector.

In the forecast, the budgetary impact of such measures are estimated in line with the established "no-policy change" guidelines. In particular, a distinction is made between discretionary measures with a direct budgetary impact and broader liquidity support measures that do not imply an immediate budgetary impact. Concerning the former, those include, for example, increases in healthcare expenditure, lump-sum payments to companies, or the net incremental impact of new policy measures to set up or increase coverage of short-time work or temporary unemployment schemes. In addition, the macroeconomic and budgetary projections in the forecast reflect the effect of automatic stabilisers.

Liquidity provisions in the form of public guarantees or loans to companies are in general included as risks to the budgetary projection. Exante impacts are only included in specific cases, notably in case of standardised instruments, where in accordance with the past practices applied by the national statistical authorities, a certain share of such loans or guarantees can be assumed to have an

⁽¹⁾ Eurostat News Release No 65/2020.

Box (continued)

impact on the government balance ex-ante. This recording is without prejudice to the statistical treatment of these measures by the national statistical authorities and Eurostat. In many cases, the duration of the budgetary measures taken in response to the coronavirus is difficult to assess, as it depends on the duration of decreed lockdowns and the evolution of the pandemic. In light of the activation of the general escape clause, the measures taken in response to the coronavirus outbreak in 2020 are not treated as one-off and are thus not excluded from the estimation of the structural budget balance.

ESA 2010

The current forecast is based on the ESA 2010 system of national accounts for all Member States, the EU and the euro area aggregates. Information on data quality under ESA 2010, including effects of the Covid-19 pandemic, are available on Eurostat's website.⁽²⁾

(2) https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/esa-2010/esa-2010implementation-and-data-quality

Calendar effects on GDP growth and output gaps

The number of working days may differ from one year to another. The Commission's annual GDP forecasts are not adjusted for the number of working days, but quarterly forecasts are.

The working-day effect in the EU and the euro area is estimated to be limited in 2020 and 2021, implying that adjusted and unadjusted annual growth rates differ only marginally (by up to ± 0.1 pps.).

Estimations of potential GDP and output gaps are not adjusted for working days. Furthermore, since the working-day effect is considered temporary, it is not expected to affect cyclically-adjusted balances.

PART II

Prospects by individual economy

Euro Area Member States

1. BELGIUM

Economic growth in Belgium is set to be severely hit by the COVID-19 outbreak in 2020, but should see a rebound in 2021. Domestic demand is projected to plummet due to restrictions to consumption linked to lockdown measures, supply chain disruptions and an historic drop in confidence. International trade is expected to detract from growth in both 2020 and 2021. Inflation is forecast to decrease markedly in 2020 and rise slightly thereafter. The general government deficit is projected to deteriorate significantly, leading to a rise in public debt.

A broad-based economic plunge in 2020

Economic growth is forecast to fall from 1.4% in 2019 to -7% in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. This is expected to be driven by a large drop in household consumption, which has been hindered by restrictive measures put in place to combat the pandemic and low confidence. A more significant slump in investment due to supply chain disruptions and falling aggregate demand is also expected. Measures to protect employment, household disposable incomes and corporate liquidity should support domestic demand recovery from mid-2020 onwards, underpinning a rebound in GDP growth in 2021.



Real GDP growth is forecast to fall to -7% in 2020 and to rebound to 6³/₄% in 2021. The impact of the lockdown measures is expected to lead to negative quarterly GDP growth in the first and second quarters of 2020, followed by a rebound in the third quarter once restrictive measures are gradually lifted. Economic activity is projected to recover progressively throughout the rest of the forecast horizon, although GDP level in 2021 is forecast to remain below that of 2019.

Private consumption and investment to plummet in 2020, amid rising unemployment

The lockdown measures in place since mid-March are expected to decrease private consumption significantly, which is projected to fall by almost 7% in 2020. This is set to most severely affect services sectors (hotels, restaurants, leisure) and durable goods consumption. Automatic stabilisers and measures taken to protect employment and purchasing power are expected to help offset part of the fall in private consumption as households are temporarily raising precautionary savings. Despite widespread recourse to the short-term unemployment scheme to avoid job losses during the lockdown period, the unemployment rate is set to rise from 5.4% in 2019 to $6\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2021.

Falling demand, strong supply chain disruptions and high uncertainty are expected to lead to a decrease of over 15% in investment in 2020. After an expected slump during the lockdown period, housing investment is set to rebound, supported by fundamentals. Business investment is projected to fall in line with the reduction in gross operating surplus, and is expected to recover more slowly, as supply chains are restored gradually and uncertainty subsides. Public investment is projected to fall in 2020 and to recover in 2021. Investment growth is forecast to grow by almost 16% in 2021.

Exports are projected to plunge in 2020 due to a fall in external demand, and to rebound in 2021 amid the expected global recovery. Reflecting Belgium's position as a trade hub, imports are projected to evolve in line with exports, resulting in a contraction in 2020 and a rebound in 2021. The contribution of net exports to GDP growth is forecast to remain negative in 2020 and 2021.

Inflation to decline

Headline inflation is forecast to fall from 1.2% in 2019 to 0.2% in 2020, mainly driven by lower

energy prices. Headline inflation is expected to rise slightly to 1.3% in 2021, reflecting rising food and services prices. This should support core inflation, which is projected to increase in 2021.

Deficit and debt to increase sharply in 2020

The general government deficit increased to 1.9% of GDP in 2019, 0.2 pps. higher than projected in the 2019 autumn forecast. In 2020, the COVID-19 crisis is expected to push the general government deficit to about 9% of GDP.

In 2020, the sharp decline in economic activity is expected to weigh heavily on tax collection and social transfers. In particular, a sizeable increase in the number of temporary unemployed and selfemployed benefitting from replacement income is set to lead to a strong rise in social benefits. On top of automatic stabilisers, the government adopted expenditure measures totalling about 11/4% of GDP, both to alleviate the economic impact of the crisis and to fight the spread of the pandemic. They include a top-up of the federal temporary unemployment allowance, regional transfers to companies and self-employed workers forced to halt their activities and regional subsidies to the most affected sectors. Moreover, a federal provision for health spending is set to boost

intermediate consumption. Tax and social contribution deferrals, aimed at providing liquidity support to companies, are not assumed to have a budgetary impact in 2020. Similarly, public guarantees totalling around EUR 52 billion are expected to entail no immediate budgetary impact.

Other factors impacting the deficit in 2020 are a cut in corporate tax rates, amid a broader reform of corporate taxation launched in 2018, and a reduction in employers' social contributions as a part of the tax shift reform.

Consequently, the expenditure-to-GDP ratio is projected to increase by 7½ pps. to 59¼%, while the revenue-to-GDP ratio is set to remain roughly stable. Interest payments are projected to continue declining.

Given the temporary nature of the measures taken in 2020 and the expected economic recovery in 2021, the general government deficit is expected to shrink to $4\frac{1}{4}\%$ of GDP in 2021 on a no-policy change basis. Public debt is forecast to rise from $98\frac{3}{4}\%$ of GDP in 2019 to $113\frac{3}{4}\%$ of GDP in 2020, falling back slightly to 110% of GDP in 2021.

Table II.1.1:

Main features of country forecast - BELGIUM

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		459.8	100.0	1.7	1.5	2.0	1.5	1.4	-7.2	6.7
Private Consumption		237.2	51.6	1.4	1.9	1.8	1.5	1.1	-6.9	6.5
Public Consumption		106.1	23.1	1.5	0.4	0.3	0.9	1.6	2.8	0.3
Gross fixed capital formation		109.6	23.8	2.1	3.8	1.3	4.0	3.1	-15.3	15.9
of which: equipment		37.1	8.1	1.2	14.3	-3.1	5.1	3.4	-19.6	19.0
Exports (goods and services)		379.7	82.6	3.3	6.5	5.3	1.2	1.0	-10.6	7.7
Imports (goods and services)		380.4	82.7	3.3	7.5	4.4	2.1	1.2	-10.2	8.1
GNI (GDP deflator)		462.8	100.6	1.7	1.0	2.1	1.0	1.5	-6.7	6.6
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.5	1.9	1.3	1.9	1.7	-6.6	6.9
		Inventories		0.1	0.2	-0.1	0.3	-0.2	-0.3	0.1
		Net exports		0.1	-0.7	0.7	-0.7	-0.1	-0.3	-0.3
Employment				0.9	1.3	1.6	1.4	1.5	-1.0	1.2
Unemployment rate (a)				7.8	7.8	7.1	6.0	5.4	7.0	6.6
Compensation of employees / he	ead			2.4	0.6	1.8	1.9	1.7	-1.4	1.2
Unit labour costs whole economy				1.5	0.3	1.5	1.8	1.9	5.1	-4.0
Real unit labour cost				-0.2	-1.4	-0.2	0.3	0.3	3.6	-5.5
Saving rate of households (b)				16.1	12.2	12.0	11.8	12.9	20.6	12.9
GDP deflator				1.7	1.7	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.4	1.6
Harmonised index of consumer p	rices			2.0	1.8	2.2	2.3	1.2	0.2	1.3
Terms of trade goods				-0.4	0.3	-1.0	-1.3	0.5	0.8	0.2
Trade balance (goods) (c)				1.2	0.4	0.7	-0.2	-0.3	0.0	-0.1
Current-account balance (c)				3.1	0.6	1.2	-1.0	-0.7	-0.1	-0.3
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	s-a-vis ROW («	c)		3.1	0.7	1.3	-1.0	-0.6	-0.1	-0.2
General government balance (c)			-2.0	-2.4	-0.7	-0.8	-1.9	-8.9	-4.2
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-2.2	-2.6	-1.3	-1.4	-2.4	-4.5	-2.9
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-2.6	-1.8	-2.0	-2.6	-4.7	-2.9
General government gross debt	(c)			101.0	104.9	101.7	99.8	98.6	113.8	110.0
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

2. GERMANY

In early 2020, German manufacturing had shown signs of recovery, but the COVID-19 pandemic and the confinement measures in March ended this. The economy is now set for the deepest recession since WWII. Activity is expected to recover in the second half of the year and thereafter, but to remain below normal for some time due to lingering limitations on social life and travel and impaired foreign trade. The swift and sizeable fiscal measures are expected to help avert a deeper recession. They will come with a significant fiscal cost and the budget balance is set to switch to an unprecedentedly large deficit.

A turn for the better ended too soon

In January and February industrial production, exports and factory orders were recovering, retail sales were rising, and construction was at an historical high. Businesses and consumers were regaining confidence and employment was further increasing. Growth seemed to be reviving after a year of near-stagnation. In March, however, the factory shutdowns in China started to affect manufacturing in Germany. Sanitary measures to contain the COVID-19 outbreak imposed severe limitations on mobility, social and leisure activities and most of retail trade. These developments squeezed domestic demand and the services sector, which were largely keeping the economy afloat in past contractions, and are likely to have caused GDP to decline already in the first quarter of the year.

Heading towards a recession

The first weeks of the second quarter have been marked by complete outages in various service activities due to the containment measures. Manufacturing is not subject to restrictions, but major factories have been shut due to the disappearance of demand and the disruption of supply chains as a result of the global spread of COVID-19. Demand for leisure-related services is constrained both by sanitary measures as well as by consumer uncertainty. Thus, Q2 will likely see an unprecedented decline in activity that will drag the economy in 2020 into its deepest recession in the history of the Federal Republic.

In the coming months, many activities, in particular services, will need to adapt to limitations on the use of their capacity. Manufacturing may continue to struggle as a result of impaired supply chains and weak global trade as markets and suppliers around the world continue to suffer from the impact of COVID-19 and related restrictions. This will inevitably affect business investment adversely. Germany was among the first set of EU Member States to announce a gradual relaxation of confinement measures. Assuming that the measures to mitigate the public health risks and contain the economic fall-out are effective, activity is expected to recover thereafter and to reach its pre-crisis level in late 2021. Overall, GDP is expected to decline by around $6\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020 and grow by around 6% in 2021.



Determined support by policy

Despite its strength at the start of the year, the labour market seems unlikely to escape the economic fallout of the COVID-19 pandemic. To cushion the impact, the government has enhanced access to subsidised short-time work programmes. Combined with running down overtime balances, this scheme, which proved successful in the financial crisis, is expected to again help companies to keep their employees on the payroll so that skilled labour remains available once activity recovers. This measure is aimed at containing job cuts and protecting household incomes, but cannot totally fend off an increase in unemployment. Moreover, in light of uncertainty concerning the crisis and constraints on consumption, the household saving rate is likely to increase.

The very large volume of measures to support businesses consist of tax deferrals, liquidity support for SME's and credit guarantees, which are expected to enable companies to stay liquid and avoid excessive cutbacks to investment.

External surplus to fall markedly

Exports are expected to suffer a large decline before foreign markets recover. The decline in imports is expected to remain more contained as the import-rich components of private consumption are not as adversely affected. Thus, the current account surplus, which declined to 7.1 % of GDP in 2019, is expected to come down further to around 6% in 2020, a level last seen 7 years ago, before rebounding in 2021.

Inflation to slow

Consumer prices are expected to be affected by dichotomous trends, as services and energy prices slow down or fall while food and non-energy consumer goods prices increase due to possible supply bottlenecks. Nevertheless, inflation is expected to be subdued in 2020 (0.3%) and 2021 (1.4%).

A temporary large budget deficit

The government reacted swiftly to the COVID-19 outbreak with measures of historic size to stabilise the economy. These provide liquidity support to companies and transfers to avoid lay-offs and bankruptcies. At the end of March 2020, ample guarantees and an extra budget of EUR 156 bn (4.8% of GDP), almost half the size of the federal budget, were adopted to finance the measures. Together with the expected decrease in tax revenues due to the drop in activity, the general government deficit is projected to jump to around 7% of GDP after a surplus of 1.4% in 2019. Based on unchanged policies and assuming that the measures prove effective in supporting a quick recovery, the budget is projected to be closer to balance again in 2021.

Government debt fell below 60% in 2019 for the first time since 2002 but is expected to rise to around 76% in 2020 due to the measures adopted to support the economy. In 2021, the government debt is projected to return to its downward trend to reach around 72% of GDP.

Table II.2.1:

Main features of country forecast - GERMANY

		2018				Annua	l percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		3344.4	100.0	1.3	2.2	2.5	1.5	0.6	-6.5	5.9
Private Consumption		1743.7	52.1	0.7	2.3	1.3	1.3	1.6	-8.3	6.0
Public Consumption		665.6	19.9	1.5	4.1	2.4	1.4	2.6	2.8	2.1
Gross fixed capital formation		707.7	21.2	0.6	3.8	2.4	3.5	2.6	-5.8	5.9
of which: equipment		235.3	7.0	1.8	3.0	4.0	4.4	0.6	-17.0	12.7
Exports (goods and services)		1585.8	47.4	5.4	2.4	4.9	2.1	0.9	-12.1	10.3
Imports (goods and services)		1379.7	41.3	4.3	4.3	5.2	3.6	1.9	-9.2	8.6
GNI (GDP deflator)		3437.9	102.8	1.4	2.4	2.6	1.8	0.7	-7.1	6.4
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	0.8	2.8	1.7	1.7	1.9	-5.0	4.8
		Inventories		-0.1	0.1	0.5	0.3	-0.9	0.5	-0.1
		Net exports		0.6	-0.6	0.2	-0.4	-0.4	-1.9	1.2
Employment				0.6	1.2	1.4	1.4	0.9	-0.9	0.6
Unemployment rate (a)				7.8	4.1	3.8	3.4	3.2	4.0	3.5
Compensation of employees / h	ead			1.7	2.3	2.6	2.9	3.2	-0.6	3.2
Unit labour costs whole economy	/			1.1	1.3	1.5	2.7	3.5	5.3	-1.9
Real unit labour cost				-0.1	0.1	0.4	1.2	1.3	3.1	-3.5
Saving rate of households (b)				16.9	17.6	17.9	18.5	18.7	24.8	20.7
GDP deflator				1.2	1.2	1.0	1.5	2.2	2.1	1.6
Harmonised index of consumer p	orices			1.6	0.4	1.7	1.9	1.4	0.3	1.4
Terms of trade goods				0.1	2.3	-1.6	-1.1	1.2	3.2	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				6.5	8.1	7.8	6.8	6.7	5.5	6.3
Current-account balance (c)				4.8	8.6	8.3	7.6	7.6	6.1	7.4
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) v	is-a-vis ROW (c)		4.7	8.6	8.0	7.5	7.4	5.9	7.2
General government balance (c	:)			-1.7	1.2	1.2	1.9	1.4	-7.0	-1.5
Cyclically-adjusted budget bala	nce (d)			-1.6	1.0	0.5	1.0	0.9	-3.8	-0.5
Structural budget balance (d)				-	0.9	0.7	1.2	0.9	-3.8	-0.5
General government gross debt	(c)			69.5	69.2	65.3	61.9	59.8	75.6	71.8
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	savina divided	by adjusted aross d	isposable inc	ome. (c) as	a % of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

3. ESTONIA

Estonia entered the crisis from an economic peak, with a balanced economy and a solid financial sector. The deep recession this year sparked by the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to affect all sectors and lead to a sharp rise in unemployment. A large fiscal stimulus package will result in a large budget deficit but public debt should remain the lowest in the EU. The economy is set to rebound strongly in 2021 but activity levels are forecast to remain below 2019 levels.

Growth momentum taken over by the crisis

After a strong 2019 in which GDP grew by 4.3%, Estonia's economy is forecast to contract by about 7% in 2020. COVID-19 has hit Estonia less severely than many other countries so fewer restrictions affecting the economy were introduced and industrial production and construction activity have been able to continue. Moreover, Estonia entered the crisis from a position of strength with record high employment, a current account in surplus, a solid financial sector and very low public debt. This has enabled the country to adopt quite a large fiscal stimulus package. Estonia also benefits from its well-developed IT sector and comprehensive e-government solutions, which have allowed public sector activities to continue relatively undisrupted while still respecting social distancing measures.

Short-term indicators suggest that economic momentum was still good in the first two months of 2020 before the crisis hit private consumption and economic confidence. Household purchasing power is being supported by the fiscal policy programmes in place, which should allow private consumption to recover once the crisis subsides. The decline in investment is set to be driven by a fall corporate machinery investment. in Construction is assumed to be affected with a lag, and should find some support from the increase in public investment. Exports and imports are projected to decline by over a tenth in 2020, with a large negative effect from the loss of tourism due to the strict closure of borders, initially even with closest neighbours.

As a small, open economy, Estonia's eventual recovery will be closely tied to the speed of recovery in the EU as a whole. The current forecast assumes a gradual normalisation in confidence along with the main export markets from the second half of 2020. Growth is expected to reach about 6% in 2021 once activity resumes in all sectors.



Price dynamics reflect energy prices

Headline inflation is forecast to fall from 2.3% in 2019 to well below 1% in 2020, rebounding to about 2% in 2021. Energy and service prices are expected to drop substantially, reflecting the trend in commodity prices, the cut in excise taxes and reduced demand. However, there is a risk that some prices could increase due to global transport and supply chain disruptions.

Swift labour market reaction

Compared to the financial crisis in 2008, a more tempered labour market adjustment pattern is expected in 2020, softened by policy measures, notably the introduction of a temporary wage subsidy. Unlike in 2008, public sector employment and wages are assumed to remain steady in 2020 as the current budget remains in force and budgetary constraints would kick in only in 2021. The short-term increase in unemployment will nevertheless be significant. Overall. the unemployment rate is projected to exceed 9% in 2020 (from 4.4% in 2019) before decreasing to 61/2% in 2021, in line with the assumed rapid economic rebound and given the assumed agility of the labour market.

A large fiscal stimulus driving record deficit

Taking advantage of its very low public debt, the government adopted a relatively large stimulus package of over 4% of GDP. In addition, 31/2% of GDP is made available for liquidity schemes. The stimulus measures appear primarily designed to support the existing economic structures, facilitating a faster economic recovery once the crisis abates. Apart from raising healthcare-related spending, the main measures include a temporary support to private sector liquidity (tax deferrals and guarantee provisions for investment), measures to sustain employment in all sectors of the economy and compensating local governments for revenue losses. Some specific investment programmes (housing insulation and road construction) support construction activity. Less conventional measures include lowering temporarily (for two years) excises for electricity, gas and diesel, for the time being helping the

competitiveness of energy intensive industries and trucking. The support programme also foresees a temporary (for one year) halt of payments to second pillar pension funds. This will bring some savings to the budget in the short term, but in the longer term it will be compensated from the state budget for the pension savers. In addition to the planned stimulus, the economic shock would cut all revenue categories, bringing the general government deficit from 0.3% of GDP in 2019 to over 8% in 2020. Based on a no-policy-change assumption, the deficit is projected to decline to about $3\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2021, when the economy is expected to recover and most of the budgetary measures expire.

Public debt is forecast to jump from 8.4% of GDP in 2019 to over 22% of GDP by 2021, which would still be the lowest in the EU.

Table II.3.1:

Main features of country forecast - ESTONIA

		2018				Annua	l percen	Amplementation Amplementation Other Q019 Q020 4.8 4.3 -6.9 4.8 3.1 -7.2 0.9 2.9 4.3 1.7 13.2 -8.7 9.3 12.9 -15.1 4.3 4.9 -12.5 5.7 3.7 -10.8 5.3 4.2 -6.8 2.7 5.2 -4.9 0.9 -0.2 -0.4 0.8 1.0 -1.6 0.8 1.0 -1.5 5.4 4.4 9.2 10.2 7.8 2.0 6.5 4.6 3.4 11.2 12.2 18.2 11.2 12.2 18.2 11.2 12.2 18.2 11.2 12.2 18.2 3.4 2.3 0.7 3.4 3.8 3.8 -0.4 -0.3 -8.3 -0.5			
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	
GDP		26.0	100.0	3.8	2.6	5.7	4.8	4.3	-6.9	5.9	
Private Consumption		12.9	49.7	4.4	4.6	2.8	4.3	3.1	-7.2	7.1	
Public Consumption		5.1	19.6	2.2	2.4	1.1	0.9	2.9	4.3	-2.4	
Gross fixed capital formation		6.2	23.9	5.6	0.9	12.5	1.7	13.2	-8.7	6.3	
of which: equipment		2.3	8.8	5.3	0.4	17.9	9.3	12.9	-15.1	20.0	
Exports (goods and services)		19.3	74.3	6.2	5.1	3.8	4.3	4.9	-12.5	8.5	
Imports (goods and services)		18.4	70.7	6.9	6.0	4.2	5.7	3.7	-10.8	7.2	
GNI (GDP deflator)		25.5	98.1	3.8	2.6	5.6	5.3	4.2	-6.8	6.0	
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	4.7	3.0	4.6	2.7	5.2	-4.9	4.4	
		Inventories		0.2	1.8	-0.2	0.9	-0.2	-0.4	0.4	
		Net exports		-0.8	-0.5	-0.1	-0.8	1.0	-1.6	1.1	
Employment				0.4	0.3	2.7	1.2	1.3	-5.7	3.7	
Unemployment rate (a)				9.9	6.8	5.8	5.4	4.4	9.2	6.5	
Compensation of employees / hee	ad			8.6	5.7	7.0	10.2	7.8	2.0	2.7	
Unit labour costs whole economy				5.1	3.3	3.9	6.5	4.6	3.4	0.6	
Real unit labour cost				0.3	1.6	0.2	1.9	1.3	1.7	-1.3	
Saving rate of households (b)				5.0	9.8	10.0	11.2	12.2	18.2	14.8	
GDP deflator				4.8	1.7	3.6	4.5	3.2	1.7	2.0	
Harmonised index of consumer pri	ces			3.7	0.8	3.7	3.4	2.3	0.7	1.7	
Terms of trade goods				0.8	1.0	0.9	0.1	-0.6	0.4	0.3	
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-11.0	-3.5	-3.5	-3.8	-3.2	-2.8	-2.5	
Current-account balance (c)				-5.6	1.6	2.7	2.0	2.3	1.1	2.2	
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-	a-vis ROW (c)		-3.8	2.6	3.6	3.4	3.8	3.8	4.9	
General government balance (c)				0.5	-0.5	-0.8	-0.6	-0.3	-8.3	-3.4	
Cyclically-adjusted budget baland	ce (d)			-0.3	-0.7	-2.0	-2.4	-2.4	-5.8	-1.9	
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-0.6	-2.0	-2.4	-2.4	-5.8	-1.9	
General government gross debt (c	2)			6.5	10.2	9.3	8.4	8.4	20.7	22.6	
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross s	aving divided	by adjusted gross a	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.			

Note : Contributions to GDP growth may not add up due to statistical discrepancies.

4. IRELAND

After years of strong growth, Ireland's economy is expected to contract in the second quarter of 2020, with a severely weakened external environment and lockdown measures hitting investment, private consumption, and external trade. Public spending is projected to expand sharply in order to mitigate these effects, contributing to a significant general government deficit. Negative risks to the macroeconomic and fiscal outlook remain exceptionally elevated.

Strong activity before the pandemic

Ireland's real GDP grew by 5.5% in 2019, partly driven by the activities of multinationals. Domestic economic activity, as reflected by the modified domestic demand indicator, grew by 3%. Ireland entered 2020 on a strong footing, with both domestic demand and net exports performing well.



The onset of the pandemic changed the situation dramatically. Initially, it disrupted global value chains and affected large information and telecommunication companies registered in Ireland. As the disease spread across Europe, containment measures enacted by the Irish authorities disrupted private consumption, as people were unable to access certain services and goods, while a number of households postponed purchases of durable goods amid uncertainty regarding income. Private consumption is expected to shrink by about 9% in 2020 and to partly recover by 41/2% in 2021. Ireland has banned construction works since late March, while investment in equipment and other areas is likely to be postponed or even lost. As a result, gross fixed capital formation is forecast to drop by around 40% in 2020 from its very elevated level in 2019. The negative outlook is corroborated by confidence and other activity indicators, such as credit card use, which suggest a large contraction in economic activity since the lockdown.

In contrast, the contribution of net exports to economic growth in 2020 is expected to be positive, as a result of substantial import compression and some export resilience due to the large share of pharmaceuticals and medical products in Irish exports. In addition, exports of information and communication goods and services may also prove resilient. Overall, Ireland's economy is projected to contract by around 8% in 2020 and to expand by around 6% in 2021. The large uncertainty surrounding this outlook is compounded by factors specific to Ireland, such as changes in the international taxation environment. Moreover, Ireland is particularly affected by the future relationship between the EU and the UK. Operations of multinationals remain difficult to predict and can affect GDP figures in either direction.

Inflation expected to weaken...

Contagion mitigation measures may have changed consumption patterns, with purchases reportedly concentrating in food and necessities, where prices are likely to increase, and away from durables and non-essential services. The sharp fall in oil prices, which translates into lower energy prices and is gradually spilling into other categories, has reinforced the overall disinflationary pressures stemming from the fall in global demand. As a result, Ireland is expected to experience a period of negative inflation, with an average of -0.3% for the whole of 2020, followed by moderate inflation of 0.9% in 2021.

...and the labour market to weather the storm

The labour market performed strongly in 2019. In early 2020, the unemployment rate had stabilised at 4.8%. Since the end of March, the lockdown has prevented at least one fifth of the workforce from working, notably affecting the retail, accommodation, and recreation sectors. However, the increase in registered unemployment is expected to be relatively muted as many companies avail themselves of the government's income support schemes. In 2020, the unemployment rate is expected to rise to $7\frac{1}{2}$ %, amid losses in consumption and exports. The rebound of the economy in 2021 is forecast to bring employment gradually back to pre-crisis levels by the last quarter of 2021, resulting in an average unemployment rate of 7.0% in that year.

Public finances to move into deficit and remain clouded by uncertainty

The general government balance reached a surplus of 0.4% of GDP in 2019, on the back of a booming economy, which brought about strong increases in tax revenues and social security contributions and a continued fall in the interest burden.

The economic slump is forecast to have a strong negative impact on the general government balance in 2020, due to the operations of automatic stabilisers and discretionary fiscal measures taken by the government. Revenues are expected to move in tandem with the decline in GDP. This reflects lower tax receipts, associated with weaker consumption and declining imports, lower income taxes, both personal and corporate, as well as lower social contributions, due to weaker personal income and company profits. The government response to the pandemic - wage subsidies to protect jobs, welfare payments and healthcare support - will raise current expenditure, with an overall direct budgetary cost of around 2% of GDP. Revenue and expenditure pressures are projected to lead to a general government deficit of 51/2% of GDP in 2020. The government deficit is projected to shrink to around 3% of GDP in 2021 under the assumptions of no policy change and the temporary nature, limited to 2020, of the measures adopted to fight the pandemic.

Against this background, the gross government debt-to-GDP ratio is projected to reach $66\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020 and $66\frac{3}{4}\%$ in 2021. Risks to the fiscal outlook are elevated and reflect various sources of uncertainty such as: the outlook for growth and jobs, the final cost of the fiscal expansion to counter the crisis and the changes in the international taxation environment.

Table II.4.1:

Main features of country forecast - IRELAND

		2018				Annua	l percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		324.0	100.0	4.4	3.7	8.1	8.2	5.5	-7.9	6.1
Private Consumption		100.5	31.0	2.7	5.4	3.1	3.4	2.8	-8.8	4.6
Public Consumption		38.6	11.9	2.5	3.4	3.5	4.4	5.1	7.7	-3.0
Gross fixed capital formation		75.8	23.4	5.0	50.6	-6.7	-21.1	94.2	-41.6	16.9
of which: equipment		24.5	7.6	5.0	25.1	-11.2	39.4	-12.3	-35.0	5.8
Exports (goods and services)		396.4	122.3	7.9	4.1	9.2	10.4	11.1	-15.2	6.7
Imports (goods and services)		289.0	89.2	6.9	18.4	1.1	-2.9	35.6	-27.7	8.4
GNI (GDP deflator)		254.3	78.5	3.6	10.0	5.3	6.9	3.7	-9.8	7.8
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	2.9	14.4	-0.9	-5.0	23.4	-19.8	5.5
		Inventories		0.2	0.3	0.4	-1.6	0.2	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		2.1	-12.1	10.0	15.4	-18.2	11.9	0.6
Employment				1.3	3.7	3.0	3.2	2.9	-2.5	1.3
Unemployment rate (a)				8.6	8.4	6.7	5.8	5.0	7.4	7.0
Compensation of employees / he	ead			3.2	2.2	2.5	2.1	4.0	-2.3	1.7
Unit labour costs whole economy	/			0.1	2.2	-2.3	-2.6	1.4	3.5	-3.0
Real unit labour cost				-1.9	2.5	-3.4	-3.4	-0.1	2.2	-4.1
Saving rate of households (b)				8.5	8.0	10.5	10.2	10.9	19.6	13.3
GDP deflator				2.2	-0.3	1.1	0.8	1.5	1.3	1.2
Harmonised index of consumer p	orices			2.0	-0.2	0.3	0.7	0.9	-0.3	0.9
Terms of trade goods				0.0	2.7	-4.2	-6.1	1.7	2.9	-0.1
Trade balance (goods) (c)				22.8	39.0	36.7	34.9	35.4	35.9	36.0
Current-account balance (c)				-1.5	-4.2	0.5	10.6	-9.4	4.6	4.4
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	is-a-vis ROW (c)		-1.6	-5.8	-8.2	-5.8	-19.3	-6.1	-5.6
General government balance (c	:)			-4.6	-0.7	-0.3	0.1	0.4	-5.6	-2.9
Cyclically-adjusted budget bala	nce (d)			-4.9	-2.0	-1.7	-1.0	-0.7	-1.5	-0.5
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-2.2	-1.7	-0.9	-0.7	-1.5	-0.5
General government gross debt	(c)			59.6	73.8	67.7	63.5	58.8	66.4	66.7
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

5. GREECE

Greece's economy is expected to be hit severely by the COVID-19 pandemic and the counter measures taken to limit its spread in 2020. The impact of the crisis is expected to be large due to the importance of the hospitality sector in Greece and the high share of micro enterprises, which are particularly vulnerable. Despite the swift policy response, the strong contraction in output is forecast to take a toll on employment. Nevertheless, the crisis is expected to be followed by a rebound in 2021. The recession and the cost of fiscal measures to tackle the crisis will lead to a sizeable deficit in 2020.

The economy was growing before the pandemic ...

Greece's economy entered 2020 on a relatively strong footing. GDP growth in 2019 reached 1.9%, only slightly below expectations. Growth was mainly driven by domestic demand and to a lesser extent net exports. The labour market was improving and employment grew by 2%, leading to a further decrease in the unemployment rate to 17.3% for the year overall.

...but came to a sudden stop with the spread of the virus

While the main effects of the lockdown are expected to be concentrated in the second quarter of this year, Greece's large tourism sector is likely to be affected in the third quarter as well, as restrictions on travel are expected to remain in place and foreign demand for overseas travel may remain subdued. Since more than 70% of tourism receipts are concentrated in the main summer months, impediments during this period would have a large impact on overall exports of services in 2020.

Amid limited consumption opportunities during the lockdown and falling disposable income, private consumption is forecast to experience a strong decline in 2020. The fiscal measures enacted during the lockdown period to protect the economy are expected to cushion consumer spending to some extent and pave the way for a faster recovery, in 2021. Investment is expected to be strongly affected by the increased uncertainty and lower turnover in 2020 but the liquidity support provided by the Greek government and the EU institutions should help companies to bridge the lock down period and speed up the recovery.

Due to the global nature of the crisis, exports are expected to suffer strong declines in 2020. Greece's main export markets are expected to be amongst the worst affected countries, leading to a drop in demand for Greek goods and services, also amplified by the large share of tourism and shipping in exports.



While the measures introduced by the government to protect the labour market are expected to avoid large-scale lay-offs and insolvencies, some 160 000 jobs could still be lost due to the crisis and the unemployment rate could rise to 20% in 2020. The partial recovery in 2021 is expected to have positive effects on the labour market, bringing the unemployment rate down again, to about 16½%. The downward pressure from wages, energy prices and industrial production is expected to lead to a fall in consumer prices by 0.6% in 2020 and a limited increase in 2021.

Greece's heavy exposure to travel restrictions is a source of downside risks. Due to the strong concentration of tourism in the summer months, even a short prolongation of restrictions beyond what is assumed in the baseline could have a strong downward effect. Moreover, the impact of the crisis on the large service sector and on micro-enterprises, which are more vulnerable, could be larger than expected and hold back the recovery.

The cost of tackling the crisis will take toll on the primary balance

Greece's general government balance recorded a surplus of 1.5% of GDP in 2019, on the back a strong revenue outturn and transfers of the SMP-ANFA profit equivalents. The primary surplus monitored under enhanced surveillance reached 3.5% of GDP in 2019.

The budget balance will deteriorate significantly in 2020 due to the operation of automatic stabilisers and the cost of measures to address the crisis. The size of the fiscal measures amounts to 6.9% of GDP. The package consists of special unemployment benefits, a waiver of social security contributions for certain employees affected by the crisis, increased health care expenditure, a refundable advance scheme for enterprises and other measures. Some of the measures will be supported by the EU or the domestic investment budget.

The government also adopted 1.9% of GDP of measures that aim to improve the liquidity of the

private corporate sector. Payment of certain tax obligations have been deferred to autumn, and the authorities created a credit guarantees scheme implemented through the Hellenic Development Bank, which may unlock loans up around 5% of GDP. The measures adopted to fight the pandemic only have a temporary effect in 2020.

The fiscal outlook is subject to substantial risks, including the pending ruling of the Council of State on retroactive payments to pensioners, ongoing litigation cases against the Public Real Estate Company and possible costs of the restructuring of the Hellenic Post. Last but not least, there is considerable uncertainty as to the final cost of the emergency fiscal measures adopted by the authorities.

The general government deficit is forecast to reach 6¼% of GDP in 2020 and to decrease to about 2% in 2021 based on a no-policy-change assumption. Public debt is expected to increase to around 196% of GDP in 2020 before declining to around 183% in 2021, supported by the economic recovery.

Table II.5.1:

Main features of country forecast - GREECE

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		184.7	100.0	0.1	-0.2	1.5	1.9	1.9	-9.7	7.9
Private Consumption		125.6	68.0	0.2	0.0	0.9	1.1	0.8	-9.0	7.5
Public Consumption		35.4	19.1	0.6	-0.7	-0.4	-2.5	2.1	4.9	-2.4
Gross fixed capital formation		20.5	11.1	-3.8	4.7	9.1	-12.2	4.7	-30.0	33.0
of which: equipment		9.4	5.1	-1.3	-11.4	22.2	-10.2	12.0	-32.0	35.2
Exports (goods and services)		66.7	36.1	3.1	-1.8	6.8	8.7	4.8	-21.4	17.9
Imports (goods and services)		67.2	36.4	1.0	0.3	7.1	4.2	2.5	-18.0	15.8
GNI (GDP deflator)		183.7	99.5	0.0	-0.3	1.7	1.2	1.8	-8.4	6.2
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	-0.2	0.4	1.6	-1.3	1.5	-8.7	7.6
		Inventories		0.0	0.1	0.0	1.8	-0.4	0.2	-0.2
		Net exports		0.4	-0.7	-0.1	1.5	0.8	-1.3	0.5
Employment				-0.4	0.5	1.5	1.7	2.0	-3.7	3.8
Unemployment rate (a)				14.5	23.6	21.5	19.3	17.3	19.9	16.8
Compensation of employees / he	ad			2.1	-0.9	0.5	1.3	1.1	-3.6	3.2
Unit labour costs whole economy				1.7	-0.3	0.6	1.1	1.3	2.9	-0.8
Real unit labour cost				0.0	0.0	0.0	0.5	1.7	3.0	-1.3
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GDP deflator				1.7	-0.2	0.6	0.5	-0.4	-0.1	0.6
Harmonised index of consumer pr	ices			2.3	0.0	1.1	0.8	0.5	-0.6	0.5
Terms of trade goods				0.0	-2.3	1.2	-1.0	-1.9	1.1	-0.9
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-14.2	-9.3	-10.3	-9.9	-10.3	-6.8	-9.4
Current-account balance (c)				-8.9	-1.1	-1.0	-1.1	-0.3	0.1	-1.2
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	-a-vis ROW (c)		-7.2	0.4	0.1	-0.1	0.8	1.6	0.3
General government balance (c)				-8.1	0.5	0.7	1.0	1.5	-6.4	-2.1
Cyclically-adjusted budget balan	ce (d)			-6.5	6.2	5.4	4.4	3.8	0.4	1.0
Structural budget balance (d)				-	5.5	5.0	5.0	2.8	-0.1	0.8
General government gross debt (c)			130.1	178.5	176.2	181.2	176.6	196.4	182.6
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	aving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

6. SPAIN

The strict confinement measures put in place in Spain in response to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic are expected to result in an unprecedented contraction in economic activity. Output should rebound strongly once restrictions are lifted, but the recovery will be uneven across sectors, and the lost output will not be fully recovered within the forecast horizon. Measures to limit job losses and support the corporate sector will cushion some of the impact of the crisis. Still, the unemployment rate is forecast to increase significantly this year, and only part of this increase will be reversed in 2021. The downturn is set to further deteriorate the general government balance.

An unprecedented downturn followed by a strong but uneven rebound

The Spanish economy was on a moderating growth path before the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. GDP growth stood at 2.0% in 2019, and the 2020 winter forecast projected it to slow down to 1.6% this year. Soft and hard indicators for January and February pointed to an unchanged growth pace compared to the last quarter of 2019. However, the severe outbreak of the pandemic in the country in early March led to strict confinement measures, culminating in the suspension of all non-essential activities for two weeks. The ongoing restrictions are expected to take an unprecedented toll on economic activity, with a particularly severe impact on the services sector. Output is expected to have already declined substantially in the first quarter of 2020.

Under the assumption of a gradual and targeted lifting of the more severe restrictions beginning in mid-May, the economy is expected to experience an even sharper contraction in the second quarter, before undergoing a strong 'mechanical' rebound in the second half of 2020 as activity gradually resumes. For the year as whole, GDP is forecast to decline by almost 91/2%. Activity in the manufacturing sector is expected to resume more quickly than in the services sector, where restrictions are expected to remain in place for longer, affecting in particular retail trade and tourism-related activities, such as transport, and food and accommodation services. Still. disruptions in global value chains, and weak demand may impede a normalisation of industrial activity before the end of the year.

If all productive restrictions are lifted by the start of 2021, activity should experience some rebound during the first half of the year, and then moderate gradually but remain above potential in the second half. This, together with a strong positive carry-over from the last quarters of 2020, would bring annual GDP growth to 7% in 2021, leaving output in 2021 about 3% below its 2019 level.

A protracted recovery for the labour market

Short-time work schemes (so called "ERTEs") are being used in high numbers, and should limit job losses and support household incomes during the downturn. Still, the widespread use of these schemes has not prevented a rapid fall in employment, affecting in particular temporary workers. The unemployment rate is expected to rise rapidly, amplifying the shock to the economy, although job losses should be partly reabsorbed as activity picks up again. However, the recovery in the labour market is expected to be slower amid high uncertainty, weak corporate balance-sheet positions, and the disproportionate impact of the crisis on labour intensive sectors, such as retail and hospitality. The lockdown should lead to a sharp contraction of private consumption in the first half of 2020, followed by a strong rebound in the second. The decline in private consumption this year will exceed that of household disposable incomes, resulting in a sizeable increase in the saving rate.



Measures aimed at supporting the corporate sector may reduce the number of bankruptcies, but weak demand, high uncertainty, liquidity shortages, and impaired profitability are set to result in a sharp contraction in investment. Although capital expenditure should gain traction from 2020-Q3 onwards, investment in 2021 is expected to remain well below its 2019 level. Exports are also forecast to contract strongly this year due to sharp declines in export markets, production restrictions, and the severe impact of the crisis on the tourism sector. Goods exports should rebound in 2021, but the recovery of the tourist sector is projected to be slower owing to longer-lasting restrictions in activity and possibly increased aversion to travel. Imports are also likely to contract strongly this year and rebound in 2021, in line with final demand. The contribution of net exports to growth should be slightly negative this year, and turn positive in 2021. Owing to the marked drop in oil prices, the current account surplus is set to widen, while headline inflation is expected to decline from 0.7% in 2019 to 0% this year, before picking up to 1.0% in 2021, as base effects fade away.

Downturn to further worsen the fiscal balance

In 2019, the general government deficit increased

for the first time since 2012, from 2.5% to 2.8% of GDP. The increase was driven by expenditure growth outstripping revenue growth, following increases in pensions and public sector pay.

In 2020, the downturn is expected to have a deeply negative impact on government finances. The contraction of tax bases is expected to lead to a significant drop in revenues, while the increase in unemployment and the extensive use of short-time work schemes ('ERTEs') should result in large increases in social transfers. In addition, health care expenditure is increasing significantly. These factors, together with the already-enacted increases in pensions and public sector pay, should push the deficit up to about 10% of GDP in 2020. The deficit should then narrow to below 7% of GDP in 2021 on a no-policy-change basis, as economic activity resumes and most of the measures put in place to respond to the COVID-19 crisis have a temporary effect.

Due to the large government deficit and the severe contraction in GDP, the general government debt-to-GDP ratio is expected to rise by around 20 pps., from 95% in 2019 to almost 116% by 2020, before decreasing to about 114% in 2021.

		2018			Annual	percen	tage ch	ange		
bi	n EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		1202.2	100.0	1.6	3.0	2.9	2.4	2.0	-9.4	7.0
Private Consumption		700.8	58.3	1.3	2.7	3.0	1.8	1.1	-10.7	8.9
Public Consumption		223.8	18.6	2.9	1.0	1.0	1.9	2.3	5.8	-0.4
Gross fixed capital formation		233.6	19.4	0.3	2.4	5.9	5.3	1.8	-20.7	10.3
of which: equipment		75.6	6.3	1.0	1.8	8.5	5.7	2.6	-23.0	12.0
Exports (goods and services)		422.2	35.1	3.5	5.4	5.6	2.2	2.6	-19.8	11.9
Imports (goods and services)		389.5	32.4	2.5	2.6	6.6	3.3	1.2	-21.1	12.4
GNI (GDP deflator)		1204.9	100.2	1.7	3.3	2.6	2.6	2.0	-8.9	6.5
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.4	2.2	3.0	2.4	1.4	-9.2	6.7
		nventories		0.0	-0.2	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		0.2	1.0	-0.1	-0.3	0.5	-0.1	0.3
Employment				0.5	2.8	2.8	2.5	2.3	-8.7	6.1
Unemployment rate (a)				15.8	19.6	17.2	15.3	14.1	18.9	17.0
Compensation of employees / f.t.e.				2.7	-0.6	0.7	1.0	2.0	0.5	0.7
Unit labour costs whole economy				1.6	-0.8	0.7	1.2	2.3	1.3	-0.2
Real unit labour cost				-0.5	-1.1	-0.7	0.1	0.7	1.1	-1.2
Saving rate of households (b)				8.6	7.1	5.5	5.9	7.4	14.0	10.5
GDP deflator				2.1	0.3	1.4	1.1	1.6	0.2	1.0
Harmonised index of consumer prices				2.4	-0.3	2.0	1.7	0.8	0.0	1.0
Terms of trade goods				-0.1	0.1	-0.8	-2.2	-0.6	2.6	-0.1
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-5.2	-1.3	-1.9	-2.4	-2.3	0.1	-0.4
Current-account balance (c)				-3.8	3.2	2.7	1.9	2.0	3.2	2.7
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-a-vis	ROW (c)		-3.2	3.4	2.9	2.4	2.3	3.5	3.0
General government balance (c)				-3.8	-4.3	-3.0	-2.5	-2.8	-10.1	-6.7
Cyclically-adjusted budget balance (d)			-3.3	-3.8	-3.6	-3.8	-4.2	-5.8	-5.2
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-3.8	-3.5	-3.5	-4.0	-5.6	-5.2
General government gross debt (c)				61.2	99.2	98.6	97.6	95.5	115.6	113.7

Table II.6.1:

Main features of country forecast - SPAIN

7. FRANCE

France's GDP is set to decline sharply in 2020 due to the COVID-19 outbreak. Economic activity is forecast to rebound gradually once lockdown measures are eased, supported by fiscal measures aimed at ensuring firms' liquidity and protecting employment. The general government deficit is forecast to rise to 10% of GDP in 2020.

GDP growth sharply impacted by the virus

GDP growth in France decreased to 1.3% in 2019 after 1.7% in 2018. This was mainly due to temporary factors such as strikes against pension reform, which lowered quarterly growth in the final quarter of 2019 after three quarters at near-potential rates.



Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, GDP is projected to contract by 81/4% in 2020 before rebounding and grow by 71/2% in 2021. While economic activity had gradually recovered in January and February as the strikes eased, economic sentiment indicators plunged in March after lockdown measures were introduced to contain the virus. Surveys suggest that services, including the retail sector, have been particularly impacted. The impact of the virus outbreak is expected to show in Q1 data but will be even more significant in Q2 due to the prolongation of the confinement period. France's economy is set to contract sharply in the first half of 2020 before rebounding from the third quarter onwards. Yet the impact on some sectors may be long lasting (food services and accommodation, recreational activities, transport, and tourism more generally).

Private consumption is projected to sink during the lockdown period and to recover gradually afterwards. Despite fiscal measures supporting household disposable incomes, the rebound is expected to be partial as some categories of workers may face net losses, especially in transport and leisure-related activities. The decrease in private consumption is set to outweigh the decrease in purchasing power, resulting in an important increase in the household saving rate in 2020. Due to workforce unavailability, value chain disruptions, increased uncertainty and liquidity constraints, investment is set to contract sharply in the first half of 2020. Fiscal measures should mitigate firms' liquidity difficulties and help support the rebound. Nevertheless, a rebound in equipment investment is likely to face obstacles from a more prolonged demand shock in sectors such as transport equipment. In line with tumbling external demand, exports are projected to plunge in 2020, especially in tourism-related sectors. Recovery in these sectors is set to be hindered by long lasting negative impacts, in particular on tourism and transport equipment. Imports are expected to evolve in line with domestic demand, resulting in a contraction in 2020 and a rebound in 2021. The broadly neutral contribution of net exports to GDP growth in 2020 is set to deteriorate in 2021.

Unemployment rate set to increase moderately and inflation to decrease

Unemployment in France is projected to increase due to the severity of the economic downturn but the extended short-term activity scheme set up by the government should help to contain the rise. Inflation is forecast to drop to 0.4% in 2020 from 1.3% in 2019, due to lower oil prices and the negative demand shock. Inflation is expected to gradually rebound starting in 2021.

Risks are tilted to the downside as regards global economy as well as the impact on tourism-related sectors.

High deficit in 2020

The general government deficit was 3.0% of GDP in 2019, 0.1 pps. lower than projected in the autumn forecast. In 2020, however, the deficit is set to reach an unprecedented 10% of GDP.

The sizeable drop in economic activity following the lockdown will weigh heavily on tax revenues and social transfers due to the response of automatic stabilisers. This macroeconomic-related impact accounts for most of the deterioration in the deficit. The expenditure measures adopted to fight the pandemic and to assuage the adverse macroeconomic effects amount to 1.9% of GDP and comprise additional healthcare expenditure of EUR 8 billion; transfers to cover partial unemployment schemes of EUR 24 billion; subsidies under the sectoral compensation fund for SMEs of EUR 7 billion; and the creation of an emergency fund of EUR 2.5 billion. Liquidity measures and public guarantees aimed to support firms, amounting to about EUR 385 billion, are assumed to entail no immediate budgetary impact.

Other measures affecting the deficit forecast for 2020 compared to the previous year include the 0.9% of GDP one-off effect mainly stemming from

the transformation of the tax credit for competitiveness and employment (*crédit d'impôt pour la compétitivité et l'emploi, CICE*) into a permanent cut in employers' social contributions in 2019. The measures aimed at enhancing household purchasing power adopted after the broad national debate 'Grand Débat National' altogether amount to 0.3% of GDP in 2020.

Accordingly, the expenditure-to-GDP ratio is projected to rise by some 7 pps., to 62³/₄% of GDP, whereas the revenue-to-GDP ratio is set to increase only slightly. Interest payments are set to continue declining. These projections are nonetheless subject to a high degree of uncertainty.

At unchanged policies and assuming that the measures adopted to fight the pandemic will take place only in 2020, the general government deficit is expected to shrink to 4% of GDP in 2021. While the revenue-to GDP ratio is set to improve slightly, the expenditure-to-GDP ratio is projected to decline by 5½ pps. In turn, public debt is set to rise from 98.1% in 2019 to 116½% of GDP in 2020, before declining to almost 112% in 2021.

Table II.7.1:

Main features of country forecast - FRANCE

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		2353.1	100.0	1.3	1.1	2.3	1.7	1.3	-8.2	7.4
Private Consumption		1268.5	53.9	1.5	1.8	1.4	0.9	1.2	-9.3	8.9
Public Consumption		550.9	23.4	1.5	1.4	1.5	0.8	1.4	2.8	0.0
Gross fixed capital formation		537.9	22.9	1.3	2.7	4.7	2.8	3.6	-13.3	14.0
of which: equipment		116.3	4.9	1.1	6.1	1.1	2.0	3.5	-14.8	13.2
Exports (goods and services)		737.4	31.3	3.2	1.8	3.9	3.5	2.0	-12.0	8.8
Imports (goods and services)		755.6	32.1	3.9	2.9	3.9	1.2	2.2	-11.8	10.6
GNI (GDP deflator)		2406.1	102.3	1.4	1.1	2.5	1.6	1.4	-8.5	7.4
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.5	1.9	2.1	1.3	1.8	-7.4	7.7
		Inventories		0.1	-0.4	0.2	-0.3	-0.4	-0.8	0.2
		Net exports		-0.2	-0.4	-0.1	0.7	-0.1	0.0	-0.5
Employment				0.6	0.5	0.9	1.0	1.3	-9.1	10.0
Unemployment rate (a)				9.0	10.0	9.4	9.0	8.5	10.1	9.7
Compensation of employees / f.t	.e.			2.4	1.3	2.0	1.8	0.2	6.0	-6.0
Unit labour costs whole economy				1.7	0.7	0.6	1.0	0.1	5.1	-3.7
Real unit labour cost				0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	-1.3	3.7	-4.6
Saving rate of households (b)				14.4	13.6	13.6	13.8	14.8	22.0	15.7
GDP deflator				1.5	0.5	0.5	0.8	1.5	1.3	0.9
Harmonised index of consumer pi	ices			1.7	0.3	1.2	2.1	1.3	0.4	0.9
Terms of trade goods				0.1	1.2	-1.6	-1.7	1.2	1.6	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-1.2	-1.1	-1.6	-1.7	-1.3	-0.9	-1.3
Current-account balance (c)				0.0	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	s-a-vis ROW (c)		0.0	-0.6	-0.5	-0.5	0.2	0.2	0.3
General government balance (c)				-3.8	-3.6	-2.9	-2.3	-3.0	-9.9	-4.0
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-4.1	-2.9	-3.1	-2.9	-3.7	-4.9	-2.6
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-2.9	-3.0	-2.7	-2.8	-4.7	-2.5
General government gross debt (c)			75.2	98.0	98.3	98.1	98.1	116.5	111.9
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

8. ITALY

The COVID-19 pandemic and the related containment measures are set to push Italy's economy into a deep recession. A technical rebound is expected in the second half of 2020, supported by policy measures, and a partial recovery is expected to follow in 2021. The government deficit and debt are set to increase significantly in 2020, before partially declining next year. Consumer price inflation is projected to fall to below zero this year and pick up moderately in 2021.

A deep contraction followed by a technical rebound and a partial recovery

Amid signs in early 2020 that its economy was on the mend, Italy was struck particularly forcefully by the coronavirus pandemic. Initially an external supply-side shock that disrupted supply chains and weighed on manufacturing, the spread of the coronavirus in Italy let to nationwide lockdown measures, including production shutdowns. As a result, real output is forecast to shrink by about 18% in the first half of 2020. Assuming that economic activity starts to resume in May and gradually normalise, output growth is projected to bounce back, helped by sizeable policy support. On average, real GDP is set to fall by 91/2% in 2020 before climbing by 61/2% in 2021, supported by a substantial carryover effect, but without fully recovering the lost output by the end of the forecast period.

A multi-pronged upturn amid high uncertainty

Lockdown measures put an abrupt break on private consumption, but consumer spending is forecast to bounce back sharply in the second half of 2020. Income support measures and low inflation are expected to support household expenditure, though only partially due to the gradual easing of containment measures. Amid a collapse in demand, draining cash flows and high uncertainty, firms are likely to cut investment spending, while policy measures such as liquidity support to firms are set to limit the number of bankruptcies. Capital spending is projected to gain traction in the second half of 2020 and pick up further in 2021, also helped by public investment. Italy's export markets are set to shrink sharply in 2020, implying a substantial drop in exports, with tourism among the hardest-hit sectors. In 2021, exports are forecast to recover in line with global trade.

Risks to the growth outlook are tilted to the downside. The high and increasing public debt levels and a possible rise in the banking sector's stock of non-performing loans may impact financing conditions. A change in consumer behaviour implying higher precautionary savings, and a protracted labour market slump could additionally dampen domestic demand and damage Italy's economic fabric, curbing potential growth and disrupting the expected recovery.



Policy measures set to cushion the immediate impact of weak activity on the labour market

The extended coverage and relaxed eligibility criteria for wage supplementation schemes (*Cassa integrazione guadagni*) should support labour incomes and reduce the risk of dismissals and unemployment. However, job seekers as well as seasonal and contract workers may not all qualify for emergency benefits and some workers might temporarily withdraw from the labour market. The production shutdowns imply a substantial but temporary drop in hours worked in 2020.

Oil price rout is stifling consumer price inflation

Consumer prices are projected to decrease marginally this year. The sharp drop in oil prices and the domestic demand shock due to the pandemic, in particular affecting the service sector, is set to stymie inflationary pressures, even if food prices are likely to rise. In 2021, headline inflation is set to average 0.7%.

After worsening sharply in 2020, public finances set to improve from next year

The general government deficit recorded a historical low in 2019 (1.6% of GDP), thanks to several policy measures and a resilient labour market, which supported government revenues.

In 2020, the coronavirus pandemic is expected to lift the government deficit to 11% of GDP. Government revenues are set to decline significantly due to the drop in economic activity. The sharpest decline is expected in revenues from corporate taxes in light of falling profits. The lower wage bill will cause a reduction in social security contributions and yields from personal income taxes, while revenues from indirect taxes will reflect the fall in private consumption. Conversely, the in-year postponement of tax payments is not expected to increase the government deficit, assuming no policy changes. Government expenditure is expected to rise sizably due to the cost of automatic stabilisers and the policy response. The fiscal package adopted in March 2020 increases government spending by around 1.2% of GDP, in order to strengthen healthcare and civil protection, extend wage supplementation schemes and support selfemployed workers and firms. The package announced in Italy's Stability Programme amounts to 3.3% of GDP and provides additional funds for the same policy areas, including specific resources for the sectors most affected by the pandemic.

In 2021, the government deficit is expected to decline to around 51/2% of GDP. Government revenues are set to benefit from a rebound in private consumption and a progressive recovery in the labour market. This forecast does not consider the VAT hikes originally legislated for 2021, whose repeal has been announced. Under a nopolicy-change assumption, government expenditure is expected to sharply decline after the temporary increase in 2020, despite higher interest spending caused by rising borrowing requirements. The possibility of a high number of calls on public guarantees represents a downside risk.

After having remained stable at 134.8% in 2019, the government debt-to-GDP ratio is expected to reach 159% in 2020 and to decline to $153\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2021, mainly driven by GDP dynamics. The primary balance is expected to turn negative for only the second time since the launch of the euro, strongly weighing on the debt ratio in 2020.

Table II.8.1:

Main features of country forecast - ITALY

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		1766.2	100.0	0.2	1.3	1.7	0.8	0.3	-9.5	6.5
Private Consumption		1065.5	60.3	0.2	1.2	1.5	0.9	0.4	-10.9	7.3
Public Consumption		334.8	19.0	0.5	0.7	-0.1	0.1	-0.4	2.6	-0.6
Gross fixed capital formation		315.1	17.8	-0.8	4.0	3.2	3.1	1.4	-14.2	13.0
of which: equipment		120.6	6.8	-0.5	8.0	6.4	4.0	0.3	-20.7	19.7
Exports (goods and services)		555.5	31.5	2.3	1.9	5.4	2.3	1.2	-13.0	10.5
Imports (goods and services)		513.2	29.1	1.7	3.9	6.1	3.4	-0.4	-13.6	12.2
GNI (GDP deflator)		1785.4	101.1	0.2	2.3	1.9	1.3	0.1	-9.7	6.5
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	0.1	1.6	1.5	1.1	0.4	-8.7	6.3
		Inventories		0.0	0.2	0.2	-0.1	-0.6	-0.6	0.3
		Net exports		0.2	-0.5	0.0	-0.3	0.5	-0.3	0.0
Employment				0.1	1.4	0.8	0.8	0.3	-7.5	5.5
Unemployment rate (a)				9.1	11.7	11.2	10.6	10.0	11.8	10.7
Compensation of employees / f.t	t.e.			2.3	0.1	0.6	2.1	1.6	-0.5	0.8
Unit labour costs whole economy	/			2.1	0.2	-0.3	2.0	1.5	1.8	-0.2
Real unit labour cost				0.2	-1.0	-1.0	1.1	0.6	0.9	-1.1
Saving rate of households (b)				12.9	10.6	10.2	10.1	10.2	16.5	10.9
GDP deflator				1.9	1.1	0.7	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9
Harmonised index of consumer p	rices			2.0	-0.1	1.3	1.2	0.6	-0.3	0.7
Terms of trade goods				-0.4	4.0	-1.9	-1.4	1.5	3.3	0.4
Trade balance (goods) (c)				0.7	3.5	3.1	2.6	3.2	4.4	4.2
Current-account balance (c)				-0.8	2.6	2.5	2.5	3.0	3.4	3.3
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	is-a-vis ROW (c)		-0.7	2.4	2.6	2.5	2.9	3.2	3.2
General government balance (c	:)			-3.2	-2.4	-2.4	-2.2	-1.6	-11.1	-5.6
Cyclically-adjusted budget bala	nce (d)			-2.9	-1.3	-2.2	-2.2	-1.5	-6.1	-3.5
Structural budget balance (d)				-3.5	-1.5	-2.1	-2.3	-1.5	-6.3	-3.7
General government gross debt	(c)			115.2	134.8	134.1	134.8	134.8	158.9	153.6
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) aross	savina divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome, (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

9. CYPRUS

Cyprus' economic activity is heading into a severe contraction in 2020 due to the global outbreak of COVID-19 and the confinement measures that followed. External demand for services is set to dip significantly, with tourism expected to be particularly hard hit by the crisis. Domestic demand is also forecast to contract significantly due to the restrictions to consumption and construction activity as well as a drop in confidence. The general government budget is expected to record a large deficit and public debt is set to increase as a result before declining again in 2021.

Economic growth headed for a large drop in 2020

Cyprus' recovery from the deep financial and economic crisis of 2013 has been remarkable. By 2017, real GDP had risen above its pre-crisis level. In 2019, economic activity grew by 3.2%. However, the COVID-19 crisis is set to push the economy into a severe recession in 2020, with real GDP forecast to contract by $7\frac{1}{2}$ in 2020 before bouncing back with growth of around 6% in 2021.



The impact of the outbreak and subsequent healthpolicy responses on economic activity is expected to be significant in the second quarter as the outbreak in the country and the lockdown started in mid-March. The economy is expected to start a slow recovery towards the end of the second quarter. However, the impact of the crisis on the tourism sector is likely to last longer.

Exports of services to plummet in 2020

The COVID-19 pandemic is expected to significantly dampen demand for tourism. Cyprus is heavily dependent on tourism, as every year the country hosts around 4 million tourists (4.5 times more than its population) and the sector accounts

for more than 20% of GDP⁽¹¹⁹⁾. Imports are expected to evolve in line with final demand, resulting in a contraction in 2020 and a rebound in 2021. The contribution of net exports to GDP growth is set to be significantly negative in 2020, but to turn positive in 2021.

Domestic demand to fall moderately

Private consumption is set to fall sharply during the lockdown period and to gradually recover in the second half of the year. Private consumption is expected to fall more than real disposable income, leading to a surge of savings in 2020, which should normalise in 2021. The unemployment rate is projected to increase, albeit modestly. The fiscal measures adopted are expected to support employment and households' incomes. Investment in construction could rebound quickly after the lockdown owing to the pipeline of large and already commenced multi-year projects. Public consumption is the only component of domestic demand that is expected to continue growing in 2020, reflecting the fiscal stimulus measures adopted, increases in the public payroll, and expenditures linked to the national health system.

Downside risks are significant. In addition to the uncertainty surrounding the pandemic and the economic recovery after the lifting of the lockdown measures, the large private and public sector debt overhang increases further downside risks related to a prolonged economic downturn. Moreover, as a small open economy, Cyprus is exposed to external risks related to the economic impact of the pandemic on its main trading partners i.e. the EU, the UK and Russia.

Inflation to remain subdued

Headline inflation is forecast to fall from 0.5% in 2019 to -0.2% in 2020, driven by lower energy prices and non-energy industrial goods. Headline

⁽¹¹⁹⁾ Including indirect impact.
inflation is expected to turn positive again in 2021, at 1%, reflecting increasing food and services prices. This is set to lead to a moderate increase in core inflation.

Public finances are set to deteriorate

The general government balance is forecast to dive into a deficit of 7% of GDP in 2020 after a sizeable surplus of $1\frac{3}{4}\%$ of GDP in 2019. Cyprus' fiscal performance in 2020 is projected to be severely affected by falling revenues due to the economic downturn and measures to dampen the social and economic effects of the COVID-19 crisis. In 2021, public finances should improve, with the general government deficit narrowing to $1\frac{3}{4}\%$ of GDP, based on the assumption that the measures adopted to fight the pandemic will only have a temporary effect in 2020. The public debtto-GDP ratio is set to rise to over $115\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020 from $95\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2019, before decreasing to 105% in 2021. Expenditure growth is projected to surge by 171/2% in 2020 and to decrease by $1\frac{1}{2}$ % in 2021. Spending measures adopted to fight the pandemic (4.3% of GDP), which include wage subsidies, income support for the self-employed, and additional spending to strengthen the healthcare system, are expected to have a temporary effect on public finances in 2020. However, higher compensation of public employees and the cost of the roll-out of the second phase of National Health Insurance System (NHIS) are projected to increase public expenditure in 2020 and 2021. The projected decrease in revenue in 2020 (-3%) primarily reflects the large expected decrease in tax revenues (-10%). Revenue is expected to pick up in 2021 on account of the projected economic recovery.

Looking forward, the potential realisation of contingent liabilities is a risk to Cyprus' public finances. They concern in particular the asset protection schemes to Hellenic Bank, as well as the potential deficit of public healthcare providers during the first years of the NHIS.

Table II.9.1:

Main features of co	ntry forecas	t -	C	YP	RU	JS
---------------------	--------------	-----	---	----	----	----

		2018				Annua	l percen	tage ch	ange	
	mio EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		21137.8	100.0	1.9	6.7	4.4	4.1	3.2	-7.4	6.1
Private Consumption		13777.5	65.2	2.7	4.4	4.5	3.3	3.0	-6.7	5.1
Public Consumption		3149.8	14.9	1.7	-0.9	2.1	3.5	11.3	16.6	3.7
Gross fixed capital formation		4042.2	19.1	-1.3	48.9	24.1	-6.6	0.1	-6.1	5.3
of which: equipment		1300.1	6.2	-2.1	121.6	20.7	-31.9	-15.0	-9.0	12.5
Exports (goods and services)		15444.6	73.1	2.6	7.2	8.7	4.6	2.0	-21.8	16.8
Imports (goods and services)		15278.4	72.3	2.6	9.0	12.8	2.4	1.5	-15.2	13.7
GNI (GDP deflator)		20387.5	96.5	2.3	3.2	5.4	3.5	3.2	-7.6	6.2
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.9	9.0	7.6	1.3	3.6	-2.8	5.1
	I	Inventories		0.1	-1.2	-0.5	1.2	-0.7	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		0.0	-1.1	-2.7	1.6	0.3	-4.6	1.0
Employment				1.1	4.7	5.3	4.1	3.1	-2.5	2.3
Unemployment rate (a)				7.3	13.0	11.1	8.4	7.1	8.6	7.5
Compensation of employees / h	nead			2.5	-0.9	1.0	0.5	2.9	-5.4	6.6
Unit labour costs whole econom	у			1.7	-2.9	1.9	0.6	2.8	-0.4	2.7
Real unit labour cost				-0.2	-2.1	0.2	-0.8	2.2	-0.9	1.8
Saving rate of households (b)				3.4	1.3	3.7	2.4	2.5	8.7	3.4
GDP deflator				1.9	-0.8	1.7	1.4	0.6	0.5	0.9
Harmonised index of consumer p	orices			2.1	-1.2	0.7	0.8	0.5	-0.2	1.0
Terms of trade of goods				0.7	-0.4	-0.3	-1.9	-0.1	-0.4	-0.6
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-23.2	-22.1	-25.0	-22.1	-21.5	-18.8	-21.1
Current-account balance (c)				-8.4	-4.2	-5.1	-4.4	-5.7	-10.9	-10.1
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-)	vis-a-vis ROW (c)		-8.0	-4.1	-4.7	-3.8	-5.0	-10.3	-9.5
General government balance (c)			-3.4	0.3	2.0	-3.7	1.7	-7.0	-1.8
Cyclically-adjusted budget bala	ance (d)			-3.2	0.2	0.7	-6.0	-1.2	-5.2	-2.1
Structural budget balance (d)				-	0.3	0.7	2.0	0.1	-5.2	-2.1
General government gross debt	(c)			68.9	103.4	93.9	100.6	95.5	115.7	105.0
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gros	s savina divided	by adjusted aross d	isposable inco	ome. (c) as	a % of GDF	2. (d) as a 3	% of poten	tial GDP.		

10. LATVIA

Latvia's GDP is projected to decline by 7% in 2020, followed by a fairly rapid recovery in 2021. Investments and exports are expected to suffer the most amid border closures and declining foreign demand, while consumption is expected to fare better than in other countries thanks to a relatively milder lockdown. The government deficit is projected to reach 7% of GDP in 2020 due to income and liquidity support measures as well as a drop in tax revenue. The deficit is projected to decline to $4\frac{1}{2}$ % in 2021, as the government is expected to maintain its support while the economy recovers fully.

The economy was strong before the crisis

In 2019, Latvia's GDP grew by 2.2%, driven mostly by solid private consumption amid slowing investment and export growth. The labour market remained tight, driving rapid wage growth. Economic growth since the last crisis in 2009 has been sound with a balanced current account, low credit growth, and falling private and public debt ratios. As a result, Latvia entered the crisis with overall macroeconomic conditions favourable to a relatively swift recovery, provided that the current crisis impact remains short-lived. Crucially, public debt remains low, providing room for support measures during the lockdown and in the recovery phase.



Investment and exports will suffer the most

Latvia managed to contain the spread of the virus at low levels. As a result, the lockdown restrictions in Latvia are milder than in most other EU countries. With the exception of international transport services and businesses involving mass gatherings, like concerts, theatres and sports competitions; most other businesses are allowed to remain open, subject to social distancing requirements. However, many non-essential retailers and catering businesses have closed voluntarily due to lack of demand. Given Latvia's above EU-average share of exports, the shock to its economy will mostly stem from declining foreign demand. Moreover, the uncertainty related to the duration of the measures both at home and abroad are expected to lead to a postponement of new investment projects, thus leading to a significant decline in investment, with a moderate lag. Government investment, however, is set to go on as planned, providing some support to the economy.

All in all, real GDP is projected to shrink by some 7% in 2020, with investment and service exports poised for the largest declines. The baseline scenario assumes that after a steep decline in the first two quarters of 2020, a fairly rapid recovery will follow in the second part of the year. Private consumption and investment should lead the way, the latter being supported by the beginning of the Rail Baltica project, a large railway infrastructure project to integrate the Baltic states with the EU rail network. In 2021, real GDP is expected to grow by some 6½%, bringing economic activity in the final quarter of 2021 back to the level it was in the final quarter of 2019.

Labour market projected to recover quickly

Employment is expected to decline by some 2^{1/2}% this year. Government-subsidised employee furlough scheme is expected to cushion most of the employment loss in the short-term and therefore help foster the recovery in 2021. Headline inflation is set to slow significantly in 2020 due to both falling demand and rapidly declining energy prices. It is expected to rebound in 2021 along with the pick-up in demand and wage growth.

While there are significant downside risks to the baseline scenario, country-specific risks are balanced. Lacking domestic supply-side restrictions, investment and goods exports could prove more resilient than expected. On the negative side, damage to consumer confidence could last longer than currently assumed, leading to a slower recovery in private consumption.

Government deficit set to increase in 2020 as tax revenues fall and spending grows

The government deficit declined to 0.2% of GDP in 2019, driven by higher revenue from taxes on labour and non-tax revenues, while taxes on consumption underperformed. In 2020, a sharp deterioration of the government deficit to some 7% of GDP is projected, as a result of the economic downturn and the adoption of temporary stimulus measures. The expected tax revenue loss accounts for most of the deterioration. A lower tax intake is linked to the drop in economic activity, as well as a tax deferral measure with a deficit-increasing impact of around 1% of GDP in 2020. Government expenditure is set to expand more than previously planned due to the measures put in place in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and due to higher unemployment spending. Additional financing for the healthcare sector accounts for 0.1% of GDP. Moreover, the existing resources in the healthcare sector have been mobilised to fight the pandemic. Temporary downtime payments to idled employees and other income support measures amount to 0.5% of GDP. Finally, sector

specific support and loss provisions for loan guarantees are estimated to increase the government deficit by 1.2% of GDP.

In 2021, the government deficit is projected to narrow to $4\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP under a no-policy change assumption. The temporary expenditure measures are projected to cease in 2021. However, underlying expenditure growth is assumed to be sustained in line with pre-crisis plans. As a result, the expenditure-to-GDP ratio is expected to increase by some $2\frac{1}{2}$ percentage points between 2019 and 2021. Tax revenue is expected to grow in line with the pick-up in GDP in 2021, while the 2020 tax deferrals are projected to be partly recovered by 2023. Moreover, dividend payments in 2021 based on the returns for 2020 are expected to be weak.

The government debt-to-GDP ratio is expected to increase from 37% in 2019 to 44% in 2021, mostly due to the large government deficits in 2020 and 2021. The increase in the debt ratio should be softened by a partial reduction in large precautionary cash resources, which were accumulated at the end of 2019.

Table II.10.1:

Main features of country forecast - LATVIA

		2018				Annual	l percen	tage ch	ange	
	mio EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		29056.1	100.0	3.8	1.8	3.8	4.3	2.2	-7.0	6.4
Private Consumption		17172.6	59.1	3.8	1.5	3.1	4.2	2.9	-6.1	7.0
Public Consumption		5242.3	18.0	1.0	2.9	3.2	4.0	2.6	2.9	2.0
Gross fixed capital formation		6553.8	22.6	4.8	-8.2	11.3	15.8	3.1	-12.0	9.2
of which: equipment		2565.0	8.8	3.5	11.2	9.3	13.1	2.0	-15.0	12.0
Exports (goods and services)		17870.8	61.5	7.6	4.0	6.4	4.0	2.0	-10.3	7.8
Imports (goods and services)		17924.7	61.7	6.0	3.8	8.4	6.4	2.3	-8.3	8.0
GNI (GDP deflator)		28554.5	98.3	3.8	2.1	3.6	3.0	3.4	-6.3	6.4
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	4.3	-0.4	4.7	6.5	2.9	-5.8	6.5
		nventories		0.0	2.1	0.2	-0.7	-0.5	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		-0.3	0.1	-1.1	-1.5	-0.2	-1.2	-0.1
Employment				-0.5	-0.3	0.0	1.6	-0.1	-2.6	0.9
Unemployment rate (a)				12.2	9.6	8.7	7.4	6.3	8.6	8.3
Compensation of employees / h	ead			9.5	7.3	7.6	8.5	8.8	0.3	3.9
Unit labour costs whole econom	У			5.0	5.1	3.7	5.7	6.4	5.0	-1.5
Real unit labour cost				0.1	4.2	0.7	1.6	3.6	3.5	-3.7
Saving rate of households (b)				1.2	4.5	4.4	6.3	9.8	18.5	14.5
GDP deflator				4.9	0.9	3.0	4.0	2.6	1.4	2.3
Harmonised index of consumer p	orices			4.0	0.1	2.9	2.6	2.7	0.2	1.9
Terms of trade of goods				0.2	3.5	0.9	1.6	0.9	2.1	0.5
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-15.7	-7.5	-8.3	-8.1	-8.1	-8.2	-7.9
Current-account balance (c)				-7.1	1.4	1.0	-0.7	0.6	1.1	1.2
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) v	ris-a-vis ROW (c)		-5.4	2.5	1.7	1.1	2.8	2.6	3.4
General government balance (d	c)			-2.7	0.2	-0.8	-0.8	-0.2	-7.3	-4.5
Cyclically-adjusted budget bala	ince (d)			-2.5	-0.2	-1.7	-2.4	-1.5	-5.2	-3.8
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-0.4	-1.7	-2.4	-1.7	-5.2	-3.8
General government gross debt	(c)			25.5	40.9	39.3	37.2	36.9	43.1	43.7
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	s saving divided	by adjusted gross d	isposable inc	ome. (c) as	a % of GDF	e. (d) as a 🤅	% of poten	tial GDP.		

11. LITHUANIA

The COVID-19 pandemic forced a temporary closure of many economic activities in Lithuania. This is expected to cause a sizeable GDP contraction in 2020. Possible relaxation of lockdown measures in the second quarter of 2020 and the government's economic stimulus plans provide hope for a quick recovery over the forecast horizon. At the same time, this economic shock is projected to drive increases in the unemployment rate and the general government deficit.

A rollercoaster ride ahead

After a long period of above-potential growth, the sudden arrival of the COVID-19 pandemic in Europe swept away a scenario of gradual deceleration for Lithuania's economy. Since 16 March, the country has been in lockdown, with many economic activities effectively suspended. International and national travel restrictions have put a strain on accommodation services and related passenger transport and tourism. Declining international demand for goods in the EU has started to have a negative effect on producers and providers of transportation services which had supported growth over the past years.

Such an unprecedented suspension of economic activity will drag down Lithuania's GDP in the second quarter of 2020. The exact size of the dip depends on the length of the confinement period in the country and the exit strategies in Lithuania and abroad. Assuming the lockdown comes to an end in the second quarter, GDP growth is expected to stage a strong rebound in the third quarter as a result of base effects. However, output is expected to stay below the volume of the first quarter of 2020 as different factors will weigh on growth drivers.

Domestic demand is forecast to be negatively affected by declining household income and, as a consequence, limited possibilities to borrow. Investment activities are expected to be put on halt by many businesses due to liquidity issues and uncertainty in 2020. As a result of the confinement period, the implementation of EU-funded projects is also forecast to slow in 2020 and drop below the level of 2019. However, thanks to EU-level initiatives, the use of EU funds is expected to gain speed again in 2021.

Export recovery is projected to depend, in the short term, on the economic strength of Lithuania's Nordic trading partners, while demand in the southern EU Member States is expected to stay suppressed in the near term. On the other hand, a combination of lower demand for refined oil products and a sharp decline in oil prices is set to put pressure both on Lithuania's imports and exports over the forecast horizon.



Lithuania's economic recovery is also expected to be supported by the government's 'Plan for Economic Stimulus and Mitigation of Consequences of COVID-19 Transmission'. The measures of this plan are projected to increase government consumption slightly in 2020 as a consequence of higher spending on healthcare.

Overall, Lithuania's GDP is forecast to decline by approximately 8% in 2020 and then rebound by $7\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2021.

Measures taken to reduce job losses

The introduction of quarantine requirements affected the employment of workers in the service sector and a large share of the self-employed. A number of companies took measures to limit hours worked while keeping people employed. In some cases, workers took unpaid leaves. With a view to job protection, the government proposed to pay subsidies to companies that would retain their employees during and after the quarantine period. Overall, the unemployment rate is forecast to remain contained below 10% in 2020 and decline in 2021.

Lower inflation ahead

In 2020, lost business revenues, lower overall profitability and a larger supply of labour are expected to put downward pressure on wages and, consequently, on prices of some products and services. Furthermore, as a result of cheaper oil and gas, energy prices are forecast to be lower than in 2019. Together with the rebound of the economy in 2021, domestic inflationary pressures are expected to return slowly. Overall, headline inflation is forecast to stand at 0.8% and 1.5% in 2020 and 2021, respectively.

Challenging times for public finances

In 2019, the general government recorded a nominal surplus of 0.3% of GDP. An improvement of the general government balance amounting to 0.6 pps. came from the fact that some military equipment ordered in 2019 is expected to be delivered in coming years, and, therefore, expenditure recording will be done at a later stage.

With regard to the COVID-19 pandemic, the

declared size of government measures to increase funding for healthcare and to help safeguard jobs and disposable incomes amounts to EUR 1 billion or $2\frac{1}{2}$ % of GDP in 2020. In addition, the government decided to increase provision of state guarantees to businesses by EUR 1 billion to help companies preserve liquidity.

Overall, the implementation of the fiscal stimulus plan and impact of automatic stabilisers are forecast to push the general government deficit close to 7% of GDP in 2020. Due to the greater financing needs expected, the government has increased the country's borrowing limits by EUR 5 billion or approximately $12\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP in 2020. In 2021, based on a no-policy-change assumption, the government deficit is projected to decline to $2\frac{3}{4}\%$ of GDP.

Due to a large general government deficit in 2020, the debt-to-GDP ratio is expected to rise from 36.3% in 2019 to approximately $48\frac{1}{2}\%$. This increase also comprises an accumulation of prefinancing needed for upcoming bond redemptions at the beginning of 2021. The debt-to-GDP ratio is projected to remain at a similar level in 2021.

Table II.11.1:

Main features of country forecast - LITHUANIA

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		45.3	100.0	4.1	2.6	4.2	3.6	3.9	-7.9	7.4
Private Consumption		28.0	61.8	4.4	4.0	3.5	3.7	3.2	-9.9	7.8
Public Consumption		7.5	16.5	1.0	0.1	-0.3	0.5	0.7	1.0	0.5
Gross fixed capital formation		9.3	20.5	4.8	3.4	8.2	8.4	7.4	-5.0	7.9
of which: equipment		3.3	7.3	6.6	14.6	9.2	7.3	4.6	-15.4	16.7
Exports (goods and services)		34.2	75.6	9.5	4.9	13.6	6.3	9.3	-12.5	13.5
Imports (goods and services)		33.4	73.7	8.7	4.0	11.5	6.0	6.7	-12.0	12.8
GNI (GDP deflator)		43.8	96.8	4.0	2.5	4.2	4.2	4.1	-8.6	8.2
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	4.3	3.2	3.8	4.1	3.6	-6.9	6.4
	l	nventories		0.2	-1.3	-1.0	-0.8	-1.8	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		-0.2	0.6	1.5	0.4	2.1	-1.0	1.0
Employment				-0.5	2.3	-0.7	1.4	0.5	-3.5	2.0
Unemployment rate (a)				11.7	7.9	7.1	6.2	6.3	9.7	7.9
Compensation of employees / he	ad			6.8	6.4	9.5	7.7	9.5	-8.2	7.4
Unit labour costs whole economy				2.0	6.1	4.3	5.3	5.9	-3.8	2.0
Real unit labour cost				-0.7	4.4	0.1	1.9	3.1	-5.6	-0.6
Saving rate of households (b)				3.4	2.9	0.3	-1.2	1.6	8.4	4.2
GDP deflator				2.7	1.6	4.3	3.3	2.8	1.9	2.7
Harmonised index of consumer pri	ces			2.4	0.7	3.7	2.5	2.2	0.8	1.5
Terms of trade goods				0.9	1.8	0.5	-1.0	1.3	0.5	-0.4
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-8.5	-4.9	-4.9	-6.1	-4.5	-4.2	-4.4
Current-account balance (c)				-4.7	-1.1	0.5	0.3	3.5	2.2	2.9
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-	-a-vis ROW (c)		-2.8	0.3	1.7	1.8	5.1	4.2	5.0
General government balance (c)				-3.0	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.3	-6.9	-2.7
Cyclically-adjusted budget balan	ce (d)			-2.6	-0.3	-1.0	-1.2	-1.6	-4.4	-1.6
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-0.5	-1.0	-1.2	-1.6	-4.4	-1.6
General government gross debt (a	c)			27.3	39.7	39.1	33.8	36.3	48.5	48.4
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross s	aving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

12. LUXEMBOURG

Restrictions put in place to control the COVID-19 pandemic are expected to impact domestic demand and net trade leading to a large decline in real GDP in 2020. Strong fiscal measures are projected to mitigate the decline and pave the way for real GDP growth to rebound in 2021. Consequently, the general government balance will revert into a deficit, while government debt, although increasing, remains at a low level. Inflation is forecast to decline significantly following the drop in energy prices in 2020.

A broad-based fall in activity in 2020

The COVID-19 crisis will push Luxembourg into recession in 2020. Real GDP is forecast to decline by $-5\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020. Compared to 2.3% GDP growth estimated for 2019, which was already lower than in previous years. Assuming normalisation over the course of 2020, Luxembourg is projected to show a strong recovery in 2021 when GDP is forecast to grow by $5\frac{3}{4}\%$.



In 2020, private consumption is expected to decline as a result of the lock down and travel ban that were implemented since mid-March. In recent years, private consumption had been a solid driver of GDP growth in Luxembourg. The high level of uncertainty and the squeeze on liquidity due to falling revenues, especially for corporations, will result in a sharp contraction in gross fixed capital formation by 12% in 2020. The government measures to buffer the liquidity contraction and increased government consumption (+61/4%) will only partly mitigate the economic impact of the crisis. The sharp drop in international trade in goods and services and lower cross border consumption are expected to be a drag on economic growth as well. In addition, the heightened stock market volatility and the decline in economic activity are expected to negatively impact the financial sector which represents a large share of GDP in Luxembourg. $^{(120)}$

Rebound after normalisation

Private consumption, the main driver of domestic demand growth, is expected to rebound in 2021 once restrictions are completely lifted and the economy goes back to normal again, while the expected wage indexation in the third quarter of 2021 should support purchasing power. As uncertainty dissipates, investment should recover, while the normalisation of international trade should also provide a strong positive contribution to GDP growth in 2021. As a small open economy with strong trade and financial links with international markets, Luxembourg is highly exposed to external risks. Uncertainty related to the end of the COVID-19 crisis and any financial turmoil that may ensue, could result in a less benign outcome for its economy.

Higher unemployment and lower inflation

The labour market peaked in 2019 as employment growth fell back from the high levels of previous years and the decline in unemployment stopped. The COVID-19 crisis is expected to lead to higher unemployment in 2020. Disposable income will be supported by the indexation of wages in January 2020, the short-time unemployment scheme and other crisis-related measures implemented by the government. Specific measures are addressed to cross border workers such as teleworking arrangements and travel permits. Headline inflation is forecast to fall to 0.7% in 2020, mainly due to the sharp decline in oil prices, falling demand and the introduction of free public transport. A rebound to 1.6% is foreseen for 2021, on the back of some positive base effects related mainly to energy prices.

⁽¹²⁰⁾ Luxembourg's national accounts are subject to sometimes substantial revisions, amongst others due to methodological difficulties related to the important role of multinational firms and financial services in external trade.

The general government balance falls into deficit for the first time since 2010

The general government surplus declined from 3.1% of GDP in 2018 to 2.2% of GDP in 2019, as revenues declined by 0.6 pps. of GDP and expenditure increased by 0.3 pps.

The COVID-19 outbreak is expected to bring a sharp deterioration in public finances in 2020. The general government balance is projected to shift to a deficit of $4\frac{3}{4}\%$ of GDP. Revenues will be heavily affected; although increasing as a share of GDP to $45\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020, a decline in their absolute value is expected. Taxes on income and wealth are expected to decline by the lower profitability of the financial sector, which is the main contributor. The sharp decline in the stock market will bring a drop in the taxes collected on assets managed by the fund industry. The travel ban is expected to lead to drop in excises collected on the sales of fuels, tobacco and alcohol.

In line with the sizeable measures adopted by the government to combat the pandemic and its impact, expenditure is expected to shoot up to

501/4% of GDP. In particular, the existing shorttime working scheme has been extended to all companies affected by the current crisis, a new aid scheme to support SMEs in temporary financial difficulty has been introduced, and procedures for requesting special leave for family reasons due to school closure has been simplified. Additional expenditures in the context of health and crisis management are expected to boost government investment. Measures such as tax and social contribution deferrals, refundable loans and credit guarantees aimed at providing liquidity support to companies are not assumed to have a budgetary impact in 2020. Finally, the purchase of a military plane will have an impact on public investment (EUR 0.2 billion).

At unchanged policies and assuming that the measures adopted to fight the pandemic will have only a temporary effect in 2020 and that economic activity should recover in 2021, the government balance is forecast to improve close to a small surplus in 2021. Public debt is expected to increase from 22.1% of GDP in 2019 to $26\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020 and fall slightly to $25\frac{3}{4}\%$ in 2021.

Table II.12.1:

Main features of count	ry forecast -	LUXEMBOURG
------------------------	---------------	------------

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	mio EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		60053.1	100.0	3.1	4.6	1.8	3.1	2.3	-5.4	5.7
Private Consumption		17874.0	29.8	2.3	3.4	2.2	3.3	2.8	-4.1	4.6
Public Consumption		10004.5	16.7	3.1	1.0	4.7	4.1	4.8	6.3	4.1
Gross fixed capital formation		10096.4	16.8	2.9	4.6	5.6	-5.9	3.9	-12.0	8.5
of which: equipment		3164.0	5.3	3.9	-1.0	16.3	-22.2	12.5	-14.4	9.4
Exports (goods and services)		127047.7	211.6	6.1	2.6	0.7	0.5	0.8	-11.5	8.4
Imports (goods and services)		105419.8	175.5	6.5	1.6	0.6	-0.3	0.9	-12.0	8.8
GNI (GDP deflator)		38255.6	63.7	1.4	2.2	3.1	1.9	9.9	-2.1	4.8
Contribution to GDP growth:	I	Domestic demar	nd	1.9	2.0	2.4	0.5	2.3	-2.2	3.5
	I	nventories		0.1	-0.2	-1.1	0.9	-0.2	0.0	0.0
	I	Net exports		1.2	2.7	0.4	1.6	0.2	-3.2	2.2
Employment				3.1	3.0	3.4	3.7	3.6	0.9	3.1
Unemployment rate (a)				4.6	6.3	5.5	5.6	5.6	6.4	6.1
Compensation of employees / he	ead			3.0	0.8	3.0	3.3	1.7	1.8	2.4
Unit labour costs whole economy	/			3.0	-0.7	4.6	3.9	3.0	8.5	-0.2
Real unit labour cost				0.2	-1.5	2.8	1.3	-0.4	8.1	-2.9
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GDP deflator				2.7	0.8	1.7	2.5	3.4	0.4	2.8
Harmonised index of consumer p	rices			2.5	0.0	2.1	2.0	1.6	0.7	1.6
Terms of trade of goods				0.4	2.0	-1.4	0.4	-1.0	0.2	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-4.8	-1.1	-2.0	-2.0	-3.1	-2.6	-2.7
Current-account balance (c)				3.7	0.2	-0.9	0.0	4.5	4.5	4.5
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	s-a-vis ROW (c)		3.1	-0.4	-1.5	-0.7	4.0	4.1	4.1
General government balance (c)			1.6	1.8	1.3	3.1	2.2	-4.8	0.1
Cyclically-adjusted budget balan	nce (d)			1.9	1.4	1.0	2.2	1.2	-2.6	0.7
Structural budget balance (d)				-	1.4	1.0	2.2	1.2	-2.6	0.7
General government gross debt	(c)			14.0	20.1	22.3	21.0	22.1	26.4	25.7
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	isposable inco	ome. (c) as	a % of GDF	². (d) as a 🤅	% of poten	tial GDP.		

13. MALTA

Economic growth in Malta, which has been strong in recent years, is expected to turn negative in 2020 due to the outbreak of COVID-19. Private consumption and trade are projected to take a significant hit, while increased public spending should partially mitigate the effects of the recession. Employment is forecast to decline temporarily and the unemployment rate to increase. After several years in surplus, the general government balance is expected to slip into deficit and public debt to rise, as the government takes fiscal measures to offset the crisis.

A resilient economic growth model tested

After annual real GDP growth of 7.3% in 2018 and 4.4% in 2019, Malta's economy had already started to show signs of cooling before the COVID-19 outbreak. Domestic demand has been the main growth driver, underpinned by robust private consumption and investment. Economic sentiment had eased in recent months, but remained strong with steady confidence in industry and construction. Although exports have been losing steam, tourism still contributed significantly to GDP growth.



A temporary downturn led by services

Malta's economy will be severely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic this year. GDP is expected to contract by around 5³/₄% but should rebound by 6.0% in 2021. The lockdown and closure of non-essential businesses since March 26 is weighing on private consumption and service exports, with limited room for expenditure on recreation or food services. However, the initial tightness in the labour market and households' high saving rate may cushion the crisis' impact on consumption. Some large-scale investment projects in health and infrastructure are continuing, while other plans have been postponed.

The external sector is set to contribute negatively this year, reflecting a weaker external environment, elevated global uncertainty and a substantial decline in tourism revenues. A fall in domestic demand is expected to drag imports down at a slower pace than exports in 2020, before imports growth outpaces exports' in 2021. The current account surplus, which peaked in 2017, is projected to gradually narrow over the forecast horizon, but to remain high. An easing in general restrictions is expected to re-stimulate domestic demand in 2021, though it is set to remain below its 2019 level.

As a small open economy, Malta's economic outlook is highly sensitive to global uncertainties and the growth performance of its trading partners. Their economic development in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic may weigh on Malta's exports and pace of recovery more strongly than assumed in this forecast.

Tight labour market inevitably affected despite the government's financial packages

The fast pace of economic growth in Malta led to a record-low unemployment rate of 3.5% in 2019, but in the wake of the COVID-19 crisis, the temporary closure of tourism-related activities is set to have a harsh impact on employment. Despite the financial aid made available to employees and the government's measures to cushion the impact on corporates, the unemployment rate is projected to increase to around 6% in 2020 before decreasing again in 2021 to $4\frac{1}{2}$ %.

Inflation eases amid recession

Headline inflation is projected to moderate from 1.5% in 2019 to 0.7% in 2020 and 1.1% in 2021. The strong decline in energy prices should contribute to this slowdown with an expected fall in fuel prices in 2020. The interruption of hospitality-related activities will substantially impact services inflation as a result of demand

contraction and wage reductions. In turn, possible disruptions in supply-chains may create inflationary pressures for some imported goods.

Fiscal position set to deteriorate temporarily

In 2019, the government surplus declined to 0.5% of GDP from 1.9% a year earlier. The outcome fell short of the government's plans to assure a balanced budget when discounting for the proceeds of the Individual Investor Programme (citizenship scheme), mainly due to lower-than-budgeted VAT receipts. The favourable economic environment translated into strong growth in income taxes and social contributions. Nevertheless, outlays on intermediate consumption, wages and capital outpaced positive revenue developments.

In 2020, the general government balance is projected to swing into a large deficit of around 6³/₄% of GDP. Revenue from indirect taxes is set to decline as household consumption falls. Direct tax revenues are projected to record a slight positive growth given the assumed wage growth and profits recorded by companies in the previous year. The main drag on the fiscal balance will come from the financial packages adopted to combat the economic impact of COVID-19. Wage supplements, additional spending on healthcare and social benefits, and interest rate subsidies are expected to cost around 4% of GDP. Moreover, the social measures announced in the 2020 budget, which was prepared under a more favourable economic scenario, are expected to be implemented.

Assuming no changes in policies, which implies that the pandemic-related measures would be discontinued after a few months and healthcare spending would decline to pre-2020 levels, the general government balance should improve strongly, but remain in a deficit of around $2\frac{1}{2}$ % of GDP.

After declining steadily since 2011, the government debt-to-GDP ratio is forecast to surge to about 51% in 2020 and remain around this level in 2021, driven by adverse developments in the deficit.

Table II.13.1:

Main features of country forecast - MALTA

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	mio EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		12366.3	100.0	3.4	5.8	6.5	7.3	4.4	-5.8	6.0
Private Consumption		5406.0	43.7	2.2	2.4	3.4	7.6	2.4	-5.0	4.0
Public Consumption		1993.9	16.1	2.8	-3.0	1.8	12.7	12.0	12.8	-1.2
Gross fixed capital formation		2335.9	18.9	5.0	-0.3	-6.9	-2.1	7.2	-7.0	5.0
of which: equipment		768.9	6.2	-	13.0	-35.1	-10.7	1.7	-	-
Exports (goods and services)		17922.3	144.9	5.6	4.5	4.8	3.5	1.7	-9.3	12.0
Imports (goods and services)		15314.2	123.8	5.3	1.6	-0.5	3.4	2.1	-7.2	10.8
GNI (GDP deflator)		11352.2	91.8	3.1	2.4	6.0	7.7	4.0	-5.8	6.0
Contribution to GDP growth:	I	Domestic demar	nd	2.9	0.6	0.2	4.9	4.3	-1.3	2.4
	I	Inventories		-0.1	0.5	-1.7	1.6	0.2	-0.1	0.1
	I	Net exports		0.7	4.7	8.0	0.9	-0.2	-4.4	3.4
Employment				1.8	4.3	8.1	6.0	5.6	-1.8	2.8
Unemployment rate (a)				6.6	4.7	4.0	3.7	3.4	5.9	4.4
Compensation of employees / he	ad			3.7	2.9	-0.5	2.1	2.4	3.4	2.8
Unit labour costs whole economy				2.0	1.4	1.0	0.8	3.6	7.8	-0.3
Real unit labour cost				-0.4	-0.1	-1.5	-1.3	1.3	5.9	-1.5
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GDP deflator				2.5	1.5	2.5	2.1	2.3	1.8	1.3
Harmonised index of consumer p	ices			2.2	0.9	1.3	1.7	1.5	0.7	1.1
Terms of trade of goods				0.8	-4.2	4.4	2.7	1.1	3.1	0.4
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-15.8	-18.4	-12.6	-11.7	-11.8	-8.0	-11.4
Current-account balance (c)				-3.2	3.8	11.5	11.3	10.7	7.6	9.7
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-1.8	4.1	12.1	12.2	11.7	8.6	10.7
General government balance (c)	1			-3.7	1.0	3.3	1.9	0.5	-6.7	-2.5
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-3.6	-0.3	2.1	0.1	-1.3	-4.2	-1.3
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-0.1	2.3	0.0	-1.3	-4.2	-1.3
General government gross debt (c)			65.8	55.5	50.3	45.6	43.1	50.7	50.8
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	isposable inc	ome. (c) as	a % of GDF	?. (d) as a 🤅	% of poten	tial GDP.		

14. THE NETHERLANDS

The Netherlands is set to experience its sharpest post-war contraction in 2020, with both domestic demand and trade declining sharply. A rebound is expected next year as economic activity recovers, albeit from a very low level. Notwithstanding the broadening of the work-time reduction scheme, labour market conditions should deteriorate substantially. The authorities have adopted emergency measures to prevent structural damage to the economy, and automatic stabilisers are being allowed to operate in full. Consequently, the general government balance will go into a large deficit.

Sharp contraction in 2020

After growth of 1.8% in 2019, the COVID-19 pandemic has put an abrupt end to six consecutive years of economic expansion. In the baseline macroeconomic scenario, the Dutch economy is projected to contract by about 63/4% in 2020, the strongest recorded annual decline in the country's post-war history. All demand components, except public consumption, should contract sharply this year, with a projected trough in economic activity in the second quarter. For 2021, growth is expected to rebound, reflecting a gradual normalisation of economic activity and a recovery of domestic demand and global trade from a depressed level. Activity levels, however, are expected to remain below those of 2019.

Private consumption expenditure is expected to contract this year by around 91/2% with household spending constrained by the containment measures. Moreover, adverse unemployment expectations in combination with negative wealth effects are expected to boost precautionary savings, weighing further on household spending. The recovery of private consumption is likely to accelerate only towards the end of the year, as uncertainty fades out and pent-up demand takes over. Investment in equipment is projected to decline sharply this year given weak demand, high uncertainty, low capacity utilisation, as well as restricted access to credit. Construction investment, which was already hampered by low permit issuance and regulatory uncertainty, is set to slow considerably as well.

Global recession weighs on exports

As a highly open economy, the Netherlands is particularly sensitive to the collapse in world trade. However, the negative contribution of exports to growth is projected to be limited by a similarly sharp drop in imports. The latter can be linked to the decline in domestic demand, and the high import content of exports. In line with the projected global recovery, exports should see positive growth again in 2021.



Labour market to weaken considerably

The unemployment rate is forecast to rise to around 6% this year, after having reached an historic low of 2.9% in the months leading up to the crisis. Mandated business closures and the abrupt decline in economic activity are projected to have an adverse effect on employment in affected sectors. Employment protection measures - in particular the significant expansion of worktime reduction benefits and income support for the self-employed, which have already seen widespread recourse should help dampen employment Notwithstanding losses. these measures, the deterioration of the labour market is expected to unfold in the coming months as firms in heavily affected sectors inevitably shed labour, especially workers with flexible and temporary contracts. In 2021, the unemployment rate is projected to decline gradually to around 51/4% as economic activity recovers. For 2020, most wage agreements were concluded at a time of positive economic growth assumptions and higher inflation expectations. With these as a basis, nominal compensation of employees per full-time equivalent is expected to see continued growth of 2¹/₄% this year despite the deterioration in sentiment. Together with the substantial decline in production, this entails a sharp increase in unit labour costs. For 2021, labour market slack is set to put downward pressure on wage dynamics.

Subdued inflation dynamics ahead

Consumer prices are set to moderate to 0.8% this year, after having risen by 2.7% in 2019. Around 1.5 pps. of this decline reflects the base effect from the 2019 increase in indirect taxes. A sharp drop in oil prices, as well lower energy-related taxes and dissipating domestic inflationary pressures, put further downward pressure on inflation. As base effects fade away, headline inflation is expected to pick up to 1.3% in 2021.

Extraordinary budget measures to support the economy

The general government budget surplus, which stood at 1.7% of GDP in 2019, is projected to evaporate this year as emergency measures are implemented and automatic stabilisers function fully. The general government balance is forecast to reach a deficit of about $6\frac{1}{4}$ % of GDP in 2020 and around $3\frac{1}{2}$ % in 2021. Revenues are expected

to decrease sharply this year due to the projected drop in consumption, production and profitability.

Higher spending on social security and healthcare will lead to a strong increase in expenditure. Furthermore, the government has adopted a significant package of emergency measures with an estimated budgetary impact of more than $2\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP to help avoid structural damage to the economy. The measures focus on employment protection, household purchasing power and loan guarantees to support the flow of credit to the private sector and prevent temporary liquidity problems from morphing into insolvency issues.

In 2021, based on a no-policy-change assumption and assuming that the measures adopted to fight the pandemic only have a temporary effect in 2020, revenues are expected to increase again, leading to a gradual improvement in the deficit. Government debt is forecast to rise to around 62% of GDP and to decline again in 2021 to 58%. The large amount of loan guarantees present a significant downside risk to the budget balance.

Table II.14.1:

Main features of country forecast - NETHERLANDS

		2018				Annua	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		774.0	100.0	1.3	2.2	2.9	2.6	1.8	-6.8	5.0
Private Consumption		341.5	44.1	0.6	1.1	2.1	2.3	1.4	-9.5	7.2
Public Consumption		187.6	24.2	2.2	1.3	0.9	1.6	1.6	2.1	2.6
Gross fixed capital formation		157.5	20.3	1.4	-7.3	4.2	3.2	5.3	-11.2	5.9
of which: equipment		44.4	5.7	0.8	4.8	3.2	1.5	8.1	-15.1	9.1
Exports (goods and services)		652.7	84.3	4.2	1.7	6.5	3.7	2.4	-10.6	7.0
Imports (goods and services)		567.6	73.3	4.2	-2.0	6.2	3.3	3.1	-11.2	8.0
GNI (GDP deflator)		781.7	101.0	1.3	0.6	5.2	2.8	1.2	-7.6	4.9
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.1	-0.8	2.0	2.1	2.1	-6.0	4.9
		Inventories		0.0	0.1	0.0	-0.2	0.0	-0.1	0.0
		Net exports		0.3	2.9	0.9	0.7	-0.3	-0.7	0.0
Employment				0.4	2.1	2.2	2.6	1.8	-2.4	1.4
Unemployment rate (a)				4.8	6.0	4.9	3.8	3.4	5.9	5.3
Compensation of employees / f.t	.e.			2.7	1.2	1.0	1.7	2.9	2.2	1.5
Unit labour costs whole economy	/			1.7	1.1	0.3	1.8	3.0	7.0	-2.0
Real unit labour cost				-0.1	0.6	-1.0	-0.4	-0.1	5.9	-3.4
Saving rate of households (b)				12.3	16.6	15.3	15.1	15.1	20.9	18.1
GDP deflator				1.8	0.5	1.3	2.2	3.0	1.1	1.5
Harmonised index of consumer p	rices			2.0	0.1	1.3	1.6	2.7	0.8	1.3
Terms of trade goods				0.2	1.0	-0.3	-0.3	0.9	-0.1	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				8.2	9.3	9.7	9.6	8.5	8.2	7.7
Current-account balance (c)				6.7	8.1	10.8	11.2	10.2	9.0	8.4
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	is-a-vis ROW (c)		6.5	7.9	10.8	11.1	10.2	9.0	8.4
General government balance (c	:)			-2.0	0.0	1.3	1.4	1.7	-6.3	-3.5
Cyclically-adjusted budget balan	nce (d)			-1.6	0.5	0.9	0.4	0.8	-2.4	-1.6
Structural budget balance (d)				-	0.2	0.5	0.4	0.6	-2.4	-1.6
General government gross debt	(c)			55.5	61.9	56.9	52.4	48.6	62.1	57.6
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	savina divided	by adjusted gross o	disposable inc	ome. (c) as	a % of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

15. AUSTRIA

The GDP is forecast to contract sharply in 2020 as a result of the economic lockdown in the first half of the year. After the gradual lifting of the lockdown, the economy is expected to rebound, leading to a gradual recovery in 2021. The general government balance is set to materially deteriorate due to the economic downturn and fiscal packages launched to mitigate the socio-economic effects of the lockdown.

The health-policy response to the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to lead to a severe economic downturn

The rapid COVID-19 outbreak has strongly affected Austria's economy. National and international containment measures against the virus have hit both the demand and supply side of the economy, leading to a broad-based downturn. GDP is therefore projected to contract sharply by $5\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020, more than during the economic and financial crisis in 2008-2009. However, given the relatively rapid fall in new infections, Austria was one of the first European countries to announce a progressive relaxation of containment measures beginning in mid-April. The contraction in the first half of the year is therefore expected to be slightly less severe than in other Euro area countries. Assuming a gradual normalisation of economic activity, GDP growth is expected to rebound in the second half of the year followed by a solid recovery in 2021, reaching 5%.

Domestic and external demand to plummet in 2020

Private consumption is expected to drop in 2020 in light of the temporary closure of shops, businesses and restaurants and the domestic and cross-border travel restrictions, but also as the effect of the crisis takes its toll on the labour market. This, together with increased uncertainty, is expected to drive household precautionary savings upwards. Being a small, open economy, developments in Austria's economy are strongly linked to those in its main trading partners. Investment is projected to decline sharply given the disruptions to supply chains and the high uncertainty surrounding the severity and length of the crisis. The service sector has been hit particularly hard by the containment measures and in particular the travel restrictions. Usually, services make up almost half of total private consumption expenditure in Austria, whilst tourism-related services account for around 30% of total services exports. Overall, exports and imports

of goods and services are also expected to decrease strongly.



Strong increase in unemployment

Despite the quick policy response in setting up short-time work schemes, the effect of the crisis on the labour market has already been large. The number of registered unemployed increased by 50% to above 500,000 in March, affecting all sectors and services in particular. However, recent numbers suggest that the situation would have been noticeably worse without the measures. By the third week of April, support for more than 900.000 jobs had already been requested. In view of the relaxation of the containment measures and the projected rebound in the economy, the labour market is expected to start recovering in the second half of 2020. Overall, the unemployment rate is projected to increase from $4\frac{1}{2}$ % in 2019 to $5\frac{3}{4}$ % in 2020 and decrease to around 5% in 2021.

Fall in oil prices dampens inflation

The significant fall in oil prices is set to dampen inflation in 2020 to 1.1% before increasing again to 1.5% in 2021. The impact of the crisis on nonenergy prices is expected to put a drag on services prices in particular.

Risks mainly tilted to the downside

A main downward risk to the projections is the development in tourism-related sectors, which are expected to be the most affected in case of prolonged containment measures and travel restrictions. Another downward risk is linked to the labour market, especially in the services sector, if the recovery turns out slower than expected.

Public finances are set to deteriorate

From a surplus of 0.2% of GDP in 2018, the general government balance improved further to 0.7% of GDP over the course of 2019, thanks to the higher-than-expected receipts from wage and assessed-income taxes. In 2020, as a result of the major economic shock caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and related policy measures, the general government balance is expected to deteriorate significantly, reaching a deficit of 61/4% of GDP. On the revenue side, the expected decline in employment and corporate profits affects revenues from taxes on income and wealth, which are projected to decline by 3%. On the expenditure side, the acquisition of medical equipment increases intermediate consumption (+81/4%), while subsidies for the corporate sector go up as a result of funds made available for short-time work

arrangements and emergency aid for distressed companies (+227¼%). Overall, the budgetary impact of measures related to the COVID-19 pandemic amount to EUR 15 bn (4% of GDP). In 2021, based on the assumption of unchanged policies, the general government balance is expected to improve to -2% of GDP, on the back of a solid economic recovery. Expenditure-related measures to mitigate the socio-economic effects of the COVID-19 crisis are expected to be largely temporary, affecting mostly 2020.

Driven by the development of the general government balance, public debt is expected to deviate from its recent downward path. Standing at 70.4% of GDP in 2019, public debt is projected to increase to $78\frac{3}{4}\%$ of GDP in 2020 before decreasing to $75\frac{3}{4}\%$ in 2021. The improvement of Austria's budgetary position in 2021 rests largely on the expected economic recovery and the smooth return to economic normality. The main risks underlying the budgetary projections stem from the extent to which the COVID-19-related fiscal packages are used, including the materialisation of available state guarantees to firms.

Table II.15.1:

Main features of country forecast - AUSTRIA

		2018				Annual	percen	itage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		385.7	100.0	1.5	2.1	2.5	2.4	1.6	-5.5	5.0
Private Consumption		199.7	51.8	1.2	1.6	1.4	1.1	1.4	-4.8	4.9
Public Consumption		74.5	19.3	1.2	1.8	1.1	0.9	0.9	3.0	0.1
Gross fixed capital formation		92.4	23.9	0.9	4.1	4.0	3.9	2.9	-9.5	6.9
of which: equipment		31.1	8.1	1.1	9.3	6.3	4.3	3.4	-16.0	12.0
Exports (goods and services)		215.1	55.8	4.1	3.1	5.0	5.9	2.7	-12.5	10.3
Imports (goods and services)		200.7	52.0	3.6	3.7	5.0	4.6	2.8	-10.8	9.0
GNI (GDP deflator)		384.7	99.7	1.5	3.1	1.6	3.1	1.6	-5.6	5.0
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.1	2.1	1.9	1.7	1.6	-4.2	4.2
		Inventories		0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		0.4	-0.2	0.2	0.9	0.1	-1.3	0.9
Employment				-	1.3	1.7	1.7	1.2	-1.4	1.4
Unemployment rate (a)				4.8	6.0	5.5	4.9	4.5	5.8	4.9
Compensation of employees / f.t.	e.			2.2	2.4	1.6	2.9	2.9	0.7	1.2
Unit labour costs whole economy				1.5	1.6	0.8	2.2	2.4	5.1	-2.3
Real unit labour cost				-0.2	-0.1	-0.3	0.5	0.7	3.9	-3.3
Saving rate of households (b)				14.8	13.1	12.8	13.1	13.3	17.7	14.4
GDP deflator				1.8	1.7	1.1	1.7	1.7	1.2	1.1
Harmonised index of consumer pr	ices			1.9	1.0	2.2	2.1	1.5	1.1	1.5
Terms of trade goods				0.0	0.9	-1.8	-1.0	0.3	0.0	0.3
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-0.1	0.7	0.4	1.0	1.1	0.1	0.8
Current-account balance (c)				2.0	2.9	1.7	2.4	2.3	0.9	1.6
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	-a-vis ROW (c)		1.9	2.8	1.6	2.4	2.2	0.8	1.6
General government balance (c)				-2.4	-1.5	-0.8	0.2	0.7	-6.1	-1.9
Cyclically-adjusted budget balan	ce (d)			-2.3	-1.1	-1.0	-0.7	-0.3	-3.4	-1.1
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-1.1	-1.0	-0.7	-0.3	-3.4	-1.1
General government gross debt (c)			73.6	82.9	78.3	74.0	70.4	78.8	75.8
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	avina divided	by adjusted aross a	lisposable inc	ome (c) as	a % of GD	P (d) as a	% of note	ntial GDP		

(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross saving divided by adjusted gross disposable income. (c) as a % of GDP. (d) as a % of potenti-

Note : Contributions to GDP growth may not add up due to statistical discrepancies.

16. PORTUGAL

Economic activity is projected to fall sharply in 2020 due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The economy is expected to rebound strongly after the initial shock but in some sectors, particularly tourism, the aftershocks are expected to linger. The labour market is projected to suffer both temporary and medium-term setbacks. The pandemic is expected to take a temporary toll on public finances, which will be called to provide significant stabilisation in 2020 before improving again in 2021.

Economic outlook changes abruptly

Portugal's economy had been performing strongly up until the end of February 2020, but the economic situation changed dramatically in March when the COVID-19 pandemic hit. Authorities announced containment measures on 12 March and a state of emergency on 18 March with further restrictions on mobility. Many businesses suspended operations with tourism being the hardest hit. The Commission's economic sentiment indicator deteriorated strongly in March. Service providers reported the largest decline, while construction firms were the least affected. All in all, after growing by 2.2% in 2019, the economy is now projected to contract by 63/4% in 2020 and to rebound by 5³/₄% in 2021. As a result, GDP is projected to remain below its 2019 levels well into 2021. Risks are tilted to the downside, given Portugal's reliance on foreign tourism.



Domestic demand is expected to contract substantially in 2020. Private consumption is projected to drop at a slightly lower rate than GDP as policy measures partly offset household income losses. Investment in equipment is expected to be the hardest hit due to lingering uncertainty and disruptions to global supply chains. At the same time, investment in construction is expected to be more resilient, benefiting from the cycle and the newly introduced flexibility in EU funds.

Both exports and imports are projected to drop at double digit rates in 2020 and to recover substantially in 2021. Exports are set to decrease relatively more, in light of the sizeable revenues Portugal typically earns from foreign tourists (about 8.7% of GDP in 2019) and targeted social distancing measures affecting services over the second half of 2020. Still, the strong drop in equipment investment and durable goods consumption weighs down on imports and should partly offset the fall in exports. In nominal terms, the trade balance is also expected to benefit from the drop in oil prices keeping the overall current account at a relatively small deficit.

Unemployment set to rise sharply in 2020

The sudden drop in economic activity in March 2020 led to a significant increase in unemployment registrations, despite the significant job-support measures enacted. Many of the job cuts are likely to be temporary, but the expected slow recovery in tourism and related services is likely to have a negative impact on labour demand over a longer period. The unemployment rate is therefore set to rise from 6.5% in 2019 to about $9\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020 before improving to around $7\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2021. Labour income will also be affected by reduced working hours in 2020, which imply lower productivity per employee.

Inflation to remain low

In 2019, annual headline inflation remained low at 0.3%, mainly driven by a significant decline in energy prices. The negative contribution of energy prices is expected to be even more pronounced in 2020. At the same time, the government's containment measures and the subsequent limits to the supply of labour and production capacities may generate inflationary pressures in certain goods, such as food and healthcare products. However, downward pressures are expected to prevail and

inflation is set to be slightly negative in 2020. Owing to the economic recovery in 2021, inflation is projected to pick up moderately to 1.2%.

Public finances to worsen in view of COVID-19

The general government headline balance turned into a surplus of 0.2% of GDP in 2019, helped by strong revenue performance (especially in social contributions and indirect taxes) and continuously decreasing interest expenditure. Excluding the impact of a further activation of the Novo Banco contingent capital mechanism (of 0.5% of GDP last year) and other one-offs, the general government balance would have reached a surplus of 0.8% of GDP in 2019.

It is expected that the economic and social consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic will cause a sizeable deterioration in the general government balance in 2020, reflecting the operation of the automatic stabilisers and the need for significant fiscal policy support. The government adopted fiscal policy measures to reinforce the response capacity of the health system, protect jobs, provide social support and safeguard firms' liquidity, with an estimated overall direct budgetary cost of around 2½% of

GDP. As a result, a general government deficit of 6½ of GDP is projected this year. This deterioration is driven by increases in most expenditure items (particularly subsidies and social transfers), as well as decreases in current revenue reflecting a strong contraction in the relevant tax bases.

Under a no-policy-change assumption, the deficit is projected to decrease swiftly in 2021, on the back of the expected economic recovery and the phasing-out of fiscal policy measures taken to tackle the pandemic. Risks to the budgetary forecast are tilted to the downside, linked to uncertainties surrounding the country's epidemic curve and the persistence of its economic and social effects, as well as the surge in public contingent liabilities on top of non-negligible preexisting levels partly related to potential further fiscal impacts of additional bank support measures.

The general government debt ratio continued to decline to 117.7% of GDP in 2019. It is now set to increase to $131\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP in 2020 before resuming its decreasing path in 2021, when it is set to drop to $124\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP.

Table II.16.1:

Main features of country forecast - PORTUGAL

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		204.3	100.0	0.4	2.0	3.5	2.6	2.2	-6.8	5.8
Private Consumption		131.9	64.6	0.6	2.6	2.1	2.9	2.2	-5.8	5.3
Public Consumption		34.6	16.9	0.7	0.8	0.2	0.9	1.1	2.4	-1.5
Gross fixed capital formation		35.8	17.5	-2.5	2.5	11.5	5.8	6.3	-8.6	8.9
of which: equipment		11.7	5.7	-0.7	8.0	12.4	7.5	2.6	-26.9	26.2
Exports (goods and services)		89.3	43.7	4.1	4.4	8.4	4.5	3.7	-14.1	13.2
Imports (goods and services)		88.4	43.3	2.2	5.0	8.1	5.7	5.2	-10.3	10.3
GNI (GDP deflator)		199.3	97.5	0.3	2.3	3.6	2.5	2.2	-6.8	5.6
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	0.0	2.2	3.2	3.0	2.7	-4.9	4.7
		Inventories		-0.1	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.0	-0.2	0.1
		Net exports		0.5	-0.2	0.2	-0.5	-0.6	-1.6	1.0
Employment				-0.5	1.6	3.3	2.3	0.8	-3.4	2.7
Unemployment rate (a)				9.4	11.2	9.0	7.1	6.5	9.7	7.4
Compensation of employees / he	ad			2.1	1.2	2.3	2.5	2.8	0.2	1.7
Unit labour costs whole economy				1.2	0.8	2.1	2.2	1.4	3.8	-1.3
Real unit labour cost				-0.9	-0.9	0.6	0.6	-0.4	2.5	-2.7
Saving rate of households (b)				9.8	7.0	6.6	6.7	6.7	9.0	6.9
GDP deflator				2.1	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.2	1.4
Harmonised index of consumer pr	ices			2.1	0.6	1.6	1.2	0.3	-0.2	1.2
Terms of trade goods				0.2	0.9	-1.1	-0.4	0.4	2.0	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-9.8	-5.5	-7.0	-8.0	-8.1	-7.1	-7.4
Current-account balance (c)				-7.0	0.6	1.0	0.2	0.0	-0.6	-0.2
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	-a-vis ROW (c)		-5.5	1.5	1.8	1.2	0.8	0.5	0.8
General government balance (c)				-5.8	-1.9	-3.0	-0.4	0.2	-6.5	-1.8
Cyclically-adjusted budget balan	ce (d)			-5.4	-1.6	-3.6	-1.6	-1.1	-3.6	-0.9
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-2.0	-1.6	-0.9	-0.5	-3.2	-1.2
General government gross debt (c)			89.0	131.5	126.1	122.0	117.7	131.6	124.4
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross s	aving divided	by adjusted gross d	isposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

17. SLOVENIA

Economic growth in Slovenia was already slowing in the second half of 2019, when investment spending started to hit the breaks. As a small open economy, Slovenia is particularly vulnerable to the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. The economy is projected to shrink significantly in 2020, but the large stimulus package announced by the authorities is expected to partly cushion losses to employment and household incomes and pave the way to a strong rebound in 2021. Public finances are expected to go into significant deficit in 2020, due to the loss of revenues and the sizeable measures to support the economy, and to improve in 2021 together with the recovering economy.

Expected slump in 2020 and recovery in 2021

Slovenia's economy grew by 2.4% in 2019. Although growth was moderating in the second half of the year, Slovenia entered this crisis in a relatively strong position, with the winter forecast projecting GDP to grow at 2.7% this year.

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the economy is expected to contract by about 7% in 2020. Supply disruptions and containment measures are expected to produce strong negative effects, especially in the first half of 2020. Falling demand, both at home and abroad, is set to take a heavy toll. Consumers, unable to spend due to restrictions and with uncertain income prospects, are expected to increase their saving significantly. The export of services (particularly transport and tourism) is expected to be exceptionally weak in 2020. Due to lingering uncertainty and supply chain disruptions, new investment decisions in the private sector are likely to be largely postponed towards 2021. The worst affected sectors are expected to be services, particularly trade. transport. food and accommodation and real estate services. Although most factories have remained open during the period of confinement, the manufacturing sector has not been entirely insulated. Export decline is compensated by broadly similar drop in imports and the current account surplus is set to remain unchanged.

As containment measures are lifted, in line with the assumption underlying this forecast, economic activity is expected to rebound. This recovery is set to benefit from the strong policy measures taken to shore up employment and to cushion income falls for the affected households and enterprises during the downturn. All in all, economic activity is to grow by about 6 ³/₄% in 2021, which means that GDP would not fully recover its 2019 level by the end of 2021.



Labour market supported by policy measures

The unprecedented nature of government measures is expected to significantly dampen the impact of the crisis on the labour market. Nevertheless, employment is forecast to fall by about 2 $\frac{3}{40}$ in 2020, with the unemployment rate increasing to 7.0%. Hand in hand with the recovery, the unemployment rate is forecast to decrease again to around 5% in 2021, remaining higher than before the crisis.

Due to low energy prices and weak demand, inflation is expected to fall to 0.5% in 2020 before rising to 1.2% in 2021.

Pandemic relief measures to significantly impact the general government deficit in 2020

Slovenia's general government surplus decreased from 0.7% of GDP in 2018 to 0.5% of GDP in 2019. In 2020, the general government balance is forecast to deteriorate significantly to a deficit of around 7 ¼% of GDP, due to the projected decline in economic activity and the measures adopted to mitigate the economic and social impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Those measures include: (i) higher healthcare spending; (ii) wage and social security contribution compensation for temporarily laid-off workers and the self-employed; (iii) pension contribution compensation for workers remaining in the workplace; (iv) one-off payments for vulnerable groups; and (v) crisis bonus for public sector employees performing hazardous or over-time work. The total estimated budgetary impact of the measures amounts to around 4% of GDP.

In 2021, under a no-policy-change assumption, the general government deficit is expected to decrease to around 2% of GDP. This is due to the assumption that the measures adopted to fight the pandemic only have a temporary effect in 2020

and due to the expected recovery of domestic demand and positive projected developments on the labour market. The forecast for public finances is subject to downside risks.

Slovenia's debt-to-GDP ratio continued declining to 66.1% of GDP in 2019, from 70.4% of GDP in 2018. However, the ratio is forecast to increase significantly to around 83 ³/₄% of GDP in 2020, driven by the high projected deficit and stock-flow adjustment due to tax deferrals and pre-financing for 2021, and to start declining again in 2021.

Table II.17.1:

Main features of country forecast - SLOVENIA

		2018				Annua	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		45.8	100.0	2.0	3.1	4.8	4.1	2.4	-7.0	6.7
Private Consumption		23.7	51.9	1.6	4.4	2.0	2.8	2.7	-6.1	6.3
Public Consumption		8.4	18.3	1.8	2.5	0.3	3.2	1.6	4.7	0.5
Gross fixed capital formation		8.8	19.2	-0.3	-3.7	10.4	9.1	3.2	-13.0	11.7
of which: equipment		3.8	8.2	1.4	7.4	12.5	10.6	1.4	-19.5	21.8
Exports (goods and services)		38.8	84.8	6.1	6.5	10.5	6.1	4.4	-12.4	13.5
Imports (goods and services)		34.8	76.0	4.6	6.7	10.1	6.6	4.2	-11.4	14.8
GNI (GDP deflator)		45.0	98.4	1.9	3.7	5.6	4.4	2.8	-6.9	6.4
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.2	2.1	2.9	3.7	2.3	-4.8	5.3
		Inventories		0.0	0.6	0.7	0.2	-0.4	-0.3	1.0
		Net exports		0.9	0.4	1.2	0.2	0.5	-1.9	0.3
Employment				0.3	1.8	3.0	3.2	2.4	-2.7	2.0
Unemployment rate (a)				7.1	8.0	6.6	5.1	4.5	7.0	5.1
Compensation of employees / he	ad			4.9	3.1	3.0	3.9	4.5	1.6	1.2
Unit labour costs whole economy				3.1	1.8	1.2	3.0	4.5	6.3	-3.3
Real unit labour cost				0.0	1.1	-0.4	0.7	2.0	4.0	-4.2
Saving rate of households (b)				13.1	11.5	12.6	13.3	15.1	20.6	18.2
GDP deflator				3.1	0.8	1.6	2.2	2.4	2.1	0.9
Harmonised index of consumer pr	ices			3.6	-0.2	1.6	1.9	1.7	0.5	1.2
Terms of trade goods				-0.4	0.8	-0.6	-0.2	0.3	2.9	0.6
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-2.0	3.8	3.8	2.8	2.9	4.0	3.6
Current-account balance (c)				-1.0	4.9	6.4	6.3	6.8	6.8	6.8
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-0.8	4.1	5.6	5.8	6.5	6.4	6.4
General government balance (c))			-4.0	-1.9	0.0	0.7	0.5	-7.2	-2.1
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-4.0	-1.2	-0.7	-0.7	-0.9	-4.5	-1.2
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-1.0	-0.6	-0.6	-0.8	-4.4	-1.2
General government gross debt (c)			39.7	78.7	74.1	70.4	66.1	83.7	79.9
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross a	disposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

18. SLOVAKIA

In the wake of the COVID-19 crisis, Slovakia's economy is expected to enter into a deep recession in 2020 as private consumption, investment and trade suffer. As the impact of COVID-19 and the containment measures put in place to fight it are likely to subside in the second half of 2020, a swift recovery is expected in 2021. Consumer price inflation is projected to moderate substantially due to lower energy prices and less demand-pull inflation. Increased public spending should mitigate the recession and aid the recovery, but sharply increase the general government deficit in 2020 and 2021.

A deep recession and a swift recovery

After expanding by 2.3% in 2019, real GDP in Slovakia is forecast to contract sharply by 63/4% in 2020, but to then recover swiftly as containment measures are lifted and grow by 61/2% in 2021. Despite substantial government measures put in place to cushion the impact, the COVID-19 crisis is projected to temporarily suppress domestic demand, the main driver of both the recession in 2020 and the recovery in 2021. Private consumption is expected to drop sharply in 2020 as consumers withhold spending due to closed stores, travel restrictions and higher precautionary savings. It is expected to recover in 2021, but not to fully return to its previous trajectory, as employment and wage growth are also impacted. The uncertainty, liquidity constraints and restrictions to business activity are projected to weigh even more heavily on investment growth in 2020. Trade is also projected to decrease sharply in 2020, but to offset most of the losses in 2021.



Trade outlook marked by recession

Supply chain disruptions and weaker demand in key EU trading partners are expected to take their toll on exports in 2020. However, goods, the bulk of Slovakia's exports, are expected to recover relatively quickly and post high growth rates in the second half of 2020 and in 2021. This is particularly the case for Slovakia's large automotive sector. As imports are expected to display a similar pattern, net exports are unlikely to act as a significant drag on growth. While the recovery in trade remains subject to uncertainties and depends on prospects in key trading partners and on demand in the automotive sector, Slovakia is well-positioned to regain export market shares.

Employment to fall in 2020 but partially recover in 2021

The limited duration of the crisis and public support are projected to mitigate the fallout on the labour market. Nevertheless, after years of strong employment growth, Slovakia's economy is expected to shed jobs amid the recession. The unemployment rate is projected to rise from its record low of 5.8% in 2019 to 8³/₄% in 2020. Strong economic growth in 2021 is expected to bring a marked, but not full recovery to employment in 2021, with the unemployment rate decreasing to 7%. Wage growth is also expected to slow markedly from the high rates seen in recent years. While these developments weigh on household disposable income, the latter remains relatively robust, in part aided by government measures. The saving rate is expected to increase sharply in 2020 as consumers refrain from spending, though this development is projected to be largely reversed in 2021.

Inflation slows amid recession and lower energy prices

Headline inflation is forecast to slow substantially over the forecast horizon, moderating from 2.8% in 2019 to 1.9% in 2020 and 1.1% in 2021. Energy prices contribute markedly to the slowdown, as oil prices have recently collapsed. This is expected to sharply reduce regulated energy prices in 2021. Service price inflation is also expected to slow as the recession weighs on demand and on wage growth. Food prices are likely to grow more swiftly than overall inflation.

Deficit and debt to rise strongly

In 2019, the general government deficit of 1.3% of GDP turned out to be higher than the budget target of 0.5%. The worse-than-expected outturn was the result of the lower local governments' surplus, higher subsidies and public wages, higher spending on healthcare and social security systems, as well as military equipment purchases. Higher-than-expected expenditure was carried over from previous years and outpaced the solid growth in tax revenues, driven by robust labour market developments and buoyant household consumption.

In 2020, the general government deficit is expected to increase to $8\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP. This is the result of both a sharp decline in tax revenue, reflecting the economic downturn, and the introduction of fiscal support measures to counteract the economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. The estimated decrease in tax revenues attributable to macroeconomic fundamentals is around 3% of GDP. The impact of the measures on the

expenditure side is estimated at above 21/4% of GDP and of $1\frac{1}{4}$ % of GDP on the revenue side in 2020. Key measures increasing the general government deficit include employment support schemes, as well as sickness and nursing benefits. An accelerated drawing and reallocation of EU funds offsets the cost of these measures by around 1% of GDP. Shifting payments in time, such as postponed employer social security contributions, waived income tax advance payments and the losscarry forward used in tax returns for 2019, are likely to have a limited impact on the overall 2020 deficit. The general government balance is also negatively impacted by the delaved implementation of the online connection of all cash registers to the financial administration and the introduction of the regular 13th pensions at the beginning of the year.

In 2021, under a no-policy-change assumption, the general government deficit is forecast to decline to close to 4% of GDP. The use of EU funds is set to increase as the end of the programming period nears. The general government debt-to-GDP ratio is forecast to increase to nearly 60% of GDP in both 2020 and 2021.

Table II.18.1:

|--|

	2018					Annual percentage change							
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021			
GDP		89.7	100.0	4.0	2.1	3.0	4.0	2.3	-6.7	6.6			
Private Consumption		50.2	55.9	3.1	3.9	4.3	3.9	2.2	-7.1	7.2			
Public Consumption		16.7	18.6	2.7	1.9	1.0	0.2	3.8	4.2	1.5			
Gross fixed capital formation		19.0	21.2	3.0	-9.3	3.9	3.7	4.4	-14.7	10.7			
of which: equipment		8.4	9.3	4.3	-2.0	0.8	-3.5	4.8	-24.1	18.7			
Exports (goods and services)		86.2	96.1	9.5	5.0	3.5	5.4	1.7	-12.4	13.4			
Imports (goods and services)		84.4	94.1	8.0	4.8	3.9	5.0	2.6	-12.6	13.3			
GNI (GDP deflator)		88.3	98.4	3.8	2.0	3.6	4.5	2.3	-7.1	6.9			
Contribution to GDP growth:	I	Domestic deman	d	3.0	0.2	3.4	3.0	2.9	-6.3	6.4			
	I	Inventories		0.1	1.6	-0.2	0.5	0.2	-0.5	0.0			
		Net exports		0.9	0.3	-0.2	0.5	-0.8	0.1	0.3			
Employment				0.6	2.4	2.2	2.0	1.2	-3.4	2.0			
Unemployment rate (a)				14.7	9.7	8.1	6.5	5.8	8.8	7.1			
Compensation of employees / head	ł			6.0	2.2	5.4	5.6	6.2	1.3	2.5			
Unit labour costs whole economy				2.5	2.5	4.5	3.5	5.1	4.9	-2.0			
Real unit labour cost				0.0	3.0	3.3	1.4	2.4	2.7	-3.2			
Saving rate of households (b)				7.5	8.6	8.2	8.4	7.7	17.1	10.0			
GDP deflator				2.6	-0.5	1.2	2.0	2.6	2.2	1.3			
Harmonised index of consumer price	es			3.8	-0.5	1.4	2.5	2.8	1.9	1.1			
Terms of trade goods				-0.5	-0.4	-0.8	-0.9	-0.3	0.1	0.0			
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-1.7	2.3	1.1	1.1	0.3	0.5	0.5			
Current-account balance (c)				-3.0	-2.0	-1.8	-1.6	-2.6	-2.9	-2.4			
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-a-	vis ROW (c)		-2.5	-2.1	-2.5	-1.3	-2.3	-2.6	-2.2			
General government balance (c)				-4.9	-2.5	-1.0	-1.0	-1.3	-8.5	-4.2			
Cyclically-adjusted budget balance	e (d)			-4.7	-2.4	-1.3	-2.1	-2.3	-6.6	-4.0			
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-2.3	-1.3	-2.1	-2.3	-6.6	-4.0			
General government gross debt (c)				43.1	52.0	51.3	49.4	48.0	59.5	59.9			

(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross saving divided by adjusted gross disposable income. (c) as a % of GDP. (d) as a % of potential GDP.

19. FINLAND

Economic activity in Finland is being severely affected as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the measures taken to contain it. Still, thanks to unprecedented fiscal support, the economy is expected to rebound in line with the gradual lifting of containment measures, although it is not expected to re-attain its 2019 level over the forecast horizon. Public finances will be impacted by the measures taken to counteract the crisis, with both the general government deficit and debt growing significantly in 2020.

Economic growth to plunge

The economy ended last year on a weak footing. GDP growth unexpectedly decreased in the fourth quarter of 2019, bringing the annual GDP growth rate down to 1.0%, after 1.6% in 2018. Growth in 2019 was strongly driven by exports and private consumption, while investment spending contracted.

As a consequence of measures taken to contain the COVID-19 pandemic, GDP is forecast to contract sharply by about 6¼% in 2020, before rebounding 3¾% in 2021. As the main outbreak started later in Finland, the main blow is set for the second quarter of this year, followed by a rebound in the third quarter once the bulk of the containment measures are lifted.

All demand components, except government consumption, are expected to fall in 2020. High uncertainties and rising unemployment is set to weigh on private consumption. Even households whose purchasing power is unaffected by the crisis are expected to increase precautionary savings, delaying discretionary spending. This effect is expected to slowly fade with the end of the outbreak, and private consumption should recover progressively in 2021. A strong, temporary increase in government spending and exceptional liquidity measures should soften the direct impact of the crisis during the most critical period.

Investment spending is set to fall sharply in 2020 due to uncertainties causing weak demand in both the housing market and the business sector. Public investment is expected to provide some stimulus over the crisis period, while a recovery in private investment is likely to take hold only in 2021, as surviving businesses get a clearer view of the demand outlook. Faltering external demand is initially set to bring exports down much more than imports. Exports are forecast to improve in line with the expected recovery in Finland's main trading partners, but only gradually. Consequently, net exports' contribution to GDP is forecast to turn negative. Falling productivity is likely to hit Finland's cost competitiveness.

Grim employment outlook and low inflation

The labour market, already stagnant prior to the crisis, is set to be strongly affected. Because of falling output, unemployment is set to rise markedly in mid-2020. As activity resumes, unemployment should start to fall, but remain at a higher level in 2021 than in 2019. Wages are expected to rise due to the wage bargaining agreements reached before the crisis hit, while unit labour costs are projected to rise even faster due to labour hoarding. Headline inflation is forecast to be even lower than in 2019, followed by a minor rise in 2021. The decrease in consumer demand and sharp declines in energy and commodity prices are set to outweigh the expected rise in food prices.



This forecast scenario is subject to downside risks mostly relating to the length and severity of the pandemic-induced domestic and foreign demand shock. A more prolonged crisis in some leisurerelated activities, such as the cruise ship industry, could cause a sizeable additional shock. At the same time, Finland's main trading partners might enter recovery period more quickly than expected.

Commensurate fiscal response

Actions taken to contain the spread of the virus are set to take a heavy toll on public finances. This additional burden weighs on the 2020 budget that frontloaded expenditure related to implementation of the 2019-2023 government programme.

The fiscal cost of the pandemic relief measures adopted by mid-April 2020 amounts to about 1.7% of GDP. Most of them consist of subsidies for the most affected sectors of the economy, helping SMEs and the self-employed get through the lockdown period. The government also decided on the temporary lowering of pension contributions for private employers. The measures cover also the direct costs of dealing with the epidemic such as spending on healthcare and medical supplies, public order and border protection. The indirect impact of the crisis reflects the functioning of automatic stabilisers and stems from lower government revenues due to the economic recession and higher expenditure on social security. The overall impact of the crisis is currently projected to deteriorate the general

government balance to $-7\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP in 2020.

Although a robust economic recovery is expected in 2021, government revenues are expected to remain below their pre-crisis forecasts, based on a no-policy-change assumption. The bulk of expenditure related to the pandemic has been temporary in nature and is expected to be fully cancelled by the end of 2020, but some business support programmes are set to continue in the following years. Furthermore, the government is expected to incur some losses from the loans and investments it has guaranteed. Consequently, the general government balance projected for 2021 is $-3\frac{1}{2}$ of GDP.

The public debt-to-GDP ratio is expected to jump by around 10 pps. in 2020. This is the result of the high deficit of the general government as well as some measures not recorded in the deficit, such as tax deferrals and investments in private companies. In 2021, the debt ratio is projected to marginally further deteriorate.

		2018		Annual percentage change								
	bn EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021		
GDP		233.6	100.0	1.5	2.7	3.1	1.6	1.0	-6.3	3.		
Private Consumption		123.7	53.0	2.0	2.4	1.0	1.7	1.0	-7.9	4.		
Public Consumption		53.4	22.9	1.2	0.7	-0.2	2.1	0.9	6.0	-2.4		
Gross fixed capital formation		55.8	23.9	0.9	8.8	4.0	3.7	-0.8	-9.8	9.		
of which: equipment		12.4	5.3	0.8	13.4	6.4	-0.3	0.2	-17.4	15.		
Exports (goods and services)		90.2	38.6	2.8	3.7	8.8	1.7	7.2	-10.7	7.		
Imports (goods and services)		92.5	39.6	3.7	5.8	4.1	5.5	2.2	-8.6	8.		
GNI (GDP deflator)		234.4	100.4	1.6	2.2	2.6	2.0	0.4	-6.4	3.		
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.5	3.3	1.4	2.3	0.5	-5.1	4.		
		Inventories		0.1	0.1	0.1	0.5	-0.8	-0.4	0.		
		Net exports		-0.1	-0.8	1.6	-1.4	1.9	-0.9	-0.3		
Employment				0.7	0.5	1.0	2.5	1.0	-2.5	1.		
Unemployment rate (a)				8.4	8.8	8.6	7.4	6.7	8.3	7.		
Compensation of employees / hea	d			2.7	0.9	-1.1	1.3	1.6	2.1	2.		
Unit labour costs whole economy				1.9	-1.3	-3.1	2.2	1.6	6.3	0.:		
Real unit labour cost				0.2	-1.5	-3.7	0.4	-0.2	4.5	-1.		
Saving rate of households (b)				8.1	6.3	6.7	7.3	8.1	18.3	14.:		
GDP deflator				1.7	0.2	0.7	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.4		
Harmonised index of consumer pric	es			1.8	0.4	0.8	1.2	1.1	0.5	1.4		
Terms of trade goods				-0.7	0.0	-0.9	0.9	-0.9	1.4	0.3		
Trade balance (goods) (c)				6.1	0.0	0.7	0.1	1.1	0.4	0.4		
Current-account balance (c)				2.8	-1.9	-0.8	-1.6	-0.8	-1.3	-1.4		
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-c	a-vis ROW (c)		2.9	-1.9	-0.7	-1.6	-0.7	-1.2	-1.4		
General government balance (c)				1.3	-1.7	-0.7	-0.9	-1.1	-7.4	-3.		
Cyclically-adjusted budget balance	e (d)			1.3	-0.9	-1.1	-1.5	-1.6	-4.2	-1.4		
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-0.9	-1.1	-1.4	-1.7	-4.2	-1.		
General government gross debt (c)				45.2	63.2	61.3	59.6	59.4	69.4	69.		

Table II.19.1:

Main features of country forecast - FINLAND

(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross saving divided by adjusted gross disposable income. (c) as a % of GDP. (d) as a % of potential GDP.

Note : Contributions to GDP growth may not add up due to statistical discrepancies.

Non-EA Member States

20. BULGARIA

The strength of Bulgaria's economy and the positive external and fiscal balances before the outbreak of COVID-19 should help it recover from the large economic shock caused by the pandemic. Unemployment is already increasing, albeit from historic lows, even though government support is cushioning the blow to the labour market. Investment is projected to fall sharply in 2020 and to recover partially in 2021. Household consumption, improvements in the labour market and a return of export growth should drive a recovery in 2021.

Sharp recession followed by a partial recovery

At the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, economic conditions in Bulgaria were favourable. At 3.4%, GDP growth in 2019 was robust for the fifth year in a row, mainly driven by growing household consumption. This positive trend has been interrupted by the COVID-19 outbreak. Bulgaria's real GDP is projected to contract by over 7% in 2020, largely due to the adverse impact of measures taken to contain the spread of the pandemic following the declaration of a state of emergency on 13 March 2020. The sectors directly subject to these measures (e.g. retail, transport, hotels and restaurants, art and entertainment) are estimated to be operating at 30-40% of their capacity, while important negative spillover effects are also expected on the rest of the economy.

A rebound in economic activity is expected in the second half of 2020 with the gradual lifting of the confinement measures. Domestic demand is projected to strengthen already in the third quarter and should continue growing in the fourth.

Government measures to protect income and employment should support household consumption, which is nevertheless expected to fall by almost 6% in 2020. Investment is set to shrink by 18% in 2020 on account of current and expected financial hardship at the firm level due to drastically reduced cash flows. Liquidity support schemes are expected to mitigate chain defaults but not to stimulate new investment.

The slowdown of international economic activity has had a negative effect on Bulgaria's exports since end-2019. In 2020, a broad-based fall in exports of more than 13% is expected, mainly due to the worldwide impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Imports are expected to contract by more than 12%, mainly due to the large fall in investment but also due to the decline in exports, which have a significant import content. In 2021, growth is forecast to rebound to around 6%, partially offsetting the decline in 2020. Private consumption is set to drive the recovery, as the labour market is expected to improve. Growth is also forecast to benefit from an assumed rebound in exports. Investment, however, is expected to follow a slower recovery path with an annual growth of only 1%, as high uncertainty and still weak business finances are set to supress and postpone investment activity.



Risks to this macroeconomic outlook arise from the uncertainty on the degree of take up and success of the measures to support the economy. The impact of the epidemic on consumption patterns will also be critical for the strength and duration of the recovery phase.

Unemployment rate surges from historic lows

The unemployment rate has increased significantly since the COVID-19 containment measures were put in place, boosted in part by the return of workers from abroad. Job losses are set to be most pronounced in the services sector (which accounts for more than 60% of employment), where the disruption is likely to last longest. The unemployment rate is expected to jump to 7% in 2020, after having reached historic lows of 4.2% in 2019. In 2021, a partial recovery in employment is projected to take place and the unemployment rate to decrease to 53/4%. Nominal wage growth, after years of substantial gains, is expected to moderate to 31/2% in 2020 and 21/4% in 2021.

Oil price shock pushing down inflation

Consumer price inflation is expected to fall from 2.5% in 2019 to 1.1% in 2020 and stay at that level in 2021. This can be largely explained by the sizeable impact of the collapse in oil prices. Core inflation is set to fall to 2% in 2020 reflecting lower prices in non-energy industrial goods and a slowdown in services inflation. In 2021, core inflation is forecast to decelerate further to 1.3% due to a smaller price increase of processed food.

Fiscal policy to support public health and the economy

Bulgaria is facing the COVID-19 pandemic from a strong fiscal position. In 2019, the budget surplus reached 2.1% of GDP. As part of the package of measures to contain the pandemic and its impact the government announced a higher spending on

medical equipment, wage bonuses and increases for the medical and security staff, as well as subsidies, tax deferrals, state guarantees and a reallocation of investment funds to support the economy. The severe macroeconomic outlook is set to increase spending on unemployment and social benefits and curtail the revenue from taxes. The overall impact on the budget is estimated to be close to 5 pps. of GDP relative to the previous year, pushing the balance into a deficit of around $2^{3}/4\%$ of GDP in 2020 after four years of surplus.

In 2021, based on a no-policy-change assumption, the budget deficit is forecast at 1³/₄% of GDP, mainly due to the positive impact of higher economic growth on revenues and the fading impact of some expenditure measures. General government debt is expected to increase and reach over 25% of GDP in both 2020 and 2021, as a result of the primary deficit, the contraction in GDP and certain measures to support liquidity in the economy (e.g. the capital strengthening of the Bulgarian Development Bank to provide state guaranteed loans) that do not affect the deficit but which do weigh on debt.

Table II.20.1:

Main features of country forecast - BULGARIA

	2018				Annual percentage change							
	bn BGN	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021		
GDP		109.7	100.0	3.6	3.8	3.5	3.1	3.4	-7.2	6.0		
Private Consumption		65.5	59.7	4.6	3.5	3.8	4.4	5.8	-5.8	5.6		
Public Consumption		18.0	16.5	1.4	2.2	4.3	5.3	5.5	4.0	0.7		
Gross fixed capital formation		20.6	18.8	6.4	-6.6	3.2	5.4	2.2	-18.0	1.0		
of which: equipment		8.5	7.7	7.1	-14.8	4.4	8.8	3.1	-21.7	2.4		
Exports (goods and services)		72.2	65.9	5.5	8.6	5.8	1.7	1.9	-13.2	10.8		
Imports (goods and services)		69.4	63.3	6.6	5.2	7.4	5.7	2.4	-12.5	6.8		
GNI (GDP deflator)		110.7	100.9	3.6	5.6	5.1	2.7	3.1	-7.3	6.1		
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	4.8	1.1	3.6	4.4	4.8	-6.0	3.7		
		Inventories		-0.1	0.4	0.6	1.1	-1.2	-0.2	0.0		
		Net exports		-1.0	2.2	-0.7	-2.4	-0.3	-0.9	2.3		
Employment				0.2	0.5	1.8	-0.1	0.3	-2.5	0.5		
Unemployment rate (a)				11.7	7.6	6.2	5.2	4.2	7.0	5.8		
Compensation of employees / he	ead			8.5	5.8	10.5	9.7	6.1	3.4	2.3		
Unit labour costs whole economy				5.0	2.4	8.7	6.3	3.0	8.6	-3.1		
Real unit labour cost				0.4	-0.1	4.5	2.2	-1.6	8.1	-5.4		
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
GDP deflator				4.5	2.5	3.9	4.0	4.7	0.5	2.4		
Harmonised index of consumer p	rices			4.6	-1.3	1.2	2.6	2.5	1.1	1.1		
Terms of trade goods				-0.4	3.9	0.3	0.7	1.8	-1.6	0.2		
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-15.0	-2.1	-1.5	-3.3	-2.8	-3.3	-1.6		
Current-account balance (c)				-6.5	5.3	6.1	4.7	5.2	3.3	5.4		
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-5.7	7.3	7.1	5.8	6.4	4.7	6.8		
General government balance (c)			-0.7	0.1	1.1	2.0	2.1	-2.8	-1.8		
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-0.6	-0.1	0.7	1.3	1.1	-1.3	-1.6		
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-0.1	0.7	1.3	1.1	-1.3	-1.6		
General government gross debt	(c)			29.6	29.3	25.3	22.3	20.4	25.5	25.4		
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.				

Note : Contributions to GDP growth may not add up due to statistical discrepancies.

21. CZECHIA

Czechia's economy is set to suffer a strong hit from the COVID-19 outbreak in 2020, as external demand drops and lockdown measures disrupt economic activity. Real GDP is expected to gradually recover in 2021, although it is unlikely to rebound to 2019 levels. Inflation is expected to decrease amid falling oil prices and demand. In parallel, public finances are forecast to deteriorate significantly, as the government's measures provide support against the economic impact of the pandemic.

Economic growth to plummet in 2020

Before the COVID-19 pandemic, Czechia's economy was on track for a gradual slowdown after several years of sustained growth. This was largely reflected in weakening confidence indicators and a drop in industrial production throughout 2019 and early 2020.



In 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to lead to a sharp decline in GDP growth of -61/4%. Nonetheless, the magnitude of the fall will largely depend on the effectiveness of government measures and how quickly global demand rebounds after the shock. Czechia implemented lockdown measures early and will likely lift them progressively starting in early May, considering the current evolution of the pandemic. Thus, output is estimated to shrink by over 9% in the second quarter of 2020. The economy should then gradually recover from the third quarter onwards, but the impact on sectors such as transport, hospitality and tourism may last longer. In 2021, GDP is expected to grow by 5%, and recover the loss only partially. The upturn is forecast to be mainly driven by an increase in private consumption and investment.

Private consumption, which was the driver of growth in past years, is set to drop by around $4\frac{1}{2}$ % in 2020. Households will likely defer consumption

of durable goods and build precautionary savings as uncertainty remains high. Unemployment is expected to be impacted as well, reaching around 5%, but its increase should be cushioned by the government's measures, a previously tight labour market and a low share of temporary contracts.

Investment and trade to nosedive in 2020 and recover only partially

Investment is expected to contract sharply in 2020 by nearly 15%, owing to value-chain disruptions, increasing uncertainty and workforce shortages during the lockdown period. Reinforcing already prevalent structural challenges, the automotive sector is set to be particularly hit by the COVID-19 crisis, fuelling a large drop in equipment investment. On the other hand, the fall in construction investment may be softened by the sector's order stock and its reliance on local supply-chains. However, expectations of declining house prices could limit the scope for recovery in construction investment even in 2021. Public investment growth should be negligible in 2020, but is expected to rebound significantly in 2021.

Trade is set to be impacted strongly due to the structure of Czechia's exports. The highly cyclical nature of some sectors (e.g. the automotive sector) will likely cause a drop in the trade balance of goods in 2020, before gradually recovering in 2021. Services should also be strongly affected, although its trade balance is expected to decrease only mildly in 2020 and to remain stable in 2021.

Inflation expected to decrease slightly

Headline HICP inflation is forecast to fall to 2.3% in 2020 and 1.9% in 2021. The decline in oil prices will likely translate into a drop in energy prices, while the easing of wage growth may put additional downward pressure on inflation, particularly on prices of services. However, a rather weaker Czech crown and a likely rise in food prices is expected to moderate the fall in inflation over the forecast horizon.

Public finances to deteriorate significantly in both 2020 and 2021

After four years of budgetary surpluses that lowered the public debt-to-GDP ratio to around 30%, the general balance is expected to turn sharply negative this year. To help households and firms through the pandemic, the Czech government adopted a stimulus package amounting to around 2% of GDP in direct aid. It also launched public guarantee schemes of up to 17% of GDP which are assumed to entail no immediate budgetary impact.

The combined loss in tax revenues due to the drop in economic output and the adopted policy measures are expected to generate a fiscal deficit of 634% of GDP in 2020. On the revenue side, direct taxes should be the most impacted, particularly corporate tax receipts. On the expenditure side, the largest pandemic relief measures include financial support to the selfemployed and a short-time subsidy working scheme. This expenditure will add to the previously agreed increases in public wages, pensions and other social benefits. This fiscal expansion will also likely lead to an increase in interest expenditures. Public investment, on the other hand, is likely to stagnate, as there is a standstill in terms of new infrastructure projects.

On a no-policy change scenario, the general government deficit is expected to improve slightly in 2021, to 4% of GDP. The recovery in tax revenue is expected to be modest, whereas current expenditures are expected to continue growing. Public investment is projected to increase sharply, as the current EU funds cycle is drawing to a close. The general government debt is projected to increase from around 31% of GDP in 2019 to almost 40% by 2021.

Table II.21.1:

Main features of country forecast - CZECHIA

	2018				Annual percentage change							
	bn CZK	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021		
GDP		5323.6	100.0	2.8	2.5	4.4	2.8	2.6	-6.2	5.0		
Private Consumption		2525.8	47.4	2.2	3.6	4.3	3.2	3.0	-4.6	4.0		
Public Consumption		1059.0	19.9	1.3	2.7	1.3	3.4	2.6	3.6	1.5		
Gross fixed capital formation		1363.7	25.6	3.0	-3.1	3.7	7.6	2.8	-14.5	9.6		
of which: equipment		593.0	11.1	4.4	-2.5	3.4	8.5	0.3	-25.0	20.9		
Exports (goods and services)		4177.1	78.5	8.7	4.3	6.7	4.4	1.2	-13.3	9.6		
Imports (goods and services)		3836.9	72.1	8.2	2.8	5.9	5.9	1.7	-13.0	9.6		
GNI (GDP deflator)		5026.8	94.4	2.4	2.7	4.7	3.5	3.7	-7.2	5.4		
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	2.2	1.4	3.2	4.0	2.7	-5.1	4.5		
		Inventories		0.1	-0.4	0.1	-0.4	0.2	-0.1	0.0		
		Net exports		0.4	1.4	1.1	-0.8	-0.3	-1.0	0.5		
Employment				0.4	1.6	1.6	1.3	0.7	-3.1	0.8		
Unemployment rate (a)				6.9	4.0	2.9	2.2	2.0	5.0	4.2		
Compensation of employees / he	ead			4.5	4.0	6.4	8.0	6.2	2.5	4.2		
Unit labour costs whole economy				2.0	3.1	3.6	6.5	4.2	5.9	0.0		
Real unit labour cost				0.2	1.8	2.1	3.8	0.7	4.4	-1.6		
Saving rate of households (b)				11.6	11.6	9.5	10.9	10.7	16.2	12.9		
GDP deflator				1.8	1.3	1.4	2.6	3.5	1.4	1.6		
Harmonised index of consumer p	ices			2.2	0.6	2.4	2.0	2.6	2.3	1.9		
Terms of trade goods				-0.1	1.0	-1.4	-0.1	0.2	-0.5	0.0		
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-0.5	5.4	5.0	4.2	4.2	3.4	3.5		
Current-account balance (c)				-3.5	0.1	0.3	-0.1	0.7	-1.5	-1.0		
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-2.5	0.6	0.8	0.8	1.1	-0.8	0.0		
General government balance (c				-3.3	0.7	1.5	0.9	0.3	-6.7	-4.0		
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-3.5	0.7	0.8	0.1	-0.5	-4.6	-2.9		
Structural budget balance (d)				-	0.7	0.8	0.1	-0.5	-4.6	-2.9		
General government gross debt (c)			32.3	36.8	34.7	32.6	30.8	38.7	39.9		
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross a	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a% of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.				

22. DENMARK

Denmark's economy is forecast to contract sharply this year as the COVID-19 pandemic is taking a significant economic toll despite the decisive policy response of Danish authorities to mitigate its impact. The general government budget deficit is projected to rise above 7% of GDP and government debt to increase by over 10 pps., albeit from a comparatively low level.

Abrupt downturn

Denmark entered the COVID-19 crisis with strong economic fundamentals and without any major macroeconomic imbalances. Real GDP expanded by 2.4% in 2019, above its potential growth rate, with positive contributions from all demand components. The general government budget recorded a surplus of 3.7% of GDP last year. These favourable trends continued into 2020 before coming to an abrupt halt in early March. Economic activity took a sharp downturn following the introduction of restrictions to prevent the spread of the pandemic. Denmark's GDP is estimated to have contracted significantly in the first quarter of 2020, but an even steeper decline is expected in the second quarter. The gradual reopening of the economy from 15 April could help reignite economic growth from the third quarter of 2020 onwards, provided the containment of the COVID-19 virus remains effective.



Strong policy measures put swiftly in place by the government, including direct support to partly cover businesses' fixed costs and wage expenditures, tax payment deferrals and liquidity provisions for banks and firms are expected to significantly mitigate the negative economic impact of the crisis. Still, real GDP is forecast to contract by almost 6% in 2020, followed by a

rebound in 2021, with GDP growth expected to exceed 5%.

Domestic demand takes a big hit

Consumer spending fell sharply, when measures to contain the pandemic, such as the shutdown of shops and restaurants or the cancellation of events and suspension of other economic activities, were taken. Uncertainty about the future employment and income situation is expected to lead households to increase precautionary savings. On the other hand, strong automatic stabilisers should cushion negative labour market developments. Nevertheless, private consumption is forecast to fall by more than 6% in 2020.

In the current economic turmoil, many companies are postponing or cancelling investment decisions. As a result, investment is set to fall by around 10% in 2020. In particular equipment investment, which is highly dependent on external demand, is expected to contract sharply. Public investment and the global economic recovery are forecast to drive an investment rebound in 2021.

Labour market downturn

Denmark entered the present crisis with close to full employment and a low unemployment rate. However, the restrictions on economic activity have led to a rapid and sizeable rise in unemployment. This rise was highly uneven across sectors with tourism, hospitality, food services, transport and retail hit particularly hard. The emergency packages adopted by the government appear to have been successful so far in keeping many workers in employment and limiting a sharp increase in unemployment. Overall, by the end of 2020, the total number of people in employment is forecast to fall by more than 40,000. Despite the rising pension age, the labour force is projected to stagnate this year as many foreign workers have returned to their home countries. As a result, the unemployment rate is forecast to moderately increase from 5% in 2019 to around 61/2% in 2020 before decreasing again to below 6% in 2021.

Sharp contraction in external trade

The global downturn and the disruption of crossborder value chains and trading patterns imply a sharp contraction of foreign trade in 2020. Services exports, in particular shipping, are set to see a sharp fall. However, the composition of Danish goods exports (high share of pharmaceutical and food products) is less sensitive to business cycles, potentially preventing a sharper downturn. Still, exports of goods and services are projected to contract by around 10% in 2020. Despite some import compression, net external trade is forecast to detract from real GDP growth in 2020.

Moderately increasing inflation

Consumer price inflation remained moderate at 0.7% in 2019, due to low energy prices and decreasing domestic price pressures. Collapsing oil prices and sharp contraction of consumption are forecast to further ease inflationary pressures in 2020. On the other hand, the announced increase of tobacco taxes in 2020 and 2021 and expected increases in food prices are set to push inflation upwards. As a result, headline inflation is projected to moderate to 0.3% in 2020 before increasing again to 1.3% in 2021.

Strong initial public finances help to mitigate the shock

The 2020 recession and the emergency measures adopted in response to the COVID-19 outbreak are projected to have a substantial impact on government finances. On the expenditure side, automatic stabilisers and emergency packages equivalent to over 4% of GDP should result in the largest deficit in years. The repayment of excessively collected property taxes is estimated to add a further 3/4% of GDP to the deficit. On the revenue side, the deferral of significant tax revenues until 2021 should have a temporary deficit-increasing effect in 2020 that should be reversed in 2021. In addition, marked shortfalls in tax revenue are projected as a result of the slump in economic activity in 2020. The deficit is forecast to exceed 7% of GDP in 2020, before the expected recovery and reversal of tax payment deferrals reduces the deficit to around 21/4% of GDP in 2021, based on an assumption that the measures adopted to fight the pandemic only have a temporary effect in 2020. The gross debt ratio should rise sharply from 33.2% of GDP in 2019 to around 45% of GDP at the end of 2020.

Table II.22.1:

Main features of country forecast - DENMARK

	2018					Annual percentage change							
	bn DKK	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021			
GDP		2246.0	100.0	1.1	3.2	2.0	2.4	2.4	-5.9	5.1			
Private Consumption		1047.7	46.7	1.1	2.4	1.6	2.6	2.2	-6.4	5.9			
Public Consumption		546.8	24.3	1.6	0.2	1.0	0.4	0.5	3.1	0.5			
Gross fixed capital formation		494.7	22.0	1.4	7.9	3.0	5.4	3.4	-9.5	7.9			
of which: equipment		143.4	6.4	1.3	7.2	3.3	7.4	-5.6	-17.1	15.8			
Exports (goods and services)		1249.7	55.6	3.5	4.1	4.6	2.4	1.6	-10.7	8.7			
Imports (goods and services)		1113.9	49.6	4.4	3.7	4.3	3.6	0.1	-8.8	8.1			
GNI (GDP deflator)		2304.3	102.6	1.4	2.6	1.7	2.9	2.4	-6.0	5.1			
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.2	2.7	1.6	2.5	1.9	-4.3	4.5			
		Inventories		0.0	0.0	-0.1	0.3	-0.4	0.2	-0.2			
		Net exports		-0.1	0.5	0.5	-0.4	0.8	-1.7	0.8			
Employment				0.2	1.7	1.6	1.4	1.2	-1.6	1.4			
Unemployment rate (a)				5.7	6.0	5.8	5.1	5.0	6.4	5.7			
Compensation of employees / h	ead			2.9	1.3	1.6	1.7	1.5	1.0	1.7			
Unit labour costs whole economy	/			2.0	-0.2	1.1	0.7	0.3	5.6	-1.9			
Real unit labour cost				0.0	-0.5	0.0	-0.1	-0.7	5.0	-3.7			
Saving rate of households (b)				6.7	11.5	12.3	12.3	12.3	19.9	17.2			
GDP deflator				2.0	0.3	1.1	0.8	1.0	0.5	1.8			
Harmonised index of consumer p	prices			1.8	0.0	1.1	0.7	0.7	0.3	1.3			
Terms of trade goods				0.9	1.4	-1.4	-2.4	0.0	0.2	0.2			
Trade balance (goods) (c)				4.0	5.4	4.9	4.0	5.7	4.8	5.3			
Current-account balance (c)				4.6	7.8	7.8	7.0	7.9	6.2	6.7			
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) v	is-a-vis ROW (c)		4.6	7.8	7.8	7.0	7.9	6.3	6.9			
General government balance (c	:)			0.7	0.1	1.8	0.7	3.7	-7.2	-2.3			
Cyclically-adjusted budget bala	nce (d)			0.4	0.4	2.0	0.8	3.6	-2.7	0.6			
Structural budget balance (d)				-	0.3	2.0	0.8	3.6	-1.9	0.6			
General government gross debt	(c)			42.0	37.2	35.8	33.9	33.2	44.7	44.6			
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross a	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.					

23. CROATIA

Croatia's economy entered the COVID-19 crisis in a significantly better shape than the crisis in 2008. Assuming that suppression and moderation measures are slowly phased out in 2020, Croatia's economy should rebound quickly in 2021 after a strong contraction in 2020. High reliance on tourism exacerbates the slump and poses a risk in case of longer travel restrictions. Domestic demand should remain the main driver of the recovery, as the outlook for global trade remains uncertain. Government measures are expected to cushion the impact of the recession on the labour market, though they come at a high cost for public finances.

Facing this crisis with a more resilient economy

Croatia's economy is facing the negative economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic from a more resilient starting position than at the outset of the 2008 global financial crisis. In 2019, real output finally surpassed its 2008 level. and unemployment rate reached an all-time low. The magnitude of macroeconomic imbalances (high levels of debt and external liabilities) fell below its 2008 level. Although still relatively high, government debt decreased markedly, helped by three consecutive years of government surpluses. Furthermore, the average maturity and cost of servicing public debt improved substantially. Cost competitiveness gains and EU accession set the stage for a strong expansion of exports and Croatia's market share until 2019.



A sharp contraction in 2020

As high-frequency indicators still pointed to a strong economic performance in the first two months of 2020, Croatia's economy does not appear to have been hit hard by supply chains disruptions in China. However, with the escalation of the pandemic in Europe in early March, and the introduction of stricter suppression measures in Croatia in the second half of March, the bulk of the

economic impact of the pandemic is expected to be concentrated in the second quarter of 2020.

Croatia's economy is forecast to contract by about 9% in 2020 before partially recovering by 71/2% in 2021. Despite accounting for more than half of the drop in 2020, domestic demand is expected to recover faster than exports, due to significant uncertainties surrounding the outlook for global trade. Wage support measures and the operation of automatic stabilisers should help sustain household consumption while investment is expected to be supported by the ongoing implementation of projects financed by EU funds and several liquidity support measures for companies. Government consumption should continue contributing positively to growth.

Goods exports are expected to contract in 2020, primarily due to the expected recession in Croatia's main trading partners. Service exports should suffer even more due to the negative impact of the suppression and mitigation measures on the travel, hospitality and transport sectors. Due to the expected increased aversion towards international travel by potential non-resident tourists, tourism is not expected to recover to its 2019 level in 2021. However, the negative impact on GDP of the large fall in exports should be mitigated by the high import component of tourism exports. The trade deficit is expected to temporarily deteriorate in 2020 before partially recovering in 2021. The current account balance should temporarily deteriorate to -134% of GDP in 2020, before improving to 0.5% of GDP in 2021.

Employment to contract then rebound quickly

The labour market is expected to react fast to the disruption of economic activity. Although government wage and liquidity support measures should mitigate the fall in employment in some sectors, employment is set to drop sharply in sectors that are likely to experience the longest disruption, e.g. hospitality. Employment should bottom out towards the end of the year, leaving the unemployment rate at $10\frac{1}{4}\%$ in 2020, some $3\frac{1}{2}$ pps. above its level in 2019. Consumer price inflation is expected to decline in 2020 due to the drop in oil prices. Core inflation should be driven by weaker overall demand and the base effects from the VAT rates cut in 2019. Inflation should remain subdued also in 2021.

Public finances

Table II.23.1:

After the third consecutive year of surplus in 2019, the general government balance is projected to deteriorate sharply in 2020 on the back of the economic slowdown, as automatic stabilisers and measures on both the revenue and expenditure side of the budget play their role. Partial and full cancellations of tax and social contributions for the hardest hit companies in the second quarter should undercut revenue by a projected 1½% of GDP. Meanwhile, the subsidy for wages in the private sector is expected to cover more than half a million employees and cost almost 2% of GDP. This measure should drive expenditure growth up, as it will only partly be offset by cuts in investment and savings on public wages. Overall, the general

Main features of country forecast - CROATIA

government balance is expected to turn into a deficit of more than 7% of GDP in 2020. The effect of these deficit-increasing measures, as well as liquidity measures (tax deferrals) and the economic slowdown on financing needs will be pronounced, particularly in the second quarter.

In 2021, tax revenues should recover strongly, driven by the economic recovery and the base effect from 2020. Corporate income tax revenues are expected to lag behind other sources of revenue as many companies offset their losses against future profits. Meanwhile, expenditures should decrease driven by the drop in wage subsidies. Overall, on a no-policy-change basis, the government balance is expected to recover substantially, reaching a deficit of around 2¼% of GDP in 2021.

In 2020, the debt ratio is set to increase in excess of the deficit on the back of the liquidity measures put in place to support firms, mostly in the form of tax deferrals. After reaching a peak of almost 89% of GDP in 2020, the debt ratio should start decreasing again, to below 84% of GDP in 2021.

		2018				Annual percentage change							
	bn HRK	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021			
GDP		383.0	100.0	1.7	3.5	3.1	2.7	2.9	-9.1	7.5			
Private Consumption		222.8	58.2	1.6	3.1	3.1	3.2	3.5	-6.9	6.1			
Public Consumption		74.5	19.4	1.2	0.5	2.2	1.3	3.3	2.5	0.1			
Gross fixed capital formation		76.7	20.0	2.3	6.5	5.1	4.1	7.1	-8.2	4.2			
of which: equipment		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
Exports (goods and services)		193.4	50.5	4.4	7.0	6.8	3.7	4.6	-29.0	33.7			
Imports (goods and services)		196.6	51.3	4.1	6.5	8.4	7.5	4.8	-21.2	23.4			
GNI (GDP deflator)		377.4	98.5	1.8	1.0	4.7	2.7	2.9	-8.7	7.1			
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.9	3.2	3.3	3.0	4.1	-5.2	4.5			
		Inventories		0.1	0.0	0.5	1.6	-1.0	0.0	0.0			
		Net exports		-0.2	0.3	-0.6	-1.8	-0.1	-3.9	3.0			
Employment				0.1	0.3	2.2	1.8	1.4	-3.9	3.0			
Unemployment rate (a)				13.7	13.1	11.2	8.5	6.6	10.2	7.4			
Compensation of employees / he	ead			3.1	0.4	0.2	2.2	3.4	-1.2	1.1			
Unit labour costs whole economy	,			1.5	-2.7	-0.7	1.4	1.9	4.5	-3.1			
Real unit labour cost				-1.2	-2.6	-1.9	-0.4	0.4	3.7	-4.0			
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
GDP deflator				2.8	-0.1	1.2	1.8	1.5	0.7	0.9			
Harmonised index of consumer p	rices			2.6	-0.6	1.3	1.6	0.8	0.4	0.9			
Terms of trade goods				0.8	-0.6	-1.3	-0.5	0.3	0.9	-0.3			
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-18.2	-16.3	-17.2	-18.7	-18.9	-12.6	-18.5			
Current-account balance (c)				-	2.0	3.3	1.9	2.4	-1.7	0.5			
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-	3.6	4.4	3.3	4.4	0.4	2.6			
General government balance (c)			-4.3	-1.0	0.8	0.2	0.4	-7.1	-2.2			
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-	-1.0	0.1	-0.9	-1.2	-4.4	-1.9			
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-1.1	0.2	-0.9	-1.2	-4.4	-1.9			
General government gross debt	(c)			52.2	80.8	77.8	74.7	73.2	88.6	83.4			
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	isposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.					

24. HUNGARY

The economic shock from the pandemic hit Hungary's economy at the peak of the business cycle. With a strong specialisation in sectors affected by the decline in global demand and the pandemic containment measures, and taking into account the muted fiscal policy response, Hungary is projected to experience a sharp recession in 2020, followed by a gradual recovery. The general government deficit is set to peak in 2020.

The virus is expected to cause a deep recession in 2020...

Before COVID-19, Hungary's economy was on track for a gradual slowdown after several years of outstanding growth. Real GDP rose by 4.9% in 2019, and the first monthly indicators in 2020 signalled continued momentum.

Economic performance in 2020 is expected to depend on the health impact of the virus, the sectoral specialisation of the economy, and the economic policy response. Confirmed case numbers have remained limited so far. Sanitary measures have severely restricted certain services. Tourism and transport, which account for half of service exports, are among the most affected sectors. Constraints on industrial and construction activity remain moderate, but the international recession can hit manufacturing particularly strongly due to the dominant role of highly cyclical industries (e.g. automotive). The initial policy measures have focused on liquidity provision, including a debt moratorium for all borrowers until the end of 2020, but the overall fiscal policy response has been muted so far.

Economic activity is estimated to have begun contracting in March, and should reach its trough in the second quarter of 2020. A gradual economic recovery is projected in the second half of the year as containment measures are assumed to be gradually lifted. Unemployment could rise sharply, due to the flexibility of the labour market. The liquidity support and temporary job protection measures offered to companies are expected to provide limited containment only. Consequently, household consumption is set to fall sharply. Declining demand and high uncertainty are expected to reduce private investment. The trade balance could improve thanks to the shrinking demand for imported consumer durables and capital goods, and also due to falling energy import prices. Thus, the current account is projected to return to a surplus after a modest deficit in 2019.

In 2020, GDP is projected to decrease by 7%, while unemployment rate could rise from an annual average of 3.4% in 2019 to 7%.

...to be followed by a partial recovery in 2021

GDP is projected to bounce back by 6% in 2021, while the unemployment rate could fall back to 6%. Output could remain below its 2019 level, due to the gradual recovery of external demand and tourism flows, and domestic headwinds. The latter include elevated unemployment and limited income support to households, delaying the recovery of consumption; and the lagged impact of declining house prices on real estate projects.

There are both upside and downside risks to the projection. More vigorous fiscal policy support could limit the economic fallout in 2020 and hasten the recovery in 2021. On the other hand, a wave of corporate bankruptcies could weigh on the recovery by restricting job creation and lending.



Inflation is projected to decrease

Inflation peaked at 4.7% in January 2020, but has eased more recently thanks to falling fuel prices and favourable base effects. Overall, the recession is set to reduce inflation. However, this process is dampened by the pass-through of currency depreciation as well as the impact of supply bottlenecks on food prices. Headline inflation is forecast to decrease from 3.4% in 2019 to 3.0% in 2020 and 2.7% in 2021.

Limited fiscal response

The budget deficit improved only marginally in 2019 to 2.0% of GDP. Higher-than-budgeted revenues, thanks to high income and consumption growth, were offset by higher expenditure. These were partly the result of tightening budgetary rules, which limit budgetary institutions' possibility to carry over unused funds to the following fiscal years. Public investment continued growing also on the back of increased EU funds absorption, while capital transfers were boosted by the take-up of the prenatal funding scheme of the 'demography programme'.

In 2020, the deficit is forecast to increase to 5¼% of GDP. The deterioration is mainly driven by lower tax revenues as a result of the economic downturn. Fiscal measures adopted so far to contain the economic impact of the pandemic amount to 1% of GDP and include some temporary tax cuts in the most affected sectors; bringing forward the planned 2 pps. cut to employers' social

contributions from October to July; a job protection scheme that covers part of lost wages for three months under certain conditions; a wage subsidy scheme for R&D jobs; and a one-off bonus for health workers. Moreover, medical emergency expenditures have amounted to 3/4% of GDP until now. Overall, these measures are financed largely from the reshuffling of existing budgetary chapters and reserves as well as from new taxes on banks and retail companies, with a net budgetary impact of 1/4% of GDP. Additional measures to support the recovery have been announced: they are planned to through be financed further budgetary reallocations and their details are yet to be specified. Government spending is also set to increase with higher unemployment benefits and rising expenditure on the demography programme (by 1/4% of GDP compared to 2019). The deficit in 2021 could fall to 4% of GDP, on the back of the expected improvement in macroeconomic conditions and assuming moderate expenditure growth.

The debt-to-GDP ratio decreased significantly in 2019, to $66\frac{1}{4}\%$ of GDP. It is forecast to increase to 75% in 2020 and to decrease to $73\frac{1}{2}\%$ of GDP in 2021.

Table II.24.1:

Main features of country forecast - HUNGARY

		2018				Annual percentage change							
	bn HUF	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021			
GDP		42661.8	100.0	2.2	2.2	4.3	5.1	4.9	-7.0	6.0			
Private Consumption		20776.4	48.7	1.5	4.9	4.7	4.8	5.1	-6.0	5.5			
Public Consumption		8404.5	19.7	2.0	0.7	2.4	0.9	1.7	5.0	-1.4			
Gross fixed capital formation		10739.3	25.2	2.3	-10.6	18.7	17.1	15.3	-18.7	8.9			
of which: equipment		4163.3	9.8	3.0	2.5	16.1	10.2	10.7	-27.6	15.8			
Exports (goods and services)		36236.5	84.9	8.7	3.8	6.9	4.3	6.0	-14.0	11.2			
Imports (goods and services)		34370.5	80.6	7.5	3.4	8.2	6.8	6.9	-15.0	10.1			
GNI (GDP deflator)		40952.1	96.0	2.3	4.3	2.8	5.1	5.1	-6.0	5.1			
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	1.8	0.2	6.5	6.4	6.7	-7.3	4.6			
		Inventories		-0.4	1.4	-1.8	0.4	-1.3	0.0	0.0			
		Net exports		0.8	0.6	-0.5	-1.7	-0.4	0.2	1.3			
Employment				0.3	3.7	1.9	2.4	1.7	-3.8	1.1			
Unemployment rate (a)				8.0	5.1	4.2	3.7	3.4	7.0	6.1			
Compensation of employees / he	ead			6.2	2.4	7.0	6.2	9.4	5.0	4.4			
Unit labour costs whole economy				4.3	4.0	4.5	3.4	6.0	8.6	-0.4			
Real unit labour cost				-0.5	3.0	0.8	-1.0	1.5	4.2	-3.4			
Saving rate of households (b)				10.6	11.9	11.4	11.6	13.2	15.9	14.8			
GDP deflator				4.8	1.0	3.7	4.5	4.5	4.2	3.1			
Harmonised index of consumer p	rices			4.8	0.4	2.4	2.9	3.4	3.0	2.7			
Terms of trade goods				-0.5	1.5	-0.3	-1.0	0.5	1.0	0.0			
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-1.0	3.4	1.5	-1.3	-1.9	0.7	0.8			
Current-account balance (c)				-4.0	4.7	2.3	-0.3	-0.9	1.3	1.5			
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-2.4	4.6	3.1	2.1	0.9	3.3	3.4			
General government balance (c)			-5.0	-1.8	-2.5	-2.1	-2.0	-5.2	-4.0			
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-4.9	-2.1	-3.3	-3.6	-3.9	-2.8	-3.1			
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-2.0	-3.6	-3.6	-3.8	-2.6	-3.1			
General government gross debt (c)					75.5	72.9	70.2	66.3	75.0	73.5			
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.					

25. POLAND

Real GDP is forecast to decline by 4¼% in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic and its containment measures, before growing again by around 4% in 2021. As consumer confidence weakens and the drop in economic activity weighs on the labour market, private consumption is set to decrease strongly in 2020. Private investment will likely follow a similar path, pushed by uncertainty and lowered demand expectations. Public investment growth is set to be affected by a fall in public revenue and an increase in other expenditure. The general government deficit is set to rise strongly in 2020 before improving in 2021.

GDP growth remained robust in 2019...

Economic growth exceeded 4% in 2019, mainly due to a robust performance of domestic demand. Supported by high consumer confidence and a buoyant labour market, private consumption continued expanding strongly. Meanwhile, investment made a significant contribution to growth as investment in equipment surged.

... but is set to decline strongly in 2020 and to recover in 2021

The COVID-19 pandemic is set to end nearly three decades of uninterrupted growth in Poland. GDP is projected to decline in 2020 by about 4¼% due to a disruption in economic activity caused by the lockdown measures and an unprecedented fall in external demand. In 2021, GDP should bounce back by 4% driven by a strong recovery in household consumption. Nonetheless, GDP is unlikely to return to 2019 levels over the forecast horizon.

Despite substantial support measures put in place by the government, private consumption is projected to be hard-hit due to an increase in unemployment, a sharp drop in wage growth and weak consumer confidence. Investment is also set to fall strongly in 2020 as uncertainty mounts and expectations of lower demand are likely to have an impact on firm's investment plans. Meanwhile, public investment may suffer from lower revenue and increases in other expenditure items.

Falling demand from Poland's main trading partners and disruptions in international trade are expected to cause a drop in both exports and imports in 2020. However, owing to the structure of Polish exports and increased price competitiveness, the trade balance is projected to remain broadly unchanged in 2020. As external demand recovers, exports are projected to surge in 2021, improving the trade balance.

Wage growth to plummet amid a surge in unemployment

The labour market is set to be impacted by the lockdown measures and the drop in demand, bringing the unemployment rate to around $7\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020. This will likely lead to a sudden reversal in the increasing trend in wages observed in recent years, especially in the services sector. However, the drop in wage growth is to be partly offset by previously decided increases in public wages. In 2021, while employment is set to recover strongly, wages are expected to follow only moderately.



Price dynamics to be constrained

HICP inflation accelerated to 2.1% in 2019 and is estimated to have peaked in the first quarter of 2020 at almost 4%, driven by an increase in food and service prices. Inflation is then set to weaken markedly from the second quarter onwards, in line with a drop in oil prices, falling demand and a sharp decrease in wage growth. Overall, inflation is expected to moderate to 2.5% in 2020 and to increase to 2.8% in 2021 as the economy recovers.

Risks

Risks to the forecast are tilted to the downside. The recovery will largely depend on the effectiveness of government measures and how they cushion the impact of the shock on the labour market. Also, beyond global downside risks, the virus could have a long-lasting impact on some sectors, particularly services, which could limit the scope for recovery.

2020 fiscal deficit to exceed 9% of GDP

In 2019, the general government deficit widened to 0.7% of GDP. In 2020 and 2021, the recession triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to have a strong negative impact on public finances. It will materialise via two main channels. First, a contraction in tax revenue is expected, due to the recession, unfavourable labour market situation and cyclical factors. This projection includes also changes to the personal income tax decided in 2019. Second, spending is increasing, mainly due to measures to contain the pandemic and support the economy. The 2020 fiscal impact of those measures is expected to exceed 5.5% of GDP, with a part of them being financed from dedicated EU funds. In particular, this projection

Main features of country forecast - POLAND

includes loans to companies to be granted by the Polish Development Fund, assuming in line with the authorities announcements that about 60% of loans will be cancelled. This lifts the 2020 deficit by some $2^{3/4}$ pps of GDP. Also, in recent years Poland implemented spending policies that are difficult to reverse. All those factors are set to widen the 2020 general government deficit to $9^{1/2}\%$ of GDP.

In 2021, under a no-policy-change assumption, the deficit is set to improve to around 3¾% of GDP, driven by the economic recovery and the expiration of the sizeable expenditure to support the economy. The improving labour market situation and growing consumption are expected to drive increases in tax and social contributions revenue. This projection includes measures that have been signed into law and specified in sufficient detail at the cut-off date. Meanwhile, risks to this forecast include public guarantees and loans that may be called or not repaid in the future.

The general government debt-to-GDP ratio is set to strongly worsen to some 58½% in 2020-2021, reflecting deficit and nominal GDP developments.

		2018				Annual percentage change							
	bn PLN	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021			
GDP		2120.5	100.0	3.7	3.1	4.9	5.3	4.1	-4.3	4.1			
Private Consumption		1232.3	58.1	3.1	3.9	4.5	4.5	3.8	-4.9	3.8			
Public Consumption		376.7	17.8	3.2	1.9	2.9	3.7	4.9	2.9	2.1			
Gross fixed capital formation		386.4	18.2	3.7	-8.2	4.0	9.4	7.2	-8.4	5.9			
of which: equipment		161.5	7.6	4.2	-7.6	8.3	1.6	9.0	-11.4	9.1			
Exports (goods and services)		1175.9	55.5	8.1	8.8	9.5	7.0	4.7	-9.8	8.6			
Imports (goods and services)		1103.2	52.0	6.3	7.6	9.8	7.6	2.7	-10.6	8.9			
GNI (GDP deflator)		2031.1	95.8	3.5	2.7	4.7	5.3	3.3	-4.3	4.3			
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	3.3	1.0	3.8	4.9	4.4	-3.9	3.6			
		Inventories		0.0	1.2	0.8	0.5	-1.4	-0.3	0.1			
		Net exports		0.4	0.8	0.3	0.0	1.2	-0.1	0.3			
Employment				0.5	0.8	1.3	0.5	-0.2	-4.5	2.2			
Unemployment rate (a)				12.9	6.2	4.9	3.9	3.3	7.5	5.3			
Compensation of employees / he	ead			4.4	4.8	5.8	7.9	7.3	3.8	2.6			
Unit labour costs whole economy	r			1.2	2.5	2.2	3.0	2.8	3.5	0.7			
Real unit labour cost				-1.2	2.2	0.3	1.8	-0.1	1.0	-1.8			
Saving rate of households (b)				5.9	4.2	2.8	1.5	2.4	8.0	4.6			
GDP deflator				2.6	0.3	1.9	1.2	2.9	2.4	2.5			
Harmonised index of consumer p	rices			2.9	-0.2	1.6	1.2	2.1	2.5	2.8			
Terms of trade goods				0.4	0.6	0.2	-1.2	1.9	0.6	0.3			
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-3.0	0.7	0.3	-1.0	0.5	1.1	1.1			
Current-account balance (c)				-3.5	0.0	0.1	-0.7	0.4	0.6	0.9			
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-2.5	1.2	1.0	0.8	1.9	1.3	1.7			
General government balance (c)			-4.4	-2.4	-1.5	-0.2	-0.7	-9.5	-3.8			
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-4.1	-2.1	-2.1	-1.9	-2.7	-8.3	-2.9			
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-2.1	-2.1	-1.9	-2.7	-8.5	-3.1			
General government gross debt	(c)			47.6	54.3	50.6	48.8	46.0	58.5	58.3			
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) aross	savina divided	by adjusted aross d	isposable inc	ome (c) as	a % of GD	P (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP					

Table II.25.1:

26. ROMANIA

Real GDP is projected to decline sharply in 2020, after several years of robust growth. Private consumption, the main driver of growth in recent years, is expected to be impacted severely by the lockdown measures. Uncertainty is expected to hurt investment decisions, while net exports are projected to contribute positively to growth. Unemployment is set to increase while inflation is forecast to ease due to the drop in oil prices. In 2021, real GDP is projected to rebound, though not to pre-crisis levels. The budget deficit is projected to increase significantly as the fiscal measures required to fight the COVID-19 crisis come on top of past fiscal slippages.

Sharp output drop followed by a moderate recovery

At the onset of the COVID-19 crisis Romania's economy was growing at an annual rate of around 4%, mainly driven by private consumption. However, signs of macro-economic imbalances had already emerged, notably in the form of high and growing current account and fiscal deficits.



Romania declared a state of emergency on 16 March and subsequently extended it until mid-May. Containment measures are expected to significantly affect services and manufacturing. To counter the negative impact of the crisis, the government adopted measures aimed at supporting consumers and businesses, such as loan guarantees for SMEs, temporary moratoriums on loan servicing, and technical unemployment schemes.

Real GDP is projected to contract by 6% in 2020 and rebound by 4¼% in 2021. Private consumption, which is expected to be significantly affected by lockdown measures in 2020, should increase gradually as these are lifted and contribute positively to growth in 2021. After a very strong performance in 2019, investment is projected to drop significantly in 2020, as businesses react to the very uncertain environment by postponing or cancelling investment projects. Public investment activity, meanwhile, is projected to be subdued. In 2021, investment is expected to recover only partially amid persistent uncertainty.

Exports are also set to contract in 2020, reflecting the economic contraction in Romania's main trading partners and supply chain disruptions. They should resume growth in 2021 as global economic activity gradually picks up. Imports are also set to decline, as domestic demand drops and as production in other countries is affected by lockdowns and supply chain disruptions. Overall, the contribution of net exports to growth in 2020 is set to turn positive and result in a lower current account deficit. However, this positive evolution is expected to start reversing in 2021.

From a record low of 3.9% in 2019, the unemployment rate is projected to increase to 6½% in 2020 as some firms will inevitably close as a result of the COVID-19 crisis, although policy measures are expected to limit job losses. Nominal wages are projected to increase only moderately in 2020 after several years of double-digit growth and remain relatively subdued in 2021.

Inflation is projected to fall to 2.5% in 2020 mainly due to the sharp fall in oil prices. Core inflation is projected to ease somewhat but remain above 3% in 2020 and 2021. In response to the COVID-19 crisis, the National Bank of Romania cut its key monetary policy rate from 2.5% to 2% and started purchasing RON-denominated government securities on the secondary market in order to support the financing of the real economy and the public sector.

Downside risks to the growth forecast

The current projections are subject to a particularly high degree of uncertainty. Beyond the uncertainty that affects all countries related to the evolution of the health crisis, global growth and international
trade, for Romania it will be important how the authorities balance the need for support measures with concerns about the medium-term trajectory of public finances which pre-dated the COVID-19 crisis.

Public deficit set to increase

In 2019, the general government deficit rose to 4.3% of GDP from 2.9% in 2018. The increase was driven by higher current expenditure, in particular on public wages. Additionally, public investment rebounded from the very low levels of previous years.

The general government deficit is forecast to increase to around 9¼% of GDP in 2020. The preexisting expansionary trend largely driven by pension increases is set to be reinforced by the impact of the COVID-19 crisis. Expenditure on old-age pensions is set to rise considerably, driven by the full-year effect of the 15% pension increase that came into effect in September 2019 and a further increase of 40% scheduled for September 2020. COVID-19 related measures in the 2020 budget amendment amount to 1.3 pp of GDP of additional spending, out of which 0.4 pp of GDP financed by EU transfers. They include in particular the technical unemployment benefit and emergency spending. Tax revenues are set to be negatively affected by the recession.

The general government deficit is set to further increase in 2021 to around 11½% of GDP under a no-policy-change assumption, despite a projected recovery in tax revenues and phasing out of pandemic-relief related expenditures. This is due to the full-year effect of the 40% increase in pensions in September 2020, an additional upward pension recalculation scheduled for September 2021, and the doubling of child allowance payments.

The debt-to-GDP ratio is forecast to rise from 35.2% in 2019 to around $54^{3}/{4\%}$ in 2022.

Table II.26.1:

Main features of country	y forecast - ROMANIA
--------------------------	----------------------

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn RON	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		952.4	100.0	3.7	4.8	7.1	4.4	4.1	-6.0	4.2
Private Consumption		604.6	63.5	5.3	7.9	10.0	7.3	5.9	-6.2	4.9
Public Consumption		159.6	16.8	-0.5	2.2	4.2	2.1	6.4	3.4	1.4
Gross fixed capital formation		199.7	21.0	6.7	-0.2	3.6	-1.2	18.2	-15.0	5.0
of which: equipment		75.5	7.9	5.6	-8.9	-9.9	4.3	17.8	-22.1	7.2
Exports (goods and services)		396.1	41.6	8.7	16.0	7.6	6.2	4.6	-12.8	9.9
Imports (goods and services)		424.6	44.6	11.2	16.5	10.8	9.1	8.0	-14.4	9.8
GNI (GDP deflator)		932.8	97.9	3.7	4.5	7.5	4.4	5.0	-5.9	4.0
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demand			5.1	7.7	4.7	8.7	-6.9	4.4
		Inventories		-0.1	0.0	0.8	1.2	-2.9	-0.3	0.0
		Net exports		-1.6	-0.3	-1.4	-1.4	-1.7	1.2	-0.3
Employment				-1.5	-1.1	2.4	0.2	-0.1	-2.5	0.6
Unemployment rate (a)				7.1	5.9	4.9	4.2	3.9	6.5	5.4
Compensation of employees / he	ad			16.6	15.0	14.8	13.4	8.9	2.6	4.8
Unit labour costs whole economy				10.8	8.5	9.8	8.8	4.5	6.4	1.3
Real unit labour cost				-2.0	5.9	4.9	2.4	-2.2	4.0	-1.2
Saving rate of households (b)				-9.0	-9.3	-7.3	-2.3	-2.5	6.9	9.5
GDP deflator				13.1	2.5	4.7	6.3	6.9	2.3	2.5
Harmonised index of consumer pr	ices			10.9	-1.1	1.1	4.1	3.9	2.5	3.1
Terms of trade goods				2.5	-1.7	-2.4	1.3	1.0	-0.5	0.5
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-10.4	-5.5	-6.5	-7.3	-7.8	-6.6	-6.6
Current-account balance (c)				-5.9	-2.0	-3.4	-4.4	-4.6	-3.3	-3.4
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	-a-vis ROW (c)		-4.9	0.5	-1.8	-3.2	-3.1	-1.7	-1.7
General government balance (c)				-3.3	-2.6	-2.6	-2.9	-4.3	-9.2	-11.4
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	ice (d)			-3.4	-2.3	-3.0	-3.3	-4.4	-6.7	-9.2
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-1.9	-3.0	-2.9	-4.3	-6.7	-9.2
General government gross debt (c)			25.2	37.3	35.1	34.7	35.2	46.2	54.7
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	isposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%ofGD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

27. SWEDEN

COVID-19 will induce a sharp fall in economic activity, followed by a partial recovery from the second half of 2020 onwards, leaving the economy well below its potential in 2021. Sizable budgetary and financial support measures should limit the fall out in the economy and the labour market. Inflation is projected to edge further down. The general government balance is set to move into a deficit of more than 5% of GDP in 2020. For 2021, improved public finances are expected to stabilise the public debt-to-GDP ratio at just over 42% of GDP.

Abrupt fall in economic activity...

Short-term indicators of economic activity and sentiment in Sweden gave positive signs in early 2020 after real GDP growth fell markedly to 1.2% in 2019. With the spread of COVID-19 in March, however, economic activity declined rapidly



The deterioration in economic conditions is unprecedented in terms of speed and depth. At first, production, trade disruptions and plant closures affected industries highly integrated in international value chains, such as the car industry. As the virus spread so did its impact on the domestic economy. Concerns about infection risk and official advice to limit social contacts - albeit less severe than in other EU Member States - put a major dampener on household demand. Falling demand coupled with disruptions in production processes and delivery chains dealt severe blows to production, trade and investment in large parts of the business sector. Overall, real GDP is projected to fall by around 6% in 2020, before veering back over 4% in 2021.

... severely impacting consumers and firms

Real private consumption is projected to fall by nearly 5% in 2020, due to losses in jobs and

income and the impact of physical restrictions. The recovery in 2021 is forecast to see relatively strong gains in private consumption, albeit not fully making up for the loss in 2020. The marked increase in government consumption in 2020 reflects a wide range of support measures, which should mostly be reversed in 2021. Uncertainty is set to exacerbate the impact of demand and supply disruptions on investment. Overall, real gross fixed capital formation is forecast to fall by more than 14% in 2020, chiefly driven by equipment investment. Companies are set to have marked drops in capacity utilisation and are likely to postpone projects. The dampened medium-term outlook is set to hold back the strength of any rebound in investment. The occurrence and likely subsequent unwinding of severe trade disruptions shape the forecast for exports and imports, which are set to abruptly fall and then recover.

Policy action to cushion the impact on the labour market

Since March 2020, labour market indicators have shown a severe deterioration, with redundancy notices soaring. Worst affected were employees on flexible and short-term contracts, particularly in the hotel, restaurant and retail sectors. Government support for firms, including for small businesses and the self-employed, is set to cushion the impact the labour market. The registered on unemployment rate is expected to rise to around 9¾% in 2020 from 6.8% in 2019 and fall slightly in 2021.

Energy and service prices drive fall in inflation

Headline inflation is set to decrease from 1.7% in 2019 to 0.4% in 2020. This mainly reflects sharply falling energy prices. By contrast, supply and distribution disruptions are expected to exert some upward impact on food prices. Social partners have deferred negotiations on a new multi-annual wage agreement and overall compensation growth is expected to remain muted. This should feed into

moderate underlying inflation of close to 1% in both 2020 and 2021.

With high uncertainty, downside risks prevail

Risks to the main scenario are mainly on the downside. This reflects, among other factors, the exceptionally high degree of uncertainty weighing on investment and the export sector. Downside risks also stem from the ability of firms to restore profitability and retain access to funding.

Strong policy response to limit crisis impact

The authorities in Sweden responded to the crisis with a series of coordinated fiscal, monetary and financial support measures successively scaled up as the pandemic spread. Fiscal measures with an immediate budgetary impact are estimated to amount to around $2\frac{1}{2}$ % of GDP. These include extra outlays on health care, education and social protection, as well as support for the regions and local authorities responsible for the health care system. The government has further taken steps to limit crisis-related costs to the corporate sector, employees, self-employed and small businesses. These include taking over sick pay costs, funding of short-term work schemes, reductions in social security contributions, lowering requirements to receive unemployment benefits, and contributing to rent reductions. Credit guarantees and allowing the postponement and reimbursement of tax and VAT payments should support corporate liquidity without affecting the budget. The Riksbank has decided to extend loans to companies via banks, to purchase government and municipal bonds, covered mortgage bonds as well bonds and commercial paper of Swedish non-financial corporations. It also concluded a currency swap agreement with the US Federal Reserve. The Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority reduced banks' capital requirements and allowed a suspension temporary of amortisation requirements. Against this backdrop, the general government balance is set to swing from a surplus in 2019 to a deficit of around 51/2 % of GDP in 2020, which should improve markedly in 2021 under a no-policy-change assumption and assuming that the measures adopted to fight the pandemic are limited to 2020. Sweden's debt-to-GDP ratio is set to increase from around 35% in 2019 to over 42% in 2020 before stabilising.

Table II.27.1:

Main features of country forecast - SWEDEN

		2018				Annua	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn SEK	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		4833.8	100.0	2.4	2.4	2.4	2.2	1.2	-6.1	4.3
Private Consumption		2158.6	44.7	2.5	2.0	2.1	1.7	1.2	-5.2	3.4
Public Consumption		1257.8	26.0	1.0	3.7	0.1	0.4	0.4	3.9	-0.1
Gross fixed capital formation		1249.7	25.9	2.9	4.1	5.6	4.2	-1.2	-14.3	6.7
of which: equipment		361.5	7.5	2.8	6.6	1.7	0.9	-4.2	-39.3	19.3
Exports (goods and services)		2213.3	45.8	3.9	2.8	4.3	3.2	4.2	-12.0	6.5
Imports (goods and services)		2092.4	43.3	3.7	3.8	4.8	3.6	1.8	-11.5	5.1
GNI (GDP deflator)		4917.8	101.7	2.4	2.2	3.6	2.3	2.0	-6.4	3.9
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	2.1	2.9	2.3	1.9	0.4	-4.9	3.0
		Inventories		0.1	-0.2	0.1	0.4	-0.3	-0.5	0.4
		Net exports		0.3	-0.3	0.0	-0.1	1.1	-0.7	0.8
Employment				0.9	1.9	2.5	1.6	0.6	-2.5	1.1
Unemployment rate (a)				7.0	7.0	6.7	6.4	6.8	9.7	9.3
Compensation of employees / he	ead			3.5	2.6	2.1	3.9	3.0	-1.3	5.6
Unit labour costs whole economy				2.0	2.0	2.1	3.3	2.4	2.4	2.3
Real unit labour cost				0.3	0.5	-0.1	0.9	-0.4	1.3	1.0
Saving rate of households (b)				11.2	16.5	16.0	17.9	19.0	21.5	19.5
GDP deflator				1.6	1.5	2.2	2.3	2.7	1.0	1.3
Harmonised index of consumer pr	ices			1.5	1.1	1.9	2.0	1.7	0.4	1.1
Terms of trade goods				-0.3	0.6	-0.6	-1.1	1.2	0.7	0.5
Trade balance (goods) (c)				5.7	2.8	2.7	2.5	3.8	3.7	4.3
Current-account balance (c)				5.2	2.9	3.4	2.6	4.4	3.7	4.0
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	s-a-vis ROW (c)		5.0	2.9	3.4	2.6	4.4	3.7	4.0
General government balance (c)	1			0.4	1.0	1.4	0.8	0.5	-5.6	-2.2
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			0.6	0.5	0.8	0.0	0.1	-2.1	-0.2
Structural budget balance (d)				-	0.5	0.8	0.0	0.1	-2.1	-0.2
General government gross debt (c)			44.0	42.2	40.8	38.8	35.1	42.6	42.5
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross a	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

Candidate Countries

28. ALBANIA

Following subdued growth and a devastating earthquake in 2019, Albania was hit by the COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020. The economy is projected to contract by $4\frac{3}{4}$ % in 2020 because the domestic and international restrictions will depress private consumption and tourism, on which Albania strongly relies. The recession in the EU will also affect remittances and FDI inflows and put pressure on the current account and the exchange rate. The fiscal deficit is expected to rise above 5 % of GDP and public debt is set to rise temporarily to about 75% of GDP. For 2021, GDP growth is expected to rebound to 4¼ %, but this is subject to uncertainty about the length of travel restrictions and the resilience of enterprises during the crisis.

Subdued economic growth and the earthquake in 2019 weaken resilience

The growth of the Albanian economy slowed to 2.2% in 2019, mainly because of low hydroelectric production due to below average rainfall, aggravated by the strong earthquake in November that caused substantial damage and loss of lives. In addition, the finalisation of some large energy projects caused a 4.1 % contraction in investment. Household consumption continued to be the main growth driver (+3.3% y-o-y), based on growing wages and employment. Strong growth of services exports offset the fall of electricity exports and net exports contributed 0.6 pps. to growth.

Recession in the wake of the pandemic

Since March 2020, domestic and international restrictions to contain the pandemic have begun to depress private consumption, investment and exports. Private consumption and investment are projected to drop by 41/4% and 7% respectively. Total exports are set to drop by about 25%, mainly because tourism services are set to lose an entire season in 2020. Merchandise exports are expected to contract because of falling manufacturing and commodity exports, whereas electricity exports are not expected to be affected. The expected strong fall in imports, in particular for travel services, will not be able to fully offset the drop of exports; overall net exports are likely to subtract about 1/4 pps. from growth. The still large share of family based agriculture and hydro-electricity production will not be affected by the crisis and could slightly limit the contraction of GDP. Manufacturing, construction and services industries are expected to recover gradually after the end of the lock-down assumed for May. Overall, GDP is estimated to contract by about 43/4% in 2020.



Rebound in 2021 subject to uncertainty and downside risks

The contraction is likely to increase the unemployment rate by more than 3 pps. to close to 15%. The rise in unemployment and weak social safety nets will dampen the recovery of private consumption in 2021. The depletion of many SMEs' financial resources is expected to continue depressing private investment in 2021. Nonetheless, economic growth is estimated to rebound to 41/4% mainly due to the recovery of Moreover, already lined-up public tourism. reconstruction projects could stimulate the construction sector. This projection is subject to substantial uncertainty about how enterprises will survive the crisis period. Continuing travel restrictions, which would dampen the recovery of tourism, are the downside risk.

A moderately depreciating currency

The recession in the EU will likely cause a fall in remittances from Albanians working in the EU and contribute the most to the expected widening of the current account deficit. Foreign direct investments are also likely to fall due to the recession in the EU. In response to falling foreign capital inflows and a growing current account deficit, the lek is expected to depreciate moderately. In 2021, following a moderate rebound in remittances and FDI, the current account deficit is set to narrow slightly.

A new record low policy rate

The central bank has intensified its accommodative monetary policy and lowered its policy rate to a record low 0.5% in March 2020. The inflation rate is expected to rise to 2.5% in 2020 as the inflationary effect of the weaker currency is expected to outweigh the impact of low demand and oil prices. In 2021, recovering demand is projected to contribute to a further pick-up in inflation to 2.8%, still below the 3% target. Thus, monetary policy is set to remain very accommodative well into 2021.

Fiscal balance set to deteriorate

In response to the earthquake, the government planned a 0.6 pps. increase in the fiscal deficit, to 2.2% of GDP in 2020. The government's financial

support measures in the context of the pandemic, combined with the expected fall in revenue are forecast to increase the fiscal deficit temporarily above 5% of GDP.



The public debt-to-GDP ratio declined to 66.3% at end-2019. Because of the high financing needs, the new sovereign guarantees for the private sector and the fall in GDP, the public debt ratio is set to increase temporarily to about 75% of GDP in 2020 and to decline mildly in 2021.

Table II.28.1:

|--|

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn ALL	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		1630.9	100.0	4.5	3.3	3.8	4.1	2.2	-4.8	4.2
Private Consumption		1290.4	79.1	4.8	2.1	2.4	3.3	3.3	-4.3	3.3
Public Consumption		184.7	11.3	1.7	4.7	3.2	0.7	3.1	5.5	5.2
Gross fixed capital formation		390.7	24.0	5.7	2.4	6.0	2.4	-4.1	-7.0	-0.5
of which: equipment		-	-	6.9	-	-	-	-	-	-
Exports (goods and services)		516.7	31.7	10.6	11.3	13.2	4.1	5.9	-24.8	12.2
Imports (goods and services)		740.4	45.4	7.7	6.9	8.4	2.4	2.7	-16.7	5.1
GNI (GDP deflator)		1629.0	99.9	4.4	3.8	2.4	3.7	1.3	-4.8	4.2
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	5.8	2.8	3.8	3.3	2.0	-4.4	3.3
		Inventories		0.1	0.5	0.0	0.6	-0.4	-0.1	0.0
		Net exports		-1.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.6	-0.3	1.0
Employment				-	7.0	3.4	1.4	2.2	-3.0	2.8
Unemployment rate (a)				-	15.5	13.9	12.7	11.6	14.9	13.5
Compensation of employees / head	b			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Unit labour costs whole economy				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Real unit labour cost				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GDP deflator				3.0	-0.6	1.5	1.0	0.7	2.6	2.7
Harmonised index of consumer pric	es			-	2.2	1.8	1.8	1.1	2.5	2.8
Terms of trade goods				-1.3	-2.1	3.7	3.6	-3.1	-3.4	-3.4
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-24.6	-24.3	-24.4	-22.4	-23.0	-21.2	-21.6
Current-account balance (c)				-9.8	-7.6	-7.5	-6.8	-7.6	-9.1	-8.4
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-c	ı-vis ROW	(c)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government balance (c)				-	-1.7	-2.0	-1.6	-1.8	-5.2	-3.3
Cyclically-adjusted budget balance	e (d)			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government gross debt (c)				58.8	72.4	70.1	67.9	66.3	74.6	73.6
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross say	/ing divideo	l by adjusted gross o	disposable in	come. (c) a	ıs a % of GI	DP. (d) as	a%of pot	ential GDP		

29. MONTENEGRO

The economy is set to contract substantially in 2020 due to the negative effects of the COVID-19 outbreak. Montenegro's economy is strongly dependent on tourism, a key source of GDP growth, foreign exchange, employment and fiscal revenues. However, the lock-down brought tourism and travel to a standstill at a time when these activities were about to enter the high season. Economic recovery in 2021 is dependent on the duration of the shock.

Growth deceleration in 2019

As the maturing of the investment cycle had a dampening effect on economic output, GDP growth decelerated markedly to 3.6% y-o-y in 2019, down from the 5.1% expansion recorded a year earlier. The main growth contributions came from private consumption and net exports, both supported by an exceptionally good tourism season boosting net exports performance. Fiscal consolidation resulted in a modest (0.3 pps) contribution of government consumption to economic growth.



Tourism shock

The COVID-19 pandemic is expected to push Montenegro into a deeper recession than the global financial crisis. The main transmission channel is the collapse in tourism arrivals due to the breakdown of international travel following the lockdown measures implemented in many countries. Travel and tourism accounts for some 25% of Montenegro's GDP in total. The large tourism shock will have knock-on effects on domestic consumption and investment, although the resulting fall in imports will absorb some of the negative impact. Conversely, the cost of the authorities' policy response would increase government consumption. This forecast scenario assumes the tourism shock to last into the second quarter of 2020, followed by a very modest recovery in the third quarter, led by domestic tourists and travellers from neighbouring countries reaching Montenegro's coastal resorts by road once the movement restrictions end. Air connections would need more time to be reestablished, while cruise ship tours might suffer an even longer-term damage. A swift recovery of the economy in 2021, while possible, is subject to very substantial uncertainties. The main risk for this scenario would be a revitalisation of the virus and delays to obtain a vaccine before the next tourism season.

Trade and remittances downfall

The current account deficit is set to narrow for two consecutive years. First, in 2020, due to the contraction of domestic demand and imports, the latter outpacing in terms of volume the contraction of tourism exports. Then, in 2021, following the completion of the Bar-Boljare highway works, which was heavily reliant on construction materials, equipment, but also services imports. The plunge of oil prices would also contribute to narrowing the external gap, but this could be partially offset by an almost simultaneous decline in exports prices of electricity and aluminium. Remittances inflows are also set to contract as Montenegrins abroad are also confronted with lockdowns. A reversal of FDI flows is not expected considering the nature of investments, most of them in real estate, construction and intercompany debt. However, some important FDI projects could be delayed.

Seasonal jobs to absorb partially the shock

Montenegro's labour market is characterised by strong seasonality and dependence on foreign temporary workers, particularly in construction, agriculture and tourism. This situation could facilitate a quick adjustment of the payroll for local businesses, dampening to some extent the negative impact on unemployment. Employment would recover gradually in 2021, following the expected rebound of the economy.

Inflation driven by domestic factors

In addition to the sharp decline of international oil prices, inflation pressures are set to stay low in 2020 due to the contraction of domestic demand. Some likely price increases in agro-food and medical products in 2020 could be offset by rebates in tourism packages and real estate. Some modest increase of inflation is forecast for 2021, in the wake of the projected recovery in consumption and employment.

Enterprises liquidity support

Montenegro's Investment Development Fund, International Financial Institutions and the EU are providing credit lines and guarantees to domestic banks to facilitate liquidity to local companies. The financial sector appears stable, liquid and well capitalised, with capacity to provide liquidity to the real sector during the forecast period. However, risks remain on the demand side, in particular the capacity of small businesses to recover after the lockdown and reimburse debt.

Public finance shudders

Public finances are confronted with a triple shock: the collapse of tax revenue due to the interruption of economic activity, a sudden surge of healthcare expenditure, and the need to finance support measures to preserve the economy. Only the more pressing medical needs to respond to the pandemic are estimated at 1.2% of GDP, while the first set of measures in support of the economy are estimated to cost some 3.5% of GDP. The contraction of tax revenue is extremely difficult to estimate, as it would depend on the duration of the lockdown and its effects, and on the amount of taxes deferred (and recovered). Overall, a historically high deficit of more than 7% of GDP is expected in 2020, instead of the initially planned balanced budget. In 2021, the rebound of the economy and a marked reduction in capital spending would facilitate a modest primary surplus, providing some relieve to public debt.

Public debt growth would be partially limited in 2020 thanks to the use of government reserves. These were built-up to pay maturing debt in 2020 and 2021. Instead, they would be used to cover urgent financing needs created by the pandemic.

Table II.29.1:

Main features a	of country	forecast -	MONTENEGRO
-----------------	------------	------------	-------------------

		2018				Annual	percen	tage ch	ange	
	mio EUR	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		4663.1	100.0	-	2.9	4.7	5.1	3.6	-5.9	4.4
Private Consumption		3424.6	73.4	-	5.4	3.9	4.6	2.9	-9.1	10.9
Public Consumption		862.9	18.5	-	0.8	-1.4	6.3	1.5	2.5	-1.7
Gross fixed capital formation		1363.9	29.2	-	38.4	18.7	14.7	-1.5	-7.5	-8.4
of which: equipment		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Exports (goods and services)		1999.3	42.9	-	5.9	1.8	6.9	6.4	-33.7	24.3
Imports (goods and services)		3111.9	66.7	-	15.3	8.4	9.2	2.1	-26.1	16.0
GNI (GDP deflator)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	-	12.1	7.4	8.5	2.0	-8.1	4.9
	I	nventories		-	-2.4	1.9	-0.3	0.3	0.0	0.0
	I	Net exports		-	-6.8	-4.6	-3.1	1.4	2.2	-0.5
Employment				-	1.1	2.3	2.2	2.1	-1.4	2.6
Unemployment rate (a)				-	17.7	16.1	15.5	15.4	17.0	16.2
Compensation of employees / head				-	0.9	0.8	0.0	0.8	-1.8	2.1
Unit labour costs whole economy	/			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Real unit labour cost				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GDP deflator				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Consumer-price index				-	0.1	2.8	2.9	0.5	0.8	1.3
Terms of trade of goods				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-38.7	-41.9	-43.3	-43.9	-42.1	-29.0	-33.5
Current-account balance (c)				-	-16.2	-16.1	-17.0	-15.2	-13.8	-12.9
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	is-a-vis ROW ((c)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government balance (c)			-	-3.6	-5.2	-3.7	-2.0	-7.7	-1.5
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government gross debt	(c)			-	63.4	64.2	70.1	77.2	82.7	79.6
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	I by adjusted gross a	disposable inc	come. (c) a	s a % of GE	P. (d) as a	1% of pote	ntial GDP.		

30. NORTH MACEDONIA

After economic growth accelerated in 2019, the outlook has deteriorated markedly due to the COVID-19 pandemic. External demand is heavily hit by trade disruptions while local containment measures are curbing domestic demand. A sharp drop in public revenues and fiscal measures to mitigate the crisis impact will lead to a significant increase in public deficit and debt levels in 2020. In a most likely scenario, based on a gradual easing of restrictions and recovery of foreign demand, the economy would start to recover in the second half of the year, and continue to pick up in 2021.

A sharp downturn in 2020

Real growth accelerated to 3.6% in 2019, on the back of firming domestic demand. Private consumption, boosted by rising wages, social transfers, remittances from abroad, and household credit, rose faster than in the preceding year. Investment, which had been weak for two and a half years, strengthened in the second half of 2019.

The upswing ended abruptly in March, when the COVID-19 crisis required a massive lockdown of the economy, and similar measures in the main trading partners led to trade disruptions. Shop and factory closures hit both domestic activity and external trade, while travel bans impact on tourism and transport. The baseline scenario assumes the lockdown lasts until end–May and the economy would recover as of the third quarter.



Net exports temporarily add to growth

The sharp deterioration in the economic outlook of North Macedonia's major export markets, combined with supply chain disruptions, are set to trigger a significant decline in export volumes in 2020. As the main exporters, foreign companies are particularly hit, such as producers of automotive components facing stalled car production in Germany and import disturbances from the lockdown in China. Lower exports and the drop in domestic demand are likely to lead to a marked reduction in imports. Overall, net exports are projected to contribute marginally to growth in 2020, while the expected pick-up in domestic activity and in external demand would reverse this in 2021. On the supply side, exports could benefit from delayed new foreign-owned production capacities coming on stream in 2021 and a boost in investor confidence given the recent green light for EU accession negotiations. The improvement in the trade balance will, however, not compensate for the drop in current transfers, further widening the current account deficit in 2020.

Consumer prices drop, before rising again

In 2019, consumer prices rose moderately, on account of higher cost of food, alcohol and tobacco, and health services. Energy and transport prices declined. In 2020, the consumer price index is expected to drop, compared to the preceding year, as the downturn reduces domestic price pressures, complemented by lower prices for energy and commodities. In 2021, price levels are projected to rise again, based on expectations of slightly firming domestic demand.

Public revenue is set to decline heavily

In the baseline scenario, central government revenue is projected to drop by 25% in 2020, as the severe slowdown in economic activity curbs income from taxes and contributions. In addition, the government has granted sizeable tax deferrals to companies most impacted. In spite of two sets of fiscal support measures amounting to EUR 200 million, the government plans to adhere to its original spending targets by reallocating funds within the budget. In April, it cut investment spending to accommodate wage subsidies totalling EUR 120 million, as part of the overall package.

Financing needs delay debt stabilisation

The crisis hits the country at a time when fiscal space is restricted and large debt repayments fall due in 2020 and 2021. The expected revenue shortfall in 2020 is projected to drive debt levels higher over the forecast horizon than previously anticipated. Depending on the duration and severity of the lockdown, the debt ratio might stabilise around its 2019 level only well after 2021.



A renewed rise in unemployment lies ahead

While job creation was particularly strong in 2019, and unemployment declined further, there is likely to be a reversal in 2020. Companies' production halts have led to forced annual holidays and paycuts. Most established foreign companies have so far refrained from layoffs, preferring to retain skilled workers. In past years, many jobs have been linked to government spending (employment measures, FDI, public works). These funds might decline now, which would protract the return of the labour market to pre-COVID dynamics.

Risks to the forecast are on the downside

Downside risks are sizeable. A stronger or longerlasting than expected deterioration of the external environment, or a more extended disruption of supply chains would exacerbate the decline in exports beyond 2020. On the domestic side, a lockdown that lasts well into the summer would lead to a sharper decline in employment, disposable income, household spending, and government revenue. A much larger than anticipated drop in private transfers from abroad would further diminish financing sources.

Table II.30.1:

Main features of count	y forecast - NORTH MACEDONIA
------------------------	------------------------------

		2018				Annua	l percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn MKD	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		658.1	100.0	2.9	2.8	0.2	2.7	3.6	-3.9	4.0
Private Consumption		433.7	65.9	3.0	3.9	0.7	3.7	3.5	-2.5	3.0
Public Consumption		97.1	14.8	1.3	-4.9	-2.5	2.4	4.4	2.7	1.5
Gross fixed capital formation		167.6	25.5	4.7	9.9	0.8	-7.2	6.6	-10.0	13.0
of which: equipment		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Exports (goods and services)		398.4	60.5	6.6	9.1	8.1	15.3	8.3	-11.0	10.0
Imports (goods and services)		481.3	73.1	7.1	11.1	6.4	9.0	9.0	-9.2	10.6
GNI (GDP deflator)		630.4	95.8	2.8	2.0	0.3	2.5	3.8	-4.2	4.0
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	3.7	4.2	0.3	1.0	4.6	-4.1	5.9
		Inventories		0.6	1.5	0.1	-0.5	0.4	0.1	-0.1
		Net exports		-1.3	-2.8	-0.1	2.2	-1.6	0.2	-1.9
Employment				1.7	2.5	2.4	2.5	5.0	-1.7	1.1
Unemployment rate (a)				32.5	23.7	22.4	20.7	17.3	18.1	17.6
Compensation of employees / he	ead			2.3	0.9	0.9	5.0	3.0	-4.9	4.4
Unit labour costs whole economy	r			1.1	0.5	3.1	4.8	4.5	-2.7	1.5
Real unit labour cost				-1.7	-2.8	-0.6	1.1	2.1	-2.8	-1.8
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GDP deflator				3.0	3.5	3.7	3.7	2.3	0.1	3.4
Consumer-price index				-	-0.2	1.3	1.5	0.8	-0.7	2.0
Terms of trade goods				0.7	7.1	-0.8	-9.7	-0.3	-0.2	-0.1
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-22.6	-18.8	-17.8	-16.2	-17.6	-16.9	-18.7
Current-account balance (c)				-4.5	-2.9	-1.0	-0.3	-1.5	-3.0	-3.9
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vi	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government balance (c)			-	-2.7	-2.8	-1.1	-2.1	-6.8	-3.4
Cyclically-adjusted budget balan	nce (d)			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government gross debt	(c)			33.3	39.8	39.4	40.6	40.2	47.2	48.7
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	isposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

31. SERBIA

Following two years of strong GDP growth, the Serbian economy is projected to contract sharply in 2020, followed by a strong rebound in 2021. Private consumption and investment are expected to fall in 2020 due to lockdown restrictions, confidence effects and uncertainties, before a strong recovery in 2021. Due to the economic contraction and sizeable fiscal mitigation measures, the general government deficit is forecast to rise sharply in 2020 followed by a strong reduction in 2021. The debt-to-GDP ratio is set to increase temporarily by around 10 percentage points in 2020.

Strong growth momentum ahead of the crisis

Growth accelerated strongly in the second half of 2019, bringing annual growth above 4% for a second consecutive year. Robust domestic demand continued to determine the pace of expansion, in particular from gross fixed capital formation, strongly supported by the construction of the Turkstream gas pipeline. Short-term indicators suggest that growth remained robust in the first quarter of 2020, but the positive outlook came to a sudden halt due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic. The government declared a state of emergency on 15 March, imposing a series of containment measures, including a 12-hour daily curfew, the closure of all non-essential shops, restaurants and cafés, and transport shutdowns. A first gradual relaxation of lockdown measures started to be envisaged as of late April.

Sharp economic contraction before rebound

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is expected to cause GDP to contract by around 4% in 2020, followed by a strong rebound by 6% in 2021. Both the contraction and the recovery are forecast to be mainly driven by private consumption and investment. The overall short duration of lockdown measures is not expected to durably affect production capacity and the longterm growth trajectory, allowing for a strong recovery, also in line with the forecast recovery of external demand. Due to supply restrictions in many service sectors, not fully compensated income losses and uncertainty-induced precautionary savings, private consumption is projected to decrease by around 41/4% in 2020 and to rebound strongly in 2021. Gross fixed capital formation is also expected to have a similar-sized negative contribution to overall 2020 GDP growth, contracting by a projected 131/2%, as many private investments are put on hold due to increased uncertainty and public investment is delayed. As these short-term crisis effects subside, investment is set to rebound strongly in 2021. On the external

side, due to its relatively high trade openness, the Serbian economy is set to be strongly hit by the COVID-19 crisis-induced contraction of external demand, particularly from its main trading partners in the EU, leading to a projected fall in exports by 8½%. The negative domestic demand shock is however expected to lead to a stronger fall of imports by 9½% and thus to a positive contribution of net exports to GDP growth in 2020. Exports and imports are forecast to rebound strongly in 2021.



Unemployment to rise temporarily

While government measures are expected to mitigate lockdown-induced job losses, the economic contraction is nonetheless expected to temporarily interrupt the continuous decline of unemployment over the last five years. Inflation is set to moderate further in the short term, reflecting lower oil prices and subdued domestic demand, while rebounding in 2021 due to the recovery.

Outlook subject to high uncertainty

The growth outlook is subject to high uncertainty with risks tilted to the downside. While a potential faster lifting of the main restrictions might allow for an earlier and stronger rebound, a potentially more protracted duration of restrictions on some sectors may more persistently affect consumer confidence and consumption patterns, thereby dampening the economic recovery. In this regard, the effectiveness of measures to protect household disposable income and business liquidity will also be essential. On the external side, a potential stronger contraction in main trading partners would weigh on Serbian exports and investment.

Public deficit and debt to rise strongly in view of crisis mitigation

The strong revenue performance in 2019 allowed for high increases in current and capital spending while maintaining a general government deficit close to balance. The public debt-to-GDP ratio also continued its gradual decline towards 50% of GDP. The COVID-19 crisis is set to deteriorate sharply the deficit to 71/2% of GDP in 2020, both due to the effect of automatic stabilisers, mostly on the revenue side, but also due to a sizeable package of discretionary fiscal measures to cushion the impact of the crisis. The package includes deferred tax payments, income support to employees in SMEs and to temporarily suspended workers in large companies, one-off payments to all citizens and liquidity-enhancing loan guarantees. The package has a direct budgetary impact of around

6% of GDP and another 5% in liquidity-enhancing measures. In line with the projected recovery, the fading out of one-off mitigation measures and the revenue increase from deferred tax payments, the deficit is forecast to drop sharply to 2% of GDP in 2021. The debt-to-GDP ratio is projected to rise above 60% in 2020 reflecting both the high deficit and low GDP developments, before resuming its gradual decline in line with the economic rebound and lower deficit developments in 2021.



Table II.31.1:

Main features of country forecast - SERBIA

		2018				Annua	percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn RSD	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		5068.6	100.0	-	3.3	2.0	4.4	4.2	-4.1	6.1
Private Consumption		3511.9	69.3	-	1.3	1.9	3.1	3.2	-4.2	6.8
Public Consumption		839.3	16.6	-	1.2	3.3	3.7	2.9	3.2	2.8
Gross fixed capital formation		1016.5	20.1	-	5.4	7.3	17.8	16.4	-13.5	19.4
of which: equipment		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Exports (goods and services)		2573.6	50.8	-	11.9	8.2	8.3	8.5	-8.5	13.8
Imports (goods and services)		3005.3	59.3	-	6.7	11.1	11.6	9.5	-9.4	16.7
GNI (GDP deflator)		4806.8	94.8	-	2.4	1.0	5.9	3.9	-3.7	6.4
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	-	2.0	3.1	5.9	6.0	-5.4	9.0
		Inventories		-	-0.6	0.9	0.9	-0.4	0.0	-0.2
		Net exports		-	1.9	-2.0	-2.4	-1.3	1.3	-2.7
Employment				-	5.6	2.8	1.4	2.4	-3.2	2.7
Unemployment rate (a)				-	15.3	13.5	12.7	10.3	12.7	10.0
Compensation of employees / he	ad			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Unit labour costs whole economy				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Real unit labour cost				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GDP deflator				-	1.5	3.0	2.1	2.5	1.8	3.0
Consumer-price index				-	1.1	3.2	2.0	1.7	0.9	1.9
Terms of trade goods				-	0.0	-1.0	-1.6	0.5	0.0	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-	-7.3	-9.0	-11.1	-11.3	-10.1	-11.9
Current-account balance (c)				-	-2.9	-5.2	-4.8	-6.9	-4.3	-5.5
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	-a-vis ROW (c)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government balance (c)				-	-1.2	1.1	0.6	-0.2	-7.7	-2.1
Cyclically-adjusted budget balan	ice (d)			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government gross debt (c)			-	68.8	58.7	54.5	52.8	62.2	59.5
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross s	aving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

32. TURKEY

Balance sheet and external financing vulnerabilities and expansionary policies prior to the crisis limit the policy space to mitigate the COVID-19 effects and remain a major source of risk. The economy is particularly exposed to the fallout from the crisis due to its high integration in global value chains and dependence on tourism and transport – two of the most heavily affected sectors. Following a steep decline in domestic demand and international trade this year, persistent uncertainty and a weak labour market are expected to dampen the strength of the recovery in 2021.

Starting from a strong growth momentum

Economic growth accelerated to 6.0% y-o-y in the fourth quarter of 2019, bringing the annual growth rate just under 1%. Household consumption, boosted by consumer lending and pent-up demand, drove the growth momentum along with rebounding investment activity. Although investment remained in negative territory, strong rises in machinery and equipment purchases and a build-up of inventories signalled that economic recovery was gaining speed. Construction was the only sector subtracting from growth.

First signs of a steep fall in economic activity visible in March

The economy had not yet fully recovered from the dislocations caused by the 2018 recession when the COVID-19 pandemic started to disrupt the global economy. The first, more tangible signs of the pandemic effects on the Turkish economy became visible in March. Real sector confidence plummeted to 99.7, down 7.2 pps from the previous month. Its decline was mostly driven by deteriorating expectations for output and export orders in the next 3 months. In parallel, the manufacturing PMI fell steeply from 52.4 in February to 48.1 in March. General economic confidence declined as well, although March data did not yet fully capture COVID-19 effects on consumers, retail trade, and construction.

Multiple channels of contagion and limited policy space

The Turkish economy is particularly exposed to the effects of the pandemic due to its high integration in global value chains and dependence on tourism and transport – two of the most heavily affected sectors. As a result, net exports are forecast to have a negative effect on growth and external trade to contract by around a quarter this year. In a bleak international environment, as a net energy importer, the Turkish economy will benefit strongly from the lower international oil prices via the room created for more accommodative monetary policy and the reduction in the import bill. Nevertheless, the economy is expected to contract because of a large domestic demand shock, in both private consumption and investment, amid further decline in confidence and persistently high uncertainty. The recovery in 2021 is likely to be subdued in view of growing balance sheet problems and a weak labour market.



Financial market stress was quite pronounced already in early 2020, with credit default swap spreads rising to multi-year highs in April and the lira losing 17% of its value against the US dollar since the beginning of the year. While a weaker lira would work to compress imports and external imbalances, it will also stoke inflationary pressures and aggravate vulnerabilities caused by the large open net foreign currency position of the non-financial sector.

The policy space to mitigate the effects from the crisis is limited. Real interest rates became negative already before the crisis, while previous years' expansionary fiscal policy had reduced fiscal buffers. Nevertheless, the authorities took a number of measures to boost liquidity and provide favourable credit conditions. However, fiscal transfers, beyond the operation of automatic stabilisers, remained limited. In view of the economy's vulnerabilities and significant exchange rate pressures, addressing external financing needs and arresting the decline in international reserves will be crucial in order to allow a stronger policy reaction to cushion the social and economic effects of the crisis. Risks related to geopolitical and regional tensions remain elevated.

Significant labour market challenges and a growing fiscal cost

The steep contraction of domestic and external demand is expected to further weaken the labour market, with particularly negative employment effects in services and construction. Weak safety nets, coupled with widespread informal employment in these sectors, are unlikely to mitigate fully the social fallout of the crisis and to cushion the hit to private consumption.

Automatic fiscal stabilisers and initial fiscal measures would alleviate only partially the economic burden from the crisis. Nevertheless, the underlying fiscal position, which weakened already in 2019 due to one-off and temporary measures, is expected to worsen significantly. The main reason for this is the expected large decline

in revenues because of the steep fall in economic activity. Therefore, even without additional, more decisive discretionary measures, the budget deficit is set to expand significantly, while government debt is forecast to increase above 40% of GDP. Ultimately, in view of the magnitude of the economic and financial challenges, and if the government takes further measures to aid companies and limit employment losses, the fiscal cost of the crisis may turn out to be even higher.



Table II.32.1:

Main features of country forecast - TURKEY

		2018				Annua	l percen	tage ch	ange	
	bn TRY	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		3724.4	100.0	5.1	3.2	7.5	2.8	0.9	-5.4	4.4
Private Consumption		2111.3	56.7	4.5	3.7	6.2	0.0	0.7	-2.1	1.9
Public Consumption		552.4	14.8	4.6	9.5	5.0	6.6	4.4	4.0	4.5
Gross fixed capital formation		1114.1	29.9	8.7	2.2	8.2	-0.6	-12.4	-14.3	-3.3
of which: equipment		-	-	7.7	-	-	-	-	-	-
Exports (goods and services)		1099.8	29.5	7.0	-1.9	12.0	7.8	6.4	-26.4	17.7
Imports (goods and services)		1140.7	30.6	6.6	3.7	10.3	-7.8	-3.6	-24.5	5.2
GNI (GDP deflator)		3623.4	97.3	5.1	3.4	7.2	1.4	2.0	-5.9	3.4
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	5.7	4.2	6.9	0.8	-2.6	-4.3	1.1
		Inventories		-0.2	0.4	0.5	-2.2	0.5	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		-0.2	-1.4	0.1	4.2	3.0	-1.1	3.3
Employment				1.2	2.2	3.6	1.9	-2.2	-4.3	2.5
Unemployment rate (a)				9.1	10.8	10.8	10.9	13.6	16.9	16.9
Compensation of employees / her	bd			17.6	20.2	8.8	17.0	18.7	5.3	8.6
Unit labour costs whole economy				13.2	19.1	4.9	15.9	15.0	6.5	6.6
Real unit labour cost				-1.8	10.2	-5.5	-0.4	1.0	-5.4	-4.3
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
GDP deflator				15.3	8.1	11.0	16.4	13.9	12.5	11.4
Consumer-price index				16.6	7.8	11.1	16.3	15.5	11.4	11.7
Terms of trade goods				-	9.4	-6.9	-4.7	-0.5	3.3	0.2
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-	-4.8	-6.9	-4.9	-2.5	0.6	3.0
Current-account balance (c)				-4.1	-3.8	-5.6	-3.6	0.2	-0.5	1.5
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-	a-vis ROW (c)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government balance (c)				-	-1.1	-2.8	-2.8	-3.0	-7.8	-9.0
Cyclically-adjusted budget baland	ce (d)			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government gross debt (c	:)			46.0	28.3	28.2	30.4	33.1	43.1	47.7
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross so	aving divided	by adjusted gross a	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

Other non-EU Countries

33. THE UNITED KINGDOM

UK GDP is expected to fall steeply in the first half of 2020, mostly due to the containment measures the UK government has implemented to combat the spread of COVID-19, before rebounding into 2021. Private consumption is expected to fall sharply, before picking up again, while investment is expected to take longer to recover, due both to the lasting consequences of COVID-19 and continuing uncertainty about the UK's future trading relations with the EU. Net trade is expected to remain a drag on growth. Unemployment is set to spike in 2020, before easing down in 2021. Inflation is projected to drop this year before rising in 2021.

GDP growth was modest and volatile in 2019...

UK GDP growth was very volatile throughout 2019. This was in part due to fears of a possible disorderly exit from the EU in March and October, which led to stockpiling and other mitigation activities, temporarily boosting growth in the first and third quarter of 2019. The subsequent unwinding of stocks had a negative effect on GDP growth in the second and fourth quarters. Overall, UK GDP grew by 1.4% in 2019, up slightly from 1.3% in 2018.



Following the UK's withdrawal from the EU on 31 January 2020 and the entry into force of the Withdrawal Agreement, the UK entered a transition period during which EU law, with a few exceptions, continues to apply to and in the UK. The transition period lasts until the end of 2020, with the possibility of an extension. Projections for 2021 are based on a purely technical assumption of status quo in terms of trading relations between the EU and the UK. This is for forecasting purposes only and has no bearing on the negotiations between the EU and the UK on their future relations.

...and is expected to drop in 2020 because of COVID-19 before rebounding in 2021

To contain the spread of the COVID-19 pandemic, the UK government implemented a lockdown from late March onwards, leading to a sharp slowdown in business activity in many sectors, particularly hospitality. Consequently, private consumption and investment are expected to fall sharply in the second quarter of 2020. As containment measures are eased, private consumption is expected to rebound quickly in the second half of the year, supported by an expansionary fiscal policy. Business investment is also expected to rebound, although with uncertainty about the UK's future trading relations continuing to weigh on investment. Public consumption is expected to contribute significantly to GDP growth in 2020, while net exports are projected to weigh on growth. Overall, UK GDP is expected to fall by 8¹/₄ % in 2020.

Private consumption is expected to be the main driver of growth in 2021, with public consumption growth slowing. Investment is expected to contribute positively to growth, while net exports are projected to continue to weigh on growth. Reflecting this and the purely technical assumption on EU-UK trade relations, UK GDP is expected to grow by 6 % in 2021. The risks to the UK GDP forecast are tilted to the downside.

Employment to fall sharply in 2020

Employment is expected to fall sharply in 2020 as a consequence of the containment measures. The unemployment rate, which reached a historical low in 2019 of 3.7 %, is therefore expected to increase to an average of 6.7 % in 2020, with government policies to support employees and the selfemployed preventing an even steeper increase. In 2021, unemployment is expected to fall slightly to 6 %. Consumer price inflation is forecast to ease to 1.2 % in 2020 from 1.8 % in 2019, mainly due to lower energy and service prices. Inflation is projected to rebound to 2.1% in 2021.

General government deficit to rise to levels last seen in the global financial crisis

The general government deficit is expected to have increased to 2.5% of GDP in 2019-2020, from 1.8% in 2018-2019. This is the first increase of the deficit after several years of fiscal tightening, mainly due to planned increases in departmental spending. The spread of COVID-19 also had some negative impact on the fiscal balance in the first quarter of 2020.

In the Budget in March, the UK government announced significant fiscal loosening, in particular higher resource and capital spending. In addition, in the Budget and in the following weeks, the government announced several fiscal measures to deal with the consequences of COVID-19. These measures amount to around $5\frac{1}{2}$ % of GDP, and include income support for employees and self-employed workers, support for businesses and an increase in welfare spending. Based on a nopolicy change assumption, the measures are assumed to only have temporary effect in 2020-2021. The government has also provided credit guarantees for bank loans of about 16 % of GDP, creating contingent liabilities. The additional spending, in combination with the economic downturn expected for 2020 lead to an expected increase in the general government deficit in 2020-2021 to $10\frac{3}{4}$ %, slightly higher than at the height of the financial crisis in 2009. The general government deficit is then expected to fall to $6\frac{1}{2}$ % in 2021-2022.

The general government debt-to-GDP ratio is expected to have increased to 85.2% in 2019-2020, up from 84.2% in 2018-2019. In 2020-2021, it is projected to increase to $102\frac{1}{2}\%$. In 2021-22, it is projected to fall slightly due to the rebound in the economy, but remain above 100 % of GDP.

Table II.33.1:												
General government projections on a financial-year basis												
ESA10	Actual		Forecast									
	2017-18	2018-19	2019-20	2020-21	2021-22							
General government balance~	-2.7	-1.8	-2.5	-10.7	-6.2							
Structural budget balance	-3.3	-2.4	-1.8	-6.7	-4.3							
General government gross debt	84.6	84.2	85.2	102.5	100.2							
~APF transfers included												

Table II.33.2:

Main features of country forecast - UNITED KINGDOM

		2018			Annual percentage change				ange	
	bn GBP	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		2144.3	100.0	1.9	1.9	1.9	1.3	1.4	-8.3	6.0
Private Consumption		1404.0	65.5	2.0	3.6	2.2	1.6	1.1	-10.3	6.9
Public Consumption		396.2	18.5	2.3	1.0	0.3	0.4	3.5	4.9	0.8
Gross fixed capital formation		362.6	16.9	1.6	3.6	1.6	-0.2	0.6	-14.3	11.5
of which: equipment		81.0	3.8	1.7	9.0	6.3	-8.2	-6.2	-21.3	16.8
Exports (goods and services)		656.5	30.6	3.0	2.7	6.1	1.2	4.8	-10.7	5.1
Imports (goods and services)		686.3	32.0	3.5	4.4	3.5	2.0	4.6	-9.9	6.1
GNI (GDP deflator)		2116.8	98.7	1.8	1.8	3.2	1.2	1.3	-8.3	6.0
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	2.0	3.2	1.8	1.1	1.5	-8.2	6.4
		Inventories		0.0	-0.6	-0.6	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		-0.2	-0.5	0.7	-0.3	0.0	-0.1	-0.4
Employment				0.9	1.5	1.0	1.2	1.1	-2.7	1.5
Unemployment rate (a)				6.1	4.8	4.3	4.0	3.8	6.7	6.0
Compensation of employees / he	ad			3.2	3.2	3.2	2.9	3.8	-6.5	8.6
Unit labour costs whole economy				2.2	2.7	2.2	2.7	3.5	-0.7	4.0
Real unit labour cost				0.2	0.6	0.4	0.6	1.6	-2.4	2.5
Saving rate of households (b)				9.2	7.2	5.3	5.8	5.7	10.6	7.8
GDP deflator				2.0	2.1	1.9	2.1	1.9	1.7	1.5
Harmonised index of consumer p	ices			2.1	0.7	2.7	2.5	1.8	1.2	2.1
Terms of trade goods				0.2	3.0	0.1	0.5	0.9	0.0	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-5.3	-6.7	-6.6	-6.5	-5.9	-6.1	-6.2
Current-account balance (c)				-3.0	-5.2	-3.5	-3.9	-3.8	-4.1	-4.3
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-3.1	-5.3	-3.6	-4.0	-3.8	-4.2	-4.5
General government balance (c				-4.4	-3.3	-2.5	-2.2	-2.1	-10.5	-6.7
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-4.2	-3.7	-3.0	-2.8	-2.7	-6.2	-4.8
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-3.7	-3.0	-2.8	-2.7	-6.2	-4.8
General government gross debt	c)			56.8	86.8	86.2	85.7	85.4	102.1	101.5
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

34. THE UNITED STATES

The US economy is set to contract sharply in 2020 because of the impact of COVID-19 and the sharp deterioration of both consumer and business sentiment. Once the worst effects of the coronavirus are left behind, the economy is expected to recover gradually as of the second half of 2020 supported by unprecedented monetary policy easing and a historically large fiscal stimulus. Risks are tilted to the downside in a context of very high economic uncertainty.

Solid economic performance in 2019 before a dramatic contraction in 2020

Real GDP increased by 2.3% in 2019 driven by robust private consumption and a strong labour market. Nevertheless, domestic demand gradually softened because of subdued private investment and a weak manufacturing sector suffering from restrictive trade policies and the global slowdown. The positive contribution from residential investment confirmed the pick-up of the housing sector.

Following a similar baseline scenario of the unfolding pandemic, as assumed for the euro area, GDP is expected to contract sharply in the first half of 2020 against the backdrop of a steep contraction of household consumption and private investment while the severe global recession is expected to weigh heavily on the export sector. The economy is set to recover from the second half of 2020 onwards and rebound over the forecast horizon on the back of private consumption, which is projected to be supported by a massive fiscal stimulus, a reduction of relatively high saving rates and a gradual recovery of the labour market. Private investment is expected to grow more slowly than consumption and remain rather subdued because of high debt levels in the corporate sector, the significant adverse impact of very low oil prices in the energy sector, significant doubts about the profile of the economic recovery and the elevated uncertainty about the trade and the global outlook. In this context, government consumption is set to play a significant countercyclical role by growing markedly in 2020 and declining later as the economic activity recovers.

Total exports and imports are forecast to contract sharply in 2020 against the backdrop of the sharp fall in economic activity, especially investment, and major disruptions to global value chains. Trade is expected to recover in 2021 even though imports are expected to grow faster than exports because of the significant recovery of private consumption compared to external demand. As a result, the current account is expected to deteriorate also in line with the major increase in the fiscal deficit.

Thus, the US economy is expected to contract by $6\frac{1}{2}\%$ in 2020 and then rebound by almost 5% in 2021.



Macroeconomic policies will be exceptionally supportive to the economy

Macroeconomic policies are set to remain particularly supportive in 2020 on the back of the unprecedented set of facilities adopted by the US Federal Reserve (Fed) and a comprehensive package of fiscal measures worth some USD 2.2 trillion (around 11% of the US GDP).

The Fed cut its funds target range a full 150 bps to 0-0.25% in March. It then began an open-ended purchase of Treasuries and mortgage-backed securities at an even faster pace than during the financial crisis. The unlimited Quantitative Easing was complemented by a set of other unconventional measures aimed at providing liquidity, restoring normal market functioning and easing financing conditions to support economic recovery.

The fiscal stimulus was adopted to cushion the dramatic effects of the partial shutdown on

economic activity. The stimulus is a 2020 one-off that consists of a set of instruments that provides direct income support to many citizens, expands unemployment insurance, offers loans to businesses, and provides additional resources to the healthcare sector. The general government deficit-to-GDP ratio is expected to soar to above 17% of GDP in 2020 and the debt-to-GDP ratio to increase by close to 25 percentage points over 130% of GDP.

Unemployment will reach the highest level in many decades

Having touched a historic low of 3.4%, the unemployment rate is set to increase sharply and reach a double-digit figure in the course of 2020. Unemployment is expected to rise across the whole economy even though some sectors such energy as well as tourism, retail or the aircraft industry are likely to be particularly hard hit. Job creation is set to resume as of the second half of 2020 even though the unemployment rate is likely to remain still above 6% at the end of 2021. Consumer price inflation is estimated to soften markedly in 2020, reflecting depressed demand, an unprecedented collapse of oil prices and the intense deterioration of the labour market.

An exceptionally high degree of uncertainty

Disruptions to economic activity could be even more severe if the duration of the virus outbreak is longer or new waves of infections force the extension of public health measures beyond the second quarter. A major hit to corporate profits and a sharp reassessment of financial risks may expose vulnerabilities of the most highly leveraged companies, and compromise the expected recovery of economic activity and employment. In addition, the massive fiscal stimulus may not be as effective as needed in cushioning the impact of the COVID-19 on domestic demand. Furthermore, financing conditions could also tighten more than expected if volatility in financial markets remains elevated.

Table II.34.1:

Main lealores of cooling forecast - officer s

		2018			Annual percentage change					
	bn USD	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		20580.2	100.0	2.0	1.6	2.4	2.9	2.3	-6.5	4.9
Private Consumption		13998.7	68.0	2.3	2.7	2.6	3.0	2.6	-7.2	8.5
Public Consumption		2904.3	14.1	1.1	1.8	0.6	1.7	1.8	6.6	-4.7
Gross fixed capital formation		4260.8	20.7	1.8	1.9	3.7	4.1	1.8	-12.2	1.7
of which: equipment		1376.0	6.7	3.9	-0.9	4.8	6.7	1.9	-6.7	0.8
Exports (goods and services)		2510.2	12.2	4.0	0.0	3.5	3.0	0.0	-13.4	10.3
Imports (goods and services)		3148.5	15.3	3.8	2.0	4.7	4.4	1.0	-12.9	13.2
GNI (GDP deflator)		20848.1	101.3	2.2	1.6	2.5	3.0	2.4	-7.2	5.4
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	2.1	2.5	2.6	3.1	2.4	-6.5	5.4
		Inventories		0.0	-0.5	0.0	0.1	0.1	-0.2	0.2
		Net exports		-0.1	-0.3	-0.3	-0.3	-0.1	0.3	-0.7
Employment				-	1.5	1.2	1.7	1.1	-6.3	2.0
Unemployment rate (a)				6.3	4.9	4.4	3.9	3.7	9.2	7.6
Compensation of employees / f.t.	.e.			3.1	0.9	3.1	3.3	3.1	0.4	1.3
Unit labour costs whole economy				1.6	0.8	1.9	2.1	1.9	0.5	-1.5
Real unit labour cost				-0.4	-0.3	0.0	-0.4	0.2	1.2	-3.0
Saving rate of households (b)				11.3	12.3	12.5	13.3	13.7	18.8	10.5
GDP deflator				2.0	1.0	1.9	2.4	1.7	-0.6	1.5
Consumer-price index				-	1.3	2.1	2.4	1.8	0.5	1.5
Terms of trade goods				-0.2	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.6	0.4	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				-4.9	-4.2	-4.3	-4.4	-4.1	-3.7	-4.2
Current-account balance (c)				-3.3	-2.3	-2.3	-2.4	-2.3	-3.0	-3.0
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis	s-a-vis ROW (c)		-3.3	-2.3	-2.3	-2.4	-2.3	-3.0	-3.0
General government balance (c)				-6.2	-5.4	-4.3	-6.6	-7.2	-17.8	-8.5
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government gross debt (c)			78.3	106.8	106.0	104.3	106.6	130.6	131.0
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross a	disposable inc	ome. (c) as	a % of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ential GDP.		
(*) Employment data from the BLS hous	ehold survey.									

35. JAPAN

After a very weak end of 2019, economic activity is set to slump in the first half of 2020 amid the negative COVID-19 shock to external demand and lockdown-related demand suppression. The recovery from this shock is likely to be gradual, as policy space is limited and uncertainty about economic prospects has increased markedly.

Partial lockdown and tumbling external demand weights on growth

After three quarters of robust growth, real GDP growth in Japan flattened in Q3-2019 and dropped rapidly in Q4-2019 to -1.8% q-o-q reflecting the negative impact of a the hike in the consumption tax rate and the impact of typhoon Hagibis. For the year as a whole, economic activity increased by 0.7% driven by robust public consumption and investments linked to the organisation of the 2020 Tokyo Olympics and labour-replacing automation.



A recovery was expected to take hold in the beginning of 2020 but the COVID-19 outbreak led to a sharp fall in external demand, disruption of global value chains, plunging tourism revenues and weakened domestic demand. On the external side, tourism revenues plummeted as Japan has imposed wide-ranging border controls and exports slumped as the pandemics ravaged China and, later on, advanced economies. On the domestic side, retail sales were relatively robust in February in line with the limited scale of containment measures so far, although consumer confidence paints a bleaker picture for March.

In Q2-2020 domestic demand is expected to drop, curtailed by the introduction of a one-month state of emergency in seven prefectures responsible for half of Japan's economic activity, which in midApril was extended to the whole country. The declaration will enable prefectural governors to request people to stay in confinement and order closures of schools and public facilities. These measures are likely to result in a significant fall in private consumption. However, the scale of the closures seem to be more limited than in other advanced economies as public transportation, hotels and restaurants, distribution services and factories are not supposed to stop operating. At the same time, foreign trade is set to be hampered further by plunging foreign demand and temporary seizure of global supply chains.

Recovery is likely to be gradual ...

Economic activity is expected to rebound in the second half of 2020 and thereafter, as restrictive measures are gradually lifted. Private consumption is set to recover as pent-up demand for durables and semi-durables picks up and Tokyo Olympics are expected to take place in 2021. Public consumption and investments are likely to be prompted by sizeable stimulus measures. However, the extent of the rebound may be limited by changes in households' behaviour, as uncertainty around the health situation and future incomes is set to increase. Private investment growth is likely to remain sluggish, tough, reflecting lower global demand, increased uncertainty and disruptions in financing for some sectors.

On the external side, export growth is projected to pick up gradually in the second half of 2020 reflecting recovering demand in China and advanced economies. However, disruptions to global value chains and remaining travel restrictions are likely to hamper a strong rebound of foreign trade and tourism. At the same time, imports are likely to recover in line with rising domestic demand. Overall, net exports are expected to contribute negatively to growth in 2020 and recover afterwards, while real GDP is forecast to contract by 5% in 2020 before increasing by 2³/₄% in 2021.

... supported by renewed fiscal stimulus...

In the beginning of April the government adopted a new fiscal stimulus to cushion the impact of COVID-19 on the economy. The major part of the financing is intended to protect employment and businesses and key interventions include cash handouts to households and firms, deferral of tax payments and social security contributions, and concessional loans from public and private financial institutions. Although part of the announced government spending constitutes repackaging of previous stimuli, expansion of credit guarantees and deferment of tax and social security payments, the new fiscal spending in the supplementary budget amounts to around 4½% of GDP.

...and more accommodative monetary policy

The space for further interest rate cuts appears limited in Japan as interest rates are in negative territory and the central bank has refrained from cutting them further. Still, the Bank of Japan introduced a set of measures to provide liquidity and support credit flows. It increased the size and frequency of Japanese sovereign bond purchases and the annual pace of purchases of Exchange Traded Funds (ETFs) and Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs). It also introduced a special fundssupplying operation to provide loans to financial institutions to facilitate financing of corporates and temporary increased targeted purchases of commercial paper and corporate bonds. At the same time, it has enhanced the provision of USD liquidity through swap arrangements with the Fed. Overall, financing conditions for corporates have been kept lose, but the risks for some sectors have increased significantly with the virus outbreak and the turmoil on international financial markets.

Risks are elevated

Risks to the forecast are skewed to the downside. On the domestic side, the scale and duration of lockdown measures might be higher than currently assumed, leading to a much sharper and longer contraction in domestic demand. On the external side, postponed rebound in external demand and more pronounced disintegration of value chains remains an important downward risk.

Table II.35.1:

Main features of country forecast - JAPAN

		2018			Annual percentage change				ange	
	bn JPY	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP		547125.5	100.0	0.9	0.5	2.2	0.3	0.7	-5.0	2.7
Private Consumption		304427.8	55.6	0.8	-0.3	1.3	0.0	0.2	-5.7	2.3
Public Consumption		108335.3	19.8	1.6	1.4	0.2	0.9	1.9	3.5	4.2
Gross fixed capital formation		131971.2	24.1	-0.4	-0.3	3.0	0.6	1.3	-8.4	1.6
of which: equipment		44170.7	8.1	1.1	-1.9	5.3	2.8	-	-	-
Exports (goods and services)		101354.6	18.5	4.4	1.7	6.8	3.4	-1.8	-15.0	3.2
Imports (goods and services)		100077.9	18.3	3.3	-1.6	3.4	3.4	-0.8	-11.8	2.0
GNI (GDP deflator)		567134.5	103.7	1.0	0.1	2.4	0.4	0.6	-4.3	2.2
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	0.7	0.1	1.5	0.3	0.8	-4.4	2.6
		Inventories		0.1	-0.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0
		Net exports		0.2	0.6	0.6	0.0	-0.2	-0.6	0.2
Employment				0.0	1.0	1.0	1.7	0.5	-5.0	-1.0
Unemployment rate (a)				4.5	3.1	2.8	2.4	2.3	4.3	4.5
Compensation of employees / he	ead			-0.6	1.2	0.5	1.5	0.9	-2.1	2.3
Unit labour costs whole economy				-1.5	1.6	-0.7	2.9	0.8	-2.0	-1.4
Real unit labour cost				-0.7	1.3	-0.5	3.0	0.2	-2.0	-1.4
Saving rate of households (b)				10.5	9.7	9.0	10.5	10.6	13.3	11.4
GDP deflator				-0.7	0.3	-0.2	-0.1	0.6	-0.1	0.1
Consumer-price index				0.0	-0.1	0.5	1.0	0.5	0.0	0.2
Terms of trade goods				-2.5	7.4	-4.9	-4.8	1.1	0.0	0.0
Trade balance (goods) (c)				1.1	1.0	0.9	0.2	0.3	-0.1	0.0
Current-account balance (c)				2.7	4.0	4.1	3.5	3.5	3.6	3.2
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-a-vis ROW (c)					3.9	4.1	3.5	3.4	3.5	3.2
General government balance (c)					-3.5	-2.9	-2.3	-2.3	-4.9	-5.3
Cyclically-adjusted budget balar	nce (d)			-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-
General government gross debt (c)			190.5	236.5	234.6	236.8	236.2	253.7	252.2
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	isposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.		

36. CHINA

The COVID-19 outbreak has severely hit the Chinese economy. Available data point to a sharp contraction of economic activity in the first two months of 2020 followed by a gradual recovery, which is, however, expected to be dampened by a slump in external demand. Overall, the Chinese economy is expected to grow by about 1% in 2020 and to pick up by around 8% in 2021 but uncertainty around this forecast is particularly elevated.

Unprecedented hit to an economy already in slowdown

The Chinese economy had been on a decelerating trend already prior to the COVID-19 outbreak. GDP growth slowed to 6.1% last year, amid softer domestic demand and escalation of economic tensions with the US. High frequency indicators at the turn of the year pointed to some tentative signs of stabilisation but the virus outbreak and the related strict public health measures implemented by the Chinese authorities completely reversed this path and resulted in an unprecedented economic downturn. GDP declined by 6.8% year-on-year in the first quarter of 2020, reflecting the severe damage caused by the outbreak.

Available high frequency indicators point to a sharp drop in economic activity in the first two months of 2020 and to a gradual resumption of production in March, as businesses started to reopen and confinement measures were progressively lifted. According to official estimates, the vast majority of businesses have now resumed activity, although capacity utilisation remains below normal levels, in particular in SMEs. Overall, industrial production seems to be recovering much faster than consumer demand. In particular, retail and recreation services remain constrained as a number of health and social distancing measures remain in place.

A gradual and uneven recovery dampened by a slump in external demand

Going forward, the Chinese economy is expected to recover only gradually, with domestic demand weakness compounded by a slump in external demand. Growth is expected to accelerate in the second half of this year and in 2021 but the projected rebound still implies some permanent loss of output compared to the pre-pandemic baseline, as some sectors (in particular services such as travel and tourism) are unlikely to recuperate lost activity. Growth is projected to fall to 1% in 2020, the lowest growth rate in several decades, and to pick up to around 8% in 2021, reflecting in particular a strong carry-over effect, low baseline in 2020 and, to a lesser extent, the macroeconomic policy response to the outbreak. The underlying growth momentum will be weaker than before the crisis as higher unemployment and lower household and corporate incomes are expected to continue dampen consumer demand and investment. In addition, structural factors, such as shrinking working age population, slow productivity growth and high debt levels are expected to act as additional drags on growth in the medium term.



The trade outlook for China is also expected to worsen materially. 2019 was already a very weak year in terms of trade performance, with both export and import growth falling sharply. Supply chain disruptions as well as significantly lower demand from the rest of the world due to the COVID-19 outbreak are projected to reduce China's exports massively, by more than 10% this year. Imports are also expected to shrink, reflecting in particular lower outbound tourism. The projected rebound in trade in 2021 is rather subdued by historical standards, as global trade policy uncertainty and still weak external demand are expected to continue to weigh on China's trade outlook.

A targeted and rather cautious policy response

The macroeconomic policy response to the outbreak has been overall more cautious and targeted than the massive fiscal and monetary stimulus deployed during the financial crisis in 2008-09. The Chinese authorities have so far focused on targeted stress relief and liquidity provision. On the monetary side, the Chinese central bank has provided more liquidity to financial markets, banks have been encouraged to provide more lending to SMEs, to extend loan and interest payments for affected enterprises and to raise their tolerance for bad debt. Some key policy rates have been cut but so far to a limited extent.

On the fiscal side, more support has been provided both by central and local governments, in particular in the form of additional healthcare spending, extensions of tax payments, reduction in taxes and social security contributions for firms, employment or wage subsidies and financial guarantees for SMEs. More fiscal and monetary stimulus is likely to be implemented in the course of the year to further support consumption, boost infrastructure investments, stimulate credit growth and achieve the poverty reduction goal. However, available policy space is limited given high public debt burden (in particular at the local government level) and serious financial stability issues.

Unprecedented levels of uncertainty

Both the growth and trade outlooks are subject to extreme uncertainty. In particular, a second outbreak of the virus could occur as factories re-open and activity resumes. This would imply another supply and demand shock and postpone the recovery. Moreover, given the financial vulnerabilities and high indebtedness of the Chinese economy, the supply and demand disruptions together with the sharp financial market reaction globally may trigger severe financial stability problems and deepen the downturn even further. At the same time, upside risks include a possibility of a sharper-thanexpected rebound in economic activity when the pandemic subsides as well as more substantial policy support than currently assumed.

		2018			Annual percentage change				ange			
	bn CNY	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021		
GDP		91928.1	100.0	9.6	6.8	7.0	6.7	6.1	1.0	7.8		
Consumption		50613.5	55.1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Gross fixed capital formation		39384.8	42.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
of which: equipment				-	-		-	-	-	-		
Change in stocks as % of GDP				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Exports (goods and services)		18155.6	19.7	15.5	1.1	9.1	4.0	0.7	-10.5	5.0		
Final demand				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Imports (goods and services)		17450.2	19.0	14.7	4.7	7.1	7.9	-2.3	-6.0	4.6		
GNI (GDP deflator)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Contribution to GDP growth :		Domestic dema	nd	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
		Inventories		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
		Net exports		-	-		-	-	-	-		
Employment				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Unemployment (a)				4.0	4.0	3.9	3.8	3.6	-	-		
Compensation of employees/head	d			-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Unit labour costs				-	-		-	-	-	-		
Real unit labour costs				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Saving rate of households				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
GDP deflator				3.6	1.5	4.2	3.5	1.6	1.7	2.1		
Private consumption deflator				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Index of consumer prices (c)				2.3	2.0	1.6	2.1	2.9	-	-		
Merchandise trade balance (b)				4.5	4.4	3.9	2.8	3.0	1.9	2.1		
Current-account balance (b)				4.0	1.8	1.6	0.2	1.0	0.6	0.8		
Net lending(+) or borrowing(-) vis-à	-vis ROW (b)		-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
General government balance (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
General government gross debt (b)			-	-		-	-	-	-		

Table II.36.1:

Main features of country forecast - CHINA

(a) urban unemployment, as % of labour force. (b) as a percentage of GDP. (c) national indicator.

37. EFTA

The EFTA countries entered the COVID-19 crisis with their economies already in a downswing, largely resulting from a deteriorating international environment. The pandemic puts further strain on growth prospects, primarily in 2020, but also still in 2021. Key transmission channels include trade of goods and services, such as aluminium demand and tourism in the case of Iceland, but also lower oil prices in the case of Norway. Fiscal support packages amounting up to 10% of GDP have been adopted. Risks are largely on the downside.

Switzerland

Output growth continued to decelerate during the second half of 2019, bringing annual growth to 0.9%, compared to 2.8% the year before. Key factors for the slowdown were a deteriorating international environment, and a base-year effect, related to international sports events in 2018. Domestic demand remained subdued, reflecting moderate wage growth, weak investment spending in view of the overall uncertain international environment and the end of a construction boom. Inflation remained low, largely due to low import prices, in particular for energy. Faced with rapidly increasing cases of COVID-19 infections, Switzerland announced a lockdown on 16 March, among others cancelling all private and public events and closing schools, restaurants and bars.

In addition to the costs of the domestic shut-down, Switzerland's high integration into the global economy makes it vulnerable to the effects of the global recession. So far, the Swiss government has presented three packages to cushion the economic consequences with an overall amount of CHF 62 billion (about 10% of GDP). The Swiss Central Bank has taken measures to improve the financial sector's liquidity and has been intervening in the foreign exchange markets to stem the currency's tendency to appreciate, resulting from the CHF's safe-haven status.

Based on a scenario of a sharp drop in external and domestic economic activity in the second quarter and a gradual recovery thereafter, output growth is expected to drop by some 5% in 2020, followed by a subdued rebound in 2021. A sharp drop in exports is set to be a key driver of the decline in 2020, while on the domestic side, the fall in working hours, weaker private demand and lower investment will weigh further on output. Due to the lockdown, employment could decline markedly, leading to an increase in the number of unemployed by nearly 20%. Inflation is likely to remain low in 2020, given recent declines in oil

and food prices. In 2021, a subdued rebound in output growth is expected, largely based on pentup private consumption and investment. The fiscal costs of fighting the pandemic and its economic implications will result in a substantial, but temporary increase in the deficit and debt ratios, which will still be felt in 2021.



Country-specific risks to the outlook are primarily on the downside and are related to the recovery of key trading partners, such as Germany but also the USA and the United Kingdom. Further risks are a marked appreciation of the Swiss currency, given its status as a safe-haven in times of crisis. This could have a negative affect on the country's price competitiveness.

Norway

Real GDP grew by 1.2% in 2019, almost the same growth rate as in 2018, driven by a pickup in domestic demand. This was largely on the back of a surge in hydrocarbons-related investment and solid private consumption. The latter reflected the tight labour market supporting wage growth as well as elevated consumer confidence. Still, the external sector posed headwinds to growth due to sluggish export demand across main trading partners. The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in early March interrupted the growth momentum abruptly. The government swiftly imposed quarantine measures to stem the spread of the virus that had substantial disruptive effects on the mainland economy. Worsening labour market conditions combined with the economic fallout from the pandemic and negative consumer sentiment are expected to suppress private consumption while the concerns over the duration of the crisis among investors will weigh heavily on investment. Net exports will continue to subtract from growth as merchandise exports are expected to suffer due to the collapse in oil and gas prices so far this year. The recovery in housing investment will likely be slow due to concurrent headwinds including modest population growth and restrictions to business operations delaying a restart in construction.

As the damage done by the virus is assumed to abate in the second half of the year, a return to growth is expected in 2021 mainly driven by the rebound in household spending and investment.

Overall, the economy is forecast to shrink sharply by about $5\frac{1}{2}$ in 2020, before recovering by 3% in 2021.



Worsening domestic economic conditions, plunging oil prices and recent monetary easing by other major central banks due to the COVID-19 pandemic triggered Norges Bank's Executive Board emergency decisions to slash the key policy rate from 1.5% to the historic low of 0.25% with two successive cuts of 50 and 75 basis points on 12 and 19 March, respectively.

The Norwegian authorities announced fiscal stimulus measures in several steps to mitigate the

virus crisis' negative effects on growth and employment. The budget now anticipates a fiscal impulse of around 4½% of GDP and spending of oil revenues equivalent to around 4% of the sovereign wealth fund's (Government Pension Fund Global) assets at the beginning of the year.

Domestic risks to the outlook are clearly tilted to the downside. A further depreciation of the Krone could eat into private consumption. Uncertainties in the property market and high household debt levels raise financial stability concerns, which are however mitigated by the significant capital and liquidity buffers held by the Norwegian banks. Regarding the external environment, the volatility of energy prices presents upside and downside risks while a continued severe disruption caused by the spread of the virus across Norway's major export markets continues to point to downside risks.

Iceland

After several years of robust growth, Iceland entered into a cyclical slowdown in 2019. Real GDP decelerated to 1.9% due to deteriorating tourism activity (bankruptcy of domestic airlines, declining number of tourist arrivals) and shrinking business investment. Moreover, further headwinds came from poor growth of goods exports, such as aluminium and marine products. Growth of private consumption softened in line with the cyclical slowdown, but continued to contribute positively to GDP growth. Further positive contributions came from increasing public consumption and declining imports, which were driven by lower investment and contraction of aluminium related imports.

The pandemic is set to trigger a recession in 2020. There is high uncertainty concerning the magnitude of the contraction. The shutdown in the second quarter will have a strong negative impact on key export items such as tourism, marine products and aluminium. Increasing lay-offs, falling incomes and lowered confidence will weigh on private consumption. Uncertainty is likely to deter business and residential investment.

In 2019, unemployment had already risen in line with the weaker cyclical position of the economy. Given the negative growth outlook for 2020, the unemployment rate is expected to increase to more than 7% in 2020 and adjust only slowly thereafter.

In response to the crisis, the government launched a fiscal package of nearly 8% of GDP, aiming to mitigate the crisis impact on firms and workers. The government will provide tax reductions and increased benefits (up to 75% of salaries), state-backed bridging loans to companies, deferrals of tax payments, financial support for the tourism sector, access to third-pillar pension savings during the next 15 months and refunds of value-added tax (VAT) for construction projects. The government will also accelerate public infrastructure investment.



The central bank lowered the policy interest rate by half a percentage point, bringing it to a record low of 1.75% in March. In addition, the 2% requirement on the countercyclical capital buffer for commercial banks has been lifted. In response to a sharp drop of the ISK exchange rate, the central bank intervened massively in the foreign exchange market, but the intervention didn't prevent the ISK from sliding. Between January and March the ISK depreciated by 12% against the euro, and it is likely to slide further this year. Given the depreciating currency and rising import prices, inflation is set to spike in 2020 and moderate in 2021, despite a faltering demand outlook.

The balance of risks is tilted to the downside. Key external risk stems from a gloomy outlook for Iceland's exports, in particular tourism with the largest group of visitors coming from the US. Upside risk is related to the depreciating ISK, which could raise the country's attractiveness for tourists towards the end of the year. The timid recovery, which is foreseen for 2021, is surrounded by high uncertainty.

Table II.37.1:

Main features of country forecast - EFTA

		Icelo	and		Norway				Switzerland			
(Annual percentage change)	2018	2019	2020	2021	2018	2019	2020	2021	2018	2019	2020	2021
GDP	3.8	1.9	-5.0	2.4	1.3	1.2	-5.5	3.0	2.8	0.9	-5.0	4.5
Private Consumption	4.7	1.6	-5.3	0.2	1.9	1.7	-7.4	3.3	1.0	1.0	-2.5	3.0
Public Consumption	3.9	4.1	4.7	2.4	1.4	1.7	2.8	2.2	0.3	1.3	2.0	1.5
Gross fixed capital formation	-1.1	-6.3	-4.9	-1.1	2.8	6.2	-8.9	4.5	1.1	0.6	-7.0	8.8
of which: equipment	-	-	-	-	7.8	7.4	-2.2	3.0	2.7	2.1	-5.0	7.9
Exports (good and services)	1.7	-5.0	-10.5	6.5	-0.2	1.5	-13.5	7.1	2.9	0.5	-10.5	8.5
Imports (goods and services)	0.8	-9.9	-5.9	2.6	1.9	5.2	-12.6	7.7	-0.3	-1.4	-8.8	9.2
GNI (GDP deflator)	4.1	1.9	-5.0	2.4	1.3	1.2	-5.5	3.0	2.4	0.9	-5.0	4.5
Contribution to GDP growth: Domestic demand	3.1	0.4	-2.6	0.5	1.9	2.6	-5.0	3.2	0.8	0.8	-2.8	3.9
Inventories	0.3	-0.5	0.0	0.0	0.1	-0.3	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-1.0	0.0	0.0
Net exports	0.4	2.0	-2.4	1.8	-0.7	-1.1	-0.5	-0.2	2.1	1.1	-2.2	0.6
Employment	2.9	0.8	-4.7	0.8	1.6	1.7	-3.1	2.9	0.9	1.0	-1.0	2.5
Unemployment rate (a)	2.9	3.3	7.3	6.7	3.7	3.5	7.1	5.5	4.7	4.7	5.5	5.0
Compensation of employee/head	6.1	4.6	0.2	1.7	3.3	3.8	0.3	1.6	1.2	1.1	0.0	1.5
Unit labour cost whole economy	5.2	3.4	0.5	0.2	3.6	4.4	2.9	1.6	-0.6	1.2	4.2	-0.5
Real unit labour cost	2.5	-1.0	-6.1	-5.0	-2.0	5.4	3.6	-0.3	-0.9	0.8	5.3	-1.3
Saving rate of households (b)	4.1	4.0	2.6	3.6	12.6	13.3	12.7	13.6	:	:	:	:
GDP deflator	2.6	4.4	7.0	5.5	5.8	-0.9	-0.7	1.8	0.2	0.4	-1.0	0.8
Harmonised index of consumer prices	2.7	3.7	5.5	4.2	3.0	2.3	0.3	1.5	0.9	0.4	-0.5	1.0
Terms of trade goods	-3.1	0.8	-0.6	-0.2	12.6	-11.7	-5.5	0.0	0.3	-1.7	0.4	-0.1
Trade balance (goods) (d)	-5.8	-3.3	-3.7	-3.0	7.0	2.8	1.1	1.0	8.6	9.4	8.4	8.2
Current account balance (d)	2.8	4.7	2.4	3.9	8.1	3.5	1.9	1.7	8.2	8.4	6.4	6.5
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-a-vis ROW	2.8	4.6	2.3	3.9	8.0	3.5	1.8	1.7	8.9	7.6	5.5	5.7
General government balance (d)	0.8	-0.9	-5.9	-2.9	7.8	6.4	4.7	9.2	1.4	-0.2	-4.0	-1.5
General government gross debt (d)	40.8	40.2	48.5	48.8	39.3	40.6	46.7	43.2	31.2	31.0	37.0	36.7
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross saving divided by (d)as a % of GDP.	adjustd gro	ss dispos	able inco	ome. (c)	for Icelan	d nation	al consur	ner price	index.			

38. RUSSIAN FEDERATION

Russia faces a double hit from sharply lower oil prices and lockdown-driven deceleration in domestic demand in the context of the COVID-19 outbreak. Against this backdrop a sharp slump in economic activity is expected in the first half of 2020. Authorities, aware of the limited size of the fiscal buffers in the current environment of very low oil prices and a global pandemic, are unlikely to opt for a major fiscal boost to prop up the economy.

Channels of economic contagion are manifold

The economic activity slowed down to 1.3% in 2019, as investments and external demand were sluggish. Still, public investments into national projects, a major programme of mostly infrastructure spending to stimulate potential growth, accelerated towards the end of 2019 resulting in a gradual pick up of economic activity.



Real GDP growth was expected to strengthen further in 2020, but the negative economic impact of the virus outbreak will be significant. First, oil prices collapsed to 18-year lows in March amidst a 25% plunge in global oil demand and the breakdown of the OPEC+ agreement to cut supply. Confronted with the price shock of this scale, oil producers, including Russia, finally agreed in April to cut production by 10%. Second, in end-March the authorities announced a quarantine in Moscow and some other regions, requiring non-essential businesses to close and people to remain indoors. The lockdown is expected to last at least until the end of April, significantly curtailing domestic demand. Third, global demand and prices for metals also dwindled limiting further non-oil export revenues. Finally, tourism, a rapidly growing but still relatively small sector is set to be hampered by strict travel restrictions.

Real GDP growth falls on oil price collapse and demand destruction due to the virus

The lockdown measures were originally less severe than in other countries, but were sharpened with accelerating infections in April. These measures have a significant negative effect on consumption that is expected to decline sharply, as most outside activity is curtailed. However, fiscal measures are likely to cushion part of the slump as automatic stabilisers start to work and social spending is expected to rise. At the same time, corporate and household incomes are set to dwindle. Oil revenues might shrink by half if current price trends continue, putting further pressure on export-related incomes. Private investment is set to be subdued in 2020, as the situation of SMEs is deteriorating rapidly and the energy sector is unlikely to spend in the current circumstances.

On the external side, exports are set to plummet, as commodity prices fall and foreign demand shrinks, although imports are projected to fall less reflecting their lower dependence on consumption. All in all, contribution of external trade is set to turn highly negative before recovering towards the end of the forecast horizon. Against this backdrop, real GDP is likely to fall by 5% in 2020, more than in 2015 (-2.3%) when the previous oil price crisis and Western sanctions battered the economy.

Recovery in 2021 is likely to be subdued with real GDP growing by $1\frac{1}{2}\%$ as income losses and uncertainty among consumers are set to continue hampering consumption. Investments are expected to be held back by a cautious attitude of Russian authorities, while recovering external demand is likely to boost trade.

Fiscal expansion is limited

Since 2015, fiscal policy has been tight and buffers have been rebuilt, though the situation changed in 2018 when the authorities announced the sizable public investment program. However, due to crisis-related revenue losses and the desire to protect reserves, given the scale of the current economic crisis and the turbulences in the oil markets. lower-than-previously-planned а execution of investment plans is expected for 2020 and 2021. At the same time, authorities announced a limited fiscal expansion (3% of GDP). It will include higher compensation for healthcare workers, increased sick leave benefits, interest rate subsidies and tax deferrals for SMEs and childcare lump sum benefits. Overall, together with automatic stabilisers kicking in, this additional spending is set to turn recent fiscal surpluses into deficit over the forecast horizon.

Monetary policy has already been eased

Monetary policy has been eased recently as the central bank cut interest rates from 7.75% in May

2019 to 5.5% in April 2020 in lockstep with rapidly falling inflation. In parallel, the central bank conducted some credit and regulatory easing measures. Going forward, further rate cuts are possible, supporting the economy, despite inflation temporarily exceeding the target at the end of 2020, before subsiding in 2021.

Risks to the forecast more on the downside

The major risk to the downside is a possible market exit of SMEs at a larger scale than anticipated accompanied by massive job losses. On the upside, world oil demand could rebound earlier than expected on swifter recovery of the global economy resulting in higher export revenues and a boost to domestic demand.

Table II.38.1:

Main features of country forecast - RUSSIA

		2018			Annual percentage change				ange	e		
	bn RUB	Curr. prices	% GDP	00-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021		
GDP		103875.8	100.0	4.1	0.3	1.6	2.3	1.3	-5.0	1.6		
Private Consumption		51283.7	49.4	6.4	-1.9	3.3	2.3	2.3	-3.3	1.1		
Public Consumption		18049.3	17.4	0.9	1.5	2.5	0.3	2.8	-1.8	0.8		
Gross fixed capital formation		21383.0	20.6	6.6	1.0	5.1	2.4	1.4	-1.8	2.0		
of which: equipment		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Exports (goods and services)		31932.6	30.7	5.0	3.2	5.0	5.5	-2.1	-16.5	3.9		
Imports (goods and services)		21574.3	20.8	9.8	-3.6	17.4	2.7	2.2	-9.7	2.3		
GNI (GDP deflator)		101542.5	97.8	4.2	0.3	1.9	2.5	1.2	-5.2	1.6		
Contribution to GDP growth:		Domestic demar	nd	4.7	-0.5	3.3	1.8	1.9	-2.4	1.2		
		Inventories		0.4	-0.5	0.3	-0.3	0.4	0.0	0.0		
		Net exports		-0.7	1.7	-2.3	0.9	-1.1	-2.6	0.4		
Employment				0.7	0.1	-0.1	0.1	-0.3	-1.3	0.1		
Unemployment rate (a)				7.2	5.7	5.2	5.0	5.1	6.2	6.0		
Compensation of employees / he	ead			-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Unit labour costs whole economy	/			-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Real unit labour cost				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
Saving rate of households (b)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
GDP deflator				14.2	3.2	5.4	10.3	3.0	-0.2	4.5		
Consumer-price index				-	7.0	3.7	2.9	4.6	4.0	4.0		
Terms of trade goods				3.7	-18.0	13.0	17.3	-4.9	-17.2	2.9		
Trade balance (goods) (c)				11.6	7.0	7.3	11.8	9.5	3.5	4.2		
Current-account balance (c)				6.8	2.0	2.0	6.9	4.0	-2.7	-2.1		
Net lending (+) or borrowing (-) vis-a-vis ROW (c)					2.0	2.0	6.9	4.0	-2.7	-2.1		
General government balance (c)					-3.7	-1.5	2.9	1.7	-2.7	-2.7		
Cyclically-adjusted budget bala	lically-adjusted budget balance (d)					-	-					
Structural budget balance (d)				-	-	-	-	-	-	-		
General government gross debt	(c)			19.7	16.3	15.6	14.3	15.7	21.2	23.6		
(a) as % of total labour force. (b) gross	saving divided	by adjusted gross d	lisposable inc	ome. (c) as	a%of GD	P. (d) as a	% of pote	ntial GDP.				

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This report was prepared in the Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs under the direction of Maarten Verwey – Director-General and José Eduardo Leandro – Director "Policy, strategy and communication". It has benefitted from the close collaboration with Directorate-General for Financial Stability, Financial Services and Capital Markets Union.

Executive responsibilities were attached to Björn Döhring – Head of Unit "Economic situation, forecasts, business and consumer surveys", Evelyne Hespel – Head of Sector "Macro-economic forecasts and short-term economic developments", and the forecast coordinators – Reuben Borg and Alexandru Zeana.

The Overview was prepared by Evelyne Hespel. In the section on "Economic outlook for the euro area and the EU", Chapter 1 "Key features" was prepared by Oliver Dieckmann under the responsibility of Björn Döhring. Chapter 2 "Economic outlook" was prepared under the responsibility of Björn Döhring and coordinated by Przemyslaw Wozniak. This chapter benefited from contributions by Nicolas Bernier Abad, Bogdan Bogdanov, Piotr Bogumil, Reuben Borg, Chris Bosma, Lucian Briciu, Alessandra Cepparulo, Ulrich Clemens, Oliver Dieckmann, Susanne Hoffmann, Renata Hrůzová, João Leal, Jakub Mazur, Rafał Raciborski, Vito Ernesto Reitano, Milan Vyskrabka, Przemysław Woźniak, Tomasz Zdrodowski and Alexandru Zeana. In Chapter 3 "Special issues", Special issue 1 "How the pandemic shaped the Forecast" was prepared by Olga Croitorov, Susanne Hoffmann, João Leal, Beatrice Pataracchia, Philipp Pfeiffer, Marco Ratto, José Manuel Rueda-Cantuche, Jan in 't Veld, Lukas Vogel, Milan Vyskrabka and Przemyslaw Wozniak. This chapter benefited from contributions by Antonio F. Amores and Juan M. Valderas-Jaramillo.

The sections on "Member States" were prepared under the supervision of Manfred Bergmann, Reinhard Felke and Massimo Suardi, Directors for the "Economies of the Member States". These sections benefited from contributions by Emiel Afman, Ronald Albers, Aurelija Anciūtė, Wojciech Balcerowicz, Antonino Barbera Mazzola, Barbara Bernardi, Maria Bianchi, Christian Buelens, Kathleen Burkhardt, João Capella-Ramos, Bruno Castanheira, Francisco de Castro Fernández, Lubomir Chaloupka, Peder Christensen, Alessandro Cisotta, Angela Droussiotou, Hugo Ferradáns Ramonde, Norbert Gaál, Sotirios Giannoulis, Oscar Gómez Lacalle, Karolina Gralek, Oskar Grevesmühl, András Hudecz, Zuzanna Iskierka, Anne Jaubertie, Isabelle Justo, Magdalena Kizior, Willem Kooi, Anastasia Kouskouni, Daniel Kosicki, Radoslav Krastev, Ivan Kušen, Milan Lisický, David Lopes, Dimitri Lorenzani, Ivan Lozev, Natalie Lubenets, Andreea-Alexandra Maerean, Maria Maierean, Mart Maiväli, Janis Malzubris, Giovanna Mazzeo Ortolani, Fabrizio Melcarne, Balázs Pálvölgyi, Mona Papadakou, Gábor Márk Pellényi, Arian Perić, Simona Pojar, Félix Rodríguez Millán, Paulina Rogowska, Francesco Rossi-Salvemini, Marie-Luise Rüd, Maja Šamanović, Teresa Sastre de Miguel, Marie-Luise Schmitz, Michael Sket, Peeter Soidla, Vladimír Solanič, Matija Šušković, Septimiu Szabo, Gilles Thirion, Tsvetan Tsalinski, Ismael Valdés Fernández, Milda Valentinaité, Valérie Vandermeulen, Vasiliki Vasilopoulou, Michael Vedsø, Martina von Terzi, Kai-Young Weissschaedel, Bartłomiej Wiczewski, Rafał Wielądek, Bart Wilbrink, Stephan Wolters, Ingars Zustrups and Pieterjan van der Zwan.

The sections on "Candidate Countries" and "Other non-EU countries" were prepared under the supervision of Elena Flores, Director of the "International economic and financial relations, global governance". These sections, and forecasts for all other non-EU economies, benefited from contributions by Juan José Almagro Herrador, Bogdan Bogdanov, Piotr Bogumił, Stefan Bohner, Bernhard Böhm, Uwe Böwer, Pedro Carpintero, Ángel Catalina Rubianes, Stylianos Dendrinos, Annika Eriksgaard Melander, Daphne Gerard, Maria Gerhardt, Nikolay Gertchev, Luigi Giamboni, Joern Griesse, Dalia Grigonytė, Marianne Grima, Jana Hoeffken, Renata Hrůzová, Henrik Huitfeldt, Sarah Jurreit, Plamen Kaloyanchev, Stefan Kramer, Mihai-Gheorghe Macovei, Alexandros Mouzakitis, Radostin Neykov, Jerzy Pieńkowski, Rafał Raciborski, Antonio Sánchez Pareja, Uwe Stamm, Barbara Stearns-Bläsing, Gerda Symens, András Tari and Norbert Wunner.

Support in editing the report by Peter Koh, and for its communication and publication by Nicolas Carpentiers, Manuel De La Red Carino, Robert Gangl, Olivier Glorieux, Valentina Chiarini, Tamas Nagy, Sarka Novotna and Yasmina Quertinmont under the responsibility of Philip Tod, is gratefully acknowledged.

Follow-up calculations were performed by Francesca D'Auria, Francois Blondeau, Atanas Hristov, Vitor Martins, Kieran Mc Morrow and Anna Thum-Thysen under the responsibility of Werner Röger. Forecast assumptions were prepared by Lucian Briciu, Paloma Cortés Payá, Roberta Friz, Eric McCoy, Ulrike Stierle-von Schutz and Vaclav Zdarek. Statistical support for the production of the forecast was provided by Susanne Hoffmann and Tomasz Zdrodowski, and by Noel Doyle, Alberto Noriega, Daniel Grenouilleau and Ingo Kuhnert. Further statistical and layout assistance was provided by Maria Bianchi, Bruno Castanheira, Marko Cip, Lorenzo Frattarolo, Michel Gerday, Leonor Jarava, Szabolcs Klubuk, Johann Korner, Anna Chiara Küffel, Giovanna Mazzeo Ortolani, Gianluca Papa, Félix Rodríguez Millán, and Jacek Szelożyński.

Valuable comments and suggestions by Laura Bardone, Gerrit Bethuyne, Reuben Borg, Oliver Dieckmann, Björn Döhring, Patrick D'Souza, Christian Gayer, Gabriele Giudice, Peter Grasmann, Isabel Grilo, Martin Hallet, Evelyne Hespel, Heinz Jansen, João Leal, Stefan Kuhnert, Paul Kutos, Júlia Lendvai, Maarten Masselink, Magdalena Morgese Borys, Gilles Mourre, Moisés Orellana, Karl Pichelmann, Dino Pinelli, Eric Ruscher, Matteo Salto, Dominique Simonis, Uwe Stamm, Michael Stierle, Michael Thiel, Anneleen Vandeplas, Charlotte Van Hooydonk, Milan Vyskrabka, Melanie Ward-Warmedinger, Christian Weise, Sam Whittaker, Florian Wöhlbier, Przemysław Woźniak, Norbert Wunner, Ana Xavier, Javier Yaniz Igal and Alexandru Zeana are gratefully acknowledged.

Secretarial support for the finalisation of this report was provided by Carlos Rodríguez del Río and Els Varblane.

Comments on the report would be gratefully received and should be sent to: Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs Unit A3: Economic situation, forecasts, business and consumer surveys European Commission B-1049 Brussels E-mail: <u>ccfin-forecasts@ec.europa.eu</u>

Statistical Annex

European Economic Forecast – Spring 2020

Contents

Output : GDP and its components

1.	Gross domestic product	168
2.	Profiles (q-o-q) of quarterly GDP	168
3.	Profiles (y-o-y) of quarterly GDP	169
4.	GDP per capita	169
5.	Final domestic demand	170
6.	Final demand	170
7.	Private consumption expenditure	171
8.	Government consumption expenditure	171
9.	Total investment	172
10.	Investment in construction	172
11.	Investment in equipment	173
12.	Public investment	173
13.	Potential GDP	174
14.	Output gap relative to potential GDP	174

Prices

15.	Deflator of GDP	175
16.	Deflator of private consumption	175
17.	Harmonised consumer prices index	176
18.	Harmonised consumer prices quarterly profiles	176
19.	Deflator of exports of goods	177
20.	Deflator of imports of goods	177
21.	Terms of trade of goods	178

Wages, population and labour market

22.	Total population	178
23.	Total employment	179
24.	Unemployment rate	179
25.	Compensation of employees per head	180
26.	Real compensation of employees per head	180
27.	Labour productivity	181
28.	Unit labour costs, whole economy	181
29.	Real unit labour costs	182

Exchange rates

Nominal bilateral exchange rates	182
Nominal effective exchange rates	183
Relative unit labour costs	183
Real effective exchange rates	184
	Nominal bilateral exchange rates Nominal effective exchange rates Relative unit labour costs Real effective exchange rates

General Government

34.	Total expenditure	184
35.	Total revenue	185
36.	Net lending (+) or net borrowing (-)	185
37.	Interest expenditure	186
38.	Primary balance	186
39.	Cyclically-adjusted net lending (+) or net borrowing (-)	187
40.	Cyclically-adjusted primary balance	187
41.	Structural budget balance	188
42.	Gross debt	188

Saving

Gross national saving	189
Gross saving of the private sector	189
Saving rate of households	190
Gross saving of general government	190
	Gross national saving Gross saving of the private sector Saving rate of households Gross saving of general government

Trade and international payments

47.	Exports of goods and services	191
48.	Imports of goods and services	191
49.	Merchandise trade balance (% of GDP)	192
50.	Current-account balance (% of GDP)	192
51.	Net lending (+) or net borrowing (-)	193
52.	Current-account balance (bn EUR)	193
53.	Export markets (goods and services)	194
54.	Export performance (goods and services)	194

World economy

World GDP	195
World exports of goods and services	196
Export shares (goods) in EU trade	196
World imports of goods and services	197
Import shares (goods) in EU trade	197
World merchandise trade balances (bn USD)	198
World current-account balances (bn USD)	199
Crude oil prices	199
	World GDP World exports of goods and services Export shares (goods) in EU trade World imports of goods and services Import shares (goods) in EU trade World merchandise trade balances (bn USD) World current-account balances (bn USD) Crude oil prices

European Economic Forecast, Spring 2020

Table 1: Gross domestic product, volume (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021)

	5-year					Spring 2020					Autumn 2019			
		averages				forecast			forecast					
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021		
Belgium	1.9	1.5	1.3	1.5	2.0	1.5	1.4	-7.2	6.7	1.1	1.0	1.0		
Germany	0.5	1.2	1.7	2.2	2.5	1.5	0.6	-6.5	5.9	0.4	1.0	1.0		
Estonia	7.3	-0.3	3.3	2.6	5.7	4.8	4.3	-6.9	5.9	3.2	2.1	2.4		
Ireland	5.3	0.4	6.7	3.7	8.1	8.2	5.5	-7.9	6.1	5.6	3.5	3.2		
Greece	3.9	-0.3	-4.0	-0.2	1.5	1.9	1.9	-9.7	7.9	1.8	2.3	2.0		
Spain	3.3	1.0	0.0	3.0	2.9	2.4	2.0	-9.4	7.0	1.9	1.5	1.4		
France	1.7	0.8	1.0	1.1	2.3	1.7	1.3	-8.2	7.4	1.3	1.3	1.2		
Italy	0.9	-0.3	-0.7	1.3	1.7	0.8	0.3	-9.5	6.5	0.1	0.4	0.7		
Cyprus	4.0	2.7	-1.7	6.7	4.4	4.1	3.2	-7.4	6.1	2.9	2.6	2.3		
Latvia	8.2	-0.5	3.6	1.8	3.8	4.3	2.2	-7.0	6.4	2.5	2.6	2.7		
Lithuania	7.6	1.1	3.8	2.6	4.2	3.6	3.9	-7.9	7.4	3.8	2.4	2.4		
Luxembourg	2.9	2.4	2.9	4.6	1.8	3.1	2.3	-5.4	5.7	2.6	2.6	2.6		
Malta	2.1	2.0	5.7	5.8	6.5	7.3	4.4	-5.8	6.0	5.0	4.2	3.8		
Netherlands	1.3	1.4	0.7	2.2	2.9	2.6	1.8	-6.8	5.0	1.7	1.3	1.3		
Austria	1.8	1.3	1.1	2.1	2.5	2.4	1.6	-5.5	5.0	1.5	1.4	1.4		
Portugal	0.9	0.6	-0.8	2.0	3.5	2.6	2.2	-6.8	5.8	2.0	1.7	1.7		
Slovenia	3.6	1.9	0.4	3.1	4.8	4.1	2.4	-7.0	6.7	2.6	2.7	2.7		
Slovakia	5.0	4.9	2.6	2.1	3.0	4.0	2.3	-6.7	6.6	2.7	2.6	2.7		
Finland	2.6	0.9	0.1	2.7	3.1	1.6	1.0	-6.3	3.7	1.4	1.1	1.0		
Euro area	1.5	0.8	0.8	1.9	2.5	1.9	1.2	-7.7	6.3	1.1	1.2	1.2		
Bulgaria	5.7	3.2	1.8	3.8	3.5	3.1	3.4	-7.2	6.0	3.6	3.0	2.9		
Czechia	3.9	2.4	1.7	2.5	4.4	2.8	2.6	-6.2	5.0	2.5	2.2	2.1		
Denmark	1.3	0.2	1.3	3.2	2.0	2.4	2.4	-5.9	5.1	2.0	1.5	1.6		
Croatia	4.5	0.5	-0.2	3.5	3.1	2.7	2.9	-9.1	7.5	2.9	2.6	2.4		
Hungary	4.4	-0.2	2.1	2.2	4.3	5.1	4.9	-7.0	6.0	4.6	2.8	2.8		
Poland	3.1	4.8	3.0	3.1	4.9	5.3	4.1	-4.3	4.1	4.1	3.3	3.3		
Romania	5.6	2.8	3.0	4.8	7.1	4.4	4.1	-6.0	4.2	4.1	3.6	3.3		
Sweden	2.6	1.9	2.1	2.4	2.4	2.2	1.2	-6.1	4.3	1.1	1.0	1.4		
EU	1.7	1.0	1.0	2.1	2.7	2.1	1.5	-7.4	6.1	1.4	1.4	1.4		
United Kingdom	2.8	0.5	2.0	1.9	1.9	1.3	1.4	-8.3	6.0	1.3	1.4	1.4		
Japan	1.2	0.1	1.0	0.5	2.2	0.3	0.7	-5.0	2.7	0.9	0.4	0.6		
United States	2.6	0.9	2.2	1.6	2.4	2.9	2.3	-6.5	4.9	2.3	1.8	1.6		

Table 2: Profiles (qoq) of quarterly GDP, volume (percentage change from previous quarter, 2019-21)

23.4.2020

23.4.2020

-	0010/1	0010/0	0010/0	0010/4	0000 /1	0000/0	0000/0	0000/4	0001 /1	0001/0	0001/0	0001 //
Poloium	2019/1	2019/2	2019/3	2019/4	2020/1	2020/2	2020/3	2020/4	2021/1	2021/2	2021/3	2021/4
Correction	0.0	0.3	0.4	0.4	-5.0	-11.5	11.9	2.2	1.3	1.0	0.7	0.4
Germany	0.5	-0.2	0.2	0.0	-1./	-10.5	4.3	2.6	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.8
	1.0	0.9	1.2	0.9	-1.6	-12./	4.5	3.5	2.8	1.2	1.0	1.0
ireidna	2./	-0.4	2.1	1.8	1.9	-17.3	1.8	2.7	3.6	3.4	3.0	2.3
Greece	0.2	1.0	0.4	-0./	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Spain From a c	0.6	0.4	0.4	0.4	-5.0	-14.0	10.1	3./	1.6	1.1	0.9	0.8
France	0.3	0.4	0.3	-0.1	-5./	-13./	15.3	2.6	0.9	0.9	0.5	0.4
Indiy	0.2	0.1	0.1	-0.3	-5.1	-13.6	9.9	5.4	0.7	0.6	0.4	0.4
Cyprus	1.4	0.4	0.5	0.8	:		:	:	:	:	:	:
Latvia	-0.5	0.7	0.6	0.1	-3.3	-10.9	6.8	3.1	2.0	1.3	0.8	0.8
Lithuania	1.1	0.9	0.8	1.0	-5.0	-12.1	9.2	2.7	2.3	1.5	1.1	0.7
Luxembourg	0.5	1.9	0.3	0.4	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Malta	0.0	1.5	1.2	1.7	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Netherlands	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.4	-2.3	-10.0	2.4	5.3	1.7	0.7	0.5	0.2
Austria	0.5	0.1	0.2	0.2	-2.0	-8.7	4.6	2.5	1.4	1.2	1.1	0.8
Portugal	0.7	0.5	0.3	0.7	-1.8	-11.8	5.6	2.5	2.3	1.6	1.2	0.8
Slovenia	0.5	0.0	0.8	0.4	-3.7	-13.0	11.9	2.1	1.7	0.9	0.8	0.8
Slovakia	0.6	0.3	0.4	0.6	-3.1	-11.0	6.5	3.7	1.8	1.3	1.1	0.9
Finland	0.3	0.6	0.3	-0.6	0.1	-11.1	3.8	2.4	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.2
Euro area	0.5	0.1	0.3	0.1	-3.5	-12.2	8.3	3.3	1.4	1.3	1.1	1.0
Bulgaria	1.0	0.7	0.7	0.8	-2.1	-14.0	6.7	5.5	1.0	1.1	1.1	1.2
Czechia	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	-2.2	-9.2	3.5	2.4	1.9	1.6	1.2	0.9
Denmark	0.0	1.2	0.5	0.6	-3.6	-9.7	7.4	2.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8
Croatia	1.1	0.6	0.6	0.3	2.1	-20.4	6.4	5.4	2.6	2.5	2.4	2.2
Hungary	1.4	1.0	1.1	1.0	-0.5	-14.3	3.9	3.3	2.7	2.2	1.7	1.2
Poland	1.4	0.7	1.2	0.3	-1.0	-8.7	4.0	1.8	1.5	1.2	1.0	0.7
Romania	1.1	0.9	0.6	1.5	0.6	-12.0	1.2	2.1	2.2	2.1	2.1	2.0
Sweden	0.0	0.2	0.4	0.2	-2.2	-7.7	2.4	1.7	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
EU	0.5	0.2	0.4	0.2	-3.2	-11.9	7.6	3.2	1.5	1.3	1.1	1.0
United Kingdom	0.7	-0.2	0.5	0.0	-1.6	-16.7	10.5	5.1	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.7
Japan	0.5	0.6	0.0	-1.8	-0.8	-4.9	0.4	1.7	1.6	1.0	0.3	0.2
United States	0.8	0.5	0.5	0.5	-2.7	-11.4	7.5	2.4	1.3	1.1	0.6	0.3
23.4.2020

23.4.2020

Table 3:	Profile (yoy) of quarterly GDP, ve	olume (percentage change from co	rresponding quarter in previous year, 2019-2	21)
Table 3:	Profile (yoy) of quarterly GDP, ve	olume (percentage change from co	rresponding quarter in previous year, 2019	- 2

	2019/1	2019/2	2019/3	2019/4	2020/1	2020/2	2020/3	2020/4	2021/1	2021/2	2021/3	2021/4
Belgium	1.3	1.3	1.6	1.2	-3.9	-15.3	-5.6	-3.9	2.5	16.9	5.2	3.3
Germany	1.0	0.3	0.6	0.5	-1.7	-11.8	-8.1	-5.7	-2.5	10.9	8.2	7.4
Estonia	4.6	4.4	4.5	4.0	1.3	-12.3	-9.5	-7.1	-2.9	12.5	8.8	6.2
Ireland	7.3	4.2	4.5	6.3	5.5	-12.4	-12.7	-12.0	-10.5	11.9	13.2	12.8
Greece	1.6	2.8	2.3	1.0	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Spain	2.2	2.0	1.9	1.8	-3.8	-17.5	-9.6	-6.6	-0.2	17.4	7.5	4.6
France	1.3	1.5	1.5	0.9	-5.2	-18.4	-6.2	-3.7	3.1	20.5	5.1	2.7
Italy	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.1	-5.2	-18.2	-10.1	-4.9	0.9	17.5	7.4	2.3
Cyprus	3.3	3.1	3.3	3.2	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Latvia	3.3	2.7	1.8	1.0	-1.9	-13.2	-7.9	-5.1	0.1	13.9	7.5	5.1
Lithuania	4.1	3.9	3.8	3.8	-2.5	-15.0	-7.9	-6.4	0.8	16.4	7.8	5.7
Luxembourg	0.3	2.9	2.8	3.1	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Malta	5.6	4.5	3.3	4.3	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Netherlands	2.0	1.6	1.8	1.6	-1.2	-11.4	-9.6	-5.2	-1.3	10.4	8.4	3.1
Austria	1.9	1.7	1.5	0.9	-1.5	-10.2	-6.2	-4.0	-0.7	10.1	6.4	4.6
Portugal	2.4	2.1	1.9	2.2	-0.3	-12.5	-7.9	-6.3	-2.3	12.5	7.9	6.1
Slovenia	3.5	2.3	2.1	1.7	-2.5	-15.2	-5.9	-4.3	1.0	17.2	5.6	4.3
Slovakia	3.3	2.3	1.7	1.9	-1.8	-12.9	-7.5	-4.7	0.1	14.0	8.1	5.2
Finland	0.5	1.1	1.6	0.6	0.4	-11.2	-8.1	-5.3	-4.3	8.9	6.1	4.8
Euro area	1.4	1.2	1.3	1.0	-2.9	-14.9	-8.2	-5.3	-0.4	14.9	7.3	4.8
Bulgaria	3.8	3.5	3.2	3.1	0.0	-14.6	-9.4	-5.2	-2.3	14.8	8.8	4.4
Czechia	2.8	2.7	2.5	2.0	-0.8	-10.4	-7.7	-5.9	-2.0	9.7	7.2	5.7
Denmark	1.9	2.7	2.6	2.3	-1.4	-12.1	-6.0	-3.9	0.5	12.1	5.2	3.1
Croatia	4.0	2.4	2.8	2.7	3.7	-18.0	-13.2	-8.9	-8.4	18.0	13.5	10.1
Hungary	5.3	5.1	4.8	4.6	2.6	-12.9	-10.5	-8.4	-5.4	12.7	10.2	7.9
Poland	4.7	4.1	4.0	3.7	1.2	-8.2	-5.7	-4.3	-1.9	8.7	5.7	4.6
Romania	5.0	4.4	3.2	4.2	3.6	-9.6	-9.1	-8.6	-7.2	7.8	8.7	8.7
Sweden	1.4	1.0	1.9	0.8	-1.5	-9.3	-7.5	-6.1	-2.5	7.3	6.4	6.3
EU	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.3	-2.5	-14.2	-8.1	-5.4	-0.8	14.1	7.2	5.0
United Kingdom	2.0	1.3	1.3	1.1	-1.3	-17.6	-9.4	-4.9	-2.5	18.0	7.5	3.1
Japan	0.8	0.9	1.7	-0.7	-2.0	-7.3	-7.0	-3.7	-1.4	4.7	4.7	3.1
United States	2.7	23	21	23	1.2	12.0	4.9	5.0	1.1	12.8	5.5	3 /

Table 4: Gross domestic product per capita (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021)

Spring 2020 Autumn 2019 <u>5-year</u> <u>averages</u> forecast forecast 2019 2020 2021 2001-05 2011-15 2016 2017 2018 2019 2021 2006-10 2020 Belgium 1.5 0.7 0.6 1.6 1.0 0.9 -7.6 6.2 0.7 0.5 0.5 Germany 0.6 1.4 14 1.4 21 1.2 0.3 -6.7 5.7 02 0.8 0.8 Estonia 8.0 0.1 3.6 2.4 5.8 4.5 3.9 -7.2 5.6 2.9 1.9 2.2 Ireland 3.5 -1.4 6.1 2.5 6.9 6.9 4.1 -8.5 5.3 4.4 2.7 2.4 Greece 3.5 -0.6 -3.4 0.2 1.7 2.1 2.1 -9.2 8.5 2.3 2.9 2.5 Spain 1.8 -0.3 0.0 2.9 2.7 1.9 1.2 -9.5 6.4 1.3 0.8 0.6 France 0.9 0.2 0.5 0.7 1.9 1.6 -8.5 7.1 1.1 1.0 1.4 1.0 Italy 0.5 -0.8 -1.0 1.5 1.8 0.9 0.4 -9.5 6.6 0.1 0.5 0.8 Cyprus 2.7 0.3 -2.1 6.3 3.4 2.8 2.0 -8.4 4.9 2.1 1.8 1.4 Latvia 9.4 0.8 4.8 2.7 4.8 5.1 2.9 -6.8 7.1 3.3 3.3 3.4 Lithuania 8.7 4.2 3.1 2.6 5.1 3.9 5.7 4.6 -7.8 7.9 4.5 3.1 Luxembourg 0.7 0.5 1.9 -0.4 0.2 -7.0 3.7 0.4 0.7 1.6 1.1 0.5 Malta 4.2 2.9 2.2 1.4 1.5 1.1 3.4 3.6 3.6 -8.6 2.4 2.1 Netherlands 0.8 1.0 0.4 1.7 2.3 2.0 1.1 -7.6 4.2 1.1 0.8 0.8 Austria 1.2 0.4 0.8 1.9 1.2 -6.0 4.5 1.1 0.9 0.9 1.0 1.8 Portugal 0.5 0.5 -0.4 2.2 5.8 1.7 2.3 3.8 2.8 -6.7 2.0 1.7 Slovenia 2.5 3.4 1.4 0.3 3.1 4.8 3.8 1.6 -7.3 6.5 1.9 2.4 Slovakia 51 47 26 20 29 39 2.1 -6.8 6.5 2.5 2.5 2.6 Finland 2.3 0.5 -0.4 2.4 2.9 1.5 0.9 -6.5 3.6 1.2 1.0 0.9 Euro area 1.0 0.4 0.6 1.6 2.3 1.7 1.1 -7.9 6.1 0.9 1.0 1.0 Bulgaria 6.8 3.8 2.8 4.5 4.3 3.8 3.9 -6.5 6.8 4.3 3.8 3.7 Czechia 4.0 1.9 1.6 2.2 4.1 2.5 2.2 -6.5 4.7 2.1 1.8 1.9 Denmark 1.0 -0.3 0.8 2.4 1.4 1.9 1.9 -6.2 4.7 1.6 1.1 1.2 Croatia 4.4 0.6 0.3 4.4 4.2 3.7 3.5 -8.8 7.7 3.5 3.1 2.7 Hungary 4.6 0.0 2.4 2.5 4.6 5.2 5.0 -6.9 6.2 4.8 3.0 3.0 Poland 3.1 4.6 3.1 3.1 5.0 4.2 -4.2 4.2 4.1 3.4 5.4 3.4 Romania 6.7 3.9 3.4 5.1 4.4 -5.4 4.7 4.2 3.9 5.4 7.7 4.9 Sweden 1.0 2.3 1.1 1.2 1.1 1.0 0.2 -6.9 3.5 0.2 0.1 0.4 1.3 -7.5 EU 1.4 0.7 0.8 1.8 2.6 2.0 5.9 1.2 1.2 1.2 United Kingdom 2.3 -0.3 1.3 0.7 0.8 -8.8 0.7 0.8 0.8 1.3 1.1 5.4 Japan 1.1 0.1 1.1 0.5 0.9 -4.7 3.0 1.1 0.7 0.7 2.4 0.9 United States -7.1 1.6 0.0 1.5 0.9 1.7 2.4 1.8 4.2 1.6 1.1 0.9

	<u>5-year</u>						Sp	Autumn 2019				
		<u>averages</u>					fe	orecast		f	orecast	
_	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.5	1.6	1.4	2.2	1.2	2.2	1.5	-6.9	7.0	1.1	1.3	1.3
Germany	-0.4	1.1	1.4	3.0	2.4	2.1	1.0	-4.8	4.9	1.2	1.5	1.4
Estonia	9.3	-1.3	4.6	5.0	4.5	3.8	5.2	-5.5	4.9	3.9	2.3	2.5
Ireland	5.8	-1.2	4.8	20.6	-0.6	-8.6	35.5	-23.0	7.8	17.3	3.4	3.0
Greece	3.6	-0.3	-5.2	0.5	1.6	0.5	1.0	-8.5	7.4	2.1	2.5	1.9
Spain	4.1	0.3	-1.0	2.1	3.1	2.7	1.5	-9.5	6.9	1.3	1.4	1.3
France	1.9	1.1	1.1	1.5	2.3	1.0	1.4	-8.2	7.9	1.2	1.4	1.2
Italy	1.1	-0.1	-1.5	1.8	1.7	1.1	-0.2	-9.6	6.9	-0.3	0.5	0.7
Cyprus	4.8	4.0	-3.7	8.0	7.2	2.5	2.9	-2.8	4.9	6.7	5.3	3.4
Latvia	9.6	-2.2	3.5	1.7	4.9	5.8	2.4	-5.8	6.5	3.4	2.8	3.0
Lithuania	8.8	0.0	3.8	1.9	2.8	3.4	1.8	-7.3	6.7	4.0	3.1	2.8
Luxembourg	2.8	2.0	3.2	2.8	2.1	2.3	3.3	-3.4	5.3	3.5	2.8	2.4
Malta	1.3	2.1	3.5	1.2	-1.7	8.2	5.8	-1.7	3.1	7.2	5.2	4.2
Netherlands	1.0	1.3	0.8	-0.7	2.3	2.1	2.4	-6.8	5.5	2.3	1.9	1.6
Austria	1.3	1.0	0.9	2.2	2.1	1.7	1.6	-4.3	4.2	1.7	1.4	1.2
Portugal	0.7	0.5	-2.1	2.2	3.3	3.1	2.8	-5.1	4.7	2.8	2.3	2.3
Slovenia	3.0	1.3	-1.0	3.0	4.0	4.3	2.1	-5.6	7.0	3.1	3.3	3.3
Slovakia	5.0	3.3	1.2	1.9	3.3	3.6	3.1	-6.9	6.5	3.2	2.6	2.3
Finland	2.8	0.9	0.7	3.4	1.5	2.8	-0.3	-5.5	3.9	1.3	1.2	1.2
Euro area	1.4	0.7	0.3	2.4	2.2	1.6	1.8	-7.5	6.3	1.5	1.4	1.3
Bulgaria	8.1	2.3	1.4	1.6	4.4	5.8	3.7	-6.5	3.8	4.1	3.4	3.2
Czechia	3.6	1.9	1.3	1.1	3.5	3.9	3.0	-5.5	4.7	2.4	1.9	2.1
Denmark	1.9	0.2	1.5	2.9	1.7	3.0	1.6	-4.5	4.6	0.6	1.9	1.6
Croatia	6.1	-0.3	-0.5	3.2	3.8	4.6	3.1	-5.2	4.3	4.6	3.9	3.5
Hungary	4.3	-1.9	1.3	1.7	5.2	7.3	5.6	-7.6	4.9	5.5	2.7	2.7
Poland	2.3	5.1	2.2	2.3	4.9	5.6	3.0	-4.4	4.0	4.6	4.0	3.6
Romania	8.1	4.1	2.3	5.1	8.4	5.7	5.6	-6.9	4.3	5.6	4.4	3.9
Sweden	1.7	2.3	2.3	2.8	2.5	2.4	0.1	-5.6	3.6	-0.1	0.2	0.6
EU	1.5	0.9	0.5	2.4	2.5	2.0	1.9	-7.2	6.0	1.7	1.6	1.5
United Kingdom	3.3	0.2	2.0	2.5	1.2	1.3	1.6	-8.1	6.3	1.5	1.7	1.7
Japan	0.8	-0.4	1.3	-0.1	1.6	0.3	0.8	-4.4	2.5	1.1	0.4	0.6
United States	2.9	0.4	2.3	1.8	2.6	3.1	2.4	-6.4	5.2	2.5	1.9	1.7

23.4.2020

Final demand, volume (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021) Table 6:

Table 6: Final demo	and, volume (per	centage cha	nge on prece	ding year, 20	01-2021)							23.4.2020
		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.3	1.8	2.0	4.1	3.0	1.7	1.3	-8.5	7.3	0.9	1.3	1.4
Germany	1.2	2.0	2.4	2.8	3.2	2.1	1.0	-7.2	6.6	1.0	1.5	1.5
Estonia	10.0	0.9	5.3	5.0	4.2	4.0	5.1	-8.5	6.4	3.3	2.1	2.5
Ireland	6.0	1.5	8.4	10.2	5.2	3.0	19.7	-18.3	7.1	13.5	3.9	3.7
Greece	3.4	-0.2	-3.6	-0.1	2.8	2.5	2.0	-11.9	9.8	2.6	2.7	2.2
Spain	3.9	0.6	0.2	2.9	3.8	2.6	1.8	-12.2	8.1	1.5	1.6	1.6
France	2.1	1.1	1.7	1.5	2.7	1.6	1.5	-9.1	8.1	1.5	1.6	1.5
Italy	1.2	0.0	-0.6	1.8	2.6	1.4	0.1	-10.4	7.7	0.2	0.8	1.2
Cyprus	3.0	3.2	-0.7	7.7	7.8	3.4	2.5	-10.7	9.1	2.8	2.6	2.4
Latvia	9.9	-0.4	4.5	2.6	5.5	5.1	2.2	-7.5	7.0	3.1	2.4	2.7
Lithuania	10.8	2.0	4.9	3.1	7.1	4.6	5.1	-9.6	9.6	5.2	3.3	2.9
Luxembourg	4.6	3.9	5.7	2.7	1.0	0.9	1.4	-9.6	7.6	2.1	2.0	2.3
Malta	1.0	6.8	4.9	3.3	2.4	5.1	3.1	-6.6	8.6	3.7	3.0	2.7
Netherlands	2.0	1.9	2.5	0.4	4.3	2.9	2.4	-8.7	6.2	2.2	1.8	1.7
Austria	2.5	1.6	1.6	2.5	3.2	3.2	2.0	-7.3	6.3	1.9	1.7	1.6
Portugal	1.1	1.1	-0.2	2.9	4.8	3.5	3.1	-7.8	7.1	2.7	2.4	2.4
Slovenia	4.9	2.5	1.2	4.6	7.0	5.2	3.2	-8.9	10.0	5.4	4.1	4.0
Slovakia	8.4	5.0	4.0	3.4	3.4	4.5	2.4	-9.5	9.7	2.2	3.2	3.4
Finland	3.2	1.1	0.6	3.5	3.4	2.5	1.8	-7.0	4.9	1.5	1.5	1.5
Euro area	2.1	1.2	1.5	2.6	3.3	2.2	2.0	-9.3	7.3	1.8	1.6	1.7
Bulgaria	8.5	3.2	3.3	4.3	5.0	4.1	3.0	-9.2	6.3	2.4	3.3	3.2
Czechia	6.8	3.7	3.1	2.6	5.0	4.1	2.2	-9.0	6.8	2.3	1.9	2.2
Denmark	2.4	0.8	2.1	3.4	2.7	2.8	1.6	-6.8	6.0	1.8	1.9	1.7
Croatia	6.3	-0.1	0.8	4.4	4.8	4.3	3.6	-13.2	12.4	4.1	3.5	3.2
Hungary	6.5	2.2	3.1	2.7	6.0	5.8	5.8	-10.6	7.7	5.3	3.3	3.5
Poland	3.4	5.8	3.6	4.5	6.5	6.1	3.6	-6.4	5.6	4.7	4.1	4.0
Romania	8.9	5.4	4.0	8.3	8.2	5.9	5.3	-8.6	5.8	5.1	4.2	3.9
Sweden	2.7	2.2	2.6	2.8	3.1	2.6	1.4	-7.7	4.5	1.3	0.9	1.2
EU	2.3	1.5	1.7	2.7	3.5	2.5	2.2	-9.1	7.1	1.9	1.8	1.8
United Kingdom	3.3	0.6	2.3	2.5	2.3	1.3	2.3	-8.7	6.0	1.5	1.8	1.7
Japan	1.4	0.1	1.5	0.2	2.3	0.8	0.4	-6.0	2.6	0.7	0.4	0.6
United States	2.8	0.9	2.5	1.6	2.7	3.1	2.2	-7.2	5.8	2.2	1.9	1.7

		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	tumn 2019	
		averages					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.0	1.8	1.2	1.9	1.8	1.5	1.1	-6.9	6.5	1.0	1.2	1.3
Germany	0.3	0.4	1.3	2.3	1.3	1.3	1.6	-8.3	6.0	1.3	1.1	1.1
Estonia	8.8	0.0	4.0	4.6	2.8	4.3	3.1	-7.2	7.1	3.4	3.0	2.6
Ireland	4.4	1.7	0.7	5.4	3.1	3.4	2.8	-8.8	4.6	2.7	2.5	2.4
Greece	4.0	0.4	-4.1	0.0	0.9	1.1	0.8	-9.0	7.5	0.5	1.5	1.4
Spain	3.5	0.7	-0.8	2.7	3.0	1.8	1.1	-10.7	8.9	0.8	1.0	1.0
France	2.1	1.5	0.6	1.8	1.4	0.9	1.2	-9.3	8.9	1.1	1.4	1.4
Italy	0.7	0.2	-0.8	1.2	1.5	0.9	0.4	-10.9	7.3	0.4	0.5	0.6
Cyprus	4.8	3.8	-1.6	4.4	4.5	3.3	3.0	-6.7	5.1	3.8	2.7	2.5
Latvia	7.9	0.7	3.3	1.5	3.1	4.2	2.9	-6.1	7.0	3.2	3.6	3.5
Lithuania	8.8	0.3	3.9	4.0	3.5	3.7	3.2	-9.9	7.8	3.3	3.2	3.1
Luxembourg	2.3	1.8	2.5	3.4	2.2	3.3	2.8	-4.1	4.6	3.1	2.7	2.5
Malta	2.1	1.0	2.4	2.4	3.4	7.6	2.4	-5.0	4.0	4.2	3.8	3.7
Netherlands	0.9	0.2	0.1	1.1	2.1	2.3	1.4	-9.5	7.2	1.5	1.7	1.5
Austria	1.7	1.2	0.5	1.6	1.4	1.1	1.4	-4.8	4.9	1.5	1.5	1.3
Portugal	1.2	1.1	-1.2	2.6	2.1	2.9	2.2	-5.8	5.3	2.3	2.0	1.9
Slovenia	2.7	2.7	-0.4	4.4	2.0	2.8	2.7	-6.1	6.3	3.0	2.9	3.0
Slovakia	4.7	4.3	0.4	3.9	4.3	3.9	2.2	-7.1	7.2	1.8	2.4	2.1
Finland	3.2	1.9	1.0	2.4	1.0	1.7	1.0	-7.9	4.9	0.6	1.1	1.5
Euro area	1.5	0.8	0.2	2.0	1.7	1.4	1.3	-9.0	7.1	1.1	1.2	1.2
Bulgaria	7.3	3.7	2.0	3.5	3.8	4.4	5.8	-5.8	5.6	6.1	3.8	3.7
Czechia	3.5	2.2	1.0	3.6	4.3	3.2	3.0	-4.6	4.0	2.8	2.4	2.2
Denmark	2.3	0.5	0.8	2.4	1.6	2.6	2.2	-6.4	5.9	1.5	2.0	1.8
Croatia	5.7	-0.3	-1.0	3.1	3.1	3.2	3.5	-6.9	6.1	3.6	3.1	2.9
Hungary	5.1	-1.7	0.9	4.9	4.7	4.8	5.1	-6.0	5.5	4.9	3.8	3.4
Poland	2.7	4.7	1.9	3.9	4.5	4.5	3.8	-4.9	3.8	4.0	3.8	3.4
Romania	10.1	3.9	2.8	7.9	10.0	7.3	5.9	-6.2	4.9	5.8	5.2	5.0
Sweden	2.2	2.6	2.1	2.0	2.1	1.7	1.2	-5.2	3.4	0.8	1.5	1.5
EU	1.7	1.0	0.4	2.2	2.0	1.7	1.6	-8.5	6.7	1.4	1.5	1.5
United Kingdom	3.2	0.4	1.9	3.6	2.2	1.6	1.1	-10.3	6.9	1.3	1.8	1.9
Japan	1.3	0.5	0.6	-0.3	1.3	0.0	0.2	-5.7	2.3	0.6	-0.2	0.5
United States	3.1	1.1	23	27	2.6	3.0	2.6	-72	8.5	2.6	22	21

Table 8: Government consumption expenditure, volume (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021)

Table 8: Gove	ernment consumption e	expenditure,	volume (perc	entage chang	ge on preced	ding year, 20	01-2021)					23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2001 00	1.5	0.7	0.4	0.3	0.9	1.6	2.8	0.3	12	12	12
Germany	0.5	22	1.6	4 1	2.4	1.4	2.6	2.8	2.1	2.1	2.0	19
Estonia	2.9	2.2	2.5	2.4	1.1	0.9	2.9	4.3	-2.4	1.1	0.9	1.1
Ireland	5.1	1.1	0.1	3.4	3.5	4.4	5.1	7.7	-3.0	6.2	3.0	2.2
Greece	3.7	1.5	-3.9	-0.7	-0.4	-2.5	2.1	4.9	-2.4	3.4	0.3	0.1
Spain	4.8	4.5	-1.0	1.0	1.0	1.9	2.3	5.8	-0.4	2.0	1.5	1.4
France	1.6	1.6	1.3	1.4	1.5	0.8	1.4	2.8	0.0	0.9	1.0	0.8
Italy	1.9	0.4	-1.2	0.7	-0.1	0.1	-0.4	2.6	-0.6	0.4	0.2	0.3
Cyprus	4.1	4.7	-2.6	-0.9	2.1	3.5	11.3	16.6	3.7	8.7	11.7	3.7
Latvia	3.8	-1.6	1.9	2.9	3.2	4.0	2.6	2.9	2.0	2.8	2.3	3.0
Lithuania	2.9	-0.1	0.4	0.1	-0.3	0.5	0.7	1.0	0.5	1.4	0.8	0.5
Luxembourg	4.5	2.4	2.3	1.0	4.7	4.1	4.8	6.3	4.1	3.2	2.9	3.1
Malta	1.0	3.1	3.8	-3.0	1.8	12.7	12.0	12.8	-1.2	12.7	3.6	3.6
Netherlands	2.5	4.0	-0.2	1.3	0.9	1.6	1.6	2.1	2.6	1.8	2.6	2.1
Austria	1.0	2.2	0.5	1.8	1.1	0.9	0.9	3.0	0.1	0.9	1.3	1.1
Portugal	2.7	0.4	-1.8	0.8	0.2	0.9	1.1	2.4	-1.5	0.8	0.8	0.8
Slovenia	3.0	2.4	-0.5	2.5	0.3	3.2	1.6	4.7	0.5	2.0	1.9	1.8
Slovakia	2.5	4.3	1.3	1.9	1.0	0.2	3.8	4.2	1.5	3.0	3.5	2.6
Finland	1.9	1.1	0.5	0.7	-0.2	2.1	0.9	6.0	-2.4	2.4	2.5	0.4
Euro area	1.8	2.0	0.4	1.9	1.3	1.1	1.7	3.2	0.6	1.6	1.5	1.3
Bulgaria	3.0	0.5	0.6	2.2	4.3	5.3	5.5	4.0	0.7	4.8	2.6	1.4
Czechia	3.1	1.1	0.0	2.7	1.3	3.4	2.6	3.6	1.5	3.1	1.9	2.1
Denmark	1.4	2.3	0.7	0.2	1.0	0.4	0.5	3.1	0.5	0.8	1.3	1.0
Croatia	2.2	2.5	0.0	0.5	2.2	1.3	3.3	2.5	0.1	3.3	2.9	1.3
Hungary	3.5	0.2	1.8	0.7	2.4	0.9	1.7	5.0	-1.4	0.3	0.6	0.8
Poland	3.3	3.9	1.4	1.9	2.9	3.7	4.9	2.9	2.1	5.2	5.7	4.9
Romania	-2.3	-0.1	1.2	2.2	4.2	2.1	6.4	3.4	1.4	3.1	3.5	2.1
Sweden	0.6	1.4	1.4	3.7	0.1	0.4	0.4	3.9	-0.1	0.2	0.0	0.1
EU	1.8	2.0	0.5	1.9	1.3	1.2	1.8	3.3	0.6	1.8	1.7	1.4
United Kingdom	4.3	1.4	1.1	1.0	0.3	0.4	3.5	4.9	0.8	3.1	2.3	1.9
Japan	2.0	1.0	1.4	1.4	0.2	0.9	1.9	3.5	4.2	2.0	1.2	0.6
United States	2.3	1.9	-1.1	1.8	0.6	1.7	1.8	6.6	-4.7	2.3	1.7	0.6

Total investment, volume (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021) Table 9:

Table 9: Total invo	estment, volume (p	ercentage c	hange on pre	ceding year, 2	2001-2021)							23.4.2020
		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.3	0.8	2.5	3.8	1.3	4.0	3.1	-15.3	15.9	3.4	1.7	1.6
Germany	-2.0	1.5	2.1	3.8	2.4	3.5	2.6	-5.8	5.9	2.5	1.5	1.6
Estonia	14.9	-6.3	7.8	0.9	12.5	1.7	13.2	-8.7	6.3	9.0	2.1	3.4
Ireland	9.1	-7.7	15.0	50.6	-6.7	-21.1	94.2	-41.6	16.9	44.3	4.5	3.9
Greece	1.9	-2.3	-11.8	4.7	9.1	-12.2	4.7	-30.0	33.0	10.1	12.5	8.1
Spain	5.3	-3.5	-2.1	2.4	5.9	5.3	1.8	-20.7	10.3	2.5	2.5	2.1
France	1.9	0.5	0.5	2.7	4.7	2.8	3.6	-13.3	14.0	2.7	1.9	1.4
Italy	1.8	-1.9	-3.7	4.0	3.2	3.1	1.4	-14.2	13.0	2.7	1.5	1.6
Cyprus	5.0	3.7	-11.8	48.9	24.1	-6.6	0.1	-6.1	5.3	14.7	8.3	6.0
Latvia	14.5	-8.0	5.9	-8.2	11.3	15.8	3.1	-12.0	9.2	4.5	1.3	1.9
Lithuania	13.0	-2.7	7.2	3.4	8.2	8.4	7.4	-5.0	7.9	8.0	4.4	3.5
Luxembourg	2.7	3.4	4.3	4.6	5.6	-5.9	3.9	-12.0	8.5	4.5	2.9	1.6
Malta	3.4	1.9	7.5	-0.3	-6.9	-2.1	7.2	-7.0	5.0	10.0	9.5	5.5
Netherlands	-0.2	0.3	4.0	-7.3	4.2	3.2	5.3	-11.2	5.9	5.6	1.8	1.5
Austria	0.2	-0.6	2.2	4.1	4.0	3.9	2.9	-9.5	6.9	2.9	1.2	1.1
Portugal	-1.9	-1.2	-5.6	2.5	11.5	5.8	6.3	-8.6	8.9	6.5	4.8	5.0
Slovenia	3.3	-2.3	-2.4	-3.7	10.4	9.1	3.2	-13.0	11.7	6.1	6.0	5.9
Slovakia	5.9	1.1	5.4	-9.3	3.9	3.7	4.4	-14.7	10.7	1.0	2.6	2.8
Finland	1.9	0.2	-0.5	8.8	4.0	3.7	-0.8	-9.8	9.1	0.7	0.4	1.5
Euro area	1.2	-0.6	0.4	4.0	3.4	2.3	5.7	-13.3	10.2	4.3	2.0	1.9
Bulgaria	16.1	1.1	0.8	-6.6	3.2	5.4	2.2	-18.0	1.0	1.8	3.0	3.3
Czechia	4.0	2.3	1.8	-3.1	3.7	7.6	2.8	-14.5	9.6	1.1	1.0	2.1
Denmark	1.6	-1.8	3.1	7.9	3.0	5.4	3.4	-9.5	7.9	-0.8	2.5	1.9
Croatia	10.3	-1.3	-0.7	6.5	5.1	4.1	7.1	-8.2	4.2	8.8	7.5	7.2
Hungary	4.6	-2.6	4.3	-10.6	18.7	17.1	15.3	-18.7	8.9	17.0	2.1	2.6
Poland	-0.4	7.8	4.3	-8.2	4.0	9.4	7.2	-8.4	5.9	8.0	3.3	3.5
Romania	9.8	7.7	2.8	-0.2	3.6	-1.2	18.2	-15.0	5.0	8.0	3.4	2.8
Sweden	2.7	2.0	3.3	4.1	5.6	4.2	-1.2	-14.3	6.7	-1.9	-1.7	0.2
EU	1.4	-0.2	0.8	3.3	3.7	2.9	5.7	-13.2	9.7	3.8	1.8	1.7
United Kingdom	2.9	-1.6	2.9	3.6	1.6	-0.2	0.6	-14.3	11.5	0.9	0.5	0.6
Japan	-0.9	-3.4	3.0	-0.3	3.0	0.6	1.3	-8.4	1.6	1.4	0.9	0.7
United States	2.8	-2.7	4.7	1.9	3.7	4.1	1.8	-12.2	1.7	2.2	1.1	1.1

T. I.I. 10	The second second the second second second second		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	0001 0001
Idble IU:	investment in construction,	volume (percentage	e change on preceair	1g year, 2001-2021)

Table 10: Investmen	t in construction,	volume (per	entage chan	ge on preced	ing year, 200	01-2021)						23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.8	1.7	1.6	2.5	1.6	3.2	3.1	-16.8	17.5	3.6	1.7	1.8
Germany	-4.0	0.6	1.6	3.8	0.7	2.5	3.9	-1.5	3.5	3.9	2.1	1.5
Estonia	16.5	-8.4	7.0	0.6	10.2	-3.0	13.2	-3.8	-1.6	6.2	2.4	2.4
Ireland	7.8	-14.7	2.2	13.0	13.5	12.5	6.9	-11.6	6.5	8.4	7.4	6.4
Greece	1.2	-5.6	-16.4	29.2	0.4	-18.5	-1.9	-28.0	31.0	19.5	12.4	8.4
Spain	6.0	-5.4	-5.5	1.6	5.9	6.6	0.8	-20.1	9.0	3.1	2.5	2.1
France	2.4	-0.3	-0.8	0.9	5.4	2.1	3.2	-15.3	17.8	2.6	1.8	1.2
Italy	2.9	-3.1	-6.0	0.0	1.5	2.8	2.6	-9.2	8.2	3.0	1.7	2.0
Cyprus	8.3	1.2	-15.4	24.6	24.6	18.8	10.9	-6.0	3.4	22.0	12.0	8.7
Latvia	16.1	-7.3	6.1	-20.8	14.2	19.9	2.8	-10.4	8.0	3.0	1.0	1.9
Lithuania	11.3	-2.7	5.1	-4.4	6.3	9.8	9.4	4.0	4.0	12.1	5.3	3.9
Luxembourg	2.6	1.0	2.8	9.5	-0.1	2.9	2.2	-10.8	8.2	4.2	2.8	1.8
Malta	8.0	-2.8	8.1	-14.9	25.0	2.4	11.0	-2.0	2.5	18.3	16.5	7.0
Netherlands	-0.2	-1.4	-1.0	10.9	5.5	6.0	3.9	-9.1	5.1	5.5	2.7	1.6
Austria	-0.4	-2.3	0.7	0.5	3.3	3.7	2.4	-7.4	5.4	2.6	1.2	0.9
Portugal	-2.5	-4.0	-8.5	-1.1	12.2	4.6	8.9	0.6	3.2	7.0	4.5	4.7
Slovenia	1.3	-3.5	-5.3	-14.4	9.1	8.2	5.0	-13.1	8.3	10.4	10.0	9.3
Slovakia	2.1	0.8	4.3	-17.0	9.6	6.4	3.1	-8.2	6.5	1.8	3.2	3.3
Finland	2.0	0.7	-0.4	10.2	4.3	4.0	-1.2	-7.3	5.5	0.0	-0.3	0.3
Euro area	1.1	-2.0	-1.7	2.7	3.6	3.3	3.2	-9.6	8.8	3.7	2.3	1.8
Bulgaria	11.8	8.1	-4.4	-2.7	-3.2	0.8	1.7	-13.6	0.2	0.3	2.2	2.9
Czechia	3.7	0.9	-0.4	-6.9	3.6	6.7	4.6	-6.4	1.1	1.6	2.3	3.0
Denmark	1.9	-5.4	4.0	5.5	5.0	4.6	7.8	-9.2	6.6	2.0	2.9	2.0
Croatia	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Hungary	5.7	-5.3	2.0	-21.0	28.0	23.5	16.8	-14.7	4.8	16.7	0.8	1.3
Poland	-0.4	8.5	2.4	-10.2	-0.2	10.4	5.5	-5.9	3.1	3.7	3.4	3.0
Romania	8.7	12.1	3.7	7.4	10.7	-4.0	20.9	-10.0	4.0	11.6	4.5	3.7
Sweden	5.0	1.7	3.4	6.4	6.3	1.8	-1.8	-6.2	4.3	-1.8	-0.6	1.2
EU	1.3	-1.5	-1.1	2.1	3.9	3.6	3.7	-9.4	8.1	3.8	2.1	1.7
United Kingdom	2.7	-3.3	3.2	2.0	0.3	0.5	2.3	-13.5	10.0	4.7	1.1	0.5
Japan	-4.4	-5.6	3.2	1.3	3.0	-1.2	:	:	:	:	:	:
United States	2.2	-8.4	3.7	1.2	3.0	0.8	-1.5	-6.1	1.8	-0.9	1.3	1.5

		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aul	umn 2019	
		averages					fe	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.7	-1.7	1.8	14.3	-3.1	5.1	3.4	-19.6	19.0	3.4	1.5	1.2
Germany	-0.4	1.8	2.3	3.0	4.0	4.4	0.6	-17.0	12.7	0.6	0.4	1.7
Estonia	12.7	-6.0	8.4	0.4	17.9	9.3	12.9	-15.1	20.0	12.1	0.7	4.0
Ireland	7.9	-1.7	9.2	25.1	-11.2	39.4	-12.3	-35.0	5.8	-0.1	3.7	3.2
Greece	2.3	2.0	-8.9	-11.4	22.2	-10.2	12.0	-32.0	35.2	11.1	12.8	9.1
Spain	2.6	-2.5	1.7	1.8	8.5	5.7	2.6	-23.0	12.0	1.9	2.3	2.1
France	0.3	0.2	1.2	6.1	1.1	2.0	3.5	-14.8	13.2	3.0	1.7	1.6
Italy	0.9	-1.2	-2.8	8.0	6.4	4.0	0.3	-20.7	19.7	3.0	1.7	1.4
Cyprus	-1.4	9.0	-13.0	121.6	20.7	-31.9	-15.0	-9.0	12.5	7.0	4.0	2.0
Latvia	13.7	-11.0	6.1	11.2	9.3	13.1	2.0	-15.0	12.0	6.0	1.5	1.8
Lithuania	16.8	-6.4	12.2	14.6	9.2	7.3	4.6	-15.4	16.7	3.4	3.0	2.7
Luxembourg	4.8	6.6	6.1	-1.0	16.3	-22.2	12.5	-14.4	9.4	5.0	3.0	1.4
Malta	-3.1	4.5	6.4	13.0	-35.1	-10.7	1.7	:	:	:	:	:
Netherlands	-1.8	1.8	3.2	4.8	3.2	1.5	8.1	-15.1	9.1	7.8	1.1	1.2
Austria	-0.5	-0.6	2.7	9.3	6.3	4.3	3.4	-16.0	12.0	3.9	1.1	1.1
Portugal	-2.1	1.7	-2.9	8.0	12.4	7.5	2.6	-26.9	26.2	6.5	5.6	6.0
Slovenia	5.9	-3.3	1.5	7.4	12.5	10.6	1.4	-19.5	21.8	2.5	2.1	2.1
Slovakia	9.8	-0.4	9.0	-2.0	0.8	-3.5	4.8	-24.1	18.7	0.7	1.8	2.3
Finland	1.1	-2.0	3.4	13.4	6.4	-0.3	0.2	-17.4	15.3	2.1	1.2	2.9
Euro area	0.7	0.1	1.2	5.8	4.1	4.3	1.8	-18.8	14.3	2.5	1.6	1.9
Bulgaria	21.2	-8.3	8.8	-14.8	4.4	8.8	3.1	-21.7	2.4	13.5	3.1	3.1
Czechia	4.1	4.1	2.6	-2.5	3.4	8.5	0.3	-25.0	20.9	-0.4	-0.8	0.9
Denmark	0.2	-1.3	3.8	7.2	3.3	7.4	-5.6	-17.1	15.8	-4.9	1.9	1.4
Croatia	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Hungary	2.9	-0.8	6.7	2.5	16.1	10.2	10.7	-27.6	15.8	18.0	3.6	4.3
Poland	-0.1	6.3	7.0	-7.6	8.3	1.6	9.0	-11.4	9.1	14.4	3.4	4.4
Romania	11.8	2.2	2.2	-8.9	-9.9	4.3	17.8	-22.1	7.2	3.7	1.9	1.8
Sweden	2.7	2.3	3.5	6.6	1.7	0.9	-4.2	-39.3	19.3	-4.8	-4.3	0.7
EU	0.9	0.4	1.7	4.6	4.0	4.3	2.1	-19.5	14.2	1.7	1.2	1.9
United Kingdom	2.3	-1.6	3.3	9.0	6.3	-8.2	-6.2	-21.3	16.8	-9.2	-1.3	0.8
Japan	2.1	-2.4	3.2	-1.9	5.3	2.8	:	:	:	:	:	:
United States	3.0	1.3	6.4	-0.9	4.8	6.7	1.9	-6.7	0.8	2.4	1.0	0.9

Table 12: Public investment (as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021)

Table 12: Publ	ic investment (as a per	centage of G	DP, 2001-202	21)								23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020 precast		Aut	umn 2019 Drecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.1	2.1	2.5	2.4	2.4	2.6	2.6	2.4	2.3	2.6	2.7	2.8
Germany	2.1	2.2	2.2	2.2	2.3	2.4	2.5	2.8	2.8	2.5	2.6	2.7
Estonia	5.0	5.7	5.4	4.7	5.7	5.3	4.9	5.6	5.5	5.4	5.2	5.2
Ireland	3.8	4.2	2.1	1.9	1.8	2.0	2.3	2.7	2.6	2.3	2.4	2.4
Greece	5.4	5.1	3.2	3.5	4.4	3.0	2.2	2.1	3.6	3.5	3.8	3.9
Spain	4.1	4.7	2.7	2.0	2.0	2.1	2.0	2.3	2.2	2.1	2.1	2.1
France	3.9	4.0	3.8	3.4	3.3	3.4	3.6	4.0	3.7	3.5	3.5	3.5
Italy	3.0	3.3	2.6	2.3	2.2	2.1	2.3	2.6	2.6	2.2	2.3	2.4
Cyprus	3.7	3.6	2.7	2.5	2.7	5.7	1.7	1.7	1.9	2.1	2.1	2.1
Latvia	2.6	5.1	4.8	3.5	4.6	5.5	4.9	5.2	4.9	5.6	4.9	4.8
Lithuania	3.1	4.9	3.9	3.0	3.2	3.2	3.1	3.5	3.6	3.5	3.7	3.6
Luxembourg	5.1	4.2	4.0	3.9	4.2	4.0	4.3	5.1	4.6	4.1	4.3	4.1
Malta	4.1	3.0	3.3	2.5	2.5	3.1	3.8	4.7	4.4	4.4	4.1	4.1
Netherlands	4.0	4.0	3.7	3.5	3.4	3.3	3.4	3.6	3.7	3.4	3.4	3.5
Austria	2.6	3.1	3.0	3.0	3.1	3.0	3.0	3.2	3.2	3.0	3.0	3.0
Portugal	4.5	3.9	2.5	1.5	1.8	1.9	1.9	2.3	2.3	2.0	2.2	2.3
Slovenia	3.8	4.7	4.5	3.1	3.0	3.5	3.8	4.1	4.1	3.8	3.9	4.0
Slovakia	3.5	3.6	4.2	3.4	3.4	3.7	3.6	3.7	3.6	3.4	3.0	3.1
Finland	3.7	3.6	4.0	4.1	4.1	4.2	4.2	4.8	4.6	4.2	4.3	4.3
Euro area	3.2	3.4	2.9	2.6	2.6	2.7	2.8	3.1	3.0	2.8	2.8	2.9
Bulgaria	3.5	4.9	4.6	2.7	2.3	3.1	3.2	3.7	3.7	4.2	4.2	4.5
Czechia	5.3	5.3	4.3	3.3	3.4	4.2	4.4	4.6	4.6	4.3	4.4	4.5
Denmark	2.8	3.1	3.7	3.8	3.4	3.4	3.3	3.6	3.3	3.5	3.5	3.5
Croatia	6.0	5.6	3.7	3.3	2.8	3.5	4.3	4.3	4.2	4.1	4.4	4.4
Hungary	4.2	3.9	4.7	3.2	4.5	5.9	6.0	5.8	5.7	6.4	5.4	5.4
Poland	2.9	4.7	4.8	3.3	3.8	4.7	4.3	4.3	4.2	4.5	4.5	4.5
Romania	3.1	5.9	4.8	3.6	2.6	2.7	3.4	3.3	4.0	3.0	3.4	3.6
Sweden	4.2	4.3	4.4	4.4	4.6	4.9	4.9	5.2	5.1	4.9	5.0	5.0
EU	3.2	3.5	3.1	2.8	2.8	2.9	3.0	3.3	3.2	3.0	3.0	3.1
United Kingdom	2.3	2.9	2.7	2.6	2.7	2.7	2.8	3.0	3.0	2.8	2.8	2.8
Japan	4.7	3.7	3.8	3.7	3.7	3.8	3.9	4.2	4.3	3.7	3.8	3.8
United States	3.8	4.0	3.5	3.2	3.2	3.2	3.4	3.9	3.6	3.4	3.4	3.3

Table 13: Potential GDP, volume (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021)

Table 13: Potential G	DP, volume (per	centage cha	nge on prece	ding year, 200	01-2021)							23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.2	1.7	1.1	1.4	1.3	1.4	1.5	0.8	1.3	1.5	1.5	1.5
Germany	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.7	1.4	1.4	1.2	0.9	1.2	1.4	1.4	1.4
Estonia	5.8	2.2	1.9	2.7	3.4	3.5	3.9	2.5	3.4	3.8	3.5	3.4
Ireland	6.0	1.2	5.8	5.0	8.1	8.6	5.6	2.1	2.5	5.0	4.3	3.9
Greece	3.9	0.9	-2.4	-1.4	-0.9	-0.6	-0.4	-0.8	-0.2	-0.5	-0.2	0.1
Spain	3.4	2.2	-0.2	0.6	1.0	1.3	1.7	0.0	1.7	1.3	1.4	1.5
France	1.8	1.5	1.0	0.8	0.9	1.0	1.1	0.8	1.2	1.1	1.2	1.3
Italy	1.1	0.2	-0.3	-0.3	0.1	0.3	0.6	-0.6	0.7	0.5	0.4	0.5
Cyprus	3.6	3.4	-0.6	1.0	1.9	2.0	1.9	1.6	1.7	2.3	2.5	2.6
Latvia	7.0	3.1	0.6	1.7	2.2	2.7	2.7	2.1	2.2	3.4	3.5	3.3
Lithuania	6.0	3.9	1.6	1.7	2.1	2.8	3.8	2.9	3.5	3.6	3.9	3.9
Luxembourg	4.4	2.8	2.5	2.5	2.2	1.8	2.1	1.5	2.1	2.5	2.7	2.7
Malta	2.4	2.5	4.5	7.0	6.4	6.0	4.5	3.1	3.1	5.8	5.3	4.9
Netherlands	2.2	1.4	0.7	1.3	1.6	1.6	1.8	1.0	1.4	1.8	1.7	1.4
Austria	2.3	1.5	1.0	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.3	1.0	1.2	1.7	1.7	1.7
Portugal	1.7	0.4	-0.5	1.1	1.6	1.8	1.8	0.9	1.8	1.8	1.9	1.9
Slovenia	3.3	2.8	0.6	1.2	1.8	2.4	2.4	1.6	2.6	2.5	2.9	3.1
Slovakia	4.5	5.1	2.5	1.8	2.0	2.2	2.3	0.8	1.9	2.6	2.8	2.9
Finland	3.0	1.4	0.3	1.0	0.9	1.3	1.2	-0.1	1.2	1.3	1.2	1.2
Euro area	1.9	1.3	0.7	1.0	1.2	1.3	1.4	0.6	1.2	1.3	1.4	1.4
Bulgaria	4.3	3.8	1.7	2.5	2.5	2.4	2.2	1.0	1.5	3.0	2.8	2.5
Czechia	3.5	3.2	1.4	2.6	2.7	2.5	2.6	1.0	2.2	2.8	2.7	2.5
Denmark	1.4	1.3	1.1	2.0	2.0	2.1	2.3	1.9	2.2	1.7	1.7	1.7
Croatia	:	1.5	-0.4	1.7	1.7	1.8	1.8	0.3	1.7	2.1	2.5	2.8
Hungary	3.9	1.0	1.1	2.4	3.1	3.7	3.9	2.1	2.6	4.3	3.9	3.8
Poland	3.8	4.2	3.4	2.7	3.0	3.2	3.5	2.1	3.4	3.9	3.9	4.0
Romania	4.1	4.5	2.3	4.4	4.6	4.7	4.6	2.7	2.6	4.4	3.8	3.6
Sweden	2.9	2.2	1.8	2.1	2.1	2.0	1.8	1.0	1.4	1.9	1.7	1.6
EU	:	1.5	0.9	1.3	1.4	1.5	1.5	0.7	1.4	1.6	1.6	1.6
United Kingdom	2.8	1.5	1.2	1.6	1.5	1.3	1.4	0.6	1.2	1.6	1.6	1.5
Japan	:	:	:	:	:	:		:	:	:	:	:
United States	2.8	1.7	1.5	1.8	1.8	2.0	1.7	1.3	1.3	2.0	2.0	2.0

Table 14: Outp	ut gap relative to pote	ntial GDP 1 (c	leviation of ac	tual output fro	om potential	output as %	of potential C	GDP, 2001-20	21)			23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Spi	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					fe	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	0.1	0.6	-0.4	0.4	1.0	1.0	0.9	-7.1	-2.2	0.4	-0.1	-0.6
Germany	-0.6	-0.6	0.1	0.5	1.5	1.7	1.0	-6.4	-2.0	0.2	-0.2	-0.6
Estonia	2.9	2.1	0.9	0.4	2.6	3.9	4.3	-5.3	-3.0	2.9	1.5	0.5
Ireland	0.8	-0.4	0.1	2.5	2.6	2.2	2.1	-7.9	-4.7	2.0	1.2	0.5
Greece	1.9	1.8	-13.6	-11.0	-8.8	-6.5	-4.4	-13.0	-6.0	-4.6	-2.2	-0.4
Spain	2.5	0.1	-6.0	-0.9	1.0	2.1	2.3	-7.3	-2.4	1.6	1.7	1.6
France	1.6	0.5	-1.3	-1.1	0.2	1.0	1.1	-7.9	-2.3	0.7	0.8	0.7
Italy	1.2	0.3	-3.3	-2.0	-0.5	0.0	-0.3	-9.2	-3.9	-0.2	-0.1	0.2
Cyprus	2.0	3.0	-6.0	0.1	2.5	4.6	5.9	-3.5	0.7	3.9	4.0	3.7
Latvia	0.6	-0.2	-1.8	0.9	2.5	4.0	3.5	-5.7	-1.8	2.2	1.4	0.8
Lithuania	-0.4	-0.4	-1.6	1.4	3.5	4.4	4.6	-6.4	-2.9	3.9	2.3	0.8
Luxembourg	1.0	-1.0	-3.2	1.0	0.6	2.0	2.2	-4.8	-1.3	1.5	1.4	1.2
Malta	0.4	-0.2	-0.8	2.5	2.6	3.9	3.8	-5.2	-2.5	1.5	0.4	-0.7
Netherlands	-0.9	0.0	-2.0	-0.7	0.6	1.5	1.5	-6.4	-3.1	1.0	0.6	0.4
Austria	-0.6	0.0	-0.7	-0.7	0.4	1.5	1.7	-4.8	-1.3	0.8	0.4	0.1
Portugal	-0.3	-0.1	-2.5	-0.7	1.2	2.1	2.4	-5.4	-1.7	1.7	1.5	1.4
Slovenia	1.2	2.9	-4.3	-1.6	1.3	3.0	3.0	-5.7	-1.9	3.3	3.1	2.7
Slovakia	-1.2	2.1	-2.0	-0.2	0.8	2.7	2.7	-5.0	-0.6	1.8	1.6	1.5
Finland	0.2	1.0	-2.1	-1.4	0.7	1.1	0.9	-5.4	-3.1	0.3	0.2	0.0
Euro area	0.6	0.1	-2.0	-0.7	0.6	1.2	1.1	-7.3	-2.6	0.5	0.4	0.3
Bulgaria	-0.8	1.7	-1.0	0.5	1.5	2.2	3.4	-5.0	-0.7	0.5	0.8	1.1
Czechia	0.7	2.1	-1.4	0.1	1.8	2.1	2.0	-5.2	-2.6	1.1	0.6	0.3
Denmark	1.8	1.2	-2.3	-0.4	-0.3	0.0	0.0	-7.6	-5.0	0.0	-0.2	-0.3
Croatia	0.4	1.5	-2.4	0.1	1.5	2.5	3.7	-6.1	-0.7	2.0	2.2	1.9
Hungary	0.9	-0.3	-1.4	0.6	1.8	3.1	4.1	-5.2	-2.1	3.7	2.5	1.6
Poland	-2.7	1.3	-0.7	-0.6	1.3	3.4	4.0	-2.5	-1.8	2.5	1.9	1.2
Romania	1.7	2.8	-2.2	-1.1	1.3	1.0	0.5	-8.0	-6.6	0.1	-0.1	-0.4
Sweden	-0.1	-0.2	-1.1	0.9	1.1	1.4	0.8	-6.3	-3.7	0.1	-0.6	-0.9
EU	0.6	0.1	-1.9	-0.4	0.7	1.2	1.2	-7.1	-2.8	0.6	0.4	0.2
United Kingdom	0.9	-0.8	-1.5	0.7	1.0	1.0	1.1	-7.9	-3.5	0.4	0.2	0.1
Japan	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
United States	0.1	-0.8	-0.9	0.5	1.0	1.9	2.6	-5.3	-1.9	0.9	0.7	0.4

		5-vear	-		-		Sni	ina 2020		Δut	umn 2019	
		averages					fo	precast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.9	1.7	1.5	1.7	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.4	1.6	1.6	1.9	2.0
Germany	1.1	1.1	1.6	1.2	1.0	1.5	2.2	2.1	1.6	2.0	2.0	1.7
Estonia	5.2	5.9	3.5	1.7	3.6	4.5	3.2	1.7	2.0	3.4	3.0	2.7
Ireland	3.9	-0.7	2.5	-0.3	1.1	0.8	1.5	1.3	1.2	0.8	1.5	1.5
Greece	3.1	2.9	-0.8	-0.2	0.6	0.5	-0.4	-0.1	0.6	0.8	0.9	1.6
Spain	4.0	2.0	0.1	0.3	1.4	1.1	1.6	0.2	1.0	1.4	1.4	1.4
France	1.9	1.6	0.9	0.5	0.5	0.8	1.5	1.3	0.9	1.4	1.2	1.2
Italy	2.8	1.8	1.2	1.1	0.7	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.6	0.9	1.1
Cyprus	2.8	2.8	0.0	-0.8	1.7	1.4	0.6	0.5	0.9	1.5	1.5	1.7
Latvia	6.0	6.3	2.7	0.9	3.0	4.0	2.6	1.4	2.3	3.1	2.3	2.2
Lithuania	1.7	4.7	2.1	1.6	4.3	3.3	2.8	1.9	2.7	3.6	3.3	2.4
Luxembourg	2.4	3.5	2.4	0.8	1.7	2.5	3.4	0.4	2.8	2.2	1.9	2.0
Malta	2.4	3.0	2.1	1.5	2.5	2.1	2.3	1.8	1.3	2.1	2.0	2.1
Netherlands	2.7	1.6	0.8	0.5	1.3	2.2	3.0	1.1	1.5	2.5	1.5	1.2
Austria	1.7	1.8	2.0	1.7	1.1	1.7	1.7	1.2	1.1	1.9	1.7	1.7
Portugal	3.4	1.9	0.9	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.7	1.2	1.4	1.4	1.5	1.6
Slovenia	5.3	2.6	0.9	0.8	1.6	2.2	2.4	2.1	0.9	2.7	2.4	2.3
Slovakia	4.5	1.2	0.6	-0.5	1.2	2.0	2.6	2.2	1.3	2.4	2.3	2.2
Finland	1.2	1.8	2.3	0.2	0.7	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.8	1.4	1.8	2.0
Euro area	2.2	1.6	1.2	0.8	1.0	1.3	1.7	1.3	1.3	1.5	1.5	1.5
Bulgaria	4.9	6.2	1.9	2.5	3.9	4.0	4.7	0.5	2.4	4.5	3.0	2.6
Czechia	2.5	1.5	1.3	1.3	1.4	2.6	3.5	1.4	1.6	2.6	2.3	1.8
Denmark	2.3	2.5	1.1	0.3	1.1	0.8	1.0	0.5	1.8	1.5	1.8	1.9
Croatia	3.8	3.5	0.8	-0.1	1.2	1.8	1.5	0.7	0.9	1.9	2.4	2.5
Hungary	6.4	4.1	2.9	1.0	3.7	4.5	4.5	4.2	3.1	4.2	3.7	3.0
Poland	2.6	2.9	1.4	0.3	1.9	1.2	2.9	2.4	2.5	2.9	3.1	3.1
Romania	21.9	9.9	3.1	2.5	4.7	6.3	6.9	2.3	2.5	7.3	4.5	4.4
Sweden	1.3	2.2	1.4	1.5	2.2	2.3	2.7	1.0	1.3	2.4	1.5	1.7
EU	2.3	1.8	1.2	0.9	1.2	1.4	1.9	1.4	1.4	1.8	1.8	1.7
United Kingdom	2.1	2.3	1.6	2.1	1.9	2.1	1.9	1.7	1.5	1.9	2.1	1.9
Japan	-1.3	-1.0	0.2	0.3	-0.2	-0.1	0.6	-0.1	0.1	0.3	0.6	0.3
United States	2.3	1.9	1.7	1.0	1.9	2.4	1.7	-0.6	1.5	1.7	1.8	1.7

Table 15: Deflator of gross domestic product (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021)

Table 16: Price deflator of private consumption (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021)

Table 16: Price defle	ator of private cor	sumption (p	ercentage cha	ange on prec	eding year, 2	2001-2021)						23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u> averages					Sp f	ring 2020 orecast		Aut f	tumn 2019 orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.0	1.9	1.5	1.4	2.0	1.9	1.4	0.8	1.5	1.4	1.6	1.7
Germany	1.4	1.4	1.2	0.7	1.5	1.5	1.3	0.3	1.4	1.2	1.2	1.4
Estonia	3.8	4.7	2.5	0.7	3.6	3.7	2.5	0.5	1.7	2.6	2.3	2.4
Ireland	3.3	-0.3	1.0	0.3	1.1	1.7	2.2	-1.0	0.9	2.1	2.0	2.0
Greece	2.8	3.2	-0.7	-0.8	0.6	0.3	0.6	-0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.9
Spain	3.3	2.3	1.1	0.2	1.6	1.5	1.2	-0.2	1.1	0.9	1.1	1.4
France	1.7	1.3	0.9	0.2	0.8	1.4	1.1	0.6	1.0	1.2	1.2	1.2
Italy	2.6	1.8	1.4	0.1	1.1	0.9	0.5	-0.3	0.7	0.6	0.8	1.1
Cyprus	1.9	3.0	0.5	-1.5	0.9	1.7	0.4	-0.2	1.0	0.6	0.8	1.3
Latvia	5.9	5.5	2.0	1.1	3.0	2.8	2.9	0.2	1.9	3.1	2.5	2.3
Lithuania	0.5	5.4	1.5	1.0	3.5	2.6	2.0	1.1	1.8	2.0	1.9	1.4
Luxembourg	2.2	1.7	1.5	0.3	1.8	2.1	1.9	1.7	2.0	2.2	1.7	2.0
Malta	2.4	2.3	1.6	0.6	1.0	0.7	1.5	1.0	1.2	1.2	1.3	1.4
Netherlands	2.4	1.4	1.3	0.6	1.4	2.0	2.4	0.8	1.3	2.5	1.5	1.4
Austria	1.8	1.8	2.2	1.4	2.0	2.1	1.6	1.1	1.5	1.7	1.6	1.6
Portugal	3.4	1.9	1.1	1.0	1.6	1.3	1.0	0.5	1.4	0.5	1.2	1.4
Slovenia	5.1	2.9	0.9	-0.6	1.8	2.3	1.8	0.4	1.4	1.6	2.2	2.2
Slovakia	5.0	2.6	1.7	-0.3	1.4	2.3	2.7	1.8	1.1	2.5	2.4	2.4
Finland	1.3	2.0	2.1	0.2	0.7	1.2	1.1	0.5	1.4	1.2	1.4	1.5
Euro area	2.1	1.7	1.2	0.4	1.3	1.4	1.2	0.3	1.2	1.2	1.2	1.4
Bulgaria	4.0	4.1	1.1	0.4	3.2	2.0	2.0	0.0	2.0	2.2	2.3	2.0
Czechia	1.8	2.1	1.1	0.5	2.4	2.3	3.0	2.0	1.6	2.5	2.6	2.0
Denmark	1.7	2.1	1.3	0.1	1.3	0.8	0.8	0.6	1.5	0.9	1.6	1.8
Croatia	2.4	3.3	1.3	-1.1	0.9	1.4	0.8	0.4	0.9	1.0	1.3	1.5
Hungary	5.8	4.8	2.6	0.2	2.7	3.1	3.6	3.0	2.7	3.4	3.1	3.0
Poland	2.8	2.6	1.5	-0.4	2.0	1.6	1.9	2.4	2.6	2.3	2.7	2.6
Romania	17.7	6.4	2.6	0.7	2.7	4.2	5.2	2.0	2.0	5.8	4.0	3.7
Sweden	1.4	1.7	0.9	0.9	1.8	2.2	1.9	0.3	1.0	1.7	1.6	1.6
EU	2.3	1.8	1.2	0.4	1.4	1.5	1.4	0.5	1.3	1.4	1.4	1.5
United Kingdom	1.2	2.2	1.8	1.4	1.4	2.6	1.3	1.2	1.5	1.3	1.5	1.7
Japan	-0.9	-0.7	0.2	-0.5	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.9	0.3
United States	2.1	2.0	1.5	1.0	1.8	2.1	1.4	0.1	1.3	1.5	1.9	1.8

Table 17: Harmonise	ed index of consu	mer prices (r	ational index	if not availab	le), (percent	age change	on precedin	g year, 2001	-2021)			23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u> averages					Sp fe	ring 2020 precast		Aul f	umn 2019 orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.0	2.2	1.7	1.8	2.2	2.3	1.2	0.2	1.3	1.3	1.4	1.4
Germany	1.6	1.6	1.5	0.4	1.7	1.9	1.4	0.3	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.4
Estonia	3.6	4.9	2.6	0.8	3.7	3.4	2.3	0.7	1.7	2.4	2.1	2.2
Ireland	3.4	1.1	0.8	-0.2	0.3	0.7	0.9	-0.3	0.9	0.8	1.1	1.4
Greece	3.5	3.3	0.2	0.0	1.1	0.8	0.5	-0.6	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.9
Spain	3.2	2.5	1.2	-0.3	2.0	1.7	0.8	0.0	1.0	0.9	1.1	1.4
France	2.0	1.7	1.2	0.3	1.2	2.1	1.3	0.4	0.9	1.3	1.3	1.3
Italy	2.4	2.0	1.6	-0.1	1.3	1.2	0.6	-0.3	0.7	0.6	0.8	1.1
Cyprus	2.5	2.3	1.0	-1.2	0.7	0.8	0.5	-0.2	1.0	0.6	0.7	1.3
Latvia	4.1	6.8	1.5	0.1	2.9	2.6	2.7	0.2	1.9	3.1	2.5	2.3
Lithuania	0.9	5.2	1.6	0.7	3.7	2.5	2.2	0.8	1.5	2.4	2.2	2.1
Luxembourg	2.8	2.5	1.8	0.0	2.1	2.0	1.6	0.7	1.6	1.7	1.6	1.9
Malta	2.5	2.4	1.7	0.9	1.3	1.7	1.5	0.7	1.1	1.6	1.7	1.7
Netherlands	2.8	1.5	1.7	0.1	1.3	1.6	2.7	0.8	1.3	2.6	1.4	1.5
Austria	1.9	1.8	2.1	1.0	2.2	2.1	1.5	1.1	1.5	1.5	1.6	1.6
Portugal	3.2	1.7	1.4	0.6	1.6	1.2	0.3	-0.2	1.2	0.3	1.1	1.4
Slovenia	5.6	3.0	1.3	-0.2	1.6	1.9	1.7	0.5	1.2	1.8	1.9	2.0
Slovakia	5.9	2.3	1.8	-0.5	1.4	2.5	2.8	1.9	1.1	2.7	2.5	2.2
Finland	1.4	2.0	2.0	0.4	0.8	1.2	1.1	0.5	1.4	1.2	1.4	1.5
Euro area	2.2	1.9	1.4	0.2	1.5	1.8	1.2	0.2	1.1	1.2	1.2	1.3
Bulgaria	5.5	6.5	0.7	-1.3	1.2	2.6	2.5	1.1	1.1	2.4	1.6	2.1
Czechia	2.0	2.6	1.6	0.6	2.4	2.0	2.6	2.3	1.9	2.6	2.3	2.0
Denmark	1.9	2.1	1.2	0.0	1.1	0.7	0.7	0.3	1.3	0.8	1.3	1.4
Croatia	2.9	3.0	1.6	-0.6	1.3	1.6	0.8	0.4	0.9	0.9	1.4	1.5
Hungary	5.9	5.3	2.3	0.4	2.4	2.9	3.4	3.0	2.7	3.4	3.1	3.0
Poland	2.8	2.9	1.6	-0.2	1.6	1.2	2.1	2.5	2.8	2.2	2.6	2.5
Romania	18.6	6.2	2.7	-1.1	1.1	4.1	3.9	2.5	3.1	3.9	3.5	3.4
Sweden	1.8	2.1	0.7	1.1	1.9	2.0	1.7	0.4	1.1	1.7	1.5	1.6
EU	2.7	2.2	1.5	0.2	1.6	1.8	1.4	0.6	1.3	1.5	1.5	1.7
United Kingdom	1.5	2.7	2.3	0.7	2.7	2.5:	1.8	1.2	2.1	1.8	2.0	2.2
Japan	-0.4	-0.1	0.7	-0.1	0.5	1.0	0.5	0.0	0.2	0.5	1.1	0.7
United States	2.5	2.2	1.7	1.3	2.1	2.4	1.8	0.5	1.5	1.8	2.1	2.0

Table 18: Harmonised index of consumer prices (national index if not available), (percentage change on preceding year, 2019-21)

23.4.2020

	2019/1	2019/2	2019/3	2019/4	2020/1	2020/2	2020/3	2020/4	2021/1	2021/2	2021/3	2021/4
Belgium	2.0	1.7	0.9	0.5	1.0	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.3	1.5	1.7	1.8
Germany	1.6	1.7	1.0	1.2	1.6	-0.5	-0.1	0.4	1.0	1.7	1.6	1.4
Estonia	2.3	3.0	2.1	1.7	1.5	0.2	0.3	0.8	1.3	1.7	1.9	2.0
Ireland	0.9	1.3	0.6	0.8	0.8	-1.5	-0.7	0.0	0.1	1.3	1.2	1.1
Greece	0.8	0.6	0.2	0.4	0.6	-0.3	-1.0	-1.7	-1.5	-0.3	1.3	2.4
Spain	1.1	1.1	0.4	0.5	0.7	-0.3	-0.2	-0.3	0.2	1.3	1.3	1.3
France	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.3	0.4	0.1	-0.1	0.2	0.8	1.3	1.4
Italy	1.0	0.9	0.3	0.3	0.2	-0.7	-0.4	-0.3	-0.1	0.7	1.1	1.1
Cyprus	1.3	0.6	0.1	0.2	0.6	-0.4	-0.5	-0.4	0.4	1.3	1.2	1.2
Latvia	2.8	3.3	2.8	2.1	1.9	-0.4	-0.2	0.2	1.0	2.2	2.3	2.2
Lithuania	2.1	2.5	2.3	2.0	2.5	-0.2	0.2	0.9	1.5	1.5	1.5	1.5
Luxembourg	2.1	2.0	1.4	1.2	1.6	0.1	0.5	0.6	0.8	2.1	1.9	1.5
Malta	1.2	1.7	1.8	1.3	1.2	0.8	0.4	0.5	1.1	1.1	1.2	1.2
Netherlands	2.5	2.7	2.8	2.7	1.3	0.8	0.6	0.6	0.9	1.1	1.4	1.7
Austria	1.6	1.7	1.3	1.4	2.0	0.5	0.8	1.0	1.1	1.8	1.7	1.6
Portugal	0.8	0.6	-0.3	0.2	0.5	-1.4	-0.1	0.2	0.4	2.0	1.5	1.1
Slovenia	1.3	1.7	2.1	1.6	1.6	-0.1	0.2	0.3	0.6	1.0	1.4	1.9
Slovakia	2.4	2.6	3.0	3.1	2.9	1.8	1.5	1.3	1.0	1.1	1.2	1.2
Finland	1.2	1.3	1.1	0.9	1.1	0.2	0.3	0.5	1.2	1.5	1.4	1.4
Euro area	1.4	1.4	1.0	1.0	1.1	-0.2	0.0	0.1	0.5	1.2	1.4	1.4
Bulgaria	2.5	2.8	2.2	2.3	3.0	1.1	0.3	0.0	-0.2	0.9	1.8	2.1
Czechia	2.3	2.4	2.6	3.0	3.7	2.4	1.7	1.3	1.6	1.7	2.0	2.1
Denmark	1.2	0.7	0.4	0.7	0.6	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.5	1.9	1.4	1.4
Croatia	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.9	1.2	0.0	0.1	0.3	0.6	1.0	1.0	1.0
Hungary	3.2	3.8	3.1	3.5	4.4	2.3	2.8	2.6	2.1	3.3	2.7	2.5
Poland	1.2	2.2	2.5	2.6	3.9	2.8	1.9	1.3	1.3	2.3	3.3	4.2
Romania	3.8	4.3	3.9	3.7	3.1	1.9	2.3	2.7	2.6	3.2	3.4	3.3
Sweden	1.9	1.9	1.4	1.7	1.2	-0.1	0.2	0.2	0.8	1.2	1.3	1.3
EU	1.5	1.6	1.2	1.3	1.5	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.6	1.3	1.5	1.6
United Kingdom	1.8	2.0	1.9	1.4	1.7	0.5	1.0	1.6	2.1	2.2	2.1	2.0
Japan	-0.3	0.2	0.0	0.5	-0.1	-0.2	-0.3	-0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
United States	1.6	1.8	1.8	2.0	1.8	-0.2	0.1	0.3	0.6	2.2	1.8	1.4

Table 19: Price de	flator of exports of g	joods in nati	onal currency	(percentage	change on p	preceding ye	ar, 2001-202	1)				23.4.2020
		5-year					Spi	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					fo	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	0.7	1.2	0.4	-1.8	2.4	2.4	0.3	-4.4	1.7	0.7	1.0	1.1
Germany	-0.2	0.5	0.8	-1.0	1.4	0.8	0.6	0.3	0.4	0.7	0.1	0.3
Estonia	1.8	3.6	0.3	-0.1	3.9	2.4	-0.4	-1.7	1.2	0.5	1.1	1.3
Ireland	-2.0	0.0	1.6	-3.6	-0.9	-3.8	-3.5	0.9	0.9	-3.3	-1.0	-1.0
Greece	1.6	2.7	-0.8	-5.5	7.3	5.5	-0.5	-5.0	5.0	2.4	1.9	2.1
Spain	0.8	1.9	0.9	-1.6	3.2	1.1	0.2	-0.8	1.1	0.9	1.0	1.1
France	-0.7	0.9	0.9	-1.9	1.1	0.6	0.7	-5.6	2.9	0.6	0.8	1.1
Italy	1.1	1.5	1.0	-0.7	2.0	1.9	0.5	-0.7	1.4	0.7	0.9	0.9
Cyprus	2.3	2.6	1.2	-0.9	0.4	0.2	0.0	-4.0	1.0	1.1	1.2	1.2
Latvia	7.4	5.7	3.2	-2.7	4.2	3.2	-0.2	-1.0	1.0	1.0	1.2	1.4
Lithuania	1.4	3.3	0.8	-3.1	4.7	3.7	-0.1	-0.5	0.5	3.0	2.9	2.4
Luxembourg	1.9	3.2	0.3	-0.4	3.2	3.3	-0.9	-1.7	2.0	3.1	1.8	1.5
Malta	-1.9	2.4	0.3	-4.9	4.6	3.2	-0.8	1.0	1.2	3.3	3.0	3.0
Netherlands	-0.1	1.3	0.4	-3.6	3.3	2.4	-0.3	-2.1	0.4	0.9	1.0	1.0
Austria	0.5	1.3	0.4	-0.9	1.5	1.3	0.1	-2.0	0.5	0.9	0.9	0.9
Portugal	0.0	1.5	0.2	-3.1	3.0	2.0	0.0	0.0	1.3	1.5	0.6	0.7
Slovenia	3.7	1.2	0.6	-2.1	2.6	2.7	-0.4	-0.5	0.9	0.4	0.9	0.9
Slovakia	2.3	0.1	-0.5	-1.7	2.2	1.6	-0.2	-1.5	0.1	2.2	2.0	2.0
Finland	-1.4	-0.2	0.1	-3.1	3.8	5.0	-0.9	-1.4	0.6	0.8	1.1	1.0
Euro area	0.0	1.0	0.8	-1.8	1.9	1.2	0.1	-1.5	1.1	0.6	0.6	0.7
Bulgaria	2.2	9.1	0.7	-2.4	7.7	2.8	2.2	-4.6	3.0	1.9	2.5	2.8
Czechia	-1.4	-1.5	1.6	-2.8	-0.6	-0.7	0.8	-0.1	0.1	1.0	0.0	0.0
Denmark	1.2	2.3	1.0	-1.1	0.2	0.4	-0.2	-1.9	0.9	2.2	1.6	1.4
Croatia	1.3	2.7	1.4	-3.1	1.2	0.7	0.5	0.2	1.0	2.0	2.0	2.0
Hungary	-1.1	1.2	1.4	-1.0	1.5	2.9	1.7	3.8	2.5	2.0	1.8	1.5
Poland	3.6	3.4	2.7	0.3	1.5	1.6	3.1	0.6	0.4	2.3	2.2	2.0
Romania	17.0	8.4	0.9	-8.9	2.8	5.8	3.2	-2.0	1.5	5.0	3.9	3.7
Sweden	-0.2	1.9	-0.6	-1.7	4.0	5.6	3.6	-1.9	0.1	4.6	1.3	1.4
EU	0.1	1.2	0.8	-1.8	1.9	1.4	0.5	-1.3	1.0	1.0	0.8	0.9
United Kingdom	0.5	4.1	-0.9	5.4	6.5	3.8	1.5	-2.0	1.8	1.8	1.5	1.4
Japan	-0.8	-2.7	1.9	-8.7	4.5	0.9	-2.8	-5.0	1.0	1.0	1.0	1.0
United States	1.2	1.8	-0.4	-3.9	2.6	3.6	-1.2	-1.9	2.0	-0.4	1.3	1.2

Table 20. The delic		E voar	share offericy	percentage	change on p	icecally ye	c	-, ring 2020		A	umn 2010	202020
		<u>5-year</u>					spi t			AU		
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.0	1.7	0.4	-2.1	3.4	3.8	-0.1	-5.2	1.5	0.5	0.9	1.0
Germany	-0.7	0.5	0.2	-3.2	3.0	1.9	-0.6	-2.9	0.4	-0.5	-1.3	0.0
Estonia	-0.3	3.1	0.7	-1.1	3.0	2.4	0.2	-2.1	0.9	0.5	0.7	1.1
Ireland	-1.7	1.1	-0.2	-6.2	3.5	2.5	-5.2	-2.0	1.0	0.1	0.3	0.3
Greece	2.0	3.1	-1.7	-3.3	6.1	6.5	1.5	-6.0	6.0	1.9	1.7	1.4
Spain	-0.1	1.7	1.5	-1.6	4.1	3.4	0.9	-3.3	1.2	0.9	1.2	1.3
France	-0.8	0.8	0.0	-3.1	2.7	2.4	-0.5	-7.1	2.8	0.2	0.8	1.1
Italy	1.3	2.1	0.1	-4.5	4.0	3.3	-1.0	-3.9	1.0	0.8	0.6	0.9
Cyprus	2.0	2.3	-0.5	-0.5	0.7	2.1	0.1	-3.6	1.6	1.5	1.5	1.2
Latvia	6.8	5.0	2.3	-6.0	3.3	1.6	-1.1	-3.0	0.5	0.6	1.0	1.4
Lithuania	-0.7	4.1	0.5	-4.8	4.1	4.7	-1.4	-1.0	0.9	1.9	1.6	1.6
Luxembourg	1.7	1.3	0.3	-2.3	4.7	2.9	0.0	-1.9	1.9	2.9	1.8	1.4
Malta	-0.7	1.0	-0.4	-0.8	0.2	0.5	-1.8	-2.0	0.8	1.5	1.6	1.7
Netherlands	-0.9	1.7	0.2	-4.5	3.6	2.7	-1.2	-2.0	0.5	1.0	1.0	1.0
Austria	0.2	1.7	0.5	-1.8	3.4	2.3	-0.1	-2.0	0.2	0.8	0.9	0.9
Portugal	0.1	0.9	-0.5	-3.9	4.2	2.5	-0.4	-2.0	1.3	1.5	0.8	0.9
Slovenia	3.6	1.7	0.5	-2.9	3.3	2.9	-0.7	-3.3	0.3	0.0	0.9	1.0
Slovakia	2.5	1.4	0.2	-1.3	3.0	2.5	0.0	-1.6	0.1	2.7	2.2	2.2
Finland	-0.4	0.8	-0.5	-3.2	4.7	4.1	0.0	-2.8	0.3	1.5	1.2	1.2
Euro area	-0.1	1.3	0.3	-3.3	3.4	2.7	-0.6	-3.6	1.1	0.4	0.3	0.8
Bulgaria	2.5	4.8	0.7	-6.0	7.5	2.2	0.4	-3.0	2.8	0.0	1.8	2.3
Czechia	-2.0	-0.7	1.3	-3.8	0.7	-0.6	0.6	0.4	0.2	1.4	-0.1	-0.1
Denmark	0.2	1.1	0.6	-2.4	1.6	2.8	-0.2	-2.1	0.7	1.9	1.4	1.2
Croatia	0.8	1.8	1.3	-2.5	2.6	1.1	0.2	-0.7	1.3	1.6	1.3	1.4
Hungary	-0.5	1.6	1.5	-2.5	1.9	4.0	1.1	2.8	2.5	2.1	1.5	1.5
Poland	3.2	2.8	2.0	-0.3	1.3	2.9	1.2	0.0	0.1	1.4	1.3	1.0
Romania	13.2	3.6	0.8	-7.3	5.3	4.5	2.1	-1.5	1.0	3.7	3.4	3.3
Sweden	1.1	1.5	-1.0	-2.2	4.6	6.7	2.3	-2.6	-0.4	3.9	2.4	1.6
EU	0.1	1.4	0.4	-3.2	3.2	2.8	-0.3	-3.1	1.0	0.7	0.5	0.8
United Kingdom	-0.5	3.9	-0.5	2.3	6.5	3.2	0.6	-2.0	1.8	0.5	0.5	0.5
Japan	2.2	0.8	2.4	-15.0	9.9	6.0	-3.9	-5.0	1.0	0.9	0.8	1.0
United States	1.7	2.0	-1.0	-4.3	2.3	2.9	-1.8	-2.3	2.0	-0.9	1.2	1.2

Terms of trade of goods (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021) Table 21:

Table 21: Terms of tro	ide of goods (pe	rcentage ch	ange on prece	ding year, 20	001-2021)							23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	-0.3	-0.5	0.1	0.3	-1.0	-1.3	0.5	0.8	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1
Germany	0.5	0.1	0.6	2.3	-1.6	-1.1	1.2	3.2	0.0	1.2	1.4	0.3
Estonia	2.1	0.4	-0.3	1.0	0.9	0.1	-0.6	0.4	0.3	0.0	0.4	0.2
Ireland	-0.3	-1.1	1.8	2.7	-4.2	-6.1	1.7	2.9	-0.1	-3.4	-1.3	-1.3
Greece	-0.4	-0.4	0.9	-2.3	1.2	-1.0	-1.9	1.1	-0.9	0.5	0.2	0.7
Spain	0.9	0.2	-0.6	0.1	-0.8	-2.2	-0.6	2.6	-0.1	0.0	-0.2	-0.2
France	0.1	0.1	0.8	1.2	-1.6	-1.7	1.2	1.6	0.0	0.4	0.0	0.0
Italy	-0.2	-0.6	0.9	4.0	-1.9	-1.4	1.5	3.3	0.4	-0.1	0.3	0.0
Cyprus	0.2	0.3	1.7	-0.4	-0.3	-1.9	-0.1	-0.4	-0.6	-0.4	-0.3	0.0
Latvia	0.5	0.6	0.9	3.5	0.9	1.6	0.9	2.1	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.0
Lithuania	2.0	-0.7	0.3	1.8	0.5	-1.0	1.3	0.5	-0.4	1.1	1.2	0.8
Luxembourg	0.2	1.9	0.1	2.0	-1.4	0.4	-1.0	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.0
Malta	-1.2	1.3	0.7	-4.2	4.4	2.7	1.1	3.1	0.4	1.8	1.4	1.3
Netherlands	0.8	-0.4	0.2	1.0	-0.3	-0.3	0.9	-0.1	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0
Austria	0.3	-0.4	0.0	0.9	-1.8	-1.0	0.3	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.0	0.0
Portugal	-0.2	0.6	0.8	0.9	-1.1	-0.4	0.4	2.0	0.0	0.0	-0.2	-0.2
Slovenia	0.1	-0.5	0.1	0.8	-0.6	-0.2	0.3	2.9	0.6	0.4	0.0	-0.1
Slovakia	-0.1	-1.4	-0.7	-0.4	-0.8	-0.9	-0.3	0.1	0.0	-0.5	-0.2	-0.2
Finland	-1.0	-1.0	0.6	0.0	-0.9	0.9	-0.9	1.4	0.3	-0.7	-0.1	-0.2
Euro area	0.2	-0.3	0.5	1.5	-1.5	-1.5	0.7	2.3	0.0	0.1	0.3	0.0
Bulgaria	-0.3	4.1	-0.1	3.9	0.3	0.7	1.8	-1.6	0.2	1.9	0.7	0.5
Czechia	0.6	-0.7	0.2	1.0	-1.4	-0.1	0.2	-0.5	0.0	-0.4	0.1	0.1
Denmark	1.0	1.2	0.4	1.4	-1.4	-2.4	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2
Croatia	0.4	0.9	0.0	-0.6	-1.3	-0.5	0.3	0.9	-0.3	0.4	0.7	0.6
Hungary	-0.7	-0.4	-0.1	1.5	-0.3	-1.0	0.5	1.0	0.0	-0.1	0.3	0.0
Poland	0.4	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.2	-1.2	1.9	0.6	0.3	0.9	0.9	1.0
Romania	3.4	4.6	0.1	-1.7	-2.4	1.3	1.0	-0.5	0.5	1.3	0.5	0.4
Sweden	-1.3	0.5	0.4	0.6	-0.6	-1.1	1.2	0.7	0.5	0.7	-1.1	-0.2
EU	0.1	-0.2	0.5	1.4	-1.3	-1.4	0.7	1.9	0.0	0.3	0.3	0.1
United Kingdom	1.0	0.1	-0.4	3.0	0.1	0.5	0.9	0.0	0.0	1.3	1.0	0.9
Japan	-2.9	-3.5	-0.5	7.4	-4.9	-4.8	1.1	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.0
United States	-0.4	-0.2	0.6	0.4	0.3	0.7	0.6	0.4	0.0	0.5	0.0	0.0

Total population (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021) Table 22:

Table 22: Total popu	lation (percentag	ge change o	n preceding ye	ear, 2001-202	:1)							23.4.2020
		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	0.4	0.8	0.7	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Germany	0.0	-0.3	0.3	0.8	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
Estonia	-0.6	-0.4	-0.3	0.2	0.0	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.2
Ireland	1.8	1.9	0.6	1.1	1.1	1.2	1.4	0.6	0.8	1.2	0.8	0.8
Greece	0.3	0.2	-0.5	-0.4	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2	-0.6	-0.6	-0.5	-0.6	-0.6
Spain	1.5	1.3	-0.1	0.1	0.2	0.4	0.8	0.1	0.5	0.6	0.7	0.8
France	0.7	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.3	-0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3
Italy	0.4	0.6	0.3	-0.2	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Cyprus	1.3	2.3	0.4	0.5	0.9	1.2	1.2	1.1	1.1	0.7	0.8	0.9
Latvia	-1.1	-1.3	-1.2	-0.9	-0.9	-0.8	-0.7	-0.2	-0.7	-0.8	-0.7	-0.7
Lithuania	-1.0	-1.4	-1.3	-1.3	-1.4	-0.9	-0.3	-0.1	-0.4	-0.6	-0.6	-0.7
Luxembourg	1.3	1.7	2.3	2.6	2.2	2.0	2.1	1.8	2.0	2.1	2.0	1.8
Malta	0.7	0.5	1.4	2.3	2.8	3.6	3.3	3.0	3.0	2.5	2.0	1.5
Netherlands	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.8	0.8	0.6	0.5	0.4
Austria	0.5	0.3	0.6	1.3	0.6	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5
Portugal	0.4	0.1	-0.4	-0.3	-0.2	-0.2	-0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Slovenia	0.1	0.5	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.8	0.3	0.2	0.6	0.3	0.2
Slovakia	-0.1	0.2	0.0	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1
Finland	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1
Euro area	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
Bulgaria	-1.1	-0.5	-1.0	-0.7	-0.7	-0.7	-0.5	-0.7	-0.7	-0.7	-0.7	-0.7
Czechia	-0.1	0.5	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.4	0.2
Denmark	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.4
Croatia	0.1	-0.1	-0.4	-0.8	-1.0	-0.9	-0.5	-0.4	-0.2	-0.5	-0.4	-0.2
Hungary	-0.2	-0.2	-0.3	-0.3	-0.3	-0.1	0.0	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2
Poland	0.0	0.2	0.0	-0.1	0.0	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	-0.1	-0.1
Romania	-1.0	-1.0	-0.4	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.3	-0.6	-0.7	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6
Sweden	0.4	0.8	0.9	1.3	1.4	1.2	1.0	0.9	0.8	0.9	1.0	1.0
EU	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
United Kingdom	0.5	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	0.6
Japan	0.1	0.0	-0.1	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2	-0.3	-0.3	-0.2	-0.3	-0.3
United States	0.9	0.9	0.7	0.7	0.6	0.5	0.5	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.7

Total employment (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021) Table 23:

Table 23: Total empl	oyment (percente	age change	on preceding	year, 2001-2	021)							23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u> averages					Sp: fe	ring 2020 precast		Aut fe	umn 2019 orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	0.8	1.0	0.5	1.3	1.6	1.4	1.5	-1.0	1.2	1.3	0.9	0.8
Germany	-0.3	0.9	1.0	1.2	1.4	1.4	0.9	-0.9	0.6	0.8	0.1	0.2
Estonia	0.9	-2.1	2.6	0.3	2.7	1.2	1.3	-5.7	3.7	0.7	0.0	-0.1
Ireland	3.0	-0.7	1.3	3.7	3.0	3.2	2.9	-2.5	1.3	2.4	1.7	1.4
Greece	1.5	0.3	-2.8	0.5	1.5	1.7	2.0	-3.7	3.8	2.2	2.2	1.4
Spain	2.8	-0.5	-1.4	2.8	2.8	2.5	2.3	-8.7	6.1	2.2	1.0	0.8
France	0.7	0.5	0.3	0.5	0.9	1.0	1.3	-9.1	10.0	1.1	0.7	0.5
Italy	0.8	-0.2	-0.6	1.4	0.8	0.8	0.3	-7.5	5.5	0.6	0.1	0.3
Cyprus	3.1	2.1	-1.9	4.7	5.3	4.1	3.1	-2.5	2.3	2.5	2.2	1.8
Latvia	1.0	-2.5	1.1	-0.3	0.0	1.6	-0.1	-2.6	0.9	-0.4	0.0	0.2
Lithuania	0.3	-2.5	1.5	2.3	-0.7	1.4	0.5	-3.5	2.0	0.2	0.1	0.0
Luxembourg	3.1	3.2	2.5	3.0	3.4	3.7	3.6	0.9	3.1	3.7	3.4	3.1
Malta	0.7	1.6	3.8	4.3	8.1	6.0	5.6	-1.8	2.8	4.0	3.0	2.5
Netherlands	0.0	1.0	0.0	2.1	2.2	2.6	1.8	-2.4	1.4	1.8	0.6	0.3
Austria	0.6	1.1	0.9	1.3	1.7	1.7	1.2	-1.4	1.4	1.1	0.7	0.6
Portugal	0.0	-0.7	-1.2	1.6	3.3	2.3	0.8	-3.4	2.7	1.0	0.5	0.5
Slovenia	0.3	0.7	-0.4	1.8	3.0	3.2	2.4	-2.7	2.0	2.3	1.5	1.3
Slovakia	0.6	0.8	0.9	2.4	2.2	2.0	1.2	-3.4	2.0	0.8	0.2	0.2
Finland	1.0	0.6	0.2	0.5	1.0	2.5	1.0	-2.5	1.1	0.9	0.4	0.3
Euro area	0.7	0.3	0.1	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.2	-4.7	3.9	1.1	0.5	0.5
Bulgaria	1.5	0.7	-0.9	0.5	1.8	-0.1	0.3	-2.5	0.5	0.6	0.0	-0.2
Czechia	0.3	0.6	0.5	1.6	1.6	1.3	0.7	-3.1	0.8	1.1	0.6	0.5
Denmark	0.2	0.1	0.3	1.7	1.6	1.4	1.2	-1.6	1.4	1.3	0.9	0.8
Croatia	0.9	0.8	-1.2	0.3	2.2	1.8	1.4	-3.9	3.0	1.3	1.1	1.1
Hungary	0.0	-0.9	1.8	3.7	1.9	2.4	1.7	-3.8	1.1	1.9	0.2	0.0
Poland	-0.6	1.8	0.8	0.8	1.3	0.5	-0.2	-4.5	2.2	0.1	-0.1	-0.1
Romania	-3.1	-0.9	-0.5	-1.1	2.4	0.2	-0.1	-2.5	0.6	0.2	0.1	0.1
Sweden	0.2	0.7	1.4	1.9	2.5	1.6	0.6	-2.5	1.1	0.3	0.0	0.5
EU	0.3	0.3	0.1	1.3	1.6	1.4	1.0	-4.4	3.3	1.0	0.5	0.4
United Kingdom	1.0	0.3	1.4	1.5	1.0	1.2	1.1	-2.7	1.5	1.0	0.7	0.7
Japan	0.0	0.0	0.2	1.0	1.0	1.7	0.5	-5.0	-1.0	0.5	0.2	0.3
United States	0.3	-0.6	1.6	1.5	1.2	1.7	1.1	-6.3	2.0	1.1	1.0	0.5
Note: See note 6 on concepts	and sources where c	ountries using fu	ull time equivalen	ts are listed.								

Unemployment rate $^{\nu}$ (number of unemployed as a percentage of total labour force, 2001-2021) Table 24:

		5-year		_			Sp	ring 2020		Au	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	7.8	7.8	8.0	7.8	7.1	6.0	5.4	7.0	6.6	5.5	5.4	5.3
Germany	9.8	8.3	5.2	4.1	3.8	3.4	3.2	4.0	3.5	3.2	3.4	3.5
Estonia	10.5	9.2	8.9	6.8	5.8	5.4	4.4	9.2	6.5	5.1	5.4	5.8
Ireland	4.6	8.8	13.3	8.4	6.7	5.8	5.0	7.4	7.0	5.2	5.0	5.0
Greece	10.3	9.5	24.3	23.6	21.5	19.3	17.3	19.9	16.8	17.3	15.4	14.0
Spain	10.8	13.2	23.8	19.6	17.2	15.3	14.1	18.9	17.0	13.9	13.3	12.8
France	8.4	8.5	10.0	10.0	9.4	9.0	8.5	10.1	9.7	8.5	8.2	8.0
Italy	8.6	7.2	11.2	11.7	11.2	10.6	10.0	11.8	10.7	10.0	10.0	10.0
Cyprus	4.4	4.8	13.4	13.0	11.1	8.4	7.1	8.6	7.5	7.2	6.3	5.7
Latvia	11.9	11.6	12.8	9.6	8.7	7.4	6.3	8.6	8.3	6.6	6.4	6.4
Lithuania	12.5	9.5	12.1	7.9	7.1	6.2	6.3	9.7	7.9	6.2	6.2	6.2
Luxembourg	3.7	4.7	5.7	6.3	5.5	5.6	5.6	6.4	6.1	5.3	5.3	5.3
Malta	7.1	6.6	6.0	4.7	4.0	3.7	3.4	5.9	4.4	3.6	3.5	3.6
Netherlands	3.9	4.5	6.5	6.0	4.9	3.8	3.4	5.9	5.3	3.5	3.7	4.1
Austria	4.6	4.9	5.2	6.0	5.5	4.9	4.5	5.8	4.9	4.6	4.6	4.6
Portugal	6.0	8.8	14.4	11.2	9.0	7.1	6.5	9.7	7.4	6.3	5.9	5.6
Slovenia	6.4	5.7	9.2	8.0	6.6	5.1	4.5	7.0	5.1	4.4	4.2	4.2
Slovakia	18.0	12.1	13.3	9.7	8.1	6.5	5.8	8.8	7.1	5.8	5.7	5.6
Finland	8.9	7.5	8.4	8.8	8.6	7.4	6.7	8.3	7.7	6.7	6.5	6.4
Euro area	8.8	8.6	11.2	10.0	9.0	8.1	7.5	9.6	8.6	7.6	7.4	7.3
Bulgaria	14.9	7.7	11.4	7.6	6.2	5.2	4.2	7.0	5.8	4.4	4.1	4.0
Czechia	7.9	6.2	6.4	4.0	2.9	2.2	2.0	5.0	4.2	2.1	2.2	2.3
Denmark	5.0	5.1	7.2	6.0	5.8	5.1	5.0	6.4	5.7	4.9	4.8	4.7
Croatia	14.3	10.1	16.1	13.1	11.2	8.5	6.6	10.2	7.4	6.9	5.8	4.9
Hungary	6.1	8.8	9.3	5.1	4.2	3.7	3.4	7.0	6.1	3.4	3.4	3.4
Poland	19.0	9.7	9.3	6.2	4.9	3.9	3.3	7.5	5.3	3.5	3.6	3.5
Romania	7.5	6.7	6.9	5.9	4.9	4.2	3.9	6.5	5.4	3.9	4.2	4.3
Sweden	5.9	7.3	7.9	7.0	6.7	6.4	6.8	9.7	9.3	6.8	7.1	7.2
EU	9.6	8.4	10.6	9.1	8.1	7.2	6.7	9.0	7.9	6.3	6.2	6.2
United Kingdom	4.9	6.3	7.0	4.8	4.3	4.0	3.8	6.7	6.0	3.8	4.0	4.1
Japan	5.0	4.4	4.0	3.1	2.8	2.4	2.3	4.3	4.5	2.3	2.2	2.2
United States	5.4	6.8	7.2	4.9	4.4	3.9	3.7	9.2	7.6	3.7	3.7	3.7

Table 25: Comp	ensation of employee	es per head (percentage o	change on pr	eceding yea	r, 2001-2021))					23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u> averages					Sp f	ring 2020 orecast		Aul f	umn 2019 orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.7	2.7	2.0	0.6	1.8	1.9	1.7	-1.4	1.2	1.7	1.8	2.1
Germany	1.1	1.5	2.6	2.3	2.6	2.9	3.2	-0.6	3.2	3.3	2.5	2.5
Estonia	10.8	9.7	4.7	5.7	7.0	10.2	7.8	2.0	2.7	7.3	5.8	5.8
Ireland	6.0	2.0	0.8	2.2	2.5	2.1	4.0	-2.3	1.7	3.5	3.7	3.8
Greece	7.3	2.5	-3.8	-0.9	0.5	1.3	1.1	-3.6	3.2	0.4	1.1	2.0
Spain	3.3	4.3	0.4	-0.6	0.7	1.0	2.0	0.5	0.7	2.4	2.2	2.1
France	2.9	2.5	1.8	1.3	2.0	1.8	0.2	6.0	-6.0	-0.2	1.4	1.9
Italy	3.4	2.7	0.7	0.1	0.6	2.1	1.6	-0.5	0.8	1.0	1.1	1.0
Cyprus	5.0	3.1	-1.3	-0.9	1.0	0.5	2.9	-5.4	6.6	3.4	3.1	3.0
Latvia	12.1	10.1	6.3	7.3	7.6	8.5	8.8	0.3	3.9	6.1	5.0	4.8
Lithuania	9.3	7.3	5.2	6.4	9.5	7.7	9.5	-8.2	7.4	7.0	4.4	4.0
Luxembourg	3.2	2.9	2.3	0.8	3.0	3.3	1.7	1.8	2.4	3.2	2.5	2.3
Malta	3.8	3.4	3.2	2.9	-0.5	2.1	2.4	3.4	2.8	2.4	3.4	3.0
Netherlands	3.4	2.5	1.6	1.2	1.0	1.7	2.9	2.2	1.5	2.5	3.2	2.5
Austria	1.9	2.4	2.2	2.4	1.6	2.9	2.9	0.7	1.2	2.8	2.0	1.9
Portugal	3.8	2.5	-0.6	1.2	2.3	2.5	2.8	0.2	1.7	3.2	2.8	2.8
Slovenia	8.3	4.9	0.8	3.1	3.0	3.9	4.5	1.6	1.2	3.6	3.6	3.6
Slovakia	7.8	6.3	2.5	2.2	5.4	5.6	6.2	1.3	2.5	7.1	5.4	4.9
Finland	2.9	3.0	2.0	0.9	-1.1	1.3	1.6	2.1	2.8	3.1	3.0	3.2
Euro area	2.6	2.5	1.7	1.2	1.7	2.2	2.1	1.1	0.4	2.0	2.1	2.2
Bulgaria	7.7	10.7	6.9	5.8	10.5	9.7	6.1	3.4	2.3	7.8	6.6	5.4
Czechia	7.1	3.8	1.9	4.0	6.4	8.0	6.2	2.5	4.2	5.2	4.7	4.4
Denmark	3.6	3.4	1.6	1.3	1.6	1.7	1.5	1.0	1.7	2.3	2.7	3.0
Croatia	6.1	2.9	-0.4	0.4	0.2	2.2	3.4	-1.2	1.1	2.6	2.5	2.2
Hungary	11.6	3.4	2.0	2.4	7.0	6.2	9.4	5.0	4.4	7.8	6.5	6.4
Poland	3.7	5.7	2.9	4.8	5.8	7.9	7.3	3.8	2.6	8.1	8.2	7.6
Romania	28.0	12.0	2.7	15.0	14.8	13.4	8.9	2.6	4.8	13.0	9.2	7.1
Sweden	3.7	3.5	2.6	2.6	2.1	3.9	3.0	-1.3	5.6	3.1	2.9	3.0
EU	2.9	2.7	1.7	1.5	2.1	2.7	2.6	1.1	1.1	2.8	2.7	2.7
United Kingdom	4.4	3.2	1.6	3.2	3.2	2.9	3.8	-6.5	8.6	4.0	3.3	3.1
Japan	-1.2	-1.0	0.3	1.2	0.5	1.5	0.9	-2.1	2.3	0.9	1.0	1.0
United States	3.1	2.6	2.6	0.9	3.1	3.3	3.1	0.4	1.3	3.3	2.9	2.5
Note: See note 6 on concep	ts and sources where countri	es using full time e	equivalents are list	ed.								

Real compensation of employees per head ¹ (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021) Table 26:

		Spi	ing 2020										
forecast													
17	2018	2019	2020	2021	201								

23.4.2020

Autumn 2019

	<u>5-year</u>						Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	0.6	0.7	0.4	-0.8	-0.1	0.0	0.4	-2.2	-0.3	0.3	0.2	0.4
Germany	-0.3	0.1	1.4	1.6	1.1	1.4	1.9	-0.9	1.8	2.0	1.3	1.1
Estonia	6.8	4.8	2.1	5.0	3.2	6.3	5.1	1.5	1.0	4.6	3.4	3.3
Ireland	2.6	2.4	-0.3	1.9	1.5	0.4	1.7	-1.2	0.8	1.4	1.6	1.8
Greece	4.5	-0.7	-3.1	-0.2	0.0	1.0	0.5	-3.1	2.7	-0.1	0.5	1.1
Spain	0.0	2.0	-0.7	-0.8	-0.9	-0.4	0.8	0.7	-0.4	1.4	1.1	0.7
France	1.2	1.1	0.9	1.1	1.1	0.3	-1.0	5.4	-6.9	-1.4	0.2	0.7
Italy	0.8	0.9	-0.7	0.0	-0.4	1.2	1.0	-0.2	0.1	0.4	0.3	-0.2
Cyprus	3.0	0.1	-1.8	0.6	0.1	-1.1	2.5	-5.2	5.5	2.8	2.4	1.7
Latvia	5.8	4.3	4.2	6.1	4.4	5.5	5.7	0.1	1.9	3.0	2.4	2.4
Lithuania	8.8	1.8	3.7	5.4	5.8	4.9	7.4	-9.2	5.5	4.9	2.4	2.6
Luxembourg	1.0	1.2	0.8	0.5	1.1	1.1	-0.3	0.1	0.4	1.0	0.8	0.3
Malta	1.4	1.1	1.6	2.3	-1.5	1.3	1.0	2.3	1.6	1.2	2.1	1.6
Netherlands	0.9	1.0	0.3	0.7	-0.4	-0.2	0.5	1.3	0.2	0.0	1.7	1.1
Austria	0.1	0.6	-0.1	1.0	-0.4	0.8	1.2	-0.4	-0.3	1.1	0.4	0.3
Portugal	0.4	0.6	-1.7	0.2	0.7	1.2	1.7	-0.3	0.3	2.7	1.6	1.4
Slovenia	3.1	2.0	-0.2	3.8	1.2	1.6	2.6	1.1	-0.2	2.0	1.4	1.3
Slovakia	2.7	3.6	0.9	2.6	3.9	3.2	3.3	-0.4	1.3	4.5	3.0	2.5
Finland	1.5	0.9	-0.1	0.7	-1.8	0.1	0.6	1.5	1.4	1.8	1.6	1.7
Euro area	0.4	0.9	0.5	0.8	0.4	0.7	0.9	0.8	-0.7	0.8	0.9	0.8
Bulgaria	3.6	6.4	5.7	5.3	7.1	7.5	4.0	3.4	0.3	5.5	4.2	3.3
Czechia	5.2	1.6	0.8	3.4	4.0	5.6	3.1	0.4	2.5	2.7	2.0	2.3
Denmark	1.9	1.3	0.3	1.2	0.3	0.8	0.6	0.4	0.1	1.4	1.0	1.1
Croatia	3.6	-0.3	-1.7	1.5	-0.7	0.8	2.5	-1.6	0.2	1.5	1.2	0.7
Hungary	5.4	-1.3	-0.6	2.2	4.1	3.0	5.6	1.9	1.7	4.3	3.3	3.3
Poland	0.9	3.0	1.4	5.2	3.7	6.2	5.4	1.3	0.0	5.7	5.4	4.9
Romania	8.7	5.3	0.1	14.1	11.8	8.8	3.5	0.5	2.8	6.8	5.0	3.3
Sweden	2.3	1.8	1.7	1.7	0.3	1.7	1.1	-1.6	4.5	1.3	1.2	1.3
EU	0.7	0.9	0.4	1.1	0.7	1.2	1.2	0.6	-0.2	1.4	1.3	1.1
United Kingdom	3.2	1.0	-0.2	1.7	1.7	0.3	2.5	-7.6	7.0	2.7	1.8	1.4
Japan	-0.3	-0.3	0.1	1.7	0.3	0.9	0.6	-2.2	2.2	0.7	0.1	0.7
United States	1.0	0.6	1.1	-0.1	1.3	1.2	1.7	0.2	0.1	1.9	1.0	0.7
Deflated by the price deflator of price	private consumption.											

Note: See note 6 on concepts and sources where countries using full time equivalents are listed.

Table 27: Lab	our productivity (redi GL	P per occup	iea person) (p	percentage c	nange on pre	eceaing yea	r, 2001-2021)					23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Spi	ing 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					fo	precast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.2	0.5	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.1	-0.2	-6.2	5.5	-0.1	0.1	0.2
Germany	0.9	0.3	0.7	1.0	1.1	0.2	-0.3	-5.6	5.2	-0.3	0.9	0.9
Estonia	6.4	1.9	0.7	2.3	3.0	3.5	3.0	-1.4	2.1	2.5	2.1	2.5
Ireland	2.3	1.3	5.4	0.0	5.0	4.8	2.6	-5.5	4.8	3.2	1.8	1.8
Greece	2.3	-0.6	-1.1	-0.7	0.0	0.2	-0.1	-6.3	4.0	-0.4	0.1	0.6
Spain	0.4	1.6	1.4	0.2	0.0	-0.2	-0.3	-0.7	0.8	-0.3	0.5	0.6
France	1.0	0.4	0.7	0.6	1.4	0.8	0.1	0.9	-2.3	0.2	0.5	0.7
Italy	0.1	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	0.9	0.0	0.0	-2.2	1.0	-0.5	0.3	0.4
Cyprus	0.9	0.6	0.2	2.0	-0.9	0.0	0.1	-5.0	3.7	0.4	0.5	0.5
Latvia	7.1	2.3	2.5	2.1	3.8	2.6	2.3	-4.4	5.5	2.9	2.6	2.5
Lithuania	7.3	3.8	2.3	0.3	5.0	2.2	3.4	-4.6	5.3	3.6	2.3	2.4
Luxembourg	-0.2	-0.7	0.4	1.5	-1.6	-0.6	-1.3	-6.2	2.6	-1.1	-0.8	-0.5
Malta	1.4	0.4	1.8	1.5	-1.5	1.2	-1.1	-4.1	3.1	1.0	1.1	1.3
Netherlands	1.4	0.4	0.8	0.1	0.7	0.0	0.0	-4.5	3.6	-0.1	0.7	1.0
Austria	1.1	0.2	0.2	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.4	-4.2	3.6	0.5	0.7	0.8
Portugal	0.9	1.3	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.3	1.4	-3.4	3.0	1.0	1.2	1.2
Slovenia	3.2	1.2	0.8	1.3	1.8	0.9	0.1	-4.4	4.6	0.3	1.2	1.4
Slovakia	4.4	4.1	1.7	-0.3	0.8	2.0	1.0	-3.4	4.6	1.8	2.4	2.5
Finland	1.6	0.3	-0.2	2.2	2.0	-0.9	0.0	-4.0	2.6	0.4	0.7	0.7
Euro area	0.8	0.5	0.8	0.5	1.0	0.4	0.1	-3.2	2.4	0.0	0.7	0.8
Bulgaria	4.1	2.6	2.7	3.3	1.7	3.2	3.0	-4.8	5.6	3.0	3.0	3.1
Czechia	3.6	1.9	1.2	0.8	2.8	1.5	1.9	-3.2	4.2	1.4	1.6	1.6
Denmark	1.1	0.2	1.0	1.5	0.4	1.0	1.2	-4.3	3.6	0.7	0.6	0.9
Croatia	3.6	-0.2	1.1	3.2	0.9	0.8	1.5	-5.5	4.3	1.6	1.5	1.3
Hungary	4.4	0.7	0.3	-1.5	2.4	2.7	3.2	-3.4	4.8	2.7	2.6	2.8
Poland	3.8	2.9	2.2	2.2	3.6	4.8	4.4	0.3	1.8	3.9	3.5	3.4
Romania	9.1	3.8	3.5	6.0	4.6	4.2	4.1	-3.6	3.5	3.9	3.4	3.1
Sweden	2.4	1.2	0.7	0.6	0.0	0.6	0.7	-3.6	3.2	0.8	1.1	0.8
EU	1.3	0.6	0.8	0.8	1.1	0.7	0.5	-3.2	2.7	0.4	0.9	1.0
United Kingdom	1.8	0.2	0.6	0.4	0.9	0.1	0.3	-5.8	4.4	0.3	0.7	0.7
Japan	1.2	0.1	0.8	-0.4	1.2	-1.3	0.2	0.0	3.7	0.4	0.2	0.3
United States	2.3	1.5	0.6	0.1	1.2	1.2	1.2	-0.2	2.9	1.2	0.8	1.1

Table 28: Unit labour costs, whole economy ' (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021)

		<u>5-year</u>				Sp	ring 2020		Au	umn 2019		
		averages					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.5	2.2	1.2	0.3	1.5	1.8	1.9	5.1	-4.0	1.8	1.7	1.9
Germany	0.2	1.1	1.9	1.3	1.5	2.7	3.5	5.3	-1.9	3.6	1.6	1.7
Estonia	4.2	7.6	4.0	3.3	3.9	6.5	4.6	3.4	0.6	4.7	3.6	3.2
Ireland	3.6	0.7	-4.4	2.2	-2.3	-2.6	1.4	3.5	-3.0	0.4	1.8	2.0
Greece	4.9	3.1	-2.7	-0.3	0.6	1.1	1.3	2.9	-0.8	0.7	1.0	1.4
Spain	2.8	2.7	-1.0	-0.8	0.7	1.2	2.3	1.3	-0.2	2.7	1.7	1.5
France	2.0	2.1	1.0	0.7	0.6	1.0	0.1	5.1	-3.7	-0.4	0.9	1.3
Italy	3.3	2.7	0.8	0.2	-0.3	2.0	1.5	1.8	-0.2	1.6	0.8	0.5
Cyprus	4.1	2.5	-1.5	-2.9	1.9	0.6	2.8	-0.4	2.7	3.0	2.7	2.5
Latvia	4.6	7.6	3.7	5.1	3.7	5.7	6.4	5.0	-1.5	3.1	2.3	2.2
Lithuania	1.9	3.4	2.8	6.1	4.3	5.3	5.9	-3.8	2.0	3.3	2.1	1.6
Luxembourg	3.4	3.7	1.9	-0.7	4.6	3.9	3.0	8.5	-0.2	4.3	3.3	2.8
Malta	2.4	3.0	1.3	1.4	1.0	0.8	3.6	7.8	-0.3	1.4	2.3	1.7
Netherlands	1.9	2.1	0.8	1.1	0.3	1.8	3.0	7.0	-2.0	2.6	2.5	1.5
Austria	0.7	2.2	2.0	1.6	0.8	2.2	2.4	5.1	-2.3	2.3	1.3	1.1
Portugal	2.9	1.2	-1.0	0.8	2.1	2.2	1.4	3.8	-1.3	2.2	1.7	1.6
Slovenia	4.9	3.7	-0.1	1.8	1.2	3.0	4.5	6.3	-3.3	3.3	2.4	2.2
Slovakia	3.3	2.1	0.8	2.5	4.5	3.5	5.1	4.9	-2.0	5.2	3.0	2.4
Finland	1.3	2.7	2.1	-1.3	-3.1	2.2	1.6	6.3	0.2	2.7	2.3	2.5
Euro area	1.9	2.1	0.9	0.7	0.7	1.8	2.1	4.3	-1.9	2.0	1.4	1.4
Bulgaria	3.5	7.9	4.1	2.4	8.7	6.3	3.0	8.6	-3.1	4.7	3.5	2.3
Czechia	3.4	1.9	0.8	3.1	3.6	6.5	4.2	5.9	0.0	3.7	3.0	2.8
Denmark	2.4	3.2	0.6	-0.2	1.1	0.7	0.3	5.6	-1.9	1.6	2.0	2.1
Croatia	2.4	3.2	-1.5	-2.7	-0.7	1.4	1.9	4.5	-3.1	1.0	1.0	0.8
Hungary	6.9	2.7	1.7	4.0	4.5	3.4	6.0	8.6	-0.4	5.0	3.8	3.5
Poland	-0.1	2.7	0.6	2.5	2.2	3.0	2.8	3.5	0.7	4.0	4.6	4.1
Romania	17.3	7.8	-0.8	8.5	9.8	8.8	4.5	6.4	1.3	8.8	5.6	3.8
Sweden	1.3	2.2	1.9	2.0	2.1	3.3	2.4	2.4	2.3	2.2	1.8	2.2
EU	2.0	2.2	0.9	0.9	1.0	2.1	2.2	4.3	-1.6	2.5	1.8	1.7
United Kingdom	2.5	2.9	1.0	2.7	2.2	2.7	3.5	-0.7	4.0	3.7	2.6	2.4
Japan	-2.4	-1.1	-0.5	1.6	-0.7	2.9	0.8	-2.0	-1.4	0.5	0.8	0.7
United States	0.8	1.1	2.0	0.8	1.9	2.1	1.9	0.5	-1.5	2.1	2.0	1.5
¹ Compensation of employees per	head divided by labou	ur productivity pe	r head, defined as	GDP in volume div	ided by total em	ployment.						

Note: See note 6 on concepts and sources where countries using full time equivalents are listed.

23.4.2020

Table 29: Real unit labour costs 1 (percentage change on preceding year, 2001-2021)

Table 29: Real unit la	bour costs 1 (per	centage cha	inge on prece	ding year, 20	01-2021)							23.4.2020
		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					f	orecast		fe	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	-0.4	0.5	-0.3	-1.4	-0.2	0.3	0.3	3.6	-5.5	0.2	-0.2	-0.1
Germany	-0.8	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.4	1.2	1.3	3.1	-3.5	1.5	-0.4	-0.1
Estonia	-1.0	1.6	0.5	1.6	0.2	1.9	1.3	1.7	-1.3	1.3	0.6	0.4
Ireland	-0.3	1.5	-6.7	2.5	-3.4	-3.4	-0.1	2.2	-4.1	-0.4	0.4	0.4
Greece	1.7	0.2	-1.9	0.0	0.0	0.5	1.7	3.0	-1.3	0.0	0.1	-0.2
Spain	-1.2	0.7	-1.1	-1.1	-0.7	0.1	0.7	1.1	-1.2	1.3	0.3	0.1
France	0.1	0.5	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	-1.3	3.7	-4.6	-1.7	-0.3	0.1
Italy	0.4	0.9	-0.4	-1.0	-1.0	1.1	0.6	0.9	-1.1	1.0	-0.2	-0.5
Cyprus	1.2	-0.3	-1.5	-2.1	0.2	-0.8	2.2	-0.9	1.8	1.5	1.2	0.8
Latvia	-1.3	1.3	1.0	4.2	0.7	1.6	3.6	3.5	-3.7	0.0	0.0	0.0
Lithuania	0.2	-1.3	0.7	4.4	0.1	1.9	3.1	-5.6	-0.6	-0.3	-1.2	-0.8
Luxembourg	1.0	0.2	-0.5	-1.5	2.8	1.3	-0.4	8.1	-2.9	2.1	1.4	0.8
Malta	0.0	0.0	-0.7	-0.1	-1.5	-1.3	1.3	5.9	-1.5	-0.7	0.3	-0.3
Netherlands	-0.7	0.5	0.0	0.6	-1.0	-0.4	-0.1	5.9	-3.4	0.1	1.0	0.3
Austria	-1.0	0.5	0.0	-0.1	-0.3	0.5	0.7	3.9	-3.3	0.5	-0.4	-0.6
Portugal	-0.5	-0.7	-1.9	-0.9	0.6	0.6	-0.4	2.5	-2.7	0.8	0.1	-0.1
Slovenia	-0.4	1.0	-1.0	1.1	-0.4	0.7	2.0	4.0	-4.2	0.7	0.0	-0.2
Slovakia	-1.2	0.9	0.2	3.0	3.3	1.4	2.4	2.7	-3.2	2.7	0.6	0.2
Finland	0.1	0.9	-0.1	-1.5	-3.7	0.4	-0.2	4.5	-1.6	1.2	0.5	0.5
Euro area	-0.5	0.4	-0.3	-0.2	-0.3	0.5	0.3	3.0	-3.2	0.4	-0.1	-0.1
Bulgaria	-1.3	1.6	2.1	-0.1	4.5	2.2	-1.6	8.1	-5.4	0.1	0.5	-0.3
Czechia	0.8	0.4	-0.5	1.8	2.1	3.8	0.7	4.4	-1.6	1.1	0.7	0.9
Denmark	0.1	0.8	-0.5	-0.5	0.0	-0.1	-0.7	5.0	-3.7	0.2	0.3	0.2
Croatia	-1.3	-0.3	-2.3	-2.6	-1.9	-0.4	0.4	3.7	-4.0	-0.9	-1.4	-1.6
Hungary	0.5	-1.4	-1.1	3.0	0.8	-1.0	1.5	4.2	-3.4	0.8	0.1	0.5
Poland	-2.6	-0.3	-0.8	2.2	0.3	1.8	-0.1	1.0	-1.8	1.1	1.4	1.0
Romania	-3.8	-1.9	-3.8	5.9	4.9	2.4	-2.2	4.0	-1.2	1.4	1.0	-0.5
Sweden	-0.1	0.0	0.5	0.5	-0.1	0.9	-0.4	1.3	1.0	-0.2	0.3	0.5
EU	-0.8	0.2	-0.4	-0.1	-0.2	0.5	0.1	3.0	-3.0	0.6	0.0	0.0
United Kingdom	0.5	0.6	-0.6	0.6	0.4	0.6	1.6	-2.4	2.5	1.8	0.5	0.5
Japan	-1.1	-0.1	-0.7	1.3	-0.5	3.0	0.2	-2.0	-1.4	0.2	0.2	0.4
United States	-1.5	-0.8	0.3	-0.3	0.0	-0.4	0.2	1.2	-3.0	0.4	0.2	-0.2

Nominal of the Board Control of the Control of

		5-year					S	pring 2020		A	utumn 2019	
		averages						forecast			forecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Germany	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Estonia	15.6466	15.6466	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Ireland	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Greece	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Spain	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
France	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Italy	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Cyprus	0.5788	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Latvia	0.6286	0.7027	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Lithuania	3.4800	3.4528	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Luxembourg	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Malta	0.4192	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Netherlands	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Austria	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Portugal	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Slovenia	231.2923	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Slovakia	41.2208	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Finland	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Euro area	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Bulgaria	1.9511	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558	1.9558
Czechia	31.6782	26.5545	26.1067	27.0343	26.3258	25.6470	25.6693	26.7061	27.0524	25.7182	25.7691	25.7691
Denmark	7.4410	7.4519	7.4532	7.4452	7.4386	7.4532	7.4660	7.4655	7.4634	7.4656	7.4696	7.4696
Croatia	7.4722	7.3030	7.5575	7.5333	7.4637	7.4182	7.4182	7.5769	7.6053	7.4163	7.4329	7.4329
Hungary	250.6	264.6	296.8	311.4	309.2	318.9	325.3	350.4	353.9	325.5	332.3	332.3
Poland	4.0958	3.9028	4.1742	4.3632	4.2570	4.2615	4.2975	4.4882	4.5419	4.3022	4.3017	4.3017
Romania	3.4309	3.7992	4.4013	4.4904	4.5688	4.6540	4.7455	4.8256	4.8350	4.7422	4.7542	4.7542
Sweden	9.1894	9.6552	8.9675	9.4689	9.6351	10.2583	10.5843	10.8487	10.9090	10.6307	10.8282	10.8282
EU	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
United Kingdom	0.6610	0.7822	0.8120	0.8195	0.8767	0.8847	0.8775	0.8717	0.8748	0.8821	0.8781	0.8781
Japan	125.8020	141.2594	123.5467	120.1967	126.7112	130.3959	122.0716	118.3687	117.7930	121.8227	119.5373	119.5373
United States	1.0921	1.3635	1.2886	1.1069	1.1297	1.1810	1.1194	1.0917	1.0881	1.1187	1.1052	1.1052

		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					fe	precast		fe	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.8	0.4	-0.3	2.1	1.2	2.2	-0.6	0.7	0.2	-0.5	0.0	0.0
Germany	2.3	0.4	-0.4	2.4	1.4	2.9	-0.8	1.0	0.3	-0.7	0.0	0.0
Estonia	2.0	0.7	1.3	2.3	0.0	3.3	0.0	2.1	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.0
Ireland	2.7	0.8	-1.3	2.1	1.9	2.8	-1.9	-0.2	0.1	-1.9	-0.4	0.0
Greece	2.8	0.6	0.6	2.5	1.7	3.9	0.0	1.6	0.4	0.1	0.0	0.0
Spain	1.9	0.4	-0.2	2.2	1.4	2.5	-0.5	1.0	0.3	-0.4	0.0	0.0
France	2.2	0.3	-0.5	2.1	1.4	2.7	-0.8	0.7	0.2	-0.7	0.0	0.0
Italy	2.4	0.3	-0.2	2.1	1.4	3.0	-0.8	0.9	0.3	-0.7	-0.1	0.0
Cyprus	2.6	0.4	-0.7	2.3	1.8	2.9	-0.6	0.8	0.3	-0.5	0.1	0.0
Latvia	-2.7	0.4	2.0	3.0	-0.6	3.5	-0.2	2.3	0.6	:	:	:
Lithuania	3.9	0.8	2.4	3.3	-1.0	3.8	-0.4	2.5	0.6	-0.3	-0.2	0.0
Luxembourg	1.1	0.4	-0.2	1.5	0.8	1.7	-0.4	0.6	0.2	-0.4	0.0	0.0
Malta	1.6	0.2	-0.7	1.5	1.7	2.8	-2.0	-0.3	0.0	-2.0	-0.3	0.0
Netherlands	1.5	0.5	-0.3	2.1	1.2	2.0	-0.4	0.8	0.2	-0.4	0.0	0.0
Austria	1.4	0.2	0.0	1.6	0.7	2.1	-0.6	0.8	0.2	-0.5	-0.1	0.0
Portugal	1.4	0.3	-0.3	1.8	1.0	1.8	-0.4	0.7	0.2	-0.4	0.0	0.0
Slovenia	-1.7	0.4	0.7	1.7	0.2	2.1	-0.2	1.3	0.3	-0.1	0.0	0.0
Slovakia	2.7	5.4	0.3	1.9	0.5	1.7	-0.2	1.1	0.3	-0.1	0.0	0.0
Finland	2.6	0.5	0.4	2.3	0.7	3.4	-0.6	1.5	0.4	-0.5	0.1	0.0
Euro area	4.3	0.9	-0.7	4.0	2.4	4.8	-1.2	1.5	0.5	-1.0	-0.1	0.0
Bulgaria	3.4	0.8	0.8	2.4	1.9	3.9	0.5	1.8	0.4	0.6	0.1	0.0
Czechia	4.8	3.7	-1.3	2.8	3.4	4.6	-0.3	-3.0	-1.0	-0.4	-0.2	0.0
Denmark	1.9	0.4	-0.3	2.2	1.4	2.7	-0.6	1.4	0.4	-0.5	0.1	0.0
Croatia	2.3	0.7	-0.1	3.0	1.3	3.3	-0.2	-0.8	-0.1	-0.1	-0.2	0.0
Hungary	2.2	-1.7	-2.0	1.2	1.4	-1.1	-2.1	-6.2	-0.7	-2.1	-2.1	0.0
Poland	1.2	0.6	-0.5	-2.3	3.2	2.1	-1.1	-3.2	-0.9	-1.1	0.0	0.0
Romania	-9.4	-2.4	-0.5	1.0	-0.8	0.7	-1.9	-0.4	0.1	-1.8	-0.2	0.0
Sweden	0.3	-0.2	0.3	1.0	-0.8	-3.8	-3.6	-0.8	-0.2	-4.0	-1.7	0.0
EU	5.5	-0.4	-0.1	1.2	1.5	6.2	-1.9	1.4	0.3	-1.9	-0.2	0.0
United Kingdom	0.0	-4.5	2.7	-10.1	-5.6	2.0	-0.3	1.1	-0.2	-0.8	0.4	0.0
Japan	-2.3	3.6	-5.2	15.0	-3.3	0.5	5.0	3.4	0.6	5.3	2.0	0.0
United States	-2.1	-1.5	3.6	4.7	-0.3	-0.6	3.6	6.2	1.2	3.8	1.0	0.0

¹ 42 countries: EU-28, TR, CH, NO, US, CA, JP, AU, MX, NZ, KO, CN, HK, RU and BR.

Tuble 32. Refutive of	hit labour costs, to	rest of a grou	p' of industriali	sed countries	(nat. curr) (p	ercentage cl	hange over pre	ceding year,	2001-2021)			23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Spi	ing 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					fe	precast		fe	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	-0.3	0.1	0.0	-1.2	0.2	-0.7	-0.7	1.4	-3.2	-0.8	-0.3	0.0
Germany	-1.9	-1.2	0.8	-0.3	0.1	0.1	0.9	1.9	-1.3	1.0	-0.6	0.0
Estonia	2.3	4.8	2.2	1.6	2.6	3.4	1.5	-0.5	0.7	1.8	1.3	0.0
Ireland	1.9	-1.3	-5.5	0.9	-3.7	-4.8	-1.1	0.6	-2.2	-2.1	-0.2	0.0
Greece	1.9	0.2	-4.4	-2.7	-1.2	-2.2	-2.0	-0.8	-0.6	-2.7	-1.6	0.0
Spain	0.6	0.5	-2.2	-2.5	-0.7	-1.4	-0.3	-2.5	0.7	0.1	-0.4	0.0
France	0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.8	-0.7	-1.6	-2.7	1.7	-3.2	-3.2	-1.2	0.0
Italy	1.3	0.5	-0.4	-1.6	-1.8	-0.6	-1.3	-2.0	0.7	-1.2	-1.4	0.0
Cyprus	1.4	0.0	-1.9	-4.3	0.5	-2.0	0.0	-3.5	3.0	0.3	0.5	0.0
Latvia	2.7	4.9	2.0	2.7	1.9	2.4	2.9	1.7	-1.4	0.6	-0.2	0.0
Lithuania	-0.3	0.5	1.2	4.0	2.6	2.1	2.6	-7.4	2.6	0.1	-0.4	0.0
Luxembourg	1.6	1.4	0.6	-2.0	3.3	1.5	0.4	4.2	1.2	1.8	1.4	0.0
Malta	0.9	1.2	0.2	-0.1	-0.3	-1.6	1.2	4.9	0.8	-0.9	0.4	0.0
Netherlands	0.2	0.0	-0.4	-0.4	-1.1	-0.7	0.2	3.3	-1.2	-0.1	0.5	0.0
Austria	-1.1	0.1	0.7	0.0	-0.7	-0.5	-0.5	0.9	-1.3	-0.6	-0.8	0.0
Portugal	0.9	-1.1	-1.8	-0.2	0.9	0.0	-1.1	0.5	-0.5	-0.3	-0.3	0.0
Slovenia	2.9	1.3	-1.3	0.2	-0.2	0.2	1.5	2.0	-2.3	0.4	0.3	0.0
Slovakia	1.4	-0.1	-0.5	0.7	2.9	0.6	2.0	0.7	-1.2	2.1	0.7	0.0
Finland	-0.5	0.4	0.7	-3.0	-4.5	-0.6	-1.3	2.7	0.7	-0.1	0.1	0.0
Euro area	-0.6	-0.5	-0.4	-1.6	-1.1	-1.4	-0.8	1.9	-2.5	-1.0	-1.3	0.0
Bulgaria	-0.4	4.8	2.8	-0.5	6.6	2.5	-0.6	4.4	-2.8	0.9	0.8	0.0
Czechia	1.8	-0.2	-0.6	1.4	2.0	3.7	1.1	1.6	1.0	0.6	0.9	0.0
Denmark	0.8	1.0	-0.8	-1.7	-0.2	-1.9	-2.5	2.1	-1.5	-1.1	-0.1	0.0
Croatia	0.1	0.8	-2.8	-4.5	-2.1	-1.5	-1.2	0.5	-2.3	-2.0	-1.1	0.0
Hungary	5.1	0.3	0.5	2.0	2.7	0.4	2.9	4.2	0.5	1.8	1.5	0.0
Poland	-1.9	0.4	-0.8	0.7	0.5	0.1	-0.3	-0.6	1.5	0.9	2.4	0.0
Romania	14.1	5.0	-2.3	6.4	8.2	5.7	1.4	2.3	2.1	5.6	3.3	0.0
Sweden	-0.5	-0.3	0.4	0.8	1.0	0.7	-0.4	-1.3	3.0	-0.5	-0.4	0.0
EU	-0.1	0.0	-0.9	-1.4	-0.3	-1.3	-0.9	1.0	-0.9	-0.6	-0.9	0.0
United Kingdom	0.8	0.9	-0.1	1.4	1.1	0.4	0.9	-4.2	5.4	1.2	0.6	0.0
Japan	-0.1	0.0	-0.9	-1.4	-0.3	-1.3	-0.9	1.0	-0.9	-2.0	-1.4	0.0
United States	-0.5	-0.9	0.4	-0.1	0.6	-1.1	-2.1	-6.2	-1.8	-1.6	-1.1	0.0

Note: See note 6 on concepts and sources where countries using full time equivalents are listed.

		5-year					Spi	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					fo	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	1.3	0.2	-0.7	2.9	1.6	2.3	-1.2	-0.1	-0.1	-1.1	-0.4	-0.5
Germany	1.0	-0.7	-1.1	1.7	1.1	2.6	-1.5	0.0	-0.1	-1.4	-0.8	-0.7
Estonia	2.1	2.0	1.2	1.6	1.5	4.5	0.2	1.6	0.3	0.4	0.2	0.1
Ireland	3.8	-0.4	-2.4	1.0	0.2	1.3	-2.7	-1.4	-0.6	-2.8	-1.2	-0.5
Greece	1.8	0.7	-1.9	1.2	0.6	1.8	-2.0	-0.6	-1.3	-1.9	-1.6	-1.4
Spain	2.3	0.5	-1.1	0.8	1.5	1.9	-1.6	-0.1	-0.5	-1.4	-0.8	-0.6
France	1.5	-0.5	-1.4	1.4	0.6	2.5	-1.4	0.1	-0.6	-1.3	-0.6	-0.7
Italy	1.9	-0.3	-0.9	0.9	0.7	1.8	-2.2	-0.6	-0.9	-2.1	-1.3	-1.0
Cyprus	1.6	-0.2	-1.6	-0.1	0.5	1.5	-2.0	-0.6	-0.5	-1.8	-1.0	-0.8
Latvia	-1.8	3.2	0.3	1.3	0.0	3.6	0.2	1.0	0.4	:	:	:
Lithuania	0.6	1.9	0.5	2.0	0.4	4.0	-0.6	1.8	-0.1	-0.4	-0.3	-0.2
Luxembourg	1.5	0.5	-0.3	0.8	1.1	1.6	-0.5	0.4	0.2	-0.5	-0.1	0.1
Malta	1.8	0.3	-1.1	1.5	1.2	2.4	-2.2	-0.5	-0.4	-2.1	-0.5	-0.1
Netherlands	1.9	-0.4	-0.6	1.3	0.6	1.4	0.4	0.7	-0.2	0.5	-0.4	-0.3
Austria	0.5	-0.5	0.0	1.7	1.1	2.1	-1.0	0.8	0.1	-0.9	-0.3	-0.3
Portugal	2.1	-0.3	-0.8	1.7	0.7	0.8	-1.8	-0.4	-0.1	-1.7	-0.6	-0.4
Slovenia	0.4	0.3	-0.3	0.5	-0.2	1.8	-0.5	0.7	-0.2	-0.3	0.1	0.1
Slovakia	5.8	5.0	0.0	0.6	-0.1	2.0	0.6	1.9	-0.4	0.7	0.7	0.2
Finland	0.8	-0.6	-0.1	1.3	-0.5	2.3	-1.5	0.8	-0.1	-1.3	-0.5	-0.5
Euro area	3.1	-0.6	-1.8	2.7	1.7	3.9	-2.3	0.0	-0.6	-2.1	-1.3	-1.1
Bulgaria	3.5	3.6	-1.1	-0.3	0.7	3.5	0.3	1.2	-0.8	0.3	-0.6	-0.3
Czechia	3.9	3.7	-1.9	2.6	3.9	4.3	0.3	-1.8	-0.9	0.2	0.3	0.1
Denmark	1.4	0.0	-1.1	1.1	0.5	1.1	-1.8	0.7	0.0	-1.6	-0.4	-0.5
Croatia	1.5	0.7	-1.0	1.2	0.6	2.5	-1.5	-1.6	-1.0	-1.1	-0.8	-0.6
Hungary	5.2	0.8	-2.0	0.8	1.8	-0.5	-0.8	-4.5	0.1	-0.9	-1.0	1.0
Poland	0.9	0.7	-1.2	-3.5	2.8	1.0	-1.0	-1.8	0.1	-0.9	0.7	0.6
Romania	3.4	0.6	-0.2	-1.2	-1.7	2.3	-0.2	0.9	1.3	0.0	1.3	1.3
Sweden	-0.4	-0.7	-1.1	0.9	-0.8	-3.9	-3.8	-1.5	-0.8	-4.2	-2.1	-0.3
EU	3.6	-1.8	-1.6	-0.6	0.9	5.1	-3.2	-0.1	-0.7	-3.2	-1.4	-1.1
United Kingdom	-1.2	-4.1	3.0	-10.5	-4.8	2.3	-0.4	1.3	0.2	-0.9	0.5	0.2
Japan	-5.1	0.7	-6.8	13.2	-4.6	-0.7	3.4	1.9	-1.0	3.8	1.0	-1.5
United States	-2.0	-1.6	2.6	3.5	-1.0	-0.9	2.6	4.9	0.8	3.4	0.9	-0.2

 Table 33:
 Real effective exchange rate, based on HICP/CPI: ULC relative to rest of a group 1 of industrialised countries (USD) (% change on preceding year, 2001-23.4.2020
 23.4.2020

 2021)
 23.4.2020
 23.4.2020

¹42 countries: EU, TR, CH, NO, US, CA, JP, AU, MX, NZ, CN, HK, KO, RU and BR. Note: See note 6 on concepts and sources where countries using full time equivalents are listed.

		<u>5-year</u>					Spi	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					fe	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	50.3	51.3	55.4	53.1	51.9	52.2	52.2	59.6	54.2	52.3	52.6	52.8
Germany	47.4	45.8	44.7	44.3	44.4	44.6	45.4	54.2	48.3	45.3	45.7	45.9
Estonia	34.7	38.4	38.2	39.5	39.3	39.1	39.0	47.0	42.4	39.2	39.3	39.2
Ireland	33.1	44.8	39.1	27.8	26.1	25.3	24.8	29.6	26.6	25.0	24.9	24.4
Greece	46.3	49.9	55.2	49.0	47.4	46.9	46.3	55.2	49.0	46.4	45.3	44.4
Spain	38.5	42.3	45.9	42.4	41.2	41.7	41.9	49.7	45.6	41.7	41.8	41.9
France	52.8	54.6	56.9	56.7	56.5	55.7	55.6	62.7	57.1	55.5	54.4	54.0
Italy	47.1	48.7	50.4	49.1	48.8	48.5	48.7	59.1	52.2	48.9	49.1	49.0
Cyprus	38.1	39.7	43.5	37.4	36.8	43.4	39.5	49.9	45.9	37.9	41.4	41.9
Latvia	34.8	40.3	39.1	37.6	39.0	39.5	38.9	45.1	41.5	37.6	37.2	36.7
Lithuania	34.8	39.0	36.8	34.2	33.2	34.0	34.9	41.8	37.4	34.9	35.4	35.1
Luxembourg	42.3	41.4	42.9	40.9	42.1	42.3	42.6	50.2	46.2	43.1	43.9	44.0
Malta	42.6	41.8	41.3	36.6	35.9	36.7	37.7	46.5	41.5	38.1	38.1	38.0
Netherlands	43.3	44.8	46.1	43.6	42.4	42.2	41.9	47.7	45.6	42.3	42.9	42.9
Austria	51.7	51.3	51.5	50.1	49.2	48.7	48.2	56.4	50.9	48.3	48.4	48.1
Portugal	45.2	47.4	49.8	44.8	45.4	43.4	42.7	49.3	44.5	43.4	43.4	43.1
Slovenia	47.2	46.7	52.0	46.3	44.1	43.6	43.7	51.9	46.0	43.6	43.1	42.8
Slovakia	41.8	39.8	42.7	42.7	41.5	41.8	42.8	49.8	45.1	41.8	41.8	41.5
Finland	48.6	50.1	55.9	55.7	53.8	53.4	53.3	59.8	56.8	53.0	53.5	53.4
Euro area	47.1	48.1	49.4	47.7	47.2	47.0	47.1	55.2	49.9	47.1	47.1	47.0
Bulgaria	38.6	36.8	38.0	35.0	34.9	36.6	36.3	42.0	40.2	38.2	38.5	38.4
Czechia	44.4	42.0	42.8	40.0	39.5	41.2	41.9	48.5	45.7	41.7	42.1	42.4
Denmark	52.8	52.6	56.0	52.2	51.0	50.7	49.6	59.2	53.5	50.5	50.1	49.5
Croatia	50.8	47.1	48.6	47.4	45.3	46.3	47.1	53.4	49.6	47.0	46.7	46.3
Hungary	49.1	50.0	49.9	47.2	47.0	46.7	46.1	50.3	47.7	45.9	44.3	43.8
Poland	44.8	44.4	42.7	41.1	41.2	41.5	42.0	50.3	44.1	42.0	42.1	41.9
Romania	34.6	38.0	36.7	34.5	33.5	34.8	36.0	41.5	43.5	35.8	37.1	39.1
Sweden	53.2	50.8	50.6	49.7	49.3	49.8	49.3	55.1	52.0	49.8	49.9	49.7
EU	47.3	48.0	49.1	47.3	46.8	46.6	46.7	54.7	49.6	45.9	45.9	45.8
United Kingdom	38.8	44.1	44.1	41.5	41.2	40.9	41.0	48.6	43.4	41.1	41.4	41.3
Japan	:	37.3	40.3	39.3	38.6	38.8	39.1	42.8	42.7	39.2	39.3	39.2
United States	36.7	40.1	39.5	38.3	38.0	37.8	38.3	49.2	39.0	38.0	38.1	38.2

Total revenue, general government (as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021) Table 35:

Table 35: Total revenue	, general gove	ernment (as a	a percentage o	of GDP, 2001-	2021)							23.4.2020
		5-year					Spr	ing 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					fc	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	49.4	49.3	52.0	50.7	51.2	51.4	50.3	50.7	49.9	50.5	50.3	50.2
Germany	44.0	44.0	44.8	45.5	45.7	46.4	46.8	47.2	46.8	46.5	46.3	46.1
Estonia	35.9	38.6	38.6	39.0	38.6	38.5	38.7	38.7	39.0	39.0	39.1	39.0
Ireland	33.8	34.8	32.6	27.1	25.8	25.4	25.2	24.0	23.7	25.3	25.2	25.0
Greece	39.4	40.1	46.9	49.5	48.2	47.9	47.7	48.8	46.9	47.7	46.3	45.4
Spain	38.5	38.0	38.2	38.1	38.2	39.2	39.1	39.6	38.9	39.3	39.6	39.8
France	49.7	50.1	52.6	53.0	53.5	53.4	52.6	52.9	53.1	52.5	52.1	51.8
Italy	43.7	45.3	47.4	46.7	46.3	46.3	47.1	47.9	46.5	46.7	46.8	46.3
Cyprus	34.5	38.3	38.1	37.7	38.8	39.8	41.2	42.9	44.2	41.6	44.0	44.3
Latvia	33.3	35.5	37.2	37.8	38.2	38.7	38.7	37.8	37.0	37.0	36.7	36.2
Lithuania	33.1	35.0	33.7	34.4	33.6	34.6	35.2	34.8	34.6	34.9	35.4	35.1
Luxembourg	43.5	43.2	43.8	42.8	43.5	45.4	44.8	45.4	46.3	45.4	45.3	45.4
Malta	37.1	38.9	39.1	37.5	39.3	38.6	38.2	39.8	38.9	39.4	39.1	38.9
Netherlands	41.7	42.7	43.0	43.6	43.7	43.6	43.6	41.4	42.2	43.8	43.4	43.3
Austria	49.5	48.3	49.4	48.6	48.4	48.8	49.0	50.2	49.1	48.8	48.7	48.5
Portugal	40.0	41.0	43.6	42.9	42.4	42.9	42.9	42.7	42.7	43.3	43.4	43.7
Slovenia	44.7	43.9	45.3	44.3	44.0	44.3	44.2	44.8	44.0	44.0	43.6	43.3
Slovakia	37.0	35.0	39.3	40.2	40.5	40.7	41.5	41.3	40.9	40.8	40.7	40.3
Finland	51.9	51.8	53.7	53.9	53.1	52.5	52.2	52.4	53.4	51.9	52.0	51.8
Euro area	44.5	44.7	46.3	46.2	46.2	46.5	46.5	46.7	46.3	46.3	46.2	45.9
Bulgaria	39.0	36.3	36.0	35.1	36.0	38.5	38.4	39.3	38.3	39.3	39.4	39.3
Czechia	39.6	39.1	40.7	40.7	41.0	42.2	42.1	41.9	41.7	41.8	41.9	42.1
Denmark	54.4	54.1	54.6	52.4	52.8	51.4	53.3	52.0	51.2	52.7	50.6	49.5
Croatia	47.2	42.9	43.1	46.5	46.1	46.5	47.5	46.3	47.4	47.1	46.8	46.3
Hungary	42.2	44.5	47.0	45.4	44.5	44.5	44.0	45.1	43.6	44.1	43.3	43.0
Poland	39.9	39.7	38.9	38.7	39.8	41.3	41.3	40.8	40.3	41.0	41.8	41.1
Romania	32.8	32.8	34.1	31.9	30.8	31.9	31.7	32.3	32.2	32.2	32.7	33.0
Sweden	53.4	52.2	49.7	50.7	50.7	50.6	49.8	49.5	49.8	50.0	50.0	49.8
EU	44.7	44.8	46.1	46.0	46.0	46.2	46.2	46.4	46.0	45.0	44.8	44.6
United Kingdom	36.6	38.1	37.9	38.2	38.7	38.7	38.9	38.0	36.7	38.9	39.0	39.1
Japan	:	31.5	33.5	35.8	35.7	36.5	36.8	37.8	37.4	36.3	36.7	37.0
United States	31.9	32.0	32.3	32.9	33.7	31.2	31.0	31.4	30.4	31.3	31.4	31.4

Table 36: Net lending (+) or net borrowing (-), general government (as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021)

Table 36: Net lending	g (+) or net borrov	wing (-), gen	eral governm	ent (as a perc	entage of G	DP, 2001-202	1)					23.4.2020
		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					fe	precast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	-0.9	-2.1	-3.4	-2.4	-0.7	-0.8	-1.9	-8.9	-4.2	-1.7	-2.3	-2.6
Germany	-3.5	-1.8	0.1	1.2	1.2	1.9	1.4	-7.0	-1.5	1.2	0.6	0.2
Estonia	1.2	0.2	0.4	-0.5	-0.8	-0.6	-0.3	-8.3	-3.4	-0.2	-0.2	-0.2
Ireland	0.7	-10.0	-6.5	-0.7	-0.3	0.1	0.4	-5.6	-2.9	0.2	0.3	0.6
Greece	-6.9	-9.8	-8.3	0.5	0.7	1.0	1.5	-6.4	-2.1	1.3	1.0	1.1
Spain	0.0	-4.3	-7.7	-4.3	-3.0	-2.5	-2.8	-10.1	-6.7	-2.3	-2.2	-2.1
France	-3.1	-4.5	-4.3	-3.6	-2.9	-2.3	-3.0	-9.9	-4.0	-3.1	-2.2	-2.2
Italy	-3.4	-3.4	-3.0	-2.4	-2.4	-2.2	-1.6	-11.1	-5.6	-2.2	-2.3	-2.7
Cyprus	-3.6	-1.4	-5.4	0.3	2.0	-3.7	1.7	-7.0	-1.8	3.7	2.6	2.4
Latvia	-1.5	-4.7	-2.0	0.2	-0.8	-0.8	-0.2	-7.3	-4.5	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6
Lithuania	-1.7	-4.0	-3.1	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.3	-6.9	-2.7	0.0	0.0	0.0
Luxembourg	1.3	1.8	0.9	1.8	1.3	3.1	2.2	-4.8	0.1	2.3	1.4	1.4
Malta	-5.5	-2.9	-2.2	1.0	3.3	1.9	0.5	-6.7	-2.5	1.2	1.0	1.0
Netherlands	-1.6	-2.0	-3.1	0.0	1.3	1.4	1.7	-6.3	-3.5	1.5	0.5	0.4
Austria	-2.2	-3.0	-2.1	-1.5	-0.8	0.2	0.7	-6.1	-1.9	0.4	0.2	0.4
Portugal	-5.2	-6.4	-6.2	-1.9	-3.0	-0.4	0.2	-6.5	-1.8	-0.1	0.0	0.6
Slovenia	-2.5	-2.8	-6.7	-1.9	0.0	0.7	0.5	-7.2	-2.1	0.5	0.5	0.6
Slovakia	-4.8	-4.8	-3.5	-2.5	-1.0	-1.0	-1.3	-8.5	-4.2	-0.9	-1.2	-1.3
Finland	3.3	1.6	-2.2	-1.7	-0.7	-0.9	-1.1	-7.4	-3.4	-1.1	-1.4	-1.6
Euro area	-2.6	-3.4	-3.1	-1.5	-1.0	-0.5	-0.6	-8.5	-3.5	-0.8	-0.9	-1.0
Bulgaria	0.5	-0.5	-2.0	0.1	1.1	2.0	2.1	-2.8	-1.8	1.1	0.9	0.9
Czechia	-4.8	-2.9	-2.1	0.7	1.5	0.9	0.3	-6.7	-4.0	0.2	-0.1	-0.3
Denmark	1.6	1.5	-1.4	0.1	1.8	0.7	3.7	-7.2	-2.3	2.2	0.5	0.0
Croatia	-3.6	-4.1	-5.5	-1.0	0.8	0.2	0.4	-7.1	-2.2	0.1	0.0	0.0
Hungary	-6.9	-5.5	-3.0	-1.8	-2.5	-2.1	-2.0	-5.2	-4.0	-1.8	-1.0	-0.8
Poland	-4.9	-4.7	-3.8	-2.4	-1.5	-0.2	-0.7	-9.5	-3.8	-1.0	-0.2	-0.9
Romania	-1.7	-5.2	-2.6	-2.6	-2.6	-2.9	-4.3	-9.2	-11.4	-3.6	-4.4	-6.1
Sweden	0.2	1.4	-0.8	1.0	1.4	0.8	0.5	-5.6	-2.2	0.3	0.1	0.1
EU	-2.6	-3.2	-3.0	-1.3	-0.8	-0.4	-0.6	-8.3	-3.6	-0.9	-1.1	-1.2
United Kingdom	-2.2	-6.0	-6.3	-3.3	-2.5	-2.2	-2.1	-10.5	-6.7	-2.2	-2.4	-2.2
Japan	:	-5.8	-6.8	-3.5	-2.9	-2.3	-2.3	-4.9	-5.3	-2.8	-2.6	-2.2
United States	-4.8	-8.0	-7.2	-5.4	-4.3	-6.6	-7.2	-17.8	-8.5	-6.7	-6.7	-6.7

Table 37: Interest expenditure, general government (as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021)

		<u>5-year</u>					Spi	ring 2020		Au	umn 2019	
		averages					fe	precast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	5.4	3.9	3.3	2.7	2.3	2.1	2.0	2.0	1.9	2.0	1.8	1.7
Germany	2.9	2.6	1.9	1.2	1.1	0.9	0.8	0.7	0.7	0.9	0.8	0.7
Estonia	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0
Ireland	1.2	1.6	3.7	2.3	2.0	1.6	1.3	1.2	1.1	1.4	1.1	1.0
Greece	5.2	5.0	4.9	3.2	3.1	3.3	2.9	3.0	2.7	3.0	2.7	2.6
Spain	2.3	1.7	3.1	2.8	2.5	2.4	2.3	2.4	2.3	2.3	2.1	2.0
France	2.9	2.6	2.4	1.8	1.7	1.7	1.4	1.4	1.3	1.5	1.3	1.1
Italy	5.1	4.6	4.7	3.9	3.8	3.7	3.4	3.7	3.6	3.5	3.3	3.1
Cyprus	3.1	2.5	3.0	2.7	2.5	2.4	2.5	2.4	2.1	2.3	2.0	1.7
Latvia	0.7	1.0	1.5	1.0	0.9	0.7	0.7	0.8	0.7	0.7	0.7	0.6
Lithuania	1.1	1.0	1.7	1.3	1.1	0.9	0.9	0.6	0.6	0.8	0.5	0.4
Luxembourg	0.2	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3
Malta	3.7	3.4	2.8	2.1	1.8	1.5	1.4	1.5	1.5	1.3	1.3	1.2
Netherlands	2.5	2.0	1.6	1.2	1.0	0.9	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.6
Austria	3.3	3.1	2.6	2.1	1.8	1.6	1.4	1.5	1.3	1.5	1.4	1.2
Portugal	2.7	3.0	4.7	4.1	3.8	3.4	3.0	3.4	3.4	3.1	2.9	2.8
Slovenia	1.9	1.3	2.6	3.0	2.5	2.0	1.7	1.8	1.7	1.6	1.5	1.4
Slovakia	2.8	1.4	1.8	1.7	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.3	1.3	1.2	1.1	1.1
Finland	1.9	1.4	1.3	1.1	1.0	0.9	0.9	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.8	0.7
Euro area	3.3	2.9	2.7	2.1	1.9	1.8	1.6	1.7	1.6	1.7	1.5	1.4
Bulgaria	2.4	0.9	0.8	0.9	0.8	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.6	0.6
Czechia	1.0	1.1	1.3	0.9	0.7	0.8	0.7	0.9	0.9	0.7	0.7	0.7
Denmark	2.8	1.7	1.7	1.1	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.7	0.7
Croatia	1.7	1.9	3.2	3.1	2.7	2.3	2.2	2.3	2.3	2.2	1.9	1.8
Hungary	4.2	4.1	4.1	3.1	2.7	2.4	2.3	2.5	2.4	2.4	2.4	2.4
Poland	2.8	2.3	2.3	1.7	1.6	1.4	1.4	1.4	1.4	1.3	1.2	1.2
Romania	2.0	1.0	1.7	1.5	1.3	1.1	1.2	1.5	1.7	1.2	1.2	1.3
Sweden	2.3	1.5	0.8	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.6	0.6	0.5
EU	3.2	2.7	2.6	2.0	1.8	1.7	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.7	1.6	1.5
United Kingdom	1.9	2.2	2.7	2.4	2.7	2.4	2.2	2.1	2.0	2.2	2.2	2.1
Japan	2.2	1.9	1.9	1.8	1.7	1.6	1.5	1.6	1.5	1.8	1.7	1.7
United States	4.0	4.1	4.1	3.9	3.8	3.9	3.9	4.2	4.0	3.9	4.0	4.0

23.4.2020

23.4.2020

Table 38: Primary balance, general government¹ (as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021)

2001-05 2001-05 2010-15 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021			<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020 precast		Aut	umn 2019 orecast	
Belgium 4.5 1.9 -0.2 0.3 1.6 1.3 0.1 -6.8 -2.4 0.2 -0.4 -0.9 Germony -0.6 0.8 2.1 2.4 2.3 2.3 2.3 -0.3		2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Germany 0.6 0.8 2.1 2.4 2.3 2.8 2.3 -6.3 -0.8 2.1 1.4 0.9 Estonia 1.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 -0.7 0.5 -0.3 -6.3 -6.3 -0.3 -0.2 -0.1 -0.2 Ireland 1.9 8.4 0.2 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.7 -1.4 -1.6 0.1 -0.5 -7.7 -4.4 -0.6 -0.1 -0.1 France 0.2 -1.8 -2.0 -1.8 -1.2 0.6 -1.6 -8.4 -2.7 -1.6 -0.9 -1.1 Ital 0.2 -1.1 0.2 1.1 0.5 -6.6 -3.8 0.1 0.1 0.0 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1	Belgium	4.5	1.9	-0.2	0.3	1.6	1.3	0.1	-6.8	-2.4	0.2	-0.4	-0.9
Estonia 1.4 0.4 0.4 0.5 -0.7 0.5 -0.3 -8.3 -3.3 -0.2 -0.1 -0.2 Ireiond 1.7 -8.4 -2.9 1.6 1.7 1.8 1.7 -4.4 -1.8 1.6 1.4 1.6 1.4 1.6 Greece 1.6 4.49 3.4 3.7 3.8 4.3 4.4 4.3 4.4 -1.8 1.6 4.4 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 France 0.2 -1.8 -1.2 0.6 -1.6 -8.4 -2.7 -1.4 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 Itoly 1.7 1.2 1.1 -5.3 1.5 1.7 -7.4 -2.1 1.3 0.9 0.4 Cypus 0.5 1.1 2.3 0.4 1.2 0.2 0.1 0.5 0.4 0.1 0.0 Lidvia 0.5 0.3 0.4 1.2 0.2 0.1 1.5 2.2 1.7 1.3 2.2 0.8 0.7 0.2 0.1 0.5 0.3	Germany	-0.6	0.8	2.1	2.4	2.3	2.8	2.3	-6.3	-0.8	2.1	1.4	0.9
Ireland1.9-8.4-2.91.61.71.81.7-4.4-1.81.61.41.6Greece-1.4-4.9-3.43.73.84.34.4-3.40.64.33.73.6Spain2.3-2.6-4.6-1.6-0.5-0.1-0.5-7.7-4.4-0.40.00.10.1Irance0.2-1.8-1.20.71.31.51.7-7.4-2.11.30.90.1Italy1.71.21.71.51.31.51.7-7.4-2.11.30.90.4Cyrus0.51.1-2.33.04.2-1.60.5-6.6-3.80.10.10.0Uhwaina-0.5-3.0-1.41.61.61.51.1-6.4-2.20.80.50.4UxrushOrg1.52.21.41.61.61.61.61.61.71.71.71.22.32.51.52.72.21.80.71	Estonia	1.4	0.4	0.4	-0.5	-0.7	-0.5	-0.3	-8.3	-3.3	-0.2	-0.1	-0.2
Greece -1.6 -4.9 -3.4 3.7 3.8 4.3 4.4 -3.4 0.6 4.3 3.7 3.6 Spain 2.3 -2.6 -4.6 -1.6 -0.5 -7.7 -4.4 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 France 0.0 -1.8 -1.2 0.6 -1.6 -8.4 -27 -1.6 -0.9 -1.1 Italy 1.7 1.2 1.7 1.5 1.3 1.5 -7.4 -21 1.3 0.9 0.4 Cypus -0.5 1.1 -2.3 3.0 4.5 -1.3 4.2 -4.6 0.8 0.0 0.4 4.1 Lotvin -0.5 -3.0 -1.4 1.2 0.2 -0.1 0.5 6.6 -3.8 0.1 0.1 0.0 Unterborg 1.5 2.2 1.4 2.2 1.7 3.4 2.4 -4.5 0.3 2.6 1.7 1.7 Main 1.1 0.0 0.5 1.0 1.8 2.2 -4.7 -0.5 1.9 1.6	Ireland	1.9	-8.4	-2.9	1.6	1.7	1.8	1.7	-4.4	-1.8	1.6	1.4	1.6
Spain 2.3 -2.6 -4.6 -1.6 -0.5 -7.7 -4.4 -0.1 -0.1 France 0.2 -1.8 -2.0 -1.6 -1.6 -1.6 -8.4 -2.7 -1.6 -0.1 -0.1 Itoly 1.7 1.2 1.3 1.5 1.7 7.4 -2.1 1.3 0.9 0.4 Cyprus 0.5 1.1 -2.3 3.0 4.5 -1.3 4.2 -4.6 0.3 6.0 4.6 4.1 LitMain 0.8 -3.8 -0.4 1.2 0.2 0.1 6.6 -3.8 0.1 0.1 0.0 LitMain 0.5 -3.0 1.4 1.6 1.6 1.5 1.1 6.5 1.7 7.44 6.3 0.1 0.1 0.0 Main 0.5 0.3 0.5 0.3 1.9 1.6 1.7 Main 1.1 0.2 0.3 0.1 0.3 0.3	Greece	-1.6	-4.9	-3.4	3.7	3.8	4.3	4.4	-3.4	0.6	4.3	3.7	3.6
France 0.2 1.8 -1.0 -1.6 -1.6 -8.4 -2.7 -1.6 -0.9 -1.1 Itoly 1.7 1.2 1.7 1.5 1.3 1.5 1.7 -7.4 -2.1 1.3 0.9 0.4 Cypus 0.5 1.1 2.3 3.0 4.5 -1.3 4.0 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.6 0.0 0.5 -6.6 -3.8 0.1 0.1 0.0	Spain	2.3	-2.6	-4.6	-1.6	-0.5	-0.1	-0.5	-7.7	-4.4	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1
Italy1.71.21.71.51.31.51.7-7.4-2.11.30.90.4Cypros0.51.1-2.33.04.5-1.34.2-4.60.36.04.64.1Latvia0.8-3.80.41.20.20.10.55.6-3.80.10.00.0Lithania0.5-3.0-1.41.61.61.51.1-6.4-2.20.80.00.0Lithania0.50.3-1.41.61.61.51.1-6.4-2.20.80.60.0Matta-1.80.50.63.05.23.11.9-5.2-1.12.52.32.11.7Matta1.10.00.50.51.01.82.2-4.7-0.51.91.21.21.0Netherlands0.90.1-1.51.22.32.32.5-5.5-2.72.21.12.02.02.0Slovenia0.6-1.5-4.11.12.52.72.3-3.30.0-0.2-1.12.0	France	-0.2	-1.8	-2.0	-1.8	-1.2	-0.6	-1.6	-8.4	-2.7	-1.6	-0.9	-1.1
Cyprus 0.5 1.1 -2.3 3.0 4.5 -1.3 4.2 -4.6 0.3 6.0 4.6 4.1 Latvia 0.8 -3.8 0.4 1.2 0.2 -0.1 0.5 -6.6 -3.8 0.1 0.1 0.0 Lithuania 0.5 -3.0 1.4 1.6 1.6 1.1 -6.4 -2.8 0.1 0.1 0.0 Maita 1.5 2.2 1.4 2.2 1.7 3.4 2.4 -4.5 0.3 2.6 1.7 1.7 Maita 1.8 0.5 0.6 3.0 5.2 3.5 1.5 2.2 1.8 2.5 5.5 -2.7 2.2 1.0 1.0 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.6 1.0	Italy	1.7	1.2	1.7	1.5	1.3	1.5	1.7	-7.4	-2.1	1.3	0.9	0.4
Latvia -0.8 -3.8 -0.4 1.2 0.2 -0.1 0.5 -6.6 -3.8 0.1 0.1 0.0 Lithuania 0.5 -3.0 -1.4 1.6 1.6 1.5 1.1 -6.6 -2.2 0.8 0.5 0.0 Luxembourg 1.5 2.2 1.4 2.2 1.7 3.4 2.4 -4.5 0.3 2.6 1.7 1.7 Matha -1.8 0.5 0.6 3.0 5.2 3.5 1.1 2.5 2.3 2.1 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 2.3 2.5 -5.5 -2.7 2.2 1.0 1.0 Austria 1.1 0.0 0.5 0.5 0.1 1.8 2.3 0.3 2.1 2.0 3.0 2.1 2.0 3.0 2.1 2.0 3.0 2.1 2.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0 2.0 3.0 2.0	Cyprus	-0.5	1.1	-2.3	3.0	4.5	-1.3	4.2	-4.6	0.3	6.0	4.6	4.1
Lithuania -0.5 -3.0 -1.4 1.6 1.6 1.5 1.1 -6.4 -2.2 0.8 0.5 0.4 Luxembourg 1.5 2.2 1.4 2.2 1.7 3.4 2.4 -4.5 0.3 2.6 1.7 1.7 1.7 Netherlands 0.9 -0.1 -1.5 1.2 2.3 2.3 2.5 -5.5 -2.7 2.2 1.2 2.3 Avstria 1.1 0.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 1.8 2.2 -4.7 -0.5 1.9 1.6 1.6 Slovenia -0.6 -1.5 4.1 1.1 2.5 2.7 2.3 -5.3 -0.3 2.1 2.0	Latvia	-0.8	-3.8	-0.4	1.2	0.2	-0.1	0.5	-6.6	-3.8	0.1	0.1	0.0
Luxembourg 1.5 2.2 1.4 2.2 1.7 3.4 2.4 -4.5 0.3 2.6 1.7 1.7 Malta -1.8 0.5 0.6 3.0 5.2 3.5 1.9 5.2 -1.1 2.5 2.3 2.3 2.1 Netherlands 0.9 -0.1 -1.5 1.2 2.3 2.3 2.5 5.5 2.7 2.2 1.2 1.0 Austria 0.1 0.0 0.5 1.0 1.8 2.2 4.7 -0.5 1.9 1.6 1.6 Portugal -2.5 -3.5 -1.5 2.2 0.8 2.9 3.2 -3.1 1.6 3.0 2.9 3.4 Storenia 0.6 -1.5 -1.1 1.2 2.0 3.0 -0.3 0.3 0.1 7.1 2.9 0.3 0.0 -0.2 Storakia -2.0 -3.4 -1.7 -0.8 0.5 0.3 0.1 1.0 -6.8 -2.0 0.9 0.6 0.4 Bulgaria 2.9 <	Lithuania	-0.5	-3.0	-1.4	1.6	1.6	1.5	1.1	-6.4	-2.2	0.8	0.5	0.4
Maita -1.8 0.5 0.6 3.0 5.2 3.5 1.9 -5.2 -1.1 2.5 2.3 2.1 Netherlands 0.9 -0.1 -1.5 1.2 2.3 2.3 2.5 -5.5 -2.7 2.2 1.2 1.0 Austria 1.1 0.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 1.8 2.2 -4.7 -0.5 1.9 1.6 1.6 Portugal -2.5 -3.5 -1.5 2.2 0.8 2.9 3.2 -3.1 1.4 3.0 2.9 3.4 Stovenia -0.6 -1.5 -4.1 1.1 2.5 2.7 2.3 -5.3 -0.3 0.0 -0.2 2.0	Luxembourg	1.5	2.2	1.4	2.2	1.7	3.4	2.4	-4.5	0.3	2.6	1.7	1.7
Netherlands 0.9 -0.1 -1.5 1.2 2.3 2.3 2.5 -5.5 -2.7 2.2 1.2 1.0 Austria 1.1 0.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 1.8 2.2 -4.7 0.5 1.9 1.6 1.6 Portugal -2.5 -3.5 -1.5 2.2 0.8 2.9 3.2 -3.1 1.6 3.0 2.9 3.4 Slovenia 0.6 -1.5 -4.1 1.1 2.5 2.7 2.3 -5.3 -0.3 2.1 2.0 3.0 0.0 -0.2 3.0 0.0 -0.2 5.0 3.0 0.0 -0.2 9.0 0.0	Malta	-1.8	0.5	0.6	3.0	5.2	3.5	1.9	-5.2	-1.1	2.5	2.3	2.1
Austria 1.1 0.0 0.5 0.5 1.0 1.8 2.2 -4.7 -0.5 1.9 1.6 1.6 Portugal -2.5 -3.5 -1.5 2.2 0.8 2.9 3.2 -3.1 1.6 3.0 2.9 3.4 Slovenia -0.6 -1.5 -4.1 1.1 2.5 2.7 2.3 -5.3 -0.3 2.1 2.0 2.0 Slovakia -2.0 -3.4 -1.7 -0.8 0.5 0.3 -0.1 -7.1 2.9 0.3 0.0 -0.2 Finland 52 3.0 -0.9 -0.6 0.3 0.1 -0.3 -6.6 -2.8 -0.3 -0.7 -0.9 Euro area 0.6 -0.5 -0.3 0.7 1.0 1.4 1.0 -6.8 -2.0 0.9 0.6 0.4 Bulgaria 2.9 0.4 -1.2 1.0 1.9 2.6 -1.6 1.7 1.4 1.5 Czechia -3.8 -1.8 -0.8 1.6 2.3 1.7 </td <td>Netherlands</td> <td>0.9</td> <td>-0.1</td> <td>-1.5</td> <td>1.2</td> <td>2.3</td> <td>2.3</td> <td>2.5</td> <td>-5.5</td> <td>-2.7</td> <td>2.2</td> <td>1.2</td> <td>1.0</td>	Netherlands	0.9	-0.1	-1.5	1.2	2.3	2.3	2.5	-5.5	-2.7	2.2	1.2	1.0
Portugal -2.5 -3.5 -1.5 2.2 0.8 2.9 3.2 -3.1 1.6 3.0 2.9 3.4 Slovenia -0.6 -1.5 -4.1 1.1 2.5 2.7 2.3 -5.3 -0.3 2.1 2.0 2.0 2.0 Slovakia -2.0 -3.4 -1.7 -0.8 0.5 0.3 -0.1 -7.1 -2.9 0.3 0.0 -0.2 Finland 5.2 3.0 -0.9 -0.6 0.3 0.1 -0.3 -6.6 -2.8 -0.3 -0.7 -0.9 Euro area 0.6 -0.5 -0.3 0.7 1.0 1.4 1.0 -6.8 -2.8 0.9 0.6 0.4 Bulgaria 2.9 0.4 -1.2 1.0 1.9 2.6 2.6 -2.2 -1.2 1.7 1.4 1.5 Czechia -3.8 -1.8 -0.8 1.6 2.3 1.7 1.0 -5.8 -3.1 0.9 0.6 0.4 Pomark 4.4 3.3 0.3	Austria	1.1	0.0	0.5	0.5	1.0	1.8	2.2	-4.7	-0.5	1.9	1.6	1.6
Slovenia -0.6 -1.5 -4.1 1.1 2.5 2.7 2.3 -5.3 -0.3 2.1 2.0 2.0 Slovakia -2.0 -3.4 -1.7 -0.8 0.5 0.3 -0.1 -7.1 -2.9 0.3 0.0 -0.2 Finland 5.2 3.0 -0.9 -0.6 0.3 0.1 -7.1 -2.9 0.3 0.0 -0.2 Euro area 0.6 -0.5 -0.3 0.7 1.0 1.4 1.0 -6.8 -2.0 0.9 0.6 0.4 Bulgaria 2.9 0.4 -1.2 1.0 1.9 2.6 2.6 -2.2 -1.2 1.7 1.4 1.5 Czechia -3.8 -1.8 -0.8 1.6 2.3 1.7 1.0 -5.8 -3.1 0.9 0.6 0.4 Denmark 4.4 3.3 0.3 1.2 2.6 1.5 4.4 -6.4 -1.5 2.9 1.2 0.7 Croatia -1.9 -2.2 -2.3 2.1 3.5 </td <td>Portugal</td> <td>-2.5</td> <td>-3.5</td> <td>-1.5</td> <td>2.2</td> <td>0.8</td> <td>2.9</td> <td>3.2</td> <td>-3.1</td> <td>1.6</td> <td>3.0</td> <td>2.9</td> <td>3.4</td>	Portugal	-2.5	-3.5	-1.5	2.2	0.8	2.9	3.2	-3.1	1.6	3.0	2.9	3.4
Slovakia -2.0 -3.4 -1.7 -0.8 0.5 0.3 -0.1 -7.1 -2.9 0.3 0.0 -0.2 Finland 5.2 3.0 -0.9 -0.6 0.3 0.1 -0.3 -6.6 -2.8 -0.3 -0.7 -0.9 Euro area 0.6 -0.5 -0.3 0.7 1.0 1.4 1.0 -6.8 -2.0 0.9 0.6 0.4 Bulgaria 2.9 0.4 -1.2 1.0 1.9 2.6 2.6 -2.2 -1.2 1.7 1.4 1.5 Czechia -3.8 -1.8 -0.8 1.6 2.3 1.7 1.0 -5.8 -3.1 0.9 0.6 0.4 Denmark 4.4 3.3 0.3 1.2 2.6 1.5 4.4 -6.4 -1.5 2.9 1.2 0.7 Croatia -1.9 -2.2 -2.3 2.1 3.5 2.5 2.6 -4.8 0.1 2.3 1.9 1.8 Hungary -2.6 -1.4 1.1 1.3 </td <td>Slovenia</td> <td>-0.6</td> <td>-1.5</td> <td>-4.1</td> <td>1.1</td> <td>2.5</td> <td>2.7</td> <td>2.3</td> <td>-5.3</td> <td>-0.3</td> <td>2.1</td> <td>2.0</td> <td>2.0</td>	Slovenia	-0.6	-1.5	-4.1	1.1	2.5	2.7	2.3	-5.3	-0.3	2.1	2.0	2.0
Finland 5.2 3.0 -0.9 -0.6 0.3 0.1 -0.3 -6.6 -2.8 -0.3 -0.7 -0.9 Euro area 0.6 -0.5 -0.3 0.7 1.0 1.4 1.0 -6.8 -2.0 0.9 0.6 0.4 Bulgaria 2.9 0.4 -1.2 1.0 1.9 2.6 2.6 -2.2 -1.2 1.7 1.4 1.5 Czechia -3.8 -1.8 -0.8 1.6 2.3 1.7 1.0 -5.8 -3.1 0.9 0.6 0.4 Denmark 4.4 3.3 0.3 1.2 2.6 1.5 4.4 -6.4 -1.5 2.9 1.2 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.1 1.8 0.4 -6.4 -0.5 1.4 1.6 1.8 1.6 0.4 -1.6 0.6 1.4 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.6 1.6 0.4 1.4 1.6 1.6 1.4 1.6 1.6 1.4	Slovakia	-2.0	-3.4	-1.7	-0.8	0.5	0.3	-0.1	-7.1	-2.9	0.3	0.0	-0.2
Euro area 0.6 -0.5 -0.3 0.7 1.0 1.4 1.0 -6.8 -2.0 0.9 0.6 0.4 Bulgaria 2.9 0.4 -1.2 1.0 1.9 2.6 2.6 -2.2 -1.2 1.7 1.4 1.5 Czechia -3.8 -1.8 -0.8 1.6 2.3 1.7 1.0 -5.8 -3.1 0.9 0.6 0.4 Denmark 4.4 3.3 0.3 1.2 2.6 1.5 4.4 -6.4 -1.5 2.9 1.2 0.7 Croatia -1.9 -2.2 -2.3 2.1 3.5 2.5 2.6 -4.8 0.1 2.3 1.9 1.8 Hungary -2.6 -1.4 1.1 1.3 0.2 0.2 -2.6 -1.6 0.6 1.4 1.6 Poland -2.1 -2.4 -1.5 -0.7 0.1 1.2 0.6 -8.1 -2.4 0.3 1.0	Finland	5.2	3.0	-0.9	-0.6	0.3	0.1	-0.3	-6.6	-2.8	-0.3	-0.7	-0.9
Bulgaria 2.9 0.4 -1.2 1.0 1.9 2.6 2.6 -2.2 -1.2 1.7 1.4 1.5 Czechia -3.8 -1.8 -0.8 1.6 2.3 1.7 1.0 -5.8 -3.1 0.9 0.6 0.4 Denmark 4.4 3.3 0.3 1.2 2.6 1.5 4.4 -6.4 -1.5 2.9 1.2 0.7 Croatia -1.9 -2.2 -2.3 2.1 3.5 2.5 2.6 -4.8 0.1 2.3 1.9 0.8 Hungary -2.6 -1.4 1.1 1.3 0.2 0.2 2.6 -1.6 0.6 1.4 1.6 Poland -2.1 -2.4 -1.5 -0.7 0.1 1.2 0.6 -8.1 -2.4 0.3 1.0 0.3 Romania 0.3 -4.2 0.0 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.9 -5.3 -1.8 0.8 0.7 <td>Euro area</td> <td>0.6</td> <td>-0.5</td> <td>-0.3</td> <td>0.7</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>1.4</td> <td>1.0</td> <td>-6.8</td> <td>-2.0</td> <td>0.9</td> <td>0.6</td> <td>0.4</td>	Euro area	0.6	-0.5	-0.3	0.7	1.0	1.4	1.0	-6.8	-2.0	0.9	0.6	0.4
Czechia -3.8 -1.8 -0.8 1.6 2.3 1.7 1.0 -5.8 -3.1 0.9 0.6 0.4 Denmark 4.4 3.3 0.3 1.2 2.6 1.5 4.4 -6.4 -1.5 2.9 1.2 0.7 Croatia -1.9 -2.2 -2.3 2.1 3.5 2.5 2.6 -4.8 0.1 2.3 1.9 1.8 Hungary -2.6 -1.4 1.1 1.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 -2.6 -1.6 0.6 1.4 1.6 Poland -2.1 -2.4 -1.5 -0.7 0.1 1.2 0.6 -8.1 -2.4 0.3 1.0 0.3 Romania 0.3 -2.4 -0.9 -1.1 -1.4 -1.8 -3.1 -7.8 -9.6 -2.4 -3.2 -4.8 Sweden 2.4 2.8 0.0 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.9 -5.3 -1.8 0.7 0.1 0.7 0.1 0.7 0.1 0.7 0.1 0.7 <t< td=""><td>Bulgaria</td><td>2.9</td><td>0.4</td><td>-1.2</td><td>1.0</td><td>1.9</td><td>2.6</td><td>2.6</td><td>-2.2</td><td>-1.2</td><td>1.7</td><td>1.4</td><td>1.5</td></t<>	Bulgaria	2.9	0.4	-1.2	1.0	1.9	2.6	2.6	-2.2	-1.2	1.7	1.4	1.5
Denmark 4.4 3.3 0.3 1.2 2.6 1.5 4.4 -6.4 -1.5 2.9 1.2 0.7 Croatia -1.9 -2.2 -2.3 2.1 3.5 2.5 2.6 -4.8 0.1 2.3 1.9 1.8 Hungary -2.6 -1.4 1.1 1.3 0.2 0.2 -2.6 -1.6 0.6 1.4 1.6 Poland -2.1 -2.4 -1.5 -0.7 0.1 1.2 0.6 -8.1 -2.4 0.3 1.0 0.3 Romania 0.3 -4.2 -0.9 -1.1 -1.4 -1.8 -3.1 -7.8 -9.6 -2.4 -3.2 -4.8 Sweden 2.4 2.8 0.0 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.9 -5.3 -1.8 0.8 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7 0.7	Czechia	-3.8	-1.8	-0.8	1.6	2.3	1.7	1.0	-5.8	-3.1	0.9	0.6	0.4
Croatia -1.9 -2.2 -2.3 2.1 3.5 2.5 2.6 -4.8 0.1 2.3 1.9 1.8 Hungary -2.6 -1.4 1.1 1.3 0.2 0.2 -2.6 -1.6 0.6 1.4 1.6 Poland -2.1 -2.4 -1.5 -0.7 0.1 1.2 0.6 -8.1 -2.4 0.3 1.0 0.3 Romania 0.3 -4.2 -0.9 -1.1 -1.4 -1.8 -3.1 -7.8 -9.6 -2.4 -3.2 -4.8 Sweden 2.4 2.8 0.0 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.9 -5.3 -1.8 0.8 0.7 0.7 EU 0.6 -0.4 -0.7 1.0 1.3 1.0 -6.7 -1.7 0.0 0.2 0.1 Japan 1.3 -3.9 -4.8 -1.7 -1.2 -0.7 -0.8 -3.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.5 United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 -0.4 -	Denmark	4.4	3.3	0.3	1.2	2.6	1.5	4.4	-6.4	-1.5	2.9	1.2	0.7
Hungary -2.6 -1.4 1.1 1.3 0.2 0.2 -2.6 -1.6 0.6 1.4 1.6 Poland -2.1 -2.4 -1.5 -0.7 0.1 1.2 0.6 -8.1 -2.4 0.3 1.0 0.3 Romania 0.3 -4.2 -0.9 -1.1 -1.4 -1.8 -3.1 -7.8 -9.6 -2.4 -3.2 -4.8 Sweden 2.4 2.8 0.0 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.9 -5.3 -1.8 0.8 0.7 0.7 EU 0.6 -0.4 -0.4 0.7 1.0 1.3 1.0 -6.7 -2.1 0.7 0.3 0.7 Japan -0.3 -3.8 -3.5 -0.9 0.2 0.2 0.1 -8.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.1 Japan 1.3 -3.9 -4.8 -1.7 -1.2 -0.7 -0.8 -3.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.5 United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 <td< td=""><td>Croatia</td><td>-1.9</td><td>-2.2</td><td>-2.3</td><td>2.1</td><td>3.5</td><td>2.5</td><td>2.6</td><td>-4.8</td><td>0.1</td><td>2.3</td><td>1.9</td><td>1.8</td></td<>	Croatia	-1.9	-2.2	-2.3	2.1	3.5	2.5	2.6	-4.8	0.1	2.3	1.9	1.8
Poland -2.1 -2.4 -1.5 -0.7 0.1 1.2 0.6 -8.1 -2.4 0.3 1.0 0.3 Romania 0.3 -4.2 -0.9 -1.1 -1.4 -1.8 -3.1 -7.8 -9.6 -2.4 -3.2 -4.8 Sweden 2.4 2.8 0.0 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.9 -5.3 -1.8 0.8 0.7 0.7 EU 0.6 -0.4 -0.4 0.7 1.0 1.3 1.0 -6.7 -2.1 0.7 0.5 0.3 Japan 1.3 -3.9 -4.8 -1.7 -1.2 -0.7 -0.8 -3.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.5 United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 -0.4 -2.7 -3.3 -13.5 -4.5 -2.8 -2.7 -2.7	Hungary	-2.6	-1.4	1.1	1.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	-2.6	-1.6	0.6	1.4	1.6
Romania 0.3 -4.2 -0.9 -1.1 -1.4 -1.8 -3.1 -7.8 -9.6 -2.4 -3.2 -4.8 Sweden 2.4 2.8 0.0 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.9 -5.3 -1.8 0.8 0.7 0.7 EU 0.6 -0.4 -0.4 0.7 1.0 1.3 1.0 -6.7 -2.1 0.7 0.5 0.3 United Kingdom -0.3 -3.8 -3.5 -0.9 0.2 0.2 0.1 -8.4 -4.7 0.0 -0.2 -0.1 Japan 1.3 -3.9 -4.8 -1.7 -1.2 -0.7 -0.8 -3.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.5 United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 -0.4 -2.7 -3.3 -13.5 -4.5 -2.8 -2.7 -2.7	Poland	-2.1	-2.4	-1.5	-0.7	0.1	1.2	0.6	-8.1	-2.4	0.3	1.0	0.3
Sweden 2.4 2.8 0.0 1.5 1.9 1.3 0.9 -5.3 -1.8 0.8 0.7 0.7 EU 0.6 -0.4 -0.4 0.7 1.0 1.3 1.0 -6.7 -2.1 0.7 0.5 0.3 United Kingdom -0.3 -3.8 -3.5 -0.9 0.2 0.2 0.1 -8.4 -4.7 0.0 -0.2 -0.1 Japan 1.3 -3.9 -4.8 -1.7 -1.2 -0.7 -0.8 -3.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.5 United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 -0.4 -2.7 -3.3 -13.5 -4.5 -2.8 -2.7 -2.7	Romania	0.3	-4.2	-0.9	-1.1	-1.4	-1.8	-3.1	-7.8	-9.6	-2.4	-3.2	-4.8
EU 0.6 -0.4 -0.4 0.7 1.0 1.3 1.0 -6.7 -2.1 0.7 0.5 0.3 United Kingdom -0.3 -3.8 -3.5 -0.9 0.2 0.2 0.1 -8.4 -4.7 0.0 -0.2 -0.1 Japan 1.3 -3.9 -4.8 -1.7 -1.2 -0.7 -0.8 -3.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.5 United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 -0.4 -2.7 -3.3 -13.5 -4.5 -2.8 -2.7 -2.7	Sweden	2.4	2.8	0.0	1.5	1.9	1.3	0.9	-5.3	-1.8	0.8	0.7	0.7
United Kingdom -0.3 -3.8 -3.5 -0.9 0.2 0.2 0.1 -8.4 -4.7 0.0 -0.2 -0.1 Japan 1.3 -3.9 -4.8 -1.7 -1.2 -0.7 -0.8 -3.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.5 United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 -0.4 -2.7 -3.3 -13.5 -4.5 -2.8 -2.7 -2.7	EU	0.6	-0.4	-0.4	0.7	1.0	1.3	1.0	-6.7	-2.1	0.7	0.5	0.3
Japan 1.3 -3.9 -4.8 -1.7 -1.2 -0.7 -0.8 -3.4 -3.8 -1.1 -0.9 -0.5 United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 -0.4 -2.7 -3.3 -13.5 -4.5 -2.8 -2.7 -2.7	United Kingdom	-0.3	-3.8	-3.5	-0.9	0.2	0.2	0.1	-8.4	-4.7	0.0	-0.2	-0.1
United States -0.7 -4.0 -3.1 -1.5 -0.4 -2.7 -3.3 -13.5 -4.5 -2.8 -2.7 -2.7	Japan	1.3	-3.9	-4.8	-1.7	-1.2	-0.7	-0.8	-3.4	-3.8	-1.1	-0.9	-0.5
	United States	-0.7	-4.0	-3.1	-1.5	-0.4	-2.7	-3.3	-13.5	-4.5	-2.8	-2.7	-2.7

Table 39: Cyclically-ad	djusted net lend	ding (+) or ne	t borrowing (-), general go	vernment¹ (a	s a percenta	ige of potenti	al GDP, 2001	-2021)			23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Spi	ing 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					fe	precast		fc	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	-1.0	-2.5	-3.2	-2.6	-1.3	-1.4	-2.4	-4.5	-2.9	-2.0	-2.2	-2.2
Germany	-3.1	-1.5	0.1	1.0	0.5	1.0	0.9	-3.8	-0.5	1.1	0.7	0.5
Estonia	-0.2	-0.8	-0.1	-0.7	-2.0	-2.4	-2.4	-5.8	-1.9	-1.6	-0.9	-0.5
Ireland	0.3	-9.7	-6.6	-2.0	-1.7	-1.0	-0.7	-1.5	-0.5	-0.8	-0.3	0.3
Greece	-7.9	-10.8	-1.2	6.2	5.4	4.4	3.8	0.4	1.0	3.7	2.2	1.3
Spain	-1.5	-4.4	-4.2	-3.8	-3.6	-3.8	-4.2	-5.8	-5.2	-3.3	-3.2	-3.0
France	-4.1	-4.8	-3.5	-2.9	-3.1	-2.9	-3.7	-4.9	-2.6	-3.5	-2.8	-2.7
Italy	-4.0	-3.5	-1.2	-1.3	-2.2	-2.2	-1.5	-6.1	-3.5	-2.1	-2.3	-2.8
Cyprus	-4.6	-2.9	-2.3	0.2	0.7	-6.0	-1.2	-5.2	-2.1	1.7	0.6	0.5
Latvia	-1.7	-4.7	-1.3	-0.2	-1.7	-2.4	-1.5	-5.2	-3.8	-1.5	-1.1	-0.9
Lithuania	-1.5	-3.9	-2.5	-0.3	-1.0	-1.2	-1.6	-4.4	-1.6	-1.5	-0.9	-0.3
Luxembourg	0.8	2.3	2.4	1.4	1.0	2.2	1.2	-2.6	0.7	1.6	0.8	0.9
Malta	-5.7	-2.8	-1.8	-0.3	2.1	0.1	-1.3	-4.2	-1.3	0.5	0.8	1.3
Netherlands	-1.1	-2.0	-1.9	0.5	0.9	0.4	0.8	-2.4	-1.6	0.9	0.2	0.2
Austria	-1.9	-3.0	-1.7	-1.1	-1.0	-0.7	-0.3	-3.4	-1.1	0.0	0.0	0.3
Portugal	-5.1	-6.4	-4.8 :	-1.6	-3.6	-1.6	-1.1	-3.6	-0.9	-1.0	-0.8	-0.1
Slovenia	-3.1	-4.2	-4.7	-1.2	-0.7	-0.7	-0.9	-4.5	-1.2	-1.0	-1.0	-0.7
Slovakia	-4.3	-5.5	-2.7	-2.4	-1.3	-2.1	-2.3	-6.6	-4.0	-1.6	-1.8	-1.8
Finland	3.1	1.0	-1.0	-0.9	-1.1	-1.5	-1.6	-4.2	-1.6	-1.3	-1.6	-1.6
Euro area	-3.0	-3.4	-2.0	-1.1	-1.3	-1.1	-1.3	-4.4	-2.1	-1.1	-1.1	-1.2
Bulgaria	0.7	-1.1	-1.7	-0.1	0.7	1.3	1.1	-1.3	-1.6	1.0	0.6	0.6
Czechia	-5.1	-3.7	-1.6	0.7	0.8	0.1	-0.5	-4.6	-2.9	-0.3	-0.4	-0.4
Denmark	0.6	0.8	-0.1	0.4	2.0	0.8	3.6	-2.7	0.6	2.1	0.6	0.2
Croatia	-3.8	-4.8	-4.4	-1.0	0.1	-0.9	-1.2	-4.4	-1.9	-0.8	-1.0	-0.8
Hungary	-7.3	-5.3	-2.3	-2.1	-3.3	-3.6	-3.9	-2.8	-3.1	-3.5	-2.1	-1.5
Poland	-3.6	-5.4	-3.5	-2.1	-2.1	-1.9	-2.7	-8.3	-2.9	-2.2	-1.2	-1.5
Romania	-2.3	-6.1	-1.9	-2.3	-3.0	-3.3	-4.4	-6.7	-9.2	-3.7	-4.4	-5.9
Sweden	0.3	1.4	-0.2	0.5	0.8	0.0	0.1	-2.1	-0.2	0.2	0.4	0.6
EU	-2.9	-3.3	-1.9	-1.0	-1.2	-1.1	-1.2	-4.4	-2.1	-1.3	-1.3	-1.4
P.M.: United Kingdom	-2.7	-5.5	-5.4	-3.7	-3.0	-2.8	-2.7	-6.2	-4.8	-2.4	-2.5	-2.3

¹ Cyclically-adjusted variables for Croatia are based on provisional values for fiscal semi-elasticities and subject to further revisions

Table 40: Cyclically-ad	djusted primary	/ balance, ge	eneral governn	nent' (as a pe	ercentage of	potential G	DP, 2001-2021)				23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		fc	precast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	4.4	1.5	0.1	0.1	1.0	0.6	-0.5	-2.5	-1.0	0.0	-0.4	-0.5
Germany	-0.2	1.1	2.0	2.2	1.5	2.0	1.7	-3.0	0.2	2.0	1.5	1.2
Estonia	0.0	-0.7	0.0	-0.7	-2.0	-2.4	-2.4	-5.8	-1.9	-1.6	-0.9	-0.4
Ireland	1.5	-8.1	-2.9	0.3	0.3	0.6	0.6	-0.3	0.7	0.6	0.8	1.3
Greece	-2.6	-5.8	3.7	9.4	8.4	7.7	6.7	3.4	3.7	6.6	4.9	3.8
Spain	0.8	-2.7	-1.1	-1.0	-1.1	-1.3	-1.9	-3.4	-3.0	-1.0	-1.1	-1.0
France	-1.3	-2.2	-1.2	-1.1	-1.3	-1.2	-2.3	-3.5	-1.3	-2.0	-1.4	-1.5
Italy	1.1	1.0	3.5	2.6	1.6	1.4	1.9	-2.4	0.0	1.4	1.0	0.3
Cyprus	-1.5	-0.4	0.7	2.9	3.3	-3.6	1.3	-2.8	0.0	4.0	2.6	2.2
Latvia	-1.0	-3.7	0.2	0.8	-0.8	-1.6	-0.8	-4.4	-3.1	-0.7	-0.4	-0.3
Lithuania	-0.4	-2.9	-0.7	1.0	0.2	-0.3	-0.7	-3.8	-1.0	-0.8	-0.4	0.1
Luxembourg	1.0	2.7	2.9	1.7	1.4	2.5	1.4	-2.3	0.9	1.9	1.0	1.1
Malta	-2.0	0.6	1.0	1.8	3.9	1.6	0.1	-2.7	0.1	1.8	2.1	2.5
Netherlands	1.4	-0.1	-0.3	1.6	1.9	1.3	1.6	-1.7	-0.8	1.7	0.8	0.8
Austria	1.4	0.0	0.9	1.0	0.8	1.0	1.2	-1.9	0.2	1.5	1.4	1.6
Portugal	-2.4	-3.4	-0.1 :	2.6	0.2	1.8	1.9	-0.3	2.5	2.1	2.1	2.6
Slovenia	-1.2	-2.8	-2.1	1.9	1.9	1.3	0.8	-2.7	0.5	0.6	0.5	0.7
Slovakia	-1.5	-4.2	-0.9	-0.7	0.2	-0.7	-1.1	-5.2	-2.7	-0.4	-0.6	-0.8
Finland	5.1	2.4	0.3	0.2	-0.1	-0.6	-0.8	-3.5	-0.9	-0.5	-0.8	-0.9
Euro area	0.2	-0.6	0.8	1.1	0.7	0.7	0.4	-2.7	-0.5	0.6	0.4	0.2
Bulgaria	3.1	-0.1	-0.9	0.8	1.5	2.0	1.6	-0.7	-1.0	1.5	1.2	1.2
Czechia	-4.1	-2.6	-0.3	1.6	1.6	0.8	0.2	-3.7	-2.0	0.5	0.3	0.3
Denmark	3.3	2.5	1.6	1.5	2.8	1.6	4.4	-1.9	1.4	2.9	1.3	0.8
Croatia	-2.1	-2.9	-1.2	2.1	2.8	1.4	1.0	-2.1	0.4	1.4	0.9	1.0
Hungary	-3.1	-1.2	1.8	1.0	-0.6	-1.2	-1.6	-0.3	-0.6	-1.1	0.2	0.9
Poland	-0.8	-3.0	-1.2	-0.4	-0.5	-0.5	-1.4	-6.8	-1.5	-0.9	0.0	-0.3
Romania	-0.2	-5.1	-0.2	-0.8	-1.8	-2.1	-3.2	-5.2	-7.5	-2.5	-3.1	-4.6
Sweden	2.5	2.9	0.6	1.1	1.3	0.5	0.5	-1.8	0.2	0.7	1.1	1.2
EU	0.3	-0.6	0.7	1.0	0.7	0.6	0.3	-2.8	-0.6	0.4	0.3	0.1
P.M.: United Kingdom	-0.8	-3.3	-2.7	-1.3	-0.3	-0.3	-0.5	-4.1	-2.8	-0.2	-0.3	-0.2
¹ Cyclically-adjusted variables for	Croatia are based	d on provisional	values for fiscal se	mi-elasticities a	nd subject to fu	rther revisions						

Table 41: Structural bu	dget balance,	general gov	ernment¹ (as a	percentage	of potential (GDP, 2001-20)21)					23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					f	orecast		fo	precast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	:	:	-3.3	-2.6	-1.8	-2.0	-2.6	-4.7	-2.9	-2.1	-2.4	-2.2
Germany	:	:	0.2	0.9	0.7	1.2	0.9	-3.8	-0.5	1.1	0.7	0.5
Estonia	:	:	-0.1	-0.6	-2.0	-2.4	-2.4	-5.8	-1.9	-1.6	-0.9	-0.5
Ireland	:	:	-5.7	-2.2	-1.7	-0.9	-0.7	-1.5	-0.5	-0.8	-0.3	0.3
Greece	:	:	1.4	5.5	5.0	5.0	2.8	-0.1	0.8	3.0	1.8	1.1
Spain	:	:	-3.3	-3.8	-3.5	-3.5	-4.0	-5.6	-5.2	-3.1	-3.2	-3.0
France	:	:	-3.6	-2.9	-3.0	-2.7	-2.8	-4.7	-2.5	-2.7	-2.6	-2.6
Italy	:	:	-1.4	-1.5	-2.1	-2.3	-1.5	-6.3	-3.7	-2.2	-2.5	-2.9
Cyprus	:	:	-0.4	0.3	0.7	2.0	0.1	-5.2	-2.1	1.7	0.6	0.5
Latvia	:	:	-1.2	-0.4	-1.7	-2.4	-1.7	-5.2	-3.8	-1.6	-1.1	-0.9
Lithuania	:	:	-1.8	-0.5	-1.0	-1.2	-1.6	-4.4	-1.6	-1.6	-0.9	-0.3
Luxembourg	:	:	2.4	1.4	1.0	2.2	1.2	-2.6	0.7	1.6	0.8	0.9
Malta	:	:	-2.1	-0.1	2.3	0.0	-1.3	-4.2	-1.3	0.5	0.8	1.3
Netherlands	:	:	-2.0	0.2	0.5	0.4	0.6	-2.4	-1.6	0.7	0.2	0.2
Austria	:	:	-1.1	-1.1	-1.0	-0.7	-0.3	-3.4	-1.1	0.0	0.0	0.3
Portugal	:	:	-3.8 :	-2.0	-1.6	-0.9	-0.5	-3.2	-1.2	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4
Slovenia	:	:	-2.1	-1.0	-0.6	-0.6	-0.8	-4.4	-1.2	-1.0	-0.9	-0.7
Slovakia	:	:	-2.9	-2.3	-1.3	-2.1	-2.3	-6.6	-4.0	-1.6	-1.8	-1.8
Finland	:	:	-1.0	-0.9	-1.1	-1.4	-1.7	-4.2	-1.6	-1.4	-1.6	-1.6
Euro area	:	:	-1.8	-1.1	-1.2	-1.0	-1.1	-4.4	-2.1	-0.9	-1.1	-1.2
Bulgaria	:	:	-1.0	-0.1	0.7	1.3	1.1	-1.3	-1.6	1.0	0.6	0.6
Czechia	:	:	-1.1	0.7	0.8	0.1	-0.5	-4.6	-2.9	-0.3	-0.4	-0.4
Denmark	:	:	-1.0	0.3	2.0	0.8	3.6	-1.9	0.6	2.1	1.4	0.2
Croatia	:	:	-4.4	-1.1	0.2	-0.9	-1.2	-4.4	-1.9	-0.8	-1.0	-0.8
Hungary	:	:	-2.4	-2.0	-3.6	-3.6	-3.8	-2.6	-3.1	-3.3	-2.1	-1.5
Poland	:	:	-3.4	-2.1	-2.1	-1.9	-2.7	-8.5	-3.1	-2.2	-1.9	-1.5
Romania	:	:	-1.8	-1.9	-3.0	-2.9	-4.3	-6.7	-9.2	-3.5	-4.4	-5.9
Sweden	:	:	-0.2	0.5	0.8	0.0	0.1	-2.1	-0.2	0.2	0.4	0.6
EU	:	:	-1.8	-1.0	-1.1	-1.0	-1.1	-4.4	-2.1	-1.1	-1.3	-1.4
P.M.: United Kingdom			-5.4	-37	-3.0	-2.8	-2.7	-6.2	-4.8	-24	-2.5	-2.3

¹ Cyclically-adjusted variables for Croatia are based on provisional values for fiscal semi-elasticities and subject to further revisions

Table 42: Gross debt, g	general govern	ment (as a p	ercentage of	GDP, 2001-20	21)							23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u> averages					Sp f	ring 2020 orecast		Aut fo	umn 2019 orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	101.5	94.5	105.2	104.9	101.7	99.8	98.6	113.8	110.0	99.5	99.6	100.0
Germany	62.7	70.3	77.5	69.2	65.3	61.9	59.8	75.6	71.8	59.2	56.8	55.0
Estonia	5.2	5.3	9.3	10.2	9.3	8.4	8.4	20.7	22.6	8.7	8.4	8.2
Ireland	29.6	47.5	106.4	73.8	67.7	63.5	58.8	66.4	66.7	59.0	53.9	52.6
Greece	104.7	117.8	172.8	178.5	176.2	181.2	176.6	196.4	182.6	175.2	169.3	163.1
Spain	48.2	45.7	90.4	99.2	98.6	97.6	95.5	115.6	113.7	96.7	96.6	96.0
France	63.3	73.2	92.5	98.0	98.3	98.1	98.1	116.5	111.9	98.9	98.9	99.2
Italy	106.5	110.5	129.9	134.8	134.1	134.8	134.8	158.9	153.6	136.2	136.8	137.4
Cyprus	62.0	53.9	93.4	103.4	93.9	100.6	95.5	115.7	105.0	93.8	87.8	81.8
Latvia	13.5	24.4	41.1	40.9	39.3	37.2	36.9	43.1	43.7	36.0	35.2	32.9
Lithuania	20.3	22.4	39.8	39.7	39.1	33.8	36.3	48.5	48.4	36.3	35.1	34.8
Luxembourg	7.7	13.6	21.9	20.1	22.3	21.0	22.1	26.4	25.7	19.6	19.2	18.6
Malta	67.9	64.9	65.5	55.5	50.3	45.6	43.1	50.7	50.8	43.3	41.0	38.7
Netherlands	49.7	51.8	65.6	61.9	56.9	52.4	48.6	62.1	57.6	48.9	47.1	45.6
Austria	66.6	72.7	82.9	82.9	78.3	74.0	70.4	78.8	75.8	69.9	67.2	64.6
Portugal	64.1	82.0	127.8 :	131.5	126.1	122.0	117.7	131.6	124.4	119.5	117.1	113.7
Slovenia	26.7	28.7	66.6	78.7	74.1	70.4	66.1	83.7	79.9	66.7	63.1	59.5
Slovakia	43.2	33.5	51.1	52.0	51.3	49.4	48.0	59.5	59.9	48.1	47.3	46.9
Finland	41.3	38.6	56.3	63.2	61.3	59.6	59.4	69.4	69.6	59.2	59.3	59.8
Euro area	69.0	74.0	92.8	92.2	89.8	87.8	86.0	102.7	98.8	86.4	85.1	84.1
Bulgaria	44.2	15.9	20.4	29.3	25.3	22.3	20.4	25.5	25.4	21.1	19.9	18.6
Czechia	26.7	30.9	42.3	36.8	34.7	32.6	30.8	38.7	39.9	31.5	30.7	30.1
Denmark	45.1	35.0	43.8	37.2	35.8	33.9	33.2	44.7	44.6	33.0	32.3	31.7
Croatia	38.6	44.4	76.9	80.8	77.8	74.7	73.2	88.6	83.4	71.2	67.7	64.4
Hungary	57.1	72.2	77.9	75.5	72.9	70.2	66.3	75.0	73.5	68.2	66.7	64.4
Poland	43.5	48.4	53.3	54.3	50.6	48.8	46.0	58.5	58.3	47.4	45.5	44.3
Romania	21.5	17.6	37.1	37.3	35.1	34.7	35.2	46.2	54.7	35.5	37.2	40.6
Sweden	49.9	39.9	40.9	42.2	40.8	38.8	35.1	42.6	42.5	34.6	33.4	32.0
EU	66.3	69.7	86.5	85.8	83.3	81.3	79.4	95.1	92.0	80.6	79.4	78.4
P.M.: United Kingdom	36.3	53.8	84.1	86.8	86.2	85.7	85.4	102.1	101.5	85.2	84.7	84.2

Note: See box on technical elements behind the forecast for details and definition.

Table 43: Gross national saving (as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021)

Table 43: Gross nation	onal saving (as a p	percentage	of GDP, 2001-2	:021)								23.4.2020
		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					fe	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	27.3	27.0	24.4	24.8	25.3	24.5	24.8	22.9	24.6	24.6	24.6	24.6
Germany	23.2	26.5	27.6	28.9	29.0	29.4	29.0	28.1	29.4	28.9	29.0	28.9
Estonia	23.4	24.2	27.1	25.6	28.2	29.2	29.7	27.2	28.6	29.4	29.5	29.6
Ireland	24.3	19.3	21.2	34.1	34.3	34.5	33.7	31.2	33.9	33.6	34.9	36.2
Greece	15.6	9.1	8.5	10.4	11.5	12.0	12.2	10.2	10.8	13.2	14.2	15.4
Spain	22.7	20.0	19.2	21.9	22.1	22.3	22.9	21.2	21.2	23.1	23.5	23.7
France	22.9	22.5	21.7	22.0	22.8	22.9	23.6	21.6	23.1	23.4	23.4	23.4
Italy	20.7	19.0	18.1	20.2	20.6	20.8	20.9	19.6	20.8	20.4	20.5	20.7
Cyprus	13.0	9.2	12.4	12.8	14.8	14.7	13.4	8.1	9.0	13.2	11.8	12.2
Latvia	20.9	22.4	21.8	22.2	22.9	22.7	22.7	21.3	22.1	22.9	21.8	21.0
Lithuania	15.4	16.3	19.9	18.1	19.7	20.1	20.6	18.7	21.5	21.4	21.7	22.0
Luxembourg	27.7	22.2	19.2	19.2	17.7	17.5	21.9	20.8	21.0	22.1	22.1	21.8
Malta	15.4	15.8	21.0	27.7	30.7	30.3	30.7	27.1	29.2	29.3	30.1	30.4
Netherlands	26.4	27.5	28.5	28.5	31.4	31.9	31.4	29.3	28.9	31.0	30.3	30.1
Austria	25.6	26.9	25.8	27.1	26.7	27.6	27.7	25.4	26.2	27.7	27.7	27.8
Portugal	16.2	11.9	14.8	16.5	18.2	18.3	18.8	17.4	18.5	18.6	18.7	18.9
Slovenia	25.5	25.5	22.0	23.3	26.5	27.3	27.4	25.2	26.3	27.3	27.7	28.0
Slovakia	22.6	21.8	23.4	21.1	21.2	21.8	21.0	18.2	19.2	21.7	21.3	21.5
Finland	29.3	26.9	21.2	21.3	23.1	23.5	23.1	21.2	22.2	24.3	24.0	23.9
Euro area	22.9	22.8	22.8	24.4	25.0	25.3	25.4	23.9	25.0	25.3	25.4	25.5
Bulgaria	16.1	16.3	22.1	24.0	25.5	25.9	24.7	20.7	22.0	25.2	25.1	25.0
Czechia	25.9	24.9	24.2	26.1	26.2	26.1	27.0	22.3	23.9	25.7	25.7	25.7
Denmark	25.0	25.7	27.4	29.5	29.6	30.0	30.6	27.8	28.7	29.6	29.3	29.3
Croatia	19.3	19.9	19.3	23.1	25.1	25.1	25.2	21.4	22.9	24.0	23.9	24.4
Hungary	17.4	18.5	23.3	26.0	25.1	26.9	27.7	26.1	27.2	27.9	28.2	28.2
Poland	16.4	17.6	18.7	19.6	19.9	19.8	20.0	18.9	19.5	20.7	20.5	20.6
Romania	16.6	20.0	23.7	21.3	20.1	17.7	18.4	16.9	17.0	19.3	18.9	18.7
Sweden	27.5	30.2	27.9	27.6	29.2	29.4	30.3	27.0	28.2	29.8	29.6	29.7
EU	22.8	22.8	23.0	24.4	25.0	25.3	25.4	23.7	24.8	23.5	23.5	23.5
United Kingdom	16.0	13.7	12.5	12.2	14.0	13.6	13.6	12.1	12.6	13.6	13.4	13.2
Japan	28.0	26.9	24.7	27.4	28.2	27.9	28.2	27.3	26.7	28.1	28.1	28.0
United States	18.2	16.3	19.0	18.6	18.6	18.4	18.1	16.0	15.8	18.4	18.2	17.9

Gross saving, private sector (as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021) Table 44:

Table 44:	Gross saving, private sector	r (as a perce	ntage of GDP	, 2001-2021)								23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					fo	precast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	24.9	26.2	24.3	24.6	23.6	22.6	24.1	29.4	26.5	23.7	24.2	24.4
Germany	23.3	24.9	24.6	24.9	24.6	24.4	24.3	31.4	27.3	24.4	25.1	25.4
Estonia	17.3	18.9	22.3	21.3	23.7	25.0	25.1	29.2	27.0	24.9	25.1	25.3
Ireland	20.1	20.4	24.3	32.9	32.6	32.3	30.8	33.7	33.9	30.9	32.1	33.1
Greece	16.8	15.1	11.5	7.8	8.7	8.6	8.7	15.6	9.9	10.5	11.6	12.3
Spain	18.4	19.2	23.5	24.3	23.2	22.8	23.7	29.1	25.9	23.6	23.8	23.9
France	21.6	22.0	21.3	21.4	21.1	21.1	22.4	26.9	23.1	22.2	21.5	21.5
Italy	20.3	18.1	17.8	19.7	19.6	19.9	19.4	26.2	22.8	19.6	19.7	20.2
Cyprus	13.1	6.4	12.6	9.7	10.3	9.3	8.8	13.3	8.7	7.6	7.1	7.7
Latvia	18.8	22.1	20.1	19.2	19.5	18.9	19.3	24.2	23.0	19.0	18.4	17.8
Lithuania	13.5	16.4	19.8	15.1	16.2	16.8	18.0	23.0	21.5	18.5	18.7	19.1
Luxembourg	20.7	15.2	13.5	12.6	11.5	9.5	14.6	19.7	15.5	14.6	15.2	15.0
Malta	17.0	16.6	21.1	24.1	24.9	25.3	26.9	29.7	27.7	24.8	25.4	25.5
Netherlands	23.8	25.2	27.6	24.9	26.9	27.1	26.3	31.2	28.7	26.0	26.3	26.1
Austria	23.2	25.5	23.6	25.0	23.6	24.0	23.6	27.8	24.4	23.9	23.9	23.9
Portugal	17.5	14.4	17.6	17.0	17.2	16.1	16.1	21.2	18.1	16.3	16.3	16.1
Slovenia	23.2	23.2	21.9	22.0	23.3	23.0	23.3	28.6	25.2	23.4	23.7	23.8
Slovakia	22.0	22.6	23.5	20.2	18.9	19.4	18.8	23.1	19.9	19.8	20.1	20.5
Finland	22.5	21.7	19.5	19.0	20.0	20.4	20.3	24.1	21.3	21.4	21.3	21.3
Euro area	21.6	21.8	22.2	22.8	22.6	22.5	22.8	28.5	25.1	22.8	23.0	23.2
Bulgaria	11.8	12.4	20.6	20.4	22.0	20.8	19.1	19.7	20.1	20.3	20.5	20.2
Czechia	22.3	22.2	21.9	22.0	21.2	21.1	22.5	24.4	23.4	21.4	21.6	21.6
Denmark	20.8	21.0	24.1	25.3	24.3	25.4	23.5	31.3	27.6	23.8	25.2	25.6
Croatia	15.1	16.9	19.6	19.6	20.7	20.0	19.5	23.9	20.7	18.7	19.1	19.6
Hungary	18.3	19.6	22.3	22.7	21.9	22.6	23.4	25.1	25.5	23.1	23.1	23.1
Poland	17.8	17.6	18.6	18.8	17.6	16.1	17.1	21.5	19.5	17.8	17.3	17.6
Romania	13.8	19.1	21.8	20.1	20.7	17.7	19.3	23.2	24.8	19.6	20.0	21.4
Sweden	23.1	24.6	24.3	22.2	23.2	23.7	24.8	27.3	25.2	24.6	24.5	24.6
EU	21.4	21.7	22.2	22.6	22.4	22.3	22.6	28.0	24.9	21.0	21.1	21.3
United Kingdo	om 15.5	16.0	15.4	12.3	13.0	12.3	12.1	18.7	15.3	12.1	12.0	11.7
Japan	28.7	28.3	27.3	27.7	27.5	26.3	26.5	28.0	27.7	27.4	27.0	26.6
United States	19.3	20.0	22.6	20.9	21.0	21.9	21.9	26.5	20.8	21.7	21.5	21.4

Table 45: S	aving rate of households (2001-2021)										23.4.2020
		5-year					S	pring 2020		Au	tumn 2019	
		averages						forecast			forecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	17.2	17.3	13.7	12.2	12.0	11.8	12.9	20.6	12.9	12.4	12.4	12.3
Germany	16.6	17.3	17.1	17.6	17.9	18.5	18.7	24.8	20.7	19.3	19.6	19.7
Estonia	-0.9	6.7	8.9	9.8	10.0	11.2	12.2	18.2	14.8	13.4	13.4	13.9
Ireland	7.4	10.1	9.1	8.0	10.5	10.2	10.9	19.6	13.3	9.4	9.2	9.2
Greece	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Spain	9.8	8.2	7.6	7.1	5.5	5.9	7.4	14.0	10.5	7.8	8.6	8.9
France	14.2	14.9	14.5	13.6	13.6	13.8	14.8	22.0	15.7	14.6	14.4	14.1
Italy	14.8	13.3	10.6	10.6	10.2	10.1	10.2	16.5	10.9	10.1	10.2	10.2
Cyprus	3.9	6.2	0.2	1.3	3.7	2.4	2.5	8.7	3.4	3.8	4.5	6.4
Latvia	0.8	5.9	-3.0	4.5	4.4	6.3	9.8	18.5	14.5	6.6	7.2	7.2
Lithuania	4.5	2.8	2.3	2.9	0.3	-1.2	1.6	8.4	4.2	-0.6	-2.0	-1.7
Luxembourg	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Malta	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Netherlands	10.7	11.5	15.3	16.6	15.3	15.1	15.1	20.9	18.1	15.1	15.3	15.3
Austria	14.9	16.4	13.0	13.1	12.8	13.1	13.3	17.7	14.4	13.2	13.1	12.9
Portugal	11.9	8.7	8.3	7.0	6.6	6.7	6.7	9.0	6.9	6.6	6.7	6.7
Slovenia	14.5	14.6	10.3	11.5	12.6	13.3	15.1	20.6	18.2	13.7	14.2	14.0
Slovakia	7.4	7.1	7.5	8.6	8.2	8.4	7.7	17.1	10.0	9.9	10.3	9.8
Finland	8.4	8.0	7.7	6.3	6.7	7.3	8.1	18.3	14.2	8.7	9.0	9.6
Euro area	13.4	12.9	12.3	12.3	12.0	12.3	12.8	19.0	14.4	12.7	12.9	12.9
Bulgaria	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Czechia	10.9	12.4	11.4	11.6	9.5	10.9	10.7	16.2	12.9	11.4	11.7	11.9
Denmark	7.1	6.3	7.5	11.5	12.3	12.3	12.3	19.9	17.2	12.2	12.4	12.6
Croatia	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:	:
Hungary	9.6	10.5	11.8	11.9	11.4	11.6	13.2	15.9	14.8	12.3	12.2	12.1
Poland	9.4	4.8	2.0	4.2	2.8	1.5	2.4	8.0	4.6	4.0	4.0	3.9
Romania	-7.1	-11.5	-10.2	-9.3	-7.3	-2.3	-2.5	6.9	9.5	-2.8	-2.0	-0.4
Sweden	7.9	11.6	15.3	16.5	16.0	17.9	19.0	21.5	19.5	19.1	19.1	19.6
EU	:	:	:	:	:	:		:		:	:	:
United Kingdo	m 8.2	10.1	9.5	7.2	5.3	5.8	5.7	10.6	7.8	6.6	6.7	6.6
Japan	11.6	10.4	8.6	9.7	9.0	10.5	10.6	13.3	11.4	8.7	8.5	7.9
United States	10.5	10.9	12.9	12.3	12.5	13.3	13.7	18.8	10.5	12.4	12.2	11.9

Gross saving, general government (as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021) Table 46:

Table 46: Gross savi	ng, general gove	rnment (as a	percentage o	of GDP, 2001-2	2021)							23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Au	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.3	0.9	0.1	0.2	1.7	1.9	0.8	-6.5	-1.9	0.9	0.4	0.1
Germany	-0.1	1.6	3.0	4.0	4.4	5.0	4.7	-3.3	2.1	4.4	3.9	3.6
Estonia	6.1	5.3	4.8	4.3	4.6	4.2	4.6	-2.0	1.7	4.5	4.4	4.3
Ireland	4.2	-1.0	-3.2	1.3	1.7	2.3	2.9	-2.6	0.0	2.7	2.9	3.1
Greece	-1.2	-6.0	-3.0	2.5	2.9	3.4	3.5	-5.4	0.9	2.7	2.5	3.0
Spain	4.3	0.8	-4.2	-2.4	-1.1	-0.5	-0.9	-7.8	-4.7	-0.4	-0.3	-0.1
France	1.4	0.5	0.4	0.7	1.7	1.7	1.2	-5.3	-0.1	1.1	2.0	2.0
Italy	0.4	0.9	0.3	0.5	1.0	0.9	1.6	-6.6	-2.0	0.9	0.8	0.4
Cyprus	-0.1	2.8	-0.1	3.1	4.5	5.4	4.6	-5.2	0.3	5.5	4.7	4.5
Latvia	2.1	0.3	1.7	3.1	3.5	3.7	3.4	-2.9	-0.9	4.0	3.4	3.2
Lithuania	1.9	-0.1	0.1	3.0	3.5	3.3	2.6	-4.3	0.0	2.8	3.0	2.9
Luxembourg	6.9	7.1	5.7	6.6	6.2	8.1	7.3	1.1	5.5	7.5	6.9	6.7
Malta	-1.6	-0.8	-0.1	3.6	5.8	5.0	3.7	-2.6	1.6	4.5	4.7	4.9
Netherlands	2.6	2.2	0.9	3.6	4.5	4.7	5.1	-1.9	0.2	4.9	4.0	4.0
Austria	2.4	1.3	2.2	2.0	3.0	3.7	4.1	-2.4	1.8	3.9	3.8	3.9
Portugal	-1.3	-2.5	-2.8	-0.5	1.0	2.2	2.7	-3.8	0.4	2.3	2.5	2.7
Slovenia	2.4	2.3	0.0	1.3	3.2	4.3	4.1	-3.4	1.2	3.9	4.0	4.2
Slovakia	0.6	-0.8	-0.1	0.9	2.3	2.4	2.2	-4.9	-0.7	2.0	1.2	1.0
Finland	6.9	5.2	1.8	2.4	3.1	3.1	2.8	-2.8	0.9	2.9	2.8	2.6
Euro area	1.3	0.9	0.6	1.6	2.4	2.8	2.6	-4.7	-0.1	2.4	2.4	2.2
Bulgaria	4.3	4.0	1.4	3.6	3.5	5.2	5.6	1.1	1.9	5.0	4.7	4.9
Czechia	3.5	2.7	2.3	4.1	4.9	5.0	4.5	-2.1	0.4	4.3	4.1	4.1
Denmark	4.2	4.7	3.3	4.2	5.3	4.6	7.0	-3.4	1.1	5.8	4.2	3.7
Croatia	4.2	3.0	-0.3	3.5	4.4	5.0	5.7	-2.4	2.3	5.3	4.8	4.8
Hungary	-0.9	-1.1	1.0	3.2	3.3	4.3	4.3	1.1	1.7	4.8	5.1	5.1
Poland	-1.4	0.0	0.1	0.8	2.4	3.7	2.9	-2.5	0.0	2.8	3.1	3.0
Romania	2.8	1.0	1.8	1.2	-0.6	0.0	-0.9	-6.3	-7.8	-0.3	-1.1	-2.8
Sweden	4.3	5.6	3.5	5.4	5.9	5.7	5.4	-0.3	2.9	5.2	5.1	5.1
EU	1.4	1.2	0.8	1.8	2.6	3.0	2.8	-4.3	0.0	2.5	2.4	2.3
United Kingdom	0.5	-2.3	-2.9	-0.1	1.0	1.3	1.5	-6.6	-2.8	1.5	1.4	1.5
Japan	-0.8	-1.4	-2.6	-0.3	0.7	1.6	1.7	-0.6	-1.0	0.7	1.1	1.4
United States	-1.1	-3.8	-3.7	-2.3	-2.4	-3.5	-3.8	-10.6	-5.0	-3.3	-3.4	-3.5

		5-year					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averages					fe	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	3.4	2.1	2.7	6.5	5.3	1.2	1.0	-10.6	7.7	0.6	1.2	1.5
Germany	6.0	4.1	4.5	2.4	4.9	2.1	0.9	-12.1	10.3	0.8	1.6	1.9
Estonia	11.1	4.3	6.2	5.1	3.8	4.3	4.9	-12.5	8.5	2.6	1.9	2.7
Ireland	6.0	4.3	10.9	4.1	9.2	10.4	11.1	-15.2	6.7	11.4	4.1	4.1
Greece	2.4	0.6	2.7	-1.8	6.8	8.7	4.8	-21.4	17.9	4.3	3.4	3.0
Spain	3.0	1.7	4.4	5.4	5.6	2.2	2.6	-19.8	11.9	2.0	2.3	2.4
France	2.7	1.2	3.8	1.8	3.9	3.5	2.0	-12.0	8.8	2.2	2.2	2.5
Italy	1.5	0.5	2.9	1.9	5.4	2.3	1.2	-13.0	10.5	1.9	2.0	2.5
Cyprus	0.3	1.6	4.7	7.2	8.7	4.6	2.0	-21.8	16.8	-2.5	-1.3	0.7
Latvia	10.8	4.3	6.4	4.0	6.4	4.0	2.0	-10.3	7.8	2.7	1.8	2.3
Lithuania	15.4	5.9	6.5	4.9	13.6	6.3	9.3	-12.5	13.5	6.8	3.6	3.0
Luxembourg	5.5	4.7	6.5	2.6	0.7	0.5	0.8	-11.5	8.4	1.7	1.7	2.3
Malta	0.8	10.6	5.7	4.5	4.8	3.5	1.7	-9.3	12.0	1.7	1.8	1.8
Netherlands	3.5	2.8	4.6	1.7	6.5	3.7	2.4	-10.6	7.0	2.0	1.7	1.7
Austria	5.1	2.8	2.8	3.1	5.0	5.9	2.7	-12.5	10.3	2.3	2.3	2.3
Portugal	2.9	3.2	5.5	4.4	8.4	4.5	3.7	-14.1	13.2	2.7	2.7	2.8
Slovenia	8.5	4.5	4.2	6.5	10.5	6.1	4.4	-12.4	13.5	7.9	4.9	4.6
Slovakia	14.3	7.3	7.2	5.0	3.5	5.4	1.7	-12.4	13.4	1.2	3.8	4.5
Finland	4.0	1.6	0.2	3.7	8.8	1.7	7.2	-10.7	7.3	1.9	2.2	2.4
Euro area	4.1	2.7	4.4	2.9	5.5	3.3	2.5	-12.9	9.5	2.4	2.1	2.3
Bulgaria	9.8	5.3	6.7	8.6	5.8	1.7	1.9	-13.2	10.8	-0.2	3.2	3.2
Czechia	13.0	6.5	5.6	4.3	6.7	4.4	1.2	-13.3	9.6	2.1	1.9	2.2
Denmark	3.4	2.1	3.3	4.1	4.6	2.4	1.6	-10.7	8.7	3.9	1.8	2.0
Croatia	6.7	0.6	4.1	7.0	6.8	3.7	4.6	-29.0	33.7	3.2	2.7	2.6
Hungary	10.2	8.0	5.0	3.8	6.9	4.3	6.0	-14.0	11.2	5.1	4.0	4.6
Poland	7.3	7.7	6.6	8.8	9.5	7.0	4.7	-9.8	8.6	4.8	4.4	4.7
Romania	12.6	10.9	9.0	16.0	7.6	6.2	4.6	-12.8	9.9	3.8	3.7	3.6
Sweden	4.8	2.0	3.4	2.8	4.3	3.2	4.2	-12.0	6.5	4.2	2.3	2.3
EU	4.4	3.0	4.5	3.4	5.6	3.5	2.7	-12.8	9.5	2.5	2.3	2.4
United Kingdom	3.5	1.7	2.7	2.7	6.1	1.2	4.8	-10.7	5.1	1.3	2.3	2.1
Japan	6.2	3.1	2.5	1.7	6.8	3.4	-1.8	-15.0	3.2	-1.5	0.6	0.8
United States	21	5.2	37	0.0	3.5	3.0	0.0	12.4	10.2	0.3	15	1.6

Table 48: Imp	ports of goods and servi	ces, volume (percentage	change on p	receding yed	ar, 2001-202	1)					23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					S	pring 2020		Au	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>						forecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	2.9	2.4	2.8	7.5	4.4	2.1	1.2	-10.2	8.1	0.6	1.6	1.9
Germany	3.5	4.2	3.9	4.3	5.2	3.6	1.9	-9.2	8.6	2.5	2.7	2.8
Estonia	14.5	1.5	7.6	6.0	4.2	5.7	3.7	-10.8	7.2	3.4	2.1	2.7
Ireland	6.0	2.8	9.4	18.4	1.1	-2.9	35.6	-27.7	8.4	22.3	4.2	4.1
Greece	2.0	0.4	-2.8	0.3	7.1	4.2	2.5	-18.0	15.8	5.1	4.0	3.0
Spain	6.0	-0.8	0.9	2.6	6.6	3.3	1.2	-21.1	12.4	0.5	2.0	2.4
France	3.5	2.2	3.8	2.9	3.9	1.2	2.2	-11.8	10.6	2.1	2.4	2.5
Italy	2.3	1.3	-0.2	3.9	6.1	3.4	-0.4	-13.6	12.2	0.7	2.2	2.6
Cyprus	1.4	4.2	0.8	9.0	12.8	2.4	1.5	-15.2	13.7	2.6	2.5	2.5
Latvia	13.4	-0.5	6.2	3.8	8.4	6.4	2.3	-8.3	8.0	4.2	2.2	2.8
Lithuania	17.0	3.6	6.4	4.0	11.5	6.0	6.7	-12.0	12.8	7.1	4.6	3.4
Luxembourg	5.9	4.9	7.5	1.6	0.6	-0.3	0.9	-12.0	8.8	1.9	1.7	2.2
Malta	0.1	10.6	4.3	1.6	-0.5	3.4	2.1	-7.2	10.8	2.6	2.1	1.8
Netherlands	3.3	2.9	5.1	-2.0	6.2	3.3	3.1	-11.2	8.0	2.9	2.5	2.3
Austria	4.5	2.2	2.8	3.7	5.0	4.6	2.8	-10.8	9.0	2.6	2.3	2.0
Portugal	2.0	2.5	1.4	5.0	8.1	5.7	5.2	-10.3	10.3	4.6	3.9	4.0
Slovenia	7.3	3.6	2.4	6.7	10.1	6.6	4.2	-11.4	14.8	9.2	5.8	5.5
Slovakia	13.8	5.2	5.7	4.8	3.9	5.0	2.6	-12.6	13.3	1.6	3.8	4.1
Finland	5.8	1.7	1.7	5.8	4.1	5.5	2.2	-8.6	8.1	1.8	2.5	3.0
Euro area	3.8	2.5	3.4	4.1	5.0	2.8	3.8	-12.9	9.7	3.2	2.6	2.7
Bulgaria	14.7	3.0	5.9	5.2	7.4	5.7	2.4	-12.5	6.8	0.5	3.8	3.7
Czechia	12.5	5.8	5.2	2.8	5.9	5.9	1.7	-13.0	9.6	2.0	1.6	2.3
Denmark	5.2	2.3	4.0	3.7	4.3	3.6	0.1	-8.8	8.1	1.4	2.6	1.9
Croatia	10.3	-1.6	3.2	6.5	8.4	7.5	4.8	-21.2	23.4	6.3	5.3	4.6
Hungary	9.8	5.6	4.3	3.4	8.2	6.8	6.9	-15.0	10.1	6.2	4.0	4.5
Poland	4.2	8.5	4.7	7.6	9.8	7.6	2.7	-10.6	8.9	5.9	5.6	5.4
Romania	19.4	12.2	6.7	16.5	10.8	9.1	8.0	-14.4	9.8	7.3	5.6	5.1
Sweden	2.9	2.9	4.0	3.8	4.8	3.6	1.8	-11.5	5.1	1.6	0.7	0.8
EU	4.2	2.9	3.6	4.4	5.3	3.3	3.7	-12.8	9.5	3.3	2.8	2.8
United Kingdom	5.3	0.9	3.2	4.4	3.5	2.0	4.6	-9.9	6.1	2.8	3.1	2.7
Japan	3.8	0.2	4.7	-1.6	3.4	3.4	-0.8	-11.8	2.0	-0.8	0.3	0.5
United States	4.6	1.0	4.0	2.0	4.7	4.4	1.0	-12.9	13.2	2.2	2.0	1.8

Table 49: Merchandise trade balance¹ (fob-fob, as a percentage of GDP, 2001-2021)

Table 49:	Merchandise trade balance ¹ (fob-	fob, as a per	rcentage of G	DP, 2001-2021)							23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u> averages					Spr	ring 2020 precast		Aut fe	umn 2019 precast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	3.6	0.7	-0.8	0.4	0.7	-0.2	-0.3	0.0	-0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0
Germany	6.1	6.8	7.3	8.1	7.8	6.8	6.7	5.5	6.3	6.4	6.2	5.9
Estonia	-16.6	-10.7	-4.6	-3.5	-3.5	-3.8	-3.2	-2.8	-2.5	-4.2	-4.0	-4.0
Ireland	23.3	18.8	25.7	39.0	36.7	34.9	35.4	35.9	36.0	34.1	32.7	31.5
Greece	-15.4	-16.2	-10.6	-9.3	-10.3	-9.9	-10.3	-6.8	-9.4	-10.7	-11.2	-11.1
Spain	-6.1	-6.7	-2.4	-1.3	-1.9	-2.4	-2.3	0.1	-0.4	-1.9	-1.7	-1.7
France	0.1	-1.7	-2.1	-1.1	-1.6	-1.7	-1.3	-0.9	-1.3	-1.5	-1.5	-1.5
Italy	0.7	-0.4	1.8	3.5	3.1	2.6	3.2	4.4	4.2	3.0	3.1	3.1
Cyprus	-24.0	-25.9	-19.1	-22.1	-25.0	-22.1	-21.5	-18.8	-21.1	-24.7	-25.6	-26.3
Latvia	-19.5	-16.6	-11.1	-7.5	-8.3	-8.1	-8.1	-8.2	-7.9	-8.6	-8.5	-8.8
Lithuania	-10.6	-10.4	-4.3	-4.9	-4.9	-6.1	-4.5	-4.2	-4.4	-6.5	-6.9	-7.2
Luxembourg	-9.3	-3.5	-0.4	-1.1	-2.0	-2.0	-3.1	-2.6	-2.7	-2.1	-2.1	-1.9
Malta	-13.1	-18.3	-15.5	-18.4	-12.6	-11.7	-11.8	-8.0	-11.4	-11.9	-11.7	-11.3
Netherlands	7.5	8.2	9.3	9.3	9.7	9.6	8.5	8.2	7.7	8.3	7.8	7.3
Austria	0.0	0.2	-0.2	0.7	0.4	1.0	1.1	0.1	0.8	1.0	1.1	1.4
Portugal	-11.1	-11.6	-6.1	-5.5	-7.0	-8.0	-8.1	-7.1	-7.4	-8.7	-9.3	-9.9
Slovenia	-3.1	-3.1	1.2	3.8	3.8	2.8	2.9	4.0	3.6	1.8	1.0	0.1
Slovakia	-6.6	-1.2	3.4	2.3	1.1	1.1	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.6
Finland	9.7	6.4	1.0	0.0	0.7	0.1	1.1	0.4	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.2
Euro area	1.7	0.9	2.4	3.8	3.5	3.0	3.2	3.4	3.4	2.9	2.8	2.7
Euro area, adjusted	2 0.8	0.2	1.8	3.3	3.1	2.6	2.7	2.9	3.0	2.5	2.4	2.3
Bulgaria	-18.7	-19.0	-7.1	-2.1	-1.5	-3.3	-2.8	-3.3	-1.6	-2.9	-2.9	-2.9
Czechia	-4.2	0.8	3.6	5.4	5.0	4.2	4.2	3.4	3.5	4.0	4.1	4.0
Denmark	4.6	2.6	4.6	5.4	4.9	4.0	5.7	4.8	5.3	6.3	6.0	6.1
Croatia	:	-19.0	-15.0	-16.3	-17.2	-18.7	-18.9	-12.6	-18.5	-18.7	-19.3	-19.8
Hungary	-4.7	0.3	2.9	3.4	1.5	-1.3	-1.9	0.7	0.8	-1.9	-1.5	-1.3
Poland	-3.1	-4.0	-1.2	0.7	0.3	-1.0	0.5	1.1	1.1	-1.2	-1.6	-1.7
Romania	-13.4	-12.6	-5.5	-5.5	-6.5	-7.3	-7.8	-6.6	-6.6	-8.2	-8.9	-9.6
Sweden	7.1	5.7	3.8	2.8	2.7	2.5	3.8	3.7	4.3	3.7	4.0	4.3
EU	1.5	0.6	2.2	3.5	3.2	2.6	2.8	3.1	3.1	1.2	1.2	1.0
EU, adjusted ²	0.7	-0.1	1.5	2.8	2.5	1.9	2.1	2.3	2.4	:	:	:
United Kingdom	-4.4	-5.6	-6.2	-6.7	-6.6	-6.5	-5.9	-6.1	-6.2	-6.2	-5.9	-5.9
Japan	2.3	1.8	-1.0	1.0	0.9	0.2	0.3	-0.1	0.0	0.2	0.3	0.3
United States	-5.0	-5.2	-4.6	-4.2	-4.3	-4.4	-4.1	-3.7	-4.2	-4.3	-4.4	-4.4

¹ See note 7 on concepts and sources. ² See note 8 on concepts and sources.

		5-vear		-			Sp	rina 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		averaaes					ср f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	5.1	3.1	0.9	0.6	1.2	-1.0	-0.7	-0.1	-0.3	-0.8	-0.9	-1.0
Germany	2.5	6.1	7.2	8.6	8.3	7.6	7.6	6.1	7.4	7.0	6.8	6.4
Estonia	-10.3	-6.8	0.4	1.6	2.7	2.0	2.3	1.1	2.2	1.4	1.6	1.6
Ireland	-0.5	-4.8	0.4	-4.2	0.5	10.6	-9.4	4.6	4.4	0.8	1.3	1.7
Greece	-9.4	-13.5	-3.8	-1.1	-1.0	-1.1	-0.3	0.1	-1.2	-0.8	-1.1	-0.9
Spain	-4.9	-7.0	0.6	3.2	2.7	1.9	2.0	3.2	2.7	2.4	2.5	2.6
France	1.1	-0.5	-1.0	-0.6	-0.6	-0.6	-0.1	-0.1	-0.4	-0.4	-0.6	-0.6
Italy	-0.5	-2.2	0.3	2.6	2.5	2.5	3.0	3.4	3.3	2.9	2.9	2.9
Cyprus	-7.5	-15.8	-2.4	-4.2	-5.1	-4.4	-5.7	-10.9	-10.1	-8.1	-10.6	-11.1
Latvia	-9.9	-9.1	-2.5	1.4	1.0	-0.7	0.6	1.1	1.2	-0.8	-1.4	-1.8
Lithuania	-6.2	-7.2	-0.5	-1.1	0.5	0.3	3.5	2.2	2.9	1.2	1.5	1.8
Luxembourg	7.0	3.8	-0.3	0.2	-0.9	0.0	4.5	4.5	4.5	4.4	4.4	4.4
Malta	-3.3	-5.8	1.3	3.8	11.5	11.3	10.7	7.6	9.7	9.0	8.5	8.2
Netherlands	5.4	5.9	9.0	8.1	10.8	11.2	10.2	9.0	8.4	9.8	9.0	8.6
Austria	1.3	3.2	2.1	2.9	1.7	2.4	2.3	0.9	1.6	2.2	2.1	2.2
Portugal	-8.7	-10.4	-1.2	0.6	1.0	0.2	0.0	-0.6	-0.2	-0.4	-0.7	-1.0
Slovenia	-1.7	-2.9	2.2	4.9	6.4	6.3	6.8	6.8	6.8	5.8	5.5	5.1
Slovakia	-6.0	-4.1	0.8	-2.0	-1.8	-1.6	-2.6	-2.9	-2.4	-2.4	-2.6	-2.3
Finland	6.1	2.8	-1.5	-1.9	-0.8	-1.6	-0.8	-1.3	-1.5	-1.3	-1.5	-1.7
Euro area	0.6	0.3	2.5	3.6	3.8	3.7	3.3	3.4	3.6	3.3	3.2	3.1
Euro area, adjusted²	0.3	-0.5	1.6	3.3	3.1	3.1	2.7	2.7	3.0	2.7	2.6	2.5
Bulgaria	-6.2	-14.4	0.7	5.3	6.1	4.7	5.2	3.3	5.4	5.5	5.5	5.4
Czechia	-4.0	-4.5	-2.1	0.1	0.3	-0.1	0.7	-1.5	-1.0	0.0	0.5	0.7
Denmark	3.4	3.5	7.6	7.8	7.8	7.0	7.9	6.2	6.7	7.1	6.7	6.7
Croatia	-4.5	-5.6	0.4	2.0	3.3	1.9	2.4	-1.7	0.5	1.6	0.7	0.3
Hungary	-8.3	-4.6	1.8	4.7	2.3	-0.3	-0.9	1.3	1.5	-1.2	-0.8	-0.7
Poland	-3.2	-5.1	-1.9	0.0	0.1	-0.7	0.4	0.6	0.9	-0.4	-0.4	-0.1
Romania	-6.5	-9.2	-2.4	-2.0	-3.4	-4.4	-4.6	-3.3	-3.4	-5.1	-5.3	-5.4
Sweden	5.0	6.6	4.3	2.9	3.4	2.6	4.4	3.7	4.0	3.6	4.1	4.5
EU	0.5	0.1	2.4	3.4	3.6	3.4	3.2	3.1	3.4	1.9	1.8	1.8
EU, adjusted²	0.1	-0.2	2.0	3.3	3.1	3.0	2.8	2.7	3.0	1.1	1.0	1.0
United Kingdom	-2.0	-3.3	-3.9	-5.2	-3.5	-3.9	-3.8	-4.1	-4.3	-4.3	-4.2	-4.2
Japan	3.0	3.6	1.6	4.0	4.1	3.5	3.5	3.6	3.2	3.5	3.5	3.3
United States	-4.6	-4.2	-2.4	-2.3	-2.3	-2.4	-2.3	-3.0	-3.0	-2.5	-2.5	-2.5

¹ See note 7 on concepts and sources. ² See note 8 on concepts and sources.

Table 51:	Net lending (+) or net borrowing (-) of the natio 	n¹ (as a perce	entage of GDF	[,] 2001-2021)							23.4.2020
		<u>5-year</u>					Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
		<u>averages</u>					f	orecast		fe	orecast	
	2001-05	2006-10	2011-15	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	5.1	2.9	1.0	0.7	1.3	-1.0	-0.6	-0.1	-0.2	-0.8	-0.9	-0.9
Germany	2.4	6.0	7.1	8.6	8.0	7.5	7.4	5.9	7.2	6.9	6.7	6.3
Estonia	-9.8	-4.5	3.1	2.6	3.6	3.4	3.8	3.8	4.9	2.7	2.9	3.0
Ireland	-0.2	-4.7	-0.4	-5.8	-8.2	-5.8	-19.3	-6.1	-5.6	-14.6	-13.4	-12.2
Greece	-8.3	-11.8	-1.7	0.4	0.1	-0.1	0.8	1.6	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.6
Spain	-4.1	-6.6	1.1	3.4	2.9	2.4	2.3	3.5	3.0	2.9	3.1	3.1
France	1.0	-0.4	-1.0	-0.6	-0.5	-0.5	0.2	0.2	0.3	-0.4	-0.5	-0.5
Italy	-0.4	-2.1	0.4	2.4	2.6	2.5	2.9	3.2	3.2	2.9	2.9	2.9
Cyprus	-7.0	-15.6	-2.1	-4.1	-4.7	-3.8	-5.0	-10.3	-9.5	-7.1	-9.9	-10.3
Latvia	-9.2	-7.4	0.2	2.5	1.7	1.1	2.8	2.6	3.4	1.3	0.7	0.3
Lithuania	-5.7	-4.5	2.5	0.3	1.7	1.8	5.1	4.2	5.0	2.8	3.2	3.6
Luxembourg	6.9	2.2	-0.2	-0.4	-1.5	-0.7	4.0	4.1	4.1	3.7	3.7	3.6
Malta	-2.3	-4.3	3.1	4.1	12.1	12.2	11.7	8.6	10.7	10.0	9.5	9.2
Netherlands	5.5	5.8	8.4	7.9	10.8	11.1	10.2	9.0	8.4	9.7	8.9	8.5
Austria	1.2	3.1	1.9	2.8	1.6	2.4	2.2	0.8	1.6	2.1	2.0	2.2
Portugal	-6.9	-9.2	0.3	1.5	1.8	1.2	0.8	0.5	0.8	0.8	0.6	0.3
Slovenia	-1.9	-2.5	2.8	4.1	5.6	5.8	6.5	6.4	6.4	5.3	5.0	4.6
Slovakia	-6.5	-3.3	2.3	-2.1	-2.5	-1.3	-2.3	-2.6	-2.2	-2.1	-2.4	-2.0
Finland	6.2	2.9	-1.5	-1.9	-0.7	-1.6	-0.7	-1.2	-1.4	-1.2	-1.4	-1.6
Euro area	0.7	0.4	2.6	3.6	3.6	3.3	3.1	3.1	3.5	3.0	2.9	2.7
Euro area, adjusted	j ² 0.4	-0.4	1.7	3.2	2.9	2.7	2.5	2.4	2.8	2.3	2.2	2.1
Bulgaria	-5.8	-13.9	2.7	7.3	7.1	5.8	6.4	4.7	6.8	6.7	6.8	6.7
Czechia	-3.8	-3.3	-0.2	0.6	0.8	0.8	1.1	-0.8	0.0	1.0	1.7	2.2
Denmark	3.5	3.6	7.5	7.8	7.8	7.0	7.9	6.3	6.9	7.1	6.7	6.7
Croatia	-4.5	-5.6	0.7	3.6	4.4	3.3	4.4	0.4	2.6	3.6	2.6	2.2
Hungary	-8.0	-3.4	5.2	4.6	3.1	2.1	0.9	3.3	3.4	0.6	1.2	1.2
Poland	-3.1	-4.0	0.1	1.2	1.0	0.8	1.9	1.3	1.7	1.3	1.2	1.4
Romania	-6.0	-8.5	-0.5	0.5	-1.8	-3.2	-3.1	-1.7	-1.7	-3.7	-3.9	-3.9
Sweden	4.9	6.4	4.1	2.9	3.4	2.6	4.4	3.7	4.0	3.6	4.1	4.5
EU	0.6	0.3	2.6	3.5	3.4	3.2	3.1	3.0	3.4	1.7	1.7	1.6
EU, adjusted ²	0.2	0.0	2.2	3.4	2.9	2.8	2.7	2.6	3.0	:	:	:
United Kingdom	-2.1	-3.3	-4.0	-5.3	-3.6	-4.0	-3.8	-4.2	-4.5	-4.6	-4.5	-4.4
Japan	2.9	3.5	1.5	3.9	4.1	3.5	3.4	3.5	3.2	3.4	3.4	3.3
United States	-4.6	-4.2	-2.4	-2.3	-2.3	-2.4	-2.3	-3.0	-3.0	-2.5	-2.5	-2.5

¹ See note 7 on concepts and sources. ² See note 8 on concepts and sources.

Table 52: Curren	t-account balance ¹ (in billio	ons of euro, 20	13-21)									23.4.2020
							Sp	ring 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
							f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	7.1	5.8	5.8	2.4	5.5	-4.6	-3.2	-0.6	-1.3	-3.9	-4.4	-4.9
Germany	184.8	216.2	261.2	271.1	267.9	255.8	262.8	200.5	261.6	239.3	239.9	233.3
Estonia	0.1	0.1	0.4	0.4	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.5
Ireland	2.8	2.1	11.6	-11.4	1.5	34.3	-32.8	14.8	15.2	2.7	4.6	6.6
Greece	-4.0	-3.7	-0.4	-2.0	-1.8	-2.0	-0.6	0.2	-2.3	-1.4	-2.1	-1.9
Spain	20.8	17.5	21.8	35.4	31.1	23.3	25.2	36.1	32.7	29.8	32.1	33.7
France	-20.8	-26.4	-10.9	-13.5	-13.0	-13.7	-2.5	-3.3	-8.5	-10.4	-13.7	-15.3
Italy	17.8	30.8	23.5	44.0	44.1	44.0	53.2	54.8	58.4	52.1	52.9	53.5
Cyprus	-0.3	-0.7	-0.1	-0.8	-1.0	-0.9	-1.2	-2.2	-2.2	-1.8	-2.4	-2.6
Latvia	-0.6	-0.5	-0.2	0.4	0.3	-0.2	0.2	0.3	0.4	-0.3	-0.5	-0.6
Lithuania	0.6	1.3	-0.9	-0.4	0.2	0.1	1.7	1.0	1.5	0.6	0.8	1.0
Luxembourg	-0.6	-0.5	0.2	0.1	-0.5	0.0	2.8	2.7	3.0	2.8	2.9	3.0
Malta	0.0	0.5	0.3	0.4	1.3	1.4	1.4	1.0	1.3	1.2	1.2	1.2
Netherlands	66.5	63.9	43.5	57.1	79.9	86.6	83.0	69.1	68.8	78.9	74.3	72.8
Austria	6.1	8.2	6.4	10.2	6.2	9.4	9.0	3.4	6.6	8.7	8.6	9.4
Portugal	1.8	-0.2	0.0	1.2	2.0	0.4	-0.1	-1.2	-0.4	-0.8	-1.4	-2.3
Slovenia	0.8	1.9	1.5	2.0	2.8	2.9	3.3	3.1	3.3	2.8	2.8	2.7
Slovakia	2.3	1.9	-0.5	-1.6	-1.6	-1.5	-2.4	-2.6	-2.3	-2.3	-2.6	-2.3
Finland	-4.0	-3.0	-1.7	-4.2	-1.7	-3.9	-1.8	-3.0	-3.7	-3.1	-3.6	-4.5
Euro area	281.2	315.3	361.3	390.6	423.6	432.1	398.5	374.1	432.6	395.1	389.7	383.4
Euro area, adjusted ²	209.4	240.5	291.0	352.4	348.2	360.9	320.5	296.1	354.6	319.1	313.6	307.3
Bulgaria	0.9	0.2	0.3	2.6	3.2	2.6	3.1	1.9	3.3	3.4	3.6	3.7
Czechia	-1.7	-1.9	-2.6	0.2	0.6	-0.3	1.6	-3.0	-2.1	-0.1	1.1	1.6
Denmark	20.1	23.7	22.5	22.0	22.7	21.2	24.4	18.2	21.2	21.8	21.2	21.9
Croatia	-0.5	0.1	1.4	0.9	1.6	1.0	1.3	-0.8	0.3	0.9	0.4	0.2
Hungary	3.5	1.3	2.6	5.4	2.9	-0.4	-1.4	1.7	2.1	-1.7	-1.2	-1.0
Poland	-1.9	-5.5	0.8	-0.1	0.6	-3.3	2.2	2.8	4.8	-1.9	-2.2	-0.7
Romania	-1.4	-0.7	-1.8	-3.5	-6.3	-8.9	-10.2	-7.0	-7.7	-11.3	-12.8	-14.1
Sweden	19.8	16.8	14.6	13.6	16.2	12.1	20.9	16.4	18.7	17.1	19.3	22.2
EU	319.9	349.3	399.1	431.7	465.1	456.0	440.5	404.2	473.3	314.2	308.7	305.2
EU, adjusted²	288.4	291.8	340.7	417.2	399.3	406.2	385.5	349.2	418.2	:	:	:
United Kingdom	-99.9	-109.1	-129.6	-126.9	-82.5	-93.7	-95.5	-96.7	-109.8	-108.9	-110.4	-111.9
Japan	34.4	27.9	123.0	178.0	178.8	148.2	157.6	158.9	148.9	158.8	163.1	158.4
United States	-262.6	-274.9	-367.5	-387.0	-389.2	-415.7	-445.2	-548.3	-587.0	-483.9	-499.4	-513.3

United States

² See note 8 on concepts and sources.

Table 53: Export markets (a) (percentage change on preceding year, 2013-21)

						Spi	ring 2020	Autumn 2019					
						fe	orecast		f	orecast			
2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021		
2.5	4.5	5.1	2.6	5.1	3.0	2.2	-11.1	8.4	2.3	2.6	2.7		
2.9	3.6	3.5	3.3	5.6	3.6	1.6	-11.4	8.4	1.9	2.5	2.7		
2.0	1.6	1.4	3.2	6.1	4.2	2.4	-10.6	7.8	2.4	2.4	2.5		
3.1	4.8	4.2	2.8	4.9	3.4	1.9	-11.9	8.8	2.0	2.4	2.4		
3.2	4.1	3.7	3.0	6.0	2.7	2.4	-12.1	8.5	2.1	3.0	2.9		
3.1	4.0	4.3	2.8	5.2	2.8	2.4	-11.2	8.3	2.2	2.7	2.8		
2.8	4.6	3.8	2.7	5.3	3.4	1.9	-11.6	8.1	1.9	2.5	2.7		
3.4	3.4	3.5	3.1	5.3	3.1	1.8	-11.4	8.5	2.1	2.6	2.8		
7.4	1.2	-4.8	-2.6	7.5	4.5	3.1	-10.7	6.2	2.1	2.7	2.5		
2.7	0.6	-1.3	2.8	7.4	3.8	2.9	-11.0	7.6	2.7	2.7	2.6		
1.6	0.6	-2.6	2.7	7.2	4.1	2.3	-10.8	7.2	2.4	2.6	2.8		
3.0	6.5	7.4	4.2	4.6	1.9	6.5	-14.9	8.9	4.3	2.7	2.5		
3.6	6.1	5.5	3.3	4.7	2.8	5.5	-13.4	8.7	3.8	3.1	2.6		
2.1	4.5	4.9	4.4	4.9	2.7	3.4	-11.7	8.3	3.0	2.6	2.8		
3.2	3.6	4.5	3.6	5.6	3.8	2.0	-11.4	9.1	2.4	2.8	2.9		
2.1	5.1	4.6	2.1	5.1	3.2	2.4	-13.8	9.0	2.0	2.5	2.6		
2.3	3.8	4.4	4.1	6.2	4.4	2.3	-11.9	10.3	2.8	3.2	3.2		
1.9	4.8	4.5	4.0	6.1	4.3	2.0	-11.0	8.9	2.6	2.8	3.0		
2.8	3.2	1.3	2.7	5.9	3.5	2.1	-10.9	7.3	2.0	2.3	2.4		
2.8	4.1	4.0	3.2	5.3	3.3	2.2	-11.5	8.4	2.2	2.6	2.7		
3.0	3.9	3.0	3.9	6.7	3.4	2.3	-12.5	9.1	2.1	3.2	3.2		
2.6	3.8	4.2	4.0	5.7	3.9	2.1	-10.6	8.8	2.4	2.9	3.1		
2.8	4.8	3.9	3.0	5.1	3.6	2.2	-11.5	7.6	2.3	2.4	2.5		
2.7	4.4	4.7	4.0	6.2	4.0	3.1	-12.4	10.1	3.5	3.2	3.1		
2.4	3.9	4.5	4.4	6.0	4.2	2.4	-11.3	9.2	2.7	3.1	3.1		
2.1	3.3	3.7	3.5	5.6	3.6	2.3	-11.0	8.5	2.4	2.6	2.8		
2.2	4.0	4.2	3.3	5.8	3.4	2.1	-11.5	8.9	2.2	2.8	3.0		
2.9	3.8	3.5	3.3	4.9	3.4	2.5	-11.1	8.0	2.5	2.6	2.6		
2.8	4.0	4.0	3.3	5.4	3.3	2.2	-11.5	8.4	2.3	2.6	2.7		
3.2	4.6	4.8	2.9	4.8	3.1	2.9	-12.4	8.5	2.7	2.4	2.6		
3.9	3.7	2.3	3.1	6.5	4.9	0.6	-10.2	7.7	1.0	2.3	2.7		
3.4	4.2	2.9	1.9	5.2	3.3	1.7	-12.8	6.8	1.7	2.3	2.6		
arious markets (inc	:I. EU-markets) we	ighted according	g to their share in	country's exports	of goods and ser	vices.							
	2013 2.5 2.9 2.0 3.1 3.2 3.1 2.8 3.4 7.4 2.7 1.6 3.0 3.6 2.1 3.2 2.1 2.3 1.9 2.8 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.7 2.8 3.2 2.1 2.3 1.9 2.8 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.1 3.2 2.1 2.3 1.9 2.8 2.8 3.0 2.6 2.8 3.0 2.4 3.2 2.9 2.8 3.2 3.9 3.2 3.9 3.4 3.9 3.9 3.2 3.9 3.4 3.9 3.9 3.4 3.9 3.9 3.4 3.9 3.9 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.4	2013 2014 2.5 4.5 2.9 3.6 2.0 1.6 3.1 4.8 3.2 4.1 3.1 4.0 2.8 4.6 3.4 3.4 7.4 1.2 2.7 0.6 3.0 6.5 3.6 6.1 2.1 4.5 3.2 3.6 2.1 5.1 2.3 3.8 1.9 4.8 2.8 4.1 3.0 3.9 2.6 3.8 2.8 4.1 3.0 3.9 2.6 3.8 2.7 4.4 2.4 3.9 2.1 3.3 2.2 4.0 2.9 3.8 2.8 4.0 3.2 4.6 3.9 3.7 3.4 4.2 3.4	2013 2014 2015 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.9 3.6 3.5 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.1 4.8 4.2 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 4.6 3.8 3.4 3.4 3.5 7.4 1.2 -4.8 2.7 0.6 -1.3 1.6 0.6 -2.6 3.0 6.5 7.4 3.6 6.1 5.5 2.1 4.5 4.9 3.2 3.6 4.5 2.1 5.1 4.6 2.3 3.8 4.4 1.9 4.8 4.5 2.1 5.1 4.6 2.8 3.2 1.3 2.8 4.1 4.0 3.0 3.9 3.0 2.6 3.8 4.2 2.8 4.1 4.7 <td>2013 2014 2015 2016 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.0 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 3.6 6.1 5.5 3.3 2.1 4.5 4.9 4.4 3.2 3.6 4.5 3.6 2.1 5.1 4.6 2.1 2.3 3.8 4.4 4.1 1.9 4.8 4.5 4.0 2.8 4.1 4.0</td> <td>2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.0 6.0 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 7.2 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 3.6 6.1 5.5 3.3 4.7 2.1 4.5 4.9 4.4 4.9 3.2 3.6 4.5 3.6 5.6 2.1 5.1</td> <td>2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.0 6.0 2.7 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 4.5 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 7.2 4.1 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 3.6 6.1 5.5 3.3 4.7 2.8</td> <td>2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.4 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.0 6.0 2.7 2.4 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.4 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 1.9 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 4.5 3.1 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 2.9 1.6 0.6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 6.5 3.6 6.1 5.5 3.3 4.7 2.8 2.0 2.1 <t< td=""><td>2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 -11.7 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.4 -11.2 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.4 -11.1 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 -11.4 7.4 1.2 4.8 2.6 7.5 3.3 3.1 1.16 7.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 2.9 -11.0 1.6 0.65 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 6.5</td><td>2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2020 2020 2021 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 8.4 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 8.4 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 7.8 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 6.0 2.7 2.4 -11.2 8.3 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 9 -11.4 8.1 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 -11.4 8.5 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 4.5 3.1 -10.7 6.2 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 2.9 -11.0 7.4 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 <td< td=""><td>Spring 2020 Air 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 2021 2019 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 8.4 2.3 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 8.4 1.9 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 7.8 2.4 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 -11.2 8.3 2.2 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 1.14 8.5 2.1 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 -11.4 8.5 2.1 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.7 2.4 1.23 -10.7 6.2 2.7 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 7.2 4.1</td><td>Spring 2020 Autumn 2019 lorecast torecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast <th colspan="2" lorec<="" td=""></th></td></td<></td></t<></td>	2013 2014 2015 2016 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.0 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 3.6 6.1 5.5 3.3 2.1 4.5 4.9 4.4 3.2 3.6 4.5 3.6 2.1 5.1 4.6 2.1 2.3 3.8 4.4 4.1 1.9 4.8 4.5 4.0 2.8 4.1 4.0	2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.0 6.0 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 7.2 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 3.6 6.1 5.5 3.3 4.7 2.1 4.5 4.9 4.4 4.9 3.2 3.6 4.5 3.6 5.6 2.1 5.1	2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.0 6.0 2.7 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 4.5 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 7.2 4.1 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 3.6 6.1 5.5 3.3 4.7 2.8	2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.4 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 3.2 4.1 3.7 3.0 6.0 2.7 2.4 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.4 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 1.9 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 4.5 3.1 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 2.9 1.6 0.6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 6.5 3.6 6.1 5.5 3.3 4.7 2.8 2.0 2.1 <t< td=""><td>2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 -11.7 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.4 -11.2 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.4 -11.1 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 -11.4 7.4 1.2 4.8 2.6 7.5 3.3 3.1 1.16 7.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 2.9 -11.0 1.6 0.65 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 6.5</td><td>2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2020 2020 2021 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 8.4 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 8.4 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 7.8 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 6.0 2.7 2.4 -11.2 8.3 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 9 -11.4 8.1 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 -11.4 8.5 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 4.5 3.1 -10.7 6.2 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 2.9 -11.0 7.4 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 <td< td=""><td>Spring 2020 Air 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 2021 2019 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 8.4 2.3 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 8.4 1.9 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 7.8 2.4 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 -11.2 8.3 2.2 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 1.14 8.5 2.1 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 -11.4 8.5 2.1 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.7 2.4 1.23 -10.7 6.2 2.7 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 7.2 4.1</td><td>Spring 2020 Autumn 2019 lorecast torecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast <th colspan="2" lorec<="" td=""></th></td></td<></td></t<>	2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 -11.7 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.4 -11.2 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 5.2 2.8 2.4 -11.1 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 -11.4 7.4 1.2 4.8 2.6 7.5 3.3 3.1 1.16 7.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 2.9 -11.0 1.6 0.65 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 6.5	2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2020 2020 2021 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 8.4 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 8.4 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 7.8 3.1 4.0 4.3 2.8 6.0 2.7 2.4 -11.2 8.3 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 9 -11.4 8.1 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 -11.4 8.5 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.5 4.5 3.1 -10.7 6.2 2.7 0.6 -1.3 2.8 7.4 3.8 2.9 -11.0 7.4 3.0 6.5 7.4 4.2 4.6 1.9 <td< td=""><td>Spring 2020 Air 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 2021 2019 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 8.4 2.3 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 8.4 1.9 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 7.8 2.4 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 -11.2 8.3 2.2 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 1.14 8.5 2.1 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 -11.4 8.5 2.1 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.7 2.4 1.23 -10.7 6.2 2.7 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 7.2 4.1</td><td>Spring 2020 Autumn 2019 lorecast torecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast <th colspan="2" lorec<="" td=""></th></td></td<>	Spring 2020 Air 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018 2019 2021 2019 2.5 4.5 5.1 2.6 5.1 3.0 2.2 -11.1 8.4 2.3 2.9 3.6 3.5 3.3 5.6 3.6 1.6 -11.4 8.4 1.9 2.0 1.6 1.4 3.2 6.1 4.2 2.4 -10.6 7.8 2.4 3.1 4.8 4.2 2.8 4.9 3.4 1.9 -11.2 8.3 2.2 2.8 4.6 3.8 2.7 5.3 3.4 1.14 8.5 2.1 3.4 3.4 3.5 3.1 5.3 3.1 1.8 -11.4 8.5 2.1 7.4 1.2 -4.8 -2.6 7.7 2.4 1.23 -10.7 6.2 2.7 1.6 0.6 -2.6 2.7 7.2 4.1	Spring 2020 Autumn 2019 lorecast torecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast lorecast <th colspan="2" lorec<="" td=""></th>		

23.4.2020

							Sp	rina 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
							f	orecast		f	orecast	
	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Belgium	-2.1	0.7	-1.3	3.8	0.2	-1.7	-1.2	0.6	-0.6	-1.7	-1.3	-1.1
Germany	-1.9	1.1	1.8	-0.9	-0.7	-1.4	-0.7	-0.8	1.8	-1.0	-0.9	-0.8
Estonia	0.8	1.1	-2.8	1.8	-2.1	0.1	2.4	-2.0	0.6	0.2	-0.5	0.1
Ireland	-0.2	9.3	33.6	1.3	4.2	6.8	9.0	-3.8	-1.9	9.2	1.7	1.7
Greece	-1.6	3.5	-0.6	-4.6	0.7	5.8	2.3	-10.5	8.6	2.1	0.4	0.1
Spain	1.3	0.5	0.0	2.5	0.4	-0.6	0.2	-9.7	3.3	-0.2	-0.4	-0.3
France	-0.7	-1.3	0.8	-0.9	-1.4	0.0	0.1	-0.4	0.7	0.3	-0.3	-0.2
Italy	-2.9	-0.7	0.7	-1.2	0.1	-0.8	-0.7	-1.8	2.2	-0.2	-0.6	-0.3
Cyprus	-5.8	5.0	15.5	10.1	1.1	0.1	-1.1	-12.4	10.0	-4.5	-3.9	-1.7
Latvia	-1.5	5.8	4.3	1.1	-0.9	0.2	-0.9	0.7	0.2	0.0	-0.9	-0.3
Lithuania	5.6	-2.4	5.2	2.1	5.9	2.2	6.8	-1.9	5.8	4.3	1.0	0.2
Luxembourg	2.2	9.3	-2.5	-1.5	-3.7	-1.4	-5.3	4.0	-0.4	-2.5	-0.9	-0.2
Malta	-2.6	-1.9	9.5	1.2	0.1	0.6	-3.7	4.8	3.1	-2.0	-1.2	-0.8
Netherlands	0.4	0.0	2.4	-2.6	1.6	1.0	-1.0	1.2	-1.2	-0.9	-0.8	-1.0
Austria	-2.5	-0.7	-1.4	-0.5	-0.5	2.0	0.7	-1.3	1.1	-0.2	-0.4	-0.6
Portugal	5.0	-0.8	1.6	2.3	3.2	1.3	1.3	-0.3	3.9	0.7	0.2	0.2
Slovenia	0.8	2.2	0.3	2.2	4.0	1.7	2.1	-0.6	2.9	4.9	1.7	1.3
Slovakia	4.0	-1.0	2.0	1.0	-2.4	1.0	-0.3	-1.5	4.1	-1.4	0.9	1.5
Finland	-2.2	-5.0	-0.9	1.0	2.8	-1.7	5.0	0.2	0.1	-0.1	0.0	0.0
Euro area (b)	-0.9	0.7	2.5	-0.3	0.1	0.1	0.3	-1.5	1.1	0.1	-0.5	-0.4
Bulgaria	6.5	-0.7	3.3	4.6	-0.8	-1.6	-0.4	-0.8	1.5	-2.3	0.0	0.0
Czechia	-2.3	4.7	1.7	0.3	0.9	0.5	-0.9	-3.0	0.7	-0.3	-1.0	-0.8
Denmark	-1.2	-1.6	-0.3	1.1	-0.5	-1.1	-0.6	0.9	1.0	1.5	-0.6	-0.5
Croatia	-0.2	2.9	5.4	3.0	0.6	-0.3	1.5	-19.0	21.4	-0.3	-0.4	-0.5
Hungary	1.6	5.1	2.8	-0.6	0.8	0.1	3.5	-3.1	1.8	2.4	0.9	1.4
Poland	3.9	3.3	3.9	5.1	3.7	3.3	2.3	1.3	0.1	2.3	1.7	1.9
Romania	17.6	3.9	0.4	12.3	1.7	2.7	2.4	-1.5	0.9	1.6	0.8	0.6
Sweden	-3.9	0.5	2.7	-0.5	-0.5	-0.2	1.7	-1.1	-1.4	1.7	-0.3	-0.3
EU (b)	-0.6	0.9	2.5	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.4	-1.4	1.0	0.2	-0.3	-0.3
United Kingdom	-2.0	-3.4	-1.0	-0.2	1.3	-1.8	1.9	1.9	-3.2	-1.4	-0.1	-0.5
Japan	-3.0	5.3	0.7	-1.4	0.3	-1.4	-2.3	-5.4	-4.2	-2.5	-1.7	-1.9
United States	0.2	0.0	24	1.9	1.4	0.3	-17	-0.7	3.2	14	0.8	1.0

(a) Index for exports of goods and services divided by an index for growth of markets. (b) Intra- and extra-EU trade.

Table 55: World GDP, volume (percentage of	change on preced	ing year, 201	5-21)							-	23.4.2020
						Spi	ring 2020		Au	tumn 2019	
	(a)	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	orecast 2020	2021
EU	140	23	2010	2017	2010	1.5	-7.4	6.1	14	14	14
Euro area	11.3	2.1	1.9	2.5	1.9	1.2	-7.7	6.3	1.1	1.2	1.2
Belgium	0.4	2.0	1.5	2.0	1.5	1.4	-7.2	6.7	1.1	1.0	1.0
Bulgaria	0.1	4.0	3.8	3.5	3.1	3.4	-7.2	6.0	3.6	3.0	2.9
Czechia	0.3	5.3	2.5	4.4	2.8	2.6	-6.2	5.0	2.5	2.2	2.1
Denmark	0.2	2.3	3.2	2.0	2.4	2.4	-5.9	5.1	2.0	1.5	1.6
Germany	3.2	1.7	2.2	2.5	1.5	0.6	-6.5	5.9	0.4	1.0	1.0
Estonia Inclused	0.0	1.8	2.6	5.7	4.8	4.3	-6.9	5.9	3.2	2.1	2.4
Ireland	0.3	25.2	3.7	8.1	8.2	5.5	-7.9	6.1	5.6	3.5	3.2
Spein	0.2	-0.4	-0.2	1.5	1.9	1.9	-9./	7.9	1.8	2.3	2.0
France	1.4	3.0	3.0	2.9	2.4	1.3	-7.4	7.0	1.9	1.5	1.4
Croatia	0.1	2.4	3.5	2.5	27	2.9	-0.2	7.4	20	2.6	2.4
Italy	1.8	0.8	1.3	1.7	0.8	0.3	-9.5	6.5	0.1	0.4	0.7
Cyprus	0.0	3.4	6.7	4.4	4.1	3.2	-7.4	6.1	2.9	2.6	2.3
Latvia	0.0	3.3	1.8	3.8	4.3	2.2	-7.0	6.4	2.5	2.6	2.7
Lithuania	0.1	2.0	2.6	4.2	3.6	3.9	-7.9	7.4	3.8	2.4	2.4
Luxembourg	0.0	4.3	4.6	1.8	3.1	2.3	-5.4	5.7	2.6	2.6	2.6
Hungary	0.2	3.8	2.2	4.3	5.1	4.9	-7.0	6.0	4.6	2.8	2.8
Malta	0.0	10.9	5.8	6.5	7.3	4.4	-5.8	6.0	5.0	4.2	3.8
Netherlands	0.7	2.0	2.2	2.9	2.6	1.8	-6.8	5.0	1.7	1.3	1.3
Austria	0.3	1.0	2.1	2.5	2.4	1.6	-5.5	5.0	1.5	1.4	1.4
Polana	0.9	3.8	3.1	4.9	5.3	4.1	-4.3	4.1	4.1	3.3	3.3
Pomonia	0.2	1.8	2.0	3.5	2.6	2.2	-6.8	5.8	2.0	1./	1./
Slovenia	0.4	3.7	4.0	/.1	4.4	2.4	-8.0	4.2	4.1	3.0	3.3
Slovakia	0.1	4.8	21	3.0	4.0	2.3	-6.7	6.6	2.0	2.7	2.7
Finland	0.2	0.5	2.7	3.1	1.6	1.0	-6.3	3.7	1.4	1.1	1.0
Sweden	0.4	4.4	2.4	2.4	2.2	1.2	-6.1	4.3	1.1	1.0	1.4
United Kingdom	2.2	2.4	1.9	1.9	1.3	1.4	-8.3	6.0	1.3	1.4	1.4
Candidate Countries	1.9	5.8	3.2	7.0	2.9	1.1	-5.3	4.5	0.6	3.1	3.5
- Albania	0.0	2.2	3.3	3.8	4.1	2.2	-4.8	4.2	3.1	3.7	3.6
- Montenegro	0.0	3.4	2.9	4.7	5.1	3.6	-5.9	4.4	3.1	3.0	2.8
- North Macedonia	0.0	3.9	2.8	0.2	2.7	3.6	-3.9	4.0	3.2	3.2	3.3
- Serbia	0.1	1.8	3.3	2.0	4.4	4.2	-4.1	6.1	3.2	3.8	3.7
- lurkey	1.7	6.1	3.2	7.5	2.8	0.9	-5.4	4.4	0.3	3.1	3.5
rotential Canalaties	0.1	4.1	3.4	3.5	3.4	3.3	-5.0	4.9	3.1	2.9	2.5
Norway	0.0	4./	0.0	4.5	3.0	1.7	-5.5	3.0	-0.2	1.0	2.4
Switzerland	0.4	1.3	1.1	1.8	2.8	0.9	-5.0	4.5	1.0	1.9	1.7
Australia	1.0	2.3	2.8	2.5	2.7	1.8	-6.7	5.7	1.8	2.0	2.1
Canada	1.4	0.7	1.0	3.2	2.0	1.6	-7.4	5.2	1.6	1.7	1.7
Japan	4.1	1.2	0.5	2.2	0.3	0.7	-5.0	2.7	0.9	0.4	0.6
Korea	1.7	2.8	2.9	3.2	2.7	2.0	-1.0	2.5	1.9	2.1	2.1
United States	15.2	2.9	1.6	2.4	2.9	2.3	-6.5	4.9	2.3	1.8	1.6
Advanced economies	44.0	2.5	1.8	2.8	2.3	1.7	-6.4	5.0	1.7	1.6	1.6
Emerging and developing Asia	34.1	6.6	6.9	6.5	6.4	5.6	0.6	7.2	5.7	5.6	5.5
- China	18.7	6.9	6.8	7.0	6.7	6.1	1.0	7.8	6.1	5.8	5.6
- India	7.7	7.5	9.0	6.6	6.8	5.3	1.1	6.7	5.6	6.1	6.3
- Indonesia	2.6	4.9	5.0	5.1	5.2	5.0	0.0	6.3	5.1	5.0	5.0
- Russia	4.4	-1.7	0.7	2.2	2./	2.1	-4.0	2.3	1.7	2.1	2.1
- Other CIS	13	-2.3	1.7	3.5	2.3	3.9	-1.6	4.0	3.4	3.5	1.5
Latin America	7.5	-0.0	-0.9	1.1	0.9	-0.1	-5.6	2.4	-0.1	1.1	1.7
- Argentina	0.7	2.7	-2.1	2.7	-2.5	-2.2	-5.5	2.9	-2.9	-1.4	0.7
- Brazil	2.5	-3.5	-3.3	1.3	1.3	1.1	-5.2	1.9	0.8	1.5	1.8
- Mexico	1.9	3.3	2.9	2.1	2.1	-0.1	-6.4	2.8	0.4	1.2	1.7
MENA	6.5	2.4	4.6	1.9	1.0	0.2	-3.8	2.0	1.0	1.8	1.9
- Saudi Arabia	1.4	4.1	1.7	-0.7	2.4	0.3	-3.5	1.5	1.2	1.4	1.4
Sub-Saharan Africa	3.2	3.0	1.1	2.6	2.6	2.4	-4.1	2.1	2.7	2.8	2.8
- South Africa	0.6	1.2	0.4	1.4	0.8	0.2	-6.2	1.5	0.6	1.0	1.4
Emerging and developing economies	56.0	4.0	4.5	4.6	4.5	3.7	-1.3	5.3	3.9	4.2	4.3
World	100.0	3.3	3.3	3.8	3.5	2.9	-3.5	5.2	2.9	3.0	3.1
world excluding EU World excluding euro grog	86.0	3.5	3.5	3.9	3.7	3.0	-2.9	5.0	3.1	3.3	3.4

 World excluding euro area

 (a) Relative weights in %, based on GDP (at constant prices and PPS) in 2018.

195

Table 56: World exports of goods and service	ces, volume (perce	ntage chang	ge on preced	ding year, 20	15-21)						23.4.2020
	Spring 2020										
						f	orecast		f	orecast	
	(a)	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
EU (b)	31.7	6.6	3.4	5.6	3.5	2.7	-12.8	9.5	2.6	2.3	2.5
Euro area (b)	26.6	6.6	2.9	5.5	3.3	2.5	-12.9	9.5	2.4	2.1	2.3
United Kingdom	3.6	3.8	2.7	6.1	1.2	4.8	-10.7	5.1	1.3	2.3	2.1
Candidate Countries	1.1	4.8	-0.3	11.5	8.0	6.7	-24.3	17.0	6.4	3.8	4.1
- Albania	0.0	1.0	11.3	13.2	4.1	5.9	-24.8	12.2	5.4	6.8	5.8
- Montenegro	0.0	5.7	5.9	1.8	6.9	6.4	-33.7	24.3	4.3	2.8	3.6
- North Macedonia	0.0	8.5	9.1	8.1	15.3	8.3	-11.0	10.0	9.9	9.7	9.2
- Serbia	0.1	9.4	11.9	8.2	8.3	8.5	-8.5	13.8	8.1	7.9	7.4
- Turkey	0.9	4.3	-1.9	12.0	7.8	6.4	-26.4	17.7	6.2	3.1	3.5
Iceland	0.0	9.1	10.9	5.4	1.7	-5.0	-10.5	6.5	-2.0	1.3	2.7
Norway	0.7	4.3	1.1	1.7	-0.2	1.5	-13.5	7.1	1.9	2.5	2.4
Switzerland	1.9	2.6	6.3	-0.2	2.9	0.5	-10.5	8.5	2.0	2.8	2.4
Australia	1.3	6.5	6.8	3.4	5.0	1.1	-18.0	9.7	1.4	2.0	2.2
Canada	2.2	3.4	1.3	1.1	3.2	1.2	-14.9	10.4	2.9	2.6	2.5
Japan	3.7	2.9	1.7	6.8	3.4	-1.8	-15.0	3.2	-1.5	0.6	0.8
Korea	3.0	0.2	2.4	2.5	3.5	1.8	-8.5	4.6	-0.4	0.6	1.4
United States	10.2	0.5	0.0	3.5	3.0	0.0	-13.4	10.3	0.3	1.5	1.6
Advanced economies	66.7	4.1	2.2	5.0	3.3	1.5	-12.7	8.4	1.3	1.9	2.2
Emerging and developing Asia	17.6	-1.5	2.7	9.7	4.6	1.4	-10.1	5.6	2.0	2.5	3.4
- China	10.7	-2.2	1.1	9.1	4.0	0.7	-10.5	5.0	1.1	1.4	2.5
- India	2.2	-5.3	6.7	10.0	4.7	1.3	-9.4	4.4	3.8	4.2	5.1
- Indonesia	0.9	-5.7	1.1	13.4	3.5	2.2	-7.6	7.1	2.3	3.9	4.4
CIS	3.0	0.9	1.1	5.4	4.9	-1.1	-14.8	4.3	0.9	2.0	2.0
- Russia	2.1	3.7	3.2	5.0	5.5	-2.1	-16.5	3.9	0.2	1.3	1.4
- Other CIS	1.0	-4.4	-3.0	6.0	3.8	0.9	-11.5	4.9	2.5	3.2	3.2
Latin America	5.1	4.3	2.9	4.8	3.4	0.3	-12.2	7.1	1.6	2.0	2.6
- Argentina	0.3	-1.6	6.8	-0.2	-0.6	9.4	-9.7	4.2	7.6	3.0	3.6
- Brazil	1.1	8.1	3.7	11.4	7.0	0.2	-9.4	6.3	1.5	1.7	3.2
- Mexico	1.9	8.4	3.6	4.2	5.7	1.1	-14.2	8.0	3.4	2.4	2.1
MENA	6.1	5.8	3.6	1.9	1.0	-1.9	-6.4	3.0	-1.3	4.1	2.8
- Saudi Arabia	1.3	4.0	5.9	-0.3	7.2	-9.3	-6.6	5.8	-9.3	10.9	0.9
Sub-Saharan Africa	1.5	2.7	-0.8	1.7	2.5	0.4	-10.2	5.3	1.4	2.6	3.1
- South Africa	0.4	2.9	0.4	-0.7	2.6	-2.5	-12.0	5.1	0.8	1.2	1.9
Emerging and developing economies	33.3	1.3	2.6	6.9	3.7	0.4	-10.2	5.3	1.2	2.6	3.0
World	100.0	3.1	2.3	5.6	3.5	1.1	-11.9	7.4	1.3	2.2	2.5
World excluding EU	68.3	1.7	1.9	5.6	3.4	0.4	-11.5	6.4	0.7	2.1	2.5
World excluding euro area	73.4	1.9	2.1	5.6	3.5	0.6	-11.5	6.6	0.9	2.2	2.5
(a) Relative weights in %, based on exports of goods and services (at ca	urrent prices and current e	xchange rates) ir	n 2018.								
(b) Intra- and extra-EU trade.											

			Candidate		United		Other Advanced					Latin	Sub- Saharan
	EU	Euro Area	Countries	USA	Kingdom	Japan	Economies	China	Rest of Asia	CIS	MENA	America	Africa
EU	61.3	48.8	1.8	7.1	6.5	1.1	13.1	3.7	2.1	2.6	3.5	2.3	1.4
Euro area	59.3	47.6	1.7	7.7	6.8	1.2	13.5	4.0	2.3	2.3	3.8	2.5	1.5
Belgium	66.7	59.7	1.5	5.3	8.2	0.8	12.2	1.7	3.2	1.3	2.8	1.8	2.6
Bulgaria	69.9	51.3	11.4	1.8	2.7	0.2	4.3	2.7	1.0	3.6	3.3	0.5	1.2
Czechia	80.5	66.1	1.6	2.0	4.7	0.4	7.4	1.2	0.8	3.4	1.5	0.7	0.5
Denmark	55.5	38.4	1.1	8.3	7.1	2.0	18.6	4.1	2.6	1.5	3.1	2.6	0.7
Germany	54.4	38.4	1.8	8.8	6.4	1.6	14.7	7.0	2.7	2.8	2.5	2.6	1.0
Estonia	67.7	49.1	1.1	6.5	2.3	0.5	9.4	1.3	0.9	8.0	2.2	1.1	1.3
Ireland	40.5	37.3	0.5	28.8	11.9	2.3	19.5	3.3	0.8	0.5	1.5	1.7	0.7
Greece	51.8	39.2	11.9	4.3	3.9	0.4	6.3	2.7	1.8	2.0	15.6	1.9	1.4
Spain	62.2	55.0	1.9	4.6	7.1	0.9	11.5	2.2	1.5	1.1	7.7	5.2	1.3
France	54.5	47.6	1.4	8.1	7.0	1.4	14.2	4.2	3.5	1.6	6.4	2.6	2.1
Croatia	75.2	63.7	9.4	2.6	1.7	0.4	4.9	1.0	0.6	1.7	3.5	0.4	0.3
Italy	53.3	42.9	2.7	9.4	5.3	1.4	14.7	2.8	2.5	2.7	6.2	3.1	1.2
Cyprus	25.4	21.4	0.4	2.4	4.8	0.0	16.7	1.8	5.6	1.0	23.7	19.7	3.4
Latvia	62.0	45.1	1.0	3.5	5.4	0.4	9.2	1.1	0.7	18.7	2.2	0.5	0.6
Lithuania	55.9	37.3	0.9	5.2	3.9	1.1	8.3	0.7	0.6	24.4	2.0	0.4	0.7
Luxembourg	81.5	74.0	1.2	2.7	3.4	0.6	6.5	1.6	0.9	1.4	1.4	1.2	1.0
Hungary	79.1	59.2	3.6	2.3	3.7	0.4	5.7	1.4	0.7	4.5	0.9	1.1	0.3
Malta	58.2	52.9	0.7	6.5	2.8	6.4	10.1	1.4	2.7	0.1	8.3	2.6	3.0
Netherlands	68.9	59.0	1.1	4.5	8.6	0.7	13.4	1.8	1.4	1.5	2.6	1.9	2.2
Austria	70.0	54.6	1.5	6.4	2.8	0.9	10.6	2.7	1.7	2.2	1.6	1.9	0.7
Poland	74.8	58.1	1.6	2.8	6.3	0.3	9.6	0.9	0.8	6.4	1.3	1.0	0.6
Portugal	71.4	66.0	0.8	5.1	6.6	0.3	9.4	1.1	0.5	0.5	3.3	2.9	4.7
Romania	73.7	57.2	4.6	1.9	4.3	0.4	6.6	0.9	0.8	4.7	5.1	0.9	0.6
Slovenia	77.7	52.5	5.8	1.6	1.7	0.3	5.3	1.4	0.9	3.4	2.7	0.6	0.3
Slovakia	81.1	49.4	1.3	3.2	5.3	0.1	7.8	1.6	0.2	2.8	1.1	0.6	0.2
Finland	55.7	39.4	1.2	7.1	4.6	2.4	12.7	5.5	2.9	6.2	2.8	2.4	1.1
Sweden	54.8	42.5	1,1	6.9	5.8	1.5	21.6	4.6	2.1	1.9	2.7	1.9	1.0
P.M.: United Kingdom	49.9	44.3	2.3	14.0	:	1.8	13.2	5.8	3.0	1.4	5.4	1.8	1.7

· -			-	-	-	Sp	rina 2020		Aut	umn 2019	
						f	precast		fi	orecast	
	(a)	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
EU (b)	29.9	7.4	4.4	5.3	3.3	3.7	-12.8	9.5	3.3	2.7	2.8
Euro area (b)	24.9	7.7	4.1	5.0	2.8	3.8	-12.9	9.7	3.2	2.6	2.7
United Kingdom	3.8	5.4	4.4	3.5	2.0	4.6	-9.9	6.1	2.8	3.1	2.7
Candidate Countries	1.2	2.0	4.3	10.2	-5.3	-1.6	-22.1	7.1	-7.4	3.9	4.4
- Albania	0.0	-2.9	6.9	8.4	2.4	2.7	-16.7	5.1	4.8	4.4	4.0
- Montenegro	0.0	4.4	15.3	8.4	9.2	2.1	-26.1	16.0	3.9	2.3	1.4
- North Macedonia	0.0	9.9	11.1	6.4	9.0	9.0	-9.2	10.6	10.2	10.1	9.3
- Serbia	0.1	4.0	6.7	11.1	11.6	9.5	-9.4	16.7	9.5	7.8	7.5
- Turkey	1.0	1.7	3.7	10.3	-7.8	-3.6	-24.5	5.2	-10.8	3.2	3.9
Iceland	0.0	13.8	14.5	12.3	0.8	-9.9	-5.9	2.6	-1.1	3.8	4.0
Norway	0.6	1.9	2.7	1.9	1.9	5.2	-12.6	7.7	4.8	2.6	2.0
Switzerland	1.6	4.5	5.7	-0.6	-0.3	-1.4	-8.8	9.2	2.3	2.4	2.4
Australia	1.3	2.0	0.1	7.7	4.0	0.7	-20.9	10.3	0.9	1.7	2.0
Canada	2.4	0.6	0.0	4.2	2.9	0.3	-14.6	11.1	1.0	1.8	1.9
Japan	3.8	0.8	-1.6	3.4	3.4	-0.8	-11.8	2.0	-0.8	0.3	0.5
Korea	2.7	2.1	5.2	8.9	0.8	-0.6	-7.7	4.3	-1.4	1.5	1.6
United States	13.1	5.3	2.0	4.7	4.4	1.0	-12.9	13.2	2.2	2.0	1.8
Advanced economies	67.3	4.9	2.9	5.1	3.1	1.7	-12.3	9.0	1.7	2.2	2.3
Emerging and developing Asia	18.0	0.3	4.7	9.2	7.6	-0.5	-7.9	5.4	0.5	2.3	3.2
- China	10.6	-0.5	4.7	7.1	7.9	-2.3	-6.0	4.6	-1.7	1.1	2.2
- India	2.7	0.0	4.0	13.8	4.3	-1.7	-10.8	3.3	2.6	2.9	3.5
- Indonesia	0.9	-8.6	2.0	10.5	12.8	3.3	-8.2	8.9	3.5	4.8	5.9
CIS	2.4	-20.3	-2.9	13.0	4.1	3.4	-10.5	3.7	1.5	2.4	2.6
- Russia	1.4	-25.1	-3.6	17.4	2.7	2.2	-9.7	2.3	-0.1	1.4	1.7
- Other CIS	1.0	-12.3	-1.7	6.7	6.2	5.1	-11.7	5.6	3.9	3.8	3.8
- Latin America	5.3	-1.8	-2.6	4.8	4.4	-1.6	-13.0	4.7	-0.8	2.5	3.2
- Argentina	0.4	2.6	3.6	14.2	-5.6	-18.7	-12.9	4.8	-17.7	-0.8	3.9
- Brazil	1.1	-13.5	-8.2	5.2	6.6	1.1	-12.0	2.3	1.7	3.6	3.6
Mexico	2.1	5.9	2.8	6.4	6.2	-1.1	-15.1	6.8	0.5	3.0	3.3
MENA	5.4	-0.4	-1.8	3.5	-0.5	0.9	-3.2	2.8	1.2	2.6	2.9
- Saudi Arabia	0.9	1.7	-16.2	0.4	1.4	2.9	-7.4	3.5	2.9	3.3	3.5
Sub-Saharan Africa	1.6	2.5	-9.6	-0.1	7.1	1.7	-13.2	2.7	2.4	2.4	2.9
- South Africa	0.5	5.4	-3.9	1.0	3.3	-0.5	-16.8	1.8	1.1	1.3	1.9
Emerging and developing economies	32.7	-1.9	0.8	7.2	5.4	-0.1	-8.4	4.6	0.6	2.4	3.1
World	100.0	2.7	2.2	5.8	3.8	1.1	-11.0	7.5	1.4	2.3	2.6
World excluding EU	70.1	0.8	1.3	6.0	4.1	0.1	-10.3	6.7	0.5	2.1	2.5
World excluding euro greg	75.1	1.1	1.6	6.1	12	0.2	-10.4	6.8	0.7	2.2	26

 Total Excluding CorD CIEC
 75,1
 1,1

 (a) Relative weights in %, based on imports of goods and services (at current prices and current exchange rates) in 2018.
 (b) Intra- and extra-El trade.

Table 59: Import shares in	EU trade	(goods only -	2019)										23.4.2020
	511	Euro Arog	Candidate	115 4	United	lanan	Other Advanced	Ching P	oct of Asia		MENIA	Latin Amorica	Sub- Saharan
FIL	62.7	50.5	1.7	4.5	All	12	economies 9.9	<u>63</u>	31	4.8	2.8	1.8	Ancu
Euro greg	40.8	49.2	1.7	5.1	4.1	1.2	10.4	6.0	3.3	4.6	3.2	2.1	1.1
Belgium	62.3	47.2	1.0	7.6	4.4	1.5	9.6	4.2	3.7	4.0	3.4	2.1	1.5
Bulgaria	62.8	45.2	10.0	1.0	4.0	0.4	1.0	3.8	2.5	11.2	11	2.0	0.2
Czechia	77.9	61.7	1.0	1.0	1.0	0.4	5.5	6.9	1.3	41	0.2	0.3	0.2
Denmark	68.2	49.7	1.0	2.4	3.5	0.5	11.9	6.9	2.7	4.0	0.3	1.6	0.4
Germany	65.0	46.2	1.8	4.6	3.8	1.7	11.2	6.3	32	3.2	0.8	1.4	0.8
Estonia	70.3	52.9	0.5	1.7	1.7	0.8	5.0	4.9	1.6	13.2	0.3	0.5	1.3
Ireland	40.0	34.9	0.8	11.9	31.4	1.2	36.2	4.1	2.0	0.9	0.7	1.5	0.6
Greece	50.2	40.0	4.2	1.7	2.5	0.7	6.1	10.4	2.0	9.4	14.2	1.0	0.2
Spain	58.2	51.3	2.2	3.5	3.7	0.9	8.3	6.7	3.8	1.6	7.1	5.0	2.7
France	66.0	58.9	1.2	5.5	4.7	1.1	10.6	4.6	2.5	1.9	4.2	1.1	1.4
Croatia	73.8	55.6	4.1	2.1	1.1	0.2	3.8	4.6	1.2	6.4	3.1	0.6	0.1
Italy	56.8	47.4	2.7	4.5	2.7	0.9	8.4	6.5	3.2	7.3	6.5	1.9	1.3
Cyprus	55.1	49.5	0.2	1.0	4.1	1.3	16.8	5.8	2.5	7.6	2.4	2.7	4.7
Latvia	58.7	45.5	0.6	2.2	2.2	0.3	6.6	5.0	2.3	23.1	0.1	0.9	0.2
Lithuania	63.9	44.1	1.0	2.1	1.9	0.2	6.5	5.2	0.8	19.0	0.5	0.5	0.2
Luxembourg	84.6	80.0	0.3	3.7	1.2	2.2	3.8	3.1	0.6	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.7
Hungary	74.9	58.1	1.8	1.5	1.7	1.4	6.2	5.6	1.9	5.7	0.6	0.3	0.1
Malta	32.5	30.1	2.9	1.2	5.0	3.9	12.4	8.4	2.3	28.4	5.0	2.2	0.8
Netherlands	43.1	36.7	0.8	7.6	5.3	2.0	12.1	11.3	5.5	8.2	3.5	3.8	2.1
Austria	81.4	67.0	1.0	2.0	1.5	0.7	6.9	1.6	2.8	2.4	0.7	0.3	0.0
Poland	68.9	58.1	1.4	1.9	2.5	0.8	7.0	7.5	2.1	7.9	1.4	0.9	0.2
Portugal	72.4	67.6	1.3	1.7	2.5	0.7	6.1	4.4	2.1	2.4	3.5	2.8	2.6
Romania	74.1	54.3	5.5	1.2	1.8	0.5	4.0	4.7	1.2	7.3	0.8	0.7	0.1
Slovenia	68.0	52.6	5.5	0.8	1.1	0.3	8.4	10.8	2.9	1.1	0.3	1.6	0.3
Slovakia	82.5	46.2	1.2	0.3	0.9	0.3	5.3	3.0	1.7	5.6	0.1	0.2	0.0
Finland	67.2	43.8	0.5	2.4	2.5	0.6	7.6	4.0	1.3	15.0	0.2	1.1	0.2
Sweden	71.5	55.1	1.1	2.8	4.6	0.9	12.3	5.2	2.3	2.2	0.4	1.0	0.3
P.M.: United Kingdom	56.2	48.5	1.7	9.9	:	2.1	10.1	8.5	4.4	2.3	1.9	1.3	1.7

Table 60: World merchandise trade balances (fob-fob, in billions of US dollar, 2014-21)

Interesti tore cast tore cast tore cast tore cast tore cast							Spring 2020			Autumn 2019				
2014 2014 2014 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021 2019 2020 2021 303.5 332.2 345.7 330.5 332.2 345.3 37.7 37.2 37.2 37.3 37.2 37.3 37.3 37.4 37.4 47.4 4109 4201 413.1 445.5 37.8 32.8 32.0 31.7 32.0 31.7 32.0 31.7 32.0 31.7 32.0 31.7 32.0 31.7 47.8 Condicate Countries -75.5 -58.2 -50.7 -70.1 -51.0 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.3 -3.7 -4.8 -4.8 -4.8 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2 -2.2							f	forecast			forecast			
EU 3942 47,1 489,5 446,6 410,4 47,7 47,7 47,7 38,82 38,22 37,33 EU, adjusted' 2821 388.8 393,9 373,2 307,9 333,2 332,2 386.8 ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::< ::<< ::< ::< ::<< ::< ::<< ::< ::< ::<< ::< ::<< ::< </th <th></th> <th>2014</th> <th>2015</th> <th>2016</th> <th>2017</th> <th>2018</th> <th>2019</th> <th>2020</th> <th>2021</th> <th>2019</th> <th>2020</th> <th>2021</th>		2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021		
EU, ciguised'282.1388.8393.8373.2373.2332.2388.3:::	EU	396.2	479.1	489.5	466.0	410.4	437.9	437.0	472.7	398.2	384.2	373.3		
Evro area 371.9 453.8 449.7 444.5 410.9 413.1 445.5 300.9 381.7 373.4 Euro area, adjustel' 307.4 385.7 400.3 390.4 356.8 355.3 387.8 328.4 320.0 311.7 United Kingdom -199.6 -177.9 -181.2 -175.1 -186.0 165.5 -171.8 -173.3 -168.7 -37.0 37.0 -41.6 -47.8 Albonia -2.9 -2.5 -2.9 32.2 -3.0 -3.0 -7.5 -8.3 -3.7.0 -4.16 -4.8 - Montineegro -1.8 -1.4 -1.8 -2.1 -2.2 -2.0 -2.0 -2.0 -2.0 -2.0 -2.0 -2.0 -2.0 -2.0 -2.4 -2.4 -2.5 -2.5 Soft Macedonia -2.5 -2.6 -3.0 -4.0 -5.6 -5.8 -4.9 -6.5 -4.9 -6.5 -4.9 -6.5 -4.9 -6.5 -4.9 -6.5 </th <td>EU, adjusted'</td> <td>282.1</td> <td>368.8</td> <td>393.9</td> <td>373.2</td> <td>307.9</td> <td>330.5</td> <td>332.2</td> <td>368.3</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td> <td>:</td>	EU, adjusted'	282.1	368.8	393.9	373.2	307.9	330.5	332.2	368.3	:	:	:		
Euro acq dijusted'i307430743074936495469546956393789278922093177United Kingdom-1996-1799-1812-1751-1860-1655-1565-1718-1735-16877174Condicide Countries-755-582-50770.1-1080-330-7593-33-355-378- Monenegro-18-18-18-21-24-23-15-18-24-22-225-228- North Macedonia-25-20-20-24-22-20-24-22-205-248- Serbia-44-3.6-3.0-4.0-5.6-5.8-4.9-6.3-6.2-6.7-7.3- Turkey-6.38-4.4-3.6-5.8-5.8-6.9-6.0-7.7-1.4-1.7-1.17Norway-5.65.575.0750.860.351.1-6.6-7.55.8-7.25.94.022.002.012.012.012.012.012.012.012.012.012.01-7.1-7.1-7.3-7.5-7.7-7.3-7.5-7.7-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5-7.5<	Euro area	371.9	453.8	459.7	444.5	410.9	420.1	413.1	445.5	390.9	381.7	373.4		
United Kingdom-199,6-179,9-181,2-175,1-186,0-165,5-156,5-171,8-173,3-168,7-175,4Candidate Counties-75,55-58,2-50,77,01-51,0330-7,59,3-30,041,6-47,8- Albania-29-2,52,23,23,4-3,5-30,031,853,7-33,8- Monthenegro-1,8-1,6-1,8-2,1-2,4-2,3-1,5-1,8-2,4-2,5-2,5- North Macedonia-2,5-2,0-2,0-2,1-2,2-2,0-2,4-2,2-2,5-2,7- Serbia-4,4-3,6-3,0-4,0-5,6-5,8-4,9-4,3-2,4-2,2-2,5-7,7- North Macedonia-0,1-0,3-0,8-1,5-1,6-0,8-0,7-1,4-1,7-1,7Norway50,62,4911,720,430,511,13,63,428,829,030,7Switzerland55,553,750,750,840,345,857,258,764,564,668,3Austalia-192-10811,1-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8-1,7-1,8 <td< th=""><td>Euro area, adjusted'</td><td>307.4</td><td>385.7</td><td>400.3</td><td>390.4</td><td>354.6</td><td>360.8</td><td>355.3</td><td>387.8</td><td>328.4</td><td>320.0</td><td>311.7</td></td<>	Euro area, adjusted'	307.4	385.7	400.3	390.4	354.6	360.8	355.3	387.8	328.4	320.0	311.7		
Candidate Countries -75.5 -58.2 -50.7 -70.1 -51.0 -33.0 -7.5 9.3 3.7.0 41.6 -47.8 - Albania -2.9 -2.5 -2.9 -3.2 -3.4 -3.5 -3.0 -3.3 -3.7 -3.7 -3.7 -3.8 - Montenegro -1.8 -1.6 -1.8 -2.0 2.0 2.0 2.2 2.0 2.2 2.3 3.3 3.13 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.3 3.3	United Kingdom	-199.6	-179.9	-181.2	-175.1	-186.0	-165.5	-156.5	-171.8	-173.5	-168.7	-175.4		
- Albonia -2.9 -2.5 -2.9 -3.2 -3.4 -3.5 -3.0 -3.3 -3.5 -3.7 -3.8 - Monthenegro -1.8 -1.6 -1.8 -2.1 -2.4 -2.3 -1.5 -1.8 -2.4 -2.5 -2.0 -2.0 -2.2 -2.0 -2.4 -2.2 -2.6 -2.6 -2.6 -7.7.3 - Serbia -4.4 -3.6 -3.0 -4.0 -5.6 -5.8 -4.9 -6.3 -6.2 -6.7 -7.7.3 - Turkey -6.38 -4.4 -1.0 -5.8 -3.7.5 -1.0 -0.8 -0.6 -0.7 -1.4 -1.7 -1.9 Norway 50.6 24.9 11.7 20.4 30.5 11.1 3.6 3.4 2.8.8 2.9.0 30.7 S0.8 60.3 5.8 5.7.2 58.7 64.5 <td>Candidate Countries</td> <td>-75.5</td> <td>-58.2</td> <td>-50.7</td> <td>-70.1</td> <td>-51.0</td> <td>-33.0</td> <td>-7.5</td> <td>9.3</td> <td>-37.0</td> <td>-41.6</td> <td>-47.8</td>	Candidate Countries	-75.5	-58.2	-50.7	-70.1	-51.0	-33.0	-7.5	9.3	-37.0	-41.6	-47.8		
- Monthenegro 1.18 -1.6 -1.8 2.1 -2.4 -2.3 1.15 -1.8 -2.4 2.2 7.7 3 3.3 1.1 3.6 3.0 4.0 7.1<	- Albania	-2.9	-2.5	-2.9	-3.2	-3.4	-3.5	-3.0	-3.3	-3.5	-3.7	-3.8		
North Macedonia 2.5 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.1 2.2 2.0 2.4 2.2 2.2 2.5 2.8 - Serbia -4.4 -3.6 -3.0 -4.0 -5.6 -5.8 -4.9 -6.3 -0.2 -6.7 -7.3 - Surbia -0.1 -0.3 -0.8 -1.5 -1.5 -1.0 -0.8 -0.8 -0.7 -1.4 -1.7 -1.9 Norway 50.6 24.9 11.7 20.4 30.5 11.1 3.6 3.4 22.8 29.0 30.7 Switzerland 55.5 53.7 50.7 50.8 60.3 65.8 57.2 55.5 29.2 27.0 Canada 22 -19.0 -5.8 10.5 13.5 13.5 61.8 29.9 25.5 29.2 27.0 Canada 29.1 7.3 50.8 43.8 10.1 7.6 65.9 61.9 65.9 64.9 60.5 10.6 10.6 14.3	- Montenegro	-1.8	-1.6	-1.8	-2.1	-2.4	-2.3	-1.5	-1.8	-2.4	-2.5	-2.5		
- Serbia -4.4 -3.6 -3.0 -4.0 -5.6 -5.8 -4.9 -6.3 -6.2 -6.7 -7.3 - Turkey -63.8 -4.84 -4.10 -5.8.8 -7.5 -10.2 4.0 23.1 -22.6 -26.3 -31.3 Leeland -0.1 -0.3 -0.8 -1.5 -1.5 -0.8 -0.8 -0.7 -1.4 -1.7 -1.9 Norway 50.6 24.9 11.7 20.4 -0.5 11.1 3.6 3.4 28.8 29.0 23.0 Switzerland 2.2 -19.0 -5.8 10.5 20.9 25.3 35.7 20.2 2.9.2 27.0 Canada 2.1 -18.6 -17.2 -18.8 -17.1 -13.7 20.2 2.9.2 2	- North Macedonia	-2.5	-2.0	-2.0	-2.0	-2.1	-2.2	-2.0	-2.4	-2.2	-2.5	-2.8		
- Turkey -63.8 -48.4 -41.0 -58.8 -37.5 -19.2 4.0 23.1 -22.6 -26.3 -31.3 Iceland -0.1 -0.3 -0.8 -1.5 -1.5 -0.8 -0.7 -1.4 -1.7 -1.9 Norway 50.6 24.9 11.7 20.4 30.5 11.1 3.6 3.4 28.8 29.0 30.7 Switzerland 55.5 53.7 50.7 50.8 60.3 55.8 57.2 58.7 64.5 66.6 68.3 Australia 2.2 -19.0 -5.8 10.5 20.9 25.3 35.6 29.9 25.5 29.2 27.0 Canada 5.1 -18.6 -19.2 -18.8 -17.1 -13.7 -20.2 -24.7 7.8.6 -18.8 5.7 Japan -99.1 -7.3 50.8 43.8 10.9 13.5 5.6 0.1 7.9 14.3 14.3 Korea -76.6 -79.5 -77.1 -841.4 -909.3 -886.3 -74.7 -899.1	- Serbia	-4.4	-3.6	-3.0	-4.0	-5.6	-5.8	-4.9	-6.3	-6.2	-6.7	-7.3		
Iceland-0.1-0.3-0.8-1.5-1.5-0.8-0.8-0.7-1.4-1.7-1.9Norway50.624.911.720.430.511.13.63.428.829.030.7Switzerland55.553.750.750.860.365.857.258.764.566.668.3Australia2.2-19.05.80.520.922.027.02.02.7-8.6-1.85.7Japan-9.91-7.350.843.810.013.55.60.07.913.314.3Korea86.1120.3116.5113.6110.176.965.969.5104.9105.0106.2United States-77.67.77.1-84.44.90.9-88.37.43.7-89.9-92.3-96.64.99.5Advanced economies-439.5-257.3-17.7-24.2-38.4-337.0-210.8-325.3-397.6-428.1-47.1Emerging and developing Asia336.348.1423.7367.5215.4241.993.4129.3262.7243.9229.1- China-136.9-107.5-148.1186.6175.5-165.0-191.2-192.9-42.1- China-140-136.9-107.5-148.1186.7159.5-165.0-191.2-195.9-202.0- Indonesia7.014.015.318.8-0.2-2.97.3-11	- Turkey	-63.8	-48.4	-41.0	-58.8	-37.5	-19.2	4.0	23.1	-22.6	-26.3	-31.3		
Norway50.624.911.720.430.511.13.63.428.829.030.7Switzerland55.555.750.750.860.365.857.258.764.566.668.3Australia2.2-19.0-5.810.520.925.335.629.925.529.227.0Canada5.1-18.6-19.2-18.8-17.1-13.7-2.2-2.47-8.6-1.85.7Japan-99.1-7.350.843.810.913.5-5.60.17.913.314.3Korea86.1120.3116.5113.6110.176.965.965.5104.9105.0106.2United States-776.6-793.5-777.1-841.4-909.3-886.3-743.7-899.1-929.3-966.4-999.5Advanced economies-439.5-257.3-172.7-248.2-386.4-337.0-210.8-325.3-397.6-428.1-471.4Emerging and developing Asia336.3483.1423.7367.5215.4241.993.4129.3262.7243.9220.7- China-1440-136.9-107.5-148.1-186.7-193.8-159.5-165.0-191.2-195.1-202.0- Indonesia7.014.015.318.8-0.2-2.9-7.3-11.3-3.2-4.2-4.2CIS28.6150.483.1115.3	Iceland	-0.1	-0.3	-0.8	-1.5	-1.5	-0.8	-0.8	-0.7	-1.4	-1.7	-1.9		
Switzerland 55.5 53.7 50.7 50.8 60.3 65.8 57.2 58.7 64.5 66.6 68.3 Australia 2.2 -19.0 -5.8 10.5 20.9 25.3 35.6 29.9 25.5 29.2 27.0 Canada 5.1 -18.6 -17.1 -13.7 -20.2 -24.7 -8.6 -1.8 -17.1 Japan -99.1 -73.3 50.8 43.8 10.9 13.5 5.6 0.0 -7.9 3.3 9.0 14.3 Korea 86.1 120.3 116.5 113.6 110.1 76.9 65.9 69.5 104.9 105.0 106.2 United States -77.6 -793.5 -77.1 -841.4 -90.9 -886.3 -743.7 -899.1 -929.3 -966.4 -99.9 Advanced economies -439.5 -56.2 488.9 475.9 955.2 421.9 93.4 129.3 -376.7 223.3 451.7 44.9	Norway	50.6	24.9	11.7	20.4	30.5	11.1	3.6	3.4	28.8	29.0	30.7		
Australia2.2-19.0-5.810.520.925.335.629.925.529.227.0Canada5.1-18.6-19.2-18.8-17.1-13.7-20.2-24.7-8.6-1.85.7Japan-99.1-7.350.843.810.913.5-5.60.17.913.314.3Korea86.1120.3116.5113.6110.176.965.969.5104.9105.0106.2United States-776.6-793.5-777.1-841.4-909.3-886.3-743.7-899.1-929.3-966.4-999.5Advanced economies-439.5-257.3-172.7-248.2-386.4-337.0-210.8-325.3-397.6-428.1-471.4Emerging and developing Asia336.3483.1423.7367.5215.4241.993.4129.3262.7243.9229.1- China435.0576.2488.9475.9395.2425.3277.7325.3451.7442.9437.7- India-144.0-136.9-105.5-148.1-186.7-193.8-159.5-161.0-19.2-195.1-202.0- Indonesia7.014.015.318.8-0.2-2.9-7.3-11.3-3.2-4.24.2- Russia186.8145.790.2115.4195.3159.048.861.6173.9177.1180.2- Other CIS41.84.7 </th <td>Switzerland</td> <td>55.5</td> <td>53.7</td> <td>50.7</td> <td>50.8</td> <td>60.3</td> <td>65.8</td> <td>57.2</td> <td>58.7</td> <td>64.5</td> <td>66.6</td> <td>68.3</td>	Switzerland	55.5	53.7	50.7	50.8	60.3	65.8	57.2	58.7	64.5	66.6	68.3		
Canada 5.1 -18.6 -19.2 -18.8 -17.1 -13.7 -20.2 -24.7 -8.6 -1.8 5.7 Japan -99.1 -7.3 50.8 43.8 10.0 13.5 -5.6 0.1 7.9 13.3 14.3 Korea 86.1 120.3 116.5 113.6 10.1 76.9 65.9 69.5 104.9 105.0 106.2 United States -776.6 -779.5 -777.1 -841.4 -909.3 -886.3 -743.7 -899.1 -929.3 -966.4 -999.5 Advanced economies -439.5 -257.3 -172.7 -248.2 -386.4 -337.0 -210.8 -325.3 -397.6 -428.1 -471.4 Advanced economies -439.5 -257.3 -172.7 -248.2 -386.2 -210.8 -325.3 -397.6 -428.1 -471.4 - China 435.0 576.2 488.9 475.7 355.2 425.3 277.7 325.3 461.7 -428.1 -471.4 - India -144.0 -135.3 188.8 -0.	Australia	2.2	-19.0	-5.8	10.5	20.9	25.3	35.6	29.9	25.5	29.2	27.0		
Japan-99.1-7.350.843.810.913.5-5.60.17.913.314.3Korea86.1120.3116.5113.6110.176.965.969.5104.9105.0106.2United States-776.6-779.5-777.1-841.4-909.3-886.3-743.7-899.1-929.3-966.4-999.5Advanced economies-439.5-257.3-172.7-248.2-386.4-337.0-210.8-325.3-377.6428.1-471.4Emerging and developing Asia336.3483.1423.7367.5215.4241.993.4129.3262.7243.9229.1- China435.057.6488.9475.9395.2425.3277.7325.3451.7442.9437.7- India-144.0-136.9-107.5-148.1-186.7-193.8-159.5-165.0-191.2-195.1-202.0- Indonesia7.014.015.318.8-0.2-2.9-7.3-11.3-3.2-4.2-4.2CIS228.6150.483.1115.3201.7159.732.944.1174.9176.3178.1- Rusia186.8145.790.2115.4195.3159.048.861.6173.9177.1180.2- Other CIS41.84.7-7.1-0.16.40.7-16.017.61.0-0.7-2.1Lotin America-5.5-0.8<	Canada	5.1	-18.6	-19.2	-18.8	-17.1	-13.7	-20.2	-24.7	-8.6	-1.8	5.7		
Korea86.1120.3116.5113.6110.176.965.969.5104.9105.0106.2United States-776.6-793.5-777.1-841.4-909.3-886.3-743.7-899.1-929.3-966.4-999.5Advanced economies-439.5-257.3-172.7-248.2-386.4-337.0-210.8-325.3-397.6428.1-471.4Emerging and developing Asia336.3483.1423.7367.5215.4241.993.4129.3262.7243.9229.1- China435.0576.2488.9475.9395.2425.3277.7325.3451.7442.9437.7- India-114.0-136.9-107.5-148.1-186.7-193.8-155.5-165.0-191.2-195.1-202.0- Indonesia7.014.015.318.8-0.2-2.9-7.3-11.3-3.2-4.2-4.2- Russia186.8145.790.2115.4195.3159.048.861.6173.9177.1180.2- Other CIS41.84.7-7.1-0.16.40.7-16.0-17.61.0-0.7-2.1- Argentina5.5-0.84.4-5.4-0.718.218.219.515.223.823.9- Brazili-6.617.744.664.053.040.842.243.654.651.650.0- Argentina5.5-0	Japan	-99.1	-7.3	50.8	43.8	10.9	13.5	-5.6	0.1	7.9	13.3	14.3		
United States -776.6 -793.5 -777.1 -841.4 -909.3 -886.3 -743.7 -899.1 -929.3 -966.4 -999.5 Advanced economies -439.5 -257.3 -172.7 -248.2 -386.4 -337.0 -210.8 -325.3 -397.6 428.1 -471.4 Emerging and developing Asia 336.3 483.1 423.7 367.5 215.4 241.9 93.4 129.3 262.7 243.9 229.1 -471.4 Emerging and developing Asia 336.3 483.1 423.7 367.5 215.4 241.9 93.4 129.3 262.7 243.9 229.1 -471.4 India -144.0 -136.9 -107.5 -148.1 -186.7 -193.8 -155.5 -165.0 -191.2 -195.1 -202.0 - Indonesia 7.0 14.0 15.3 188 -0.2 -2.9 -7.3 -11.3 -3.2 -4.2 -4.2 CIS 228.6 150.4 83.1 115.3 20	Korea	86.1	120.3	116.5	113.6	110.1	76.9	65.9	69.5	104.9	105.0	106.2		
Advanced economies -439.5 -257.3 -172.7 -248.2 -386.4 -337.0 -210.8 -325.3 -397.6 -428.1 -471.4 Emerging and developing Asia 336.3 483.1 423.7 367.5 215.4 241.9 93.4 129.3 262.7 243.9 229.1 - China 435.0 576.2 488.9 475.9 395.2 425.3 277.7 325.3 451.7 442.9 437.0 - India -144.0 -136.9 -107.5 -148.1 -186.7 -193.8 -159.5 -165.0 -191.2 -192.2 -47.4 - Indonesia 7.0 14.0 15.3 188 -0.2 -2.9 -7.3 -11.3 -3.2 -4.2 -4.2 -4.2 - Indonesia 7.0 14.0 15.3 115.3 201.7 159.7 32.9 44.1 17.4 17.1 202.0 - Russia 186.8 145.7 90.2 115.4 195.3 159.0 48.8 61.6 173.9 177.1 180.2 - Other CIS 41.8 <th< th=""><td>United States</td><td>-776.6</td><td>-793.5</td><td>-777.1</td><td>-841.4</td><td>-909.3</td><td>-886.3</td><td>-743.7</td><td>-899.1</td><td>-929.3</td><td>-966.4</td><td>-999.5</td></th<>	United States	-776.6	-793.5	-777.1	-841.4	-909.3	-886.3	-743.7	-899.1	-929.3	-966.4	-999.5		
Emerging and developing Asia 336.3 483.1 423.7 367.5 215.4 241.9 93.4 129.3 262.7 243.9 229.1 - China 435.0 576.2 488.9 475.9 395.2 425.3 277.7 325.3 451.7 442.9 437.7 - India -144.0 -136.9 -107.5 -148.1 -186.7 -193.8 -155.5 -165.0 -191.2 -195.1 -202.0 - Indonesia 7.0 14.0 15.3 18.8 -0.2 -2.9 7.3 -11.3 -3.2 -4.2 -4.2 CIS 228.6 150.4 83.1 115.3 201.7 159.7 32.9 44.1 174.9 176.3 178.1 - Russia 186.8 145.7 90.2 115.4 195.3 159.0 48.8 61.6 173.9 177.1 180.2 Cother CIS 41.8 4.7 7.1 -0.1 64.4 0.7 -16.0 -16.4 1.0 -2.	Advanced economies	-439.5	-257.3	-172.7	-248.2	-386.4	-337.0	-210.8	-325.3	-397.6	-428.1	-471.4		
- China 435.0 576.2 488.9 475.9 395.2 425.3 277.7 325.3 451.7 442.9 437.7 - India -144.0 -136.9 -107.5 -148.1 -186.7 -193.8 -155.5 -165.0 -191.2 -195.1 -202.0 - Indonesia 7.0 14.0 15.3 18.8 -0.2 -2.9 -7.3 -11.3 -3.2 -4.2 -4.2 CIS 228.6 150.4 83.1 115.3 201.7 159.7 32.9 44.1 174.9 176.3 178.1 - Russia 186.8 145.7 90.2 115.4 195.3 159.0 48.8 61.6 173.9 177.1 180.2 - Other CIS 41.8 4.7 -7.1 -0.1 6.4 0.7 -16.0 -10.0 -0.7 -21.1 Ldfin America -10.3 -47.8 7.9 41.0 22.1 45.3 37.5 40.2 43.3 44.9 38.4 - Argentina 5.5 -0.8 4.4 -5.4 -0.7 18.2	Emerging and developing Asia	336.3	483.1	423.7	367.5	215.4	241.9	93.4	129.3	262.7	243.9	229.1		
- India -144.0 -136.9 -107.5 -148.1 -186.7 -193.8 -157.5 -165.0 -191.2 -195.1 -202.0 - Indonesia 7.0 14.0 15.3 18.8 -0.2 -2.9 -7.3 -11.3 -3.2 -4.2 -4.2 CIS 228.6 150.4 83.1 115.3 201.7 159.7 32.9 44.1 174.9 176.3 178.1 - Russia 186.8 145.7 90.2 115.4 195.3 159.0 48.8 61.6 173.9 177.1 180.2 - Other CIS 41.8 4.7 -7.1 -0.1 6.4 0.7 -16.0 -17.6 1.0 -0.7 -21.1 Ldrin America -10.3 -47.8 7.9 41.0 22.1 45.3 37.5 40.2 44.3 44.9 38.4 - Argentina 5.5 -0.8 4.4 -5.4 -0.7 18.2 18.2 19.5 15.2 23.8 23.9 - Brazili -6.6 17.7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8<	- China	435.0	576.2	488.9	475.9	395.2	425.3	277.7	325.3	451.7	442.9	437.7		
- Indonesia 7.0 14.0 15.3 18.8 -0.2 -2.9 -7.3 -11.3 -3.2 -4.2 -4.2 CIS 228.6 150.4 83.1 115.3 201.7 159.7 32.9 44.1 174.9 176.3 178.1 - Russia 186.8 145.7 90.2 115.4 195.3 159.0 48.8 61.6 173.9 177.1 180.2 - Other CIS 41.8 4.7 -7.1 -0.1 6.4 0.7 -16.0 -17.6 10.0 -0.7 -2.1 Ldtin America -10.3 -47.8 7.9 41.0 22.1 45.3 37.5 40.2 44.3 44.9 38.4 - Argentina -5.6 0.7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8 42.2 43.6 51.6 50.0 Brazil -6.6 17.7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8 42.2 43.6 51.6 50.0 50.0 50.0 56.6 16.5 16.6 -4.6 50.0 -8.3 Brazil -6.6	- India	-144.0	-136.9	-107.5	-148.1	-186.7	-193.8	-159.5	-165.0	-191.2	-195.1	-202.0		
CIS 228.6 150.4 83.1 115.3 201.7 159.7 32.9 44.1 174.9 176.3 178.1 - Russia 186.8 145.7 90.2 115.4 195.3 159.0 48.8 61.6 173.9 177.1 180.2 - Other CIS 41.8 4.7 -7.1 -0.1 6.4 0.7 -16.0 -17.6 1.0 -0.7 2.1 Latin America -10.3 -47.8 7.9 41.0 22.1 45.3 37.5 40.2 44.3 44.9 38.4 - Argentina 5.5 -0.8 4.4 -5.4 -0.7 18.2 18.2 19.5 15.2 23.8 23.9 - Brazil -6.6 17.7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8 42.2 43.6 51.6 50.0 - Mexico -2.8 -14.6 -13.1 -11.0 -13.8 5.6 16.5 16.6 -4.6 -5.0 -8.3 MENA 448.5 124.3 76.8 180.1 320.3 232.3 16.9 13.6 <td>- Indonesia</td> <td>7.0</td> <td>14.0</td> <td>15.3</td> <td>18.8</td> <td>-0.2</td> <td>-2.9</td> <td>-7.3</td> <td>-11.3</td> <td>-3.2</td> <td>-4.2</td> <td>-4.2</td>	- Indonesia	7.0	14.0	15.3	18.8	-0.2	-2.9	-7.3	-11.3	-3.2	-4.2	-4.2		
- Russia 186.8 145.7 90.2 115.4 195.3 159.0 48.8 61.6 173.9 177.1 180.2 - Other CIS 41.8 4.7 -7.1 -0.1 6.4 0.7 -16.0 -17.6 1.0 -0.7 -2.1 Latin America -10.3 -47.8 7.9 41.0 22.1 45.3 37.5 40.2 44.3 44.9 38.4 - Argentina 5.5 -0.8 4.4 -5.4 -0.7 18.2 19.5 15.2 23.8 23.9 - Brazil -6.6 17.7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8 42.2 43.6 54.6 55.0 50.0 - Mexico -2.8 -14.6 -13.1 -11.0 -13.8 5.6 16.5 16.6 -4.6 -5.0 -8.3 MENA 448.5 124.3 76.8 180.1 320.3 232.3 16.9 13.6 235.1 224.6 224.7	CIS	228.6	150.4	83.1	115.3	201.7	159.7	32.9	44.1	174.9	176.3	178.1		
Other CIS 41.8 4.7 -7.1 -0.1 6.4 0.7 -16.0 -17.6 1.0 -0.7 -2.1 Latin America -10.3 -47.8 7.9 41.0 22.1 45.3 37.5 40.2 44.3 44.9 38.4 - Argentina 5.5 -0.8 4.4 -5.4 -0.7 18.2 18.2 19.5 15.2 23.8 23.9 - Brazil -6.6 17.7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8 42.2 43.6 54.6 51.6 50.0 - Mexico -2.8 -14.6 -13.1 -11.0 -13.8 5.6 16.5 16.6 -4.6 -5.0 -8.3 MENA 448.5 124.3 76.8 180.1 320.3 232.3 16.9 13.6 235.1 224.6 224.7	- Russia	186.8	145.7	90.2	115.4	195.3	159.0	48.8	61.6	173.9	177.1	180.2		
Latin America -10,3 -47,8 7,9 41,0 22,1 45,3 37,5 40.2 44,3 44,9 38.4 - Argentina 5,5 -0.8 4.4 -5,4 -0.7 18.2 18.2 19.5 15.2 23.8 23.9 - Brazil -6,6 17,7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8 42.2 43.6 54.6 51.6 50.0 - Mexico -2.8 -14.6 -13.1 -11.0 -13.8 5.6 16.6 -4.6 -5.0 -8.3 MENA 448.5 124.3 76.8 180.1 320.3 232.3 16.9 13.6 235.1 224.6 224.7	- Other CIS	41.8	4.7	-7.1	-0.1	6.4	0.7	-16.0	-17.6	1.0	-0.7	-2.1		
- Argentina 5.5 -0.8 4.4 -5.4 -0.7 18.2 18.2 19.5 15.2 23.8 23.9 - Brazil -6.6 17.7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8 42.2 43.6 54.6 51.6 50.0 - Mexico -2.8 -14.6 -13.1 -11.0 -13.8 5.6 16.5 16.6 -4.6 -5.0 -8.3 MENA 448.5 124.3 76.8 180.1 320.3 232.3 16.9 13.6 235.1 224.6 224.7	Latin America	-10.3	-47.8	7.9	41.0	22.1	45.3	37.5	40.2	44.3	44.9	38.4		
Brazil -6.6 17.7 44.6 64.0 53.0 40.8 42.2 43.6 54.6 51.6 50.0 Mexico -2.8 -14.6 -13.1 -11.0 -13.8 5.6 16.5 16.6 -4.6 -5.0 -8.3 MENA 448.5 124.3 76.8 180.1 320.3 232.3 16.9 13.6 235.1 224.6 224.7	- Argentina	5.5	-0.8	4.4	-5.4	-0.7	18.2	18.2	19.5	15.2	23.8	23.9		
- Mexico -2.8 -14.6 -13.1 -11.0 -13.8 5.6 16.5 16.6 -4.6 -5.0 -8.3 MENA 448.5 124.3 76.8 180.1 320.3 232.3 16.9 13.6 235.1 224.6 224.7	- Brazil	-6.6	17.7	44.6	64.0	53.0	40.8	42.2	43.6	54.6	51.6	50.0		
MENA 448.5 124.3 76.8 180.1 320.3 232.3 16.9 13.6 235.1 224.6 224.7	- Mexico	-2.8	-14.6	-13.1	-11.0	-13.8	5.6	16.5	16.6	-4.6	-5.0	-8.3		
	MENA	448.5	124.3	76.8	180.1	320.3	232.3	16.9	13.6	235.1	224.6	224.7		
- Saudi Arabia 184.0 44.3 55.8 98.5 168.7 129.3 62.8 58.1 136.4 132.4 127.4	- Saudi Arabia	184.0	44.3	55.8	98.5	168.7	129.3	62.8	58.1	136.4	132.4	127.4		
Sub-Saharan Africa 27.6 -33.6 -12.0 13.6 24.3 19.9 4.8 9.9 22.8 21.3 21.6	Sub-Saharan Africa	27.6	-33.6	-12.0	13.6	24.3	19.9	4.8	9.9	22.8	21.3	21.6		
- South Africa -5.1 -3.6 2.2 4.9 1.7 3.1 7.3 7.7 2.1 1.6 1.6	- South Africa	-5.1	-3.6	2.2	4.9	1.7	3.1	7.3	7.7	2.1	1.6	1.6		
Emerging and developing economies 1030.7 676.4 579.5 717.5 783.8 699.1 185.4 237.1 739.9 711.1 691.9	Emerging and developing economies	1030.7	676.4	579.5	717.5	783.8	699.1	185.4	237.1	739.9	711.1	691.9		
World 591.2 419.1 406.8 469.3 397.4 362.1 -25.5 -88.2 342.2 283.0 220.5	World	591.2	419.1	406.8	469.3	397.4	362.1	-25.5	-88.2	342.2	283.0	220.5		
World excluding EU 194.9 -60.0 -82.7 3.3 -12.9 -75.8 -462.4 -56.0 -101.3 -152.8	World excluding EU	194.9	-60.0	-82.7	3.3	-12.9	-75.8	-462.4	-560.9	-56.0	-101.3	-152.8		
World excluding euro area 219.3 -34.8 -52.8 24.8 -13.4 -58.0 -438.6 -533.7 -48.6 -98.8 -152.9	Vorld excluding euro area	219.3	-34.8	-52.8	24.8	-13.4	-58.0	-438.6	-533.7	-48.6	-98.8	-152.9		

23.4.2020

Table 61: World	l current-account balances	(in billions of U	S dollar, 2014-21)
-----------------	----------------------------	-------------------	--------------------

Table 61: World current-account balances	s (in billions of US	dollar, 2014	-21)								23.4.2020
						Sp	ring 2020		Au	tumn 2019	
						f	orecast		i	forecast	
	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
EU	464.0	442.8	477.8	525.4	538.5	493.1	441.3	515.0	473.3	463.2	461.0
EU, adjusted'	387.6	378.0	461.8	451.0	479.8	431.5	381.3	455.1	:	:	:
Euro area	418.9	400.8	432.3	478.6	510.2	446.1	408.4	470.8	442.0	430.7	423.7
Euro area, adjusted¹	319.5	322.8	390.1	393.4	426.2	358.7	323.2	385.9	356.9	346.6	339.6
United Kingdom	-144.9	-143.7	-140.5	-93.2	-110.6	-106.9	-105.6	-119.5	-121.8	-122.0	-123.6
Candidate Countries	-48.3	-35.0	-36.2	-51.5	-31.9	-4.0	-8.2	6.0	-9.7	-10.5	-14.3
- Albania	-1.4	-1.0	-0.9	-1.0	-1.0	-1.2	-1.3	-1.3	-1.0	-0.9	-0.9
- Montenegro	-0.6	-0.4	-0.7	-0.8	-0.9	-0.8	-0.7	-0.7	-0.9	-0.9	-0.8
- North Macedonia	-0.1	-0.2	-0.3	-0.1	0.0	-0.2	-0.4	-0.5	-0.2	-0.3	-0.3
- Serbia	-2.6	-1.4	-1.2	-2.3	-2.5	-3.5	-2.1	-2.9	-3.1	-2.9	-3.1
- Turkey	-43.6	-32.0	-33.1	-47.3	-27.4	1.8	-3.7	11.4	-4.6	-5.5	-9.2
Iceland	0.7	0.9	1.6	0.9	0.7	1.1	0.5	0.9	0.6	0.3	0.2
Norway	52.6	30.6	14.8	22.6	35.1	14.3	6.2	5.7	31.4	31.9	34.1
Switzerland	61.3	76.5	63.6	44.3	57.9	58.9	43.4	46.7	71.2	74.9	77.6
Australia	-43.4	-57.0	-41.0	-35.8	-29.2	-12.3	-9.7	-18.5	-12.1	-22.3	-21.9
Canada	-41.9	-54.7	-47.3	-46.4	-43.0	-34.2	-38.1	-42.8	-34.9	-27.8	-21.7
Japan	37.1	136.5	197.0	202.0	175.0	176.4	173.5	162.0	177.6	180.2	175.1
Korea	83.0	105.1	97.9	75.2	77.5	60.0	39.2	42.1	58.3	54.3	51.3
United States	-375.6	-424.1	-441.4	-466.6	-509.5	-502.9	-598.6	-638.7	-541.3	-551.9	-567.2
Advanced economies	170.0	230.4	296.1	353.0	320.9	292.5	63.7	90.4	239.3	220.0	203.4
Emerging and developing Asia	225.8	304.4	221.4	187.6	-40.3	88.8	25.1	59.6	60.0	43.0	19.8
- China	236.0	304.2	202.2	195.1	25.5	141.3	81.6	119.2	117.0	98.2	89.3
- India	-27.3	-22.5	-12.1	-38.2	-65.6	-65.5	-36.9	-49.8	-62.8	-58.4	-71.4
- Indonesia	-27.5	-17.5	-17.0	-16.2	-30.6	-29.9	-31.6	-33.9	-30.7	-33.1	-35.7
CIS	53.6	50.5	2.8	19.5	109.0	59.5	-78.7	-66.7	79.6	73.3	64.5
- Russia	53.5	66.1	25.7	31.3	113.7	67.4	-38.5	-30.8	86.1	80.5	74.8
- Other CIS	0.1	-15.6	-22.9	-11.8	-4.8	-7.9	-40.2	-35.8	-6.5	-7.2	-10.3
Latin America	-182.3	-169.5	-98.0	-84.3	-123.2	-91.4	-77.2	-83.3	-82.2	-88.1	-97.2
- Argentina	-9.2	-17.6	-15.1	-31.2	-27.3	-3.5	2.5	1.2	-8.6	-2.5	-1.4
- Brazil	-101.4	-54.5	-24.2	-15.0	-41.5	-49.5	-34.3	-39.9	-21.6	-26.6	-29.8
- Mexico	-25.4	-31.0	-24.3	-20.5	-23.0	-2.4	11.3	11.0	-13.5	-14.4	-18.9
MENA	226.1	-81.5	-83.8	28.2	165.1	62.8	-130.6	-107.5	40.9	48.7	66.2
- Saudi Arabia	73.8	-56.7	-23.8	10.5	70.6	49.8	2.5	8.8	33.4	46.5	55.4
Sub-Saharan Africa	-49.8	-79.0	-43.6	-25.8	-28.1	-49.1	-73.1	-58.0	-45.6	-56.0	-59.8
- South Africa	-17.8	-14.6	-8.4	-8.9	-13.4	-10.6	-1.9	-5.7	-12.3	-14.6	-15.7
Emerging and developing economies	273.5	24.9	-1.2	125.1	82.4	70.5	-334.5	-255.9	52.7	20.9	-6.4
World	443.5	255.3	294.9	478.1	403.3	363.0	-270.8	-165.6	292.0	240.9	197.0
World excluding EU	-20.5	-187.5	-182.9	-47.3	-135.2	-130.1	-712.1	-680.6	-181.2	-222.2	-264.0
World excluding euro area	24.6	-145.5	-137.4	-0.5	-106.9	-83.0	-679.2	-636.3	-150.0	-189.7	-226.7
1 See note 8 on concepts and sources.											

Table 62: C	Crude oil prices, 2014-2021											23.4.2020
								Spring 20	20	Aut	umn 2019	
								foreca	st	fo	orecast	
		2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2019	2020	2021
Annual perc	entage change (USD)	-8.5	-46.3	-15.5	21.2	30.7	-10.4	-40.1	4.8	-11.6	-9.3	-2.2
Price per ba	rrel											
- Brent (USD		99.5	53.4	45.2	54.8	71.5	64.1	38.4	40.2	63.3	57.4	56.1
- Brent (EUR)	74.9	48.2	40.8	48.5	60.6	57.2	35.1	36.9	56.5	51.9	50.8

Note on concepts and sources

- The directorate general for economic and financial affairs (DG ECFIN) produces, under its own responsibility, short-term fully-fledged economic forecasts in Spring and Autumn. These forecasts cover the principal macroeconomic aggregates for the Member States, the candidate countries, the European Union as a whole, the euro area and the international environment.
- 2. Data for 2019, 2020 and 2021 are forecasts. The source for all tables is the European Commission, unless otherwise stalted. Historical data for the Member States are based on the European System of Accounts (ESA 2010). US national accounts are based on SNA 2008, whilst the Japanese accounts use SNA 1993.
- 3. Tables 5 and 6 on domestic demand and final demand respectively, 10. Geographical zones are defined as follows : present data including inventories.
- 4. In Tables 17 and 18, the data are based on the national index for USA and Japan.
- 5. The potential output gap is calculated with reference to potential output as estimated via a production function, where the increase in the capital stock and the difference between actual unemployment and the NAWRU play a key role.
- 6. Employment data used in tables 23-29 and 32-33 are based on full-timeequivalents (FTEs), where available. Currently, Spain, France, Italy, and the Netherlands report FTE data. In the absence of FTE data, employment is based on numbers of persons. In the calculation of EU and euro-area aggregates, priority is given to FTE data, as this is regarded as more representative of diverse patterns of working time.
- 7. Source: National Accounts (ESA 2010), except for US current-account in tables 50, 52, and 61 (Balance of Payments). Discrepancies with balance of payments statistics may arise due to methodological differences and revision schedules.
- 8. EU and euro-area data are aggregated using exchange rates. World GDP is aggregated using Purchasing Power Standards (PPS). In the tables on world trade and international payments,
- 9. EU and euro area aggregates for general government debt are published on a non-consolidated basis (i.e. not corrected for intergovernmental loans, including those made through the European Financial Stability Facility.

the aggregation is carried out on the basis of current exchange rates. Tables 49 - 52, 60 and 61 show also EU and euro-area "adjusted" balances. Theoretically, balances of EU and euro area vis-à-vis third countries should be identical to the sum of the balances of the individual countries in the EU or the euro area. However, intra-EU or intra-euro-area balances are non-zero because of reporting errors. The creation of the internal market in 1993 reduced border controls and formalities, and accordingly the scope and precision of intra-EU trade coverage. Typically, intra-EU imports are underestimated compared to intra-EU exports, leading toerestimation of the surplus. For the past the "adjusted" balances are Eurostat estimates for EU and ECB estimates for the euro area. For the future, they are ECFIN's forecasts based on the extrapolation of the discrepancies observed in 2019.

Euro area :

EA19 (BE, DE, EE, IE, EL, ES, FR, IT, CY, LV, LT, LU, MT, NL, AT, PT, SI, SK, and FI)

European Union :

EU (EA19, BG, CZ, DK, HR, HU, PL, RO, and SE). Candidate countries :

Albania, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Serbia and Turkey.

Potential candidates :

Bosnia-Herzegovina and Kosovo.

Advanced economies :

EU, United Kingdom, candidate countries, Iceland, Norway, Switzerland, Australia, Canada, Hong Kong, Japan, Korea, New Zealand, Sinaapore, Taiwan and the United States. Emerging and developing Asia:

All countries in that region except the ones included in the Advanced economies and the Asian MENA countries. Latin America :

All countries in that region.

MENA (Middle East and Northern Africa) :

Algeria, Tunisia, Morocco, Egypt, Israel, Jordan, Lebanon, Iraq, Iran, Yemen, Saudi Arabia, Bahrain, Oman, United Arab Emirates, Kuwait, and Qatar.

Sub-Saharan Africa :

All countries in that region except the African MENA countries.

EUROPEAN ECONOMY INSTITUTIONAL SERIES

European Economy Institutional series can be accessed and downloaded free of charge from the following address:

https://ec.europa.eu/info/publications/economic-and-financial-affairspublications en?field eurovoc taxonomy target id selective=All&field core nal countries tid selective=All &field core date published value[vear]=All&field core tags tid i18n=22621.

Titles published before July 2015 can be accessed and downloaded free of charge from:

- <u>http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/european_economy/index_en.htm</u> (the main reports, e.g. Economic Forecasts)
- <u>http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/occasional_paper/index_en.htm</u> (the Occasional Papers)
- <u>http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/qr_euro_area/index_en.htm</u> (the Quarterly Reports on the Euro Area)

GETTING IN TOUCH WITH THE EU

In person

All over the European Union there are hundreds of Europe Direct Information Centres. You can find the address of the centre nearest you at: <u>http://europa.eu/contact</u>.

On the phone or by e-mail

Europe Direct is a service that answers your questions about the European Union. You can contact this service:

- by freephone: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (certain operators may charge for these calls),
- at the following standard number: +32 22999696 or
- by electronic mail via: <u>http://europa.eu/contact.</u>

FINDING INFORMATION ABOUT THE EU

Online

Information about the European Union in all the official languages of the EU is available on the Europa website at: <u>http://europa.eu</u>.

EU Publications

You can download or order free and priced EU publications from EU Bookshop at: <u>http://publications.europa.eu/bookshop</u>. Multiple copies of free publications may be obtained by contacting Europe Direct or your local information centre (see <u>http://europa.eu/contact</u>).

EU law and related documents

For access to legal information from the EU, including all EU law since 1951 in all the official language versions, go to EUR-Lex at: <u>http://eur-lex.europa.eu</u>.

Open data from the EU

The EU Open Data Portal (<u>http://data.europa.eu/euodp/en/data</u>) provides access to datasets from the EU. Data can be downloaded and reused for free, both for commercial and non-commercial purposes.

